The Bill is divided into three volumes. Volume I contains the Clauses to the Bill. Volume II contains Schedules 1 to 28 to the Bill. Volume III contains Schedules 29 to 49 to the Bill.

EUROPEAN CONVENTION ON HUMAN RIGHTS

Mr Chancellor of the Exchequer has made the following statement under section 19(1)(a) of the Human Rights Act 1998:

In my view the provisions of the Finance (No. 2) Bill are compatible with the Convention rights.

Bill 154 55/2

The Bill is divided into three volumes. Volume I contains the Clauses to the Bill. Volume II contains Schedules 1 to 28 to the Bill. Volume III contains Schedules 29 to 49 to the Bill.

CONTENTS

PART 1

INCOME TAX, CORPORATION TAX AND CAPITAL GAINS TAX

CHAPTER 1

CHARGES, RATES ETC

Income tax

- 1 Charge for 2013-14
- 2 Personal allowance for 2013-14 for those born after 5 April 1948
- 3 Basic rate limit for 2013-14

Corporation tax

- 4 Charge and main rate for financial year 2014
- 5 Small profits rate and fractions for financial year 2013
- 6 Main rate for financial year 2015

Capital allowances

7 Temporary increase in annual investment allowance

CHAPTER 2

INCOME TAX: GENERAL

Exemptions and reliefs

- 8 London Anniversary Games
- 9 Glasgow Commonwealth Games
- 10 Expenses of elected representatives
- 11 Exemption from income tax of contributions to pension schemes
- 12 Childcare exemptions: meaning of disabled child
- 13 Income tax exemption for universal credit
- 14 Tax advantaged employee share schemes
- 15 Abolition of tax relief for patent royalties

Bill 154 55/2

16 Limit on income tax reliefs

Trade profits

- 17 Cash basis for small businesses
- 18 Deductions allowable at a fixed rate

Other provisions

- 19 Employment income: duties performed in the UK and overseas
- 20 Remittance basis: exempt property
- 21 Payments on account
- 22 Arrangements made by intermediaries
- 23 Taxable benefit of cars: the appropriate percentage
- 24 Gains from contracts for life insurance etc
- 25 Qualifying insurance policies
- 26 Transfer of assets abroad
- 27 Payments of interest
- 28 Disguised interest

CHAPTER 3

CORPORATION TAX: GENERAL

Losses

- 29 Restriction on surrender of losses: controlled foreign company cases
- 30 Loss relief surrenderable by non-UK resident established in EEA state
- 31 Arrangements for transfers of companies
- 32 Change in company ownership: company reconstructions
- 33 Change in company ownership: shell companies

Other reliefs

- 34 R&D expenditure credits
- 35 Relief for television production and video games development

Exemption from charge

- 36 Health service bodies: exemption
- 37 Chief constables etc (England and Wales): exemption

Other provisions

- 38 Real estate investment trusts: UK REITs which invest in other UK REITs
- 39 Corporation tax relief for employee share acquisitions etc
- 40 Derivative contracts: property total return swaps etc
- 41 Corporation tax: tax mismatch schemes
- 42 Tier two capital
- 43 Financing costs and income: group treasury companies
- 44 Condition for company to be an "investment trust"
- 45 Community amateur sports clubs

CHAPTER 4

PENSIONS

- Lifetime allowance charge: power to amend the transitional provision in Part 2 of Schedule 18 to FA 2011 etc
- 47 Lifetime allowance charge: new standard lifetime allowance for the tax year 2014-15 and subsequent tax years
- 48 Annual allowance: new annual allowance for the tax year 2014-15 and subsequent tax years
- 49 Drawdown pensions and dependants' drawdown pensions
- 50 Bridging pensions
- 51 Abolition of contracting out of state second pension: consequential amendments etc
- 52 Overseas pension schemes: general
- 53 Overseas pension schemes: information and inspection powers

CHAPTER 5

OTHER PROVISIONS

Employee shareholder shares

54 Employee shareholder shares

Seed enterprise investment scheme

- 55 SEIS: income tax relief
- 56 SEIS: re-investment relief

Disincorporation

- 57 Disincorporation relief
- 58 Qualifying business transfer
- 59 Making a claim
- 60 Effect of disincorporation relief

Capital gains

- 61 Attribution of gains to members of non-resident companies
- 62 Heritage maintenance settlements
- 63 EMI options and entrepreneurs' relief etc
- 64 Charge on certain high value disposals by companies etc
- 65 Currency used in tax calculations: chargeable gains and losses

Capital allowances

- 66 Allowances for energy-saving plant and machinery: Northern Ireland
- 67 Cars with low carbon dioxide emissions
- 68 Gas refuelling stations: extension of time limit for capital allowance
- 69 First-year allowance to be available for ships and railway assets
- 70 Hire cars for disabled persons

Miscellaneous

- 71 Community investment tax relief
- 72 Lease premium relief
- 73 Manufactured payments: stock lending arrangements
- 74 Manufactured payments: general
- 75 Relationship between rules prohibiting and allowing deductions
- 76 Close companies

PART 2

OIL.

Decommissioning relief agreements

- 77 Decommissioning relief agreements
- 78 Meaning of "decommissioning expenditure"
- 79 Annual report
- 80 Effect of claim on PRT
- 81 Terminal losses accruing by virtue of another's default
- 82 Claims under agreement not to affect oil allowance

Decommissioning security settlements

- 83 Removal of IHT charges in respect of decommissioning security settlements
- 84 Loan relationships arising from decommissioning security settlements

Decommissioning expenditure etc

- 85 Decommissioning expenditure taken into account for PRT purposes
- 86 Miscellaneous amendments relating to decommissioning

Capital allowances

- 87 Expenditure on decommissioning onshore installations
- 88 Expenditure on decommissioning certain redundant plant or machinery
- 89 Expenditure on site restoration
- 90 Restrictions on allowances for certain oil-related expenditure

Part 3

ANNUAL TAX ON ENVELOPED DWELLINGS

The charge to tax

- 91 Charge to tax
- 92 Entitlement to interests
- 93 Person liable
- 94 Liability of persons jointly entitled
- 95 Collective investment schemes: liability for and collection of tax
- 96 Amount of tax chargeable
- 97 Interim relief
- 98 Indexation of annual chargeable amounts
- 99 Taxable value
- 100 Section 99: "substantial" acquisitions and disposals

| 101 | No double charge |
|------------|--|
| | Adjustment of amount charged |
| 102 | "Adjusted chargeable amount" |
| 103 | Adjustment of amount chargeable |
| | J |
| | Chargeable interests and "single-dwelling interest" |
| 104 | Chargeable interests |
| 105 | Meaning of "single-dwelling interest" |
| 106 | Different interests held in the same dwelling |
| 107 | Interests held by connected persons |
| 108 | Sections 106 and 107: superior and inferior interests |
| 109 | Different interests held in the same dwelling: effect of reliefs etc |
| | Meaning of "dwelling" |
| 110 | |
| 110 111 | Meaning of "dwelling" Substantial performance of "off plan" purchase |
| 111 | Power to modify meaning of "use as a dwelling" |
| 113 | Parts of a greater whole |
| 114 | Dwelling in grounds of another dwelling |
| 115 | Dwellings in the same building |
| 116 | Section 115: supplementary |
| 117 | Terraces etc |
| | |
| | Acquisitions and disposals |
| 118 | Acquisitions and disposals of chargeable interests |
| 119 | Date of acquisition or disposal |
| 120 | Contract and conveyance: the purchaser |
| 121 | Contract and conveyance: the vendor |
| | Now doublings companies doubling at |
| | New dwellings, conversions, demolition etc |
| 122 | New dwellings |
| 123 | Dwellings produced from other dwellings |
| 124 125 | Demolition of a dwelling |
| 123 | Demolition without replacement |

126 Demolition and replacement: new dwellings

Damage to a dwelling

Property rental businesses

136 Property developers

Dwellings opened to the public

Demolition and replacement: other cases Conversion of dwelling for non-residential use

Effect of reliefs under sections 131 to 150

Rental property: preparation for sale, demolition etc

Non-qualifying occupation: look-forward and look-back

Reliefs

Meaning of "non-qualifying individual" and "qualifying individual"

127

129

130

131

132 133

134

| 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146 147 148 149 150 | Property developers: exchange of dwellings Property developers: supplementary Property traders Property traders: supplementary Financial institutions acquiring dwellings in the course of lending Section 141: supplementary Occupation by certain employees or partners Meaning of "qualifying employee" and "qualifying partner" in section 143 Meaning of "10% or greater share in a company" Farmhouses "Farm worker" and "former long-serving farm worker" Charitable companies Section 148: supplementary Providers of social housing |
|--|--|
| | Exemptions |
| 151 | Public bodies |
| 152 153 | Bodies established for national purposes Dwelling conditionally exempt from inheritance tax |
| | Power to modify reliefs |
| 154 | Modification of reliefs |
| | Alternative property finance |
| 155 | Land sold to financial institution and leased to person |
| | Administration and payment of tax |
| 156 | Responsibility for collection and management |
| 157 158 | Annual tax on enveloped dwellings return Return of adjusted chargeable amount |
| 159 | Return to include self assessment |
| 160 | Returns, enquiries, assessments and other administrative matters |
| 161 162 | Payment of tax Information and enforcement |
| 163 | Collection and recovery of tax etc |
| | Application of provisions |
| 164 165 | Companies Partnerships |
| | Supplementary provisions |
| 166 167 | Miscellaneous amendments and transitory provision Orders and regulations |
| | Interpretation |
| 168 169 | Meaning of "chargeable day" and "within the charge" References to the state of affairs "on" a day |

| 170 171 172 | Connected persons Connected persons: cell companies General interpretation of Part 3 |
|--------------------------|--|
| | PART 4 |
| | EXCISE DUTIES AND OTHER TAXES |
| | Inheritance tax |
| 173 174 175 176 | 1 1 |
| | Fuel |
| 177 | Fuel duties: rates of duty and rebates from 1 April 2013 |
| | Alcohol |
| 178 | Rates of alcoholic liquor duties |
| | Tobacco |
| 179 180 | Rates of tobacco products duty Meaning of "tobacco products" |
| | Gambling |
| 181 182 | Rates of gaming duty Combined bingo |
| | Air passenger duty |
| 183 184 | Air passenger duty: rates of duty from 1 April 2013 Air passenger duty: miscellaneous provision |
| | Vehicle excise duty |
| 185 186 187 188 | VED rates for light passenger vehicles, light goods vehicles, motorcycles etc Not exhibiting licence: period of grace Vehicles not kept or used on public road Vehicle licences for disabled people |
| | Value added tax |
| 189 190 191 | Repayments of value added tax to health service bodies Valuation of certain supplies of fuel Reduced rate for energy-saving materials |
| | Stamp duty land tax |
| 192 | Pre-completion transactions: existing cases |

viii Finance (No. 2) Bill

| 193 194 195 | Pre-completion transactions Relief from higher rate Leases |
|--|--|
| | Landfill tax |
| 196 | Standard rate of landfill tax |
| | Climate change levy |
| 197 198 | Climate change levy: main rates Climate change levy: supplies subject to carbon price support rates etc |
| | Insurance premium tax |
| 199 | Contracts that are not taxable |
| | Bank levy |
| 200 201 202 | Bank levy: rates from 1 January 2013 Bank levy: rates from 1 January 2014 No deductions for UK or foreign bank levies |
| | PART 5 |
| | GENERAL ANTI-ABUSE RULE |
| 203 204 205 206 207 208 209 210 211 212 | General anti-abuse rule Meaning of "tax arrangements" and "abusive" Meaning of "tax advantage" Counteracting the tax advantages Consequential relieving adjustments Proceedings before a court or tribunal Relationship between the GAAR and priority rules Consequential amendment Interpretation of Part 5 Commencement and transitional provision |
| | PART 6 |
| | OTHER PROVISIONS |
| | Trusts |
| 213 | Trusts with vulnerable beneficiary |
| | Unit trusts |
| 214 | Unauthorised unit trusts |
| | Residence |
| 215 216 | Statutory residence test Ordinary residence |

| | International matters |
|--------------------------|--|
| 217 218 219 | Controlled foreign companies etc Agreement between UK and Switzerland International agreements to improve tax compliance |
| | Disclosure |
| 220 | Disclosure of tax avoidance schemes |
| | Powers |
| 223 | Powers under Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 Definition of "goods" for certain customs purposes Power to detain goods Penalty instead of forfeiture of larger ships Data-gathering from merchant acquirers etc |
| | Payment |
| 226 227 228 229 | Corporation tax: deferral of payment of exit charge Penalties: late filing, late payment and errors Overpayment relief: generally prevailing practice exclusion and EU law Overpayment relief: time limit for claims |
| | Administration |
| 230 | Self assessment: withdrawal of notice to file etc |
| | Part 7 |
| | FINAL PROVISIONS |
| 231 232 | Interpretation Short title |
| | |
| | Schedule 1 — Annual investment allowance: periods straddling 1 January 2013 or 1 January 2015 Schedule 2 — Tax advantaged employee share schemes Part 1 — Retirement of participants Part 2 — "Good leavers" (other than retirees) Part 3 — Material interest rules Part 4 — Restricted shares Part 5 — Share incentive plans: partnership shares Part 6 — Share incentive plans: dividend shares Part 7 — Share incentive plans: employee share ownership trusts Part 8 — Enterprise management incentives: consequences of disqualifying events Schedule 3 — Limit on income tax reliefs Schedule 4 — Cash basis for small businesses Part 1 — Main provisions |

Part 2 — Consequential amendments

Part 3 — Commencement and transitional provision

Schedule 5 — Deductions allowable at a fixed rate

Schedule 6 – Employment income: duties performed in the UK and overseas

Part 1 – Apportionment of earnings

Part 2 — Remittance basis of taxation: special mixed fund rules

Part 3 — Commencement

Schedule 7 — Remittance basis: exempt property

Schedule 8 — Gains from contracts for life insurance etc

Schedule 9 — Qualifying insurance policies

Part 1 — Amendments of Schedule 15 to ICTA etc

Part 2 — Restricted relief qualifying policies

Part 3 — Information powers

Schedule 10 — Transfer of assets abroad

Part 1 — Introduction

Part 2 — New exemption for genuine transactions etc

Part 3 — Amendments relating to the charges under sections 720 and 727

Schedule 11 — Deduction of income tax at source etc

Schedule 12 – Disguised interest

Schedule 13 – Change in ownership of shell company: restriction of relief

Schedule 14 – R&D expenditure credits

Part 1 — Amendments of CTA 2009

Part 2 — Consequential amendments

Part 3 – Abolition of certain relief under Part 13 of CTA 2009

Part 4 — Commencement and transitional provision

Schedule 15 – Tax relief for television production

Part 1 – Amendments of CTA 2009

Part 2 — Commencement

Schedule 16 - Tax relief for video games development

Part 1 – Amendments of CTA 2009

Part 2 — Commencement

Schedule 17 — Television and video games tax relief: consequential amendments

Schedule 18 — Real estate investment trusts: UK REITs which invest in other UK REITs

Schedule 19 — Tax mismatch schemes

Schedule 20 — Community amateur sports clubs

Schedule 21 — Transitional provision relating to reduction in standard lifetime allowance etc

Part 1 — "Fixed protection 2014"

Part 2 — Other provision

Schedule 22 – Employee shareholder shares

Part 1 — Income tax treatment of employee shareholder shares

Part 2 — Capital gains tax exemption for employee shareholder shares

Part 3 — Corporation tax

Part 4 — Commencement

Schedule 23 — EMI options and entrepreneurs' relief etc

Schedule 24 — Charge on certain high value disposals by companies etc

Part 1 — Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992

Part 2 — Other amendments

Part 3 — Commencement

Schedule 25 – Community investment tax relief

Schedule 26 – Lease premium relief

Schedule 27 – Manufactured payments

Part 1 — Income tax

Part 2 — Corporation tax

Part 3 — Consequential etc amendments

Part 4 — Commencement

Schedule 28 — Close companies

Part 1 — Amendments of Part 10 of CTA 2010

Part 2 — Other amendments

Schedule 29 — Miscellaneous amendments relating to decommissioning

Part 1 — Abandonment guarantees and abandonment expenditure

Part 2 — Receipts arising from decommissioning

Part 3 — Commencement

Schedule 30 - Restrictions on allowances for certain oil-related expenditure

Part 1 — Decommissioning expenditure

Part 2 — Expenditure on site restoration

Part 3 — Amendments of TIOPA 2010

Schedule 31 — Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: returns, enquiries, assessments and appeals

Part 1 - Returns

Part 2 — Duty to keep and preserve records

Part 3 — Enquiry into return

Part 4 — HMRC determination where no return delivered

Part 5 - HMRC assessments

Part 6 — Relief in case of overpaid tax or excessive assessment

Part 7 — Reviews and appeals

Part 8 — Supplementary

Schedule 32 — Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: information and enforcement

Part 1 — Information and inspection powers

Part 2 - Penalties

Schedule 33 — Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: miscellaneous amendments and transitory provision

Part 1 – Miscellaneous amendments

Part 2 — Transitory provision: the first chargeable period

Schedule 34 – Treatment of liabilities for inheritance tax purposes

Schedule 35 – Vehicle licences for disabled people

Schedule 36 – Valuation of certain supplies of fuel

Schedule 37 — Stamp duty land tax: transactions entered into before completion of contract

Schedule 38 — Stamp duty land tax: relief from 15% rate

Schedule 39 – Stamp duty land tax on leases

Schedule 40 — Climate change levy: supplies subject to carbon price support rates etc

Part 1 — Earlier provision not to have effect

Part 2 — New provision having effect from 1 April 2013

Part 3 — Carbon price support rates from 1 April 2014

Part 4 — Carbon price support rates from 1 April 2015

Schedule 41 — General anti-abuse rule: procedural requirements

Schedule 42 — Trusts with vulnerable beneficiary

Schedule 43 — Statutory residence test

Part 1 — The rules

Part 2 — Key concepts

Part 3 — Split year treatment

Part 4 — Anti-avoidance

Part 5 — Miscellaneous Schedule 44 — Ordinary residence

Part 1 — Income tax and capital gains tax: remittance basis of taxation

Part 2 — Income tax: arising basis of taxation Part 3 — Capital gains tax: accruals basis of taxation

Part 4 – Other amendments

Schedule 45 — Controlled foreign companies

Schedule 46 — Proceeds of crime: powers of officers of Revenue and Customs Schedule 47 — Corporation tax: deferral of payment of exit charge Schedule 48 — Penalties: late filing, late payment and errors Schedule 49 — Withdrawal of notice to file etc

Finance (No. 2) Bill
Part 1 — Income Tax, Corporation Tax and Capital Gains Tax
Chapter 1 — Charges, rates etc

1

BILL

TO

Grant certain duties, to alter other duties, and to amend the law relating to the National Debt and the Public Revenue, and to make further provision in connection with finance.

Most Gracious Sovereign

W E, Your Majesty's most dutiful and loyal subjects, the Commons of the United Kingdom in Parliament assembled, towards raising the necessary supplies to defray Your Majesty's public expenses, and making an addition to the public revenue, have freely and voluntarily resolved to give and to grant unto Your Majesty the several duties hereinafter mentioned; and do therefore most humbly beseech Your Majesty that it may be enacted, and be it enacted by the Queen's most Excellent Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Lords Spiritual and Temporal, and Commons, in this present Parliament assembled, and by the authority of the same, as follows:—

PART 1

INCOME TAX, CORPORATION TAX AND CAPITAL GAINS TAX

CHAPTER 1

CHARGES, RATES ETC

Income tax 5

1 Charge for 2013-14

Income tax is charged for the tax year 2013-14.

Bill 154 55/2

5

10

15

20

25

| 2 | Personal | allowance | for | 2013-14 | for | those | born | after 5 | Apı | ril 19 | 48 |
|---|----------|-----------|-----|---------|-----|-------|------|---------|-----|--------|----|
| | | | | | | | | | | | |

- (1) For the tax year 2013-14 the amount specified in section 35(1) of ITA 2007 (personal allowance for those born after 5 April 1948) is replaced with "£9,440".
- (2) Accordingly section 57 of that Act (indexation of allowances), so far as relating to the amount specified in section 35(1) of that Act, does not apply for that tax year.

3 Basic rate limit for 2013-14

- (1) For the tax year 2013-14 the amount specified in section 10(5) of ITA 2007 (basic rate limit) is replaced with "£32,010".
- (2) Accordingly section 21 of that Act (indexation of limits), so far as relating to the basic rate limit, does not apply for that tax year.

Corporation tax

4 Charge and main rate for financial year 2014

- (1) Corporation tax is charged for the financial year 2014.
- (2) For that year the rate of corporation tax is—
 - (a) 21% on profits of companies other than ring fence profits, and
 - (b) 30% on ring fence profits of companies.
- (3) In subsection (2) "ring fence profits" has the same meaning as in Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 276 of that Act).

5 Small profits rate and fractions for financial year 2013

- (1) For the financial year 2013 the small profits rate is
 - (a) 20% on profits of companies other than ring fence profits, and
 - (b) 19% on ring fence profits of companies.
- (2) For the purposes of Part 3 of CTA 2010, for that year
 - (a) the standard fraction is 3/400ths, and
 - (b) the ring fence fraction is 11/400ths.
- (3) In subsection (1) "ring fence profits" has the same meaning as in Part 8 of that Act (see section 276 of that Act).

6 Main rate for financial year 2015

- (1) For the financial year 2015 the rate of corporation tax is 20% on profits of companies other than ring fence profits.
- (2) In subsection (1) "ring fence profits" has the same meaning as in Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 276 of that Act).

Capital allowances

| 7 Te | emporary | increase | in annual | investment | allowance |
|------|----------|----------|-----------|------------|-----------|
|------|----------|----------|-----------|------------|-----------|

- (1) In relation to expenditure incurred during the period of two years beginning with 1 January 2013, section 51A of CAA 2001 (entitlement to annual investment allowance) has effect as if in subsection (5) for "£25,000" there were substituted "£250,000".
- (2) Schedule 1 contains provision about chargeable periods which straddle 1 January 2013 or 1 January 2015.

CHAPTER 2

INCOME TAX: GENERAL

10

5

Exemptions and reliefs

8 London Anniversary Games

(1) An accredited competitor who performs an Anniversary Games activity is not liable to income tax in respect of any income arising from the activity if the non-residence condition is met.

15

- (2) The following are Anniversary Games activities
 - (a) competing at the Anniversary Games, and
 - (b) any activity that is performed during the games period the main purpose of which is to support or promote the Anniversary Games.
- (3) The non-residence condition is that —

20

- (a) the accredited competitor is non-UK resident for the tax year 2013-14, or
- (b) the accredited competitor is UK resident for the tax year 2013-14 but the year is a split year as respects the competitor and the activity is performed in the overseas part of the year.

25

30

35

40

- (4) Section 966 of ITA 2007 (deduction of sums representing income tax) does not apply to any payment or transfer which gives rise to income benefiting from the exemption under subsection (1).
- (5) In this section
 - "accredited competitor" means a person to whom an accreditation card in the athletes' category has been issued by the company named UK Athletics Limited which was incorporated on 16 December 1998;
 - "the Anniversary Games" means the British Athletics London Anniversary Games held at the Olympic Stadium in London in July 2013:

"the games period" means the period –

- (a) beginning with 21 July 2013, and
- (b) ending with 29 July 2013;
- "income" means employment income or profits of a trade, profession or vocation (including profits treated as arising as a result of section 13 of ITTOIA 2005).

(6) This section is treated as having come into force on 6 April 2013.

| 9 Glasgow Commonwealth Ga |
|---------------------------|
|---------------------------|

| (1) | An accredited competitor who performs a Commonwealth Games activity is |
|-----|--|
| | not liable to income tax in respect of any income arising from the activity if the |
| | non-residence condition is met. |

5

- (2) The following are Commonwealth Games activities
 - (a) competing at the Glasgow Commonwealth Games, and
 - (b) any activity that is performed during the games period the main purpose of which is to support or promote the Glasgow Commonwealth Games or any future Commonwealth Games.

10

- (3) The non-residence condition is that
 - (a) the accredited competitor is non-UK resident for the tax year in which the Commonwealth Games activity is performed, or
 - (b) the accredited competitor is UK resident for the tax year in which the activity is performed but the year is a split year as respects the competitor and the activity is performed in the overseas part of the year.

15

(4) Section 966 of ITA 2007 (deduction of sums representing income tax) does not apply to any payment or transfer which gives rise to income benefiting from the exemption under subsection (1).

20

- (5) In this section
 - "accredited competitor" means a person to whom a Glasgow 2014 accreditation card in the athletes' category has been issued by the company named Glasgow 2014 Limited which was incorporated on 11 June 2007;

25

30

- "the games period" means the period
 - (a) beginning with 4 March 2014, and
 - (b) ending with 3 September 2014;

"the Glasgow Commonwealth Games" means the Commonwealth Games held in Scotland in 2014;

"income" means employment income or profits of a trade, profession or vocation (including profits treated as arising as a result of section 13 of ITTOIA 2005).

10 Expenses of elected representatives

(1) After section 293A of ITEPA 2003 insert –

35

"293BUK travel expenses of other elected representatives

- (1) No liability to income tax arises in respect of a payment to which this section applies if it is expressed to be made in respect of relevant UK travel expenses.
- (2) This section applies to payments –

- (a) made to members of the Scottish Parliament under section 81(2) of the Scotland Act 1998,
- (b) made to members of the National Assembly for Wales under section 20(2) of the Government of Wales Act 2006 or to a

5

Part 1 — Income Tax, Corporation Tax and Capital Gains Tax Chapter 2 — Income tax: general

| | | member of the Welsh Assembly Government under section 53(2) of that Act, or | |
|-----|------------|--|----|
| | (c) | | |
| (3) | necess | is section "relevant UK travel expenses" means expenses sarily incurred on journeys of the following kinds within the d Kingdom— | 5 |
| | (a) (b) | necessary for the performance of his or her duties as a member; | 10 |
| (4) | The jo | urneys referred to in subsection (3)(a) are those— | |
| | (a) (b) | between the constituency or region and the Parliament or Assembly to which the member belongs, between the constituency or region and the member's | 15 |
| | (0) | parliamentary home, or | |
| | (c) | within the constituency or region, but not excluded by subsection (5). | |
| (5) | , , | rney is excluded if— | 20 |
| | (a) | in the case of a member who has only one local office, it is between the member's local home and that office, and | |
| | (b) | in any other case, it is between the member's local home and the principal local office. | |
| (6) | | s section — | 25 |
| | 66 | constituency or region", in relation to a member, means the constituency or region which the member represents and the area within 20 miles of the boundary of that constituency or region; | |
| | | local office", in relation to a member, means an office which is situated in the constituency or region and occupied by the member for the purposes of performing duties as a member; the member's local home" means a residence of the member | 30 |
| | | situated in the constituency or region; | |
| | ••• | the member's parliamentary home" means the member's only or main residence in the area comprising — | 35 |
| | | (a) the main site of the Parliament or Assembly to which the member belongs, and | |
| | " | (b) the area within 20 miles of that site; | 40 |
| | | principal local office", in relation to a member, means the local office most frequently occupied by the member for the purposes of performing duties as a member. | 40 |
| (7) | A pers | son has "caring responsibilities" if the person— | |
| | (a) | has parental responsibility for a dependent child aged under 17 or for a child aged 17 or 18 who is in full-time education, or | 45 |
| | (b) | is the primary carer for a family member in receipt of — | |

(i) attendance allowance,

for personal care,

(ii)

disability living allowance at the middle or highest rate

11

13

12

| | | Chapter 2 – Ind | come tax: general |
|-----|---|--|-----------------------|
| | payı (iv) cons max bene | daily living component of personal in nent, or tant attendance allowance at or mum rate with an industrial injuries fit, or the basic (full day) rate valuement pension. | above the disablement |
| | (8) The Treasury maresponsibilities" in | y by order amend the definition subsection (7)." | of "caring |
| (2) | The amendment made by on or after 6 April 2013. | his section has effect in relation to pay | ments made |
| | Exemption from income tax | of contributions to pension schemes | |
| (1) | provision), in section 308 | EPA 2003 (exemptions from income tag (exemption of contributions to registe in respect of the employee". | |
| (2) | The amendment made by subsequent tax years. | this section has effect for the tax year | 2013-14 and 15 |
| | Childcare exemptions: mea | ning of disabled child | |
| (1) | | 2003 (childcare: meaning of "disab "allowance" insert "or personal ir | |
| (2) | The amendment made by subsequent tax years. | this section has effect for the tax year | 2013-14 and |
| , | Income tax exemption for u | niversal credit | |
| (1) | | 2003 (UK social security benefits whole B (benefits payable under primary ace— | |
| | "Universal credit | WRA 2012 Part 1 | |
| | | Any provision made for Northern Ireland which corresponds to Part 1 of WRA 2012" | 30 |

The amendment made by this section has effect for the tax year 2013-14 and subsequent tax years.

14 Tax advantaged employee share schemes

Schedule 2 amends the SIP code, the SAYE code, the CSOP code and the EMI code.

15 Abolition of tax relief for patent royalties

- (1) Chapter 4 of Part 8 of ITA 2007 (reliefs: annual payments and patent royalties) is amended in accordance with subsections (2) and (3).
- (2) In section 448 (relief for individuals), in subsection (1)(b) omit "or 903(5)" and "and patent royalties".
- (3) In section 449 (relief for other persons), in subsection (1)(b) omit "or 903(6)" and "and patent royalties".
- (4) Accordingly, that Act is amended as follows
 - (a) in section 2 (overview of Act), in subsection (8)(c) omit "and patent royalties",

5

10

15

20

25

- (b) in section 24 (reliefs deductible at Step 2), in subsection (1)(b) omit "and patent royalties", and
- (c) in the heading for Chapter 4 of Part 8 of that Act omit "AND PATENT ROYALTIES".
- (5) The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to payments made on or after 5 December 2012.

16 Limit on income tax reliefs

Schedule 3 contains provision limiting the deductions which may be made at Step 2 of the calculation in section 23 of ITA 2007 (calculation of income tax liability).

Trade profits

17 Cash basis for small businesses

Schedule 4 contains provision enabling the profits of a trade, profession or vocation to be calculated on the cash basis.

18 Deductions allowable at a fixed rate

Schedule 5 contains provision enabling persons carrying on a trade, profession or vocation to claim deductions for certain expenses at a fixed rate.

Other provisions

19 Employment income: duties performed in the UK and overseas

Schedule 6 contains provision about employment income in cases where duties are performed in the UK and overseas.

20 Remittance basis: exempt property

Schedule 7 contains provision about the application of the remittance basis in relation to exempt property.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

45

21 Payments on account

- (1) ITA 2007 is amended as follows.
- (2) In section 809K (sections 809L to 809Z6: introduction), in subsection (2)(e), for "809V" substitute "809UA".
- (3) Before section 809V (but after the italic heading) insert—

"809UA Money used for payments on account

- (1) Subsection (2) applies to income or chargeable gains of an individual if—
 - (a) the income or gains would (but for subsection (2)) be regarded as remitted to the United Kingdom by virtue of the bringing of money to the United Kingdom,
 - (b) the money is brought to the United Kingdom by way of direct payments to the Commissioners on account of income tax,
 - (c) the tax year ("tax year 2") in respect of which the payments on account are made is a tax year for which section 809H (remittance basis charge for long-term UK resident) does not apply as respects the individual, and
 - (d) that section applied as respects the individual for the previous tax year ("tax year 1").
- (2) The relevant amount of income or chargeable gains is to be treated as not remitted to the United Kingdom if money equal to the relevant amount is taken offshore by
 - (a) the 15 March following the end of tax year 2, or
 - (b) such later date as the Commissioners may allow on a claim made by the individual.
- (3) A claim under subsection (2)(b)
 - (a) may be made only if the individual has made and delivered a return under section 8 of TMA 1970 for tax year 2 and reasonably expects to receive from the Commissioners a repayment of tax paid in respect of that tax year, and
 - (b) may be made no later than the 5 April following the end of tax year 2.
- (4) Money that is taken offshore in accordance with subsection (2) is to be treated as having the same composition of kinds of income and capital as the money used to make the payments on account.
- (5) In this section "the relevant amount" means the lower of the following—
 - (a) the amount brought to the United Kingdom as mentioned in subsection (1)(b), and
 - (b) the applicable amount (as defined in section 809H) for tax year 40
- (4) In section 809Z9(11) (taking proceeds etc offshore or investing them: modification of general provisions)
 - (a) for "section 809VB(2) but in that case" substitute "sections 809UA(2) and 809VB(2), but in those cases", and

Part 1 – Income Tax, Corporation Tax and Capital Gains Tax

Chapter 2 – Income tax: general

(b) at the beginning of paragraph (b) insert "in the case of section 809VB(2),".

(5) The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to payments on account made in respect of the tax year 2012-13 and subsequent tax years.

22 Arrangements made by intermediaries

5

10

15

- (1) In Chapter 8 of Part 2 of ITEPA 2003 (application of provisions to workers under arrangements made by intermediaries), in section 49 (engagements to which Chapter applies), for subsection (1)(c) substitute—
 - "(c) the circumstances are such that—
 - (i) if the services were provided under a contract directly between the client and the worker, the worker would be regarded for income tax purposes as an employee of the client or the holder of an office under the client, or
 - (ii) the worker is an office-holder who holds that office under the client and the services relate to the office."
- (2) This section has effect for the tax year 2013-14 and subsequent tax years.

23 Taxable benefit of cars: the appropriate percentage

- (1) Section 139 of ITEPA 2003 (car with CO₂ figure: the appropriate percentage) is amended in accordance with subsections (2) to (6).
- (2) In subsection (2), after "the relevant threshold" omit "for the year".
- (3) For subsection (2)(a) substitute
 - "(a) if the car's CO₂ emissions figure does not exceed 50 grams per kilometre driven, 5%,
 - (aa) if the car's CO₂ emissions figure exceeds 50 grams per kilometre driven but does not exceed 75 grams per kilometre driven, 9%, and".
- (4) In subsection (2)(b), for "11%" substitute "13%".
- (5) In subsection (3)
 - (a) after "the relevant threshold" omit "for the year", and
 - (b) for "12%" substitute "14%".

30

35

40

- (6) In subsection (4)
 - (a) after "the relevant threshold" (in both places) omit "for the year", and
 - (b) in paragraph (b), for "35%" substitute "37%".
- (7) Section 140 of that Act (car without CO₂ figure: the appropriate percentage) is amended in accordance with subsections (8) to (11).
- (8) In the Table in subsection (2), for "35%" substitute "37%".
- (9) For subsection (3)(a) substitute
 - "(a) 5% if the car cannot in any circumstances emit CO₂ by being driven, and".
- (10) In subsection (3)(b), for "35%" substitute "37%".
- (11) Omit subsection (3A).

| (12) | The amendments made by this section have effect for the tax year 2015-16 and |
|------|--|
| , , | subsequent tax years. |

24 Gains from contracts for life insurance etc

Schedule 8 amends Chapter 9 of Part 4 of ITTOIA 2005 (gains from contracts for life insurance etc).

5

25 Qualifying insurance policies

Schedule 9 amends Schedule 15 to ICTA (qualifying insurance policies) and makes other provision relating to qualifying policies under Schedule 15 to ICTA.

26 Transfer of assets abroad

10

Schedule 10 amends Chapter 2 of Part 13 of ITA 2007 (tax avoidance: transfer of assets abroad).

27 Payments of interest

Schedule 11 contains provision in connection with the payment of interest for the purposes of income tax.

15

28 Disguised interest

Schedule 12 contains provision about returns which are economically equivalent to interest.

CHAPTER 3

CORPORATION TAX: GENERAL

20

Losses

29 Restriction on surrender of losses: controlled foreign company cases

- (1) Section 105 of CTA 2010 (restriction on surrender of losses etc within section 99(1)(d) to (g)) is amended as follows.
- (2) In subsection (2), for "the surrendering company's gross profits of the surrender period" substitute "the profit-related threshold".
- (3) In subsection (3), for "those gross profits" substitute "the profit-related threshold".
- (4) After subsection (3) insert
 - "(3A) "The profit-related threshold" is the sum of —

30

25

- (a) the surrendering company's gross profits of the surrender period, and
- (b) where chargeable profits of a CFC for an accounting period ending in the surrender period are apportioned to the surrendering company in accordance with step 3 in subsection

Finance (No. 2) Bill Part 1 – Income Tax, Corporation Tax and Capital Gains Tax

Chapter 3 – Corporation tax: general

(1) of 371BC of TIOPA 2010 and the surrendering company is in relation to that accounting period of the CFC a chargeable company for the purposes of step 4 in that subsection, the total of the chargeable profits so apportioned.

11

(3B) 5 Where – (a) an accounting period of a CFC ending in the surrender period is one to which (because of paragraph 50 of Schedule 20 of FA 2012) the repeal of Chapter 4 of Part 17 of ICTA does not apply, chargeable profits of the CFC for that accounting period are apportioned to the surrendering company in accordance with 10 sections 747(3) and 752 of ICTA, and the surrendering company is not prevented by section 747(5) of ICTA from being chargeable to tax in respect of the CFC for that accounting period, the profit-related threshold also includes the total of the chargeable 15 profits so apportioned." After subsection (5) insert – "(5A) For the purposes of this section – "CFC" has the same meaning as in Part 9A of TIOPA 2010, except that in subsection (3B) it means a controlled foreign 20 company as defined by section 747(2) of ICTA; "chargeable profits", in relation to a CFC, is to be read in accordance with section 371BA(3) of TIOPA 2010, except that in subsection (3B) it is to be read in accordance with section 747(6) of ICTA." 25 The amendments made by this section have effect where the surrender period of the surrendering company ends on or after 20 March 2013, but subject to the following. For the purposes of section 105(3A)(b) and (3B)(b) of CTA 2010, chargeable profits do not include – 30 chargeable profits for an accounting period within the meaning of Part 9A of TIOPA 2010 ending before 20 March 2013, or chargeable profits for an accounting period within the meaning of Chapter 4 of Part 17 of ICTA ending before that date. Subsection (9) applies where – 35 an accounting period within the meaning of Part 9A of TIOPA 2010, or an accounting period within the meaning of Chapter 4 of Part 17 of

falls partly before and partly on or after 20 March 2013.

For the purposes of section 105 of CTA 2010, the chargeable profits of the CFC 40 for that period, so far as apportioned to the surrendering company as mentioned in subsection (3A)(b) or (3B)(b) of that section (as the case requires), are to be further apportioned on a just and reasonable basis between the two parts of the period, and the chargeable profits referred to in subsection (3A)(b) or (3B)(b) are not to include the chargeable profits apportioned to the part 45 ending before 20 March 2013.

30 Loss relief surrenderable by non-UK resident established in EEA state

- (1) Section 107 of CTA 2010 (surrender of losses etc) is amended as follows.
- (2) After subsection (1) insert
 - "(1A) If the surrendering company is established in the EEA (within the meaning of section 134A), it may surrender a loss or other amount under this Chapter only so far as conditions A and B are met.

 Subsection (6A) imposes restrictions on a surrender under this subsection."
- (3) In subsection (2) for "The" substitute "In any other case, the".
- (4) After subsection (6) insert –

10

15

25

30

5

- "(6A) A loss or other amount may not be surrendered by virtue of subsection (1A) if and to the extent that it, or any amount brought into account in calculating it, corresponds to, or is represented in, amounts within subsection (6B).
- (6B) An amount is within this subsection if, for the purposes of non-UK tax chargeable under the law of a territory, the amount is (in any period) deducted from or otherwise allowed against non-UK profits of any person."
- (5) In subsection (7), after "subsection (6)" insert "or (6B)".
- (6) The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2013.
- (7) But for this purpose an accounting period beginning before, and ending on or after, 1 April 2013 is to be treated as if so much of the period as falls before that date, and so much of the period as falls on or after that date, were separate accounting periods.
- (8) An apportionment for the purposes of subsection (7) must be made in accordance with section 1172 of CTA 2010 (time basis) or, if that method produces a result that is unjust or unreasonable, on a just and reasonable basis.

31 Arrangements for transfers of companies

- (1) In section 156 of CTA 2010 (definition of "arrangements" for purposes of sections 154 to 155B, etc)
 - (a) in subsection (2), in paragraph (b), after "include" insert "—

(i) "

- (b) at the end of that paragraph insert ", or
 - (ii) a condition or requirement imposed by, or 35 agreed with, a Minister of the Crown, the Scottish Ministers, a Northern Ireland department or a statutory body.", and
- (c) after that subsection insert
 - "(2A) In subsection (2) "statutory body" means a body (other than a company as defined by section 1(1) of the Companies Act 2006) established by or under a statutory provision for the purpose of carrying out functions conferred on it by or under a statutory

Finance (No. 2) Bill
Part 1 — Income Tax, Corporation Tax and Capital Gains Tax

Chapter 3 – Corporation tax: general

provision, except that the Treasury may, by order, specify that a body is or is not to be a statutory body for this purpose."

13

5

15

20

25

30

35

- (2) In sections 154(3) and 155(3) of that Act (arrangements for transfers), for "154A" substitute "155A".
- (3) In section 188 of that Act (other definitions for Part 5), in subsection (1), after "company" insert "(except in section 156(2A)".
- (4) The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to accounting periods ending on or after 1 April 2013.

32 Change in company ownership: company reconstructions

(1) For section 676 of CTA 2010 (disallowance of trading losses where company reconstruction without a change of ownership) substitute —

"676 Company reconstructions

- (1) Subsection (2) applies if, before the change in ownership
 - (a) a trade carried on by another company ("the predecessor company") is transferred to the company, and
 - (b) the transfer is a transfer to which Chapter 1 of Part 22 applies (transfers of trade without a change of ownership).
- (2) In determining any relief available to the company by virtue of section 944(3) (carry forward of trading losses in successor company), this Chapter applies as if
 - (a) references to a trade carried on by the company included the trade as carried on by the predecessor company or by any predecessor of that company, and
 - (b) any loss sustained by the predecessor company or any predecessor of that company had been sustained by the company.
- (3) Subsection (4) applies if, after the change in ownership
 - (a) a trade carried on by the company is transferred to another company ("the successor company"), and
 - (b) the transfer is a transfer to which Chapter 1 of Part 22 applies.
- (4) In determining
 - (a) any relief available to the company under section 45 (carry forward of trading losses), or
 - (b) any relief available to the successor company or any successor of that company by virtue of section 944(3),

this Chapter applies as if references to a trade carried on by the company included the trade as carried on by the successor company or by any successor of that company.

- (5) For the purposes of this section a company ("company A") is a predecessor of another company ("company B"), and company B is a successor of company A, if the first or second condition is met.
- (6) The first condition is that Chapter 1 of Part 22 applies in relation to company A and company B as respectively the predecessor and the successor within the meaning of that Chapter.

| (2) | | (a) (b) mendme | third compar and the succe company C i- condition) a p ent made by s | Part 22 apy ("compassor withing (whether predecessor withing crubsection) | pplies in relation to company A and a any C") as respectively the predecessor in the meaning of that Chapter, and by virtue of the first condition or this r of company B." (1) has effect in relation to changes in | 5 |
|-----|-----------------------------|----------------------|--|---|---|----|
| | owner | ship tha | at occur on or a | atter 20 Ma | arch 2013. | |
| 33 | Change | e in com | ipany ownersl | nip: shell o | companies | |
| | Sched (a) (b) | Chapt | s into Part 14 of | mpanies: r | (change in company ownership) a new estrictions on relief), and | 10 |
| | | | | Other reli | refs | |
| 34 | R&D e | xpendit | ure credits | | | 15 |
| | Sched | ule 14 c | ontains provisi | ion about l | R&D expenditure credits. | |
| 35 | Relief f | for telev | ision product | ion and vi | deo games development | |
| (1) | Sched | ule 15 c | ontains provisi | ion about 1 | relevision production. | |
| (2) | Sched | ule 16 c | ontains provisi | ion about | video games development. | |
| (3) | Sched | ule 17 c | ontains conseq | uential an | nendments. | 20 |
| | | | Exe | mption fror | n charge | |
| 36 | Health | service | bodies: exem | ption | | |
| | In sec "healt the tal | h servic | 6 of CTA 201 e body"), inser | 0 (exempt | ion from corporation tax: meaning of wing entries at the appropriate places in | 25 |
| | "a clin | ical com | nmissioning gr | oup | section 1I of the National Health Service Act 2006" | |
| | "Healt Centre | | Social Care Info | ormation | section 252 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012" | |
| | "Natio Comm | | Health ng Board | Service | section 1H of the National Health Service Act 2006" | 30 |

| "National | Institute | for | Health | and | section 2 | 232 | of | the | Health | and |
|------------|-----------|-----|--------|-----|-----------|--------------|-----|-----|--------|-----|
| Care Excel | llence | | | | Social Ca | are <i>i</i> | Act | 201 | 2". | |

37 Chief constables etc (England and Wales): exemption

(1) In Chapter 8 of Part 22 of CTA 2010 (exemptions), after section 987 insert –

"Police

987A Chief constables etc (England and Wales)

The following are not liable to corporation tax –

- (a) a chief constable of a police force maintained under section 2 of the Police Act 1996;
- (b) the Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis."

10

(2) The amendment made by this section is treated as having come into force on 16 January 2012, but, in relation to any time before 22 November 2012, section 987A of CTA 2010 has effect as if paragraph (a) were omitted.

Other provisions

38 Real estate investment trusts: UK REITs which invest in other UK REITs

15

5

Schedule 18 amends Part 12 of CTA 2010 (real estate investment trusts).

39 Corporation tax relief for employee share acquisitions etc

(1) Chapter 6 of Part 12 of CTA 2009 (relief for employee share acquisitions: relationship between relief under Part 12 and other reliefs) is amended as follows.

20

25

30

35

(2) For section 1038 substitute –

"1038 Exclusion of other deductions

(1) Subsection (2) applies if relief is or, apart from condition 2 in section 1009(1), would be available under this Part.

For this purpose, it does not matter if the amount of the relief is or would be calculated as nil.

(2) Except as provided for by this Part, for the purpose of calculating any company's profits for corporation tax purposes for any accounting period, no deduction is allowed –

- (a) in relation to the provision of the shares or to any matter connected with the provision of the shares, or
- (b) so far as not covered by paragraph (a) in a case in which the shares are acquired pursuant to an option, in relation to the option or to any matter connected with the option.
- (3) In a case in which section 1022 has applied, in subsection (2)(b) references to the option cover the new option and any relevant earlier qualifying option.

| | | Chapter 3 – Corporation iax. general | |
|-----|--------|---|----|
| | (4) | For the purposes of subsection (2) it does not matter if the accounting period in question falls wholly before or after the time at which the shares are acquired. | |
| | (5) | In a case in which the shares are acquired under an employee share scheme, the deductions disallowed by subsection (2) include (in particular) deductions for amounts paid or payable by the employing company in relation to the participation of the employee in the scheme. | 5 |
| | (6) | But subsection (2) does not disallow deductions for — (a) expenses incurred in setting up the scheme, (b) expenses incurred in meeting, or contributing to, the costs of administering the scheme, (c) the costs of borrowing for the purposes of the scheme, or (d) fees, commission, stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax, and similar incidental expenses of acquiring the shares. | 10 |
| | (7) | "Employee share scheme" means a scheme or arrangement for enabling shares to be acquired because of persons' employment. | 15 |
| | (8) | In a case in which relief is or, apart from condition 2 in section 1009(1), would be available under Chapter 5 by virtue of section 1030(2), subsection (2) does not disallow deductions in relation to the provision of the convertible securities." | 20 |
| (3) | After | section 1038 insert – | |
| | "1038. | A Exclusion of deductions for share options: shares not acquired | |
| | (1) | Subsection (2) applies if — | |
| | | (a) a person obtains an option to acquire shares and the requirements of section 1015(1)(a) to (c) are met in relation to the obtaining of the option, or(b) so far as not covered by paragraph (a), a person obtains an option to acquire shares and the obtaining of the option is connected with an option previously obtained in a case covered | 25 |
| | | by paragraph (a) or this paragraph. | 30 |
| | (2) | For the purpose of calculating any company's profits for corporation tax purposes for any accounting period, no deduction is allowed in relation to— (a) the option, or (b) any matter connected with the option, unless the shares are acquired pursuant to the option. | 35 |
| | (0) | | |
| | (3) | For the purposes of subsection (2) it does not matter if the accounting period in question falls wholly before or after the time at which the option is obtained. | |
| | (4) | In a case in which the shares would be acquired under an employee share scheme, the deductions disallowed by subsection (2) include (in particular) deductions for amounts paid or payable by the employing company in relation to the participation of the employee in the scheme. | 40 |

(5) But subsection (2) does not disallow deductions for –(a) expenses incurred in setting up the scheme,

| (b) | expenses incurred in meeting, or contributing to, the costs of |
|-----|--|
| | administering the scheme, |
| (c) | the costs of borrowing for the purposes of the scheme, or |

17

5

10

15

20

40

45

- (d) fees, commission, stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax, and similar incidental expenses of acquiring the shares.
- (6) "Employee share scheme" means a scheme or arrangement for enabling shares to be acquired because of persons' employment.
- (7) Subsection (2) does not disallow deductions for
 - (a) amounts on which the employee is subject to a charge under ITEPA 2003,
 - (b) amounts on which the employee would have been subject to a charge under ITEPA 2003 had the employee been a UK employee at all material times, or
 - (c) if the employee has died, amounts on which the employee would have been subject to a charge under ITEPA 2003 had the employee been alive.
- (8) "UK employee" is to be read in accordance with section 1017(4)."
- (4) For the purposes of the following subsections
 - "pre-20 March 2013 relevant accounting period" means an accounting period which begins before 20 March 2013 but ends on or after that date, and
 - "relevant accounting period" means an accounting period which ends on or after 20 March 2013.
- (5) The amendment made by subsection (2) above has effect for the purpose of disallowing deductions for relevant accounting periods.
 25 For this purpose, it does not matter if the acquisition of shares which gives rise, or would give rise, to the relief under Part 12 of CTA 2009 occurs before a company's first relevant accounting period.
- (6) But the amendment made by subsection (2) above has no effect for the purpose of disallowing a deduction for a pre-20 March 2013 relevant accounting period where the acquisition of shares which gives rise, or would give rise, to the relief under Part 12 of CTA 2009 occurs before 20 March 2013.
- (7) The amendment made by subsection (3) above has effect for the purpose of disallowing deductions for relevant accounting periods.
 For this purpose, it does not matter if the option is obtained before a company's first relevant accounting period.
- (8) But the amendment made by subsection (3) above has no effect for the purpose of disallowing a deduction for a pre-20 March 2013 relevant accounting period where
 - (a) the option is obtained before 20 March 2013, and
 - (b) before that date, an event (for example, the lapse or cancellation of the option) occurs in consequence of which the shares cannot be acquired pursuant to the option.

40 Derivative contracts: property total return swaps etc

(1) Chapter 7 of Part 7 of CTA 2009 (chargeable gains arising in relation to derivative contracts) is amended as follows.

Chapter 3 – Corporation tax: general (2) In section 643 (contracts relating to land or certain tangible movable property) – in subsection (1), for "and C" substitute ", C and D", and (a) after subsection (4) insert – Condition D is that no two or more of the parties to the 5 derivative contract are connected persons." (3) In section 650 (property based total return swaps) – in subsection (1), for "to F" substitute "to H", and after subsection (7) insert – 10 Condition G is that no two or more of the parties to the derivative contract are connected persons. Condition H is that the securing of a tax advantage is neither the main purpose, nor one of the main purposes, for which the company is a party to the derivative contract. "Tax advantage" has the meaning given by section 1139 of CTA 15 2010." In section 659 (meaning of "relevant credits" and "relevant debits"), after subsection (4) insert – But if the derivative contract has effect such that the return arising from the contract, so far as calculated by reference to that index, is calculated 20 by reference to a percentage ("the capped percentage") which is closer to zero than the full percentage change in that index over that period (or which is zero even though there has been a change in that index), for the purposes of subsection (4) R% is the capped percentage." The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to accounting 25 periods beginning on or after 5 December 2012. But, for the purposes of subsection (5), an accounting period beginning before, and ending on or after, 5 December 2012 is to be treated as if so much of the period as falls before that date, and so much of the period as falls on or after that date, were separate accounting periods. 30 41 Corporation tax: tax mismatch schemes Schedule 19 contains provision about tax mismatch schemes. 42 Tier two capital CTA 2010 is amended as follows.

insert —
"(1A) For those purposes, "normal commercial loan" also includes any loan

which is not a normal commercial loan by virtue of subsection (1) but is such a loan by virtue of section 164A(1) (loan forming part of tier two capital)."

35

40

In section 162 (meaning of "normal commercial loan"), after subsection (1)

Part 1 – Income Tax, Corporation Tax and Capital Gains Tax Chapter 3 – Corporation tax: general

(3) After section 164 insert –

"164A Loan forming part of tier two capital

- (1) A loan is a normal commercial loan by virtue of this subsection if it—
 - (a) was made to a bank or a parent undertaking of a bank, and
 - (b) forms part of the tier two capital resources of the bank or parent undertaking.
- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply in the case of any loan if there are arrangements the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of which is to obtain a tax advantage for any person as a result of the application of that subsection in respect of that loan.
- (3) For the purposes of this section
 - (a) "bank" has the meaning given by section 1120,
 - (b) "tax advantage" has the meaning given by section 1139,
 - (c) "parent undertaking" is to be read in accordance with section 420 of FISMA 2000, and
 - (d) the reference to tier two capital resources is to be read in accordance with the PRA Handbook made by the Prudential Regulation Authority (as that Handbook has effect from time to time).
- (4) In relation to any time before 1 April 2013, the reference in subsection (3)(d) to the PRA Handbook is to be read as a reference to the Handbook of Rules and Guidance made by the Financial Services Authority (as that Handbook had effect at the time in question)."
- (4) In section 1029(1) (overview), after paragraph (c) insert
 - "(ca) section 1032A (payment in respect of tier two capital),".
- (5) After section 1032 insert –

"Tier two capital

1032A Payment in respect of tier two capital

- (1) A payment made in respect of tier two securities is not a distribution for the purposes of the Corporation Tax Acts.
- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply in the case of any tier two securities if there are arrangements the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of which is to obtain a tax advantage for any person as a result of the application of that subsection in respect of those securities.
- (3) For the purposes of this section
 - (a) "tier two securities" means securities (other than shares) issued by a bank or a parent undertaking of a bank that form part of the tier two capital resources of the bank or parent undertaking,
 - (b) "bank" has the meaning given by section 1120,
 - (c) "tax advantage" has the meaning given by section 1139,
 - (d) "parent undertaking" is to be read in accordance with section 420 of FISMA 2000, and
 - (e) the reference to tier two capital resources is to be read in accordance with the PRA Handbook made by the Prudential

5

15

10

20

25

30

35

5

15

20

25

30

Regulation Authority (as that Handbook has effect from time to time).

- (4) In relation to any time before 1 April 2013, the reference in subsection (3)(e) to the PRA Handbook is to be read as a reference to the Handbook of Rules and Guidance made by the Financial Services Authority (as that Handbook had effect at the time in question)."
- (6) The amendments made by this section are treated as having come into force on 26 October 2012.

43 Financing costs and income: group treasury companies

- (1) In section 316 of TIOPA 2010 (group treasury companies) for subsections (2) to (8) substitute
 - "(2) A company is a group treasury company in the relevant period if
 - (a) it is a member of the worldwide group,
 - (b) it undertakes treasury activities for the worldwide group in the relevant period (whether or not it also undertakes other activities),
 - (c) at least 90% of the relevant income of the company for the relevant period is group treasury revenue, and
 - (d) it makes an election in respect of the relevant period for the purposes of this section.
 - (3) Subsection (4) applies if throughout the relevant period
 - (a) all or substantially all of the activities undertaken by a group treasury company consist of treasury activities undertaken by it for the worldwide group, and
 - (b) all or substantially all of the assets and liabilities of the company relate to such activities.
 - (4) Where this subsection applies, the relevant amount, and all other amounts that are relevant amounts in respect of the group treasury company and the relevant period, are treated as not being a financing expense amount or a financing income amount of the group treasury company.
 - (5) If subsection (4) does not apply, those relevant amounts are treated as not being a financing expense amount or a financing income amount of the group treasury company only to the extent that they relate to treasury activities undertaken by the company for the worldwide group.
 - (6) For the purposes of subsection (5) the extent to which amounts relate to the matters mentioned is to be determined on a just and reasonable basis.
 - (7) An election under this section must be made within 3 years after the end of the relevant period."
- (2) The amendment made by this section has effect in relation to periods of account of the worldwide group beginning on or after 11 December 2012.

Part 1 – Income Tax, Corporation Tax and Capital Gains Tax Chapter 3 – Corporation tax: general

44 Condition for company to be an "investment trust"

(1) In section 1158(2) of CTA 2010 (condition A for a company to be an "investment trust"), for "the business of the company consists of" substitute "all, or substantially all, of the business of the company is".

(2) The amendment made by this section has effect in relation to accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.

45 Community amateur sports clubs

Schedule 20 contains provision about community amateur sports clubs.

CHAPTER 4

PENSIONS 10

21

15

20

25

30

46 Lifetime allowance charge: power to amend the transitional provision in Part 2 of Schedule 18 to FA 2011 etc

(1) Part 2 of Schedule 18 to FA 2011 (lifetime allowance charge: commencement and transitional provision relating to changes made for the tax year 2012-13 and onwards) is amended as follows.

(2) In paragraph 14 –

- (a) omit sub-paragraphs (2) and (15) to (17) (which confer power on the HMRC Commissioners to make provision specifying how notices under paragraph 14 are to be given),
- (b) in sub-paragraph (7) omit "the annual rate of" where it first appears, and
- (c) in sub-paragraph (11) after "(5)(a)" insert "and (c)(i)".
- (3) After paragraph 14 insert
 - "15 (1) The Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs may by regulations amend paragraph 14.
 - (2) Regulations under this paragraph may (for example) add to the cases in which paragraph 14 is to apply or is to cease to apply.
 - (3) Regulations under this paragraph may include provision having effect in relation to a time before the regulations are made; but—
 - (a) the time must be no earlier than 6 April 2012, and
 - (b) the provision must not increase any person's liability to tax.
 - (4) In relation to regulations under this paragraph made during 2013, sub-paragraph (3) has effect with the omission of paragraph (b) so long as the time in question is no earlier than 6 April 2013.
 - 16 (1) The Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs may by regulations make provision specifying how any notice required to be given to an officer of Revenue and Customs under paragraph 14 is to be given.
 - (2) In sub-paragraph (1) the reference to paragraph 14 is to that paragraph as amended from time to time by regulations under paragraph 15.

17 (1) Regulations under paragraph 15 or 16 may include supplementary or incidental provision. (2) The powers to make regulations under paragraphs 15 and 16 are exercisable by statutory instrument. (3) A statutory instrument containing regulations under paragraph 15 5 or 16 is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the House of Commons." The amendments made by subsection (2)(b) and (c) are treated as having come into force on 6 April 2012. The Registered Pension Schemes (Lifetime Allowance Transitional Protection) 10 Regulations 2011 (S.I. 2011/1752) are to continue to have effect and, so far as they were made under paragraph 14(2) and (15) of Schedule 18 to FA 2011, are to be treated as if they were made under paragraphs 16 and 17(1) of that Schedule (as inserted by subsection (3) above). Lifetime allowance charge: new standard lifetime allowance for the tax year 47 15 2014-15 and subsequent tax years (1) Section 218 of FA 2004 (standard lifetime allowance etc) is amended as follows. (2) For subsection (2) substitute – The standard lifetime allowance for the tax year 2014-15 and, subject to subsection (3), subsequent tax years is £1,250,000." 20 (3)In subsection (3) for "the tax year 2012-13" substitute "the tax year 2014-15". The amendments made by subsections (2) and (3) have effect for the tax year 2014-15 and subsequent tax years. Schedule 21 contains transitional provision etc. Annual allowance: new annual allowance for the tax year 2014-15 and 25 48 subsequent tax years (1) Section 228 of FA 2004 (annual allowance) is amended as follows. (2) For subsection (1) substitute – The annual allowance for the tax year 2014-15 and, subject to subsection (2), each subsequent tax year is £40,000." 30 In subsection (2) for "2011-12" substitute "2014-15". (3) The amendments made by this section have effect for the tax year 2014-15 and subsequent tax years. 49 Drawdown pensions and dependants' drawdown pensions In section 165 of FA 2004 (pension rules), in subsection (1), in pension rule 5, 35 for "100%" substitute "120%". In section 167 of that Act (pension death benefit rules), in subsection (1), in pension death benefit rule 4, for "100%" substitute "120%".

In Schedule 16 to FA 2011 (benefits under pension schemes) –

23

| | | , | | | | | | |
|--------|---|--------|------|-------------|---------|-----------|-------|-----|
| Part 1 | _ | Income | Tax, | Corporation | Tax and | ! Capital | Gains | Tax |
| | | Days | | • | | • | | |

| | r 4 – Pensions | | | | | | |
|-----|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | (a) in paragraph 90(2)(a), after "year" insert "beginning before 26 March 2013 and", | | | | | | |
| | (b) in paragraph 90(3), omit paragraph (b) and the "and" before it,(c) in paragraph 98(2)(a), after "year" insert "beginning before 26 March 2013 and", and | | | | | | |
| | (d) in paragraph 98(3), omit paragraph (b) and the "and" before it. | | | | | | |
| (4) | The amendments made by subsections (1) and (2) have effect in relation to drawdown pension years beginning on or after 26 March 2013. | | | | | | |
| (5) | The amendments made by subsection (3)(a) and (c) are treated as having come into force on 26 March 2013. | | | | | | |
| (6) | The amendments made by subsection (3)(b) and (d) have effect in relation to transfers within paragraph 90(5) or 98(5) of Schedule 16 to FA 2011 occurring during a drawdown pension year ending on or after 25 March 2013. | | | | | | |
| 50 | Bridging pensions | | | | | | |
| (1) | FA 2004 is amended as follows. | | | | | | |
| (2) | In paragraph 2 of Schedule 28 (pension rules: meaning of scheme pension) — (a) in sub-paragraph (4)(c) — | | | | | | |
| | (i) for the words from "not earlier" to "65" substitute "during the permitted period", and(ii) after "which" insert "together with any previous reductions of | | | | | | |
| | the kind referred to in this paragraph (c)", and (b) after sub-paragraph (4A) insert — | | | | | | |
| | "(4B) In sub-paragraph (4)(c) "the permitted period" means the period beginning with the day on which the member reaches the age of 60 and ending with the day on which the member reaches the age of 65 or, if later, reaches pensionable age." | | | | | | |
| (3) | In paragraph 1 of Schedule 29 (pension commencement lump sums), in subparagraph (4)(a), omit the words from "at a time" to "65". | | | | | | |
| (4) | In consequence of subsection (3), paragraph 21 of Schedule 23 to the FA 2006 is repealed. | | | | | | |
| (5) | The amendments made by this section have effect for the tax year 2013-14 and subsequent tax years. | | | | | | |
| 51 | Abolition of contracting out of state second pension: consequential amendments etc | | | | | | |
| (1) | FA 2004 is amended as follows. | | | | | | |
| (2) | In section 188 (relief for contributions), in subsection (3) (contributions excluded from relief), omit paragraph (c) and the word "and" immediately preceding that paragraph. | | | | | | |
| (3) | In that section, omit subsection (6) (which treats certain amounts recovered by individual's employer as contributions paid by individual). | | | | | | |

(4) Omit section 190(5) (certain reliefs not to count towards annual limit for relief).

(5) Omit section 196(5) (references to contributions to include references to minimum payments when determining relief for employers). (6) Omit section 202 (minimum contributions under pensions legislation). Omit section 233(2) (references to contributions not to include references to minimum payments when determining pension input amount). 5 In paragraph 5 of Schedule 29 (short service refund lump sum), after subparagraph (2) insert – "(2A) In sub-paragraph (2) the reference to the member's contributions includes any amount paid under section 7 of the Social Security 10 Act 1986 (incentive payments to schemes becoming contracted-out between 1986 and 1993), any amount paid by the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs under section 42A(3) of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 or section 38A(3) of the Pension Schemes 15 (Northern Ireland) Act 1993 (rebates), and (c) any amount recovered by the member's employer under regulations falling within sub-paragraph (2B) in respect of minimum payments made to the scheme in relation to any period before 6 April 2012. 20 (2B) Those regulations are regulations which were made under – section 8(3) of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 (recovery of minimum payments), or section 4(3) of the Pension Schemes (Northern Ireland) Act 1993 (corresponding provision for Northern Ireland)." 25 (9) Omit paragraph 14(2) of Schedule 36 (which excludes minimum payments from being relevant contributions for the purposes of enhanced protection from lifetime allowance charge). (10)Subsections (1), (3) to (5) and (7) to (9) come into force on 6 April 2013. Subsection (2) comes into force on 6 April 2015. 30 (11)

52 Overseas pension schemes: general

order made by statutory instrument.

(12)

(1) In section 150(8) of FA 2004 (meaning of "recognised overseas pension scheme"), for the words from "which" to the end substitute "which satisfies any requirements prescribed for the purposes of this subsection by regulations made by the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs."

Subsection (6) comes into force on 6 April 2016, except that the repeal of section 202(5) of FA 2004 comes into force on such day as the Treasury may appoint by

(2) Section 169 of that Act (pension schemes: recognised transfers) is amended as follows.

40

(3) In subsection (2)(c), for "any prescribed information requirements imposed on the scheme manager" substitute "any requirements imposed under subsection (4)".

| (4) | For su | bsection (4) substitute – |
|-----|--------|---|
| | "(4) | Regulations may require the scheme manager of a QROPS or former QROPS to — |
| | | (a) give the Commissioners information of a prescribed description, |
| | | (b) give the Commissioners such evidence as they may require of a prescribed matter, and |
| | | (c) give a prescribed authority, in prescribed circumstances information of a prescribed description. |
| | (4A) | Regulations under subsection (4) may make provision as to— (a) the way and form in which information or evidence is to be |
| | | given, and (b) the times or intervals at which information or evidence is to be given. |
| | (4B) | The regulations may apply any provision of Part 7 of Schedule 36 to FA 2008 (penalties), with or without modifications, in relation to requirements imposed under the regulations on a former QROPS." |
| 5) | In sub | section (5) — |
| | (a) | for "the Inland Revenue has" substitute "the Commissioners have", |
| | (b) | for paragraph (a) (but not the "and" at the end of it) substitute— "(a) any of the following conditions is met in relation to the scheme— |
| | | (i) there has been a failure to comply with a relevan |
| | | requirement and the failure is significant, (ii) any information given pursuant to a relevan |
| | | requirement is incorrect in a material respect, |
| | | (iii) any declaration given pursuant to a relevan requirement is false in a material respect, |
| | | (iv) there is no scheme manager,", and |
| | (c) | in paragraph (b), for "the failure" substitute "that condition being met" |
| 5) | For su | bsection (6) substitute — |
| | "(6) | A failure to comply with a requirement is significant if — (a) it is a failure to give information or evidence that is (or may be of significance, or |
| | | (b) there are reasonable grounds for believing that the failure prejudices (or might prejudice) the assessment or collection of tax by the Commissioners." |
| 7) | After | subsection (7) insert – |
| | "(8) | In subsections (4) to (6) and this subsection – |
| | | "the Commissioners" means the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs; |

time been a QROPS; "regulations" means regulations made by the Commissioners;

"QROPS" means a qualifying recognised overseas pension scheme, and "former QROPS" means a scheme that has at any

"prescribed" means prescribed by regulations;

15

20

25

30

35

| | "relevant 1 | requiremen | t" means – |
|--|-------------|------------|------------|
|--|-------------|------------|------------|

- (a) a requirement imposed by regulations under subsection (4), or
- (b) a requirement imposed by virtue of Part 1 of Schedule 36 to FA 2008 (powers to obtain information and documents)."
- (8) In section 280(1) of that Act (abbreviations), insert at the appropriate place—""FA 2008" means the Finance Act 2008,".

53 Overseas pension schemes: information and inspection powers

- (1) Part 6 of Schedule 36 to FA 2008 (information and inspection powers: special cases) is amended as follows.
- (2) In paragraph 34B (registered pension schemes etc)
 - (a) in sub-paragraph (2), omit the "or" at the end of paragraph (b) and, at the end of paragraph (c) insert
 - "(d) a QROPS or former QROPS, or
 - (e) an annuity purchased with sums or assets held for the purposes of a QROPS or former QROPS.";
 - (b) after sub-paragraph (4) insert
 - "(4A) In relation to a notice to which this paragraph applies that refers only to information or documents relating to a matter within sub-paragraph (2)(d) or (e), paragraph 20 (old documents) has effect as if the reference to 6 years were to 10 years.";
 - (c) after sub-paragraph (7) insert
 - "(7A) Where the notice relates to a matter within sub-paragraph (2)(d) or (e), the officer of Revenue and Customs who gives the notice must give a copy of the notice to the scheme manager in relation to the pension scheme.";
 - (d) in sub-paragraph (8), for "and (7)" substitute "to (7A)".
- (3) In paragraph 34C (registered pension schemes etc: interpretation), insert at the appropriate places
 - ""QROPS" and "former QROPS" have the meanings given by section 169(8) of FA 2004;";
 - ""scheme manager", in relation to a pension scheme, has the meaning given by section 169(3) of FA 2004."
- (4) In paragraphs 34B and 34C of Schedule 36 to FA 2008, references to a former QROPS include a scheme that ceased to be a QROPS before this Act was passed.

Chapter 5 – Other provisions

CHAPTER 5

OTHER PROVISIONS

Employee shareholder shares

| 54 Employee shareholder share |
|-------------------------------|
|-------------------------------|

Schedule 22 contains provision about employee shareholder shares.

5

27

Seed enterprise investment scheme

55 SEIS: income tax relief

- (1) ITA 2007 is amended as follows.
- (2) In section 29 (tax reductions: supplementary), in subsection (4B), after the entry for Chapter 1 of Part 5 insert —

10

- "Chapter 1 of Part 5A (SEIS relief),".
- (3) In section 32 (liability not dealt with in the calculation), after the entry for section 235 insert
 - "under section 257G (withdrawal or reduction of SEIS relief),".
- (4) In section 257DG (the control and independence requirement), for subsection (2) substitute –
- 15

- "(2) The independence element of the requirement is that
 - (a) the issuing company must not at any time in period A (ignoring any on-the-shelf period) be within subsection (2A), and
 - (b) no arrangements must be in existence at any time in period A by virtue of which the issuing company could be within that subsection (whether during period A or otherwise).

20

(2A) The issuing company is within this subsection at any time if it is under the control of any other company (or of another company and any other person connected with that other company).

25

- (2B) In subsection (2)(a) "on-the-shelf period" means a period during which the issuing company
 - (a) has not issued any shares other than subscriber shares, and
 - (b) has not begun to carry on, or make preparations for carrying on, any trade or business."

30

- (5) The amendments made by subsections (2) and (3) have effect for the tax year 2013-14 and subsequent tax years.
- (6) The amendment made by subsection (4) has effect in relation to shares issued on or after 6 April 2013.

56 SEIS: re-investment relief

- (1) Schedule 5BB to TCGA 1992 (seed enterprise investment scheme: reinvestment) is amended as follows.
- (2) In paragraph 1 (SEIS re-investment relief) —

| | | Chapter 5 Chief provisions | |
|-----|-----------------|---|----|
| | (a) | in sub-paragraph (2) — (i) in paragraph (a), after "the tax year 2012-13" insert "or the tax year 2013-14 (the year in question being referred to in this Schedule as "the relevant year")", and (ii) in paragraph (b), for "that year" substitute "the relevant year", | 5 |
| | (b) (c) | in sub-paragraph (3)(a), for "tax year 2012-13" substitute "relevant year", and for sub-paragraph (5) substitute— | |
| | | "(5) The relevant percentage of the available SEIS expenditure is to be set against a corresponding amount of the original gain. | 10 |
| | | (5A) In sub-paragraph (5) — "the available SEIS expenditure" means so much of the SEIS expenditure as — | |
| | | (a) is specified in the claim,(b) is unused, and(c) does not exceed so much of the original gain as is unmatched; | 15 |
| | | "the relevant percentage" means— (a) if the relevant year is the tax year 2012-13, 100%, and (b) if the relevant year is the tax year 2013-14, 50%." | 20 |
| (3) | (a) | in sub-paragraph (1), for "tax year 2012-13" substitute "relevant year", and | 25 |
| | (b) | in sub-paragraph (2) —(i) for "tax year 2012-13" substitute "relevant year", and(ii) for "that tax year" substitute "that year". | 25 |
| (4) | | ngraph 5 (removal or reduction of relief) in sub-paragraph (2) for "2012-ostitute "in which the shares were issued". | |
| (5) | Accor "tax y | dingly, in section 150G of TCGA (which introduces Schedule 5BB), for ear 2012-13" substitute "tax years 2012-13 and 2013-14". | 30 |
| | | Disincorporation | |
| 57 | Disinco | rporation relief | |
| (1) | A clai where | m for relief under this section ("disincorporation relief") may be made | 35 |
| | (a) | a company transfers its business to some or all of the shareholders of the company, | |
| | (b) | the transfer of the business is a qualifying business transfer (see section 58), and | |
| | (c) | the business transfer date falls within the period of 5 years beginning with 1 April 2013. | 40 |

(2) As to the consequences of a claim for disincorporation relief being made, see –

sections 162B and 162C of TCGA 1992;

section 849A of CTA 2009.

Finance (No. 2) Bill

| Part | 1 - | – Inc | ome | Tax, | Cor | poration | Tax | and | Capital | Gains | Tax |
|------|-----|-------|-----|------|-----|----------|-----|-----|---------|-------|-----|
| | | | | | | | | | | | |

Chapter 5 – Other provisions

| (3) | In this section and sections 58 to 60 "the business transfer date", in relation to |
|-----|--|
| | the transfer of a business, is the date on which the business is transferred. |

For this purpose, where the business is transferred under a contract —

- (a) the date on which the business is transferred is to be determined in accordance with section 28 of TCGA 1992, and
- (b) if the business in question is transferred by more than one contract, then for the purposes of that section the contract under which the business is transferred is to be taken to be the contract under which the goodwill of the business is transferred.
- (4) This section and sections 58 and 59 apply to a transfer of a business with a business transfer date of 1 April 2013 or a later date.

58 Qualifying business transfer

- (1) The transfer of a business from a company to some or all of the shareholders of the company is a qualifying business transfer for the purposes of section 57 if conditions A to E are met.
- (2) Condition A is that the business is transferred as a going concern.
- (3) Condition B is that the business is transferred together with all of the assets of the business, or together with all of those assets other than cash.
- (4) Condition C is that the total market value of the qualifying assets of the business included in the transfer does not exceed £100,000.
- (5) Condition D is that all of the shareholders to whom the business is transferred are individuals.
- (6) Condition E is that each of those shareholders held shares in the company throughout the period of 12 months ending with the business transfer date.
- (7) For the purposes of condition D, the reference to individuals includes an individual acting as a member of a partnership, but does not include an individual acting as a member of a limited liability partnership.
- (8) Section 60 of TCGA 1992 (nominees and bare trustees) applies for the purposes of this section as it applies for the purposes of that Act.
- (9) In this section "market value", in relation to an asset, means the price which the asset might reasonably be expected to fetch on a sale in the open market.
- (10) In this section a "qualifying asset" means
 - (a) goodwill, or
 - (b) an interest in land which is not held as trading stock.

59 Making a claim

- (1) A claim for disincorporation relief under section 57
 - (a) is to be made jointly by the company and all of the shareholders to whom the business is transferred, and
 - (b) is irrevocable.
- (2) Any claim for disincorporation relief must be made within the period of 2 years beginning with the business transfer date.

5

29

15

20

25

30

35

(2)

(3)

60 Effect of disincorporation relief

(1) In Part 5 of TCGA 1992 (transfer of business assets), in Chapter 1 (general

| | sions), after section 162A insert – | |
|------------------|---|----------|
| | "Transfer of business from company to shareholders | |
| 162B | Disincorporation relief: assets (including pre-FA 2002 goodwill) | 5 |
| (1) | This section applies where – (a) a company transfers its business to some or all of the shareholders of the company, and (b) a claim for disincorporation relief in respect of the transfer has been made under section 57 of the Finance Act 2013. | 10 |
| (2) | The disposal and acquisition of any qualifying asset of the business included in the transfer is to be deemed to be for a consideration equal to the lower of— (a) the sums allowable under section 38 as a deduction in the computation of the gain accruing to the company on the disposal of the asset in question, and (b) the market value of the asset. | 15 |
| (3) | In subsection (2) a "qualifying asset" means —(a) goodwill, or(b) an interest in land which is not held as trading stock. | 20 |
| (4) | But subsection (2) does not apply to the goodwill of the business if section 162C applies to it. | |
| 162C | Disincorporation relief: post-FA 2002 goodwill | |
| (1) | (a) a company transfers its business to some or all of the shareholders of the company, (b) a claim for disincorporation relief in respect of the transfer has been made under section 57 of the Finance Act 2013, and (c) section 849A of CTA 2009 (disincorporation relief: transfer values for post-FA 2002 goodwill) applies to the transfer of the goodwill of the business. | 25 30 |
| (2) | The acquisition of the goodwill of the business is deemed to be for a consideration equal to the value at which the goodwill is treated as transferred by virtue of section 849A of CTA 2009." | |
| | art 8 of CTA 2009 (intangible fixed assets), Chapter 13 (transactions een related parties) is amended as follows. | 35 |
| In sec "849.4 | ction 844 (overview of Chapter), in subsection (2) for "849" substitute | |

- In section 845 (transfer between company and related party treated as at market value), in subsection (4) (exceptions to basic rule) –
 - (a) omit the "and" at the end of paragraph (ca), and
 - after paragraph (d) insert ", and
 - (e) section 849A (disincorporation relief: transfer values for post-FA 2002 goodwill)."

Finance (No. 2) Bill
Part 1 – Income Tax, Corporation Tax and Capital Gains Tax

Chapter 5 – Other provisions

(5) After section 849 insert –

| "849A Disincorporation relief: transfer values for post-FA 2002 goodwi | 6849A Disinco | poration relief: | transfer values | for post-FA | 2002 goodwi |
|--|---------------|------------------|-----------------|-------------|-------------|
|--|---------------|------------------|-----------------|-------------|-------------|

- (1) This section applies where
 - (a) a company transfers its business to some or all of the shareholders of the company, and
 - (b) a claim for disincorporation relief in respect of the transfer has been made under section 57 of the Finance Act 2013.
- (2) If section 735 applies to the transfer of the goodwill of the business, the transfer is treated for the purposes of this Part as being at the lower of
 - (a) the tax written-down value of the goodwill, and
 - (b) its market value.
- (3) If section 736 applies to the transfer of the goodwill of the business, the transfer is treated for the purposes of this Part as being at the lower of
 - (a) the cost of the goodwill, and
 - (b) its market value.

(4) If section 738 applies to the transfer of the goodwill of the business, the proceeds of realisation of the goodwill are treated for the purposes of this Part as being nil.

- (5) In subsection (2)(a) the reference to the tax written-down value of the goodwill is to its tax written-down value immediately before the transfer.
- (6) In subsection (3)(a) "the cost of the goodwill" means the cost recognised for tax purposes (determined in accordance with section 736(6) and (7)).
- (7) In this section market value has the meaning given in section 845(5)."
- (6) The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to a transfer of a business with a business transfer date of 1 April 2013 or a later date.

Capital gains

61 Attribution of gains to members of non-resident companies

- TCGA 1992 is amended as follows.
- (2) In subsection (4) of section 13 (members to whom rule for attributing gains to members of non-resident companies does not apply), for "one tenth" substitute "one quarter".
- (3) In subsection (5) of that section (cases where rule for attributing gains to members of non-resident companies does not apply), after the "or" at the end of paragraph (b) insert—
 - "(ca) a chargeable gain accruing on the disposal of an asset used, and used only, for the purposes of economically significant activities carried on by the company wholly or mainly outside the United Kingdom, or
 - (cb) a chargeable gain accruing to the company on a disposal of an asset where it is shown that neither
 - (i) the disposal of the asset by the company, nor

31

10

5

15

20

25

30

35

(ii) the acquisition or holding of the asset by the company, formed part of a scheme or arrangements of which the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, was avoidance of liability to capital gains tax or corporation tax, or".

(4) After section 13 insert –

"13A Section 13(5): interpretation

- (1) For the purposes of section 13(5)(b) a disposal of an asset is to be regarded as a disposal of an asset used for the purposes of a trade carried on wholly outside the United Kingdom by a company if
 - (a) the asset is accommodation, or an interest or right in accommodation, which is situated outside the United Kingdom, and
 - (b) the accommodation has for each relevant period been furnished holiday accommodation of which a person has made a commercial letting.
- (2) For the purposes of subsection (1)(b) each of the following is "a relevant period"
 - (a) the period of 12 months ending with the date of the disposal and each of the two preceding periods of 12 months, or
 - (b) if the company has been the beneficial owner of the accommodation (or interest or right) for a period longer than 36 months, the period of 12 months ending with the date of the disposal and each of the preceding periods of 12 months throughout which the company has been the beneficial owner of the accommodation (or interest or right).
- (3) The reference in subsection (1)(b) to the commercial letting of furnished holiday accommodation is to be read in accordance with Chapter 6 of Part 4 of CTA 2009, but—
 - (a) as if sections 266, 268 and 268A were omitted, and
 - (b) as if, in section 267(1), the reference to an accounting period were a reference to a relevant period as defined by subsection (2) above.
- (4) For the purposes of section 13(5)(ca) activities carried on by a company are "economically significant activities" if they are activities which consist of the provision by the company of goods or services to others on a commercial basis and involve—
 - (a) the use of staff in numbers, and with competence and authority,
 - (b) the use of premises and equipment, and
 - (c) the addition of economic value, by the company, to those to whom the goods or services are provided,

commensurate with the size and nature of those activities.

- (5) In subsection (4) "staff" means employees, agents or contractors of the company."
- (5) The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to disposals made on or after 6 April 2012.
- (6) But, in the case of a disposal made on or after that date but before 6 April 2013, a person to whom a part of a chargeable gain or allowable loss would (but for

5

15

10

25

20

30

35

40

Finance (No. 2) Bill 33

| Part 1 – Income Ta | x, Corporation | Tax and | Capital | Gains | Тах |
|--------------------|----------------|---------|---------|-------|-----|
| Chanter 5 — Other | rovisions | | • | | |

the amendments made by this section) have accrued on the disposal may make an election in writing for section 13 of TCGA 1992 to apply in relation to the disposal without those amendments.

- (7) An election under subsection (6) in respect of a disposal must be made
 - (a) in the case of a person within the charge to capital gains tax, within 4 years from the end of the tax year in which the disposal was made, and
 - (b) in the case of a person within the charge to corporation tax, within 4 years from the end of the accounting period in which the disposal was made.

62 Heritage maintenance settlements

- (1) In section 169D of TCGA 1992 (gifts to settlor-interested settlements etc: exceptions to sections 169B and 169C), in subsection (1), after "elected" insert ", or could have elected,".
- (2) The amendment made by this section has effect for the tax year 2012-13 and subsequent tax years.

63 EMI options and entrepreneurs' relief etc

Schedule 23 makes provision for capital gains tax purposes in connection with shares acquired under options which are qualifying options under the EMI code.

64 Charge on certain high value disposals by companies etc

Schedule 24 contains provision for a new capital gains tax charge on gains accruing to companies etc on certain high value disposals.

65 Currency used in tax calculations: chargeable gains and losses

- (1) Chapter 4 of Part 2 of CTA 2010 (currency) is amended as follows.
- (2) In section 5 (basic rule: sterling to be used), after subsection (2) insert—
 - "(3) See section 9C for provision about the application of subsection (1) so far as it relates to calculating chargeable gains."
- (3) After section 9B insert –

"9C Chargeable gains and losses of companies

- (1) This section applies if
 - (a) a company disposes of an asset which is a ship, an aircraft, shares or an interest in shares, and
 - (b) at any time beginning with the company's acquisition of the asset (or, if earlier, the time allowable expenditure was first incurred in respect of the asset) and ending with the disposal, the company's relevant currency is not sterling.
- (2) A company's relevant currency at any time is its functional currency at that time, subject to subsection (3).
- (3) If, at any time
 - (a) a company is a UK resident investment company, and

40

5

10

15

20

25

30

(b) the company has a designated currency (see sections 9A and 9B) which is different from its functional currency,

the company's relevant currency at that time is that designated currency.

(4) If the relevant currency of the company at the time of the disposal is not sterling, the chargeable gain or loss accruing to the company on the disposal must be calculated as follows—

5

Step 1

Calculate the chargeable gain or loss in the relevant currency of the company at the time of the disposal.

10

Step 2

Translate the amount of the chargeable gain or loss into sterling by reference to the spot rate of exchange on the day of the disposal.

(5) In any case, subsections (6) to (10) apply for the purposes of calculating the chargeable gain or loss.

15

(6) Where any allowable expenditure is incurred in a currency which is not the company's relevant currency at the time it is incurred, that expenditure is to be translated into that relevant currency by reference to the spot rate of exchange for the day on which it is incurred.

20

(7) Where, at any time after any allowable expenditure is incurred but before the asset is disposed of, there is a change in the company's relevant currency, that expenditure is to be translated (or, if it has previously been translated under this section, further translated) into the relevant currency of the company immediately following the change, by reference to the spot rate of exchange for the day of the change.

25

(8) Any amount of consideration for the disposal which is given in a currency other than the company's relevant currency is to be translated into that relevant currency by reference to the spot rate of exchange on the day of disposal.

30

- (9) For the purposes of subsections (6) and (7)
 - (a) any translation of expenditure under subsection (6) is to be done before any translation of the expenditure under subsection (7), and

- (b) if subsection (7) applies as a result of more than one change in the company's relevant currency, it is to be applied in relation to each change in the order the changes were made (with the earliest first).
- 40
- (10) Where, by virtue of any enactment, the company was at any time treated for the purposes of corporation tax on chargeable gains as acquiring the asset—
- 45
- (a) for a consideration of such amount as would secure that neither a gain nor a loss would accrue to the person disposing of the asset, or(b) for a consideration equal to the market value of the asset
- (b) for a consideration equal to the market value of the asset, for the purposes of this section that allowable expenditure is treated as incurred by the company at that time.

Finance (No. 2) Bill

35

40

| ` / | |
|--|---|
| Part 1 - Income Tax, Corporation Tax and Capital Gains Ta. | х |
| Chapter 5 – Other provisions | |

(4)

66

(1)

(2)

67

| aptei | r 5 – Other provisions |
|-------|--|
| | (11) For the purposes of this section, a reference to a ship or aircraft includes a reference to the benefit of a contract —(a) to which section 67 of CAA 2001 applies, and |
| | (b) which relates to plant or machinery which is a ship or aircraft. |
| | (12) In this section— |
| | "allowable expenditure" means expenditure which, immediately before the disposal, was attributable to the asset under section 38(1)(a) to (c) of TCGA 1992; |
| | "interest in shares" has the same meaning as in Schedule 7AC to TCGA 1992 (see paragraph 29 of that Schedule); "shares" includes stock." |
| (4) | The amendments made by this section come into force in accordance with provision made by the Treasury by order. |
| | Capital allowances |
| | Allowances for energy-saving plant and machinery: Northern Ireland |
| (1) | Section 45AA of CAA 2001 (section 45A exclusion: payments under Energy Act 2008 schemes) is amended as follows. |
| (2) | In subsection (1) — |
| | (a) in paragraph (a), after "(feed-in tariffs)" insert ", or under a corresponding scheme having effect in Northern Ireland,", and(b) in paragraph (b), after "of that Act" insert "or section 113 of the Energy Act 2011". |
| (3) | In subsection (5), for "subsection (6)" substitute "subsections (5A) and (6)". |
| (4) | After that subsection insert — |
| | "(5A) Except as provided by subsection (6), in the case of expenditure incurred on plant or machinery used or for use in Northern Ireland, the relevant date is— |
| | (a) for corporation tax purposes, 1 April 2013, and(b) for income tax purposes, 6 April 2013." |
| (5) | In the heading, for "payments under Energy Act 2008 schemes" substitute "feed-in tariffs and renewable heat incentives". |
| , | Cars with low carbon dioxide emissions |
| (1) | In section 45D of CAA 2001 (first year qualifying expenditure on cars with low carbon dioxide emissions) — |
| | (a) in subsection (1)(a), for "2013" substitute "2015", and(b) in subsection (4), for "110" substitute "95". |
| (2) | In section 46 of that Act (general exclusions), in subsection (5) omit "section 45D,". |
| (3) | In section 104AA of that Act (special rate expenditure: meaning of "main rate |

(4) Accordingly, in section 77 of FA 2008 omit –

car"), in subsection (4) for "160" substitute "130".

| | (a) subsection (2), and(b) subsection (3). | |
|-----|--|----|
| (5) | The amendments made by subsections (1)(b), (2) and (4)(b) have effect in relation to expenditure incurred on or after 1 April 2013. | |
| (6) | The amendment made by subsection (3) has effect in relation to expenditure incurred on or after the relevant date. | 5 |
| (7) | But in relation to expenditure incurred on the hiring of a car— (a) for a period of hire which begins before the relevant date, and (b) under a contract entered into before that date, section 49(1A) of ITTOIA 2005 and section 57(1A) of CTA 2009 apply on or after the relevant date as if the amendment made by subsection (3) did not have effect. | 10 |
| (8) | "The relevant date" means — | |
| () | (a) in the case of income tax, 6 April 2013, and | |
| | (b) in the case of corporation tax, 1 April 2013. | 15 |
| | | |
| 68 | Gas refuelling stations: extension of time limit for capital allowance | |
| | In section 45E(1)(a) of CAA 2001 (time limit for incurring of expenditure qualifying for first-year allowance), for "2013" substitute "2015". | |
| 69 | First-year allowance to be available for ships and railway assets | |
| (1) | In section 46(2) of CAA 2001 (general exclusions from first-year allowance), omit— | 20 |
| | (a) general exclusion 3 (ships), and | |
| | (b) general exclusion 4 (railway assets), | |
| | and the italicised headings preceding them. | |
| (2) | The amendments made by this section have effect for expenditure incurred on or after 1 April 2013. | 25 |
| 70 | Hire cars for disabled persons | |
| (1) | In section 268D of CAA 2001 (hire cars for disabled persons), in subsection (2), after paragraph (a) insert — | |
| | "(aa) personal independence payment under the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or the corresponding provision having effect in Northern Ireland, because of entitlement to the mobility component, | 30 |
| | (ab) armed forces independence payment under a scheme established under section 1 of the Armed Forces (Pensions and Compensation) Act 2004,". | 35 |
| | Compensation, Act 2004, . | 33 |

Miscellaneous

| 71 Community investment tax rene | 71 | Community | investment | tax relief |
|----------------------------------|----|-----------|------------|------------|
|----------------------------------|----|-----------|------------|------------|

Schedule 25 makes provision about community investment tax relief.

72 Lease premium relief

Schedule 26 makes provision in relation to relief for lease premiums.

5

73 Manufactured payments: stock lending arrangements

- (1) Section 596 of ITA 2007 (deemed manufactured payments: stock lending arrangements) is amended in accordance with subsections (2) and (3).
- (2) For subsection (1) substitute
 - "(1) This section applies if conditions A to C are met.

10

- (1A) Condition A is that there is a stock lending arrangement in respect of securities.
- (1B) Condition B is that a dividend or interest on the securities is paid, as a result of the arrangement, to a person other than the person who is the lender under the arrangement.

15

- (1C) Condition C is that
 - (a) no provision is made for securing that the lender receives payments representative of the dividend or interest, or
 - (b) provision is made for securing that the lender receives
 - (i) payments representative of the dividend or interest, and

20

- (ii) another benefit in respect of the dividend or interest (including the release of the whole or part of any liability to pay an amount)."
- (3) In subsection (2), for paragraph (a) substitute
 - "(a) were required, under the arrangement —

25

(i) in a case falling within paragraph (a) of subsection (1C), to pay the lender an amount representative of the dividend or interest, or

30

35

- (ii) in a case falling within paragraph (b) of that subsection, to pay the lender an amount representative of the dividend or interest but deducting from that amount any payment mentioned in sub-paragraph (i) of that paragraph on which tax has been, or is to be, charged, and".
- (4) Section 812 of CTA 2010 (deemed manufactured payments: stock lending arrangements) is amended in accordance with subsections (5) to (7).
- (5) For subsection (1) substitute
 - "(1) This section applies if conditions A to C are met.
 - (1A) Condition A is that there is a stock lending arrangement in respect of securities.

10

15

20

25

30

35

- (1B) Condition B is that a dividend or interest on the securities is paid, as a result of the arrangement, to a person other than the person who is the lender under the arrangement.
- (1C) Condition C is that
 - (a) no provision is made for securing that the lender receives payments representative of the dividend or interest, or
 - (b) provision is made for securing that the lender receives
 - (i) payments representative of the dividend or interest, and
 - (ii) another benefit in respect of the dividend or interest (including the release of the whole or part of any liability to pay an amount)."
- (6) In subsection (2), for paragraph (a) substitute
 - "(a) were required, under the arrangement
 - (i) in a case falling within paragraph (a) of subsection (1C), to pay the lender an amount representative of the dividend or interest, or
 - (ii) in a case falling within paragraph (b) of that subsection, to pay the lender an amount representative of the dividend or interest but deducting from that amount any payment mentioned in sub-paragraph (i) of that paragraph on which tax has been, or is to be, charged, and".
- (7) After subsection (6) insert
 - "(7) This section has effect regardless of section 358 of CTA 2009 (exclusion of credits on release of connected companies debts) or any other provision of Part 5 of that Act (loan relationships) which prevents a credit from being brought into account."
- (8) The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to cases in which a dividend or interest is paid, or is treated as paid, on or after 5 December 2012.

74 Manufactured payments: general

Schedule 27 contains provision for, and in connection with, the application of the Tax Acts to manufactured payment relationships and payments representative of dividends and interest.

75 Relationship between rules prohibiting and allowing deductions

- (1) In section 31 of ITTOIA 2005 (trade profits: relationship between rules prohibiting and allowing deductions)—
 - (a) after subsection (1) insert
 - "(1A) But, if the relevant permissive rule would allow a deduction in calculating the profits of a trade in respect of an amount which arises directly or indirectly in consequence of, or otherwise in connection with, relevant tax avoidance arrangements, that rule—
 - (a) does not have priority under subsection (1)(a), and

Finance (No. 2) Bill Part 1 – Income Tax, Corporation Tax and Capital Gains Tax Chapter 5 – Other provisions

| | | | (b) | is subject to any relevant prohibitive rule in this Part (and to the provisions mentioned in subsection (1)(b)).", and | |
|-----|--------------------------|-----------|---|---|---------|
| | (b) | after s | ubsectio | on (3) insert – | |
| | | "(4) | (a) (b) "Arrar schem | to which the person carrying on the trade is a party, and the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of which is the obtaining of a tax advantage (within the meaning of section 1139 of CTA 2010). Ingements" includes any agreement, understanding, e, transaction or series of transactions (whether or not renforceable)." | 5 10 |
| (2) | In sect prohib (a) | oiting ar | of ITTC nd allow | OIA 2005 (property businesses: relationship between rules ving deductions) — on (1) insert — | 15 |
| | | "(1A) | calcula amour otherw arrang (a) | the relevant permissive rule would allow a deduction in ating the profits of a property business in respect of an at which arises directly or indirectly in consequence of, or vise in connection with, relevant tax avoidance gements, that rule— does not have priority under subsection (1)(a), and | 20 |
| | (b) | after s | (b) | is subject to any relevant prohibitive rule in this Part (and to the provisions mentioned in subsection (1)(b)).", and on (3) insert— | 25 |
| | (0) | | | | |
| | | "(3A) | | s section "relevant tax avoidance arrangements" means gements— | |
| | | | (a) | to which the person carrying on the property business is a party, and | 30 |
| | | | (b) | the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of which is the obtaining of a tax advantage (within the meaning of section 1139 of CTA 2010). | |
| | | | schem | ngements" includes any agreement, understanding, e, transaction or series of transactions (whether or not enforceable)." | 35 |
| (3) | | lowing | deducti | 2009 (trade profits: relationship between rules prohibiting cons) — on (1) insert — | |
| | | "(1A) | calcula arises | the relevant permissive rule would allow a deduction in ating the profits of a trade in respect of an amount which directly or indirectly in consequence of, or otherwise in ction with, relevant tax avoidance arrangements, that | 40 |
| | | | (a) (b) | does not have priority under subsection (1)(a), and is subject to any relevant prohibitive rule (and to the provisions mentioned in subsection (1)(b)).", and | 45 |

| | (b) | after s | ubsection (3) insert – | |
|-----|--------|--|--|----------|
| | | "(4) | In this section "relevant tax avoidance arrangements" means arrangements— (a) to which the company carrying on the trade is a party, and (b) the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of which is the obtaining of a tax advantage (within the meaning of section 1139 of CTA 2010). "Arrangements" includes any agreement, understanding, scheme, transaction or series of transactions (whether or not legally enforceable)." | 5 |
| (4) | | oiting ar | of CTA 2009 (property businesses: relationship between rules and allowing deductions) — ubsection (1) insert — | |
| | | "(1A) | But, if the relevant permissive rule would allow a deduction in calculating the profits of a property business in respect of an amount which arises directly or indirectly in consequence of, or otherwise in connection with, relevant tax avoidance arrangements, that rule— (a) does not have priority under subsection (1)(a), and | 15 20 |
| | (b) | after s | (b) is subject to any relevant prohibitive rule (and to the provisions mentioned in subsection (1)(b)).", and ubsection (3) insert— | |
| | | "(3A) | In this section "relevant tax avoidance arrangements" means arrangements — (a) to which the company carrying on the property business is a party, and | 25 |
| | | | (b) the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of which is the obtaining of a tax advantage (within the meaning of section 1139 of CTA 2010)."Arrangements" includes any agreement, understanding, scheme, transaction or series of transactions (whether or not legally enforceable)." | 30 |
| (5) | respec | et of am vise in c arrang any tra | ents made by this section have effect in relation to deductions in abounts which arise directly or indirectly in consequence of, or connection with— gements which are entered into on or after 21 December 2012, or consaction forming part of arrangements which is entered into on or that date. | 35 |
| (6) | such t | ransacti | endments do not have effect where the arrangements are, or any on is, entered into pursuant to an unconditional obligation in a e before that date. | 40 |
| (7) | | inguish | ional obligation" means an obligation which may not be varied ed by the exercise of a right (whether under the contract or | 45 |

Finance (No. 2) Bill
Part 1 — Income Tax, Corporation Tax and Capital Gains Tax

Chapter 5 – Other provisions

76 Close companies

Schedule 28 (which makes provision about close companies) has effect.

PART 2

OIL

Decommissioning relief agreements

5

41

77 Decommissioning relief agreements

- (1) There are to be paid out of money provided by Parliament any sums which a Minister of the Crown is liable to pay under a decommissioning relief agreement.
- (2) A "decommissioning relief agreement" is an agreement which –

10

- (a) is made between a Minister of the Crown and a qualifying company, and
- (b) provides that, in such circumstances as are specified in the agreement, if the amount of tax relief in respect of any decommissioning expenditure incurred by that or another qualifying company is less than an amount determined in accordance with the agreement ("the reference amount"), the difference is payable to the company that incurred the expenditure.
- (3) "Qualifying company" means
 - a) any company that has at any time carried on a ring fence trade,

20

25

30

40

- (b) any company that is associated with a company carrying on a ring fence trade,
- (c) any company that has at any time been associated with a company that was carrying on a ring fence trade at that time, and
- (d) in the case of decommissioning expenditure incurred in connection with any plant or machinery, or any land, situated in the UK sector of a cross-boundary field, any company that is a party to a joint operating agreement or unitisation agreement in relation to that field.
- (4) For the purposes of subsection (2)(b) the amount of tax relief in respect of any decommissioning expenditure is to be determined in accordance with the agreement; and in making such a determination tax relief in respect of expenditure incurred by the qualifying company that is not decommissioning expenditure may, in such circumstances as are specified in the agreement, be treated as if it were tax relief in respect of decommissioning expenditure.
- (5) A payment made to a company under a decommissioning relief agreement is not to be regarded as income or a gain of the company for any purpose of the Tax Acts.
- (6) Section 18(1) of CRCA 2005 (restriction on disclosure by Revenue and Customs officials) does not prevent
 - (a) disclosure to a Minister of the Crown for the purpose of enabling the Minister of the Crown to determine the extent of any liability under a decommissioning relief agreement, or

42 Finance (No. 2) Bill
Part 2 – Oil

| | (b) disclosure to a company that has rights under a decommissioning relief agreement for the purpose of enabling the company to determine the reference amount. | |
|------------|---|----|
| (7) | In this section— | |
| | "company" has the meaning given by section 1121 of CTA 2010, "cross-boundary field" has the meaning given by section 10(9) of the Petroleum Act 1998, | 5 |
| | "decommissioning expenditure" has the meaning given by section 78, | |
| | "Minister of the Crown" includes the Treasury, | |
| | "ring fence trade" has the same meaning as in Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act), | 10 |
| | "the UK sector of a cross-boundary field" means that part of a cross-boundary field lying within the UK marine area (as defined by section 42 of the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009), and | |
| | "unitisation agreement" has the meaning given by paragraph 1(2) of Schedule 17 to FA 1980. | 15 |
| (8) | Subsections (8) to (9) of section 30 of the Petroleum Act 1998 (which specifies when one body corporate is associated with another) apply for the purposes of this section as they apply for the purposes of that section. | |
| 78 | Meaning of "decommissioning expenditure" | 20 |
| (1) | In section 77 "decommissioning expenditure" means expenditure incurred in connection with— | |
| | (a) demolishing any plant or machinery, (b) preserving any plant or machinery pending its reuse or demolition, (c) preparing any plant or machinery for reuse, (d) arranging for the reuse of any plant or machinery, or (e) the restoration of any land. | 25 |
| (2) | It is immaterial for the purposes of subsection (1)(b) whether the plant or machinery is reused, is demolished or is partly reused and partly demolished. | |
| (3) | It is immaterial for the purposes of subsection (1)(c) and (d) whether the plant or machinery is in fact reused. | 30 |
| (4) | In subsection (1)(e) "restoration" includes landscaping. | |
| (5) | | |
| (5) | The Treasury may by order amend this section. | |
| (6) | The Treasury may by order amend this section. An order under subsection (5) may include transitional provision and savings. | |
| ` ' | | 35 |
| (6) | An order under subsection (5) may include transitional provision and savings. The power to make an order under subsection (5) is exercisable by statutory | 35 |
| (6) (7) | An order under subsection (5) may include transitional provision and savings. The power to make an order under subsection (5) is exercisable by statutory instrument. A statutory instrument containing an order under subsection (5) is subject to | 35 |

(2) The information is –

| | (a) | the number of decommissioning relief agreements entered into in that year, | | |
|-----|-----------------|---|----|--|
| | (b) | the total number of decommissioning relief agreements in force at the end of that year, | | |
| | (c) | the number of payments made under any decommissioning relief agreements during that year, and the amount of each payment, | 5 | |
| | (d) | the total number of payments that have been made under any decommissioning relief agreements as at the end of that year, and the total amount of those payments, and | | |
| | (e) | an estimate of the maximum amount liable to be paid under any decommissioning relief agreements. | 10 | |
| (3) | | eport for a financial year must be laid before the House of Commons as is reasonably practicable after the end of that year. | | |
| (4) | In this section | section "decommissioning relief agreement" has the same meaning as in 177. | 15 | |
| (5) | This so 2014. | ection has effect in relation to financial years ending on or after 31 March | | |
| 80 | Effect o | of claim on PRT | | |
| (1) | | ection applies where a sum is payable to a company ("the claimant") a decommissioning relief agreement. | 20 | |
| (2) | what t expen | Subsection (3) applies where the reference amount is calculated by reference to what the claimant's assessable profit in any chargeable period would be if any expenditure incurred by it were used to reduce its profit in a particular way (rather than in any way that it has in fact been used). | | |
| (3) | For th (a) | e purposes of petroleum revenue tax — the expenditure is treated as having been used to reduce the claimant's profit in that way (rather than in any way that it has in fact been used), and | 25 | |
| | (b) | the claimant is treated as if it had received the tax relief it would receive if its profit were reduced in that way (so no repayment of tax is to be made by virtue of this subsection). | 30 | |
| (4) | what a | ction (5) applies where the reference amount is calculated by reference to any other company's assessable profit in any chargeable period would be expenditure incurred by the claimant— had been incurred by the other company, and were used to reduce the other company's profit in a particular way. | 35 | |
| (5) | ` ' | e purposes of petroleum revenue tax — | | |
| | (a) | the expenditure is treated as incurred by the other company (and not the claimant), | | |
| | (b) | the expenditure is treated as having been used by the other company to reduce its profit in that way, and | 40 | |
| | (c) | the other company is treated as if it had received the tax relief it would receive if its profit were reduced in that way (so no repayment of tax is to be made by virtue of this subsection). | | |
| (6) | In this | s section — | 45 | |

44 Finance (No. 2) Bill
Part 2 – Oil

| | "assessable profit" and "chargeable period" have the same meaning as in Part 1 of OTA 1975, | |
|-----|---|----|
| | "company" has the meaning given by section 1121 of CTA 2010, | |
| | "decommissioning relief agreement" has the same meaning as in section 77, and | 5 |
| | "the reference amount" means the reference amount (within the meaning of that section) that relates to the sum mentioned in subsection (1). | |
| 81 | Terminal losses accruing by virtue of another's default | |
| (1) | This section applies where – | |
| | (a) a company defaults on a liability under— (i) a relevant agreement, or (ii) an abandonment programme | 10 |
| | (ii) an abandonment programme,to make a payment towards decommissioning expenditure in respect of an oil field, | |
| | (b) in consequence of the default, another company ("the other company") that has rights under a decommissioning relief agreement at the time of the default incurs decommissioning expenditure in respect of that oil field, and | 15 |
| | (c) but for paragraph 15 of Schedule 17 to FA 1980 (terminal losses), a sum (or a sum of a greater amount) would be payable to the other company under the decommissioning relief agreement. | 20 |
| (2) | Paragraph 15 of Schedule 17 to FA 1980 does not apply in relation to any allowable loss accruing to the other company from that oil field. | |
| (3) | Any allowable unrelievable field loss (within the meaning of section 6 of OTA 1975) that— | 25 |
| | (a) consists of the unrelieved portion of an allowable loss within subsection (2), and | |
| | (b) would (in the absence of this subsection) arise as a result of subsection (2), | 30 |
| | is not to be regarded as arising. | 30 |
| (4) | Nothing in this section affects the operation of section 80(3) or (5). | |
| (5) | In this section — "abandonment programme" means an abandonment programme approved under Part 4 of the Petroleum Act 1998 (including such a programme as revised), "company" has the meaning given by section 1121 of CTA 2010, "decommissioning expenditure" has the same meaning as in section 77, "decommissioning relief agreement" has the same meaning as in that section, | 35 |
| | "oil field" has the same meaning as in OTA 1975, "relevant agreement" has the meaning given by section 104(5)(a) of FA 1991, and "unrelieved portion", in relation to an allowable loss, is to be read in accordance with section 6 of OTA 1975. | 40 |
| | accordance with section of OTA 1770. | |

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

82 Claims under agreement not to affect oil allowance

| (1) This section applies wh | ere – |
|-----------------------------|-------|
|-----------------------------|-------|

- (a) a company defaults on a liability under
 - (i) a relevant agreement, or
 - (ii) an abandonment programme,

to make a payment towards decommissioning expenditure in respect of an oil field,

- (b) in consequence of the default, another company that has rights under a decommissioning relief agreement at the time of the default incurs decommissioning expenditure in respect of that oil field, and
- (c) by virtue of section 80, any expenditure incurred by that company (whether or not that decommissioning expenditure) is treated as having been used by that company or any other company ("the affected company") to reduce its assessable profit in a chargeable period in a particular way.
- (2) If, in the absence of section 80, the assessable profit accruing to the affected company from an oil field in that chargeable period would be reduced under section 8(1) of OTA 1975, the amount of the oil allowance for the oil field utilised by the affected company in that chargeable period for the purposes of section 8 of that Act is to be determined as if section 80 did not apply.
- (3) In this section—
 - "abandonment programme" means an abandonment programme approved under Part 4 of the Petroleum Act 1998 (including such a programme as revised),
 - "company" has the meaning given by section 1121 of CTA 2010,
 - "decommissioning expenditure" has the same meaning as in section 77,
 - "decommissioning relief agreement" has the same meaning as in that section,
 - "oil field" has the same meaning as in OTA 1975, and
 - "relevant agreement" has the meaning given by section 104(5)(a) of FA 1991.

Decommissioning security settlements

83 Removal of IHT charges in respect of decommissioning security settlements

- (1) In Chapter 3 of Part 3 of IHTA 1984 (settled property: settlements without interests in possession etc), section 58 (relevant property) is amended as follows.
- (2) In subsection (1), omit the "and" at the end of paragraph (ea) and before paragraph (f) insert
 - "(eb) property comprised in a decommissioning security settlement; and".
- (3) At the end insert
 - "(6) For the purposes of subsection (1)(eb) above a settlement is a "decommissioning security settlement" if the sole or main purpose of the settlement is to provide security for the performance of obligations under an abandonment programme.

46 Finance (No. 2) Bill
Part 2 – Oil

| | (7) I | "abandonment programme" means an abandonment programme approved under Part 4 of the Petroleum Act 1998 (including such a programme as revised); "security" has the same meaning as in section 38A of that Act." | 5 |
|-----|-----------------|--|----|
| (4) | This sect | tion is treated as having come into force on 20 March 1993. | |
| (5) | | ourposes of section 58 of IHTA 1984— | |
| `` | (a) a e a (b) s | In that section to Part 4 of the Petroleum Act 1998 has affect, in relation to any period before the coming into force of that Part, is a reference to Part 1 of the Petroleum Act 1987, and ection 38A of the Petroleum Act 1998 is to be treated as having come into force at the same time as this section. | 10 |
| (6) | for such | to be no charge to tax under section 65 of IHTA 1984 if the only reason a charge would be that property ceases to be relevant property by the coming into force of this section. | 15 |
| 84 | Loan rela | tionships arising from decommissioning security settlements | |
| (1) | In Part 8 | of CTA 2010 (oil activities), after section 287 insert — | |
| | | estriction where debits or credits relate to decommissioning security ttlement | |
| | · F | No debits or credits are to be brought into account for the purposes of Part 5 of CTA 2009 (loan relationships) in respect of a company's loan elationship so far as the loan relationship is in respect of property comprised in a decommissioning security settlement. | 20 |
| | s | For the purposes of this section a settlement is a "decommissioning ecurity settlement" if the sole or main purpose of the settlement is to provide security for the performance of obligations under an abandonment programme. | 25 |
| | (3) I | "abandonment programme" means an abandonment programme approved under Part 4 of the Petroleum Act 1998 (including such a programme as revised), and "security" has the same meaning as in section 38A of that Act." | 30 |
| (2) | | n 464 of CTA 2009 (priority of Part 5 for corporation tax purposes), in on (3)(e), for "and 287" substitute "to 287A". | |
| (3) | | endments made by this section have effect in relation to accounting beginning on or after the day on which this Act is passed. | 35 |
| | | Decommissioning expenditure etc | |
| 85 | Decomm | issioning expenditure taken into account for PRT purposes | |
| (1) | | 330B of CTA 2010 (decommissioning expenditure taken into account purposes) is amended as follows. | 40 |

(2) In subsection (1), omit the "and" at the end of paragraph (a) and after

(1)

35

| | paragraph (b) insert ", and | |
|-----|--|----|
| | (c) an amount equal to the appropriate fraction of the used-up amount of that expenditure is added under section 330A(2) in calculating the participator's adjusted ring fence profits for an accounting period." | 5 |
| (3) | For subsection (2) substitute — | |
| | "(2) In calculating for the purposes of section 330(1) the amount of the participator's adjusted ring fence profits for the accounting period, there is to be deducted the amount given by — $RP \times AF \times D$ | 10 |
| | where— RP is the relevant percentage of the decommissioning expenditure, AF is the appropriate fraction, and D is the PRT difference." | 15 |
| (4) | In subsection (3) — | |
| | (a) before the definition of "the appropriate fraction" insert — | 20 |
| (5) | In subsection (4), for "subsection (1)" substitute "subsection (1)(a)". | |
| (6) | In subsection (7) — (a) omit the definition of "the relevant accounting period", and (b) at the end insert — | 25 |
| | ""the used-up amount", in relation to any expenditure, has the same meaning as in section 330A (see subsection (3) of that section)." | 30 |
| (7) | The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to expenditure incurred in connection with decommissioning carried out on or after the day on which this Act is passed. | |
| 86 | Miscellaneous amendments relating to decommissioning | |

Part 1 of Schedule 29 contains provision about expenditure on and under

Part 2 of Schedule 29 contains provision about calculating the profits of a ring fence trade carried on by a person who incurs expenditure on meeting another

abandonment guarantees and abandonment expenditure.

person's decommissioning liabilities.

Finance (No. 2) Bill Part 2 - Oil

Capital allowances

| 87 | Expenditure on | decomm | issioning | onshore | installations |
|----|-----------------------|--------|-----------|---------|---------------|
| | | | | | |

- Section 163 of CAA 2001 (meaning of "general decommissioning expenditure") is amended as follows.
- In subsection (1) –

48

5

- the words after "if" become paragraph (a) of that subsection,
- in that paragraph, for "subsections (3) to (4)" substitute "subsections (3), (3A) and (4)", and
- at the end of that paragraph insert ", or
 - (b) the conditions in subsections (3B) and (4) are met."

10

- After subsection (3A) insert
 - "(3B) The expenditure must have been incurred on decommissioning plant or machinery –
 - which has been brought into use wholly or partly for the purposes of a ring fence trade, and

15

- which
 - is, or forms part of, a relevant onshore installation, or (i)
 - when last in use for the purposes of a ring fence trade, was, or formed part of, such an installation.
- (3C) In subsection (3B) "relevant onshore installation" means any building or structure which -

20

- falls within any of sub-paragraphs (ii) to (iv) of section 3(4)(c) of OTA 1975,
- is not an offshore installation, and
- is or has been used for purposes connected with the winning of oil from an oil field any part of which lies within –
 - the boundaries of the territorial sea of the United Kingdom, or
 - an area designated under section 1(7) of the Continental (ii) Shelf Act 1964."

30

25

- (4) In subsection (5)(a), for "oil field" has" substitute "oil" and "oil field" have".
- The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to expenditure incurred on decommissioning carried out on or after the day on which this Act is passed.

Expenditure on decommissioning certain redundant plant or machinery 88

- In section 164 of CAA 2001 (general decommissioning expenditure incurred before cessation of ring fence trade), after subsection (1B) insert –
 - If the plant or machinery concerned is incidentally-acquired redundant plant or machinery (see subsection (1D)), it is to be regarded for the purposes of this section as having been brought into use for the 40 purposes of the ring fence trade.
 - (1D) Plant or machinery is "incidentally-acquired redundant plant or machinery" if -

| (b) it forms part of a relevant installation (see subsection (1E)) which has been brought into use for the purposes of the ring fence trade, (c) at the time R acquired an interest in the relevant installation, the plant or machinery was not being used for any purposes, and (d) the acquisition of the interest in the plant or machinery was merely incidental to the acquisition of the interest in the relevant installation. (IE) For the purposes of subsection (1D)— "relevant installation" means— (a) an offshore installation, (b) a submarine pipeline, or (c) a relevant onshore installation; "offshore installation" and "submarine pipeline" have the same meaning as in Part 4 of the Petroleum Act 1998; "relevant onshore installation" has the meaning given by section 163(3C)." (2) The amendment made by this section has effect in relation to expenditure incurred on decommissioning carried out on or after the day on which this Act is passed. 89 Expenditure on site restoration (1) Part 5 of CAA 2001 (mineral extraction allowances) is amended as follows. (2) In section 395 (qualifying expenditure), in subsection (1)(d), omit "posttrading". (3) In section 403 (qualifying expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset), after subsection (2) insert— "(2A) For the purposes of this section the reference to expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset does not include expenditure incurred on the restoration of a relevant site (within the meaning of section 416 or 416ZA)." (4) In section 416 (expenditure on restoration within 3 years of ceasing to trade)— (a) in subsections (1)(a) and (6)(a), before "mineral extraction trade" insert "relevant"; (b) in subsections (5), at the end insert— "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert— | | | (a) it has not been brought into use for the purposes of the ring fence trade, | | |
|---|-----|---------|---|----|--|
| plant or machinery was not being used for any purposes, and (d) the acquisition of the interest in the plant or machinery was merely incidental to the acquisition of the interest in the relevant installation. (1E) For the purposes of subsection (1D)— "relevant installation" means— (a) an offshore installation, (b) a submarine pipeline, or (c) a relevant onshore installation; "offshore installation" and "submarine pipeline" have the same meaning as in Part 4 of the Petroleum Act 1998; "relevant onshore installation" has the meaning given by section 163(3C)." (2) The amendment made by this section has effect in relation to expenditure incurred on decommissioning carried out on or after the day on which this Act is passed. 89 Expenditure on site restoration (1) Part 5 of CAA 2001 (mineral extraction allowances) is amended as follows. (2) In section 395 (qualifying expenditure), in subsection (1)(d), omit "posttrading". (3) In section 403 (qualifying expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset), after subsection (2) insert— "(2A) For the purposes of this section the reference to expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset does not include expenditure incurred on the restoration of a relevant site (within the meaning of section 416 or 416ZA)." (4) In section 416 (expenditure on restoration within 3 years of ceasing to trade)— (a) in subsections (1)(a) and (6)(a), before "mineral extraction trade" insert "relevant"; (b) in subsection (5), at the end insert— "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert— "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)"; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | | | (b) it forms part of a relevant installation (see subsection (1E)) which has been brought into use for the purposes of the ring | 5 | |
| (d) the acquisition of the interest in the plant or machinery was merely incidental to the acquisition of the interest in the relevant installation. (1E) For the purposes of subsection (ID)— "relevant installation" means— (a) an offshore installation, (b) a submarine pipeline, or (c) a relevant onshore installation; "offshore installation" and "submarine pipeline" have the same meaning as in Part 4 of the Petroleum Act 1998; "relevant onshore installation" has the meaning given by section 163(3C)." (2) The amendment made by this section has effect in relation to expenditure incurred on decommissioning carried out on or after the day on which this Act is passed. 89 Expenditure on site restoration (1) Part 5 of CAA 2001 (mineral extraction allowances) is amended as follows. (2) In section 395 (qualifying expenditure), in subsection (1)(d), omit "posttrading". (3) In section 403 (qualifying expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset), after subsection (2) insert— "(2A) For the purposes of this section the reference to expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset does not include expenditure incurred on the restoration of a relevant site (within the meaning of section 416 or 416(2A)." (4) In section 416 (expenditure on restoration within 3 years of ceasing to trade)— (a) in subsections (1)(a) and (6)(a), before "mineral extraction trade" insert "relevant"; (b) in subsections (5), at the end insert— "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert— "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | | | | | |
| relevant installation. (1E) For the purposes of subsection (1D)— "relevant installation" means— | | | (d) the acquisition of the interest in the plant or machinery was | | |
| "relevant installation" means— (a) an offshore installation, (b) a submarine pipeline, or (c) a relevant onshore installation; "offshore installation" and "submarine pipeline" have the same meaning as in Part 4 of the Petroleum Act 1998; "relevant onshore installation" has the meaning given by section 163(3C)." (2) The amendment made by this section has effect in relation to expenditure incurred on decommissioning carried out on or after the day on which this Act is passed. 89 Expenditure on site restoration (1) Part 5 of CAA 2001 (mineral extraction allowances) is amended as follows. (2) In section 395 (qualifying expenditure), in subsection (1)(d), omit "posttrading". (3) In section 403 (qualifying expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset), after subsection (2) insert— "(2A) For the purposes of this section the reference to expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset does not include expenditure incurred on the restoration of a relevant site (within the meaning of section 416 or 416ZA)." (4) In section 416 (expenditure on restoration within 3 years of ceasing to trade)— (a) in subsections (1)(a) and (6)(a), before "mineral extraction trade" insert "relevant"; (b) in subsection (5), at the end insert— "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert— "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | | | | 10 | |
| (c) a relevant onshore installation; "offshore installation" and "submarine pipeline" have the same meaning as in Part 4 of the Petroleum Act 1998; "relevant onshore installation" has the meaning given by section 163(3C)." (2) The amendment made by this section has effect in relation to expenditure incurred on decommissioning carried out on or after the day on which this Act is passed. 89 Expenditure on site restoration (1) Part 5 of CAA 2001 (mineral extraction allowances) is amended as follows. (2) In section 395 (qualifying expenditure), in subsection (1)(d), omit "post-trading". (3) In section 403 (qualifying expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset), after subsection (2) insert— "(2A) For the purposes of this section the reference to expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset does not include expenditure incurred on the restoration of a relevant site (within the meaning of section 416 or 416ZA)." (4) In section 416 (expenditure on restoration within 3 years of ceasing to trade)— (a) in subsections (1)(a) and (6)(a), before "mineral extraction trade" insert "relevant"; (b) in subsection (5), at the end insert— "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert— "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | | (1E) | "relevant installation" means— | | |
| "offshore installation" and "submarine pipeline" have the same meaning as in Part 4 of the Petroleum Act 1998; "relevant onshore installation" has the meaning given by section 163(3C)." (2) The amendment made by this section has effect in relation to expenditure incurred on decommissioning carried out on or after the day on which this Act is passed. 89 Expenditure on site restoration (1) Part 5 of CAA 2001 (mineral extraction allowances) is amended as follows. (2) In section 395 (qualifying expenditure), in subsection (1)(d), omit "post-trading". (3) In section 403 (qualifying expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset), after subsection (2) insert— "(2A) For the purposes of this section the reference to expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset does not include expenditure incurred on the restoration of a relevant site (within the meaning of section 416 or 416ZA)." (4) In section 416 (expenditure on restoration within 3 years of ceasing to trade)— (a) in subsections (1)(a) and (6)(a), before "mineral extraction trade" insert "relevant"; (b) in subsection (5), at the end insert— "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert— "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | | | | 15 | |
| 163(3C)." (2) The amendment made by this section has effect in relation to expenditure incurred on decommissioning carried out on or after the day on which this Act is passed. 89 Expenditure on site restoration (1) Part 5 of CAA 2001 (mineral extraction allowances) is amended as follows. (2) In section 395 (qualifying expenditure), in subsection (1)(d), omit "post-trading". (3) In section 403 (qualifying expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset), after subsection (2) insert— "(2A) For the purposes of this section the reference to expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset does not include expenditure incurred on the restoration of a relevant site (within the meaning of section 416 or 416ZA)." (4) In section 416 (expenditure on restoration within 3 years of ceasing to trade)— (a) in subsections (1)(a) and (6)(a), before "mineral extraction trade" insert "relevant"; (b) in subsection (5), at the end insert— "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert— "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | | | "offshore installation" and "submarine pipeline" have the same | 10 | |
| incurred on decommissioning carried out on or after the day on which this Act is passed. 89 Expenditure on site restoration (1) Part 5 of CAA 2001 (mineral extraction allowances) is amended as follows. (2) In section 395 (qualifying expenditure), in subsection (1)(d), omit "post-trading". (3) In section 403 (qualifying expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset), after subsection (2) insert — "(2A) For the purposes of this section the reference to expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset does not include expenditure incurred on the restoration of a relevant site (within the meaning of section 416 or 416ZA)." (4) In section 416 (expenditure on restoration within 3 years of ceasing to trade) — (a) in subsections (1)(a) and (6)(a), before "mineral extraction trade" insert "relevant"; (b) in subsection (5), at the end insert — "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert — "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | | | | | |
| (1) Part 5 of CAA 2001 (mineral extraction allowances) is amended as follows. (2) In section 395 (qualifying expenditure), in subsection (1)(d), omit "post-trading". (3) In section 403 (qualifying expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset), after subsection (2) insert— "(2A) For the purposes of this section the reference to expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset does not include expenditure incurred on the restoration of a relevant site (within the meaning of section 416 or 416ZA)." (4) In section 416 (expenditure on restoration within 3 years of ceasing to trade)— (a) in subsections (1)(a) and (6)(a), before "mineral extraction trade" insert "relevant"; (b) in subsection (5), at the end insert— "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert— "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | (2) | incurr | ed on decommissioning carried out on or after the day on which this Act | 20 | |
| (2) In section 395 (qualifying expenditure), in subsection (1)(d), omit "posttrading". (3) In section 403 (qualifying expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset), after subsection (2) insert — "(2A) For the purposes of this section the reference to expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset does not include expenditure incurred on the restoration of a relevant site (within the meaning of section 416 or 416ZA)." (4) In section 416 (expenditure on restoration within 3 years of ceasing to trade) — (a) in subsections (1)(a) and (6)(a), before "mineral extraction trade" insert "relevant"; (b) in subsection (5), at the end insert — "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert — "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | 89 | Expend | liture on site restoration | | |
| trading". (3) In section 403 (qualifying expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset), after subsection (2) insert— "(2A) For the purposes of this section the reference to expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset does not include expenditure incurred on the restoration of a relevant site (within the meaning of section 416 or 416ZA)." (4) In section 416 (expenditure on restoration within 3 years of ceasing to trade)— (a) in subsections (1)(a) and (6)(a), before "mineral extraction trade" insert "relevant"; (b) in subsection (5), at the end insert— "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert— "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | (1) | Part 5 | of CAA 2001 (mineral extraction allowances) is amended as follows. | | |
| "(2A) For the purposes of this section the reference to expenditure on acquiring a mineral asset does not include expenditure incurred on the restoration of a relevant site (within the meaning of section 416 or 416ZA)." (4) In section 416 (expenditure on restoration within 3 years of ceasing to trade) — (a) in subsections (1)(a) and (6)(a), before "mineral extraction trade" insert "relevant"; (b) in subsection (5), at the end insert — "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert — "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | (2) | | | 25 | |
| acquiring a mineral asset does not include expenditure incurred on the restoration of a relevant site (within the meaning of section 416 or 416ZA)." (4) In section 416 (expenditure on restoration within 3 years of ceasing to trade) — (a) in subsections (1)(a) and (6)(a), before "mineral extraction trade" insert "relevant"; (b) in subsection (5), at the end insert — "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert — "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | (3) | | subsection (2) insert – | | |
| (a) in subsections (1)(a) and (6)(a), before "mineral extraction trade" insert "relevant"; (b) in subsection (5), at the end insert — "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert — "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | | "(2A) | acquiring a mineral asset does not include expenditure incurred on the restoration of a relevant site (within the meaning of section 416 or | 30 | |
| "relevant"; (b) in subsection (5), at the end insert— | (4) | In sect | · · | | |
| "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or machinery (within the meaning of section 163)."; (c) after subsection (7) insert— "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | | (a) | | 35 | |
| "(7A) "Relevant mineral extraction trade" means a mineral extraction trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | | (b) | "But it does not include decommissioning any plant or | | |
| trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (see section 277 of that Act)."; (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | | (c) | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | |
| (d) the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | | | trade that is not a ring fence trade within the meaning of Part 8 | 40 | |
| | | (d) | the heading of section 416 becomes "Non-ring fence trades: | | |

Finance (No. 2) Bill Part 2 – Oil

(5) In Chapter 5, after section 416 insert –

"416ZA Ring fence trades: expenditure on site restoration

(1) If -

50

(a) a person who is carrying on, or has ceased to carry on, a ring fence trade incurs expenditure on the restoration of a relevant site.

iture

- (b) that part of the restoration work to which the expenditure relates has been carried out, and
- (c) the expenditure has not been deducted in calculating for tax purposes the profits of any trade carried on by the person,

10

5

the net cost of the restoration is qualifying expenditure for the relevant period in which that part of the work to which the expenditure relates was carried out.

- (2) "Relevant period" means
 - (a) in the case of restoration work carried out while the person is carrying on the trade, a chargeable period, and

15

(b) in the case of restoration work carried out after the person has ceased to carry on the trade, a notional accounting period.

For the meaning of "notional accounting period", see section 416ZB.

(3) The qualifying expenditure for a notional accounting period is treated as incurred on the last day of trading.

20

(4) If the amount of expenditure incurred on any part of the restoration work carried out in a relevant period is disproportionate to that part of the restoration work, only so much of the net cost of the restoration as is proportionate to that part of the restoration work (the "allowable expenditure for the period") is to be treated as qualifying expenditure for that period.

25

(5) But subsection (4) does not prevent that part of the expenditure that is not allowable expenditure for the period from being treated as qualifying expenditure for a subsequent relevant period.

30

- (6) If any expenditure incurred by a person is qualifying expenditure under this section—
 - (a) the whole of the expenditure on the restoration (not just the net cost) is not deductible in calculating the person's income for any tax purposes, and

35

- (b) none of the amounts subtracted to produce the net cost is to be treated as the person's income for any tax purposes.
- (7) "Restoration" includes
 - (a) landscaping,
 - (b) in relation to land in the United Kingdom, the carrying out of any works required as a condition of granting planning permission for development relating to the winning of oil from an oil field,

40

(c) in relation to land in the UK marine area, the carrying out of any works required in order to comply with—

45

(i) an approved abandonment programme,

Finance (No. 2) Bill Part 2 – Oil

| | (| ii) a condition to which the approval of an abandonment programme is subject, or | |
|-------|------------------|--|----|
| | (i | ii) a requirement imposed by the Secretary of State, or an agreement made with the Secretary of State, in relation to a relevant site, and | 5 |
| | car any or | relation to land in a foreign sector of the continental shelf, the rying out of any works required in order to comply with ything corresponding to a matter within paragraph (c)(i), (ii) (iii) under the law of a territory outside the United Kingdom. | |
| | | es not include decommissioning any plant or machinery e meaning of section 163). | 10 |
| (8) | (a) the | nt site" means— e site of a source to the working of which the ring fence trade ates (or related), or | |
| | (b) lan | nd used in connection with working such a source. | 15 |
| (9) | | ost of the restoration" means the expenditure incurred on the n less any amounts that — | |
| | ` ' | e received, or are to be received, by the person, and e attributable to the restoration of the relevant site. | |
| (10) | | djustments are to be made, by way of discharge or repayment therwise, as are necessary to give effect to this section. | 20 |
| (11) | In this sect | tion— | |
| | rela | ndonment programme", "approval" and "approved" (in ation to an abandonment programme) have the same raning as in Part 4 of the Petroleum Act 1998, | 25 |
| | wh sul | ign sector of the continental shelf" means an area within hich rights are exercisable with respect to the sea bed and posoil and their natural resources by a territory outside the | |
| | | and "oil field" have the same meaning as in Part 1 of OTA 75, | 30 |
| | | fence trade" has the same meaning as in Part 8 of CTA 2010 e section 277 of that Act), and | |
| | | marine area" has the meaning given by section 42 of the arine and Coastal Access Act 2009. | 35 |
| 416ZB | "Notional | accounting period" | |
| (1) | relation to | urposes of section 416ZA "notional accounting period", in a person ("the former trader") who has ceased to carry on a trade, means each of the following periods— | |
| | O | e period that — | 40 |
| | ` ' | (i) begins with the day following the last day on which the former trader carried on the ring fence trade, and | |
| | (| ii) ends with the day on which the first termination event subsequently occurs, and | |
| | ` ' | ch period that — | 45 |
| | | (i) begins with the day following the last day of a period determined under paragraph (a) or this paragraph, and | |

52 Finance (No. 2) Bill

| | Part 2 – Oil | |
|--------|---|----|
| | (ii) ends with the day on which the first termination event subsequently occurs. | |
| (2) | But there are to be no notional accounting periods after the end of the post-cessation period (see subsection (4)). | |
| (3) | "Termination event", in relation to a notional accounting period, means each of the following— (a) the end of the period of 12 months beginning with the first day of the notional accounting period, | 5 |
| | (b) the occurrence of an accounting date of the former trader or, if there is a period for which the former trader does not make up accounts, the end of that period (but see subsections (6) and (7)), and | 10 |
| | (c) the end of the post-cessation period. | |
| (4) | "The post-cessation period" means the period that— (a) begins with the day following the last day on which the former trader carried on the ring fence trade, and | 15 |
| | (b) ends with the day on which the appropriate authority is satisfied that the restoration of the relevant site has been completed. | |
| (5) | In subsection (4) "the appropriate authority" means— (a) in the case of restoration falling within section 416ZA(7)(c), the Secretary of State, and | 20 |
| | (b) in any other case, such person or body as the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs may specify. | |
| (6) | If the former trader — | 25 |
| | (a) carries on more than one trade, | |
| | (b) makes up accounts of any of them to different dates, and(c) does not make up general accounts for the whole of the former trader's activities, | |
| | subsection (3)(b) applies with reference to the accounting date of such one of the trades as the former trader may determine. | 30 |
| (7) | If the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs are of the opinion, on reasonable grounds, that a date determined by the former trader for the purposes of subsection (6) is inappropriate, the Commissioners may by notice direct that the accounting date of such other of the trades referred to in that subsection as appears to the Commissioners to be appropriate is to be used instead. | 35 |
| (8) | Expressions used in this section and in section 416ZA have the same meaning in this section as they do in that section." | |
| | ion 416B (first-year qualifying expenditure), in subsection (2), at the end "(within the meaning of section 403)". | 40 |
| Daul 4 | -(CTA 2010 (11:-) : 1-1 (-11 | |

(7) Part 4 of CTA 2010 (loss relief) is amended as follows.

(6)

- (8) In section 40 (ring fence trades: extension of periods for which relief may be given), in subsection (1)(b), for "403" substitute "by virtue of section 416ZA".
- In section 43 (claim period in case of ring fence or mineral extraction trades), in 45 subsection (1)(b) –

(b)

40

Part 2 - Oil (a) after "416" insert "or 416ZA", and (b) for the words from "restoration" to "trade" substitute "site restoration". (10)The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to expenditure incurred on restoration carried out on or after the day on which this Act is passed. 5 90 Restrictions on allowances for certain oil-related expenditure Schedule 30 contains provision in connection with restrictions on allowances for certain oil-related expenditure. Part 3 10 ANNUAL TAX ON ENVELOPED DWELLINGS The charge to tax 91 Charge to tax (1) A tax (called "annual tax on enveloped dwellings") is to be charged in accordance with this Part. Tax is charged in respect of a chargeable interest if on one or more days in a 15 chargeable period the interest is a single-dwelling interest and has a taxable value of more than £2 million, and a company, partnership or collective investment scheme meets the ownership condition with respect to the interest. 20 The tax is charged for the chargeable period concerned. A company meets the ownership condition with respect to a single-dwelling interest on any day on which the company is entitled to the interest (otherwise than as a member of a partnership or for the purposes of a collective investment scheme). 25 A partnership meets the ownership condition with respect to a single-dwelling interest on any day on which a member of the partnership that is a company is entitled to the interest (as a member of the partnership). A collective investment scheme meets the ownership condition with respect to a single-dwelling interest on any day on which the interest is held for the 30 purposes of the scheme. If a company is jointly entitled to a chargeable interest (as a member of a partnership or otherwise), then regardless of whether the company is entitled as a joint tenant or tenant in common (or, in Scotland, as a joint owner or owner in common) the ownership condition is regarded as met in relation to the 35 whole chargeable interest. The chargeable periods are – the period beginning with 1 April 2013 and ending with 31 March 2014,

each subsequent period of 12 months beginning with 1 April.

10

20

25

30

(9) See also section 92 (references to beneficial entitlement include beneficial entitlement jointly with another person).

92 Entitlement to interests

- (1) In this Part "entitled" means beneficially entitled
 - (a) whether solely or jointly with another person, and
 - (b) whether as a member of a partnership or otherwise.

This is subject to subsection (2).

- (2) References in this Part to entitlement to a single-dwelling interest (or any other chargeable interest) do not include
 - (a) entitlement in the capacity of a trustee or personal representative, or
 - (b) entitlement as a beneficiary under a settlement.
- (3) Subsection (1)(b) does not apply where the contrary is specified.
- (4) In this section "settlement" has the same meaning as in Part 4 of FA 2003 (see paragraph 1 of Schedule 16 to that Act).

93 Person liable 15

- (1) The chargeable person is liable to pay tax charged under this Part.
- (2) "The chargeable person" means
 - (a) in relation to tax charged by virtue of section 91(4), the company;
 - (b) in relation to tax charged by virtue of section 91(5), the responsible partners.
- (3) In relation to tax charged by virtue of section 91(6) "the chargeable person" means
 - (a) if the collective investment scheme is a unit trust scheme, the trustee of the scheme;
 - (b) if the collective investment scheme is an open-ended investment company, the body corporate referred to in section 236(2) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000;
 - (c) in relation to an EEA UCITS which is not an open-ended investment company or unit trust scheme, the management company for that UCITS;
 - (d) in any other case, the person who has day-to-day control over the management of the property subject to the scheme.
- (4) The liability of the responsible partners to pay tax charged on them under this Part is joint and several.
- (5) Reference in this section to "the responsible partners" are to all the persons who are members of the partnership concerned on the first day in the chargeable period on which the partnership meets the ownership condition with respect to the single-dwelling interest.
- (6) Tax charged under this Part is said to be "charged on" the chargeable person (and that person is said to be "chargeable to" the tax).

10

15

20

30

35

40

94 Liability of persons jointly entitled

- (1) Subsection (2) applies if
 - (a) a company is within the charge for a chargeable period with respect to a single-dwelling interest by virtue of section 93(2)(a), and
 - (b) one or more other persons are jointly entitled to the interest on the first day in that period on which the company is within the charge with respect to it.
- (2) The company and the other person or persons are jointly and severally liable for the tax charged for that period with respect to the interest (whether or not those other persons are also within the charge with respect to the interest on the day in question).
- (3) Subsection (4) applies if
 - (a) a company that is a member of a partnership is entitled (as a member of the partnership) to a single-dwelling interest on a day in a chargeable period, and
 - (b) as a result, the responsible partners are within the charge with respect to the interest for the period.
- (4) If, on the first day in the chargeable period on which the responsible partners are within the charge a person ("P") who is not one of the responsible partners is jointly entitled to the chargeable interest, P and the responsible partners are jointly and severally liable for the tax charged for the period with respect to the interest (whether or not P is also within the charge with respect to the interest on the day in question).

95 Collective investment schemes: liability for and collection of tax

- (1) Subsection (2) applies where tax is charged for a chargeable period with respect to a single-dwelling interest by virtue of section 91(6).
- (2) The persons who are major participants in the scheme on the first day of the chargeable period on which the chargeable person is within the charge with respect to the interest are jointly and severally liable with the chargeable person for the tax charged.
- (3) Subsection (2) does not permit the recovery from a major participant of an amount exceeding the market value of the participant's holding in the scheme.
- (4) The reference in subsection (3) to a participant's holding in a collective investment scheme is to the interests or rights by virtue of which the participant takes part in the scheme.
- (5) Tax chargeable by virtue of section 91(6) may be recovered from the depositary (if any) of a collective investment scheme, but only up to the amount or value of any money or other property subject to the scheme that has been entrusted to the depositary for safekeeping.
- (6) The depositary
 - (a) may retain out of any money entrusted to it as mentioned in subsection (5) enough money to pay that tax, and
 - (b) is entitled to be fully reimbursed by the participants in the scheme (by that method or another) for amounts recovered under subsection (5).
- (7) In this section 45

- (a) "depositary", in relation to a collective investment scheme (other than a unit trust scheme), has the meaning given by section 237(2) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000;
- (b) "major participant", in relation to a collective investment scheme, is to be read in accordance with 134(4);

(c) "participant", in relation to a collective investment scheme, is to be read in accordance with section 235 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

(8) For the purposes of this Part "market value" is to be determined as for the purposes of TCGA 1992 (see, particularly, section 272 of that Act).

96 Amount of tax chargeable

- (1) The amount of tax charged for a chargeable period with respect to a single-dwelling interest is stated in subsection (2) or (3).
- (2) If the chargeable person is within the charge with respect to the single-dwelling interest on the first day of the chargeable period, the amount of tax charged is equal to the annual chargeable amount.
- (3) Otherwise, the amount of tax charged is equal to the relevant fraction of the annual chargeable amount.
- (4) The annual chargeable amount for a single-dwelling interest and a chargeable period is determined in accordance with the following table, by reference to the taxable value of the interest on the relevant day.

| Annual chargeable amount | Taxable value of the interest on the relevant day | |
|--------------------------|--|----|
| £15,000 | More than £2 million but not more than £5 million. | 25 |
| £35,000 | More than £5 million but not more than £10 million. | |
| £70,000 | More than £10 million but not more than £20 million. | |
| £140,000 | More than £20 million. | 30 |

- (5) The "relevant day" is
 - (a) for the purposes of subsection (2), the first day of the chargeable period;
 - (b) for the purposes of subsection (3), the first day in the chargeable period on which the chargeable person is within the charge with respect to the interest.
- (6) The relevant fraction is—

 $\frac{N}{Y}$

where-

"N" is the number of days from (and including) the relevant day to the end of the chargeable period;

40

35

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

"Y" is the number of days in the chargeable period.

- (7) See also
 - (a) section 97 (interim relief), and
 - (b) section 103 (adjustment of amount chargeable).

97 Interim relief 5

- (1) Where tax is charged for a chargeable period with respect to a single-dwelling interest, the chargeable person may claim relief before the end of the chargeable period if
 - (a) one or more days in the period is relievable with respect to the interest (by virtue of any of sections 131 to 150),
 - (b) one or more days in the chargeable period (after the first day in the period on which the chargeable person is within the charge with respect to the interest) is a day on which the chargeable person is not within the charge with respect to the interest, or
 - (c) the taxable value of the single-dwelling interest on the first day in the chargeable period on which the chargeable person is within the charge with respect to the interest is higher than its taxable value on any later day in the chargeable period on which the chargeable person remains within the charge with respect to the interest.
- (2) Relief under this section is called "interim relief", and must be claimed
 - (a) in an annual tax on enveloped dwellings return, or
 - (b) by amending such a return.
- (3) Where interim relief is claimed under this section, section 161(1) (payment of tax by filing date for annual tax on enveloped dwellings return) has effect as if the amount of tax charged with respect to the single-dwelling interest were the sum of amounts A and B.
- (4) Amount A is the total of all the daily amounts for days in the pre-claim period on which the chargeable person is within the charge with respect to the single-dwelling interest, other than days that are relievable with respect to the single-dwelling interest.
- (5) Amount B is zero if
 - (a) the day of the claim is relievable with respect to the single-dwelling interest by virtue of any of sections 131 to 150, or
 - (b) the chargeable person is not within the charge with respect to the single-dwelling interest on the day of the claim.
- (6) Otherwise, amount B is the appropriate fraction of the annual chargeable amount for the single-dwelling interest.
 - For this purpose the annual chargeable amount is determined (under section 96(4)) on the basis that the day of the claim is the relevant day.
- (7) In subsection (6) "appropriate fraction" means –

 $\frac{X}{Y}$

where -

"X" is the number of days in the period beginning with the day of the claim and ending at the end of the chargeable period, and

"Y" is the number of days in the chargeable period.

| | Part 3 — Annual tax on enveloped dwellings | |
|-----|---|----|
| (8) | | |
| | "day of the claim" means the day on which the return mentioned in subsection (2)(a), or notice of the amendment made under subsection (2)(b), is delivered to HMRC; | |
| | "pre-claim period" means the period – | 5 |
| | (a) beginning with the first day in the chargeable period mentioned in subsection (1) on which the chargeable person is within the charge with respect to the single-dwelling interest, and | |
| | (b) ending with the day before the day of the claim. | |
| (9) | See sections 102 and 103 for provision about the adjustment of the amount of tax charged. | 10 |
| 98 | Indexation of annual chargeable amounts | |
| (1) | If the consumer prices index for September in 2013 or any later year ("the later year") is higher than it was for the previous September, section 96(4) applies in relation to chargeable periods beginning on or after the 1 April in the year after the later year with the following amendments. | 15 |
| (2) | For each of the annual chargeable amounts stated in the table in section 96(4) (as it applies in relation to chargeable periods beginning in the previous 12 months) there is substituted the indexed amount. | |
| (3) | "The indexed amount" is found by — | 20 |
| () | (a) increasing the previous amount by the same percentage increase as the percentage increase in the consumer prices index, and (b) rounding down the result to the nearest multiple of £50. | |
| (4) | In this section "consumer prices index" means the all items consumer prices index published by the Statistics Board. | 25 |
| (5) | The Treasury must, before 1 April 2014 and before each subsequent 1 April, make an order stating the amounts that by virtue of this section are to be the annual chargeable amounts for chargeable periods beginning on or after that date. | |
| 99 | Taxable value | 30 |
| (1) | The taxable value of a single-dwelling interest on any day ("the relevant day") is equal to its market value at the end of the latest day that— (a) falls on or before that day, and (b) is a valuation date in the case of that interest. | |
| (2) | Each of the following is a valuation date in the case of any single-dwelling interest— (a) 1 April 2012; (b) each 1 April falling 5 years, or a multiple of 5 years, after 1 April 2012. | 35 |
| (3) | The following are also valuation dates in the case of any single-dwelling interest to which a company is entitled on the relevant day (otherwise than as a member of a partnership)— | 40 |

the effective date of any substantial acquisition by the company of a chargeable interest in or over the dwelling concerned;

- (b) the effective date of any substantial disposal of part (but not the whole) of the single-dwelling interest.
- (4) The following are also valuation dates in the case of any single-dwelling interest to which a company is entitled on the relevant day as a member of a partnership—

- (a) the effective date of any substantial acquisition as a result of which a chargeable interest in or over the dwelling concerned became an asset of the partnership,
- (b) the effective date of any substantial disposal of part (but not the whole) of the single-dwelling interest.

10

- (5) The following are also valuation dates in the case of any single-dwelling interest that is on the relevant day held for the purposes of a collective investment scheme
 - (a) the effective date of any substantial acquisition, made for the purposes of the scheme, of a chargeable interest in or over the dwelling concerned;

15

- (b) the effective date of any substantial disposal of part (but not the whole) of the single-dwelling interest.
- (6) In this section references to a disposal of part of a single-dwelling interest include the grant of a chargeable interest out of the single-dwelling interest.

20

(7) The grant of an option does not count as the grant of a chargeable interest for the purposes of subsection (6).

100 Section 99: "substantial" acquisitions and disposals

- (1) For the purposes of section 99
 - (a) the acquisition of a chargeable interest in a dwelling is a "substantial acquisition" only if the chargeable consideration for the acquisition is £40,000 or more;

25

(b) the disposal of part (but not the whole) of a single-dwelling interest is a "substantial disposal" only if the chargeable consideration for the acquisition of the chargeable interest by the person acquiring it is £40,000 or more.

30

(2) If the acquisition mentioned in subsection (1)(a) is a transaction between persons who are connected with each other or not acting at arm's length, subsection (1)(a) applies as if the reference to the chargeable consideration for the acquisition were to the market value of the chargeable interest acquired.

35

(3) If the disposal mentioned in subsection (1)(b) is a transaction between persons who are connected with each other or not acting at arm's length, subsection (1)(b) applies as if the reference to the chargeable consideration for the acquisition in question were to the market value of the part of the single-dwelling interest disposed of.

40

- (4) The chargeable consideration for the acquisition mentioned in subsection (1)(a) is taken to include the chargeable consideration for any linked acquisition of a chargeable interest in or over the same dwelling.
- (5) The chargeable consideration for the transaction mentioned in subsection (1)(b) is taken to include the chargeable consideration for any linked disposal of part (but not the whole) of the single-dwelling interest concerned.

- (6) For the purposes of subsection (2) the market value of the chargeable interest acquired is taken to be the sum of the market values of that chargeable interest and any chargeable interest in or over the same dwelling that is acquired in a linked transaction.
- (7) For the purposes of subsection (3) the market value of the part of the single-dwelling interest disposed of is taken to be the sum of the market values of that chargeable interest and any chargeable interest in or over the same dwelling that is disposed of in a linked transaction.
- (8) For the purposes of this section two or more transactions are "linked" if they form part of a single scheme, arrangement or series of transactions between the same vendor and purchaser or, in either case, persons connected with them.
- (9) In this section "chargeable consideration", "purchaser" and "vendor" have the same meaning as in Part 4 of FA 2003.
- (10) In this section references to a disposal of part of a single-dwelling interest include the grant of a chargeable interest out of the single-dwelling interest.

101 No double charge

Tax in respect of a given single-dwelling interest is charged only once for any chargeable day even if more than one person is "the chargeable person" with respect to the tax charged.

Adjustment of amount charged

20

102 "Adjusted chargeable amount"

- (1) In relation to a person on whom tax is charged for a chargeable period with respect to a single-dwelling interest, the "adjusted chargeable amount" is the total of the daily amounts for all the days in the period on which the chargeable person is within the charge with respect to the interest.
- (2) The daily amount for any such day ("the actual day") is—

$$\frac{1}{\mathbf{v}} \times \mathbf{A}$$

where -

"Y" is the number of days in the chargeable period;

"A" is the annual chargeable amount for the single-dwelling interest, determined (under section 96(4)) on the basis that the actual day is the relevant day.

103 Adjustment of amount chargeable

(1) Where tax is charged for a chargeable period with respect to a single-dwelling interest and the adjusted chargeable amount is greater than the initial charged amount, the amount of tax charged is taken to be increased to the adjusted chargeable amount.

10

15

5

20

25

30

Part 3 - Annual tax on enveloped dwellings (2) In this section "the initial charged amount" means the amount of tax charged under section 96 for the period in respect of the interest. Subsection (4) applies where – tax is charged for a chargeable period with respect to a single-dwelling 5 the adjusted chargeable amount is less than the initial charged amount, (b) and a claim for relief is made under this subsection. The amount of tax charged for the period with respect to the interest is taken to be reduced (at the end of the chargeable period) to the adjusted chargeable 10 amount. Relief under subsection (3) must be claimed – in an annual tax on enveloped dwellings return, or by amending an annual tax on enveloped dwellings return. The claim must be delivered by the end of the chargeable period following the 15 (6)one to which the claim relates. Relief under subsection (3) may be given by repayment of tax or otherwise. (7) See also section 158 (return of adjusted amount chargeable); and see section 161(3) for provision about payment of additional tax by reference to the 20 adjusted chargeable amount. Chargeable interests and "single-dwelling interest" Chargeable interests 104 In this Part "chargeable interest" means an estate, interest, right or power in or over land in the United Kingdom, or 25 the benefit of an obligation, restriction or condition affecting the value of any such estate, interest, right or power. Where two or more persons are jointly entitled to a chargeable interest the chargeable interest is not regarded, for the purposes of this Part, as consisting of separate interests corresponding to the shares (if any) that those persons 30 have by virtue of their joint entitlement. (3) An exempt interest is not a chargeable interest for the purposes of this Part. The following are exempt interests any security interest; (b) a licence to use or occupy land; 35 in England and Wales or Northern Ireland, a tenancy at will. In subsection (4) "security interest" means an interest or right (other than a rentcharge) held for the purpose of securing the payment of money or the performance of any other obligation. 40 In the application of this Part in Scotland the reference in subsection (5) to a

rentcharge is to be read as a reference to a feu duty or a payment mentioned in section 56(1) of the Abolition of Feudal Tenure etc (Scotland) Act 2000 (asp 5).

(7) The Treasury may by regulations provide that any other description of interest or right in or over a dwelling is an exempt interest.

105 Meaning of "single-dwelling interest"

(1) References in this Part to a "single-dwelling interest" are to be read in accordance with this section.

227)

5

10

15

30

35

40

- (2) A chargeable interest that is exclusively in or over land consisting (on any day) of a single dwelling is a single-dwelling interest (on that day).
- (3) Where a person is entitled to a chargeable interest that is exclusively in or over land consisting (on any day) of two or more single dwellings—
 - (a) provisions referring to a "single-dwelling interest" operate as if the person had (on that day) a separate chargeable interest in or over each dwelling, and
 - (b) the chargeable interest in or over each dwelling is therefore a single-dwelling interest.
- (4) Where a person is entitled to a chargeable interest in or over land that on any day consists of one or more single dwellings and non-residential land
 - (a) provisions referring to a "single-dwelling interest" operate as if the person had (on that day) a separate chargeable interest in or over each dwelling and a further separate chargeable interest in or over the non-residential land, and
 - 20 ingle-
 - (b) the chargeable interest in or over each dwelling is therefore a single-dwelling interest.
- (5) A single-dwelling interest is referred to as a single-dwelling interest "in" the dwelling concerned.
- (6) A single-dwelling interest in one dwelling is distinct from any single-dwelling interest in another dwelling, even if the dwellings stand successively on the same land.
- (7) In this section—
 - (a) "non-residential land" means land that is not a dwelling or part of a dwelling;
 - (b) references to a dwelling include a part of a dwelling.

106 Different interests held in the same dwelling

- (1) Subsection (2) applies if on one or more days in a chargeable period
 - (a) a company is entitled to two or more single-dwelling interests in the same dwelling, or
 - (b) two or more single-dwelling interests in the same dwelling are held for the purposes of the same collective investment scheme.
- (2) This Part has effect with respect to that chargeable period as if those separate interests constituted just one single-dwelling interest, the taxable value of which on any day is the sum of the taxable values of the separate interests.
- (3) In calculating the taxable values of the separate interests for the purposes of subsection (2), the market value of each interest is determined, under the provisions of TCGA 1992 applied by section 95(8), on the assumption that the

10

15

20

25

30

other interest or interests are placed on the open market with that interest (on the valuation date appropriate to that interest).

107 Interests held by connected persons

- (1) If on any day a company ("C") is entitled to a single-dwelling interest in a dwelling and another person ("P") who is connected with C is entitled to a different single-dwelling interest in the same dwelling, this Part has effect—

 (a) in relation to C as if C were on that day entitled to P's single-dwelling interest as well as C's single-dwelling interest, and
 - (b) (if P is a company) in relation to P as if P were on that day entitled to C's single-dwelling interest as well as P's single-dwelling interest.
- (2) If on any day a single-dwelling interest ("the scheme interest") is held for the purposes of a collective investment scheme and a person ("P") who is connected with the scheme is entitled to a different single-dwelling interest in the same dwelling, this Part has effect—
 - (a) in relation to the scheme, as if both those separate interests were on that day held for the purposes of the scheme, and
 - (b) (if P is a company) in relation to P as if P were (on that day) entitled to the scheme interest as well as P's single-dwelling interest.
- (3) If on any day a single-dwelling interest in a dwelling is held for the purposes of a collective investment scheme ("the first scheme") and another interest in the same dwelling is held for the purposes of another collective investment scheme ("the second scheme") that is connected with the first scheme, this Part has effect—
 - (a) in relation to the first scheme, as if both the interests were held for the purposes of that scheme, and
 - (b) in relation to the second scheme, as if both interests were held for the purposes of that scheme.
- (4) See also
 - (a) section 94, for provision about the liability to tax of persons treated under this section (read with section 101) as jointly entitled to a single-dwelling interest;
 - (b) paragraph 56 of Schedule 31, for provision about returns in cases involving joint entitlement.
- (5) The provisions mentioned in subsection (4) are to be read as including corresponding provision for cases where the same single-dwelling interest is treated under this section as held—
 - (a) for the purposes of different collective investment schemes, or
 - (b) by a company and for the purposes of a collective investment scheme.

108 Sections 106 and 107: superior and inferior interests

Where a company and an individual connected with the company are on any day entitled to single-dwelling interests in the same dwelling, section 107(1) does not apply if —

- (a) the company's interest is a freehold or leasehold interest the taxable value of which is £500,000 or less, and
- (b) the individual's interest is a leasehold interest that is inferior to the company's interest.

10

15

20

25

30

35

109 Different interests held in the same dwelling: effect of reliefs etc

- (1) References in section 107 to a person do not include
 - (a) a public body, as defined in section 151,
 - (b) a body listed in section 152(2) (bodies established for national purposes).
- (2) Subsections (1) to (3) of section 107 do not apply in relation to a single-dwelling interest if the day in question is relievable with respect to that interest by virtue of
 - (a) section 148 (charitable companies),
 - (b) section 150 (providers of social housing), or

(c) section 153 (property conditionally exempt from inheritance tax).

- (3) Subsection (4) applies where the separate interests (the "relevant interests") that under section 107 (or that section and section 106) are treated as constituting, on a day, just one single-dwelling interest ("the combined interest") include—
 - (a) a freehold or leasehold interest, and
 - (b) a leasehold interest ("the inferior interest") granted out of that interest.
- (4) If the inferior interest is the most inferior relevant interest, the combined interest, and the dwelling itself (where relevant), are regarded for the purposes of the relevant relieving provisions as being exploited, on the day mentioned in subsection (3), in the way the inferior interest is exploited on that day.
- (5) If the inferior interest is an interest in part only ("the sub-let part") of the land that is the subject-matter of the combined interest, subsection (4) has effect in relation to the combined interest only so far as that interest relates to the sublet part.
- (6) In this section "the relevant relieving provisions" means sections 130 to 150.
- (7) The inferior interest counts as "the most inferior relevant interest" if no relevant interest (see subsection (3)) is a leasehold interest granted out of it.
- (8) In this section the reference to a leasehold interest includes the interest of a lessee under an agreement for a lease.
- (9) In the application of this section to Scotland
 - (a) the reference to a freehold interest is to the interest of the owner;
 - (b) the reference to a leasehold interest is to a tenant's right over or interest in property subject to a lease;
 - (c) the reference to an agreement for lease includes missives of let.

Meaning of "dwelling"

110 Meaning of "dwelling"

- (1) A building or part of a building counts as a dwelling at any time when
 - (a) it is used or suitable for use as a single dwelling, or
 - (b) it is in the process of being constructed or adapted for such use. 40
- (2) Land that is, or is at any time intended to be, occupied or enjoyed with a dwelling as a garden or grounds (including any building or structure on such land) is taken to be part of that dwelling at that time.

Finance (No. 2) Bill

65 Part 3 - Annual tax on enveloped dwellings

Land that subsists, or is at any time intended to subsist, for the benefit of a dwelling is taken to be part of the dwelling at that time.

- A building, or part of a building, used for a purpose specified in section 116(2) or (3) of FA 2003 is not used as a dwelling for the purposes of subsection (1).
- Where a building, or part of a building, is used for a purpose mentioned in subsection (4), no account is to be taken for the purposes of subsection (1) of its suitability for any other use.

5

10

15

25

30

35

40

If a building or part of a building becomes temporarily unsuitable for use as a dwelling for any reason (including accidental damage, repairs or any other physical change to the building or its environment), that temporary unsuitability is ignored in determining whether or not the building or part of a building is, during the period in question, a dwelling for the purposes of this Part.

This subsection does not affect any of the provisions in sections 124 to 129.

111 Substantial performance of "off plan" purchase

- Subsection (2) applies where (1)
 - a contract is entered into for the acquisition of a chargeable interest in or over land that consists of or includes a building, or part of a building, that is to be constructed or adapted for use as a single dwelling,
 - substantial performance is treated as constituting the acquisition of the 20 chargeable interest (under section 120), and
 - construction or adaptation of the building, or the part of a building, has not begun by the time the contract is substantially performed.
- The chargeable interest deemed to be acquired as mentioned in subsection (1)(b) is taken to be in or over land that consists of or (as appropriate) includes a dwelling.
- If at any time after the substantial performance of the contract the obligation under the contract to carry out the construction or adaptation ceases to have effect without the construction or adaptation having been begun, subsection (2) ceases to apply at that time.
- A building or part of a building used for a purpose specified in section 116(2) or (3) of FA 2003 is not used as a dwelling for the purposes of subsection (1).
- In this section (5)
 - "contract" includes any agreement (including, in the case of Scotland, missives of let not constituting a lease);
 - "substantially performed" has the same meaning as in section 44 of FA 2003.

Power to modify meaning of "use as a dwelling" 112

- The Treasury may by order amend this Part so as to specify cases where use of a building is to be use of a building as a dwelling for the purposes of section 110(1) or 111(1).
- The reference in section 116(8)(a) of FA 2003 (power to amend section 116(2) and (3)) to "the purposes of subsection (1)" includes a reference to the purposes of sections 110(1) and 111(1).

10

15

20

25

35

40

45

113 Parts of a greater whole

- (1) The fact that a part of a building is suitable for use as a dwelling does not prevent that part from forming part of a larger single dwelling.
- (2) The fact that a building or structure that is
 - (a) in the garden or grounds of a dwelling, and

(b) occupied or enjoyed with the dwelling,

is itself suitable for use as a single dwelling does not prevent it from being treated (in accordance with section 110(2)) as part of the dwelling.

114 Dwelling in grounds of another dwelling

- (1) Subsection (4) applies where the conditions in subsection (2) are met in relation to two dwellings (the "main dwelling" and the "associated dwelling") on a day ("the day in question") in a chargeable period.
- (2) The conditions are that
 - (a) the main dwelling has a garden or grounds,
 - (b) the associated dwelling stands within the garden or grounds of the main dwelling, but is not occupied or enjoyed with that dwelling,
 - (c) the associated dwelling does not have separate access, and is not part of the same building as the main building, and
 - (d) the common ownership condition is met.
- (3) The common ownership condition is that
 - (a) a company is entitled to a chargeable interest in the main dwelling, and the company or a person connected with the company is entitled to a chargeable interest in the associated dwelling, or
 - (b) a chargeable interest in the main dwelling is held for the purposes of a collective investment scheme, and a chargeable interest in the associated dwelling is held for the purposes of the same collective investment scheme.

(It does not matter whether or not the interest in the main dwelling and the interest in the associated dwelling are held for the same title.)

- (4) This Part has effect in relation to the interests mentioned in paragraph (a) or (as the case may be) (b) of subsection (3) as if the main dwelling and the associated dwelling were, on the day in question, suitable for use as a single dwelling.
- (5) Subsection (4) does not apply if the day in question is, in relation to the interest in the main dwelling or the interest in the associated dwelling, relievable by virtue of a provision mentioned in subsection (6).
- (6) Those provisions are
 - (a) section 131 (property rental businesses);
 - (b) section 132 (rental property: preparation for sale etc);
 - (c) section 135 (dwellings opened to the public);
 - (d) section 136 (property developers);
 - (e) section 137 (property developers: exchange of dwellings);
 - (f) section 139 (property traders);
 - (g) section 141 (financial institutions acquiring dwellings in the course of lending);
 - (h) section 143 (occupation by certain employees or partners);

(i) section 146 (farmhouses); section 148 (charitable companies); (j) section 150 (providers of social housing). The reference in subsection (3)(a) to a person connected with the company does not include a public body (as defined in section 151) or a body listed in section 5 152(2) (bodies established for national purposes). The reference in subsection (3)(b) to a chargeable interest being held for the purposes of the same collective investment scheme includes a reference to a person connected with the scheme being entitled to the interest. The associated dwelling has "separate access" only if – 10 there is access to the associated dwelling directly from a highway (in Scotland, a road) that the dwelling adjoins, or the person entitled to possession of the associated dwelling has access to that dwelling from a highway (in Scotland, a road), exclusively by passing over land that the person is entitled to pass over by reason of 15 one or more rights of way or other interests in land to which the person is separately entitled. (10) In this section – in relation to a dwelling or dwellings, references to the "garden or grounds" are to land occupied or enjoyed with the dwelling or 20 dwellings as a garden or grounds; references to the person entitled to possession of a dwelling are to the person entitled to possession of the dwelling by reason of an estate or interest held by that person; "separately entitled" means entitled otherwise than by reason of a 25 chargeable interest in or over the main dwelling. Dwellings in the same building Two parts of a building are "linked dwellings" if each of them counts as a dwelling, 30 (b) there is private access between the two dwellings, the two parts of the building are not (together) used or suitable for use

115

- - as a single dwelling, and
 - the common ownership condition and the use condition are met.
- The common ownership condition is that
 - a company is entitled to a chargeable interest in one of the dwellings, and the company or a person connected with the company is entitled to a chargeable interest in the other dwelling, or
 - a chargeable interest in one of the dwellings is held for the purposes of a collective investment scheme, and a chargeable interest in the other dwelling is held for the purposes of the same collective investment 40 scheme.

35

45

(It does not matter whether or not the interests are held for the same title.)

(3) If on a day in a chargeable period ("the day in question") two parts of a building constitute linked dwellings, this Part has effect in relation to the interests mentioned in paragraph (a) or (as the case may be) (b) of subsection (2) as if the two parts were, on the day in question, suitable for use as a single dwelling.

| (4) | Subsection (3) does not apply if the day in question is, in relation to a chargeable interest mentioned in subsection (2)(a) or (as the case may be) (2)(b), relievable by virtue of a provision mentioned in subsection (5). | | |
|-----|--|---------|--|
| (5) | Those provisions are— (a) section 131 (property rental businesses); (b) section 132 (rental property: preparation for sale etc); (c) section 135 (dwellings opened to the public); (d) section 136 (property developers); (e) section 137 (property developers: exchange of dwellings); (f) section 139 (property traders); (g) section 141 (financial institutions acquiring dwellings in the course of lending); (h) section 143 (occupation by certain employees or partners); (i) section 146 (farmhouses); (j) section 148 (charitable companies); | 5 10 | |
| (6) | (k) section 150 (providers of social housing). The reference in subsection (2)(a) to a person connected with the company does | | |
| (*) | not include a public body (as defined in section 151) or a body listed in section 152(2) (bodies established for national purposes). | | |
| (7) | If two dwellings in a building (dwelling A and dwelling B) are treated under this section as suitable for use as a single dwelling, and dwelling B and a third dwelling in the building ("dwelling C") are treated under this section as suitable for use as a single dwelling, all three are treated as suitable for use as a single dwelling (and so on). | 20 | |
| 116 | Section 115: supplementary | 25 | |
| (1) | The reference in section 115(2)(b) to a chargeable interest being held for the purposes of the same collective investment scheme includes a reference to a person connected with the scheme being entitled to the interest. | | |
| (2) | For the purposes of section 115, there is private access between two dwellings if the person entitled to possession of each dwelling is entitled, by reason of a right of way or other interest in land, to have access to that person's dwelling from the other dwelling, without passing over any part of the building (or any other land) in which a third party has an interest entitling that third party to enter it. | | |
| (3) | In subsection (2) "third party" means a person other than— (a) the persons entitled to possession of the dwellings mentioned in subsection (2), and | 35 | |
| | (b) persons connected with any of them. | | |
| (4) | The use condition mentioned in section 115(1)(d) is that each of the two dwellings — (a) is occupied (or usually occupied) by a relevant individual, (b) is intended to be so occupied (or usually so occupied), or | 40 | |

(c) is not occupied.

(5) In subsection (4) "relevant individual" means —

Finance (No. 2) Bill 69

- (a) an individual connected with the company mentioned in section 115(2)(a),
- (b) an individual connected with the collective investment scheme mentioned in section 115(2)(b),
- (c) an individual who occupies (or is to occupy) the dwelling concerned otherwise than on commercial terms, or

5

10

15

25

30

- (d) an individual who is employed wholly or partly in connection with the occupation by a person falling within any of paragraphs (a) to (c) of a dwelling in the building, or provides services in connection with such a person's occupation of a dwelling in the building.
- (6) In this section and section 115 references to the person entitled to possession of a dwelling are to the person entitled to possession of the dwelling by reason of an estate or interest held by that person.

117 Terraces etc

Any structure (such as a terrace of houses or a pair of semi-detached houses) that is composed of or includes dwellings is regarded as a building for the purposes of sections 115 and 116.

Acquisitions and disposals

118 Acquisitions and disposals of chargeable interests

- (1) References in this Part to the acquisition of a chargeable interest include any acquisition however effected (including an acquisition effected by the act of parties to a transaction, by order of a court or other authority, by or under any statutory provision or by operation of law).
- (2) The surrender or release of a chargeable interest is
 - (a) an acquisition of that interest by any person whose interest or right is benefited or enlarged by the transaction, and
 - (b) a disposal by the person ceasing to be entitled to that interest.
- (3) The variation of a chargeable interest is
 - (a) an acquisition of a chargeable interest by the person benefiting from the variation, and
 - (b) a disposal of a chargeable interest by the person whose interest is subject to or limited by the variation.

119 Date of acquisition or disposal

- (1) A person who acquires a chargeable interest in or over land that consists of or includes a dwelling is treated for the purposes of this Part as acquiring the interest on the effective date of the acquisition (and therefore as entitled to the interest with effect from that date: see section 169).
- (2) A person who disposes of a chargeable interest in or over land that consists of or includes a dwelling is treated for the purposes of this Part as ceasing to be entitled to the interest on the effective date of the disposal (and therefore as not being entitled to the interest on that day: see section 169).
- (3) If a person's acquisition and disposal of a chargeable interest are completed on the same day, then for the purposes of this Part —

| | (a) the person's acquisition of the interest is ignored if it precedes the disposal; | |
|-----|---|----------|
| | (b) the person's disposal of the interest is ignored if it precedes the acquisition. | |
| (4) | The effective date of an acquisition of a chargeable interest is – (a) the date on which the acquisition is completed, or (b) any alternative date the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs may prescribe by regulations. | 5 |
| (5) | The effective date of a disposal of a chargeable interest is – (a) the date on which the disposal is completed, or (b) any alternative date the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs may specify by regulations. | 10 |
| 120 | Contract and conveyance: the purchaser | |
| (1) | This section applies where a person ("P") enters into a contract under which— (a) P is to acquire a relevant chargeable interest, and (b) the acquisition is to be completed by a conveyance. | 15 |
| (2) | P is not regarded as acquiring any chargeable interest by reason of entering into the contract. | |
| (3) | If the contract is substantially performed without having been completed, this Part has effect as if the substantial performance of the contract were the completion of the acquisition provided for by the contract. | 20 |
| (4) | Accordingly, where subsection (3) applies and the contract is subsequently completed by a conveyance, that completion is not treated for the purposes of section 99 as effecting the acquisition of a chargeable interest. | |
| (5) | Where subsection (3) applies and — (a) the contract is afterwards rescinded or annulled, or (b) performance of the contract is for any other reason terminated before the contract has been carried fully into effect, this Part has effect as if P had at the relevant time disposed of the chargeable interest referred to in subsection (1)(a). | 25 30 |
| (6) | In subsection (5) "the relevant time" means— (a) the time when the rescission or annulment takes effect, or (b) (as the case requires) the time when performance of the contract ceases. | |
| (7) | Where subsection (3) applies and the contract is afterwards varied (or partially rescinded) so that the chargeable interest to be acquired under the contract is not the same as the chargeable interest to which the contract originally related, this Part (including subsection (3)) has effect as if the variation of the contract effected — | 35 |
| | (a) the disposal by P of the chargeable interest referred to in subsection (1)(a), and(b) the substantial performance of the contract, as varied. | 40 |
| (8) | If the parties to the contract proceed as if they had varied the contract in the way mentioned in subsection (7) (without actually doing so), subsection (7) applies as if they had actually made the corresponding variation in the terms of the contract. | 45 |

| (9) | In this section — | |
|-----|---|----|
| | (a) references to completion are to the completion of the acquisition proposed, whether or not between the original parties; | |
| | (b) "contract" includes any agreement; | |
| | (c) "conveyance" includes any instrument; | 5 |
| | (d) "relevant chargeable interest" means a chargeable interest in or over land that consists of or includes a dwelling; | |
| | (e) "substantially performed" has the same meaning as in section 44 of FA 2003. | |
| 121 | Contract and conveyance: the vendor | 10 |
| (1) | This section applies where a person ("V") enters into a contract under which— (a) V is to dispose of a relevant chargeable interest, and (b) the disposal is to be completed by a conveyance. | |
| (2) | V is not regarded as disposing of a chargeable interest by reason of entering into the contract. | 15 |
| (3) | If the contract is substantially performed without having been completed, this Part has effect as if the substantial performance of the contract were the completion of the disposal provided for by the contract. | |
| (4) | Accordingly, where subsection (3) applies and the contract is subsequently completed by a conveyance, that completion is not treated for the purposes of section 99 as effecting the disposal of a chargeable interest. | 20 |
| (5) | Where subsection (3) applies and – (a) the contract is afterwards rescinded or annulled, or (b) performance of the contract is for any other reason terminated before the contract has been carried fully into effect, this Part has effect as if V had at the relevant time re-acquired the chargeable interest referred to in subsection (1)(a). | 25 |
| (6) | In subsection (5) "the relevant time" means— (a) the time when the rescission or annulment takes effect, or (b) (as the case requires) the time when performance of the contract ceases. | 30 |
| (7) | Where subsection (3) applies and the contract is afterwards varied (or partially rescinded) so that the chargeable interest to be disposed of under the contract is not the same as the chargeable interest to which the contract originally related, this Part (including subsection (3)) has effect as if the variation of the contract effected — (a) the re-acquisition by V of the chargeable interest referred to in subsection (1)(a), and (b) the substantial performance of the contract, as varied. | 35 |
| (8) | If the parties to the contract proceed as if they had varied the contract in the way mentioned in subsection (7) (without actually doing so), subsection (7) applies as if they had actually made the corresponding variation in the terms of the contract. | 40 |
| (9) | In this section— | |

| | (a) references to completion are to the completion of the disposal proposed, between the same parties, in substantial conformity with the contract; | |
|--|--|----|
| | (b) "contract" includes any agreement; | |
| | (c) "conveyance" includes any instrument; | 5 |
| | (d) "relevant chargeable interest" means a chargeable interest in or over land that consists of or includes a dwelling; | |
| | (e) "substantially performed" has the same meaning as in section 44 of FA 2003. | |
| | New dwellings, conversions, demolition etc | 10 |
| 122 | New dwellings | |
| (1) | Where a new dwelling is being or has been constructed (whether or not as part of a larger building) the earlier of the following days is a valuation date in the case of a single-dwelling interest in that dwelling — | |
| | (a) the completion day; | 15 |
| | (b) the day on which the dwelling is first occupied. | |
| (2) | The reference in subsection (1) to the construction of a new dwelling – | |
| | (a) includes the production of a new dwelling by the alteration (whether structural or otherwise) of an existing building, but | |
| | (b) does not include a case to which section 123 (dwellings produced from other dwellings) or section 126 (demolition and replacement: new dwellings) applies. | 20 |
| (3) The reference in subsection (1) to the "completion day" is to the day on | | |
| | the new dwelling is treated as having come into existence for the purposes of — (a) Part 1 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (council tax: England | 25 |
| | and Wales) (see section 17 of that Act), or (b) Part 2 of that Act (council tax: Scotland) (see section 83 of that Act), or | |
| | (c) the Rates (Northern Ireland) Order 1977 (S.I. 1977/2157 (N.I. 28)) (see Article 25B of that Order). | |
| (4) | In this section "building" includes a part of a building. | 30 |
| 123 | Dwellings produced from other dwellings | |
| (1) | This section applies where an existing building that is a dwelling or dwellings ("the old dwelling" or "the old dwellings") becomes a different dwelling or dwellings ("new" dwellings) as a result of structural alteration. | |
| (2) | Any question as to whether or not a person has a single-dwelling interest at any time either in the old dwelling (or dwellings) or in a new dwelling is determined on the assumption that the old dwelling (or dwellings) cease to exist, and any new dwelling come into existence, only when the conversion is completed. | |
| (3) | The day after the conversion is completed is a valuation date in the case of any single-dwelling interest in a new dwelling. | 40 |
| (4) | References to when the conversion is completed are to the end of the day on which the new dwelling is treated as having come into existence (or the first | |

(5)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

site.

125

| - Annual tax on enveloped aweitings | |
|--|---|
| day on which all the new dwellings are treated as having come into existence) | |
| for the purposes of — (a) Part 1 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (council tax: England | |
| and Wales) (see section 17 of that Act), or | |
| (b) Part 2 of that Act (council tax: Scotland) (see section 83 of that Act), or(c) the Rates (Northern Ireland) Order 1977 (S.I. 1977/2157 (N.I. 28)) (see Article 25B of that Order). | |
| In this section "building" includes a part of a building. | |
| Demolition of a dwelling | |
| This section and sections 125 to 127 apply where a building that is a dwelling ("the old dwelling") is demolished after 1 April 2013. | |
| Except so far as express provision to the contrary is made in sections 125 to 127, any question as to whether a person has a single-dwelling interest in the dwelling, and any question as to the taxable value of such an interest, is determined as if the dwelling had not been demolished. | |
| For the purposes of subsection (1) the demolition of a building is treated as having occurred after 1 April 2013 if a day after 1 April 2013 is the first day on which— | |
| (a) the demolition has begun, and(b) as a result, the building is no longer suitable for use as a dwelling. | |
| In this section "building" includes a part of a building. | |
| Demolition without replacement | |
| Subsection (2) applies if a person entitled to a single-dwelling interest in the old dwelling notifies an officer of Revenue and Customs that to the best of the person's knowledge there is no proposal to construct any dwelling or dwellings on the site of the old dwelling. | 2 |
| Any question as to whether a person has a single-dwelling interest in the old dwelling is determined on the assumption that the old dwelling ceases (or ceased) to exist with effect from the end of the day mentioned in subsection (3). | |
| That day is the first day on which— (a) the demolition has begun, and (b) as a result, the building in question is no longer suitable for use as a dwelling. | |
| A notification under subsection (1) must be given— (a) in an annual tax on enveloped dwellings return, or (b) by amending such a return. | , |
| In this section — | |
| (a) "building" includes part of a building;(b) "the site of the old dwelling" means the land on which the dwelling stood and that counted as part of the dwelling; | |
| (c) the reference to the construction of a dwelling or dwellings on that site is to the construction of a dwelling or dwellings wholly or partly on the | |

10

15

25

30

35

40

126 Demolition and replacement: new dwellings

- (1) Subsection (2) applies if one or more dwellings (referred to below as "new dwellings") are constructed on the site of the old dwelling after the demolition.
- (2) Any question as to whether or not a person has a single-dwelling interest at any time either in the old dwelling or in a new dwelling is determined on the assumption that the old dwelling ceases to exist, and the new dwellings come into existence, only when the rebuilding is completed.
- (3) The day after the rebuilding is completed is a valuation date in the case of any single-dwelling interest in a new dwelling.
- (4) In subsection (1)
 - (a) "the site of the old dwelling" means the land on which the dwelling stood and that counted as part of the dwelling;
 - (b) the reference to the construction of a dwelling on that site is to the construction of a dwelling wholly or partly on the site.
- (5) References to when the rebuilding is completed are to the end of whichever of the following days is earlier
 - (a) the completion day;
 - (b) the day on which the last of the new dwellings to be occupied is first occupied.
- (6) The reference in subsection (5) to the "completion day" is to the day on which the new dwelling is treated as having come into existence (or the first day on which all the new dwellings are treated as having come into existence) for the purposes of
 - (a) Part 1 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (council tax: England and Wales) (see section 17 of that Act), or
 - (b) Part 2 of that Act (council tax: Scotland) (see section 83 of that Act), or
 - (c) the Rates (Northern Ireland) Order 1977 (S.I. 1977/2157 (N.I. 28)) (see Article 25B of that Order).

127 Demolition and replacement: other cases

- (1) This section applies if
 - (a) a building is constructed on the site of the old dwelling after the demolition, and
 - (b) section 126 does not apply.
- (2) Any question as to whether a person has a single-dwelling interest in the old dwelling is determined on the assumption that the old dwelling ceases to exist on the day after
 - (a) the day on which the change of use is approved, or
 - (b) if later, the day on which the old dwelling ceased to be occupied.
- (3) In subsection (1)
 - (a) "the site of the old dwelling" means the land on which the dwelling stood and that counted as part of the dwelling;
 - (b) the reference to the construction of a dwelling on that site is to the construction of a dwelling wholly or partly on the site.

10

15

30

35

40

128 Conversion of dwelling for non-residential use

- (1) This section applies where a building or part of a building
 - (a) has been suitable for use as a dwelling, and
 - (b) is altered for the purpose of making it suitable for use otherwise than as a dwelling.
- (2) The question whether or not the alterations make the building or part unsuitable for use as a dwelling is one of fact (but see subsection (3)).
- (3) The building or part will not be regarded as having become unsuitable for use as a dwelling as a result of the alterations at any time unless by that time any planning permission or development consent required for the alterations has been granted (and the alterations have been made in accordance with any such permission or consent).
- (4) In this section "planning permission" has the meaning given by the relevant planning enactment.
- (5) "The relevant planning enactment" means —

 (a) in relation to land in England and Wales, section 336(1) of the Town and
 - (a) In relation to land in England and Wales, section 336(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990;
 - (b) in relation to land in Scotland, section 277(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997;
 - (c) in relation to land in Northern Ireland, Article 2(2) of the Planning (Northern Ireland) Order 1991 (S.I. 1991/1220 (N.I. 11)).
- (6) In this section "development consent" means development consent under the Planning Act 2008.

129 Damage to a dwelling

- (1) This section applies where a dwelling is damaged so as to be temporarily unsuitable for use as a dwelling.
- (2) The unsuitability for use as a dwelling is taken into account in applying the definition of "dwelling" for the purposes of this Part (see section 110) only if the first and second conditions are met.
- (3) The first condition is that the damage is
 - (a) accidental, or
 - (b) otherwise caused by events beyond the control of the person entitled to the single-dwelling interest.
- (4) The second condition is that, as a result of the damage, the building concerned is unsuitable for use as a dwelling for at least 90 consecutive days.
- (5) Where the first and second conditions are met—
 - (a) the entire period of unsuitability for use as a dwelling (including the first 90 days) is taken into account in applying the definition of "dwelling", and
 - (b) work done in that period to restore the building to suitability for use as a dwelling does not count, for the purposes of section 110 or 111, as construction or adaptation of the building for use as a dwelling.
- (6) The first condition is regarded as not being met if the damage occurs in the course of work that—

| | (a) | is done for the purpose of altering the dwelling (or a building of which it forms part), and | |
|-----|--------------------|---|----|
| | (b) | itself involves, or could be expected to involve, making the building unsuitable for use as a dwelling for 30 days or more. | |
| (7) | In this | section – | 5 |
| (,) | (a) | references to alteration include partial demolition; | J |
| | (b) | references to a building include a part of a building. | |
| (8) | and da | section references to damage include damage done before 1 April 2013; ays before 1 April 2013 may be taken into account for the purposes of etion (4). | 10 |
| | | Reliefs | |
| 130 | Effect o | of reliefs under sections 131 to 150 | |
| (1) | | ction (2) applies where tax is charged, in respect of a single-dwelling | |
| ` , | interes relieva | st, for a chargeable period that includes one or more days that are able as a result of any of the provisions listed in subsection (3) (or for than one such period). | 15 |
| (2) | For an | y such period, the adjusted chargeable amount is to be calculated on the | |
| (=) | basis t | that the chargeable person is not within the charge with respect to the st on any relievable day. | |
| (3) | The pi | rovisions are – | 20 |
| () | - | ection 131 (property rental businesses); | |
| | | ection 132 (rental property: preparation for sale etc); | |
| | | ection 135 (dwellings opened to the public); | |
| | | ection 136 (property developers); | |
| | | ection 137 (property developers: exchange of dwellings); | 25 |
| | | ection 139 (property traders); | |
| | S | ection 141 (financial institutions); | |
| | S | ection 143 (occupation by certain employees or partners); | |
| | | ection 146 (farmhouses); | |
| | | ection 148 (charitable companies); | 30 |
| | S | ection 150 (providers of social housing). | |
| (4) | See als | so section 103 (adjustment of amount chargeable and claim for relief). | |
| 131 | Propert | y rental businesses | |
| (1) | | in a chargeable period is relievable in relation to a single-dwelling st if on that day the interest— | 35 |
| | (a) | is being exploited as a source of rents or other receipts (other than excluded rents) in the course of a qualifying property rental business carried on by a person entitled to the interest, or | |
| | (b) | steps are being taken to secure that the interest will, without undue delay, be so exploited in the course of a qualifying property rental business that is being carried on, or is to be carried on, by a person entitled to the interest. | 40 |
| | | | |

Part 3 - Annual tax on enveloped dwellings A day is not relievable by virtue of subsection (1) or section 132 in the case of a single-dwelling interest if on that day a non-qualifying individual is permitted to occupy the dwelling. (3) In this Part "qualifying property rental business" means a property rental business that is run on a commercial basis and with a view to profit. 5 A business is a "property rental business" for the purposes of subsection (4) if it is a property business as defined in Chapter 2 of Part 4 of CTA 2009, but – the question whether or not a business is a property rental business for the purposes of subsection (4) is determined without reference to whether or not any profits of the business are chargeable to corporation 10 tax (and section 204(2) of CTA 2009 is therefore disregarded), and for the purposes of this subsection the "rents or other receipts" referred to in section 207(1) of CTA 2009 are taken not to include excluded rents In subsection (1)(b) "without undue delay" means without delay except so far as delay is justified by commercial considerations or cannot be avoided. 15 In this Part "excluded rents" means rents within any of classes 2 to 6 in the table in section 605(2) of CTA 2010. Rental property: preparation for sale, demolition etc 132 A day ("day X") on which a person ("P") is entitled to a single-dwelling interest is relievable in relation to that interest if — 20 on day X the dwelling is unoccupied and any of the first to fourth conditions is met (see below), day X is preceded by one or more days ("qualifying days") that are relievable under section 131 in relation to the interest and on which P, 25 or a relevant partner, was entitled to the interest, and the days (if any) between day X and the last of the qualifying days to precede day X are all relievable under this section. First condition The first condition is that steps are being taken to secure that the interest will be sold without undue delay. 30 Second condition The second condition is that steps are being taken to secure that the dwelling will be demolished without undue delay, and if it is intended that a new dwelling will be constructed on the site of 35 the existing dwelling, the intention is that it will be used in a relievable way.

Third condition

The third condition is that —

- (a) steps are being taken to secure that the dwelling will be converted into a different dwelling without undue delay, and
- (b) it is intended that the new dwelling will be used in a relievable way.

Fourth condition

The fourth condition is that steps are being taken to secure that the dwelling will be converted into a building other than a dwelling without undue delay.

- (2) A dwelling is "used in a relievable way" for the purposes of subsection (1) if the single-dwelling interest in question is exploited in such a way, or held in such a way and for such purposes, (or, as the case requires, the dwelling itself is exploited or used in such a way) that a day of such exploitation, ownership or use would be relievable under any of sections 131, 135, 143 and 146.
- 5

10

15

25

30

40

45

- (3) In this section—
 - "relevant partner", where P is (on day X) entitled to the interest as a member of a partnership, means a person who was at the time in question carrying on the qualifying rental property business concerned as a member of that partnership;
 - "without undue delay" means without delay, except so far as delay is justified by commercial considerations, or cannot be avoided.

133 Non-qualifying occupation: look-forward and look-back

- (1) Subsection (2) applies if on a day in a chargeable period ("the day of non-qualifying occupation")
 - (a) a single-dwelling interest to which a person ("the landlord") is entitled is being exploited as mentioned in section 131(1)(a), or steps are being taken to secure that the interest will be so exploited, as mentioned in section 131(1)(b), and
 - (b) a non-qualifying individual is permitted to occupy the dwelling.
- (2) No subsequent day in that chargeable period, or in any of the subsequent 3 chargeable periods, that meets the continuity of ownership condition and would (in the absence of this subsection) be relievable by virtue of section 131(1)(b) is treated as relievable by virtue of that provision unless a day of qualifying use falls between that day and the day of non-qualifying occupation.
- (3) A day meets the continuity of ownership condition if on that day—
 - (a) the landlord is entitled to the single-dwelling interest, or
 - (b) if the landlord carried on or (as the case requires) intended to carry on the property rental business in partnership, another member of the partnership is entitled to the interest.
- (4) Subsection (5) applies if a person who is a non-qualifying individual in relation to a single-dwelling interest occupies the dwelling on a day in a chargeable period ("the day of non-qualifying occupation").
- (5) An earlier day in that or the preceding chargeable period ("the earlier day") is not relievable by virtue of section 131(1)(b) or 132 if a relevant person is entitled to the single-dwelling interest on that day.
- (6) In subsection (5) "relevant person" means
 - (a) a person who is entitled to the single-dwelling interest on the day of non-qualifying occupation, or
 - (b) if a person falling within paragraph (a) is or has been a member of a partnership whose members have at any time exploited the single-dwelling interest as a source of rents and receipts in a property rental business, any other member of that partnership.

| | | . 0 | |
|-----|--|--|----|
| (7) | Subsection (5) does not apply in relation to the earlier day if a day that is relievable by virtue of section 131(1)(a) falls between that earlier day and the day of non-qualifying occupation. | | |
| (8) | For th | e purposes of this section— | |
| () | (a) | "day of qualifying use", in relation to a single-dwelling interest, means a day that is relievable in the case of the interest by virtue of section 131(1)(a); | 5 |
| | (b) | occupation of any part of a dwelling is regarded as occupation of the dwelling. | |
| 134 | Meanii | ng of "non-qualifying individual" and "qualifying individual" | 10 |
| (1) | | tions 131 and 133 "non-qualifying individual", in relation to a single- ing interest, means any of the following— | |
| | (a) | an individual who is entitled to the interest (otherwise than as a member of a partnership), | |
| | (b) | an individual ("a connected person") who is connected with a person entitled to the interest, | 15 |
| | (c) | if a person is entitled to the interest as a member of a partnership, an individual who is, or is connected with, a qualifying member of that partnership, | |
| | (d) | an individual ("a relevant settlor") who is the settlor in relation to a settlement of which a trustee is (in the capacity of trustee) connected with a person who is entitled to the interest, | 20 |
| | (e) | the spouse or civil partner of a connected person or of a relevant settlor, | |
| | (f) | a relative of a connected person or of a relevant settlor, or the spouse or civil partner of a relative of a connected person or of a relevant settlor, | 25 |
| | (g) | a relative of the spouse or civil partner of a connected person or of a relevant settlor, | |
| | (h) (i) | the spouse or civil partner of a person falling within paragraph (g), or an individual who is a major participant in a relevant collective investment scheme or is connected with a major participant in a relevant collective investment scheme. | 30 |
| (2) | In section 133 "qualifying individual", in relation to a single-dwelling interest, means an individual other than a non-qualifying individual. | | |
| (3) | | section (1)(c) "qualifying member", in relation to a partnership, means an er of the partnership who is entitled to a 50% or greater share— in the income profits of the partnership, or in the partnership's assets. | 35 |
| (4) | single | osection (1)(i) "relevant collective investment scheme", in relation to a dwelling interest, means a collective investment scheme that meets the reship condition with respect to the interest. | 40 |
| (5) | A per | son who participates in a collective investment scheme is a "major | |

is entitled to a share of at least 50% either of all the profits or income arising from the scheme or of any profits or income arising from the scheme that may be distributed to participants, or

participant" in the scheme if the person –

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

135

| | Summer of the su | |
|----|--|------|
| | b) would in the event of the winding up of the scheme be entitled to 50% or more of the assets of the scheme that would then be available for distribution among the participants. | (|
| | e reference in subsection (5)(a) to profits or income arising from the scheme to profits or income arising from the acquisition, holding, management or posal of the property subject to the scheme. | is t |
| | the purpose of subsection (1), section 1122 of CTA 2010 (as applied by tion 170) has effect as if subsections (7) and (8) of that section (application of es about connected persons to partnerships) were omitted. | sec |
| 1 | this section — "relative" means brother, sister, ancestor or lineal descendant; "settlement" and "settlor" have the same meaning as in Chapter 5 of Part 5 of ITTOIA 2005 (see section 620 of that Act). | In |
| 1. | subsection (1)(d) "trustee" is to be read in accordance with section 1123(3) of A 2010 ("connected persons": supplementary). | |
| | ellings opened to the public | Dwe |
| | day in a chargeable period is relievable in relation to a single-dwelling erest if the first or second condition is met on that day. | |
| 2 | e first condition is that the dwelling is being exploited as a source of income the course of a qualifying trade in the normal course of which the public are ered the opportunity to make use of, stay in or otherwise enjoy the dwelling customers of the trade on least 28 days in any year. | in t |
| 2 | e second condition is that steps are being taken to secure— (a) that the dwelling will (in that or a future chargeable period) be exploited as a source of income in the course of a qualifying trade such as is mentioned in subsection (2), and (b) that it will be so exploited without delay, except so far as delay is justified by commercial considerations or cannot otherwise be avoided. | (|
| 3 | this section "qualifying trade" means a trade carried on on a commercial sis and with a view to profit. | |
| | the purposes of this section persons are not taken to have an opportunity make use of, stay in or otherwise enjoy a dwelling unless the areas that they permitted to make use of, stay in or otherwise enjoy include a significant of the interior of the dwelling. | to 1 |
| 3. | e size (relative to the size of the whole dwelling), nature, and function of the ea or areas concerned are to be taken into account in determining whether by form a significant part of the interior of the dwelling. | are |
| | | |

136 Property developers

- (1) A day in a chargeable period is relievable in relation to a single-dwelling interest if on that day
 - (a) a person carrying on a property development trade ("the property developer") is entitled to the interest, and

40

(b) the interest is held exclusively for the purpose of developing and reselling the land in the course of the trade.

(2) If the property developer holds an interest for the purpose mentioned in subsection (1)(b), any additional purpose the property developer may have of exploiting the interest as a source of rents or other receipts in the course of a qualifying property rental business (after developing the land and before reselling it) is treated as not being a separate purpose in applying the test in 5 subsection (1)(b). A day is not relievable by virtue of subsection (1) if on the day a non-qualifying individual is permitted to occupy the dwelling. (4) In this Part "property development trade" means a trade that – consists of or includes buying and developing for resale residential or 10 non-residential property, and is run on a commercial basis and with a view to profit. (5) In this section references to development include redevelopment. 137 Property developers: exchange of dwellings A day in a chargeable period is relievable in relation to a single-dwelling 15 (1)interest if a person ("the property developer") is on that day entitled to a singledwelling interest ("the returned interest") that was acquired (by the relevant person) in the course of a property development trade, and that acquisition ("the reverse acquisition") was part of a qualifying 20 exchange. A day is not relievable by virtue of this section if on that day a non-qualifying individual is permitted to occupy the dwelling. In this section "the relevant person" means – if the property developer is entitled to the returned interest as a 25 member of a partnership, the persons who acquired the interest as members of the partnership, or otherwise, the property developer (and any person who acquired the returned interest jointly with the property developer). The reverse acquisition is "part of a qualifying exchange" only if — 30 (a) it was made by way of transfer, the person from whom the acquisition was made itself acquired (by way of grant or transfer) a chargeable interest in or over a new dwelling from the relevant person, and each of those acquisitions was entered into in consideration of the 35 other. (5) A building or part of a building is a "new dwelling" if – it has been constructed for use as a single dwelling and has not previously been occupied, or it has been adapted for use as a single dwelling and has not been 40 occupied since its adaptation.

138 Property developers: supplementary

(1) Subsection (2) applies if on a day in a chargeable period –

| | (a) (b) | a person carrying on a property development trade ("the property developer") is entitled to a single-dwelling interest that has been acquired in the course of that trade (whether or not the acquisition was part of a qualifying exchange for the purposes of section 137), and a non-qualifying individual is permitted to occupy the dwelling. | 5 |
|-----|----------------------|---|----------|
| (2) | | bsequent day is relievable in the case of the single-dwelling interest by of section 136(1) or 137(1) if— the day falls within that chargeable period, or any of the subsequent 3 chargeable periods, and | |
| | (b) | there is continuity of ownership on that day. | 10 |
| (3) | There (a) (b) | is "continuity of ownership" on any day on which— the property developer is entitled to the single-dwelling interest, or if the property developer carried on the property development trade in partnership, another member of the partnership is entitled to the interest. | 15 |
| (4) | Subsection (a) (b) | on a day in a chargeable period ("the day of non-qualifying occupation") a person who is a non-qualifying individual in relation to a single-dwelling interest is occupying the dwelling in question, and on an earlier day in that, or the preceding, chargeable period ("the earlier day") the conditions in section 136(1)(a) and (b) are met in relation to the same single-dwelling interest. | 20 |
| (5) | | arlier day is not relievable by virtue of section 136(1) in the case of the dwelling interest if — a person who is entitled to the interest on the earlier day is also entitled to it on the day of non-qualifying occupation, or if the trade mentioned in section 136(1) is carried on in partnership, a person who has at any time carried that business on in partnership is entitled to the interest on the day of non-qualifying ownership. | 25 |
| (6) | Subsec (a) (b) | on a day in a chargeable period ("the day of non-qualifying occupation") a person who is a non-qualifying individual in relation to a single-dwelling interest is occupying the dwelling in question, and on an earlier day in that, or the preceding, chargeable period ("the earlier day") the conditions in section 137(1)(a) and (b) are met in relation to the same single-dwelling interest. | 30 35 |
| (7) | | arlier day is not relievable by virtue of section 137(1) in the case of the dwelling interest if — a person who is entitled to the interest on the earlier day is also entitled to it on the day of non-qualifying occupation, or where the trade mentioned in section 137(1) is carried on in partnership, a person who has at any time carried that business on in partnership is entitled to the interest on the day of non-qualifying ownership. | 40 |
| (8) | day m | y that is relievable by virtue of section 131(1)(a) falls between the earlier entioned in subsection (5) or (as the case may be) (7) and the day of non-ying occupation, that subsection does not apply in relation to that earlier | 45 |

Finance (No. 2) Bill 83

- (9) For the purposes of sections 136 and 137 and this section— "non-qualifying individual" has the meaning given by section 134(1);
 - occupation of any part of a dwelling is regarded as occupation of the dwelling.

139 **Property traders**

5

10

- A day in a chargeable period is relievable in relation to a single-dwelling interest if on that day –
 - a person carrying on a property trading business is entitled to the interest, and
 - the interest is held as stock of the business and for the sole purpose of resale in the course of the business.
- A single-dwelling interest in a dwelling is taken not to be held for the sole purpose of resale in the course of a property trading business at any time when a non-qualifying individual is permitted to occupy the dwelling.
- In this Part "property trading business" means a business that—

15

- consists of or includes activities in the nature of a trade of buying and selling dwellings, and
- is carried on on a commercial basis and with a view to profit.

140 Property traders: supplementary

- Subsection (2) applies if on a day in a chargeable period ("the day of non-20 qualifying occupation") –
 - a person carrying on a property trading business ("the property trader") is entitled to a single-dwelling interest that is held as mentioned in section 139(1)(b), and
 - a non-qualifying individual is permitted to occupy the dwelling.

25

30

35

- No subsequent day is relievable in the case of the single-dwelling interest by virtue of section 139(1) if
 - the day falls within that chargeable period, or any of the subsequent 3 chargeable periods, and
 - the property trader or a relevant partner was entitled to the interest on that day.
- (3) If on the day of non-qualifying occupation mentioned in subsection (1) the property trader carries on the property trading business in partnership, "relevant partner" means any other person who is, at any time, a member of that partnership.
- Subsection (5) applies if
 - on a day in a chargeable period ("the day of non-qualifying occupation") a person who is a non-qualifying individual in relation to a single-dwelling interest is occupying the dwelling in question, and
 - on an earlier day in that, or the preceding, chargeable period ("the earlier day") the conditions in section 139(1)(a) and (b) are met in relation to the same single-dwelling interest.
- The earlier day is not relievable by virtue of section 139(1) in the case of the single-dwelling interest if –

| | | Part 3 – Annual tax on enveloped dwellings |
|-----|--|---|
| | (a) a person who is entitled to the interest to it on the day of non-qualifying oc(b) if the business mentioned in section a person who has at any time carried entitled to the interest on the day of | ccupation, or 139(1) is carried on in partnership, d that business on in partnership is |
| (6) |) Subsection (5) does not apply in relation relievable by virtue of section 131(1)(a) fal day of non-qualifying occupation. | |
| (7) | For the purposes of this section and section (a) "non-qualifying individual" has the (b) occupation of any part of a dwelling dwelling. | meaning given by section 134(1); 10 |
| 141 | Financial institutions acquiring dwellings | in the course of lending |
| (1) | A day in a chargeable period is relievable interest if matters stand as follows on that can a financial institution carrying on a of money is entitled to the interest, | lay – 15 |
| | (b) the financial institution has acquire business and in connection with the(c) the interest is held with the intention that business without delay (exce commercial considerations or cannot | ose lending activities, and on that it will be sold in the course of pt so far as delay is justified by |
| (2) | A single-dwelling interest in a dwelling intention mentioned in subsection (1)(c) a individual is permitted to occupy the dwell | t any time when a non-qualifying |
| (3) | In this Part (except where otherwise stated) "financial institution" has the meaning given by section 564B of ITA 2007; but for this purpose section 564B(1) is to be read as if paragraph (d) of that subsection were omitted. | |
| 142 | Section 141: supplementary | |
| (1) | Subsection (2) applies if on a day in a charge (a) a financial institution that carries on money is entitled to a single-dwellin it as mentioned in section 141(1)(b), (b) a non-qualifying individual is perm | a business involving the lending of g interest that has been acquired by and |
| (2) | No subsequent day is relievable in the case virtue of section 141(1) if — (a) the day falls within that chargeable chargeable periods, and (b) there is continuity of ownership on | period, or any of the subsequent 3 |
| (3) | There is continuity of ownership on a day of (a) the financial institution is entitled to (b) if the financial institution carried subsection (1)(a) in partnership, and entitled to the interest. | the single-dwelling interest, or I on the business mentioned in |

45

| Part 3 | – Annual | tax on enveloped dwellings | |
|--------|----------------------|---|----|
| (4) | Subsection (a) | ction (5) applies if — on a day in a chargeable period ("the day of non-qualifying | |
| | (b) | occupation") a person who is a non-qualifying individual in relation to a single-dwelling interest is occupying the dwelling in question, and on an earlier day in that, or the preceding, chargeable period ("the earlier day") the conditions in section 141(1)(a) to (c) are met in relation | 5 |
| | | to the same single-dwelling interest. | |
| (5) | single | arlier day is not relievable by virtue of section 141(1) in the case of the -dwelling interest if — | 10 |
| | (a) (b) | a person who is entitled to the interest on the earlier day is also entitled to it on the day of non-qualifying occupation, or if the business mentioned in section 141(1) is carried on in partnership, a person who has at any time carried that business on in partnership is entitled to the interest on the day of non-qualifying ownership. | 10 |
| (6) | relieva | ction (5) does not apply in relation to the earlier day if a day that is able by virtue of section 131(1)(a) falls between the earlier day and the non-qualifying occupation. | 15 |
| (7) | For th (a) (b) | e purposes of this section and section 141 — "non-qualifying individual" has the meaning given by section 134(1); occupation of any part of a dwelling is regarded as occupation of the dwelling. | 20 |
| 143 | Occupa | ation by certain employees or partners | |
| (1) | A day day – | in a chargeable period is a relievable if matters stand as follows on that | |
| | (a) | a person ("P") is entitled to a single-dwelling interest, P, or a relevant group member, carries on a qualifying trade, | 25 |
| | (b) (c) | the interest is held for the purpose of making the dwelling available to one or more qualifying employees or qualifying partners for use as living accommodation, and | |
| | (d) | the dwelling is, or is to be, made available as mentioned in paragraph (c) for purposes that are solely or mainly purposes of the trade. | 30 |
| (2) | | ifying trade" means a trade that is carried on on a commercial basis and view to profit. | |
| (3) | emplo | s section references to making a dwelling available to a qualifying eyee or qualifying partner include making it available to persons who are re the accommodation with such an individual as their family. | 35 |
| (4) | a men | e P is a company, "a relevant group member" means a company which is aber of the same group as P for the purposes mentioned in paragraph 1(2) edule 7 to FA 2003 (stamp duty land tax: group relief). | |

144 Meaning of "qualifying employee" and "qualifying partner" in section 143

- (1) In a case where the person carrying on the trade mentioned in section 143(1)(b) carries it on in partnership with one or more other persons, "qualifying partner" means any individual who is a member of the partnership, except one who is entitled to a 10% or greater share—
 - (a) in the income profits of the partnership, or

(1)

participators.

(b) in any company that is entitled to the single-dwelling interest mentioned in section 143(1)(a), or in the partnership's assets. "Qualifying employee" means any individual employed for the purposes of the qualifying trade, except one who – 5 (a) is entitled to a 10% or greater share in the income profits of the trade, or in any company that is entitled to the single-dwelling interest mentioned in section 143(1)(a), or (iii) in that single-dwelling interest, or 10 (b) provides excluded domestic services. (3) The reference in subsection (2)(b) to an individual who provides excluded domestic services is to an individual the duties of whose employment include the provision of services in connection with the (actual or intended) occupation, by a non-qualifying individual, of the dwelling mentioned in 15 section 143(1)(b) ("the relevant dwelling"), or a linked dwelling. In subsection (3) "non-qualifying individual" means an individual connected with a person who is entitled to the single-dwelling interest. The following are "linked" dwellings for the purposes of subsection (3) – if the conditions in section 114(2) are met in relation to the relevant 20 dwelling and another dwelling, that other dwelling; a dwelling that is linked to the relevant dwelling, as described in section 115(1). In this section references to employment include the holding of an office. For the purposes of subsections (1)(c) and (2)(a)(iii) persons who are entitled to 25 a chargeable interest as beneficial joint tenants (or, in Scotland, as joint owners) are taken to be entitled to the chargeable interest as beneficial tenants in common (or, in Scotland, as owners in common) in equal shares. Meaning of "10% or greater share in a company" This section applies for the purposes of section 144. 30 An individual ("P") is taken to be entitled to a 10% or greater share in a company ("C") if P possesses (directly or indirectly) or is entitled to acquire – 10% or more of the share capital of C, 10% or more of the issued share capital of C, (b) 10% or more of the voting power in C, 35 so much of the issued share capital of C as would, on the assumption that the whole of the income of C were distributed among the participators, entitle P to receive 10% or more of the amount so distributed, or such rights as would entitle P, in the event of the winding up of C or in 40 any other circumstances, to receive 10% or more of the assets of C which would then be available for distribution among the

Any rights that P or any other person has as a loan creditor are to be

45

disregarded for the purposes of the assumption in subsection (2)(d).

| (4) | For the purposes of subsection (2) a person is treated as entitled to acquire anything which the person— (a) is entitled to acquire at a future date, or (b) will at a future date be entitled to acquire. | |
|-----|--|----|
| (5) | If a person— (a) possesses any rights or powers on behalf of another person ("A"), or (b) may be required to exercise any rights or powers on A's direction or behalf, | 5 |
| | those rights or powers are to be attributed to A. | |
| (6) | The following are also to be attributed to a person— (a) the rights and powers of any company of which the person has, or the person and associates of the person have, control; | 10 |
| | (b) the rights and powers of any two or more companies within paragraph(a); | |
| | (c) the rights and powers of any associate of the person (or of any two or more associates of the person). | 15 |
| (7) | The rights and powers which are to be attributed under subsection (6) — (a) include those attributed to a company or associate under subsection (5), but | |
| | (b) do not include those attributed to an associate under subsection (6). | 20 |
| (8) | A person who does not meet the conditions in subsection (2) is nevertheless treated as having a 10% or greater share in a company if the person exercises, is able to exercise or is entitled to acquire, direct or indirect control over the company's affairs. | |
| (9) | In this section— | 25 |
| | "associate" has the same meaning as in Part 10 of CTA 2010 (see section 448 of that Act); but for this purpose section 448 is to be read as if the words "or partner" were omitted in subsection (1)(a); | |
| | "control" has the same meaning as in that Part (see section 450 of that Act); "loan creditor" has the same meaning as in that Part (see section 453 of that Act); | 30 |
| | "participator" has the same meaning as in that Part (see section 454 of that Act). | |
| 146 | Farmhouses | |
| (1) | This section applies where on a day in a chargeable period – | 35 |
| () | (a) a dwelling ("the farmhouse") forms part of land occupied for the purposes of a qualifying trade of farming, and | |
| | (b) a person carrying on the trade is entitled to, or connected with a person who is entitled to, a single-dwelling interest in the farmhouse. | |
| (2) | That day is relievable in relation to the single-dwelling interest if on that day the farmhouse is occupied— (a) by a farm worker who occupies it for the purposes of the trade, or | 40 |
| | (b) by a former long-serving farm worker, or the surviving spouse or civil partner of a former farm worker. | |
| (3) | A trade of farming is a "qualifying trade of farming" only if it is carried on — | 45 |

148

(b)

Part 3 – Annual tax on enveloped dwellings (a) on a commercial basis, and (b) with a view to profit. (4) In this section— "farming" has the same meaning as in the Corporation Tax Acts (see section 1125 of CTA 2010), except that in this section "farming" includes 5 market gardening; "market gardening" has the same meaning as in the Corporation Tax Acts (see section 1125(5) of CTA 2010). "Farm worker" and "former long-serving farm worker" An individual is a "farm worker" in relation to the qualifying trade of farming 10 mentioned in section 146(1) at any time when the individual has a substantial involvement in – the day-to-day work of the trade, or the direction and control of the conduct of the trade. Where section 146 applies, an individual occupying the farmhouse on the day 15 mentioned in section 146(1) is a "former long-serving farm worker" if the individual had, before that day, been a farm worker in relation to the qualifying trade of farming for -(a) a qualifying period of 3 or more years, or qualifying periods together amounting to 3 or more years within a 5 20 year period. (3) In subsection (2) "qualifying period" means a period throughout which the individual occupied the farmhouse for the purposes of the trade, the land of which the farmhouse forms part was occupied for the (b) purposes of the trade, 25 the trade was carried on by – (c) a person who is entitled to the single-dwelling interest in the farmhouse on the day mentioned in section 146(1), or a person connected with such a person, and a person who is entitled to the single-dwelling interest in the farmhouse 30 on the day mentioned in section 146(1) was entitled to that interest. A person occupying part of a dwelling is regarded as occupying the dwelling for the purposes of this section and section 146. Charitable companies A day in a chargeable period is relievable in relation to a single-dwelling 35 interest if on that day a charitable company is entitled to the interest, and

the interest is held by the charitable company for qualifying charitable

for use in furtherance of the charitable purposes of the charitable

as an investment from which the profits are (or are to be) applied to the

40

The interest is "held for qualifying charitable purposes" if it is held—

charitable purposes of the charitable company.

company or of another charity, or

A day is not relievable by virtue of subsection (1) if on that day an individual who is a substantial donor, or the associate of a substantial donor, is permitted to occupy the dwelling. Where subsection (3) applies in relation to a day in a chargeable period, this section has effect in relation to the charitable company as if the individual had 5 been permitted to occupy the dwelling throughout that chargeable period, the preceding chargeable period, and (b) the 3 chargeable periods following the period mentioned in paragraph (c) 10 For the purposes of this section an individual is a substantial donor to a charitable company for a chargeable period if the charitable company receives gifts of at least £50,000 from the individual in the chargeable period, or the charitable company receives gifts of at least £150,000 from the 15 individual in a period of 6 years in which the chargeable period wholly or partly falls. If an individual is a substantial donor to a charitable company for a chargeable period ("the affected period") as a result of subsection (5)(a) or (b), the individual is also a substantial donor to the charitable company for — 20 the chargeable period preceding the affected period, and each of the 5 chargeable periods following the affected period. For the purposes of subsection (3) it does not matter whether the conditions as a result of which the individual is a substantial donor for the chargeable period 25 are met before or on or after the day in question. For the purposes of subsection (5) a charitable company and any other charities with which it is connected are to be treated as a single charitable company. For the purposes of subsection (8) – "connected" means connected in a matter relating to the structure, administration or control of the charity, and 30 section 170 does not apply. 149 Section 148: supplementary In section 148 "associate", in relation to a substantial donor to a charitable company, means any of the following – an individual ("a connected person") who is connected with the 35 substantial donor, an individual who is the settlor in relation to a settlement of which a (b) trustee is (in the capacity of trustee) connected with the substantial the spouse or civil partner of a connected person or of a relevant settlor, 40 (c) a relative of a connected person or of a relevant settlor, or the spouse or civil partner of a relative of a connected person or of a relevant settlor, a relative of the spouse or civil partner of a connected person or of a relevant settlor, or

the spouse or civil partner of a person falling within paragraph (e).

45

(2) In subsection (1) –

(4)

(6)

150

(1)

(2)

(3)

| | Turt 5 – Timum inx on enveloped aweilings | |
|-----------------------------|---|----|
| "se | lative" means brother, sister, ancestor or lineal descendant; ttlement" and "settlor" have the same meaning as in Chapter 5 of Part of ITTOIA 2005 (see section 620 of that Act). | |
| | ection (1)(b) "trustee" is to be read in accordance with section 1123(3) of 10 ("connected persons": supplementary). | 5 |
| | on 148 a reference to a gift of a specified amount includes a reference to conetary gift of that value. | |
| | ourposes of section 148 occupation of any part of a dwelling is regarded bation of the dwelling. | |
| regulation includes and und | wer of the Treasury under section 510(3) of CTA 2010 to vary by ons a sum, or a period of time, specified in section 502(2) of that Act is power to vary a sum, or a period of time, specified in section 148(4); therefore section 510(3), as extended by this section, different provision may be for the purposes of section 148 and other purposes. | 10 |
| Providers | s of social housing | 15 |
| | in a chargeable period is relievable in relation to a single-dwelling if on that day — | |
| | a profit-making registered provider of social housing (P) is entitled to the interest, and | |
| | P's acquisition of the interest (or of any part of the interest) was funded with the assistance of public subsidy. | 20 |
| | in a chargeable period is relievable in relation to a single-dwelling if on that day — | |
| S | a relevant housing provider (that is, a non-profit registered provider of social housing or a registered social landlord) is entitled to the interest, and | 25 |
| (b) t | the condition in subsection (3) is met. | |
| | dition mentioned in subsection (2) is that— | |
| (b) t | the relevant housing provider is controlled by its tenants, the person from whom the relevant housing provider acquired the nterest (or any part of the interest) is a qualifying body, or | 30 |
| (c) t | the relevant housing provider's acquisition of the interest (or of any part of the interest) was funded with the assistance of a public subsidy. | |
| In this se | ection— | |

(4) In

the reference to a relevant housing provider "controlled by its tenants" is to be read in accordance with subsection (2) of section 71 of FA 2003;

35

40

"qualifying body" has the meaning given by subsection (3) of that section;

"public subsidy" has the same meaning as in that section.

Exemptions

Public bodies 151

(1) A public body is not regarded as a company for the purposes of this Part.

Finance (No. 2) Bill Part 3 — Annual tax on enveloped dwellings

| (2) | In this section — | |
|-----|---|-------------------|
| ` ' | (a) "public body" means any body corporate that is a public body purposes of section 66 of FA 2003, and | for the |
| | (b) references to a public body accordingly include a company sumentioned in subsection (5) of that section (companies wholly by the listed bodies). | |
| (3) | The power of the Treasury to prescribe persons by an order under section of FA 2003 may be exercised so as to make different provision for purelating to annual tax on enveloped dwellings and stamp duty land tax | ırposes |
| (4) | In paragraph (b) of subsection (2) "company" means a company as defined section 1 of the Companies Act 2006 (and subsection (1) is to be igninterpreting that paragraph). | |
| 152 | Bodies established for national purposes | |
| (1) | A body listed in subsection (2) is not regarded as a company for the proof this Part. | ırposes |
| (2) | The bodies are — the Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England; the Trustees of the British Museum; the Trustees of the National Heritage Memorial Fund; the Trustees of the Natural History Museum. | |
| 153 | Dwelling conditionally exempt from inheritance tax | |
| (1) | Subsection (2) applies to a single-dwelling interest if — (a) the whole or part of the dwelling has been designated under sec of IHTA 1984 (buildings of outstanding historic or architectural etc), (b) an undertaking has been made with respect to the dwelling section 30 of that Act (conditionally exempt transfers), and | interest under |
| | (c) a transfer of value is exempt from inheritance tax by virtue designation and that undertaking. | or that |
| (2) | The taxable value of the single-dwelling interest on any day is taken to if no chargeable event has occurred with respect to the dwelling in the between the transfer of value and the beginning of that day. | |
| (3) | Subsection (4) applies to a single-dwelling interest if — | alian 01 |
| | (a) the whole or part of the dwelling has been designated under second IHTA 1984, | ction 31 |
| | (b) an undertaking has been made with respect to the dwelling section 78 of that Act (settled property: conditionally occasions), and | exempt |
| | (c) a transfer of property or other event is a conditionally exempt o by virtue of that designation and that undertaking. | ccasion |

- (4) The taxable value of the single-dwelling interest on any day is taken to be zero if no chargeable event has occurred with respect to the dwelling in the time between the conditionally exempt occasion and the beginning of that day.
- (5) In this section –

"chargeable event" means an event which is a chargeable event under section 32 of IHTA 1984;

"conditionally exempt occasion" is to be read in accordance with section 78(2) of that Act;

"transfer of value" has the same meaning as in that Act.

Power to modify reliefs

154 Modification of reliefs

- (1) The Treasury may by regulations
 - (a) amend this Part for the purpose of providing further relief, or further exemptions, from tax (whether by modifying an existing relief or exemption or otherwise);
 - (b) amend or repeal any of sections 130 to 153 for purposes not falling within subsection (1);
 - (c) make any amendment of any other provision of this Part that may be necessary in consequence of provision under paragraph (b).
- (2) In subsection (1)
 - (a) the reference to providing further relief from tax includes the provision of relief for additional persons or categories of person or in additional cases or circumstances;
 - (b) the reference to providing further exemptions from tax includes the provision of exemptions for additional persons or categories of person or in additional cases or circumstances.

Alternative property finance

155 Land sold to financial institution and leased to person

- (1) This section applies where
 - (a) section 71A of FA 2003 (land sold to financial institution and leased to person) or section 72 of that Act (land in Scotland sold to financial institution and leased to person) applies in relation to arrangements entered into between a financial institution and another person ("the lessee"), and
 - (b) the land in which the institution purchases a major interest under the first transaction consists of or includes one or more dwellings (or parts of a dwelling).
- (2) If the lessee is a company, this Part has effect in relation to times when the arrangements are in operation as if
 - (a) the interest held by the financial institution as mentioned in subsection (3)(b) were held by the lessee (and not by the financial institution), and
 - (b) the lease or sub-lease granted under the second transaction had not been granted.
- (3) The reference in subsection (2) to times when the arrangements are in operation is to times when
 - (a) the lessee holds the leasehold interest granted to it under the second transaction, and

5

15

10

20

25

30

35

10

15

20

25

- (b) the interest purchased under the first transaction (or that interest except so far as transferred by a further transaction) is held by a financial institution.
- (4) A company treated under subsection (2)(a) as holding an interest at a particular time is treated as holding it as a member of a partnership if at the time in question the company holds the leasehold interest as a member of the partnership (and this Part has effect accordingly in relation to the other members of the partnership).
- (5) In relation to times when the arrangements operate for the benefit of a collective investment scheme, this Part has effect as if
 - (a) the interest held by the financial institution as mentioned in subsection (6)(b) were held by the lessee for the purposes of a collective investment scheme (and were not held by the financial institution), and
 - (b) the lease or sub-lease granted under the second transaction had not been granted.
- (6) The reference in subsection (5) to times when the arrangements operate for the benefit of a collective investment scheme is to times when
 - (a) the lessee holds the leasehold interest for the purposes of a collective investment scheme, and
 - (b) the interest purchased under the first transaction (or that interest except so far as transferred by a further transaction) is held by a financial institution.
- (7) In this section—
 - "financial institution" has the meaning given by section 73BA of FA 2003;
 - "the first transaction" has the same meaning as in section 71A or (as the case requires) 72 of FA 2003;
 - "further transaction" has the same meaning as in section 71A of FA 2003;
 - "the leasehold interest" means the interest granted to the lessee under the second transaction;
 - "the second transaction" has the same meaning as in section 71A or (as the case requires) 72 of FA 2003.
- (8) The reference in subsection (1) to a major interest in land is to be read in accordance with section 117 of FA 2003.
- (9) Where the lessee is an individual, references in subsections (5) and (6) to the lessee are to be read, in relation to times after the death of the lessee, as references to the lessee's personal representatives.
- (10) In relation to transactions in relation to which section 29 of the Scotland Act 2012 (disapplication of UK stamp duty land tax) has effect, this section has effect as if—
 - (a) in subsection (1) of that section the words "or section 72 of that Act (land in Scotland sold to financial institution and leased to person)" were omitted, and
 - (b) in subsection (7) the words, "or (as the case requires) section 72" were omitted.

Administration and payment of tax

Responsibility for collection and management 156

The Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs are responsible for the collection and management of annual tax on enveloped dwellings.

157 Annual tax on enveloped dwellings return

5

- Where tax is charged on a person for a chargeable period with respect to a single-dwelling interest the person must deliver a return for the period with respect to the interest.
- A return under subsection (1) must be delivered by the end of the period of 30 days beginning with first day in the period on which the person is within the charge with respect to the interest.

10

If the first day in the chargeable period on which the person is within the charge with respect to the interest ("day 1") is a valuation date only because of section 122 (new dwellings) or 123 (dwellings produced from other dwellings) –

15

- subsection (2) does not apply, and
- the return must be delivered by the end of the period of 90 days beginning with day 1.
- A return under this section must be delivered to an officer of Revenue and Customs, and is called an "annual tax on enveloped dwellings return".

20

158 Return of adjusted chargeable amount

- A person on whom tax is charged for a chargeable period with respect to a single-dwelling interest must deliver a further return for the period with respect to the interest if the first or second condition is met.
- The return must be delivered by the end of the period of 30 days beginning with the first day of the period following the period for which the tax is charged (but see subsection (3)).

If the return is required because the second condition is met and the adjusted chargeable amount is affected by an event that has occurred after the end of the chargeable period mentioned in subsection (1), the return must be delivered by the end of the period of 30 days beginning with the day on which that event occurred.

30

25

- The first condition is that
 - the person has not made a claim under section 97 (interim relief) with respect to the interest for the chargeable period, and

35

- the adjusted chargeable amount is greater than the amount charged under section 96 with respect to the single-dwelling interest for the period.
- The second condition is that
 - the person has made one or more claims under section 97 with respect to the interest for the chargeable period, and

40

| | , 0 | |
|-----|---|--|
| | (b) the sum of amounts A and B, as calculated under that section, in connection with the last of those claims is less than the adjusted chargeable amount. | |
| (6) | A return under this section must be delivered to an officer of Revenue and Customs, and is called a "return of the adjusted chargeable amount". | |
| 159 | Return to include self assessment | |
| (1) | A return must include a self assessment. | |
| (2) | In subsection (1) "return" means— (a) an annual charge on enveloped dwellings return, or (b) a return of the adjusted chargeable amount. | |
| (3) | means an assessment of — (a) the amount of tax to which the person is chargeable under section 96 for the period in respect of the interest, and | |
| | (b) if the return includes a claim under section 97 (interim relief), the tax payable after the relief. | |
| (4) | In in the case of a return of the adjusted chargeable amount, "self assessment" means an assessment of — (a) the adjusted chargeable amount, and (b) the additional tax payable in accordance with section 161(2). | |
| (5) | A self assessment must include a statement of the amount taken to be the market value of the interest on each valuation date (earlier than the date on which the return is delivered) that is relevant for the purposes of the assessment. | |
| 160 | Returns, enquiries, assessments and other administrative matters | |
| (1) | Schedule 31 contains provision about returns, enquiries and related matters. | |
| (2) | The Treasury may by regulations — (a) make any amendments of Schedule 31 that they may at any time think appropriate; | |
| | (b) make any amendment of any other provision of this Part that may be necessary in consequence of provision under paragraph (a). | |
| 161 | Payment of tax | |
| (1) | Tax charged on a person under section 96 for a chargeable period with respect to a single-dwelling interest must be paid not later than the filing date for the annual tax on enveloped dwellings return required to be made for the period with respect to the interest. | |
| (2) | So far as a chargeable person's adjusted chargeable amount for a chargeable period with respect to a single-dwelling interest exceeds the amount payable under subsection (1) (as modified, where applicable, by section 103(3)), the | |

Tax payable as a result of the amendment of a return must be paid —

return of the adjusted chargeable amount under section 158.

amount of the difference must be paid not later than the filing date for the

| | (a) (b) | immediately, or if the amendment is made on or before the filing date for the return, not later than that date. | |
|-----|-----------------------|--|------------|
| (4) | In sub (a) (b) | section (3) "return" means— an annual tax on enveloped dwellings return, or a return of the adjusted chargeable amount. | 5 |
| (5) | Reven | hyable in accordance with a determination or assessment by an officer of ue and Customs must be paid within the period of 30 days beginning the day on which the determination or assessment is issued. | |
| 162 | Inform | ation and enforcement | 10 |
| | In Sch (a) (b) | edule 32— Part 1 contains provision about information and inspection powers, and Part 2 contains provision about penalties. | |
| 163 | Collect | ion and recovery of tax etc | 15 |
| (1) | has eff | ule 12 to FA 2003 (stamp duty land tax: collection and recovery of tax) fect in relation to the collection and recovery of tax under this Part as it fect in relation to stamp duty land tax. | |
| (2) | | eference in subsection (1) to tax under this Part includes any unpaid y or interest under this Part. | 20 |
| | | Application of provisions | |
| 164 | Compa | nies | |
| (1) | In this (a) (b) | Part "company" means a body corporate but does not include—a corporation sole, or any partnership (see section 165(1)). | 25 |
| (2) | | thing to be done by a company under this Part must be done by the any acting through— the proper officer of the company, or another person who has the express, implied or apparent authority of the company to act on its behalf for the purpose. | 30 |
| (3) | | e of a document on a company under this Part may be effected by serving cument on the proper officer. | |
| (4) | territo | the from any company that is incorporated under the law of a country or ry outside the United Kingdom may be recovered from the proper of the company (as well as by any means available in the absence of this etion). | 3 5 |
| (5) | The pi (a) | roper officer — may retain, out of any money that may come into the officer's hands on the company's behalf, enough money to pay that tax, and | |

(b) is entitled to be fully reimbursed by the company (whether by that method or another) for amounts recovered from the officer under subsection (4). (6) For the purposes of this section the proper officer of a company is – the secretary, or a person acting as secretary, of the company, or 5 if the company does not have a proper officer within paragraph (a), the (b) treasurer, or a person acting as treasurer, of the company. (7) If a liquidator has been appointed for the company – subsections (2)(b) and (6) do not apply, and the liquidator is the proper officer of the company. 10 If an administrator has been appointed for the company – subsection (6) does not apply, and the administrator is the proper officer of the company. If two or more persons are appointed to act jointly or concurrently as the administrator of the company, the proper officer of the company is— 15 whichever of those persons is specified in a notice given by the administrators to an officer of Revenue and Customs for the purposes of this section, or if no notice is given under paragraph (a), whichever of those persons is designated by an officer of Revenue and Customs as the proper officer 20 for those purposes. (10)See also section 151 (public bodies) and 152 (bodies established for national purposes). 165 **Partnerships** In this Part "partnership" means — 25 (1)a partnership within the Partnerships Act 1890, a limited partnership registered under the Limited Partnerships Act 1907, a limited liability partnership formed under the Limited Liability Partnerships Act 2000 or the Limited Liability Partnerships Act 30 (Northern Ireland) 2002, or a firm or entity of a similar character to any of those mentioned in paragraphs (a) to (c) formed under the law of a country or territory outside the United Kingdom. This Part has effect as follows in relation to a partnership (for instance, a 35 limited liability partnership formed as mentioned in subsection (1)(c)) that is itself capable of being entitled to, or of acquiring or disposing of, a chargeable interest – transactions entered into on behalf of the partnership are treated as entered into by or on behalf of the partners; 40 where the partnership is entitled to a single-dwelling interest, this Part has effect as if the partners were jointly entitled to the interest (and the partnership had no entitlement to it). For the purposes of this Part a partnership is treated as the same partnership despite a change in membership if any person who was a member before the 45

change remains a member after the change.

| (4) | (a) a collective investment scheme is not regarded as a partnership, and (b) accordingly, a member of a partnership by or on whose behalf a single-dwelling interest is held for the purposes of a collective investment scheme is not regarded as entitled to the interest as a member of the partnership. | 5 |
|-----|--|----|
| (5) | Anything required or authorised by this Part to be done by or in relation to the responsible partners for a partnership may instead be done by or in relation to any representative partner or partners. | |
| (6) | A representative partner means a partner nominated by a majority of the partners to act as the representative of the partnership for the purposes of this Part of this Act. | 10 |
| (7) | Any such nomination, or the revocation of such a nomination, has effect only after notice of the nomination, or revocation, has been given to an officer of Revenue and Customs. | 15 |
| | Supplementary provisions | |
| 166 | Miscellaneous amendments and transitory provision | |
| | Schedule 33 contains – | |
| | (a) miscellaneous amendments, and(b) provision about the chargeable period beginning on 1 April 2013. | 20 |
| 167 | Orders and regulations | |
| (1) | Orders and regulations under this Part are to be made by statutory instrument. | |
| (2) | A statutory instrument containing an order or regulations made under this Part is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the House of Commons. | 25 |
| (3) | Subsection (2) does not apply to an instrument containing only— (a) an order under section 98(5), or (b) regulations under section 154. | |
| (4) | Subsection (2) does not apply to an instrument to which subsection (5) applies. | |
| (5) | A statutory instrument containing (whether alone or with other provision) provision made under section 154(1)(b) or (c) or 160(2) may not be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before and approved by a resolution of the House of Commons. | 30 |
| (6) | An order or regulations under this Part — (a) may make different provision for different purposes, (b) may include consequential or transitional provisions or savings. | 35 |
| | | |

10

25

30

35

Interpretation

168 Meaning of "chargeable day" and "within the charge"

- (1) Any day on which the conditions in section 91(2) are met with respect to a single-dwelling interest is a "chargeable day" for that interest.
- (2) Where a day is a chargeable day as a result of subsection (1), the chargeable person is "within the charge" with respect to a single-dwelling interest on that day.

169 References to the state of affairs "on" a day

In determining for the purposes of any provision of this Part whether or not a state of affairs obtains on a particular day, it is to be assumed that the state of affairs obtaining at the end of the day persisted throughout the day.

170 Connected persons

- (1) Section 1122 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 (connected persons) has effect for the purposes of this Part (except where otherwise stated).
- (2) For the purposes of this Part a person is taken to be connected with a collective 15 investment scheme if the person is a participant in the scheme who—
 - (a) is entitled to a share of at least 50% either of all the profits or income arising from the scheme or of any profits or income arising from the scheme that may be distributed to participants,
 - (b) would in the event of the winding up of the scheme be entitled to 50% or more of the assets of the scheme that would then be available for distribution among the participants.
- (3) The reference in subsection (2) to a collective investment scheme does not include a unit trust scheme; but see section 1123(2) of CTA 2010 (provision about the application of rules about connected persons to unit trust schemes).
- (4) The reference in subsection (2)(a) to profits or income arising from the scheme is to profits or income arising from the acquisition, holding, management or disposal of the property subject to the scheme.
- (5) For the purposes of subsection (2) a person is taken to have any rights and powers that the person—
 - (a) is entitled to acquire at a future date, or
 - (b) will at a future date be entitled to acquire.
- (6) For the purposes of subsection (2) the rights and powers of any associate of a person (or of any two or more associates of a person) are to be attributed to the person.
- (7) In this section "associate" has the same meaning as in Part 10 of CTA 2010 (see section 448 of that Act); but for this purpose section 448 is to be read as if the words "or partner" were omitted in subsection (1)(a).

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

171 Connected persons: cell companies

- (1) For the purposes of this Part a person is to be treated as connected to a cell company where, if any cell of the company were a separate company, the person would be connected to that separate company.
- (2) For the purposes this section a company is a "cell company" if it meets the first or second condition.

(3) The first condition is that under the law under which the company is incorporated or formed, under the company's articles of association or other document regulating the company or under arrangements entered into by or in relation to the company —

- (a) some or all of the assets of the company are available primarily, or only, to meet particular liabilities of the company, and
- (b) some or all of the members of the company, and some or all of its creditors, have rights primarily, or only, in relation to particular assets of the company.
- (4) The second condition is that the company's articles of association, or other document regulating it, establish an entity (by whatever name known) which—
 - (a) under the law under which the company is incorporated or formed, has legal personality distinct from that of the company, and
 - (b) which is not itself a company.
- (5) For the purposes of this section a "cell", in relation to a cell company, is
 - (a) an identifiable part of the company (by whatever name known) that carries on distinct business activities and to which particular assets and liabilities of the company are primarily or wholly attributable, or
 - (b) an entity of the kind specified in subsection (4).

172 General interpretation of Part 3

- (1) In this Part—
 - "chargeable day" (in relation to a single-dwelling interest) is to be read in accordance with section 168;
 - "chargeable interest" has the meaning given by section 104;
 - "the chargeable person" has the meaning given by section 93(2) or (3);
 - "closure notice" has the meaning given by paragraph 16 of Schedule 31;
 - "collective investment scheme" has the same meaning as in Part 17 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (see section 235 of that Act);
 - "company" has the meaning given by section 164(1);
 - "completion", in Scotland, means
 - (a) in relation to a lease, when it is executed by the parties (that is to say, by signing) or constituted by any means,
 - (b) in relation to any other transaction, the settlement of the transaction;
 - "discovery assessment" has the meaning given by paragraph 21 of Schedule 31;
 - "EEA UCITS" has the same meaning as in Part 17 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (see section 237 of that Act);
 - "excluded rents" has the meaning given by section 131(6);

| | "farming" has the meaning given by section 146(4); | |
|-----|---|----|
| | "filing date", in relation to an annual tax on enveloped dwellings return or a return of the adjusted chargeable amount, has the meaning given by paragraph 58 of Schedule 31; | |
| | "financial institution" has the meaning given by section 141 (except where otherwise stated); | 5 |
| | "HMRC" means Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs; | |
| | "HMRC determination" has the meaning given by paragraph 18 of Schedule 31; | |
| | "jointly entitled" means — | 10 |
| | (a) in England and Wales, beneficially entitled as joint tenants or tenants in common, | |
| | (b) in Scotland, entitled as joint owners or owners in common, | |
| | (c) in Northern Ireland, beneficially entitled as joint tenants, tenants in common or coparceners; | 15 |
| | "land" includes – | |
| | (a) buildings and structures, and | |
| | (b) land covered by water; | |
| | "market value" has the meaning given by section 95(8); | |
| | "notice of enquiry" has the meaning given by paragraph 8 of Schedule 31; | 20 |
| | "open-ended investment company" has the same meaning as in Part 17 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (see section 236(1) of that Act); | |
| | "participant", in relation to a collective investment scheme, has the meaning given by section 95(7); | 25 |
| | "partnership" has the meaning given by section 165; | |
| | "property development trade" has the meaning given by section 136(4) | |
| | "property rental business" has the meaning given by section 131(5); | |
| | "property trading business" has the meaning given by section 139(3); | |
| | "qualifying property rental business" has the meaning given by section 131(4); | 30 |
| | "self assessment" has the meaning given by section 159(2); | |
| | "tax" means tax under this Part; | |
| | "trade" has the same meaning as in section 35 of CTA 2009 (and cognate expressions are to be read accordingly); | 35 |
| | "unit trust scheme" has the same meaning as in Part 17 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (see section 237(1) of that Act). | |
| (2) | In this Part — | |
| ` / | references to the "adjusted chargeable amount", in relation to a person on whom tax is charged for a chargeable period with respect to a single-dwelling interest, are to be read in accordance with section 102; | 40 |
| | references to an "annual tax on enveloped dwellings return" are to be read in accordance with section 157(4); | |
| | references to the "daily amount" for a day are to be read in accordance with section 102(2); | 45 |
| | references to "delivery", in relation to an annual tax on enveloped dwellings return, are to be read in accordance with paragraph 2 of | |
| | Schedule 31; | |
| | references to the "effective date" of an acquisition are to be read in accordance with section 119(4); | 50 |

elsewhere).

| | re | eferences to the "effective date" of a disposal are to be read in accordance with section 119(5); | |
|-----|-------------|---|----|
| | re | eferences to a "major interest" in land are to be read in accordance with section 117 of FA 2003; | |
| | re | eferences to a "return of the adjusted chargeable amount" are to be read in accordance with section 158(6); | 5 |
| | re | eferences to meeting the "ownership condition" are to be read in accordance with section 91(4) to (6); | |
| | re | eferences to being "within the charge" with respect to a single-dwelling interest are to be read in accordance with section 168. | 10 |
| | | PART 4 | |
| | | EXCISE DUTIES AND OTHER TAXES | |
| | | Inheritance tax | |
| 173 | Open- | ended investment companies and authorised unit trusts | |
| (1) | | tion 65 of IHTA 1984 (settlements without interests in possession etc: e when property ceases to be relevant property etc), after subsection (7) | 15 |
| | "(7A) | Tax shall not be charged under this section by reason only that property comprised in a settlement becomes excluded property by virtue of section 48(3A)(a) (holding in an authorised unit trust or a share in an open-ended investment company is excluded property unless settlor domiciled in UK when settlement made)." | 20 |
| (2) | | mendment made by this section is treated as having come into force on ober 2002. | |
| 174 | Treatm | ent of liabilities for inheritance tax purposes | 25 |
| | | ule 34 makes provision in relation to the treatment of liabilities for the ses of inheritance tax. | |
| 175 | Election | n to be treated as domiciled in United Kingdom | |
| (1) | IHTA | 1984 is amended as follows. | |
| (2) | In sections | tion 267 (persons treated as domiciled in United Kingdom), at the end | 30 |
| | "(5) | In determining for the purposes of this section whether a person is, or at any time was, domiciled in the United Kingdom, sections 267ZA and 267ZB are to be ignored." | |
| (3) | After | that section insert — | 35 |
| | "267Z | A Election to be treated as domiciled in United Kingdom | |
| | (1) | A person may, if condition A or B is met, elect to be treated for the purposes of this Act as domiciled in the United Kingdom (and not | |

| (2) | A person's personal representatives may, if condition B is met, elect for the person to be treated for the purposes of this Act as domiciled in the United Kingdom (and not elsewhere). | | |
|----------------|--|---|----|
| (3) | Condi | tion A is that— | |
| . , | (a) | the person's spouse or civil partner is domiciled in the United Kingdom at the time the election is made, and | 5 |
| | (b) | the person is not domiciled in the United Kingdom at that time. | |
| (4) | Condi | tion B is that — | |
| | (a) | the person's spouse or civil partner died on or after 6 April 2013 and was domiciled in the United Kingdom at the time of death, and | 10 |
| | (b) | the person was not domiciled in the United Kingdom at that time. | |
| (5) | | ection under this section does not affect a person's domicile for exposes of section 6(2) or (3) or 48(4). | 15 |
| (6) | An ele | ection under this section is to be ignored— | |
| | (a) | in interpreting any such provision as is mentioned in section 158(6), and | |
| | (b) | in determining the effect of any qualifying double taxation relief arrangements in relation to a transfer of value by the person making the election. | 20 |
| (7) | arrang Counc section | e purposes of subsection (6)(b) a qualifying double taxation relief gement is an arrangement which is specified in an Order in till made under section 158 before the coming into force of this in (other than by way of amendment by an Order made on or after ming into force of this section). | 25 |
| (8) | makin | termining for the purposes of this section whether a person ag an election under this section is or was domiciled in the United om, section 267 is to be ignored. | |
| 267 Z B | Section | n 267ZA: further provision about election | 30 |
| (1) | For the | e purposes of this section — | |
| | (a) | references to a lifetime election are to an election made by virtue of section 267ZA(3), and | |
| | (b) | references to a death election are to an election made by virtue of section 267ZA(4). | 35 |
| (2) | A lifet | ime or death election is to be made by notice in writing to HMRC. | |
| (3) | | ime or death election is treated as having taken effect on a date led, in accordance with subsection (5), in the notice. | |
| (4) | Where no date is specified in accordance with subsection (5) — (a) a lifetime election takes effect on the date it is made, and (b) a death election is treated as having taken effect immediately before any transfer treated as made by section 4 immediately before the death of the spouse or civil partner. | | 40 |
| (5) | The da | ate specified in a notice under subsection (3) must— be 6 April 2013 or a later date, | 45 |

| | (b) | be within the period of 7 years ending with— in the case of a lifetime election, the date on which the election is made, or in the case of a death election, the date of the spouse or civil partner's death, and | 5 |
|------|--------------------|---|----|
| (6) | (c) | meet the condition in subsection (6). | |
| (6) | | ondition in this subsection is met by a date ("the date concerned") oughout the relevant period— the person making the election was married to, or in a civil partnership with, the spouse or civil partner, and the spouse or civil partner was domiciled in the United | 10 |
| | () | Kingdom. | |
| (7) | (a) | section (6) the "relevant period" means— in the case of a lifetime election, the period beginning with the date concerned and ending with the date on which the election is made, and | 15 |
| | (b) | in the case of a death election, the period beginning with the date concerned and ending immediately before the death of the spouse or civil partner. | |
| (8) | spouse | th election may only be made within 2 years of the death of the e or civil partner or such longer period as an officer of Revenue ustoms may in the particular case allow. | 20 |
| (9) | Subsection (a) (b) | a lifetime or death election is made, a disposition is made, or another event occurs, during the period beginning with the time when the election is treated by virtue of subsection (3) or (4)(b) as having taken effect and ending at the time when the election is made, and | 25 |
| | (c) | the effect of the election being treated as having taken effect at that time is that the disposition or event gives rise to a transfer of value. | 30 |
| (10) | | Act applies with the following modifications in relation to the er of value — subsections (1) and (6)(c) of section 216 have effect as if the | |
| | (b) | period specified in subsection (6)(c) of that section were the period of 12 months from the end of the month in which the election is made, and sections 226 and 233 have effect as if the transfer were made at the time when the election is made. | 35 |
| (11) | A lifet | ime or death election cannot be revoked. | 40 |
| (12) | United | erson who made a lifetime or death election is not resident in the d Kingdom for the purposes of income tax for a period of four sive tax years beginning at any time after the election is made, the on ceases to have effect at the end of that period." | |

| 176 | Transfer to s | pouse or civil | partner not | domiciled in | United Ki | ngdom |
|------------|---------------|----------------|-------------|--------------|------------------|-------|
| | | | | | | |

- (1) Section 18 of IHTA 1984 (transfers between spouses or civil partners) is amended as follows.
- (2) In subsection (2) (transfer to spouse or civil partner not domiciled in United Kingdom), for "£55,000" substitute "the exemption limit at the time of the transfer,".

(3) After subsection (2) insert –

- "(2A) For the purposes of subsection (2), the exemption limit is the amount shown in the second column of the first row of the Table in Schedule 1 (upper limit of portion of value charged at rate of nil per cent)."
- (4) The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to transfers of value made on or after 6 April 2013.

Fuel

177 Fuel duties: rates of duty and rebates from 1 April 2013

(1) HODA 1979 is amended as follows.

15

20

5

10

- (2) In section 6(1A) (main rates)
 - (a) in paragraph (a) (unleaded petrol), for "£0.6097" substitute "£0.5795",
 - (b) in paragraph (aa) (aviation gasoline), for "£0.3966" substitute "£0.3770",
 - (c) in paragraph (b) (light oil other than unleaded petrol or aviation gasoline), for "£0.7069" substitute "£0.6767", and
 - (d) in paragraph (c) (heavy oil), for "£0.6097" substitute "£0.5795".
- (3) In section 8(3) (road fuel gas)
 - (a) in paragraph (a) (natural road fuel gas), for "£0.2907" substitute "£0.2470", and
 - (b) in paragraph (b) (other road fuel gas), for "£0.3734" substitute 25 "£0.3161".
- (4) In section 11(1) (rebate on heavy oil)
 - (a) in paragraph (a) (fuel oil), for "£0.1126" substitute "£0.1070", and
 - (b) in paragraph (b) (gas oil), for "£0.1172" substitute "£0.1114".
- (5) In section 14(1) (rebate on light oil for use as furnace fuel), for "£0.1126" 30 substitute "£0.1070".
- (6) In section 14A(2) (rebate on certain biodiesel), for "£0.1172" substitute "£0.1114".
- (7) The following instruments are revoked—
 - (a) Excise Duties (Surcharges or Rebates) (Hydrocarbon Oils etc) Order 2012 (S.I. 2012/3055), and
 - (b) Excise Duties (Road Fuel Gas) (Reliefs) Regulations 2012 (S.I. 2012/3056).
- (8) The amendments and revocations made by this section are treated as having come into force on 1 April 2013.

40

Alcohol

178 Rates of alcoholic liquor duties

- (1) ALDA 1979 is amended as follows.
- (2) In section 5 (rate of duty on spirits), for "£26.81" substitute "£28.22".
- (3) In section 36(1AA) (rates of general beer duty) –

5

- (a) in paragraph (za) (rate of duty on lower strength beer), for "£9.76" substitute "£9.17", and
- (b) in paragraph (a) (standard rate of duty on beer), for "£19.51" substitute "£19.12".
- (4) In section 37(4) (rate of high strength beer duty), for "£4.88" substitute "£5.09".

10

15

- (5) In section 62(1A) (rates of duty on cider)
 - (a) in paragraph (a) (rate of duty per hectolitre on sparkling cider of a strength exceeding 5.5 per cent), for "£245.32" substitute "£258.23",
 - (b) in paragraph (b) (rate of duty per hectolitre on cider of a strength exceeding 7.5 per cent which is not sparkling cider), for "£56.55" substitute "£59.52", and
 - (c) in paragraph (c) (rate of duty per hectolitre in any other case), for "£37.68" substitute "£39.66".
- (6) For the table in Schedule 1 substitute –

"TABLE OF RATES OF DUTY ON WINE AND MADE-WINE

20

Part 1

WINE OR MADE-WINE OF A STRENGTH NOT EXCEEDING 22 PER CENT

| Description of wine or made-wine | Rates of duty per hectolitre £ | |
|---|-----------------------------------|----|
| Wine or made-wine of a strength not exceeding 4 per cent | 82.18 | 25 |
| Wine or made-wine of a strength exceeding 4 per cent but not exceeding 5.5 per cent | 113.01 | |
| Wine or made-wine of a strength exceeding 5.5 per cent but not exceeding 15 per cent and not being sparkling | 266.72 | 30 |
| Sparkling wine or sparkling made-wine of a strength exceeding 5.5 per cent but less than 8.5 per cent | 258.23 | |
| Sparkling wine or sparkling made-wine of a strength of 8.5 per cent or of a strength exceeding 8.5 per cent but not exceeding 15 per cent | 341.63 | 35 |
| Wine or made-wine of a strength exceeding 15 per cent but not exceeding 22 per cent | 355.59 | |

20

25

30

PART 2 WINE OR MADE-WINE OF A STRENGTH EXCEEDING 22 PER CENT

| Description of wine or made-wine | Rates of duty per litre of alcohol in wine or made- wine £ | 5 |
|---|---|---|
| Wine or made-wine of a strength exceeding 22 per cent | 28.22". | |

(7) The amendments made by this section are treated as having come into force on 25 March 2013.

Tobacco 10

179 Rates of tobacco products duty

(1) For the table in Schedule 1 to TPDA 1979 substitute — "TABLE

| 1. Cigarettes | An amount equal to 16.5 per cent of the retail price plus £176.22 per thousand cigarettes |
|--|---|
| 2. Cigars | £219.82 per kilogram |
| 3. Hand-rolling tobacco | £172.74 per kilogram |
| 4. Other smoking tobacco and chewing tobacco | £96.64 per kilogram". |

(2) The amendment made by this section is treated as having come into force at 6 pm on 20 March 2013.

180 Meaning of "tobacco products"

- (1) Section 1 of TPDA 1979 (tobacco products) is amended as follows.
- (2) In subsection (1), omit ", but does not include herbal smoking products".

(3) After that subsection insert –

- "(1A) But a product is not a tobacco product for the purposes of this Act if—
 - (a) the product does not contain any tobacco, and
 - (b) the Commissioners are satisfied that
 - (i) the product is of a description that is used for medical purposes, and
 - (ii) the product is intended to be used exclusively for such purposes."
- (4) In subsection (3), omit "but not including herbal smoking products".

- (5) Omit subsection (6).
- (6) The amendments made by this section come into force on 1 January 2014.

Gambling

181 Rates of gaming duty

(1) In section 11(2) of FA 1997 (rates of gaming duty), for the table substitute –

5

"TABLE

| Part of gross gaming yield | Rate |
|----------------------------|---------------|
| The first £2,242,500 | 15 per cent |
| The next £1,546,000 | 20 per cent |
| The next £2,707,500 | 30 per cent |
| The next £5,714,500 | 40 per cent |
| The remainder | 50 per cent". |

10

(2) The amendment made by this section has effect in relation to accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2013.

182 Combined bingo

15

- (1) Section 20A of BGDA 1981 (combined bingo) is amended as follows.
- (2) In subsection (3) for the words from the beginning to "second promoter")—" substitute "Where money representing such payments (so far as they constituted stakes hazarded in the combined bingo) is paid in an accounting period by one promoter of the bingo ("the first promoter") to another ("the second promoter"), to the extent that the money is used (directly or indirectly) to provide bingo winnings for combined bingo promoted by the second promoter—".

20

25

- (3) Omit subsection (4).
- (4) The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to accounting periods beginning on or after the day on which this Act is passed.

Air passenger duty

183 Air passenger duty: rates of duty from 1 April 2013

- (1) Section 30 of FA 1994 (air passenger duty: rates of duty) is amended as follows.
- (2) In subsection (3) –

- (a) in paragraph (a) for "£65" substitute "£67", and
- (b) in paragraph (b) for "£130" substitute "£134".
- (3) In subsection (4) –

| | (a) (b) | in paragraph (a) for "£81" substitute "£83", and in paragraph (b) for "£162" substitute "£166". | |
|-----|----------------------|---|----|
| (4) | In sub (a) (b) | section (4A) — in paragraph (a) for "£92" substitute "£94", and in paragraph (b) for "£184" substitute "£188". | 5 |
| (5) | | mendments made by this section have effect in relation to the carriage of ngers beginning on or after 1 April 2013. | |
| 184 | Air pas | senger duty: miscellaneous provision | |
| (1) | In sect (2) ins | tion 38 of FA 1994 (accounting for and payment of duty) after subsection ert — | 10 |
| | "(2A) | Regulations may require a prescribed person to make, at prescribed times during a prescribed period, payments based on an estimate of what the person's liability will be for duty charged in the period. | |
| | (2B) | The estimate and the amounts of the payments are to be determined in accordance with provision made by the regulations. | 15 |
| | (2C) | The payments are to be treated as being payments on account of the person's liability for duty charged in the period. | |
| | (2D) | The regulations must make provision for dealing with cases where this results in an overpayment of duty by providing for amounts— (a) to be repaid by the Commissioners, or (b) to be treated as having been paid on account of the person's liability for duty charged in other periods, or both." | 20 |
| (2) | | t 2 of Schedule 5A to FA 1994 (territories etc) at the appropriate place "South Sudan". | 25 |
| (3) | | mendment made by subsection (2) has effect in relation to the carriage of ngers beginning on or after 9 July 2011. | |
| | | Vehicle excise duty | |
| 185 | VED ra | tes for light passenger vehicles, light goods vehicles, motorcycles etc | |
| (1) | Sched | ule 1 to VERA 1994 (annual rates of duty) is amended as follows. | 30 |
| (2) | In par (a) | agraph 1 (general) — in sub-paragraph (2) (vehicle not covered elsewhere in Schedule otherwise than with engine cylinder capacity not exceeding 1,549cc), for "£220" substitute "£225", and | |
| | (b) | in sub-paragraph (2A) (vehicle not covered elsewhere in Schedule with engine cylinder capacity not exceeding 1,549cc), for "£135" substitute "£140". | 35 |
| (3) | In par | agraph 1B (graduated rates of duty for light passenger vehicles) – | |

for the tables substitute – (a)

"TABLE 1 RATES PAYABLE ON FIRST VEHICLE LICENCE FOR VEHICLE

| CO ₂ emiss | sions figure | Rate | | |
|-----------------------|---------------|--------------|---------------|---|
| (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) | |
| Exceeding | Not exceeding | Reduced rate | Standard rate | |
| g/km | g/km | £ | £ | |
| 130 | 140 | 115 | 125 | |
| 140 | 150 | 130 | 140 | |
| 150 | 165 | 165 | 175 | - |
| 165 | 175 | 275 | 285 | |
| 175 | 185 | 325 | 335 | |
| 185 | 200 | 465 | 475 | |
| 200 | 225 | 610 | 620 | |
| 225 | 255 | 830 | 840 | |
| 255 | _ | 1055 | 1065 | |

TABLE 2 RATES PAYABLE ON ANY OTHER VEHICLE LICENCE FOR VEHICLE

| CO ₂ emiss | sions figure | R | ate |
|-----------------------|---------------|--------------|---------------|
| (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) |
| Exceeding | Not exceeding | Reduced rate | Standard rate |
| g/km | g/km | £ | £ |
| 100 | 110 | 10 | 20 |
| 110 | 120 | 20 | 30 |
| 120 | 130 | 95 | 105 |
| 130 | 140 | 115 | 125 |
| 140 | 150 | 130 | 140 |
| 150 | 165 | 165 | 175 |

| CO ₂ emissions figure | | Rate | | |
|----------------------------------|---------------|--------------|---------------|--|
| (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) | |
| Exceeding | Not exceeding | Reduced rate | Standard rate | |
| g/km | g/km | £ | £ | |
| 165 | 175 | 190 | 200 | |
| 175 | 185 | 210 | 220 | |
| 185 | 200 | 250 | 260 | |
| 200 | 225 | 270 | 280 | |
| 225 | 255 | 465 | 475 | |
| 255 | _ | 480 | 490"; | |

10

20

25

- (b) in the sentence immediately following the tables, for paragraphs (a) and (b) substitute—
 - "(a) in column (3), in the last two rows, "270" were substituted for "465" and "480", and
 - (b) in column (4), in the last two rows, "280" were substituted for "475" and "490"."
- (4) In paragraph 1J (VED rates for light goods vehicles)
 - (a) in paragraph (a), for "£215" substitute "£220", and
 - (b) in paragraph (b), for "£135" substitute "£140".
- (5) In paragraph 2(1) (VED rates for motorcycles)
 - (a) in paragraph (a), for "£16" substitute "£17",
 - (b) in paragraph (b), for "£36" substitute "£37",
 - (c) in paragraph (c), for "£55" substitute "£57", and
 - (d) in paragraph (d), for "£76" substitute "£78".
- (6) The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to licences taken out on or after 1 April 2013.

186 Not exhibiting licence: period of grace

- (1) In section 33 of VERA 1994 (not exhibiting licence), omit subsections (1B) to (1D).
- (2) After that section insert —

30

"33A Not exhibiting licence: period of grace

(1) A person is not guilty of an offence under subsection (1) or (1A) of section 33 by using or keeping a vehicle on a public road during any of the following periods.

First registration

35

The period of 14 days beginning with the day on which the vehicle is first registered under this Act.

| Change | of | kee | ner |
|--------|--------|-----|------------|
| Chunge | $_{i}$ | nec | ρc_i |

The period of 14 days beginning with the day on which a new licence or nil licence is issued for the vehicle because of a change in the person by whom the vehicle is being kept.

Renewal etc.

5

The period of 14 days following the time when a licence or nil licence for or in respect of the vehicle, or a relevant declaration applying to the vehicle, ceases to be in force, but only if an application for a licence or nil licence for or in respect of the vehicle to run from that time has been received before that time.

10

Replacement

The period beginning with the time when a licence or nil licence that is in force for or in respect of the vehicle is delivered to the Secretary of State with an application for a replacement licence, and ending with the time when the replacement licence is obtained.

15

- (2) For the purposes of this section
 - (a) there is a relevant declaration applying to a vehicle if the particulars and declaration required to be furnished and made by regulations under section 22(1D) have been furnished and made in relation to the vehicle in accordance with the regulations, and

20

(b) the relevant declaration ceases to be in force if, after the particulars and declaration have been furnished and made the vehicle is used or kept on a public road (otherwise than under a trade licence)."

25

- (3) In consequence of the provision made by subsections (1) and (2) omit
 - (a) section 147 of FA 2008, and
 - (b) in regulation 6 of the Road Vehicles (Registration and Licensing) Regulations 2002 (S.I. 2002/2742), paragraph (1) and, in paragraph (2), the words "Except where paragraph (1) applies,".

30

187 Vehicles not kept or used on public road

- (1) VERA 1994 is amended as follows.
- (2) In section 7A (supplement payable on vehicle ceasing to be appropriately covered), in subsection (1A)(d) omit "within the immediately preceding period of 12 months".

35

(3) In Schedule 2A (immobilisation, removal and disposal of vehicles), in paragraph 1(10)(b) omit "within the immediately preceding period of 12 months".

188 Vehicle licences for disabled people

Schedule 35 makes provision about vehicle licences for disabled people.

10

15

20

25

35

Value added tax

| 189 R | epayments | of value | added | tax to | health | service | bodies |
|-------|-----------|----------|-------|--------|--------|---------|--------|
|-------|-----------|----------|-------|--------|--------|---------|--------|

- (1) In section 41 of VATA 1994 (application to the Crown), in subsection (7), after "Board" insert "and a clinical commissioning group, the Health and Social Care Information Centre, the National Health Service Commissioning Board and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence".
- (2) The amendment made by this section is treated as having come into force on 1 April 2013.

190 Valuation of certain supplies of fuel

Schedule 36 contains provision about the valuation of certain supplies of fuel for the purposes of value added tax.

191 Reduced rate for energy-saving materials

- (1) Group 2 (installation of energy-saving materials) of Part 2 of Schedule 7A to VATA 1994 (reduced rate supplies of goods and services) is amended as follows.
- (2) For items 1 and 2 substitute
 - "1. Supplies of services of installing energy-saving materials in residential accommodation.
 - 2. Supplies of energy-saving materials by a person who installs those materials in residential accommodation."
- (3) Omit Note 3 (meaning of "use for a relevant charitable purpose").
- (4) The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to supplies made on or after 1 August 2013.

Stamp duty land tax

192 Pre-completion transactions: existing cases

- (1) Section 45 of FA 2003 (contract and conveyance: effect of transfer of rights) has effect subject to the amendments in subsections (2) to (6) below in relation to transfers of rights (see subsection (1) of that section) entered into on or after 21 March 2012 but before the day on which this Act is passed.
- (2) In subsection (3), in the second sentence, after "except" insert "in a case excluded by subsection (3A) or".
- (3) After subsection (3) insert
 - "(3A) A case is excluded by this subsection from the second sentence of subsection (3) if
 - (a) the secondary contract is substantially performed at the same time as, and in connection with, the substantial performance or completion of the original contract but is not completed at that time ("the relevant time"),

| | | (b) the original purchaser or a person connected with the original purchaser is in possession of the whole, or substantially the whole, of the subject-matter of the transfer of rights at any time after the relevant time, and(c) having regard to all the circumstances, it would be reasonable to conclude that the obtaining of a tax advantage for the original purchaser was the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of the original purchaser in entering into the transfer of rights. | 5 |
|-----|----------------------|--|---------------------------------|
| | (3B) | In subsection (3A) — "possession" has the same meaning as in section 44(5)(a); "tax advantage" means — (a) a relief from tax or increased relief from tax, (b) a repayment of tax or increased repayment of tax, or (c) the avoidance or reduction of a charge to tax. | 10 |
| | (3C) | Nothing in subsection (3A) or (3B) affects the breadth of the application of sections 75A to 75C." | 15 |
| (4) | In sub (4A)". | section (4), at the end insert "except in a case excluded by subsection | |
| (5) | After s | subsection (4) insert— | |
| | "(4A) | Subsection (3A) applies for the purposes of subsection (4) as if— (a) the reference to subsection (3) were a reference to subsection (4), (b) a reference to the original contract were a reference to the secondary contract arising from the earlier transfer of rights, (c) a reference to the original purchaser were a reference to the transferee under the earlier transfer of rights, and (d) a reference to the transfer of rights were a reference to the subsequent transfer of rights." | 2025 |
| (6) | In sub (a) (b) | section (5)(b) — after "subsection (3) above" insert "or in subsection (3A) above", and after "subsection (4)" insert "or (4A)". | 30 |
| (7) | The fo | llowing provisions of this section apply where — section 45 of FA 2003 applies in relation to the contract for a land transaction ("the original contract"), as a result of subsections (1) to (6) above, the substantial performance or completion of the original contract (or, in a case within subsection (5) of that section, its substantial performance or completion so far as relating to part of the subject-matter of the original contract) is not disregarded, and the relevant time referred to in subsection (3A)(a) of that section fell before the day on which this Act is passed. | 35 |
| (8) | as req | n 76 of FA 2003 (duty to deliver land transaction return) is to be regarded juiring the purchaser under the original contract to deliver a land ction return relating to the land transaction not later than 30 September | |

Accordingly, 30 September 2013 is for the purposes of Part 4 of FA 2003 the

filing date for the land transaction return relating to the transaction.

| - | | |
|------|--|----|
| (10) | If the purchaser under the original contract ("P") has delivered a land transaction return relating to the land transaction before the day on which this Act is passed, P must not later than 30 September 2013 give notice under paragraph 6 of Schedule 10 to FA 2003 amending the return, but this does not prevent P from making subsequent amendments within the time allowed by sub-paragraph (3) of that paragraph. | , |
| 193 | Pre-completion transactions | |
| | Schedule 37 contains provisions about certain transactions relating to a contract that is to be completed by a conveyance. | |
| 194 | Relief from higher rate | 10 |
| | Schedule 38 contains provisions about relief from the higher rate of stamp duty land tax. | |
| 195 | Leases | |
| | Schedule 39 contains provision about stamp duty land tax in relation to leases. | |
| | Landfill tax | 15 |
| 196 | Standard rate of landfill tax | |
| (1) | Section 42 of FA 1996 (amount of landfill tax) is amended as follows. | |
| (2) | In subsection (1)(a) (standard rate), for "£72" substitute "£80". | |
| (3) | In subsection (2) (reduced rate) for "£72" substitute "£80". | |
| (4) | The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to disposals made (or treated as made) on or after 1 April 2014. | 20 |
| | Climate change levy | |
| 197 | Climate change levy: main rates | |
| (1) | In paragraph 42(1) of Schedule 6 to FA 2000 (climate change levy: amount payable by way of levy) for the table substitute — | 25 |
| | "TABLE | |

| ••] | lΑ | RI | LŁ |
|------|----|----|----|
| | LA | וט | பட |

| Taxable commodity supplied | Rate at which levy payable if supply is not a reduced-rate supply or a supply for use in scrap metal recycling | 30 |
|----------------------------|--|----|
| Electricity | £0.00541 per kilowatt hour | |

"TABLE

| | "IAI | DLE | | |
|-----------------------|--|--|----------|--|
| | Taxable commodity supplied | Rate at which levy payable if supply is not a reduced-rate supply or a supply for use in scrap metal recycling | 5 | |
| | Gas supplied by a gas utility or any gas supplied in a gaseous state that is of a kind supplied by a gas utility | £0.00188 per kilowatt hour | | |
| | Any petroleum gas, or other gaseous hydrocarbon, supplied in a liquid state | £0.01210 per kilogram | 10 | |
| | Any other taxable commodity | £0.01476 per kilogram". | | |
| (2) | The amendment made by subsectitreated as taking place on or after 1. | ion (1) has effect in relation to supplies April 2014. | 15 | |
| 198 | Climate change levy: supplies subje | ect to carbon price support rates etc | | |
| | Schedule 40 amends Schedule 6 to F | FA 2000 (climate change levy). | | |
| Insurance premium tax | | | | |
| | | | | |
| 199 | Contracts that are not taxable | | | |
| 199 (1) | | ontracts that are not taxable), paragraph 3 eles for use by handicapped persons) is | 20 | |
| | In Schedule 7A to FA 1994 (IPT: co (contracts relating to motor vehiclamended as follows. In sub-paragraph (2)(a) — (a) after "disability living allow payment," and | | 20 25 | |
| (1) | In Schedule 7A to FA 1994 (IPT: co (contracts relating to motor vehiclamended as follows. In sub-paragraph (2)(a) — (a) after "disability living allow payment," and (b) after "component" insert "payment". | eles for use by handicapped persons) is vance" insert ", or personal independence ", or of an armed forces independence ility living allowance" insert ", personal | | |
| (1) | In Schedule 7A to FA 1994 (IPT: co (contracts relating to motor vehicle amended as follows. In sub-paragraph (2)(a) — (a) after "disability living allow payment," and (b) after "component" insert "payment". In sub-paragraph (3), after "disability independence payment, armed force After sub-paragraph (4)(b) insert — "(ba) "personal independence payment, armed force independence payment". | eles for use by handicapped persons) is vance" insert ", or personal independence ", or of an armed forces independence ility living allowance" insert ", personal | | |
| (1) (2) (3) | In Schedule 7A to FA 1994 (IPT: co (contracts relating to motor vehicle amended as follows. In sub-paragraph (2)(a) — (a) after "disability living allow payment," and (b) after "component" insert "payment". In sub-paragraph (3), after "disability independence payment, armed force. After sub-paragraph (4)(b) insert — "(ba) "personal independence pay Act 2012 or the contract of Northern Ireland; (bb) "armed forces independence independence." | vance" insert ", or personal independence ", or of an armed forces independence ility living allowance" insert ", personal es independence payment". endence payment" means a personal ment under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform corresponding provision having effect in dependence payment" means an armed nce payment under a scheme established of the Armed Forces (Pensions and | 25 | |

Bank levy

200 Bank levy: rates from 1 January 2013

- (1) Schedule 19 to FA 2011 (bank levy) is amended as follows.
- (2) In paragraph 6 (steps for determining the amount of the bank levy), in subparagraph (2) —
- 5

- (a) for "0.044%" substitute "0.065%", and
- (b) for "0.088%" substitute "0.130%".
- (3) In paragraph 7 (special provision for chargeable periods falling wholly or partly before 1 January 2013), in sub-paragraph (2) (as substituted by paragraph 6 of Schedule 34 to FA 2012), in the table in the substituted Step 7 —
- 10
- (a) in the second column for "0.0525%" substitute "0.065%", and
- (b) in the third column for "0.105%" substitute "0.130%".
- (4) In Schedule 34 to FA 2012 (bank levy)
 - (a) omit paragraph 5 (which substituted new rates from 1 January 2013), and

15

- (b) in paragraph 7 for "paragraphs 5 and" substitute "paragraph".
- (5) The amendments made by subsections (2) to (4) are treated as having come into force on 1 January 2013 (and accordingly the paragraph repealed by subsection (4) is treated as never having come into force).
- (6) Subsections (7) to (13) apply where –

20

- (a) an amount of the bank levy is treated as if it were an amount of corporation tax chargeable on an entity ("E") for an accounting period of E,
- (b) the chargeable period in respect of which the amount of the bank levy is charged falls (or partly falls) on or after 1 January 2013, and

25

- (c) under the Instalment Payment Regulations, one or more instalment payments, in respect of the total liability of E for the accounting period, were treated as becoming due and payable before the commencement date ("pre-commencement instalment payments").
- (7) Subsections (1) to (5) are to be ignored for the purpose of determining the amount of any pre-commencement instalment payment.

30

(8) If there is at least one instalment payment, in respect of the total liability of E for the accounting period, which under the Instalment Payment Regulations is treated as becoming due and payable on or after the commencement date ("post-commencement instalment payments"), the amount of that instalment payment, or the first of them, is to be increased by the adjustment amount.

35

(9) If there are no post-commencement instalment payments, a further instalment payment, in respect of the total liability of E for the accounting period, of an amount equal to the adjustment amount is to be treated as becoming due and payable at the end of the period of 30 days beginning with the commencement date.

- (10) "The adjustment amount" is the difference between
 - (a) the aggregate amount of the pre-commencement instalments determined in accordance with subsection (7), and

10

15

20

30

35

- (b) the aggregate amount of those instalment payments determined ignoring subsection (7) (and so taking account of subsections (1) to (5)). In the Instalment Payment Regulations
 - (a) in regulations 6(1)(a), 7(2), 8(1)(a) and (2)(a), 9(5), 10(1), 11(1) and 13, references to regulation 4A, 4B, 4C, 4D, 5, 5A or 5B of those Regulations are to be read as including a reference to subsections (6) to (10) (and in regulation 7(2) "the regulation in question", and in regulation 8(2) "that regulation", are to be read accordingly), and
 - (b) in regulation 9(3), the reference to those Regulations is to be read as including a reference to subsections (6) to (10).
- (12) In section 59D of TMA 1970 (general rule as to when corporation tax is due and payable), in subsection (5), the reference to section 59E is to be read as including a reference to subsections (6) to (11).
- (13) In this section
 - "the chargeable period" is to be construed in accordance with paragraph 4 or (as the case may be) 5 of Schedule 19 to FA 2011;

"the commencement date" means the day on which this Act is passed;

"the Instalment Payment Regulations" means the Corporation Tax (Instalment Payments) Regulations 1998 (S.I. 1998/3175);

and references to the total liability of E for an accounting period are to be construed in accordance with regulation 2(3) of the Instalment Payment Regulations.

201 Bank levy: rates from 1 January 2014

- (1) Schedule 19 to FA 2011 (bank levy) is amended as follows.
- (2) In paragraph 6 (steps for determining the amount of the bank levy), in subparagraph (2)
 - (a) for "0.065%" substitute "0.071%", and
 - (b) for "0.130%" substitute "0.142%".
- (3) In paragraph 7 (special provision for chargeable periods falling wholly or partly before 1 January 2013).
- (4) In sub-paragraph (1) for "2013" substitute "2014".
- (5) In sub-paragraph (2) (as substituted by paragraph 6 of Schedule 34 to FA 2012), in the table in the substituted Step 7
 - (a) for the final entry in the first column substitute –

"1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013", and

(b) at the end add –

"Any time on or after 1 January 2014 0.071% 0.142%"

- (6) In the italic heading immediately before that paragraph for "2013" substitute 40 "2014".
- (7) Accordingly, in Schedule 34 to FA 2012 (bank levy), omit paragraph 6(2).

10

15

25

30

(8) The amendments made by this section come into force on 1 January 2014.

| 202 No deductions for UK or foreign ban | k levies |
|---|----------|
|---|----------|

- (1) Schedule 19 to FA 2011 (the bank levy) is amended as follows.
- (2) In paragraph 46 (bank levy to be ignored for purposes of corporation tax and income tax), in paragraph (b), after "paid" insert "(directly or indirectly)".
- (3) In Part 7 (double taxation relief), after paragraph 69 insert –

"Foreign levies to be ignored for purposes of income tax or corporation tax

- 69A (1) In calculating profits or losses for the purposes of income tax or corporation tax—
 - (a) no deduction is allowed in respect of any tax which is imposed by the law of a territory outside the United Kingdom and corresponds to the bank levy, and
 - (b) no account is to be taken of any amount which is paid (directly or indirectly) by a member of a group to another member for the purposes of meeting or reimbursing the cost of such a tax charged in relation to the group.
 - (2) Paragraph 66(3) applies for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) as it applies for the purposes of paragraph 66(2)."
- (4) Accordingly
 - (a) in paragraph 3, after "double taxation relief" insert "and with the deduction of foreign levies for the purposes of corporation tax and income tax", and
 - (b) in the heading for Part 7, after "RELIEF" insert "ETC"
- (5) The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to any period of account beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
- (6) The amendments made by subsections (3) and (4) also have effect in relation to any period of account beginning before that date, but only if, and to the extent that, the tax is the subject of a claim for relief under paragraph 66 or 67 of Schedule 19 to FA 2011 (bank levy: double taxation relief) made on or after 5 December 2012.
- (7) For the purposes of subsections (5) and (6), a period of account beginning before, and ending on or after 1 January 2013 is to be treated as if so much of the period as falls before that date, and so much of the period as falls on or after that date, were separate periods of account.

PART 5 35

GENERAL ANTI-ABUSE RULE

203 General anti-abuse rule

- (1) This Part has effect for the purpose of counteracting tax advantages arising from tax arrangements that are abusive.
- (2) The rules of this Part are collectively to be known as "the general anti-abuse rule".

| (3) | | eneral anti-abuse rule applies to the following taxes— | |
|-----|-------------------|--|----|
| | (a) | income tax, | |
| | (b) | corporation tax, including any amount chargeable as if it were corporation tax or treated as if it were corporation tax, | |
| | (c) | capital gains tax, | 5 |
| | (d) | petroleum revenue tax, | |
| | (e) | inheritance tax, | |
| | (f) | stamp duty land tax, and | |
| | (g) | annual tax on enveloped dwellings. | |
| 204 | Meanir | ng of "tax arrangements" and "abusive" | 10 |
| (1) | circun advan | gements are "tax arrangements" if, having regard to all the instances, it would be reasonable to conclude that the obtaining of a tax tage was the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of the gements. | |
| (2) | carryii action | rangements are "abusive" if they are arrangements the entering into or ng out of which cannot reasonably be regarded as a reasonable course of in relation to the relevant tax provisions, having regard to all the astances including— | 15 |
| | (a) | whether the substantive results of the arrangements are consistent with any principles on which those provisions are based (whether express or implied) and the policy objectives of those provisions, | 20 |
| | (b) | whether the means of achieving those results involves one or more contrived or abnormal steps, and | |
| | (c) | whether the arrangements are intended to exploit any shortcomings in those provisions. | 25 |
| (3) | | e the tax arrangements form part of any other arrangements regard must e had to those other arrangements. | |
| (4) | | of the following is an example of something which might indicate that tax gements are abusive— | |
| | (a) | the arrangements result in an amount of income, profits or gains for tax purposes that is significantly less than the amount for economic purposes, | 30 |
| | (b) | the arrangements result in deductions or losses of an amount for tax purposes that is significantly greater than the amount for economic purposes, and | 35 |
| | (c) | the arrangements result in a claim for the repayment or crediting of tax (including foreign tax) that has not been, and is unlikely to be, paid, | |
| | | each case only if it is reasonable to assume that such a result was not the pated result when the relevant tax provisions were enacted. | |
| (5) | had, a of tha | act that tax arrangements accord with established practice, and HMRC the time the arrangements were entered into, indicated its acceptance the practice, is an example of something which might indicate that the gements are not abusive. | 40 |

(6) The examples given in subsections (4) and (5) are not exhaustive.

10

20

35

40

205 Meaning of "tax advantage"

A "tax advantage" includes -

- (a) relief or increased relief from tax,
- (b) repayment or increased repayment of tax,
- (c) avoidance or reduction of a charge to tax or an assessment to tax,
- (d) avoidance of a possible assessment to tax,
- (e) deferral of a payment of tax or advancement of a repayment of tax, and
- (f) avoidance of an obligation to deduct or account for tax.

206 Counteracting the tax advantages

- (1) If there are tax arrangements that are abusive, the tax advantages that would (ignoring this Part) arise from the arrangements are to be counteracted by the making of adjustments.
- (2) The adjustments required to be made to counteract the tax advantages are such as are just and reasonable.
- (3) The adjustments may be made in respect of the tax in question or any other tax to which the general anti-abuse rule applies.
- (4) The adjustments that may be made include those that impose or increase a liability to tax in any case where (ignoring this Part) there would be no liability or a smaller liability, and tax is to be charged in accordance with any such adjustment.
- (5) Any adjustments required to be made under this section (whether by an officer of Revenue and Customs or the person to whom the tax advantage would arise) may be made by way of an assessment, the modification of an assessment, amendment or disallowance of a claim, or otherwise.
- (6) But—
 - (a) no steps may be taken by an officer of Revenue and Customs by virtue of this section unless the procedural requirements of Schedule 41 have been complied with, and
 - (b) the power to make adjustments by virtue of this section is subject to any time limit imposed by or under any enactment other than this Part. 30
- (7) Any adjustments made under this section have effect for all purposes.

207 Consequential relieving adjustments

- (1) This section applies where
 - (a) the counteraction of a tax advantage under section 206 is final, and
 - (b) if the case is not one in which notice of the counteraction was given under paragraph 12 of Schedule 41, HMRC have been notified of the counteraction by the taxpayer.
- (2) A person has 12 months, beginning with the day on which the counteraction becomes final, to make a claim for one or more consequential adjustments to be made in respect of any tax to which the general anti-abuse rule applies.
- (3) On a claim under this section, an officer of Revenue and Customs must make such of the consequential adjustments claimed (if any) as are just and reasonable.

40

| | Part 5 – General anti-abuse rule | | |
|----------------|---|------|--|
| | Consequential adjustments — (a) may be made in respect of any period, and (b) may affect any person (whether or not a party to the tax arrangements). | (4) | |
| Į | But nothing in this section requires or permits an officer to make a consequential adjustment the effect of which is to increase a person's liability to any tax. | | |
| 10 13 20 | (a) if the claim relates to income tax or capital gains tax, Schedule 1A to TMA 1970 applies to it; (b) if the claim relates to corporation tax, Schedule 1A to TMA 1970 (and not Schedule 18 to FA 1998) applies to it; (c) if the claim relates to petroleum revenue tax, Schedule 1A to TMA 1970 applies to it, but as if the reference in paragraph 2A(4) of that Schedule to a year of assessment included a reference to a chargeable period within the meaning of OTA 1975 (see section 1(3) and (4) of that Act); (d) if the claim relates to inheritance tax it must be made in writing to HMRC and section 221 of IHTA 1984 applies as if the claim were a claim under that Act; (e) if the claim relates to stamp duty land tax or annual tax on enveloped dwellings, Schedule 11A to FA 2003 applies to it as if it were a claim to which paragraph 1 of that Schedule applies. | (6) | |
| | Where an officer of Revenue and Customs makes a consequential adjustment under this section, the officer must give the person who made the claim written notice describing the adjustment which has been made. | | |
| 25 | For the purposes of this section the counteraction of a tax advantage is final when the adjustments made to effect the counteraction, and any amounts arising as a result of those adjustments, can no longer be varied, on appeal or otherwise. | | |
| 30 | Any adjustments required to be made under this section may be made – (a) by way of an assessment, the modification of an assessment, the amendment of a claim, or otherwise, and (b) despite any time limit imposed by or under any enactment other than this Part. | (9) | |
| | In this section "the taxpayer", in relation to a counteraction of a tax advantage | (10) | |

208 Proceedings before a court or tribunal

arisen.

In proceedings before a court or tribunal in connection with the general antiabuse rule, HMRC must show -

under section 206, means the person to whom the tax advantage would have

- that there are tax arrangements that are abusive, and
- that the adjustments made to counteract the tax advantages arising from the arrangements are just and reasonable.
- In determining any issue in connection with the general anti-abuse rule, a court or tribunal must take into account -

| | (a) (b) | HMRC's guidance about the general anti-abuse rule that was approved by the GAAR Advisory Panel at the time the tax arrangements were entered into, and any opinion of the GAAR Advisory Panel about the arrangements (see | |
|-----|-----------------------|--|--|
| | (D) | paragraph 11 of Schedule 41). | |
| (3) | | ermining any issue in connection with the general anti-abuse rule, a court runal may take into account — | |
| | (a) (b) | guidance, statements or other material (whether of HMRC, a Minister of the Crown or anyone else) that was in the public domain at the time the arrangements were entered into, and evidence of established practice at that time. | |
| 209 | ` ' | nship between the GAAR and priority rules | |
| | | riority rule has effect subject to the general anti-abuse rule (despite the | |
| (1) | | of the priority rule). | |
| (2) | | ority rule" means a rule (however expressed) to the effect that particular sions have effect to the exclusion of, or otherwise in priority to, anything | |
| (3) | Exam _j (a) | ples of priority rules are— the rule in section 464, 699 or 906 of CTA 2009 (priority of loan relationships rules, derivative contracts rules and intangible fixed | |
| | (b) | assets rules for corporation tax purposes), and the rule in section 6(1) of TIOPA 2010 (effect to be given to double taxation arrangements despite anything in any enactment). | |
| 210 | Conseq | uential amendment | |
| (1) | Section follow | n 42 of TMA 1970 (procedure for making claims etc) is amended as rs. | |
| (2) | In sub | section (2), for "(3ZB)" substitute "(3ZC)". | |
| (3) | After | subsection (3ZB) insert — | |
| | "(3ZC) | Subsection (2) also does not apply in relation to any claim under section 207 of the Finance Act 2013 (claims for consequential relieving adjustments after counteraction of tax advantage under the general anti-abuse rule)." | |
| 211 | Interpr | etation of Part 5 | |
| | In this | Part — | |
| | " | abusive", in relation to tax arrangements, has the meaning given by section 204(2) to (6); | |
| | 66 | arrangements" includes any agreement, understanding, scheme, transaction or series of transactions (whether or not legally enforceable); | |
| | 46. | the Commissioners" means the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs; | |
| | 66, | the GAAR Advisory Panel" has the meaning given by paragraph 1 of Schedule 41; | |

"the general anti-abuse rule" has the meaning given by section 203;

"HMRC" means Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs;

212 Commencement and transitional provision

5

10

- (1) The general anti-abuse rule has effect in relation to any tax arrangements entered into on or after the day on which this Act is passed.
- (2) Where the tax arrangements form part of any other arrangements entered into before that day those other arrangements are to be ignored for the purposes of section 204(3), subject to subsection (3).

(3) Account is to be taken of those other arrangements for the purposes of section 204(3) if, as a result, the tax arrangements would not be abusive.

PART 6

OTHER PROVISIONS

Trusts 15

213 Trusts with vulnerable beneficiary

Schedule 42 contains provision about trusts which have a vulnerable beneficiary.

Unit trusts

214 Unauthorised unit trusts

20

25

30

35

- (1) The Treasury may by regulations make provision about the treatment of the trustees or unit holders of unauthorised unit trusts for the purposes of income tax, corporation tax, capital gains tax or stamp duty land tax.
- (2) Regulations under this section may
 - (a) confer or impose powers or duties on officers of Revenue and Customs or other persons;
 - (b) modify any enactment or instrument (whenever passed or made);
 - (c) specify descriptions of unauthorised unit trust in relation to which the regulations are to apply or are not to apply;
 - (d) make different provision for different cases or different purposes;
 - (e) make incidental, consequential, supplementary and transitional provision and savings.

In paragraph (b) "modify" includes amend, repeal or revoke.

- (3) The statutory instrument containing the first regulations under this section may not be made unless a draft has been laid before and approved by a resolution of the House of Commons.
- (4) A subsequent statutory instrument containing regulations under this section is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the House of Commons.

[&]quot;tax advantage" has the meaning given by section 205;

[&]quot;tax arrangements" has the meaning given by section 204(1).

| (5) | In this section— | | |
|----------------------------|--|----|--|
| | (a) "unauthorised unit trust" means a unit trust scheme which is neither an authorised unit trust nor an umbrella scheme, | | |
| | (b) "unit trust scheme" has the meaning given by section 237 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, and | 5 | |
| | (c) "authorised unit trust", "umbrella scheme" and "unit holder" have the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of Part 13 of CTA 2010 (authorised investment funds). | | |
| | Residence | | |
| 215 | Statutory residence test | 10 | |
| (1) Schedule 43 contains — | | | |
| () | (a) provision for determining whether individuals are resident in the United Kingdom for the purposes of income tax, capital gains tax and (where relevant) inheritance tax and corporation tax, | | |
| | (b) provision about split years, and(c) provision about periods when individuals are temporarily non-resident. | 15 | |
| (2) | The Treasury may by order make any incidental, supplemental, consequential, transitional or saving provision in consequence of Schedule 43. | | |
| (3) | An order under subsection (2) may – | 20 | |
| | (a) make different provision for different purposes, and(b) make provision amending, repealing or revoking any provision made by or under an Act (whenever passed or made). | | |
| (4) | An order under subsection (2) is to be made by statutory instrument. | | |
| (5) | A statutory instrument containing an order under subsection (2) is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the House of Commons. | 25 | |
| 216 | Ordinary residence | | |
| (1) | Schedule 44 contains provision removing or replacing rules relating to ordinary residence. | | |
| (2) | The Treasury may by order make further provision removing or replacing rules relating to ordinary residence with respect to— (a) income tax, (b) capital gains tax, and | 30 | |
| | (c) (so far as the ordinary residence status of individuals is relevant to them) inheritance tax and corporation tax. | 35 | |
| (3) | An order under subsection (2) may take effect from the start of the tax year in which the order is made. | | |
| (4) | The Treasury may by order make any incidental, supplemental, consequential, transitional or saving provision in consequence of Schedule 44 or in consequence of any further provision made under subsection (2). | 40 | |
| (5) | An order under this section may — (a) make different provision for different purposes, and | | |

10

15

20

25

30

35

- (b) make provision amending, repealing or revoking any provision made by or under an Act (whenever passed or made).
- (6) An order under this section is to be made by statutory instrument.
- (7) A statutory instrument containing an order under subsection (2) (whether alone or with other provisions) may not be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons.

(8) Subject to subsection (7), a statutory instrument containing an order under this section is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the House of Commons.

International matters

217 Controlled foreign companies etc

Schedule 45 makes provision in relation to CFCs etc.

218 Agreement between UK and Switzerland

(1) In Schedule 36 to FA 2012 (agreement between UK and Switzerland), after paragraph 26 insert —

"Transfers to HMRC under Agreement

- 26A (1) Income or chargeable gains of a person are to be treated as not remitted to the United Kingdom if conditions A to D are met.
 - (2) Condition A is that (but for sub-paragraph (1)) the income or gains would be regarded as remitted to the United Kingdom by virtue of the bringing of money to the United Kingdom.
 - (3) Condition B is that the money is brought to the United Kingdom pursuant to a transfer made to HMRC in accordance with the Agreement.
 - (4) Condition C (which applies only if the money brought to the United Kingdom is a sum levied under Article 19(2)(b)) is that the sum was levied within the period of 45 days beginning with the day on which the amount derived from the income or gain in question was remitted as mentioned in Article 19(2)(b).
 - (5) Condition D is that the transfer is made in relation to a tax year in which section 809B, 809D or 809E of ITA 2007 (application of remittance basis) applies to the person.
 - (6) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in relation to money brought to the United Kingdom if or to the extent that
 - (a) paragraph 18(2), or section 138(4)(a) or 140(5)(a) of TIOPA 2010, is applied in relation to it (set-off against other tax liabilities), or
 - (b) it is repaid or refunded by HMRC.

26B (1) This paragraph applies if –

| | | (a) (b) | but for paragraph 26A(1), income or chargeable gains would have been regarded as remitted to the United Kingdom by virtue of the bringing of money to the United Kingdom, and section 809Q of ITA 2007 (transfers from mixed funds) would have applied in determining the amount that would have been so remitted. | 5 |
|-----|------------|-----------------------|--|-----|
| | (| offsho | ringing of the money to the United Kingdom counts as an ore transfer for the purposes of section 809R(4) of ITA 2007 position of mixed fund)." | |
| (2) | | nendment nuary 201 | t made by this section is to be treated as having come into force 13. | 10 |
| 219 | Interna | tional agr | reements to improve tax compliance | |
| (1) | enabli | ng effect t | nay make regulations for the purpose of giving effect to or o be given to— eement reached between the Government of the United | 15 |
| | (a) | Kingdon improve | n and the Government of the United States of America to international tax compliance and to implement FATCA, in 12 September 2012; | 13 |
| | (b) | | ement modifying or supplementing that agreement; | |
| | (c) | and the correspo | r agreement between the Government of the United Kingdom government of another territory which makes provision inding, or substantially similar, to that made by an agreement aragraph (a) or (b). | 20 |
| (2) | Regula | ations und | ler this section may in particular— | |
| | (a) | paragrap | e HMRC to require persons specified for the purposes of this ph ("relevant financial entities") to provide HMRC with ion of specified descriptions; | 25 |
| | (b) | and man | hat information to be provided at such times and in such form mer as may be specified; | 2.0 |
| | (c) (d) | make p | obligations on relevant financial entities; rovision (including provision imposing penalties) about ention of, or non-compliance with, the regulations; | 30 |
| | (e) | | rovision about appeals in relation to the imposition of any | |
| (3) | | | ler this section may — | 35 |
| | (a) | subsection construe | that a reference in the regulations to an agreement to which on (1) refers, or a provision of such an agreement, is to be d as a reference to the agreement, or provision, as amended to time; | |
| | (b) | | ferent provision in relation to different periods of time; | 40 |
| | (c) (d) | contain | ferent provision for different cases or circumstances; incidental, supplemental, transitional, transitory or saving n (including provision amending any enactment). | |
| (4) | In this | section – | | |
| | ""] | Tax Com | means the provisions commonly known as the Foreign Account opliance Act in the enactment of the United States of America e Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act; | 45 |

| "HMRC" means Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs; |
|--|
| "specified" means specified in regulations under this section. |
| |

- (5) The power conferred by this section is without prejudice to any other powers conferred by or under any enactment.
- (6) The power of the Treasury to make regulations under this section is exercisable by statutory instrument.
- (7) Any statutory instrument containing regulations under this section is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the House of Commons.

Disclosure

220 Disclosure of tax avoidance schemes

10

5

- (1) Part 7 of FA 2004 (disclosure of tax avoidance schemes) is amended in accordance with subsections (2) and (3).
- (2) After section 312A insert –

"312B Duty of client to provide information to promoter

- (1) This section applies where a person who is a promoter in relation to notifiable arrangements has provided a person ("the client") with the information prescribed under section 312(2) (duty of promoter to notify client of reference number).
- (2) The client must, within the prescribed period, provide the promoter with prescribed information relating to the client.
 - 20

15

- (3) The duty under subsection (2) is subject to any exceptions that may be prescribed."
- (3) After section 313ZA insert –

"313ZB Enquiry following disclosure of client details

(1) This section applies where –

25

- (a) a person who is a promoter in relation to notifiable arrangements has provided HMRC with information in relation to a person ("the client") under section 313ZA(3) (duty to provide client details), and
- (b) HMRC suspect that a person other than the client is or is likely to be a party to the arrangements.

(2) HMRC may by written notice require the promoter to provide prescribed information in relation to any person other than the client who the promoter might reasonably be expected to know is or is likely to be a party to the arrangements.

35

40

- (3) The promoter must comply with a requirement under or by virtue of subsection (2) within—
 - (a) the prescribed period, or
 - (b) such longer period as HMRC may direct."
- (4) In section 98C(2) of TMA 1970 (notification under Part 7 of FA 2004) –

(a) after paragraph (da) insert –

| | (b) | "(daa) section 312B (duty of client to provide information to promoter),", and after paragraph (db) insert – "(dc) section 313ZB (enquiry following disclosure of client details),". | 5 |
|-----|---------|--|----|
| | | Powers | |
| 221 | Powers | under Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 | |
| | under | ule 46 makes provision for, and in connection with, conferring powers Chapter 3 of Part 5 and Chapters 2 and 3 of Part 8 of the Proceeds of Act 2002 on officers of Revenue and Customs. | 10 |
| 222 | Definit | ion of "goods" for certain customs purposes | |
| | | tion 1(1) of CEMA 1979 (interpretation), in the definition of "goods", for age" substitute "containers". | |
| 223 | Power | to detain goods | 15 |
| (1) | | n 139 of CEMA 1979 (provisions as to detention, seizure and mnation of goods etc) is amended as follows. | |
| (2) | After | subsection (1) insert – | |
| | "(1A) | A person mentioned in subsection (1) who reasonably suspects that any thing may be liable to forfeiture under the customs and excise Acts may detain that thing. | 20 |
| | (1B) | References in this section and Schedule 2A to a thing detained as liable to forfeiture under the customs and excise Acts include a thing detained under subsection (1A)." | |
| (3) | | section (2), for the words from "either" to the end substitute "deliver that to an officer". | 25 |
| (4) | | section (4), for "the Commissioners at the nearest office of customs and "substitute "an officer". | |
| (5) | In sub | section (5), for "Schedule 3" substitute "Schedules 2A and 3". | |
| (6) | After | that subsection insert — | 30 |
| | "(5A) | Schedule 2A contains supplementary provisions relating to the detention of things as liable to forfeiture under the customs and excise Acts." | |
| (7) | After | Schedule 2 to that Act (composite goods: supplementary provisions as to | |

excise duties and drawbacks) insert -

"SCHEDULE 2A

Section 139(5A)

SUPPLEMENTARY PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE DETENTION OF THINGS AS LIABLE TO FORFEITURE

Interpretation

5

In this Schedule, references (however expressed) to a thing being detained are references to a thing being detained as liable to forfeiture under the customs and excise Acts.

Period of detention

2 (1) This paragraph applies where a thing is detained.

10

- (2) The thing may be detained for 30 days beginning with the day on which the thing is first detained.
- (3) The thing is deemed to be seized as liable to forfeiture under the customs and excise Acts if its detention ceases to be authorised under this paragraph.

15

Notice of detention

3 (1) The Commissioners must take reasonable steps to give written notice of the detention of any thing, and of the grounds for the detention, to any person who to their knowledge was, at the time of the detention, the owner or one of the owners of the thing.

20

25

- (2) But notice need not be given under sub-paragraph (1) if the detention occurred in the presence of
 - (a) the person whose offence or suspected offence occasioned the detention,
 - (b) the owner or any of the owners of the thing detained or any servant or agent of such an owner, or

the

(c) in the case of any thing detained on a ship or aircraft, the master or commander.

Unauthorised removal or disposal: penalties etc

4 (1) This paragraph applies where a thing is detained and, with the agreement of a person within sub-paragraph (2) ("the responsible person"), the thing remains at the place where it is first detained (rather than being removed and detained elsewhere).

30

- (2) A person is within this sub-paragraph if the person is
 - (a) the owner or any of the owners of the thing at the time it was detained or any servant or agent of such an owner, or

35

- (b) a person whom the person who detains the thing reasonably believes to be a person within paragraph (a).
- (3) If the responsible person fails to prevent the unauthorised removal or disposal of the thing from the place where it is detained, that failure attracts a penalty under section 9 of the Finance Act 1994 (civil penalties).

| | | (4) | The removal or disposal of the thing is unauthorised unless it is done with the permission of a proper officer of Revenue and Customs. | |
|-----|--|------|---|----------|
| | | (5) | Where any duty of excise is payable in respect of the thing – (a) the penalty is to be calculated by reference to the amount of that duty (whether it has been paid or not), and (b) section 9 of the Finance Act 1994 has effect as if in subsection (2)(a) the words "5 per cent of" were omitted. | 5 |
| | | (6) | If no duty of excise is payable in respect of the thing, that section has effect as if the penalty provided for by subsection (2)(b) of that section were whichever is the greater of — (a) the value of the thing at the time it was first detained, or (b) £250. | 10 |
| | 5 | (1) | This paragraph applies where — (a) a thing is detained at a revenue trader's premises, (b) the thing is liable to forfeiture under the customs and excise Acts, and (c) without the permission of a proper officer of Revenue and Customs, the thing is removed from the trader's premises, or otherwise disposed of, by any person. | 15 |
| | | (2) | The Commissioners may seize, as liable to forfeiture under the customs and excise Acts, goods of equivalent value to the thing, from the revenue trader's stock. | 20 |
| | | (3) | For the purposes of this paragraph, a revenue trader's premises include any premises used to hold or store anything for the purposes of the revenue trader's trade, regardless of who owns or occupies the premises." | 25 |
| (8) | | | ndments made by this section have effect in relation to things detained er the day on which this Act is passed. | |
| 224 | Penalt | y in | stead of forfeiture of larger ships | |
| (1) | | | 43 of CEMA 1979 (penalty in lieu of forfeiture of larger ship where ble officer is implicated in offence) is amended as follows. | 30 |
| (2) |) For subsection (1) (Commissioners' power to impose fine up to £50) substitute— | | | |
| | "(1) | T | (a) any ship of 250 or more tons register would, but for section 142, be liable to forfeiture for, or in connection with, any offence under the customs and excise Acts, and (b) in the opinion of the Commissioners, a responsible officer of the ship is implicated either by the officer's own act, or by neglect, in that offence." | 35 40 |
| (3) | proce | edi | ection (3) (Commissioners' power to bring condemnation ngs)— | |
| | (a) | | or the words from the beginning to the first "they" substitute "The ommissioners", and | |
| | (b) | fc | r "£500" substitute "£10,000". | 45 |

| (4) | | section (4) (power to detain ship pending payment of deposit against fine idemnation proceedings) — for the words from the beginning to "section, the" substitute "The", for "£50 or, as the case may be, £500" substitute "£10,000", and omit "their final decision or, as the case may be,". | 5 | | | | | |
|-----|-----------------------------|--|----|--|--|--|--|--|
| (5) | In par (a) (b) (c) | agraph (a) of subsection (6) (definition of "responsible officer) — after "means" insert "a person who is, or is acting as,", for "or an engineer" substitute ", an engineer or the bosun", and omit the words from "and, in the case of a ship manned" to the end. | | | | | | |
| (6) | After | that subsection insert — | 10 | | | | | |
| | "(7) | If the Treasury consider that there has been a change in the value of money since the Finance Act 2013 was passed or, as the case may be, since the last occasion when the power conferred by this subsection was exercised, they may by order substitute for the sum for the time being specified in subsections (3) and (4) such other sum as appears to them to be justified by the change. | 15 | | | | | |
| | (8) | An order under subsection (7) may not vary the penalty for any conduct occurring before the coming into force of the order. | | | | | | |
| | (9) | An order under subsection (7) must be made by statutory instrument. | | | | | | |
| | (10) | A statutory instrument containing an order under subsection (7) is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of either House of Parliament." | 20 | | | | | |
| 225 | Data-ga | athering from merchant acquirers etc | | | | | | |
| (1) | | rt 2 of Schedule 23 to FA 2011 (data-gathering powers: relevant data-rs), after paragraph 13 insert – | 25 | | | | | |
| | "Merc | hant acquirers etc | | | | | | |
| | 13A | (1) A person who has a contractual obligation to make payments to retailers in settlement of payment card transactions is a relevant data-holder. | | | | | | |
| | | (2) In this paragraph — "payment card" includes a credit card, a charge card and a debit card; "payment card transaction" means any transaction in which a | 30 | | | | | |
| | | payment card is accepted as payment; "retailer" means a person who accepts a payment card as payment for any transaction. | 35 | | | | | |
| | | (3) In this paragraph any reference to a payment card being accepted as payment includes a reference to any account number or other indicators associated with a payment card being accepted as payment." | 40 | | | | | |
| (2) | | | | | | | | |

Payment

| 226 Corporation tax: deferral of payment of exit c |
|--|
|--|

Schedule 47 contains provision for, and in connection with, deferring the payment by a company of certain corporation tax in circumstances where income, profits or gains arise by virtue of section 25, 185 or 187(4) of TCGA 1992 or section 162, 333, 334, 609, 610, 859 or 862 of CTA 2009.

5

227 Penalties: late filing, late payment and errors

Schedule 48 contains provision for, and in connection with, penalties for late filing, late payment and errors.

228 Overpayment relief: generally prevailing practice exclusion and EU law

10

- (1) In Schedule 1AB to TMA 1970 (recovery of overpaid tax etc), in paragraph 2 (cases in which Commissioners not liable to give effect to claim), after subparagraph (9) insert
 - "(9A) Cases G and H do not apply where the amount paid, or liable to be paid, is tax which has been charged contrary to EU law.

15

- (9B) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9A), an amount of tax is charged contrary to EU law if, in the circumstances in question, the charge to tax is contrary to
 - (a) the provisions relating to the free movement of goods, persons, services and capital in Titles II and IV of Part 3 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, or
 - (b) the provisions of any subsequent treaty replacing the provisions mentioned in paragraph (a)."
- (2) In Schedule 2 to OTA 1975 (management and collection of petroleum revenue tax), in paragraph 13B (claim for relief for overpaid tax etc: cases in which HMRC not liable to give effect to a claim), after sub-paragraph (8) insert—

25

30

40

20

- "(9) Case G does not apply where the amount paid, or liable to be paid, is tax which has been charged contrary to EU law.
- (10) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9), an amount of tax is charged contrary to EU law if, in the circumstances in question, the charge to tax is contrary to —

(a) the provisions relating to the free movement of goods, persons, services and capital in Titles II and IV of Part 3 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, or

- (b) the provisions of any subsequent treaty replacing the 35 provisions mentioned in paragraph (a)."
- (3) In Part 6 of Schedule 18 to FA 1998 (overpaid tax, excessive assessments or repayments etc), in paragraph 51A (cases in which Commissioners not liable to give effect to a claim), after sub-paragraph (8) insert
 - "(9) Case G does not apply where the amount paid, or liable to be paid, is tax which has been charged contrary to EU law.

| | Part 6 – Other provisions | |
|-----|--|----|
| | (10) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9), an amount of tax is charged contrary to EU law if, in the circumstances in question, the charge to tax is contrary to— | |
| | (a) the provisions relating to the free movement of goods, persons, services and capital in Titles II and IV of Part 3 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, or (b) the provisions of any subsequent treaty replacing the | 5 |
| | provisions mentioned in paragraph (a)." | |
| (4) | In Part 6 of Schedule 10 to FA 2003 (relief in case of overpaid tax or excessive assessment), in paragraph 34A (cases in which Commissioners not liable to give effect to a claim), after sub-paragraph (8) insert — | 10 |
| | "(9) Case G does not apply where the amount paid, or liable to be paid, is tax which has been charged contrary to EU law. | |
| | (10) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9), an amount of tax is charged contrary to EU law if, in the circumstances in question, the charge to tax is contrary to— | 15 |
| | (a) the provisions relating to the free movement of goods, persons, services and capital in Titles II and IV of Part 3 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, or | 20 |
| | (b) the provisions of any subsequent treaty replacing the provisions mentioned in paragraph (a)." | 20 |
| (5) | The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to any claim (in respect of overpaid tax, excessive assessment etc) made after the end of the six month period beginning with the day on which this Act is passed. | |
| 229 | Overpayment relief: time limit for claims | 25 |
| (1) | In Schedule 1AB to TMA 1970 (recovery of overpaid tax etc), in paragraph 3 (making a claim), in sub-paragraph (3) after "the relevant tax year is" insert "— (a) where the amount liable to be paid is excessive by reason of a mistake in a return or returns under section 8, 8A or 12AA, | |
| | the tax year to which the return (or, if more than one, the first return) relates, and (b) otherwise,". | 30 |
| (2) | In Schedule 2 to OTA 1975, in paragraph 13C (claim for relief for overpaid tax etc: making a claim), in sub-paragraph (3) after "the relevant chargeable period is" insert "— | 35 |
| | (a) where the amount liable to be paid is excessive by reason of a mistake in a return or returns under paragraph 2 or 5, the chargeable period to which the return (or, if more than one, the first return) relates, and | 40 |
| | (b) otherwise,". | 40 |
| (3) | In Part 6 of Schedule 18 to FA 1998 (overpaid tax, excessive assessments or repayments, etc), in paragraph 51B (making a claim), in sub-paragraph (3), after "the relevant accounting period is" insert "— | |
| | (a) where the amount liable to be paid is excessive by reason of | |

a mistake in a company tax return or returns, the accounting

period to which the return (or, if more than one, the first return) relates, and

(b) otherwise,".

(4) The amendments made by this section have effect in relation to any claim (in respect of overpaid tax, excessive assessment etc) made after the end of the six month period beginning with the day on which this Act is passed.

Administration

5

230 Self assessment: withdrawal of notice to file etc

Schedule 49 contains provision for, and in connection with, withdrawing a notice under section 8, 8A or 12AA of TMA 1970 and cancelling liability to a penalty under Schedule 55 to FA 2009.

Part 7

10

FINAL PROVISIONS

231 Interpretation

- (1) In this Act—
 - "ALDA 1979" means the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979,
 - "BGDA 1981" means the Betting and Gaming Duties Act 1981,

15

- "CAA 2001" means the Capital Allowances Act 2001,
- "CEMA 1979" means the Customs and Excise Management Act 1979,
- "CRCA 2005" means the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005.
- "CTA 2009" means the Corporation Tax Act 2009,

20

- "CTA 2010" means the Corporation Tax Act 2010,
- "F(No.3)A 2010" means the Finance (No. 3) Act 2010,
- "HODA 1979" means the Hydrocarbon Oil Duties Act 1979,
- "ICTA" means the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988,
- "IHTA 1984" means the Inheritance Tax Act 1984,

25

- "ITA 2007" means the Income Tax Act 2007,
- "ITEPA 2003" means the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003,
- "ITTOIA 2005" means the Income Tax (Trading and Other Income) Act 2005.
- "OTA 1975" means the Oil Taxation Act 1975,

30

- "TCGA 1992" means the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992,
- "TIOPA 2010" means the Taxation (International and Other Provisions) Act 2010,
- "TMA 1970" means the Taxes Management Act 1970,
- "TPDA 1979" means the Tobacco Products Duty Act 1979,

35

- "VATA 1994" means the Value Added Tax Act 1994, and
- "VERA 1994" means the Vehicle Excise and Registration Act 1994.
- (2) In this Act
 - "FA", followed by a year, means the Finance Act of that year;
 - "F(No.2)A", followed by a year, means the Finance (No. 2) Act of that year.

232 Short title

This Act may be cited as the Finance Act 2013.

(4) In sub-paragraph (3) –

SCHEDULES

| | | | SCHEDULE 1 Section 7 | |
|-------|--------|-----------------|---|----|
| Ann | UAL | INVESTI | MENT ALLOWANCE: PERIODS STRADDLING 1 JANUARY 2013 OR 1 JANUARY 2015 | |
| Charg | geabl | e period | ls which straddle 1 January 2013 | 5 |
| 1 | (1) | | paragraph applies in relation to a chargeable period which begins 1 January 2013 and ends on or after that date ("the first straddling l"). | |
| | (2) | | naximum allowance under section 51A of CAA 2001 for the first ling period is the sum of each maximum allowance that would be if— | 10 |
| | | (a) | so much (if any) of the first straddling period as falls before the relevant date, | |
| | | (b) | so much of the first straddling period as falls on or after the relevant date but before 1 January 2013, and | 15 |
| | | (c) | so much of the first straddling period as falls on or after 1 January 2013, | |
| | | were e | each treated as separate chargeable periods. | |
| | (3) | But th | is is subject to paragraphs 2 and 3. | |
| | (4) | In this (a) (b) | Schedule "the relevant date" means — for the purposes of corporation tax, 1 April 2012; for the purposes of income tax, 6 April 2012. | 20 |
| Strad | ldling | g period | beginning before the relevant date | |
| 2 | (1) | | aragraph applies where the first straddling period begins before the nt date. | 25 |
| | (2) | maxin period | as concerns expenditure incurred before the relevant date, the num allowance under section 51A of CAA 2001 for the first straddling is what would have been the maximum allowance for that period if nendment made by section 7(1) had not been made. | |
| | (3) | before | as concerns expenditure incurred on or after the relevant date but 1 January 2013, the maximum allowance under section 51A of CAA or the first straddling period is— | 30 |

10

15

30

35

40

- (a) "A" means the amount that would have been the maximum allowance for the period beginning on the relevant date and ending at the end of the first straddling period if—

 (i) that period had been a separate chargeable period, and
 (ii) the amendment made by section 7(1) had not been made;

 (b) "B" means the amount (if any) by which—

 (i) the AIA expenditure incurred in the period mentioned in paragraph 1(2)(a) in respect of which a claim for an annual
 - investment allowance is made, exceeds(ii) the maximum allowance under section 51A of CAA 2001 for that period if it were treated as a separate chargeable period.
- (5) So far as concerns expenditure incurred on or after 1 January 2013, the maximum allowance under section 51A of CAA 2001 for the first straddling period is the sum of each maximum allowance that would be found if the period mentioned in paragraph 1(2)(b) and the period mentioned in paragraph 1(2)(c) were each treated as separate chargeable periods.

First straddling period beginning on or after the relevant date

- 3 (1) This paragraph applies where no part of the first straddling period falls within paragraph 1(2)(a).
 - (2) So far as concerns expenditure incurred before 1 January 2013, the maximum allowance under section 51A of CAA 2001 for the first straddling period is to be calculated as if the amendment made by section 7(1) had not been made.

Chargeable periods which straddle 1 January 2015

- 4 (1) This paragraph applies in relation to a chargeable period ("the second straddling period") which begins before 1 January 2015 and ends on or after that date.
 - (2) The maximum allowance under section 51A of CAA 2001 for the second straddling period is the sum of each maximum allowance that would be found if
 - (a) the period beginning with the first day of the chargeable period and ending with the day before 1 January 2015, and
 - (b) the period beginning with 1 January 2015 and ending with the last day of the chargeable period,

were treated as separate chargeable periods.

(3) But, so far as concerns expenditure incurred on or after 1 January 2015, the maximum allowance under section 51A of CAA 2001 for the second straddling period is the maximum allowance, calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2), for the period mentioned in paragraph (b) of that sub-paragraph.

Operation of annual investment allowance where restrictions apply

5 (1) Paragraphs 1 to 4 also apply for the purpose of determining the maximum allowance under section 51K of CAA 2001 (operation of annual investment allowance where restrictions apply) in a case where one or more chargeable

| Finance (No. 2) Bill | 139 |
|---|-----|
| Schedule 1 – Annual investment allowance: neriods straddling 1 Ianuary 2013 or 1 Ianuary 2015 | |

| Schedule 1 | – Annual investment allowance: periods straddling 1 January 2013 or 1 January 2015 | |
|------------|--|--|
| | periods in which the relevant AIA qualifying expenditure is incurred are chargeable periods within paragraph 1(1) or 4(1). This is subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3). | |
| (2) | There is to be taken into account for those purposes only chargeable periods of one year or less (whether or not they are chargeable periods within paragraph $1(1)$ or $4(1)$), and, if there is more than one such period, only that period which gives rise to the greatest maximum allowance. | |
| (3) | For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) any chargeable period which— (a) is longer than a year, and (b) ends in the tax year 2012-13, 2013-14, 2014-15, 2015-16 or 2016-17, is to be treated as being a chargeable period of one year ending at the same time as it actually ends. | |
| (4) | Section 11(11) of FA 2011 is repealed. | |
| (5) | That repeal has effect in relation to cases where one or more chargeable periods in which the relevant AIA qualifying expenditure is incurred are chargeable periods within paragraph 1(1). | |
| (6) | Nothing in this paragraph affects the operation of sections 51M and 51N of CAA 2001. | |
| | SCHEDULE 2 Section 14 | |
| | TAX ADVANTAGED EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES | |
| | Part 1 | |
| | RETIREMENT OF PARTICIPANTS | |
| Introduct | ion | |
| 1 | Part 7 of ITEPA 2003 (employment income: income and exemptions relating to securities) is amended as follows. | |
| Share ince | entive plans | |
| 2 | In section 498 (no charge on shares ceasing to be subject to plan in certain circumstances) in subsection (2)(e) omit the words from "on" to "2)". | |
| 3 | In Part 4 of Schedule 2 (types of shares that may be awarded) in paragraph 32 (provision for forfeiture) in sub-paragraph (2)(e) omit the words from "on" to "98)". | |
| 4 | Part 11 of Schedule 2 (supplementary provisions) is amended as follows. | |
| 5 | Omit paragraph 98 (meaning of "specified retirement age"). | |

In paragraph 100 (index of defined expressions) omit the entry for "the specified retirement age".

SAYE option schemes

| Part 6 of Schedule 3 (requirements etc relating to share options) is amended as follows. In paragraph 27 (introduction) in sub-paragraph (1)— (a) omit the entry for paragraph 31, (b) after the entry for paragraph 32 insert "and", and (c) omit the entry for paragraph 33 and the "and" after it. In paragraph 30 (time for exercising options) in sub-paragraph (2)(a)— (a) for "32 to" substitute "32,", and (b) omit "reaching the specified age without retiring,". Omit paragraph 31 (requirement to have a "specified age"). Omit paragraph 33 (exercise of options: reaching specified age without retiring). In paragraph 34 (exercise of options: scheme-related employment ends) in sub-paragraph (2)(b) omit the words from "on" to "employment". In Part 9 of Schedule 3 (supplementary provisions) in paragraph 49 (index of defined expressions) omit the entry for "specified age". CSOP schemes In Part 8 of Schedule 4 (supplementary provisions) omit paragraph 35A (retirement age). Transitional provision The amendment made by paragraph 11 above has no effect in relation to options granted before the day on which this Act is passed; and the effect of the amendments made by paragraphs 8 to 10 and 13 above is limited accordingly. (1) A SIP, SAYE option scheme or CSOP scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by this Part of this Schedule. (2) In relation to any shares awarded under a SIP before that day which are subject to provision for forfeiture, that provision has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendment is not relevant to a supplementary of the paragraph 3 above. | | , | | |
|---|-------|--------|---|----|
| (a) omit the entry for paragraph 31, (b) after the entry for paragraph 32 insert "and", and (c) omit the entry for paragraph 32 insert "and", and (c) omit the entry for paragraph 33 and the "and" after it. 9 | 7 | | | |
| (a) for "32 to" substitute "32,", and (b) omit "reaching the specified age without retiring,". 10 Omit paragraph 31 (requirement to have a "specified age"). 11 Omit paragraph 33 (exercise of options: reaching specified age without retiring). 12 In paragraph 34 (exercise of options: scheme-related employment ends) in sub-paragraph (2)(b) omit the words from "on" to "employment". 13 In Part 9 of Schedule 3 (supplementary provisions) in paragraph 49 (index of defined expressions) omit the entry for "specified age". CSOP schemes 14 In section 524 (no charge in respect of exercise of option) in subsection (2C) omit the definition of "retirement" and the "and" before it. 15 In Part 8 of Schedule 4 (supplementary provisions) omit paragraph 35A (retirement age). Transitional provision 16 The amendment made by paragraph 11 above has no effect in relation to options granted before the day on which this Act is passed; and the effect of the amendments made by paragraphs 8 to 10 and 13 above is limited accordingly. 17 (1) A SIP, SAYE option scheme or CSOP scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by this Part of this Schedule. (2) In relation to any shares awarded under a SIP before that day which are subject to provision for forfeiture, that provision has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendment made by paragraph 3 above. (3) Because of paragraphs 47 and 57 below, that amendment is not relevant to | 8 | | (a) omit the entry for paragraph 31,(b) after the entry for paragraph 32 insert "and", and | 5 |
| Omit paragraph 33 (exercise of options: reaching specified age without retiring). In paragraph 34 (exercise of options: scheme-related employment ends) in sub-paragraph (2)(b) omit the words from "on" to "employment". In Part 9 of Schedule 3 (supplementary provisions) in paragraph 49 (index of defined expressions) omit the entry for "specified age". CSOP schemes In section 524 (no charge in respect of exercise of option) in subsection (2C) omit the definition of "retirement" and the "and" before it. In Part 8 of Schedule 4 (supplementary provisions) omit paragraph 35A (retirement age). Transitional provision The amendment made by paragraph 11 above has no effect in relation to options granted before the day on which this Act is passed; and the effect of the amendments made by paragraphs 8 to 10 and 13 above is limited accordingly. The ASIP, SAYE option scheme or CSOP scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by this Part of this Schedule. (2) In relation to any shares awarded under a SIP before that day which are subject to provision for forfeiture, that provision has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendment made by paragraph 3 above. (3) Because of paragraphs 47 and 57 below, that amendment is not relevant to | 9 | | (a) for "32 to" substitute "32,", and | 10 |
| In paragraph 34 (exercise of options: scheme-related employment ends) in sub-paragraph (2)(b) omit the words from "on" to "employment". In Part 9 of Schedule 3 (supplementary provisions) in paragraph 49 (index of defined expressions) omit the entry for "specified age". CSOP schemes In section 524 (no charge in respect of exercise of option) in subsection (2C) omit the definition of "retirement" and the "and" before it. In Part 8 of Schedule 4 (supplementary provisions) omit paragraph 35A (retirement age). Transitional provision The amendment made by paragraph 11 above has no effect in relation to options granted before the day on which this Act is passed; and the effect of the amendments made by paragraphs 8 to 10 and 13 above is limited accordingly. In Part 8 of Schedule 4 (Supplementary provisions) omit paragraph 3 above is limited accordingly. | 10 | | | |
| sub-paragraph (2)(b) omit the words from "on" to "employment". In Part 9 of Schedule 3 (supplementary provisions) in paragraph 49 (index of defined expressions) omit the entry for "specified age". CSOP schemes In section 524 (no charge in respect of exercise of option) in subsection (2C) omit the definition of "retirement" and the "and" before it. In Part 8 of Schedule 4 (supplementary provisions) omit paragraph 35A (retirement age). Transitional provision The amendment made by paragraph 11 above has no effect in relation to options granted before the day on which this Act is passed; and the effect of the amendments made by paragraphs 8 to 10 and 13 above is limited accordingly. In A SIP, SAYE option scheme or CSOP scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by this Part of this Schedule. (2) In relation to any shares awarded under a SIP before that day which are subject to provision for forfeiture, that provision has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendment made by paragraph 3 above. (3) Because of paragraphs 47 and 57 below, that amendment is not relevant to | 11 | | | |
| of defined expressions) omit the entry for "specified age". CSOP schemes 14 | 12 | | | 15 |
| In section 524 (no charge in respect of exercise of option) in subsection (2C) omit the definition of "retirement" and the "and" before it. In Part 8 of Schedule 4 (supplementary provisions) omit paragraph 35A (retirement age). Transitional provision The amendment made by paragraph 11 above has no effect in relation to options granted before the day on which this Act is passed; and the effect of the amendments made by paragraphs 8 to 10 and 13 above is limited accordingly. (1) A SIP, SAYE option scheme or CSOP scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by this Part of this Schedule. (2) In relation to any shares awarded under a SIP before that day which are subject to provision for forfeiture, that provision has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendment made by paragraph 3 above. (3) Because of paragraphs 47 and 57 below, that amendment is not relevant to | 13 | | In Part 9 of Schedule 3 (supplementary provisions) in paragraph 49 (index of defined expressions) omit the entry for "specified age". | |
| omit the definition of "retirement" and the "and" before it. In Part 8 of Schedule 4 (supplementary provisions) omit paragraph 35A (retirement age). Transitional provision The amendment made by paragraph 11 above has no effect in relation to options granted before the day on which this Act is passed; and the effect of the amendments made by paragraphs 8 to 10 and 13 above is limited accordingly. The ASIP, SAYE option scheme or CSOP scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by this Part of this Schedule. The amendments made by this Part of this Schedule. The amendments made by paragraphs and the effect of the day on which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendment made by paragraph 3 above. Because of paragraphs 47 and 57 below, that amendment is not relevant to | CSO | P sch | nemes | |
| (retirement age). Transitional provision The amendment made by paragraph 11 above has no effect in relation to options granted before the day on which this Act is passed; and the effect of the amendments made by paragraphs 8 to 10 and 13 above is limited accordingly. (1) A SIP, SAYE option scheme or CSOP scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by this Part of this Schedule. (2) In relation to any shares awarded under a SIP before that day which are subject to provision for forfeiture, that provision has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendment made by paragraph 3 above. (3) Because of paragraphs 47 and 57 below, that amendment is not relevant to | 14 | | | 20 |
| The amendment made by paragraph 11 above has no effect in relation to options granted before the day on which this Act is passed; and the effect of the amendments made by paragraphs 8 to 10 and 13 above is limited accordingly. 17 (1) A SIP, SAYE option scheme or CSOP scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by this Part of this Schedule. (2) In relation to any shares awarded under a SIP before that day which are subject to provision for forfeiture, that provision has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendment made by paragraph 3 above. (3) Because of paragraphs 47 and 57 below, that amendment is not relevant to | 15 | | | |
| options granted before the day on which this Act is passed; and the effect of the amendments made by paragraphs 8 to 10 and 13 above is limited accordingly. 17 (1) A SIP, SAYE option scheme or CSOP scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by this Part of this Schedule. (2) In relation to any shares awarded under a SIP before that day which are subject to provision for forfeiture, that provision has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendment made by paragraph 3 above. (3) Because of paragraphs 47 and 57 below, that amendment is not relevant to | Trans | sitior | nal provision | |
| which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by this Part of this Schedule.(2) In relation to any shares awarded under a SIP before that day which are subject to provision for forfeiture, that provision has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendment made by paragraph 3 above.(3) Because of paragraphs 47 and 57 below, that amendment is not relevant to | 16 | | options granted before the day on which this Act is passed; and the effect of the amendments made by paragraphs 8 to 10 and 13 above is limited | 25 |
| subject to provision for forfeiture, that provision has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendment made by paragraph 3 above. (3) Because of paragraphs 47 and 57 below, that amendment is not relevant to | 17 | (1) | which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect | 30 |
| | | (2) | subject to provision for forfeiture, that provision has effect with any | |
| shares awarded under a 511 on after that day. | | (3) | Because of paragraphs 47 and 57 below, that amendment is not relevant to shares awarded under a SIP on or after that day. | 35 |

Part 2 - "Good leavers" (other than retirees)

141

Part 2

"GOOD LEAVERS" (OTHER THAN RETIREES)

| | | | | 1 | | | | | |
|----|----|----|----------|---|----|---|----|---|----|
| Ī1 | 11 | ·v | α | ď | 11 | 0 | t1 | 0 | u |
| 11 | LI | | | м | и | | ιı | | ΙL |

18 Part 7 of ITEPA 2003 (employment income: income and exemptions relating 5 to securities) is amended as follows. Share incentive plans 19 In section 498 (no charge on shares ceasing to be subject to plan in certain circumstances) after subsection (2) insert – A participant is not liable to income tax on shares ("the relevant 10 shares") in a company ("the relevant company") being withdrawn from the plan if — (a) the withdrawal of the relevant shares from the plan relates transaction resulting from a compromise, (i) arrangement or scheme falling within subsection (9), 15 an offer forming part of a general offer falling within (ii) subsection (10), or the application of sections 979 to 982 or 983 to 985 of (iii) the Companies Act 2006 in the case of a takeover offer (as defined in section 974 of that Act) falling within 20 subsection (12), and as a result of, as the case may be – the transaction, (ii) the offer, or the application of sections 979 to 982 or 983 to 985 of (iii) 25 the Companies Act 2006, the participant receives cash (and no other assets) in exchange for the relevant shares. For the purposes of subsection (3)(b) it does not matter if the participant receives other assets in exchange for shares other than the 30 relevant shares. Subsection (3) does not apply to the relevant shares (or to a proportion of them) if in connection with, as the case may be – the compromise, arrangement or scheme, the general offer, or 35 (b) the takeover offer, a course of action was open to the participant which, had it been followed, would have resulted in other assets being received in exchange for the relevant shares (or the proportion of them) instead of cash. 40 Subsection (3) does not apply to the relevant shares (or to a

> proportion of them) if it is reasonable to suppose that the relevant shares (or the proportion of them) would not have been awarded to

> > 45

the participant –

(a) had, as the case may be –

(8)

(9)

(10)

(12)

| | | Schedule 2 — Tax advantaged employee share schemes Part 2 — "Good leavers" (other than retirees) | |
|------------|---|--|----|
| | (i) (ii) (iii) | the compromise, scheme or arrangement, the general offer, or the takeover offer, | |
| | not be | en made, or | |
| (b) | had ar | ny arrangements for the making of – | 5 |
| | (i) | a compromise, arrangement or scheme which would fall within subsection (9), | |
| | (ii) | a general offer which would fall within subsection (10), or | |
| | (iii) | a takeover offer (as defined in section 974 of the Companies Act 2006) which would fall within subsection (12), | 10 |
| | | were in place or under consideration at any time not n place or under consideration. | |
| partici | pant is shares | (6) the reference to shares being awarded to the to be read, in the case of dividend shares, as a reference being acquired by the trustees on the participant's | 15 |
| In sub | sectior nent or | n (6)(b) "arrangements" includes any plan, scheme, understanding, whether or not legally enforceable. | 20 |
| | plicabl all the the sh all the held b | se, arrangement or scheme falls within this subsection if e to or affects— e ordinary share capital of the relevant company or all ares of the same class as the relevant shares, or e shares, or all the shares of that same class, which are by a class of shareholders identified otherwise than by nce to their employment or their participation in an ved SIP. | 25 |
| A gene | eral offe | er falls within this subsection if — | |
| (a) | | ade to holders of shares of the same class as the relevant s or to holders of shares in the relevant company, and | 30 |
| (b) | satisfi | ade in the first instance on a condition such that if it is ed the person making the offer will have control of the int company. | |
| | | (10)(b) "control" has the meaning given by sections 450 FA 2010. | 35 |
| A take | over of | fer falls within this subsection if — | |
| (a) (b) | it relationships where compa | tes to the relevant company, and there is more than one class of share in the relevant any, the class or classes to which it relates is or include ass of the relevant shares." | 40 |

- (1) In Part 5 of Schedule 2 (free shares) in paragraph 37 (holding period: power of participant to direct trustees to accept general offers etc) after subparagraph (6) insert –
 - "(7) If in the case of a takeover offer (as defined in section 974 of the Companies Act 2006) there arises a right under section 983 of that Act to require the offeror to acquire the participant's free shares,

Schedule 2 — Tax advantaged employee share scl Part 2 — "Good leavers" (other than retirees)

or such of them as are of a particular class, the participant may direct the trustees to exercise that right."

143

45

(2) A SIP approved before the day on which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendment made by this paragraph.

| | any m | odificat | tions nee | eded to reflect the amendment made by this paragraph. | | | | |
|---------------------|---|----------|---|--|----|--|--|--|
| SAYE o _l | ption sch | emes | | | 5 | | | |
| 21 | In section 519 (no charge in respect of exercise of option) after subsection (3) insert — | | | | | | | |
| | "(3A) | | In relation to any shares acquired by the exercise of the share option, no liability to income tax arises in respect of its exercise if — | | | | | |
| | | (a) | annive | ndividual exercises the option before the third ersary of the date on which the option was granted at a when the SAYE option scheme is approved, | 10 | | | |
| | | (b) | the opt | tion is exercised by virtue of a provision included in the e— | | | | |
| | | | (i) | under paragraph 37(1) of Schedule 3 where the relevant date is the relevant date for the purposes of paragraph 37(2) or (4), or | 15 | | | |
| | | | (ii) | under paragraph 37(6) of Schedule 3, | | | | |
| | | (c) | as a re | sult of, as the case may be — | | | | |
| | | | (i) | the general offer, | 20 | | | |
| | | | (ii) | the compromise or arrangement, or | | | | |
| | | | (iii) | the takeover offer, | | | | |
| | | | | lividual receives cash (and no other assets) in exchange shares, | | | | |
| | | (d) | when t | the decision to grant the option was taken – | 25 | | | |
| | | , , | (i) | the general offer, | | | | |
| | | | (ii) | | | | | |
| | | | (iii) | | | | | |
| | | | as the | case may be, had not been made, | | | | |
| | | (e) | when t | that decision was taken, no arrangements were in place ler consideration for — | 30 | | | |
| | | | (i) | the making of a general offer which would fall within subsection (3D), | | | | |
| | | | (ii) | the making of any compromise or arrangement which would fall within subsection (3F), or | 35 | | | |
| | | | (iii) | the making of a takeover offer (as defined in section 974 of the Companies Act 2006) which would fall within subsection (3G), | | | | |
| | | (f) | | scheme includes a provision under paragraph 38 of ale 3 ("the paragraph 38 provision"), in connection | 40 | | | |
| | | | (i) | the general offer, | | | | |
| | | | (ii) | the compromise or arrangement, or | | | | |
| | | | (iii) | the takeover offer, | | | | |
| | | | () | | | | | |

as the case may be, no course of action was open to the

individual which, had it been followed, would have resulted in the individual making an agreement under the paragraph

45

(2) In sub-paragraph (2) –

22

23

| | Furt 2 — Good teavers (other than retirees) | |
|-------------------|--|----|
| | 38 provision which would have prevented the individual from acquiring the shares by the exercise of the option, and (g) the avoidance of tax or national insurance contributions is not the main purpose (or one of the main purposes) of any arrangements under which the option was granted or is exercised. | 5 |
| (3B) | In subsection (3A)(c)(iii), (d)(iii) and (f)(iii) "the takeover offer" means the takeover offer (as defined in section 974 of the Companies Act 2006) giving rise to the application of sections 979 to 982 or 983 to 985 of that Act. | 10 |
| (3C) | In subsection (3A)(e) "arrangements" includes any plan, scheme, agreement or understanding, whether or not legally enforceable. | |
| (3D) | A general offer falls within this subsection if it is— (a) a general offer to acquire the whole of the issued ordinary share capital of the relevant company which is made on a condition such that, if it is met, the person making the offer will have control of the relevant company, or | 15 |
| | (b) a general offer to acquire all the shares in the relevant company which are of the same class as those acquired by the exercise of the option. | 20 |
| (3E) | For the purposes of subsection (3D)(a) a person is to be treated as obtaining control of a company if that person and others acting in concert together obtain control of it. | |
| (3F) | A compromise or arrangement falls within this subsection if it is applicable to or affects — (a) all the ordinary share capital of the relevant company or all the shares of the same class as those acquired by the exercise of the option, or | 25 |
| | (b) all the shares, or all the shares of that same class, which are held by a class of shareholders identified otherwise than by reference to their employment or directorships or their participation in an approved SAYE option scheme. | 30 |
| (3G) | A takeover offer falls within this subsection if — | |
| | (a) it relates to the relevant company, and(b) where there is more than one class of share in the relevant company, the class or classes to which it relates is or include the class of the shares acquired by the exercise of the option. | 35 |
| (3H) | In subsections (3D), (3F) and (3G) "the relevant company" means the company whose shares are acquired by the exercise of the option." | |
| Part 6 as foll | of Schedule 3 (requirements etc relating to share options) is amended ows. | 40 |

(1) Paragraph 34 (exercise of options: scheme-related employment ends) is amended as follows.

(a) omit the "or" after paragraph (a), and

Part 2 - "Good leavers" (other than retirees)

| (b) | after paragrap | h (b) | insert – |
|-----|----------------|-------|----------|
|-----|----------------|-------|----------|

- "(c) a relevant transfer within the meaning of the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006, or
- (d) if Pholds office or is employed in a company which is an associated company (as defined in paragraph 35(4)) of the scheme organiser, that company ceasing to be an associated company of the scheme organiser by reason of a change of control (as determined in accordance with sections 450 and 451 of CTA 2010),".
- (3) In sub-paragraphs (4) and (5A)(b) for "or (b)" substitute "to (d)".
- (4) A SAYE option scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by this paragraph.
- 24 (1) Paragraph 37 (exercise of options: company events) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In sub-paragraph (4) for the words from "proposed" to the end substitute "applicable to or affecting
 - (a) all the ordinary share capital of the company or all the shares of the same class as the shares to which the option relates, or
 - (b) all the shares, or all the shares of that same class, which are held by a class of shareholders identified otherwise than by reference to their employment or directorships or their participation in an approved SAYE option scheme."
 - (3) A SAYE option scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed which contains provision under paragraph 37(1) of Schedule 3 to ITEPA 2003 by reference to paragraph 37(4) has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendment made by sub-paragraph (2).
 - (4) In sub-paragraph (6)
 - (a) after "982" insert "or 983 to 985", and
 - (b) after "shareholder" insert "etc".
 - (5) A SAYE option scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed which contains provision under paragraph 37(6) of Schedule 3 to ITEPA 2003 has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by sub-paragraph (4).
- 25 (1) In Part 7 of Schedule 3 (exercise of share options) in paragraph 38 (exchange of options on company reorganisation) in sub-paragraph (2)(c)
 - (a) after "982" insert "or 983 to 985", and
 - (b) after "shareholder" insert "etc".
 - (2) A SAYE option scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed which contains provision under paragraph 38 of Schedule 3 to ITEPA 2003 has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by this paragraph.

10

5

15

20

25

2.

30

35

CSOP schemes

- 26 (1) Section 524 (no charge in respect of exercise of option) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (2B) for paragraph (a) substitute
 - "(a) has ceased to be in qualifying employment because of —

5

10

15

- (i) injury, disability, redundancy or retirement,
- (ii) a relevant transfer within the meaning of the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006, or
- (iii) in the case of a group scheme where the qualifying employment is as a director or employee of a constituent company, that company ceasing to be controlled by the scheme organiser, and".
- (3) After subsection (2B) insert
 - "(2BA) For the purposes of subsection (2B) an individual is in "qualifying employment" if the individual is a full-time director or qualifying employee (as defined in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4) of
 - (a) the scheme organiser, or
 - (b) in the case of a group scheme, a constituent company."
- (4) In subsection (2C) for "(2B)" substitute "(2B)(a)(i)".

20

25

30

- (5) After subsection (2C) insert
 - "(2D) Subsection (2B)(a)(iii) does not cover a case where the constituent company was controlled by the scheme organiser by virtue of paragraph 34 of Schedule 4 (jointly owned companies).
 - (2E) In relation to any shares acquired by the exercise of the share option, no liability to income tax arises in respect of its exercise if
 - (a) the individual exercises the option before the third anniversary of the date on which the option was granted at a time when the CSOP scheme is approved,
 - (b) the option is exercised by virtue of a provision included in the scheme under paragraph 25A of Schedule 4,
 - (c) as a result of, as the case may be
 - (i) the general offer,
 - (ii) the compromise or arrangement, or
 - (iii) the takeover offer,

35

the individual receives cash (and no other assets) in exchange for the shares,

- (d) when the decision to grant the option was taken
 - (i) the general offer,
 - (ii) the compromise or arrangement, or

40

45

(iii) the takeover offer,

as the case may be, had not been made,

- (e) when that decision was taken, no arrangements were in place or under consideration for
 - (i) the making of a general offer which would fall within subsection (2H),

Finance (No. 2) Bill 147 Schedule 2 – Tax advantag

Part 2 – "Good leavers" (o

(2F)

(2G)

(2H)

(2I)

(2J)

| | employee share schemes r than retirees) |
|-----------------|---|
| | (ii) the making of any compromise or arrangement which would fall within subsection (2J), or |
| | (iii) the making of a takeover offer (as defined in section 974 of the Companies Act 2006) which would fall within subsection (2K), |
| (f) | if the scheme includes a provision under paragraph 26 of Schedule 4 ("the paragraph 26 provision"), in connection with— |
| | (i) the general offer, |
| | (ii) the compromise or arrangement, or |
| | (iii) the takeover offer, |
| | as the case may be, no course of action was open to the individual which, had it been followed, would have resulted in the individual making an agreement under the paragraph 26 provision which would have prevented the individual from acquiring the shares by the exercise of the option, and |
| (g) | the avoidance of tax or national insurance contributions is not the main purpose (or one of the main purposes) of any arrangements under which the option was granted or is |
| | exercised. |
| means Act 20 | bsection (2E)(c)(iii), (d)(iii) and (f)(iii) "the takeover offer" the takeover offer (as defined in section 974 of the Companies 906) giving rise to the application of sections 979 to 982 or 983 of that Act. |
| | osection (2E)(e) "arrangements" includes any plan, scheme, ment or understanding, whether or not legally enforceable. |
| A gen | eral offer falls within this subsection if it is— |
| (a) | a general offer to acquire the whole of the issued ordinary share capital of the relevant company which is made on a condition such that, if it is met, the person making the offer will have control of the relevant company, or |
| (b) | a general offer to acquire all the shares in the relevant company which are of the same class as those acquired by the exercise of the option. |
| obtain | e purposes of subsection (2H)(a) a person is to be treated as sing control of a company if that person and others acting in the together obtain control of it. |
| | npromise or arrangement falls within this subsection if it is able to or affects — |
| (a) | all the ordinary share capital of the relevant company or all the shares of the same class as those acquired by the exercise of the option, or |
| (b) | all the shares, or all the shares of that same class, which are held by a class of shareholders identified otherwise than by reference to their employment or directorships or their |

- A takeover offer falls within this subsection if (2K)
 - (a) it relates to the relevant company, and

participation in an approved CSOP scheme.

| | Turt 2 Good Rubers (other than retirees) | |
|----|--|----|
| | (b) where there is more than one class of share in the relevant company, the class or classes to which it relates is or include the class of the shares acquired by the exercise of the option. | |
| 5 | (2L) In subsections (2H), (2J) and (2K) "the relevant company" means the company whose shares are acquired by the exercise of the option." | |
| | Part 5 of Schedule 4 (requirements etc relating to share options) is amended as follows. | 27 |
| 10 | In paragraph 21 (introduction) in sub-paragraph (2) — (a) after the entry for paragraph 24 omit "or", and (b) after the entry for paragraph 25 insert ", or paragraph 25A (exercise of options: company events)". | 28 |
| | After paragraph 25 insert — | 29 |
| | "Exercise of options: company events | |
| 15 | 25A (1) The scheme may provide that share options relating to shares in a company may be exercised within 6 months after the relevant date for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) or (4). | |
| | (2) The relevant date for the purposes of this sub-paragraph is the date when – | |
| | (a) a person has obtained control of the company as a result of making an offer falling within sub-paragraph (3), and(b) any condition subject to which the offer is made has been satisfied. | |
| | (3) An offer falls within this sub-paragraph if it is — (a) a general offer to acquire the whole of the issued ordinary share capital of the company which is made on a condition such that, if it is met, the person making the offer will have control of the company, or | |
| 30 | (b) a general offer to acquire all the shares in the company which are of the same class as the shares to which the option relates. | |
| 35 | (4) The relevant date for the purposes of this sub-paragraph is the date when the court sanctions under section 899 of the Companies Act 2006 (court sanction for compromise or arrangement) a compromise or arrangement applicable to or affecting — (a) all the ordinary share capital of the company or all the shares of the same class as the shares to which the option relates, or | |
| 40 | (b) all the shares, or all the shares of that same class, which are held by a class of shareholders identified otherwise than by reference to their employment or directorships or their participation in an approved CSOP scheme. | |
| | (5) The scheme may provide that share options relating to shares in a company may be exercised at any time when any person is bound or entitled to acquire shares in the company under sections 979 to | |

| Finance (No. 2) Bill | |
|----------------------|--|
| | |

| Scheaule 2 – | 1 ax aavantaged | ' employee snare | e scheme |
|--------------|------------------|------------------|----------|
| Part 2 - "Go | od leavers" (oth | er than retirees |) |

982 or 983 to 985 of the Companies Act 2006 (takeover offers: right of offeror to buy out minority shareholder etc).

- (6) For the purposes of this paragraph a person is to be treated as obtaining control of a company if that person and others acting in concert together obtain control of it."
- 30 (1) In Part 6 of Schedule 4 (exercise of share options) in paragraph 26 (exchange of options on company reorganisation) in sub-paragraph (2)(c)
 - (a) after "982" insert "or 983 to 985", and
 - (b) after "shareholder" insert "etc".
 - (2) A CSOP scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed which contains provision under paragraph 26 of Schedule 4 to ITEPA 2003 has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by this paragraph.

PART 3

MATERIAL INTEREST RULES

15

5

10

Introduction

Part 7 of ITEPA 2003 (employment income: income and exemptions relating to securities) is amended as follows.

Share incentive plans

- Part 3 of Schedule 2 (eligibility of individuals) is amended as follows.
- 20

- 33 In paragraph 13 (introduction)
 - (a) after the entry for paragraph 18 insert "and", and
 - (b) omit the entry for paragraph 19 and the "and" before it.
- In paragraph 14 (time of eligibility to participate) in sub-paragraph (7)
 - (a) after paragraph (b) insert "and", and

25

- (b) omit paragraph (c) and the "and" before it.
- Omit paragraphs 19 to 24 (the "no material interest" requirement).
- In Part 11 of Schedule 2 (supplementary provisions) in paragraph 100 (index of defined expressions), in the entry for "close company", omit "(and see paragraph 20(4))".

30

35

- 37 (1) The amendments made by paragraphs 32 to 36 above have effect for the purpose of determining whether an individual is eligible to participate in an award of shares on the day on which this Act is passed or any later day.
 - (2) A SIP approved before the day on which this Act is passed has effect accordingly with the omission of any provision falling within a provision of Schedule 2 to ITEPA 2003 omitted by those paragraphs.

SAYE option schemes

38 Part 3 of Schedule 3 (eligibility of individuals) is amended as follows.

| | | Schedule 2 – Tax duodntaged employée share schemes Part 3 – Material interest rules | |
|-------|--------|--|--|
| 39 | | In paragraph 9 (introduction) omit the entry for paragraph 11 and the "and" before it. | |
| 40 | | Omit paragraphs 11 to 16 (the "no material interest" requirement). | |
| 41 | | In Part 9 of Schedule 3 (supplementary provisions) in paragraph 49 (index of defined expressions), in the entry for "close company", omit "(and see paragraph 11(4))". | |
| 42 | (1) | The amendments made by paragraphs 38 to 41 above have effect for the purpose of determining whether an individual is eligible to participate in a scheme on the day on which this Act is passed or any later day. | |
| | (2) | A SAYE option scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed has effect accordingly with the omission of any provision falling within a provision of Schedule 3 to ITEPA 2003 omitted by those paragraphs. | |
| CSO | P scl | nemes | |
| 43 | (1) | In Part 3 of Schedule 4 (eligibility of individuals) in paragraphs 10(2) and (3), 11(3) and (4) and 13(2) (which relate to the "no material interest" requirement) for "25%" substitute "30%". | |
| | (2) | The amendments made by this paragraph have effect for the purpose of determining whether a person is eligible to participate in a scheme on the day on which this Act is passed or any later day (by altering what constitutes a material interest on that day and within the 12 months preceding that day). | |
| | (3) | A CSOP scheme approved before the day on which this Act is passed has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by this paragraph. | |
| | | Part 4 | |
| | | RESTRICTED SHARES | |
| Intro | duct | ion | |
| 44 | | Part 7 of ITEPA 2003 (employment income: income and exemptions relating to securities) is amended as follows. | |
| Shar | e ince | entive plans | |
| 45 | | Part 4 of Schedule 2 (types of shares that may be awarded) is amended as follows. | |
| 46 | | In paragraph 25 (introduction) in sub-paragraph (1) — (a) after the entry for paragraph 28 insert "and", and (b) omit the entry for paragraph 30 and the "and" before it. | |
| 47 | | Omit paragraphs 30 to 33 (only certain kinds of restrictions allowed). | |
| 48 | | In Part 5 of Schedule 2 (free shares) in paragraph 35 (maximum annual award) omit sub-paragraphs (3) and (4). | |
| 49 | | In Part 6 of Schedule 2 (partnership shares) in paragraph 43 (introduction) | |

after sub-paragraph (2) insert —

Part 4 - Restricted shares

- "(2A) The plan must provide that partnership shares are not to be subject to any provision for forfeiture."
- In Part 7 of Schedule 2 (matching shares) in paragraph 59 (general requirement for matching shares) omit sub-paragraph (2).

5

- In Part 9 of Schedule 2 (trustees) in paragraph 75 (duty to give notice of award of shares etc) in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) after paragraph (a) insert—
 - "(aa) if the shares are subject to any restriction, giving details of the restriction,".

10

- 52 (1) In Part 10 of Schedule 2 (approval of plans) paragraph 84 (disqualifying events) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In sub-paragraph (3)
 - (a) after paragraph (b) insert "or", and
 - (b) omit paragraph (c) and the "or" after it.

15

- (3) In sub-paragraph (4) before paragraph (a) insert
 - "(za) from any shares being subject to a restriction,".
- Part 11 of Schedule 2 (supplementary provision) is amended as follows.
- In paragraph 92 (determination of market value) for sub-paragraph (2) substitute 20
 - "(2) For the purposes of this Schedule the market value of shares subject to a restriction is to be determined as if they were not subject to the restriction."
- 55 In paragraph 99 (minor definitions) after sub-paragraph (3) insert
 - "(4) For the purposes of the SIP code –

25

(a) shares are subject to a "restriction" if there is any contract, agreement, arrangement or condition which makes provision to which any of subsections (2) to (4) of section 423 (restricted securities) would apply if the references in those subsections to the employment-related securities were to the shares, and

30

40

- (b) the "restriction" is that provision."
- In paragraph 100 (index of defined expressions) at the appropriate place insert —

"restriction (in relation to paragraph 99(4)". 35 shares)

- 57 (1) The amendments made by paragraphs 45 to 47 and 49 to 51 above have effect in relation to awards of shares made on or after the day on which this Act is passed.
 - (2) A SIP approved, or a trust instrument made, before that day has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by paragraphs 45 to 56 above.

(3) In particular, in relation to awards of shares on or after that day, such a SIP has effect with the omission of any provision falling within a provision of Schedule 2 to ITEPA 2003 omitted by paragraph 47 above.

SAYE option schemes

58 Part 4 of Schedule 3 (shares to which schemes can apply) is amended as 5 follows. 59 In paragraph 17 (introduction) in sub-paragraph (1) after the entry for paragraph 20 insert "and", and omit the entry for paragraph 21 and the "and" after it. Omit paragraph 21 (only certain kinds of restrictions allowed). 10 60 61 In Part 6 of Schedule 3 (requirements etc relating to share options) in paragraph 28 (requirements as to price of acquisition of shares) after subparagraph (4) insert – "(5) At the time a share option is granted – it must be stated whether or not the shares which may be 15 acquired by the exercise of the option may be subject to any restriction, and if so, the details of the restriction must also be stated. (6) For the purposes of this paragraph the market value of shares subject to a restriction is to be determined as if they were not 20 subject to the restriction." 62 In Part 7 of Schedule 3 (exchange of share options) in paragraph 39 (requirements about share options granted in exchange) after subparagraph (6) insert – 25 "(7) For the purposes of this paragraph the market value of shares subject to a restriction is to be determined as if they were not subject to the restriction." 63 Part 9 of Schedule 3 (supplementary provisions) is amended as follows. 64 In paragraph 48 (minor definitions) after sub-paragraph (2) insert — "(3) For the purposes of the SAYE code – 30 shares are subject to a "restriction" if there is any contract, agreement, arrangement or condition which makes provision to which any of subsections (2) to (4) of section 423 (restricted securities) would apply if the references in those subsections to the employment-related securities 35 were to the shares, and

(b) the "restriction" is that provision."

65 In paragraph 49 (index of defined expressions) at the appropriate place insert -

> 40 "restriction (in relation to paragraph 48(3)". shares)

74

153

Part 4 - Restricted shares (1) The amendments made by paragraphs 58 to 61 above have effect in relation 66 to options granted on or after the day on which this Act is passed. (2) The amendment made by paragraph 62 above has effect for cases where the old options are granted on or after that day. (3) A SAYE option scheme approved before that day has effect with any 5 modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by paragraphs 58 to 65 above. (4) In particular, in relation to options granted on or after that day, such a SAYE option scheme has effect with the omission of any provision falling within a provision of Schedule 3 to ITEPA 2003 omitted by paragraph 60 above. 10 CSOP schemes 67 In Part 2 of Schedule 4 (general requirements for approval) in paragraph 6 (limit on value of shares subject to options) after sub-paragraph (3) insert — "(4) For the purposes of this paragraph the market value of shares subject to a restriction is to be determined as if they were not 15 subject to the restriction." 68 Part 4 of Schedule 4 (shares to which schemes can apply) is amended as follows. 69 In paragraph 15 (introduction) – after the entry for paragraph 18 insert "and", and 20 omit the entry relating to paragraph 19 and the "and" after it. 70 Omit paragraph 19 (only certain kinds of restrictions allowed). 71 In Part 5 of Schedule 4 (requirements etc relating to share options) in paragraph 22 after sub-paragraph (4) insert — "(5) At the time a share option is granted – 25 it must be stated whether or not the shares which may be acquired by the exercise of the option may be subject to any restriction, and if so, the details of the restriction must also be stated. (6) For the purposes of this paragraph the market value of shares 30 subject to a restriction is to be determined as if they were not subject to the restriction." 72 In Part 6 of Schedule 4 (exchange of share options) in paragraph 27 (requirements about share options granted in exchange) after subparagraph (6) insert – 35 "(7) For the purposes of this paragraph the market value of shares subject to a restriction is to be determined as if they were not subject to the restriction."

Part 8 of Schedule 4 (supplementary provisions) is amended as follows.

40

In paragraph 36 (minor definitions) after sub-paragraph (2) insert —

"(3) For the purposes of the CSOP code –

15

20

25

30

35

(a) shares are subject to a "restriction" if there is any contract, agreement, arrangement or condition which makes provision to which any of subsections (2) to (4) of section 423 (restricted securities) would apply if the references in those subsections to the employment-related securities were to the shares, and

(b) the "restriction" is that provision."

In paragraph 37 (index of defined expressions) at the appropriate place insert –

"restriction (in relation to paragraph 36(3)". 10 shares)

76 (1) The amendment made by paragraph 67 above has effect for the purpose of determining whether options may be granted to an individual on or after the day on which this Act is passed; but the amendment is to be ignored in determining the market value of any shares to which an option granted before that day relates.

(2) The amendments made by paragraphs 68 to 71 above have effect in relation to options granted on or after that day.

- (3) The amendment made by paragraph 72 above has effect for cases where the old options are granted on or after that day.
- (4) A CSOP scheme approved before that day has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by paragraphs 67 to 75 above.
- (5) In particular, in relation to options granted on or after that day, such a CSOP scheme has effect with the omission of any provision falling within a provision of Schedule 4 to ITEPA 2003 omitted by paragraph 70 above.

Part 5

SHARE INCENTIVE PLANS: PARTNERSHIP SHARES

- 77 Schedule 2 to ITEPA 2003 is amended as follows.
- 78 (1) In Part 6 (partnership shares) paragraph 52 (application of money deducted in accumulation period) is amended as follows.

(2) After sub-paragraph (2) insert –

- "(2A) The number of shares awarded to the employee must be determined in accordance with one of sub-paragraphs (3), (3A) and (3B) and the partnership share agreement must specify which one of those sub-paragraphs is to apply for the purposes of the agreement."
- (3) In sub-paragraph (3) for "The number of shares awarded to each" substitute "If the agreement specifies that this sub-paragraph is to apply, the number of shares awarded to the".

| Sched | ule 2 - | . 2) Bill 155 - Tax advantaged employee share schemes are incentive plans: partnership shares |
|-------|---------|--|
| | | After sub-paragraph (3) insert – |
| | () | "(3A) If the agreement specifies that this sub-paragraph is to apply, the number of shares awarded to the employee must be determined in accordance with the market value of the shares at the beginning of the accumulation period. |
| | | (3B) If the agreement specifies that this sub-paragraph is to apply, the number of shares awarded to the employee must be determined in accordance with the market value of the shares on the acquisition date." |
| | (5) | In sub-paragraphs (4) and (5) for "and (3)" substitute "to (3B)". |
| 79 | | In Part 9 (trustees) in paragraph 75 (duty to give notice of award of shares etc) in sub-paragraph (3) for paragraph (c) substitute— "(c) stating the market value in accordance with which the number of shares awarded to the employee was determined." |
| 80 | (1) | The amendments made by paragraphs 78 and 79 above have effect in relation to partnership share agreements made on or after the day on which this Act is passed. |
| | (2) | A trust instrument made before that day has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendment made by paragraph 79 above. |
| | | Part 6 |
| | | SHARE INCENTIVE PLANS: DIVIDEND SHARES |
| Intro | ducti | on |
| 81 | | Part 8 of Schedule 2 to ITEPA 2003 (cash dividends and dividend shares) is amended as follows. |
| Com | pany | 's power to direct reinvestment of cash dividends |
| 82 | (1) | Paragraph 62 (reinvestment of dividends) is amended as follows. |
| | (2) | In sub-paragraph (1) after "apply" insert "the specified percentage of". |
| | (3) | After sub-paragraph (1) insert — |
| | | "(1A) In sub-paragraph (1) "the specified percentage" means the percentage specified in the company's direction (which may be 100%), subject to sub-paragraph (1B). |
| | | (1B) The company may from time to time modify the specified percentage." |
| 83 | | In paragraph 68 (reinvestment: amounts to be carried forward) for sub-paragraph (1) substitute — |
| | | "(1) This paragraph applies where an amount is not reinvested because it is not sufficient to acquire a share." |

In paragraph 69 (cash dividends with no requirement to reinvest) in subparagraph (2) for "which" substitute "so far as they".

85 (1) A SIP approved before the day on which this Act is passed which contains provision under paragraph 62(1) of Schedule 2 to ITEPA 2003 has effect with any modifications needed to reflect the amendments made by paragraphs 82 to 84 above. 5 (2) In relation to any direction requiring the reinvestment of cash dividends given before that day, the specified percentage is to be taken to be 100% subject to any modification on or after that day under paragraph 62(1B) of Schedule 2 of ITEPA 2003. Removal of limit on amount reinvested 86 In paragraph 63 (requirements to be met as regards cash dividends) in sub-10 paragraph (1) omit the entry for paragraph 64. 87 Omit paragraph 64 (limit on amount reinvested). 88 (1) The amendments made by paragraphs 86 and 87 above have effect in relation to the tax year 2013-14 and subsequent tax years. (2) A SIP approved before 6 April 2013 has effect accordingly with the omission 15 of any provision falling within a provision of Schedule 2 to ITEPA 2003 omitted by paragraph 87 above. Amounts to be carried forward (1) Paragraph 68 (reinvestment: amounts to be carried forward) is amended as follows. 20 (2) In sub-paragraph (4) – (a) omit paragraph (a) and the "or" after it, and in paragraphs (b) and (c) omit "during that period". (3) Omit sub-paragraph (6). 25 (4) The amendments made by this paragraph have effect in relation to amounts held by trustees on or after 6 April 2013 (including amounts originally retained before that date in relation to which an event falling within paragraph 68(4)(a) to (c) of Schedule 2 to ITEPA 2003 did not occur before that date). (5) A SIP approved before 6 April 2013 has effect accordingly with the omission 30 of any provision falling within a provision of Schedule 2 to ITEPA 2003 omitted by this paragraph. Part 7 SHARE INCENTIVE PLANS: EMPLOYEE SHARE OWNERSHIP TRUSTS 90 Part 9 of Schedule 2 to ITEPA 2003 (trustees) is amended as follows.

91 In paragraph 70 (introduction) in sub-paragraph (2) —

after the entry for paragraph 77 insert "and", and

omit the entry for paragraph 78.

92 (1) Omit paragraph 78 (acquisition of shares from employee share ownership trusts).

40

Finance (No. 2) Bill

(2) A trust instrument made before the day on which this Act is passed has effect with the omission of any provision falling within a provision of Schedule 2 to ITEPA 2003 omitted by this paragraph.

| Part 8 | |
|---|--------------|
| Enterprise management incentives: consequences of disqualifying events | 5 |
| 93 (1) In section 532 of ITEPA 2003 (modified tax consequences following disqualifying events) in subsection (1)(b) for "40" substitute "90". | |
| (2) The amendment made by this paragraph has effect in relation to disqualifying events occurring on or after the day on which this Act is passed. | 10 |
| SCHEDULE 3 Section 16 | |
| LIMIT ON INCOME TAX RELIEFS | |
| The limit | |
| 1 In Chapter 3 of Part 2 of ITA 2007 (calculation of income tax liability) after section 24 insert – | 15 |
| "24A Limit on Step 2 deductions | |
| (1) If the taxpayer is an individual, there is a limit on certain deductions which may be made for the tax year at Step 2. | |
| (2) The limit is determined as follows. | |
| (3) Amount A must not exceed amount B. | 20 |
| (4) Amount A is — (a) the deductions for the tax year at Step 2 for the reliefs listed in subsection (6) taken together, less (b) so much of those deductions as fall within subsection (7). | |
| (5) Amount B is – (a) £50,000, or (b) if more, 25% of the taxpayer's adjusted total income for the tax year (see subsection (8)). | 25 |
| (6) The reliefs are — (a) relief under section 64 (trade loss relief against general income); (b) relief under section 72 (early trade losses relief); (c) relief under section 96 (post-cessation trade relief); (d) relief under section 120 (property loss relief against general income); (e) relief under section 125 (post-cessation property relief); (f) relief under section 128 (employment loss relief against | <i>30 35</i> |

(g) relief under Chapter 6 of Part 4 (share loss relief);

general income);

Step 4

Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 3 – Limit on income tax reliefs relief under Chapter 1 of Part 8 (interest payments); relief under section 555 of ITEPA 2003 (deduction for liabilities relating to former employment); relief under section 446 of ITTOIA 2005 (strips of government securities: relief for losses); relief under section 454(4) of ITTOIA 2005 (listed securities held since 26 March 2003: relief for losses: persons other than trustees). The deductions falling within this subsection are deductions for amounts of relief so far as attributable to 10 allowances under Part 3A of CAA 2001 (business premises renovation allowances); deductions for amounts of relief under a provision mentioned in subsection (6)(a) to (e) so far as made from profits of the trade or business to which the relief in question 15 relates: deductions for amounts of relief under the provision mentioned in subsection (6)(a) or (b) so far as attributable to a deduction allowed under section 205 or 220 of ITTOIA 2005 (deduction for overlap profit in final tax year or on change of 20 accounting date); deductions for amounts of relief under the provision mentioned in subsection (6)(g) – where the shares in question fall within section 131(2)(a) (qualifying shares to which EIS relief is 25 attributable), or where SEIS relief is attributable to the shares in (ii) question as determined in accordance with Part 5A (seed enterprise investment scheme). The taxpayer's "adjusted total income" for the tax year is calculated 30 as follows. Step 1 Take the amount of the taxpayer's total income for the tax year. Add back the amounts of any deductions allowed under Part 12 of 35 ITEPA 2003 (payroll giving) in calculating the taxpayer's income which is charged to tax for the tax year. Step 3 If the taxpayer is given relief in accordance with section 192 of FA 2004 (pension schemes: relief at source) in respect of any contribution 40 paid in the tax year under a pension scheme, deduct the gross amount of the contribution. The "gross" amount of a contribution is the amount of the contribution before deduction of tax under section 192(1) of FA 2004.

If the taxpayer is entitled to a deduction for relief under section 193(4) or 194(1) of FA 2004 (pension schemes: excess relief under net payment arrangements or relief on making a claim) for the tax year, deduct the amount of the excess or contribution (as the case may be).

5

10

15

25

30

The result is the taxpayer's adjusted total income for the tax year."

Consequential amendments

| 2 | (1) | ITA 2007 is amended as follows. | |
|---|-----|---------------------------------|--|
|---|-----|---------------------------------|--|

- (2) In section 23 (calculation of income tax liability) at step 2 for "section 25" substitute "sections 24A and 25".
- (3) In the following provisions (which explain how certain reliefs work) for "section 25(4) and (5)" substitute "sections 24A and 25(4) and (5)"—
 - (a) section 65(1),
 - (b) section 73,
 - (c) section 121(1),
 - (d) section 129(1), and
 - (e) section 133(1).
- (4) In section 148 (share loss relief: disposal of shares forming part of mixed holding) in subsection (3)(b) before sub-paragraph (i) insert—
 - "(ai) shares to which SEIS relief is attributable (as determined in accordance with Part 5A),".

Commencement and transitional provision

- The amendments made by paragraphs 1 and 2 above have effect for the tax year 2013-14 and subsequent tax years.
- 4 (1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies to a claim which relates to the tax year 2013-14 or a subsequent tax year by virtue of paragraph 2 of Schedule 1B to TMA 1970 where the earlier year is a tax year before the tax year 2013-14.
 - (2) The amount of the claim is to be determined as if the amendments made by paragraphs 1 and 2 above also have effect for tax years before the tax year 2013-14.
 - (3) For this purpose, section 24A(6) of ITA 2007 (as inserted by paragraph 1 above) is treated as having effect for tax years before the tax year 2013-14 as if
 - (a) in paragraphs (a), (b), (f) and (g) the references to relief were limited to relief in respect of a loss made in the tax year 2013-14 or a subsequent tax year, and
 - (b) all the other paragraphs were omitted.
- In section 24A(6)(d) of ITA 2007 (as inserted by paragraph 1 above) the reference to relief does not include relief in respect of a loss made in the tax year 2012-13.

SCHEDULE 4

Section 17

35

CASH BASIS FOR SMALL BUSINESSES

Part 1

| | | MAIN PROVISIONS | |
|---------------|----------|--|----|
| Introductor | y | | 5 |
| 1 l | Part 2 | of ITTOIA 2005 (trading income) is amended as follows. | |
| Eligibility t | to calcu | late profits on cash basis | |
| 2 | Chapte | er 3 (trade profits: basic rules) is amended as follows. | |
| ä | accour | tion 25(3) (exception to requirement to use generally accepted ating practice), for "section 160 (barristers and advocates in early years tice)" substitute "section 25A (cash basis for small businesses)". | 10 |
| 4 | After s | ection 25 insert – | |
| "25 | 5A Ca | sh basis for small businesses | |
| | (1) | A person who is or has been carrying on a trade may elect for the profits of the trade to be calculated on the cash basis (instead of in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice). | 15 |
| | (2) | References in this Part to calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis are references to doing so in accordance with this section. | |
| | (3) | Chapter 3A contains provision about — (a) when a person may make an election under this section, and (b) the effect of such an election. | 20 |
| | (4) | Where an election under this section has effect in relation to a trade, sections 27, 28 and 30 do not apply in relation to the calculation of the profits of the trade." | |
| 5 | After (| Chapter 3 insert — | 25 |
| | | "CHAPTER 3A | |
| | | TRADE PROFITS: CASH BASIS | |
| | | Eligibility | |
| 31 A | A Co | nditions to be met for profits to be calculated on cash basis | |

- (1) A person may make an election under section 25A for a tax year if conditions A to C are met.
- (2) Condition A is that the aggregate of the cash basis receipts of each trade, profession or vocation carried on by the person during that tax year does not exceed any relevant maximum applicable for that tax year (see section 31B).

- Condition B is that, in a case where the person is either an individual who controls a firm or a firm controlled by an individual – the aggregate of the cash basis receipts of each trade, profession or vocation carried on by the individual or the firm during that tax year does not exceed any relevant 5 maximum applicable for that tax year, and the firm or the individual (as the case may be) has also made an election under section 25A for that tax year. Condition C is that the person is not an excluded person in relation 10 to the tax year (see section 31C). For the purposes of this section, the "cash basis receipts" of a trade, profession or vocation, in relation to a tax year, are any receipts that are received during the basis period for the tax year, and (a) would be brought into account in calculating the profits of 15 the trade, profession or vocation for that tax year on the cash basis. 31B Relevant maximum For the purposes of section 31A there is a "relevant maximum" applicable for a tax year in relation to a trade, profession or vocation 20 carried on by a person if any of conditions A to C is met. Condition A is that an election under section 25A did not have effect in relation to the trade, profession or vocation for the previous tax year. Condition B is that the aggregate of the cash basis receipts of each 25 trade, profession or vocation carried on by the person during the previous tax year is greater than an amount equal to twice the VAT threshold for that previous tax year. Condition C is that, in a case where the person is either an individual who controls a firm or a firm controlled by an individual, the 30 aggregate of the cash basis receipts of each trade, profession or vocation carried on by the individual or the firm during the previous tax year is greater than an amount equal to twice the VAT threshold for that previous tax year. If there is a relevant maximum applicable for a tax year, the amount 35 of the relevant maximum is the VAT threshold, or in the case where the person is an individual who is a universal credit claimant in the tax year, an amount equal to twice the VAT threshold. 40 For the purposes of this section, where the basis period for a tax year
 - is less than 12 months, the VAT threshold is proportionately reduced.
 - (7) In this section –

"universal credit claimant", in relation to a tax year, means a person who is entitled to universal credit under the relevant legislation for an assessment period (within the meaning of

Condition H is that –

| | Schedule 4 — Cash basis for small businesses Part 1 — Main provisions | |
|--------|--|----|
| | the relevant legislation) that falls within the basis period for the tax year, | |
| | "the relevant legislation" means— | |
| | (a) Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or | _ |
| | (b) any provision made for Northern Ireland which corresponds to that Part of that Act, and | 5 |
| | "the VAT threshold", in relation to a tax year, means the amount specified at the end of that tax year in paragraph 1(1)(a) of Schedule 1 to VATA 1994. | |
| (8) | The Treasury may by order amend this section. | 10 |
| (9) | A statutory instrument containing an order under subsection (8) that restricts the circumstances in which an election may be made under section 25A may not be made unless a draft of the instrument containing the order has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons. | 15 |
| 31C Ex | cluded persons | |
| (1) | A person is an excluded person in relation to a tax year if the person meets any of conditions A to H. | |
| (2) | Condition A is that — | |
| | (a) the person is a firm, and(b) one or more of the persons who have been partners in the firm at any time during the basis period for the tax year was not an individual at that time. | 20 |
| (3) | Condition B is that the person was a limited liability partnership at any time during the basis period for the tax year. | 25 |
| (4) | Condition C is that the person is an individual who has been a Lloyd's underwriter at any time during the basis period for the tax year. | |
| (5) | Condition D is that the person has made an election under Chapter 8 (trade profits: herd basis rules) that has effect in relation to the tax year. | 30 |
| (6) | Condition E is that the person has made a claim under section 221 (claim for averaging of fluctuating profits) in relation to the tax year. | |
| (7) | Condition F is that, at any time within the period of 7 years ending immediately before the basis period for the tax year, the person obtained an allowance under Part 3A of CAA 2001 (business premises renovation allowances). | 35 |
| (8) | Condition G is that the person has carried on a mineral extraction trade at any time during the basis period for the tax year. | |
| | In this subsection "mineral extraction trade" has the same meaning as in Part 5 of CAA 2001 (see section 394(2) of that Act). | 40 |

at any time before the beginning of the basis period for the tax year the person obtained an allowance under Part 6 of CAA 2001 (research and development allowances) in respect of

qualifying expenditure incurred by the person, and

35

40

| Main provi | sions | |
|------------|--|--|
| | (b) the person owns an asset representing the expenditure. In this subsection "qualifying expenditure" has the same meaning as in Part 6 of CAA 2001. | |
| (10) | The Treasury may by order amend this section. | |
| (11) | A statutory instrument containing an order under subsection (10) that restricts the circumstances in which an election may be made under section 25A may not be made unless a draft of the instrument containing the order has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons. | |
| | Elections under section 25A | |
| 31D Ef | fect of election under section 25A | |
| (1) | An election made by a person under section 25A has effect— (a) for the tax year for which it is made, and (b) for every subsequent tax year. This is subject to subsections (2) and (3). | |
| (2) | An election made by a person under section 25A ceases to have effect if any of conditions A to C in section 31A is not met for a subsequent tax year. | |
| (3) | An election made by a person under section 25A ceases to have effect if— (a) there is a change of circumstances relating to any trade, profession or vocation carried on by the person which makes it more appropriate for its profits for a subsequent tax year to be calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice, and (b) the person elects to calculate those profits in that way. | |
| (4) | Neither subsection (2) nor subsection (3) prevents the person making an election under section 25A for any subsequent tax year. | |
| (5) | An election that— (a) is made by a person under section 25A, and (b) has effect for a tax year, has effect in relation to every trade, profession or vocation carried on by the person during the tax year. | |
| (6) | For provision prohibiting a person who has made an election under | |

Calculation of profits on cash basis

31E Calculation of profits on cash basis

1(4) of CAA 2001.

This section applies to professions and vocations as it applies to (1) trades.

section 25A from claiming any capital allowances (other than in

respect of expenditure incurred on the provision of a car), see section

To determine the profits of a trade for a tax year on the cash basis —

| | Schedule 4 — Cash basis for small businesses Part 1 — Main provisions | |
|------------|--|----|
| | Step 1 Calculate the total amount of receipts of the trade received during the basis period for the tax year. Step 2 Deduct from that amount the total amount of expenses of the trade paid during the basis period for the tax year. | 5 |
| (3) | Subsection (2) is subject to any adjustment required or authorised by law in calculating profits for income tax purposes. | |
| | Overview of rest of Part 2 | |
| 31F Ov | verview of rest of Part 2 as it applies to cash basis | 10 |
| (1) | For provision about the application of Chapters 4 to 6 (rules about deductions and receipts) in relation to the cash basis, see sections 32A, 56A and 95A. | |
| (2) | For provision about the application of Chapter 11 (trade profits: other specific trades) in relation to the cash basis, see section 148K. | 15 |
| (3) | The following Chapters apply only where profits are calculated on the cash basis — Chapter 6A (trade profits: amounts not reflecting commercial transactions), Chapter 17A (cash basis: adjustments for capital allowances). | 20 |
| (4) | The following Chapters do not apply in relation to the cash basis — Chapter 8 (trade profits: herd basis rules), Chapter 9 (trade profits: sound recordings), Chapter 10 (trade profits: certain telecommunication rights), | 25 |
| | Chapter 10A (leases of plant or machinery: special rules for long funding leases), Chapter 11A (trade profits: changes in trading stock), Chapter 13 (deductions from profits: unremittable amounts), Chapter 14 (disposal and acquisition of know-how), | 25 |
| | Chapter 16 (averaging profits of farmers and creative artists),Chapter 16ZA (compensation for compulsory slaughter of animal),Chapter 16A (oil activities)." | 30 |
| estricting | deductions | |
| Chapt | er 4 (trade profits: rules restricting deductions) is amended as follows. | 35 |
| After s | section 32 insert – | |

Rules restricting

Chap 6

7 After

"Cash basis accounting

32A Application of Chapter to the cash basis

The following sections do not apply in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis – section 33 (capital expenditure),

| Finance (No. 2) Bill | |
|--|--|
| Schedule 4 – Cash basis for small businesses | |
| Dart 1 Main provisions | |

| | | section 35 (bad and doubtful debts), sections 36 and 37 (unpaid remuneration), section 43 (employee benefit contributions: profits calculated before end of 9 month period), sections 48 to 50B (car hire). | 5 |
|--------------------------------------|-------------|---|----|
| | (2) | For rules restricting deductions that apply only where profits are calculated on the cash basis, see the following — section 33A (cash basis: capital expenditure), section 51A (cash basis: interest payments on loans)." | |
| 8 | After | section 33 insert – | 10 |
| "33A Cash basis: capital expenditure | | | |
| | (1) | In calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis, no deduction is allowed for items of a capital nature, other than expenditure that— (a) if it were not allowable as a deduction in calculating the profits of the trade, would be qualifying expenditure within the meaning of Part 2 of CAA 2001 (plant and machinery allowances), and | 15 |
| | | (b) is not expenditure incurred on the provision of a car. | |
| | (2) | In this section "car" has the same meaning as in Part 2 of CAA 2001 (see section 268A of that Act)." | 20 |
| 9 | | tion 38 (restriction of deductions in respect of employee benefit butions), after subsection (2) insert — | |
| | "(2A) | In calculating for income tax purposes the profits of a trade on the cash basis, this section has effect as if — (a) in subsection (1), the words "or to be made" were omitted, and (b) in subsection (2), the words "or within 9 months from the end of it" were omitted (in both places)." | 25 |
| 10 | Before | e section 52 (and after the heading "Interest payments") insert— | |
| | "51A Ca | sh basis: interest payments on loans | 30 |
| | (1) | In calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis, no deduction is allowed for the interest paid on a loan. | |
| | (2) | This is subject to section 57B." | |
| 11 | (1) Sectio | n 55A (expenditure on integral features) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) The ex | cisting provision becomes subsection (1). | 35 |
| | (3) After | that subsection insert — | |
| | "(2) | But section 33A(3) of CAA 2001 does not apply in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis." | |
| Rules | allowing de | ductions | |

Chapter 5 (trade profits: rules allowing deductions) is amended as follows.

13 After section 56 insert –

"Cash basis accounting

56A Application of Chapter to the cash basis

(1) The following sections do not apply in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis —

5

sections 60 to 67 (tenants under taxed leases), section 68 (replacement and alteration of trade tools).

(2) For rules allowing deductions that apply only where profits are calculated on the cash basis, see the following —

section 57B (cash basis: interest payments on loans).

10

(3) In calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis, any reference in this Chapter to the incurring of expenses is to be read as a reference to the paying of expenses."

14 After section 57A insert –

"Cash basis: interest payments

15

57B Cash basis: interest payments on loans

- (1) This section applies if a person carrying on a trade in a period pays any interest on a loan during the period and
 - (a) a deduction for the interest would not otherwise be allowable in calculating the profits of the trade because of section 51A, or

20

(b) in the absence of section 51A, a deduction for the interest would not otherwise be allowable in calculating the profits of the trade because (and only because) it was not an expense incurred wholly and exclusively for the purposes of the trade.

25

- (2) In calculating the profits of the trade on the cash basis, a deduction is allowed for the interest.
- (3) But the maximum amount that may be deducted by virtue of this section or section 58 (incidental costs of obtaining finance) in calculating the profits of a trade for any period is £500.

30

40

- (4) The Treasury may by order amend the figure for the time being specified in subsection (3).
- (5) A statutory instrument containing an order under this section that amends that figure so as to substitute a lower figure may not be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons."

In section 58 (incidental costs of obtaining finance), in subsection (5), after "with" insert "—

- (a) section 57B(3) (which imposes a limit on the total amount that may be deducted by virtue of this section or section 57B), and
- (b) "

Finance (No. 2) Bill 167 Schedule 4 - Cash basis for small businesses Part 1 – Main provisions 16 In section 72 (payroll deduction schemes: contributions to agents' expenses), after subsection (2) insert – In calculating the profits of the employer's trade on the cash basis, subsection (2) has effect as if paragraph (b) were omitted." 17 In section 94A (costs of setting up SAYE option scheme or CSOP scheme), 5 after subsection (4) insert – But subsection (4) does not apply in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis." Receipts Chapter 6 (trade profits: receipts) is amended as follows. 10 18 19 After section 95 insert -"Cash basis accounting 95A Application of Chapter to the cash basis For rules about receipts that apply only for the purpose of calculating profits on the cash basis, see the following – 15 section 96A (cash basis: capital receipts), section 97A (cash basis: value of trading stock on cessation of section 97B (cash basis: value of work in progress on cessation of profession or vocation)." 20 20 After section 96 insert -"96A Cash basis: capital receipts This section applies if the whole or part of any expenditure incurred in acquiring, creating or improving an asset has been brought into account 25 in calculating the profits of a trade of a person on the cash basis, or the whole or part of any such expenditure would have been so brought into account if an election under section 25A had had effect in relation to the trade at the time the expenditure 30 was paid. The following amounts are to be brought into account as a receipt in (2)calculating the profits of the trade on the cash basis –

(a) any proceeds arising from the disposal of the asset or any part of it;

- (b) any proceeds arising from the grant of any right in respect of, or any interest in, the asset;
- (c) any amount of damages, proceeds of insurance or other compensation received in respect of the asset.
- (3) In a case where only part of the expenditure incurred in acquiring, creating or improving an asset has been, or would have been, brought into account as mentioned in subsection (1), the amount

brought into account under subsection (2) is proportionately reduced.

- (4) If -
 - (a) at any time the person ceases to use the asset or any part of it for the purposes of the trade, but

5

(b) the person does not dispose of the asset (or that part) at that time,

the person is to be regarded for the purposes of this section as disposing of the asset (or that part) at that time for an amount equal to the market value amount.

10

(5) If at any time there is a material increase in the person's non-business use of the asset or any part of it, the person is to be regarded for the purposes of this section as disposing of the asset (or that part) at that time for an amount equal to the relevant proportion of the market value amount.

15

- (6) For the purposes of subsection (5)
 - (a) there is an increase in a person's non-business use of an asset (or part of an asset) if
 - (i) the proportion of the person's use of the asset (or that part) that is for the purposes of the trade decreases, and

20

- (ii) the proportion of the person's use of the asset (or that part) that is for other purposes (the "non-business use") increases;
- (b) "the relevant proportion" is the difference between —

25

- (i) the proportion of the person's use of the asset (or part of the asset) that is non-business use, and
- (ii) the proportion of the person's use of the asset (or that part) that was non-business use before the increase mentioned in subsection (5).

30

- (7) In this section "the market value amount" means the amount that would be regarded as normal and reasonable—
 - (a) in the market conditions then prevailing, and
 - (b) between persons dealing with each other at arm's length in the open market."

35

40

45

21 After section 97 insert –

"Cash basis: value of stock and work in progress on cessation

97A Cash basis: value of trading stock on cessation of trade

- (1) This section applies if
 - (a) a person permanently ceases to carry on a trade in a tax year, and
 - (b) an election under section 25A (cash basis for small businesses) has effect in relation to the trade for the tax year.
- (2) The value of any trading stock belonging to the trade at the time of the cessation is brought into account as a receipt in calculating the profits of the trade for the tax year.

- The value is to be determined on a basis that is just and reasonable in all the circumstances. If there is a change in the persons carrying on a trade, subsection (2) does not apply in relation to the trade so long as a person carrying on 5 the trade immediately before the change continues to carry it on after the change. In this section "trading stock" has the same meaning as in Chapter 12 (see section 174). This section does not apply to professions or vocations. Cash basis: value of work in progress on cessation of profession or 10 vocation This section applies if a person permanently ceases to carry on a profession or vocation in a tax year, and an election under section 25A (cash basis for small 15 businesses) has effect in relation to the profession or vocation for the tax year. The value of any work in progress at the time of the cessation is brought into account as a receipt in calculating the profits of the 20 profession or vocation for the tax year. The value is to be determined on a basis that is just and reasonable in all the circumstances. If there is a change in the persons carrying on a profession, subsection (2) does not apply in relation to the profession so long as a person carrying on the profession immediately before the change 25 continues to carry it on after the change. In this section "work in progress" has the same meaning as in Chapter 12 (see section 183)." (1) Section 105 (industrial development grants) is amended as follows.
- (3) After that subsection insert –

(2A))".

"(2A) Subsection (2)(a) is to be disregarded in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis."

(2) In subsection (2), at the end of paragraph (a) insert "(but see subsection

Amounts not reflecting commercial transactions

23 After Chapter 6 insert –

"CHAPTER 6A

TRADE PROFITS: AMOUNTS NOT REFLECTING COMMERCIAL TRANSACTIONS

106A Professions and vocations

5

The provisions of this Chapter apply to professions and vocations as they apply to trades.

106B Application of Chapter

This Chapter applies in calculating the profits of a person's trade for a period on the cash basis.

10

106C Amounts not reflecting commercial transactions

- (1) This section applies if
 - (a) the person does anything in relation to the trade ("the relevant act"),
 - (b) there is a difference between –

15

- (i) the amount (if any) that, as a result of the relevant act, would (apart from this section) be brought into account in calculating the profits of the trade for the period, and
- (ii) the amount (if any) that would have been so brought into account had the relevant act consisted of a transaction between the person and another person dealing with each other at arm's length in the open market ("the arm's length amount"), and
- (c) the profits of the trade for the period are less than they would have been if the arm's length amount had been so brought into account

25

20

(2) The amount to be brought into account in calculating the profits of the trade for the period is an amount that is just and reasonable in all the circumstances.

30

106D Capital receipts

Section 106C does not apply in relation to the relevant act if subsection (4) or (5) of section 96A (cash basis: capital receipts) applies in relation to that act.

106E Gifts to charities etc

35

Section 106C does not apply in relation to the relevant act if any of the provisions of Chapter 7 (trade profits: gifts to charities etc) applies in relation to that act."

| Finance (No. 2) Bill | 171 |
|--|-----|
| Schadula 1 Cash basis for small businesses | |

| | _ | | |
|----------|------|------------|--|
| Part 1 - | Main | provisions | |

| TT 1 | 1 . | - 1 |
|-------|-------|--------|
| Hovd | basis | villac |
| HILIU | vusis | IUICO |

24 In Chapter 8 (trade profits: herd basis rules), after section 111 insert –

"111A Herd basis rules not to apply where cash basis used

Nothing in this Chapter applies in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis."

5

Sound recordings

25 In Chapter 9 (trade profits: sound recordings), after section 130 insert –

"130A Chapter not to apply where cash basis used

Nothing in this Chapter applies in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis."

10

Telecommunication rights

In Chapter 10 (trade profits: certain telecommunication rights), before section 145 insert –

"144A Chapter not to apply where cash basis used

Nothing in this Chapter applies in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis."

15

Long funding leases

In Chapter 10A (leases of plant or machinery: special rules for long funding leases), before section 148A (and the italic heading preceding it) insert —

"Application of Chapter

20

25

148ZA Chapter not to apply where cash basis used

Nothing in this Chapter applies in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis."

Specific trades

In Chapter 11 (trade profits: other specific trades), before section 149 (and the italic heading preceding it) insert —

"Cash basis accounting

148K Application of Chapter to the cash basis

The following sections do not apply in calculating the profits of a trade, profession or vocation on the cash basis — sections 149 to 154A (dealers in securities etc), section 157 (relief in respect of mineral royalties), section 158 (lease premiums etc: reduction of receipts),

section 159 (ministers of religion),

section 161 (mineral exploration and access),

35

| | section 162 (payments by persons liable to pool betting duty), sections 163 and 164 (intermediaries treated as making employment payments), section 164A (managed service companies), sections 165 to 168 (waste disposal), sections 169 to 172ZE (cemeteries and crematoria)." | 5 |
|--------|---|----|
| Chang | res in trading stock | |
| 29 | In Chapter 11A (trade profits: changes in trading stock), after section 172A insert – | |
| | "172AA Chapter not to apply where cash basis used | 10 |
| | Nothing in this Chapter applies in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis." | |
| Unren | nittable amounts | |
| 30 | In Chapter 13 (deductions from profits: unremittable amounts), after section 188 insert — | 15 |
| | "188A Chapter not to apply where cash basis used | |
| | Nothing in this Chapter applies in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis." | |
| Dispos | sal and acquisition of know-how | |
| 31 | In Chapter 14 (disposal and acquisition of know-how), before section 192 insert – | 20 |
| | "191A Chapter not to apply where cash basis used | |
| | Nothing in this Chapter applies in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis." | |
| Averag | ging profits of farmers and creative artists | 25 |
| 32 | In Chapter 16 (averaging profits of farmers and creative artists), after section 221 insert — | |
| | "221A Claim not available where cash basis used | |
| | Nothing in this Chapter applies in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis." | 30 |
| Сотре | ensation for compulsory slaughter of animal | |
| 33 | In Chapter 16ZA (compensation for compulsory slaughter of animal), after section 225ZA insert – | |
| | "225ZAA Chapter not to apply where cash basis used | |
| | Nothing in this Chapter applies in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis." | 35 |

Oil activities

In Chapter 16A (oil activities), before section 225A (and the italic heading preceding it) insert –

"Application of Chapter

225ZH Chapter not to apply where cash basis used

Nothing in this Chapter applies in calculating the profits of a trade on the cash basis."

Adjustment income

- 35 Chapter 17 (adjustment income) is amended as follows.
- 36 After section 227 insert –

10

15

25

30

35

5

"227A Application of Chapter where cash basis used

- (1) This Chapter applies if
 - (a) an election under section 25A (cash basis for small businesses) has effect in relation to a trade for a tax year but no such election has effect in relation to the trade for the following tax year, or
 - b) no such election has effect in relation to a trade for a tax year but such an election has effect in relation to the trade for the following tax year.
- (2) But this Chapter does not apply to income which is charged in accordance with section 832."
- 37 After section 239 insert –

"Spreading of adjustment income on leaving cash basis

239A Spreading on leaving cash basis

- (1) This section applies if
 - (a) an election under section 25A (cash basis for small businesses) has effect in relation to a trade for a tax year, and
 - (b) no such election has effect in relation to the trade for the following tax year.
- (2) Any adjustment income is spread over 6 tax years as follows.
- (3) In each of the 6 tax years beginning with that in which the whole amount of the adjustment income would otherwise be chargeable to tax, an amount equal to one-sixth of the amount of the adjustment income is treated as arising and is charged to tax.
- (4) This section is subject to any election under section 239B (election to accelerate charge).

| 239B | Election | to | accelerate | charge | under | section | 239A |
|------|----------|----|------------|--------|-------|---------|------|
|------|----------|----|------------|--------|-------|---------|------|

- (1) A person who under section 239A is liable to tax for a tax year on an amount of adjustment income may elect for an additional amount to be treated as arising in the tax year.
- (2) The election must be made on or before the first anniversary of the normal self-assessment filing date for the tax year.
- (3) The election must specify the amount to be treated as income arising in the tax year (which may be any amount of the adjustment income not previously charged to tax).
- (4) If an election is made, section 239A applies in relation to any subsequent tax year as if the amount of adjustment income (as reduced by any previous application of this section) were reduced by the amount given by the following formula—

$$A \times \frac{6}{T}$$

where –

15

5

10

A is the additional amount treated as arising in the tax year for which the election is made, and

T is the number of tax years remaining after that tax year in the period of 6 tax years referred to in section 239A."

Adjustments for capital allowances

20

38 After Chapter 17 insert –

"CHAPTER 17A

CASH BASIS: ADJUSTMENTS FOR CAPITAL ALLOWANCES

Introduction

240A Professions and vocations

25

30

35

The provisions of this Chapter apply to professions and vocations as they apply to trades.

Adjustments on entering cash basis

240B "Entering the cash basis"

For the purposes of this Chapter a person carrying on a trade enters the cash basis for a tax year if —

- (a) an election under section 25A has effect in relation to the trade for the tax year, and
- (b) immediately before the beginning of the basis period for the tax year, such an election does not have effect in relation to the trade.

240C Unrelieved qualifying expenditure

(1) This section applies if –

(3)

section.

5

45

a person carrying on a trade enters the cash basis for a tax year ("the current tax year"), and at the end of the basis period for the previous tax year, the person has unrelieved qualifying expenditure to carry forward from the chargeable period ending with that basis But this section does not apply if section 240D (assets not fully paid for) applies. In calculating the profits of the trade for the current tax year, a 10 deduction is allowed for the relevant portion of the expenditure. The "relevant portion" of the expenditure means the amount of the expenditure for which a deduction would be allowed in calculating the profits of the trade on the cash basis for a period if the expenditure was paid during that period. The relevant portion of the expenditure is to be determined on such 15 basis as is just and reasonable in all the circumstances. Section 59(1) and (2) of CAA 2001 (unrelieved qualifying expenditure) has effect for the purposes of this section. 240D Assets not fully paid for 20 This section applies if – a person carrying on a trade enters the cash basis for a tax year, at any time before the beginning of the basis period for that tax year the person has obtained capital allowances in respect of expenditure on the provision of plant or machinery ("the 25 relevant expenditure"), and not all of the relevant expenditure has actually been paid by the person. If the amount of the relevant expenditure that the person has actually paid exceeds the amount of capital allowances given in respect of the 30 relevant expenditure, the difference is to be deducted in calculating the profits of the trade for the tax year. If the amount of the relevant expenditure that the person has actually paid is less than the amount of capital allowances given in respect of 35 the relevant expenditure, the difference is to be treated as a receipt in calculating the profits of the trade for the tax year. The amount of any capital allowance obtained in respect of expenditure on the provision of any plant or machinery is to be determined on such basis as is just and reasonable in all the 40 circumstances. If the amount of capital allowances given in respect of the relevant expenditure has been reduced under section 205 or 207 of CAA 2001

> (reduction where asset provided or used only partly for qualifying activity), the amount of the relevant expenditure that the person has actually paid is to be proportionately reduced for the purposes of this

This section does not apply where the relevant expenditure was incurred on the provision of a car. In this subsection "car" has the same meaning as in Part 2 of CAA 2001 (see section 268A of that Act). Successions where predecessor and successor are connected persons 5 240E Effect of election where predecessor and successor are connected persons (1)This section applies if a person carrying on a trade enters the cash basis for a tax 10 the person is the successor for the purposes of section 266 of CAA 2001, and as a result of an election under section 267 of that Act, relevant plant or machinery is treated as sold by the predecessor to the successor at any time during the basis 15 period for the tax year. The provisions of this Chapter have effect in relation to the successor as if everything done to or by the predecessor had been done to or by the successor. Any expenditure actually incurred by the successor on acquiring the 20 relevant plant or machinery is to be ignored for the purposes of calculating the profits of the trade for the tax year. In this section "the predecessor" and "relevant plant or machinery" have the same meaning as in section 267 of CAA 2001." Post-cessation receipts 25 (1) Chapter 18 (post-cessation receipts) is amended as follows. (2) In section 246 (basic meaning of "post-cessation receipt"), after subsection (2) insert -If, immediately before a person permanently ceases to carry on a trade, an election under section 25A (cash basis for small businesses) 30 has effect in relation to the trade, a sum is to be treated as a postcessation receipt only if it would have been brought into account in calculating the profits of the trade on the cash basis had it been received at that time." (3) In section 254 (allowable deductions), after subsection (2) insert – 35 If, immediately before the person permanently ceases to carry on the trade, an election under section 25A (cash basis for small businesses) has effect in relation to the trade, assume for the purposes of subsection (2) that such an election has effect in relation to the trade."

Rent-a-room relief

40

40 In Chapter 1 of Part 7 of ITTOIA 2005 (rent-a-room relief), in section 786

25

30

| (| meaning of | "rent-a-room rece | ipts" |), after subsection | (4 |) insert – |
|---|------------|-------------------|-------|---------------------|----|------------|
|---|------------|-------------------|-------|---------------------|----|------------|

- "(5) Subsections (6) and (7) apply if -
 - (a) the receipts would otherwise be brought into account in calculating the profits of a trade, and
 - (b) an election under section 25A (cash basis for small businesses) has effect in relation to the trade.
- (6) Any amounts brought into account under section 96A (capital receipts) as a receipt in calculating the profits of the trade are to be treated as receipts within paragraph (a) of subsection (1) above.
- (7) The reference in subsection (1)(b) to receipts that accrue to an individual during the income period for those receipts is to be read as a reference to receipts that are received by the individual during that period."

Qualifying care relief

- Chapter 2 of Part 7 of ITTOIA 2005 (qualifying care relief) is amended as follows.
- In section 805 (meaning of "qualifying care receipts"), after subsection (3) insert
 - "(4) Subsections (5) and (6) apply if—
 - (a) the receipts would otherwise be brought into account in calculating the profits of a trade, and
 - (b) an election under section 25A (cash basis for small businesses) has effect in relation to the trade.
 - (5) Any amounts brought into account under section 96A (capital receipts) as a receipt in calculating the profits of the trade are to be treated as receipts within paragraph (a) of subsection (1) above.
 - (6) The reference in subsection (1)(b) to receipts that accrue to an individual during the income period for those receipts is to be read as a reference to receipts that are received by the individual during that period."
- 43 In section 820 (periods of account not ending on 5th April)
 - (a) the existing provision becomes subsection (1), and
 - (b) after that subsection insert
 - "(2) Where an election under section 25A (cash basis for small businesses) has effect in relation to the trade, any reference in this section or sections 821 to 823 to the period of account in which receipts accrue is to be read as a reference to the period of account in which receipts are received."

Part 2

CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS

| Γ | λ | ſΑ | 1 | 9 | 7 | |
|---|-----------|----|---|---|---|--|
| | | | | | | |

In section 42 of TMA 1970 (procedure for making claims etc), in subsection (7)(e), after "sections" insert "25A,".

5

TCGA 1992

45 After section 47 of TCGA 1992 insert –

"Cash basis accounting

47A Exemption for disposals by persons using cash basis

- (1) No chargeable gain shall accrue on the disposal of, or of an interest in, an asset if conditions A to D are met in relation to the asset.
- 10

- (2) Condition A is that the asset is
 - (a) tangible movable property, and
 - (b) a wasting asset.
- (3) Condition B is that, at any time during the period of ownership of the person making the disposal, the asset has been used for the purposes of a trade, profession or vocation carried on by the person.

15

(4) Condition C is that an election under section 25A of ITTOIA 2005 (cash basis for small businesses) has effect in relation to the trade, profession or vocation at the time of the disposal.

20

- (5) Condition D is that—
 - (a) any expenditure attributable to the asset or interest under paragraph (a) or (b) of section 38(1) has been brought into account in calculating the profits of the trade, profession or vocation on the cash basis, or

25

30

- (b) any of that expenditure would have been so brought into account if an election under section 25A of ITTOIA 2005 had had effect in relation to the trade, profession or vocation at the time the expenditure was paid.
- (6) Subsection (7) applies in the case of the disposal of, or of an interest in, an asset which, in the period of ownership of the person making the disposal
 - (a) has been used partly for the purposes of the trade, profession or vocation and partly for other purposes, or
 - (b) has been used for the purposes of the trade, profession or vocation for part of that period.
- (7) In such a case
 - (a) the consideration for the disposal, and any expenditure attributable to the asset or interest by virtue of section 38(1)(a) and (b), shall be apportioned by reference to the extent to which that expenditure was, or (as the case may be) would

47B

| | | have been, brought into account as mentioned in subsection (5) above, | |
|-----|------------------|---|----|
| | (b) | the computation of the gain shall be made separately in relation to the apportioned parts of the expenditure and consideration, and | 5 |
| | (c) | subsection (1) above shall apply to any gain accruing by reference to the computation in relation to the part of the consideration apportioned to use for the purposes of the trade, profession or vocation. | |
| Di | sposals | s made by persons after leaving cash basis | 10 |
| (1) | This se | ection applies where — | |
| | (a) | a person disposes of, or of an interest in, an asset that has been used for the purposes of a trade, profession or vocation carried on by the person, and | |
| | (b) | conditions A and B are met in relation to the trade, profession or vocation. | 15 |
| (2) | | tion A is that — | |
| | (a) | any expenditure attributable to the asset or interest under paragraph (a) or (b) of section 38(1) was incurred at a time when an election under section 25A of ITTOIA 2005 (cash basis for small businesses) had effect in relation to the trade, profession or vocation, and | 20 |
| | (b) | that expenditure ("the relevant expenditure") has been brought into account in calculating the profits of the trade, profession or vocation on the cash basis. | 25 |
| (3) | | tion B is that no such election has effect in relation to the trade, sion or vocation at the time of the disposal. | |
| (4) | | n 39 (exclusion of expenditure by reference to tax on income) not apply in relation to the relevant expenditure. | |
| (5) | | n 41 (restriction of losses by reference to capital allowances and als allowances) has effect as if — | 30 |
| | | the election mentioned in subsection (2)(a) above had not had effect at the time the relevant expenditure was incurred, and | |
| | (b) | the reference in subsection (7) to qualifying expenditure included a reference to expenditure which, if that election had not had effect at that time, would have been qualifying expenditure. | 35 |
| (6) | (wasti | n 45 (exemption for certain wasting assets) and section 47 ng assets qualifying for capital allowances) have effect as if the on mentioned in subsection (2)(a) above had not had effect at the relevant expenditure was incurred. | 40 |
| | qualify expen | dingly, any reference in those sections to expenditure ying for capital allowances is to be read as a reference to diture that would, in the absence of the election, have qualified ch allowances." | 45 |
| | 101 540 | | 10 |

10

15

30

35

40

CAA 2001

- In section 1 of CAA 2001 (capital allowances), after subsection (3) insert
 - "(4) But a person is not entitled to any allowance or liable to any charge under this Act in calculating the profits of a trade, profession or vocation of the person in relation to which an election under section 25A of ITTOIA 2005 (cash basis for small businesses) has effect, other than an allowance in respect of expenditure incurred on the provision of a car (or a charge in connection with such an allowance).
 - (5) In subsection (4) "car" has the same meaning as in Part 2 (see section 268A)."
- 47 In section 59 of CAA 2001 (unrelieved qualifying expenditure), after subsection (3) insert
 - "(4) If a person carrying on a trade, profession or vocation enters the cash basis for a tax year, no amount may be carried forward as unrelieved qualifying expenditure from the chargeable period ending with the basis period for the previous tax year.
 - (5) But subsection (4) does not apply to unrelieved qualifying expenditure incurred on the provision of a car.
 - (6) Where a person has unrelieved qualifying expenditure to carry forward from a chargeable period that is not expenditure allocated to a single asset pool, the amount of unrelieved qualifying expenditure incurred on the provision of a car is to be determined on such basis as is just and reasonable in all the circumstances.
 - (7) Section 240B of ITTOIA 2005 (meaning of "entering the cash basis") applies for the purposes of this section as it applies for the purposes of Chapter 17A of Part 2 of that Act."
- In Chapter 5 of Part 2 of CAA 2001 (plant and machinery allowances and charges), after section 66 insert —

"Application of Chapter to person leaving cash basis

66A Persons leaving cash basis

(1) This section applies if —

- (a) a person carrying on a trade, profession or vocation leaves the cash basis in a chargeable period, and
- (b) the person has at any time incurred expenditure which, if an election under section 25A of ITTOIA 2005 (cash basis for small businesses) had not had effect at that time, would have been qualifying expenditure.
- (2) In this section—
 - (a) the "relieved portion" of the expenditure is the amount of that expenditure for which—
 - (i) a deduction was allowed in calculating the profits of the trade, profession or vocation, or
 - (ii) a deduction would have been so allowed if the expenditure had been incurred wholly and

10

15

20

30

35

| exclusively | for | the | purposes | of | the | trade, | profession |
|--------------|-----|-----|----------|----|-----|--------|------------|
| or vocation; | | | | | | | |

- (b) the "unrelieved portion" of the expenditure is any remaining amount of the expenditure.
- (3) For the purposes of determining any entitlement of the person to an annual investment allowance or a first-year allowance, the person is to be treated as incurring the unrelieved portion of the expenditure in the chargeable period.
- (4) For the purposes of determining the person's available qualifying expenditure in a pool for the chargeable period (see section 58)
 - (a) the whole of the expenditure must be allocated to the appropriate pool (or pools) in that chargeable period, and
 - (b) the available qualifying expenditure in a pool to which the expenditure (or some of it) is allocated is reduced by the relieved portion of that expenditure.
- (5) For the purposes of determining any disposal receipts (see section 60), the expenditure incurred by the person is to be regarded as qualifying expenditure.
- (6) For the purposes of this section a person carrying on a trade, profession or vocation leaves the cash basis in a chargeable period if
 - (a) immediately before the beginning of the chargeable period an election under section 25A had effect in relation to the trade, profession or vocation, and
 - (b) such an election does not have effect in relation to the trade, profession or vocation for the chargeable period."

ITTOIA 2005

- In section 31 of ITTOIA 2005 (relationship between rules prohibiting and allowing deductions), in subsection (2), omit the "or" at the end of paragraph (b) and after paragraph (c) insert "or
 - (d) Chapter 17A,".
- In section 56 of ITTOIA 2005 (rules allowing deductions: professions and vocations), after "marks)" insert "and section 97A (cash basis: value of trading stock on cessation of trade)".
- Omit section 160 of ITTOIA 2005 (cash basis of calculation for barristers and advocates in early years of practice).
- 52 (1) Chapter 17 of Part 2 of ITTOIA 2005 (adjustment income) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In section 229(2)(a), for "sections 237 to 239" substitute "sections 237 to 239B".
 - (3) Omit sections 238 and 239 (spreading of adjustment income: barristers and advocates).
- In Part 2 of Schedule 4 to ITTOIA 2005 (index of defined expressions), at the

20

25

30

35

appropriate place insert -

"the cash basis (in Part 2) section 25A";

"entering the cash basis (in Chapter 17A of Part 2) section 240B".

ITA 2007 5

- 54 (1) In Part 4 of ITA 2007 (loss relief), Chapter 2 (trade losses) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In section 64 (deduction of losses from general income), in subsection (8), after paragraph (ba) insert—
 - "(bb) section 74E (restriction on the relief and early trade losses relief where cash basis applies),".
 - (3) In section 72 (relief for individuals for losses in first 4 years of trade), in subsection (5), after paragraph (ba) insert
 - "(bb) section 74E (restriction on the relief and trade loss relief where cash basis applies),".
 - (4) After section 74D insert –

"Restriction on sideways relief and capital gains relief where cash basis applies

74E No relief where cash basis used to calculate losses

- (1) This section applies if
 - (a) a person makes a loss in any trade in a tax year, and
 - (b) an election under section 25A of ITTOIA 2005 (cash basis for small businesses) has effect in relation to the trade for that tax year.
- (2) No sideways relief or capital gains relief may be given to the person for the loss.
- (3) For the purposes of this section
 - (a) capital gains relief is, in relation to a loss, the treatment of a loss as an allowable loss by virtue of section 261B of TCGA 1992 (use of trading loss as a CGT loss), and
 - (b) capital gains relief is given for a loss when it is so treated."
- 55 (1) Chapter 1 of Part 8 of ITA 2007 (relief for interest payments) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In section 383(5), after paragraph (a) insert—
 - "(aa) section 384B (restriction on relief where cash basis applies),".
 - (3) After section 384A insert –

"384BRestriction on relief where cash basis applies

(1) Relief is not to be given under this Chapter for a tax year for interest paid by a person on a relevant loan if the partnership to which the

| Finance (No. 2) Bill |
|--|
| Schedule 4 — Cash basis for small businesses |
| Part 2 – Consequential amendments |

|] | loan relates has made an election under section 25A of ITT | OIA 2 | 2005 |
|---|--|-------|------|
| (| (cash basis for small businesses) for the tax year. | | |

- (2) A loan is a "relevant loan" if
 - (a) it is a loan to which section 388 applies (loan to buy plant or machinery for partnership use), or
 - (b) it is a loan to which section 398 applies (loan to invest in partnership) and which is not used for purchasing a share in a partnership."

PART 3

COMMENCEMENT AND TRANSITIONAL PROVISION

10

15

20

25

5

- Subject to paragraph 57, the amendments made by this Schedule have effect for the tax year 2013-14 and subsequent tax years.
- 57 (1) In a case where
 - (a) the profits of a barrister or advocate in independent practice for a period of account ending in the tax year 2012-13 have been calculated in accordance with section 160 of ITTOIA 2005 (barristers and advocates: alternative basis of calculation in early years of practice), and
 - (b) if that section had not been repealed by this Schedule, the profits of the barrister or advocate for any subsequent period of account could have been calculated in accordance with that section,

the profits of the barrister or advocate for that subsequent period of account may be calculated in accordance with that section.

(2) The repeal of sections 238 and 239 of ITTOIA 2005 (spreading of adjustment income: barristers and advocates) does not have effect in relation to any individual whose profits for a period of account ending in or before the tax year 2012-13 have been calculated in accordance with section 160 of ITTOIA 2005.

SCHEDULE 5

Section 18

DEDUCTIONS ALLOWABLE AT A FIXED RATE

30

- 1 Part 2 of ITTOIA 2005 (trading income) is amended as follows.
- 2 After Chapter 5 insert –

"CHAPTER 5A

TRADE PROFITS: DEDUCTIONS ALLOWABLE AT A FIXED RATE

Introduction

35

94B Professions and vocations

The provisions of this Chapter apply to professions and vocations as they apply to trades.

94C Provisions not applicable to certain firms

The provisions of this Chapter do not apply in calculating the profits of a trade carried on by a firm for a period if one or more of the persons who have been partners in the firm at any time during the period was not an individual at that time.

5

10

15

Expenditure on vehicles

94D Expenditure on vehicles

- (1) This section applies if, in calculating the profits of a trade of a person for a period
 - (a) a deduction would otherwise be allowable for the period in respect of qualifying expenditure incurred in relation to a relevant vehicle (see subsection (2)), or

b) a deduction would be so allowable in respect of such expenditure but for the fact it is capital expenditure.

- (2) In this section "relevant vehicle" means a car, motor cycle or goods vehicle that—
 - (a) is used for the purposes of the trade, and
 - (b) is not an excluded vehicle (see section 94E).
- (3) The person may make a deduction under this section for the period in respect of the qualifying expenditure.

20

- (4) If a deduction for a period is made under this section
 - (a) no other deduction is allowed (for that or any other period) in respect of the qualifying expenditure, and
 - (b) this section applies in relation to the relevant vehicle for every subsequent period for which the vehicle is used for the purposes of the trade.

25

- (5) The amount of the deduction is the appropriate mileage amount in relation to the relevant vehicle for the period (see section 94F).
- (6) In this section "qualifying expenditure", in relation to a vehicle, means any expenditure incurred in respect of the acquisition, ownership, hire, leasing or use of the vehicle, other than incidental expenses incurred in connection with a particular journey.
- (7) For provision preventing capital allowances from being claimed in respect of qualifying expenditure incurred in relation to a relevant vehicle, see section 38ZA of CAA 2001.

35

30

94E Excluded vehicles

- (1) A car, motor cycle or goods vehicle that is used for the purposes of a trade is an "excluded vehicle" for the purposes of section 94D if condition A or B is met in relation to the vehicle.
- (2) Condition A is that the person who is or has been carrying on the trade has at any time claimed any capital allowances under Part 2 of CAA 2001 in respect of any expenditure incurred on the provision of the vehicle.
- (3) Condition B is that—

10

20

25

30

35

- (a) the vehicle is a goods vehicle or a motor cycle, and
- (b) any of the expenditure incurred on acquiring the vehicle has been deducted in calculating the profits of the trade for a period on the cash basis (see section 25A).

94F The appropriate mileage amount

(1) In calculating the profits of a trade for a period, the appropriate mileage amount in relation to a relevant vehicle for the period is —

 $M \times R$

where -

M is the number of miles of business journeys made by a person (other than as a passenger) using that vehicle in the period, and

R is the rate applicable to that kind of vehicle.

(2) The rates applicable are as follows –

Table 15

| Kind of vehicle | Rate per mile |
|----------------------|--------------------------------|
| Car or goods vehicle | 45p for the first 10,000 miles |
| | 25p after that |
| Motor cycle | 24p |

- (3) In a case where the total number of miles of relevant business journeys made in the period is greater than 10,000, the rate of 45p per mile is available only in relation to 10,000 of those miles.
- (4) "Relevant business journey" means any business journey made in the period by a car or goods vehicle—
 - (a) that is used for the purposes of the trade, and
 - (b) in relation to which section 94D applies for the period.
- (5) In this section—

"business journey", in relation to a vehicle used for the purposes of a trade, means any journey, or any identifiable part or proportion of a journey, that is made wholly and exclusively for the purposes of the trade, and

"relevant vehicle" has the same meaning as in section 94D.

(6) The Treasury may by regulations amend subsection (2) so as to alter the rates or rate bands.

Regulations under this subsection may also make consequential amendments to subsection (3).

94G Definitions of types of vehicle

- (1) This section applies for the purposes of sections 94D to 94F (and this section).
- (2) "Car" means a mechanically propelled road vehicle which is not—

- a goods vehicle,
- a motor cycle, (b)
- an invalid carriage, or
- a vehicle of a type not commonly used as a private vehicle and unsuitable to be so used.

- "Goods vehicle" means a mechanically propelled road vehicle which -
 - (a) is of a construction primarily suited for the conveyance of goods or burden of any description, and
 - is not a motor cycle.

10

- "Motor cycle" has the meaning given by section 185(1) of the Road Traffic Act 1988.
- For the purposes of this section "invalid carriage" has the meaning given by section 185(1) of the Road Traffic Act 1988.

Use of home for business purposes

15

94H Use of home for business purposes

This section applies if, in calculating the profits of a trade of a person for a period, a deduction ("the standard deduction") would otherwise be allowable for the period in respect of the use of the person's home for the purposes of the trade.

20

- The person may, instead of making the standard deduction, make a (2)deduction for the period under this section.
- The amount of the deduction allowable for the period is the sum of the applicable amounts for each month, or part of a month, falling within the period.

25

The applicable amount for a month, or part of a month, is given by (4) the following Table –

Table

| Number of hours worked | Applicable amount | |
|------------------------|-------------------|---|
| 25 or more | £10.00 | 3 |
| 51 or more | £18.00 | |
| 101 or more | £26.00 | |

30

where the "number of hours worked" in a month (or part of a month) is the number of hours spent wholly and exclusively on work done by the person, or any employee of the person, in the person's home wholly and exclusively for the purposes of the trade.

35

If the person has more than one home, this section has effect as if those homes were a single home.

10

15

30

35

40

(6) The Treasury may by regulations amend subsection (4) so as to alter the rates or rate bands.

Premises used both as home and business premises

94I Premises used both as a home and as business premises

- (1) This section applies if
 - (a) a person carries on a trade at any premises,
 - (b) the premises are used mainly for the purposes of carrying on the trade, but are also used by the person as a home,
 - (c) the person incurs expenses in relation to the premises,
 - (d) the expenses are incurred mainly (but not wholly and exclusively) for the purposes of the trade, and
 - (e) in calculating the profits of the trade for a period, a deduction ("the standard deduction") would otherwise be allowable for the period in respect of a part or proportion of the expenses in accordance with section 34(2).
- (2) The person may, instead of making the standard deduction, make a deduction for the period under this section.
- (3) The amount of the deduction allowable for the period is the amount of the expenses less the non-business use amount.
- (4) The non-business use amount is the sum of the applicable amounts for each month, or part of a month, falling within the period.
- (5) The applicable amount for a month, or part of a month, is given by the following Table –

Table

| Number occupants | of | relevant | Applicable amount | 25 |
|------------------|----|----------|-------------------|----|
| 1 | | | £350 | |
| 2 | | | £500 | |
| 3 or more | | | £650 | |

- (6) For the purposes of subsection (5) "relevant occupant", in relation to a month (or part of a month), means an individual who, at any time during that month (or that part of a month)—
 - (a) occupies the premises as a home, or
 - (b) stays at the premises otherwise than in the course of the trade.
- (7) The Treasury may by regulations amend subsection (5) so as to alter the rates or rate bands."
- 3 In section 31 (relationship between rules prohibiting and allowing deductions), in subsection (2), after paragraph (a) insert—
 - "(aa) Chapter 5A,".

| | | | | Schedule 5 – Deductions allowable at a fixed rate | |
|---|-----|--------|--------------------------|--|-----|
| 4 | | | tions), a | 18 (post-cessation receipts), in section 254 (allowable after subsection (2A) (inserted by paragraph 39 of Schedule 4) | |
| | | "(2B) | If— | | |
| | | () | (a) | the loss or expense is incurred, or the debit arises, in relation to a vehicle, and | 5 |
| | | | | immediately before the person permanently ceases to carry on the trade, section 94D (deduction allowable at fixed rate for expenditure on vehicles) applies in relation to the vehicle, he for the purposes of subsection (2) that that section applies in on to the vehicle." | 10 |
| 5 | (1) | Part 2 | of CAA | 2001 (plant and machinery allowances) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In Cha | pter 3 (| (qualifying expenditure), after section 38 insert – | |
| | "3 | | ehicles ГОІА 2 | s for which deductions allowed at fixed rate under Part 2 of 2005 | 15 |
| | | | Experior (a) (b) | it is incurred in respect of a vehicle in a period, and a deduction is made for the period in respect of the expenditure under section 94D of ITTOIA 2005 (deduction allowable at fixed rate for expenditure on vehicles)." | 20 |
| | | | | (allowances and charges), in section 59 (unrelieved qualifying at the end insert — | |
| | | "(8) | Subse | ction (9) applies if — | |
| | | | (a) | a person carrying on a trade, profession or vocation incurs expenditure in relation to a vehicle, | 25 |
| | | | (b) | at the end of the basis period for a tax year, the person has unrelieved qualifying expenditure incurred in relation to the vehicle to carry forward from the chargeable period ending with that basis period ("the relevant chargeable period"), | |
| | | | (c) (d) | in calculating the profits of a trade, profession or vocation of a person for the following tax year, a deduction is made under section 94D of ITTOIA 2005 in respect of expenditure incurred in relation to the vehicle, and the person does not enter the cash basis for that tax year. | 30 |
| | | (0) | ` , | | 2.5 |
| | | (9) | to the | of the unrelieved qualifying expenditure incurred in relation vehicle may be carried forward as unrelieved qualifying diture from the relevant chargeable period. | 35 |
| | | (10) | forwa a sing expen | e a person has unrelieved qualifying expenditure to carry rd from a chargeable period that is not expenditure allocated to gle asset pool, the amount of the unrelieved qualifying diture incurred in relation to the vehicle is to be determined on passis as is just and reasonable in all the circumstances." | 40 |

The amendments made by this Schedule have effect for the tax year 2013-14 6 and subsequent tax years.

Finance (No. 2) Bill

SCHEDULE 6

Section 19

15

20

25

30

35

40

EMPLOYMENT INCOME: DUTIES PERFORMED IN THE UK AND OVERSEAS

Part 1

APPORTIONMENT OF EARNINGS

- Part 2 of ITEPA 2003 (employment income: charge to tax) is amended as follows.

 In section 15 (earnings for year when employee UK resident), as amended by Schedule 43 to this Act, in subsection (5) —

 (a) after paragraph (a) omit "and", and
 (b) after paragraph (b) insert ", and

 (c) a section 41.7A (which is about determining the extent
 - (c) section 41ZA (which is about determining the extent to which general earnings are in respect of United Kingdom duties)."
- In Chapter 5 (taxable earnings: remittance basis rules and rules for non-UK resident employees), after section 41 insert —

"Apportionment of earnings

41ZA Basis of apportionment

The extent to which general earnings are in respect of duties performed in the United Kingdom is to be determined under this Chapter on a just and reasonable basis."

PART 2

REMITTANCE BASIS OF TAXATION: SPECIAL MIXED FUND RULES

- 4 Chapter A1 of Part 14 of ITA 2007 (remittance basis) is amended as follows.
- 5 In section 809Q (sections 809L and 809P: transfers from mixed funds), after subsection (1) insert —

"(1A) But this section must be read subject to section 809RA."

After section 809R insert –

6

"809RA Special mixed fund rules for certain employment cases

- (1) This section applies if
 - (a) an individual has general earnings from an employment for a tax year,
 - (b) those earnings include both general earnings within section 15(1) of ITEPA 2003 ("section 15(1) earnings") and general earnings within section 26(1) of that Act ("section 26(1) earnings"),
 - (c) at least some of the section 15(1) earnings, or sums deriving (wholly or in part, and directly or indirectly) from at least some of the section 15(1) earnings, are paid into an account in that tax year at a time (a "relevant time") when the account is a qualifying account of the individual, and

- *Part 2 Remittance basis of taxation: special mixed fund rules* at least some of the section 26(1) earnings, or sums deriving (wholly or in part, and directly or indirectly) from at least some of the section 26(1) earnings, are also paid into the account in that tax year at a relevant time. If this section applies, the composition of each transfer made from 5 the account in that tax year at a relevant time is to be determined as Step 1 Suppose that all the condition A transfers made from the account in the tax year at a relevant time had been a single transfer 10 made from the account at the end of the tax year. Step 2 Suppose that all the other transfers made from the account in the tax year at a relevant time had been a single offshore transfer made at the end of the tax year immediately after the single transfer mentioned in step 1. 15 Step 3 Applying those suppositions – find under section 809Q(3) the extent to which the single transfer mentioned in step 1 is of the individual's income or chargeable gains, and find under section 809R(4) the content of the single offshore transfer mentioned in step 2. 20 Step 4 Each transfer made from the account in the tax year at a relevant time is to be treated as containing the specified proportion of each kind of income or capital contained in the relevant deemed "The specified proportion" is the amount of the transfer divided by 25 the amount of the relevant deemed transfer. "The relevant deemed transfer" is if the transfer is a condition A transfer, the single transfer mentioned in step 1, and otherwise, the single offshore transfer mentioned in step 2. 30 Subsection (2) applies in determining the composition of a transfer for the purposes of sections 809Q and 809R but it does not otherwise affect the date on which a transfer is considered to occur for the purposes of this Chapter. If the tax year is the tax year in which the account becomes a 35 qualifying account, for the purpose of applying section 809Q(3) in relation to the single transfer mentioned in step 1 of subsection (2), treat the part of the tax year falling before the qualifying date for the account as a separate tax year. If the account ceases to be a qualifying account of the individual 40 during the tax year other than as a result of a breach of the deposit
- rule subsection (2) has effect as if references to the end of the tax (a) year were to the end of the day on which the account ceases
 - to be a qualifying account, and for the purpose of applying section 809Q(3) in relation to the single transfer mentioned in step 1 of subsection (2), treat the part of the tax year falling after the day mentioned in paragraph (a) as a separate tax year.

Finance (No. 2) Bill 191

Schedule 6 -Part 2 - Rem

| (6) | | | m the account is a "condition A transfer" if and to the |
|------|------------------------------|---------------------|---|
| | extent (a) (b) | | ion A in section 809L is met, and |
| | | (i) | the property or consideration for the service is (wholly or in part), or derives (wholly or in part, and directly or indirectly) from, the transfer, or the transfer, or anything deriving (wholly or in part, and directly or indirectly) from the transfer, is used as mentioned in section 809L(3)(c). |
| (7) | | | m the account is an "other transfer" if and to the extent condition A transfer. |
| (8) | end of | the tax | • |
| | (a) (b) | on the | It a condition A transfer, and basis of the best estimate that can reasonably be made time, it will not become a condition A transfer. |
| (9) | during rule, si year w | the tax ubsectio | t ceases to be a qualifying account of the individual year other than as a result of a breach of the deposition (8) has effect as if the reference to the end of the tax he end of the day on which the account ceases to be a count. |
| (10) | | | ccount" and "the qualifying date" for an account are tion 809RB. |
| (11) | For the | "emplo | ses of this section and sections 809RB to 809RD— syment" is to be read in accordance with section 4(1) of 2003, and includes an office (as read in accordance ection 5(3) of that Act), |
| | (b) | determ | er general earnings are "for" a tax year is to be nined as for the purposes of the employment income of ITEPA 2003 (see section 3(2) of that Act), |
| | (c) | a referanythi | rence to anything "paid into" an account includes ng credited to the account by whatever means, and |
| | (d) | | nces to a breach of the deposit rule are to be read in ance with section 809RC. |
| RB Ç | ualifyi | ng acco | unts |
| (1) | accour | | I may by notice to the Commissioners nominate an a qualifying account of the individual for the purposes RA. |
| (2) | The no | tice mu | st specify the qualifying date for the account. |
| (3) | is paid | into th | ng date" for the account is the first date on which there e account sums falling within subsection (4) which (in e than £10 |

A sum falls within this subsection if it is, or derives wholly (whether directly or indirectly) from, general earnings of the individual from

an employment for a tax year which is a relevant tax year in relation

to the employment.

(12) Subsection (9)(b)(iv) or (11)(b) (as relevant) is to be ignored if the breach occurs on or after a date falling within subsection (9)(b)(i) to (iii).

remedied or cannot be remedied.

in which there is a breach of the deposit rule which is not

Finance (No. 2) Bill

Schedule 6 – Employment income: duties performed in the UK and overseas Part 2 – Remittance basis of taxation: special mixed fund rules

(13) If, apart from this subsection, an individual might have nominated two or more accounts for which the qualifying date would be the same, the individual may nominate only one of those accounts.

(14) If, apart from this subsection, an account would be a qualifying account of two or more individuals at any time, it is not to be a qualifying account of either or any of them at that time or any other time.

5

10

20

25

30

35

40

45

(15) For the purposes of this section an account is an "ordinary bank account" if it is a cash account in a bank (whether a current or savings account) where sums standing to the credit of the account from time to time represent a debt owed by the bank to the account-holder.

809RC Breaches of the deposit rule

- (1) There is a breach of the deposit rule if a prohibited sum is paid into the account on or after the qualifying date.
- (2) A breach of the deposit rule is remedied if, within 30 days beginning with the day on which the individual became or ought reasonably to have become aware of the payment of the prohibited sum, the required amount is transferred out of the account by way of a single one-off transfer.
- (3) "The required amount" is an amount equal to—
 - (a) the prohibited sum, plus
 - (b) all the other prohibited sums (if any) that have been paid into the account since that sum was paid in.
- (4) If there are 3 breaches of the deposit rule in any 12 month period, subsection (2) does not apply to the third breach and, accordingly, the third breach cannot be remedied.
- (5) The payment of a prohibited sum ("the later prohibited sum") into the account does not result in a breach of the deposit rule if—
 - (a) a breach resulting from an earlier payment of a prohibited sum into the account is remedied, and
 - (b) the later prohibited sum is represented by the required amount in relation to that breach.
- (6) A "prohibited sum" is anything other than a sum that is, or derives wholly (whether directly or indirectly) from, any of the following kinds of income or capital—
 - (a) general earnings of the individual from an employment for a tax year which is a relevant tax year in relation to the employment,
 - (b) general earnings of the individual from an employment which consist of money and are paid in a tax year which is a relevant tax year in relation to the employment,
 - (c) an amount of specific employment income which, by virtue of Part 6, 7 or 7A of ITEPA 2003 or any other enactment, counts as employment income of the individual in respect of an employment for a tax year which is a relevant tax year in relation to the employment,
 - (d) interest on the account, or

consideration for the disposal of employment-related securities or employment-related securities options in the circumstances described in subsection (7). The circumstances are — 5 the securities or options were acquired pursuant to a right or opportunity available by reason of an employment of the individual, the disposal is or occurs in conjunction with, or as soon as reasonably practicable after, a relevant event involving those securities or options, and 10 (c) the tax year in which the relevant event occurs is a relevant tax year in relation to the employment. For the purposes of subsection (7) each of the following is a "relevant event"the acquisition mentioned in subsection (7)(a), and 15 any event on the occurrence of which an amount (if positive) counts as employment income by virtue of Part 7 of ITEPA 2003 or would do so but for – section 421E or 474 of that Act (exclusions: residence 20 etc), or an election under section 430 or 431 of that Act. For the purposes of this section a tax year is a "relevant" tax year in relation to an employment if – the individual has general earnings from the employment for 25 the tax year, those earnings include both general earnings within section 15(1) of ITEPA 2003 ("section 15(1) earnings") and general earnings within section 26(1) of that Act ("section 26(1) earnings"), 30 at least some of the section 15(1) earnings, or sums deriving (wholly or in part, and directly or indirectly) from at least some of the section 15(1) earnings, are paid into the account in the tax year, and at least some of the section 26(1) earnings, or sums deriving (wholly or in part, and directly or indirectly) from at least 35 some of the section 26(1) earnings, are also paid into the account in the tax year. For the purposes of this section – "employment-related securities" has the meaning given in 40 section 421B(8) of ITEPA 2003, and "employment-related securities options" has the meaning

809RD Effect where 30-day deadline is met

(10)

(1) This section applies if the required amount in relation to a breach of the deposit rule was transferred out of the account in accordance with section 809RC(2).

45

(2) Sections 809Q and 809R have effect as if –

given in section 471(5) of that Act.

(a) the intervening transactions had never taken place, and

Finance (No. 2) Bill

Schedule 6 – Employment income: duties performed in the UK and overseas Part 2 – Remittance basis of taxation: special mixed fund rules

(2) In subsection (2), for "either" substitute "any".

| | | (b) each prohibited sum represented by the required amount had instead been transferred directly (at the time that sum was paid into the qualifying account) into the account or other property into which the required amount was transferred by virtue of the single one-off transfer. | 5 |
|---|--------|--|----|
| | (3) | Each of the following is an "intervening transaction" – (a) each payment into the qualifying account of a prohibited sum represented by the required amount, and (b) the single one-off transfer out of the qualifying account. | |
| | (4) | If it is supposed under step 1 or 2 of section 809RA(2) that a single transfer had been made in the intervening period, re-apply section 809Q or 809R in relation to that transfer taking account of subsection (2). | 10 |
| | (5) | "The intervening period" is the period— (a) beginning with the day on which the breach occurred, and (b) ending with the day on which the single one-off transfer was made in accordance with section 809RC(2). | 15 |
| | (6) | If more than one transfer of a sum equal to the required amount was transferred out of the qualifying account within the 30-day grace period, the first of those transfers is assumed to be the single one-off transfer. | 20 |
| | (7) | "The 30-day grace period" is the period of 30 days mentioned in section 809RC(2)." | |
| | | Part 3 | |
| | | COMMENCEMENT | 25 |
| 7 | | mendments made by Part 1 of this Schedule have effect in relation to ags for the tax year 2013-14 and subsequent tax years. | |
| 8 | transf | mendments made by Part 2 of this Schedule have effect in relation to ers from a mixed fund that are made in the tax year 2013-14 or any quent tax year. | 30 |
| | | SCHEDULE 7 Section 20 | |
| | | REMITTANCE BASIS: EXEMPT PROPERTY | |
| 1 | Chapt | er A1 of Part 14 of ITA 2007 (remittance basis) is amended as follows. | |
| 2 | | tion 809X(3) (exempt property: public access rule), for "sections 809Z 09Z1)" substitute "section 809Z)". | 35 |
| 3 | | n 809Y (property that ceases to be exempt property treated as red) is amended as follows. | |

15

20

25

30

35

45

- (3) After subsection (4) insert
 - "(4A) Where exempt property has been lost, stolen or destroyed, the first and second cases do not apply in relation to the property during any period
 - (a) beginning with the time at which it was lost, stolen or destroyed, and
 - (b) (if lost or stolen) ending with the time at which it is recovered.
 - (4B) The third case is where a compensation payment is released in respect of exempt property that has been lost, stolen or destroyed."
- (4) In subsection (6), after "exempt property" insert "by virtue of the first or second case".
- 4 After section 809YE insert –

"809YF Exception to section 809Y: compensation taken offshore or invested

- (1) Section 809Y(1) does not apply to property if
 - (a) it ceases to be exempt property because a compensation payment in respect of it is released, and
 - (b) conditions A and B are met.
- (2) Condition A is that the whole of the compensation payment is taken offshore or used by a relevant person to make a qualifying investment within the period of 45 days beginning with the day on which the payment is released.
- (3) Condition B is that, if Condition A is satisfied wholly or in part by using the compensation payment to make a qualifying investment, the remittance basis user makes a claim for relief under subsection (4) on or before the first anniversary of the 31 January following the tax year in which the payment is released.
- (4) If section 809Y(1) does not apply to property by virtue of subsection (1), the income and gains treated under section 809X as not remitted to the United Kingdom continue to be treated after the compensation payment is released as not remitted to the United Kingdom even though the property has ceased to be exempt property.
- (5) But nothing in subsection (4) prevents anything done in relation to any part of the compensation payment after that payment is taken offshore (or used to make a qualifying investment) from counting as a remittance of the underlying income or gains to the United Kingdom at the time when the thing is done.
- (6) Treat the compensation payment as containing or deriving from an amount of each kind of income and gain mentioned in section 809Q(4)(a) to (h) equal to the amount of that kind of income or gain contained in the exempt property when it was brought to, or received or used in, the United Kingdom (as mentioned in section 809X).
- (7) Where Condition A was met by using the compensation payment to make a qualifying investment
 - (a) the business investment provisions apply to the income and gains that continue, by virtue of subsection (4), to be treated

6

| | | (b) | as not remitted as they apply to income or gains that are treated under section 809VA(2) as not remitted, and if the investment was made using more than just the compensation payment, treat only the part of the investment made using the payment as "the investment" for the purposes of those provisions." | 5 |
|-----|---------|-----------------------|---|----|
| (1) | Section | n 809Z (| public access rule: general) is amended as follows. | |
| (2) | In sub | section | (1), for "A to D" substitute "B and C". | |
| (3) | Omit s | subsecti | on (2). | |
| (4) | After s | subsecti | on (8) insert — | 10 |
| | "(8A) | But if (a) (b) | the property is lost or stolen— the relevant period ends with the time at which it is lost or stolen, and a new relevant period begins with its importation or the time at which it is recovered." | 15 |
| (5) | Omit s | subsecti | on (10). | |
| ` , | Omit s | section 8 | 809Z1 (public access rule: relevant VAT relief). | |
| (1) | | | (temporary importation rule) is amended as follows. | |
| (2) | | osection ction (31 | (1), after "days" insert "(subject to any increase under 3))". | 20 |
| (3) | In sub | section | (3) — | |
| | (a) | before | paragraph (a) insert — "(72) the property mosts the public access rule " | |
| | (b) | after p | "(za) the property meets the public access rule,", varagraph (b) insert — | |
| | (c) | in par 809YF | "(ba) subsection (3A) applies to the property,", and ragraph (d) for "or 809YC(2)" substitute ", 809YC(2) or (4)". | 25 |
| (4) | After t | hat sub | section insert – | |
| | "(3A) | This s | ubsection applies to the property if — | |
| | ` ' | (a) (b) (c) | it is not available to be used or enjoyed in the United Kingdom by or for the benefit of a relevant person because it has been lost, stolen or destroyed, (if lost or stolen) it has not been recovered, and no compensation payment has been released in respect of it. | 30 |
| | (3B) | If— | no compensation payment has been released in respect of it. | 35 |
| | (02) | (a) | property that has been lost or stolen is recovered, | 00 |
| | | (b) | the first day after the day on which it is recovered is a | |
| | | (c) | countable day, and excluding that countable day there have already been 231 or more countable days in relation to the property, | 40 |
| | | being | mber of countable days specified in subsection (1) is read as increased by the number necessary for there to be 45 countable eginning with the countable day mentioned in paragraph (b)." | |

| | (5) | Omit s | subsections (4) to (10). | |
|----|-----|-------------------------|--|----|
| 8 | | In sectinsert- | ion 809Z6 (exempt property: other interpretation), after subsection (4) | |
| | | "(5) | References to property being lost, stolen or destroyed are to the property being lost, stolen or destroyed whilst in the United Kingdom. | 5 |
| | | (6) | "Compensation payment", in relation to property that has been lost, stolen or destroyed, means any payment of compensation (whether under an insurance policy or otherwise) in respect of the property. | |
| | | (7) | A compensation payment is "released" on the day on which it first becomes available for use in the United Kingdom by or for the benefit of any relevant person. | 10 |
| | | (8) | Property that has been lost or stolen is "recovered" on the day on which it becomes available to be used or enjoyed in the United Kingdom by or for the benefit of a relevant person." | 15 |
| 9 | | and 81 | mendments made by paragraphs 3, 4, 5(4), 7(2), (3)(b) and (c) and (4) have effect in relation to property that is lost, stolen or destroyed on or April 2013. | |
| 10 | | The ot (a) (b) | her amendments made by this Schedule have effect — in relation to property that is not in the United Kingdom on 6 April 2013, as from that date, and in relation to property that is in the United Kingdom on that date, as from the time when it ceases to be in the United Kingdom or is lost or stolen. | 20 |
| 11 | | lost or proper | case of property that falls within paragraph 10(b) by virtue of being stolen, any period that is a period of importation in relation to the cty for the purposes of section 809Z4 of ITA 2007 ends with the time at it is lost or stolen. | 25 |
| | | | SCHEDULE 8 Section 24 | |
| | | | GAINS FROM CONTRACTS FOR LIFE INSURANCE ETC | 30 |
| 1 | | | er 9 of Part 4 of ITTOIA 2005 (gains from contracts for life insurance amended as follows. | |
| 2 | | In sect (a) (b) (c) (d) | ion 476 (special rules: foreign policies) in subsection (2) — after the entry relating to section 474(3) to (5) insert "and", omit the entry relating to section 528, omit the "and" after the entry relating to sections 531 to 534, and omit the entry relating to section 536(6). | 35 |
| 3 | | For sec | ction 528 substitute — | |
| | " | 528 Re inc | eduction in amount charged on basis of non-UK residence where lividual liable for tax | 40 |
| | | (1) | Subsection (2) applies if — | |

- an individual is liable for tax charged on a gain from a policy of life insurance or a capital redemption policy, and
- there are one or more days in the material interest period on which the individual is not UK resident.
- In determining the individual's liability for tax, the gain on which the tax is charged in the case of the individual is to be reduced by the appropriate fraction.

(3) The appropriate fraction is –

 $\frac{A}{B}$

where -

10

A is the number of days in the material interest period which are days falling within subsection (1)(b), and

B is the number of days in the material interest period.

- In subsection (2) the reference to the gain is to be read in accordance with section 463A(4), 463D(4) or 463E(3) (which relates to restricted relief qualifying policies) if applicable.
- In this section "the material interest period" means so much of the policy period as during which the individual meets condition A, B or C in section 465 in relation to the policy (subject to subsection (7)).
- Subsections (7) and (8) apply if, before the chargeable event, there is 20 an assignment falling within section 487(c) in relation to the policy where the individual is the assignee.
- There is to be added to the material interest period any part of the policy period falling before the assignment
 - during which the assignor meets condition A, B or C in section 465 in relation to the policy, and
 - which is not included in the material interest period under subsection (5).
- In relation to any period added to the material interest period under subsection (7), in subsection (1)(b) the reference to the individual is to be read as a reference to the assignor.
- For the purposes of subsections (5) and (7), in section 465(2) to (4) references to the rights under the policy are to be read as including references to a share of those rights.
- (10)In this section "the policy period" means the period for which the 35 policy has run before the chargeable event occurs.
- If the policy is a policy of life insurance which is a new policy in relation to another policy, for the purposes of subsection (10) the new policy is to be taken to have run –
 - from the issue of the other policy, or
 - if it also was a new policy in relation to an earlier policy, from the issue of the earlier policy,

and so on; and in subsections (5) to (9) references to the policy are to be read accordingly as including any relevant earlier policy.

15

5

25

30

In subsection (11) "new policy" has the meaning given in paragraph 17 of Schedule 15 to ICTA.

528A Reduction in amount charged on basis of non-UK residence of

deceased person Subsection (3) applies if – 5 personal representatives are liable for tax charged on a gain from a policy of life insurance or a capital redemption policy under section 466, and there were one or more days in the material interest period on which the deceased was not UK resident. 10 Subsection (3) also applies if – trustees are liable for tax charged on a gain from a policy of life insurance or a capital redemption policy under section 467 where of conditions A to D in that section, only condition B 15 is met, and the absent settlor condition which is met is the one in subsection (4)(b) of that section (deceased settlor), there were one or more days in the material interest period on which the deceased was not UK resident, and 20 the deceased was UK resident when the deceased died. In determining the liability for tax of the personal representatives or trustees, the gain on which the tax is charged in the case of the personal representatives or trustees is to be reduced by the appropriate fraction. 25 The appropriate fraction is – where -A is the number of days in the material interest period which are days falling within subsection (1)(b) or (2)(b) (as the case may 30 be), and B is the number of days in the material interest period. In subsection (3) the reference to the gain is to be read in accordance with section 463C(8) (which relates to restricted relief qualifying policies) if applicable. 35 In this section "the material interest period" means so much of the policy period falling before the deceased's death as during which the deceased met condition A, B or C in section 465 in relation to the policy (subject to subsection (8)). Subsections (8) and (9) apply if, before the deceased's death, there 40 was an assignment falling within section 487(c) in relation to the policy where the deceased was the assignee. There is to be added to the material interest period any part of the

policy period falling before the assignment —

465 in relation to the policy, and

during which the assignor met condition A, B or C in section

| | | | (b) which is not included in the material interest period under subsection (6). | |
|---|-----|------------------|---|----|
| | | (9) | In relation to any period added to the material interest period under subsection (8), in subsection (1)(b) or (2)(b) the reference to the deceased is to be read as a reference to the assignor. | 5 |
| | | (10) | For the purposes of subsections (6) and (8), in section 465(2) to (4) references to the rights under the policy are to be read as including references to a share of those rights. | |
| | | (11) | In this section "the policy period" means the period for which the policy has run before the chargeable event occurs. | 10 |
| | | (12) | If the policy is a policy of life insurance which is a new policy in relation to another policy, for the purposes of subsection (11) the new policy is to be taken to have run— (a) from the issue of the other policy, or (b) if it also was a new policy in relation to an earlier policy, from the issue of the earlier policy, and so on; and in subsections (6) to (10) references to the policy are to be read accordingly as including any relevant earlier policy. | 15 |
| | | (13) | In subsection (12) "new policy" has the meaning given in paragraph 17 of Schedule 15 to ICTA." | 20 |
| 4 | | Omit s | section 529 (exceptions to section 528). | |
| 5 | (1) | Section as follo | n 536 (top slicing relieved liability: one chargeable event) is amended ows. | |
| | (2) | | section (6) for the words from "from" to the end substitute "reduced section 528 in the case of the individual." | 25 |
| | (3) | For sul | bsection (7) substitute – | |
| | | "(7) | If in the case of the individual the gain is reduced under section 528, for steps 1 and 3 in subsection (1) N is reduced by the number of complete years consisting wholly of days falling within section 528(1)(b) (including days falling within section 528(1)(b) by virtue of section 528(8))." | 30 |
| 6 | | In sectionsert- | ion 552 of ICTA (information: duty of insurers) after subsection (13) | |
| | | "(14) | For the purposes of this section no account is to be taken of the effect of sections 528 and 528A of ITTOIA 2005." | 35 |
| 7 | (1) | The an (a) (b) | any policy of life insurance issued in respect of an insurance made on or after 6 April 2013, or any contract constituting a capital redemption policy made on or after that date. | 40 |
| | (2) | | mendment made by paragraph 3 above has effect in relation to any nce or contract made before 6 April 2013 if on or after that date— the policy or contract is varied with the result that there is an increase in the benefits secured, | |

| | Schedule 8 — Gains from contracts for life insurance etc | |
|---------|---|----|
| | (b) there is or was an assignment (or assignation) of rights, or a share of the rights, conferred by the policy or contract (whether or not for money's worth) to the individual or deceased, or | |
| | (c) some or all of the rights conferred by the policy or contract become or became held as a security for a debt of the individual or deceased, | 5 |
| | and the other amendments made by this Schedule have effect in relation to the insurance or contract accordingly. | |
| (3) | For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a) an exercise of rights conferred by a policy or contract is to count as a variation of the policy or contract. | |
| (4) | In the case of a policy or contract treated under section 473A of ITTOIA 2005 as a single policy or contract, for the purposes of sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) the date on which the insurance or contract is made is the date on which, as the case may be— | 10 |
| | (a) the first insurance is made in respect of which the connected policies are issued, or | 15 |
| | (b) the first of the connected contracts is made. | |
| | CCHEDIHE 0 | |
| | SCHEDULE 9 Section 25 | |
| | QUALIFYING INSURANCE POLICIES | |
| | Part 1 | |
| | AMENDMENTS OF SCHEDULE 15 TO ICTA ETC | 20 |
| | Schedule 15 to ICTA (qualifying insurance policies) is amended as follows. | |
| | Before Part 1 insert – | |
| | "Part A1 | |
| | PREMIUM LIMIT FOR QUALIFYING POLICIES | |
| P^{i} | remium limit for qualifying policies to apply from 6 April 2013 | 25 |
| | A1 (1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies if— (a) an event falling within sub-paragraph (3) occurs, (b) apart from sub-paragraph (2), the policy to which the event relates would be a qualifying policy after the event, and (c) an individual who is a beneficiary under that policy is in breach of the premium limit for qualifying policies. | 30 |
| | (2) That policy is not to be a qualifying policy after the event. | |
| | (3) The events falling within this sub-paragraph are— | |
| | (a) the issue of a policy in respect of an insurance made on or after 6 April 2013; | 35 |
| | (b) the variation of a policy on or after 6 April 2013 where as a result of the variation — | |
| | (i) the period over which premiums are payable under the policy is or could be lengthened, or | |

| | | (ii) the total amount of the premiums payable under the policy in any relevant period is or could be increased, | |
|-----|---------------|---|----|
| | | or both; | |
| | (c) | the assignment on or after 6 April 2013 of any rights, or any share in any rights, under a policy where the assignment falls within paragraph B2(3)(c) to (g) below; | 5 |
| | (d) | a deceased beneficiary event on or after 6 April 2013; | |
| | (e) | the conditions in paragraph 24(3) below being fulfilled for the first time in respect of a new non-resident policy where— | 10 |
| | | (i) the conditions are fulfilled for the first time on or after 6 April 2013, and | |
| | | (ii) but for the conditions being fulfilled, the policy could not be a qualifying policy because of paragraph 24(2). | 15 |
| (4) | An eve | ent does not fall within sub-paragraph (3) if — | |
| ` , | (a) | the policy to which the event relates is — | |
| | ` ' | (i) a protected policy, | |
| | | (ii) a restricted relief qualifying policy, or | 20 |
| | | (iii) a pure protection policy, | |
| | (b) | the event is the issue of a policy which is a new policy in | |
| | (~) | relation to an earlier policy where – | |
| | | (i) the new policy is issued in substitution for the earlier policy (and not on its maturity), and | 25 |
| | | (ii) the life assured under the new policy is different to the life assured under the earlier policy but that is the only difference to what the position would have been had the earlier policy continued to run, | |
| | (c) | paragraph 20ZA below applies to a policy and the event is the reinstatement or replacement of the policy as mentioned in paragraph 20ZA(4), | 30 |
| | (d) | the event is the issue or variation of a policy in relation to which paragraph 29 of Schedule 39 to the Finance Act 2012 applies, or | 35 |
| | (e) | the event is an assignment falling within paragraph B2(3)(e) below where the assignment is a mortgage endowment assignment. | |
| (5) | | -paragraph (3)(b)(ii) "relevant period" means any period of nths beginning at or after the time of the variation. | 40 |
| (6) | (3)(b) | iation is to be ignored for the purposes of sub-paragraph if its effect is nullified before the end of the period of 3 as after the day on which the variation occurs. | |
| (7) | | aragraph (4)(a)(i) does not apply in the case of an event oned in sub-paragraph (3)(e). | 45 |
| (8) | Sub-pa (a) | aragraph (4)(a)(ii) does not apply in the case of — an event mentioned in sub-paragraph (3)(c) or (d) occurring in relation to a restricted relief qualifying policy ("the assigned policy"), | |

any subsequent event relating to the assigned policy, or

| , , | (c) any event relating to— (i) a later policy which is a new policy in relation to the assigned policy, or (ii) any policy which is a new policy in relation to the later policy, and so on. In the case of an event mentioned in sub-paragraph (3)(b), sub-paragraph (4)(a)(iii) applies only if the policy is a pure protection policy both before and after the variation. This paragraph is to be applied after all other provisions of this Schedule relevant to the question of whether a policy is a | 5 10 |
|---------------|---|---------|
| Restricted ve | qualifying policy after an event have been applied. elief qualifying policies | |
| | | 45 |
| A2 (1) | Sub-paragraph (2) applies if — (a) an event falling within sub-paragraph (3) occurs, (b) the policy to which the event relates is a qualifying policy after the event, and | 15 |
| | (c) an individual who is a beneficiary under that policy is in breach of the premium limit for qualifying policies. | 20 |
| (2) | That policy is to be a restricted relief qualifying policy after the event. | |
| (3) | The events falling within this sub-paragraph are— | |
| | (a) a premium limit event in relation to a protected policy on or after 21 March 2012; | 25 |
| | (b) the issue of a policy as mentioned in paragraph A4(2)(b) below if, assuming that the substitution of the protected policy were instead a variation of that policy, there would be a premium limit event in relation to that policy; | |
| | (c) the assignment on or after 6 April 2013 of any rights, or any share in any rights, under a protected policy where the assignment falls within paragraph B2(3)(c) to (g) below; | 30 |
| | (d) a deceased beneficiary event on or after 6 April 2013 where the policy in question is a protected policy; | |
| | (e) the issue of a policy in respect of an insurance made on or after 21 March 2012 but before 6 April 2013 otherwise than as mentioned in paragraph A4(2)(b) below; | 35 |
| | (f) the variation of a policy, other than a protected policy, on or after 21 March 2012 but before 6 April 2013 where as a result of the variation— (i) the period over which premiums are payable under the policy is or could be lengthened, or (ii) the total amount of the premiums payable under the policy in any relevant period is or could be | 40 |
| | increased, or both; | 45 |

| | (g) | the conditions in either sub-paragraph (3) or sub-paragraph (4) of paragraph 24 below being fulfilled for the first time in respect of a new non-resident policy where — (i) the conditions are fulfilled for the first time on or after 21 March 2012 but before 6 April 2013, and (ii) but for the conditions being fulfilled, the policy could not be a qualifying policy because of sub-paragraph (2) of paragraph 24. | 5 | | | |
|-----|--|--|----|--|--|--|
| (4) | | ent does not fall within sub-paragraph (3) if — | 10 | | | |
| | (a) | the policy to which the event relates is a pure protection policy, | 10 | | | |
| | (b) | the event is the issue of a policy which is a new policy in relation to an earlier policy where— (i) the new policy is issued in substitution for the earlier policy (and not on its maturity), and | 15 | | | |
| | | (ii) the life assured under the new policy is different to the life assured under the earlier policy but that is the only difference to what the position would have been had the earlier policy continued to run, | 10 | | | |
| | (c) | paragraph 20ZA below applies to a policy and the event is the reinstatement or replacement of the policy as mentioned in paragraph 20ZA(4), | 20 | | | |
| | (d) | the event is the issue or variation of a policy in relation to which paragraph 29 of Schedule 39 to the Finance Act 2012 applies, or | 25 | | | |
| | (e) | the event is an assignment falling within paragraph B2(3)(e) below where the assignment is a mortgage endowment assignment. | | | | |
| (5) | In sub-paragraph (3)(f)(ii) "relevant period" means any period of 12 months beginning at or after the time of the variation. | | | | | |
| (6) | A premium limit event or a variation is to be ignored for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (f) if its effect is nullified before 6 July 2013. | | | | | |
| (7) | In the case of a premium limit event which occurs on or after 6 April 2013, in sub-paragraph (6) the reference to 6 July 2013 is to be read as a reference to the end of the period of 3 months after the day on which the premium limit event occurs. | | | | | |
| (8) | In the case of an event mentioned in sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (f), sub-paragraph (4)(a) applies only if the policy is a pure protection policy both before and after the premium limit event or variation. | | | | | |
| (9) | A "preif— | emium limit event" occurs in relation to a protected policy | | | | |
| | (a) | the policy is varied or a relevant option is exercised so as to change the terms of the policy, and | | | | |
| | (b) | as a result of the variation or exercise of the relevant option— | 45 | | | |

(i) the period over which premiums are payable under the policy is or could be lengthened, or

the total amount of the premiums payable under the policy in any relevant period is or could be increased, or both. (10) A "premium limit event" also occurs in relation to a protected 5 policy if on or after 6 April 2013 – the policy is varied or a relevant option is exercised so as to change the terms of the policy, and as a result of the variation or exercise of the relevant option -10 the period over which premiums are payable (i) under the policy is or could be shortened, or the total amount of the premiums payable under the policy in any relevant period is or could be decreased, 15 or both. (11) In sub-paragraphs (9)(b)(ii) and (10)(b)(ii) "relevant period" means any period of 12 months beginning at or after the time of the variation or exercise of the relevant option. 20 (12) The variation of, or exercise of a relevant option under, a protected policy is not a premium limit event in relation to the policy if the policy secures a capital sum payable either on survival for a specified term, or on earlier death or on earlier death or disability, the policy is issued and maintained for the sole purpose of 25 ensuring that the borrower under an interest-only mortgage will have sufficient funds to repay the principal lent under the mortgage, and the policy is varied, or the relevant option is exercised, for that sole purpose. 30 (13) In sub-paragraph (3)(g) references to paragraph 24 below are to that paragraph as it has effect before the appointed date for the purposes of section 55 of the Finance Act 1995. (14) A qualifying policy which is a new policy in relation to an earlier policy is a restricted relief qualifying policy if the earlier policy is 35 a restricted relief qualifying policy. (15) A policy which is a restricted relief qualifying policy remains a restricted relief qualifying policy so long as it is a qualifying policy. 40 (16) Paragraph A1 above is to be ignored in determining for the purposes of sub-paragraph (14) or (15) if a policy is a qualifying

policy.

This is subject to paragraph A1(8).

sections 463A to 463D of ITTOIA 2005.

(17) For further provision about restricted relief qualifying policies, see

The premium limit for qualifying policies

| A3 | (1) | For the purposes of paragraphs A1(1)(c) and A2(1)(c) above an individual is in breach of the premium limit for qualifying policies if the total amount of the premiums payable under relevant policies in any relevant period — (a) exceeds £3,600, or | | 5 | |
|----|-----|---|------------------------------|--|----|
| | | (b) | could (i) (ii) | exceed £3,600 as a result of — the exercise of any one or more relevant options conferred by one or more relevant policies, or so far as not covered by sub-paragraph (i), the application of one or more terms of one or more relevant policies relating to increases in premiums. | 10 |
| | (2) | For the (a) | | ses of sub-paragraph (1) — ch of a premium payable under a relevant policy as | |
| | | | is char or disa determ | ged on the grounds that an exceptional risk of death ability is involved is to be left out of account in nining the premiums payable under the policy, | 15 |
| | | (b) | | ch of the first premium payable under a relevant the liability for the payment of which — | |
| | | | (i) | is discharged in accordance with paragraph 15(2) below, or | 20 |
| | | | (ii) | in the case of a policy in relation to which paragraph 3 below applies, is discharged under a provision of the policy falling within paragraph $3(4)(c)$, | 25 |
| | | | | e left out of account in determining the premiums le under the policy (subject to sub-paragraph (3)), | |
| | | (c) | policy | ermining the premiums payable under a relevant any provision for the waiver of premiums by reason erson's disability is to be ignored, and | 30 |
| | | (d) | beginn | ant period" means any period of 12 months ning at or after the time when the event falling within raph A1(3) or A2(3) above ("the relevant event") | 35 |
| | (3) | | | n amount that may be left out of account under sub- (b) in the case of a relevant policy is – $£3,600 \times N$ | |
| | | | the oth | e number of complete years for which ran— ner policy involved, or e is more than one other policy involved, the policy | 40 |
| | (4) | For th | | ran for the most number of complete years. | |
| | (4) | policie | | oses of this paragraph the following are "relevant | |
| | | (a) (b) | _ | licy to which the relevant event relates, and her policy — which is a qualifying policy, and under which the individual is a beneficiary. | 45 |

10

15

20

30

35

- (5) But neither a protected policy nor a pure protection policy is to be a relevant policy by virtue of sub-paragraph (4)(b).
- (6) Sub-paragraph (7) applies if this paragraph is to be applied in the case of an individual in consequence of two or more events occurring at the same time (including where one or more of the events falls within paragraph A1(3) above and one or more of the events falls within paragraph A2(3) above).
- (7) For the purpose of applying this paragraph in the case of the individual in consequence of any of the events, sub-paragraph (4)(a) has effect as if the reference to the policy to which the relevant event relates were a reference to all the policies to which the events, taken together, relate.
- (8) But sub-paragraph (7) does not apply, and sub-paragraph (9) applies instead, if
 - (a) all the policies in question are policies issued by the same issuer, and
 - (b) each of them has an unique identifier in a series of unique identifiers which the issuer gives to policies issued by it.
- (9) For the purpose of applying this paragraph in the case of the individual in consequence of any of the events, an event relating to a policy ("policy A") is treated as occurring before an event relating to another policy ("policy B") if, in the issuer's series of unique identifiers, policy A's unique identifier comes before policy B's unique identifier.

Protected policies 25

- A4 (1) This paragraph applies for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule.
 - (2) A policy is "protected" if
 - (a) it is issued in respect of an insurance made before 21 March 2012, or
 - (b) it is issued in respect of an insurance made on or after 21 March 2012 where
 - (i) it is a new policy in relation to an earlier policy,
 - (ii) it is issued in substitution for the earlier policy (and not on its maturity), and
 - (iii) the earlier policy is a protected policy (whether by virtue of paragraph (a) or this paragraph).
 - (3) A policy which is protected ceases to be protected if it becomes a restricted relief qualifying policy.
 - (4) A policy issued as mentioned in sub-paragraph (2)(b) is not protected if
 - (a) its issue is an event falling within paragraph A2(3) above, and
 - (b) after that event it is a restricted relief qualifying policy.

Но

| How to | deter | mine if an individual is a beneficiary under a policy | | | |
|---------|-------|--|--|--|--|
| A5 | (1) | This paragraph applies for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule in determining if an individual is a beneficiary under a policy. An individual is a beneficiary under a policy if the individual beneficially owns— | | | |
| | (2) | | | | |
| | | (a) any rights under the policy, or(b) any share in any rights under the policy. | | | |
| | (3) | An individual is a beneficiary under a policy if— (a) any rights under the policy are, or any share in any rights under the policy is, held on non-charitable trusts created by the individual, and (b) those rights are, or that share is, not beneficially owned by any individual. | | | |
| | (4) | The following provisions of ITTOIA 2005 apply for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(a) — (a) section 465(6), and (b) the definition of "non-charitable trust" in section 545(1). | | | |
| | (5) | An individual is a beneficiary under a policy if — (a) any rights under the policy are, or any share in any rights under the policy is, held as security for a debt of the individual, and (b) those rights are, or that share is, not beneficially owned by | | | |
| | | any individual. | | | |
| Further | defir | nitions | | | |
| A6 | (1) | In this Part of this Schedule— (a) "new policy" has the meaning given in paragraph 17 below, | | | |
| | | (b) references to the variation of a policy are to a variation in relation to which paragraph 18 below applies, | | | |
| | | (c) "pure protection policy" means a policy —(i) which has no surrender value and is not capable of acquiring a surrender value, or | | | |
| | | (ii) under which the benefits payable cannot exceed the amount of the premiums paid except on death or in respect of disability, and | | | |
| | | (d) "relevant option", in relation to a policy, means an option conferred by the policy on the person to whom it is issued to have another policy substituted for it or to have any of its terms changed. | | | |
| | (2) | For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule a "deceased beneficiary event" occurs if, in connection with the death of an individual ("D") who was a beneficiary under a policy, an individual ("B") becomes a beneficiary under that policy by reference (wholly or partly) to any rights, or to any share in any | | | |

| | | Schedule 9 — Qualifying insurance policies Part 1 — Amendments of Schedule 15 to ICTA etc | |
|-----------|-------|---|----|
| | | rights, by reference to which D was a beneficiary (wholly or partly). | |
| | | For this purpose, it does not matter if B is already a beneficiary under the policy. | |
| | (3) | For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule an assignment is a "mortgage endowment assignment" if — (a) the policy to which the assignment relates secures a capital | 5 |
| | | sum payable either — | |
| | | (i) on survival for a specified term, or (ii) on earlier death or on earlier death or disability, (b) the policy is issued and maintained for the sole purpose of ensuring that the borrower under an interest-only mortgage will have sufficient funds to repay the principal lent under the mortgage, and | 10 |
| | | (c) when the assignment occurs, it is intended that the policy will continue to be maintained for that sole purpose." | 15 |
| At th | e be | eginning of Part 1 (qualifying conditions) insert — | |
| | | "RULES FOR QUALIFYING POLICIES | |
| Rights to | o be | beneficially owned by individuals only | |
| B1 | (1) | Sub-paragraph (2) applies in relation to a policy issued in respect of an insurance made on or after 6 April 2013. | 20 |
| | (2) | In order for the policy to be a qualifying policy, when it is issued all the rights under it must be beneficially owned by (and only by)— | |
| | | (a) one individual, or | 25 |
| | | (b) two or more individuals taken together. (This is the case notwithstanding any other provision of this Schedule.) | |
| | (3) | Sub-paragraph (2) does not apply if the policy is protected. | |
| | (4) | A policy is "protected" if it is a new policy (as defined in paragraph 17 below) in relation to— (a) a policy issued in respect of an insurance made before 21 March 2012, or | 30 |
| | | (b) a policy which is protected (whether by virtue of paragraph (a) or this paragraph). | 35 |
| Assignn | ıents | s | |
| B2 | (1) | Sub-paragraph (2) applies if any rights under a qualifying policy | |

Assignments

- B2 (1) are, or any share in any rights under a qualifying policy is, assigned on or after 6 April 2013.
 - (2) The policy is not to be a qualifying policy after the assignment (notwithstanding any other provision of this Schedule). 40
 - (3) Sub-paragraph (2) does not apply if –

| | (a |) the assignment is from an individual by way of security for a debt of the individual, | |
|------------|---------------|--|----------|
| | (b |) the assignment is to an individual on the discharge of a debt of the individual secured by the rights or share, | |
| | (c) |) the assignment is from an individual to the individual's spouse or civil partner, | 5 |
| | (d |) the assignment is to an individual in pursuance of an order made by a court, | |
| | (e |) the assignment is to an individual in pursuance of a legally enforceable obligation relating to a divorce or the dissolution of a civil partnership, | 10 |
| | (f |) the assignment is from an individual and, as a result of the assignment, the rights assigned are, or the share assigned is, held on trusts created by the individual, | |
| | (g |) the assignment is to an individual and, as a result of the assignment, the rights assigned are, or the share assigned is, no longer held on trusts, or | 15 |
| | (h | · | |
| | | (i) is to the personal representatives of a deceased individual, or | 20 |
| | | (ii) is to an individual where, as a result of the assignment, a deceased beneficiary event (see paragraph A6(2) above) occurs. | |
| (4 | | ion 465(6) of ITTOIA 2005 applies for the purposes of subgraph (3)(f). | 25 |
| (C | | paragraphs A1 and A2 above which may apply in sequence of an assignment falling within sub-paragraph (3). | |
| Required s | tatemen | rts | |
| B3 (1 | 1) Sub- (a | paragraph (2) applies if any of the following events occurs—) the issue of a policy in respect of an insurance made on or after 6 April 2013; | 30 |
| | (b) |) the variation of a policy on or after 6 April 2013 where paragraph 18 below applies in relation to the variation and as a result of the variation— | |
| | | (i) the period over which premiums are payable under the policy is or could be lengthened, or | 35 |
| | | (ii) the total amount of the premiums payable under the policy in any relevant period is or could be | |
| | | | |
| | | increased, or both; | 40 |
| | (c | increased, or both; | 40 |
| | (c | increased, or both;) a premium limit event in relation to a protected policy on or after 6 April 2013 (see paragraph A2(9) to (12) above);) an event on or after 6 April 2013 which would be a premium limit event in relation to a protected policy but | 40 45 |
| | | increased, or both; a premium limit event in relation to a protected policy on or after 6 April 2013 (see paragraph A2(9) to (12) above); an event on or after 6 April 2013 which would be a premium limit event in relation to a protected policy but for paragraph A2(12) above; | |

a deceased beneficiary event (see paragraph A6(2) above) on or after 6 April 2013; the conditions in paragraph 24(3) below being fulfilled for the first time in respect of a new non-resident policy 5 the conditions are fulfilled for the first time on or after 6 April 2013, and but for the conditions being fulfilled, the policy could not be a qualifying policy because of paragraph 24(2). 10 (2) Each individual who is a beneficiary under the policy must, before the end of the statement period, make to the issuer of the policy a statement dealing with the prescribed matters. (3) If an individual does not comply with sub-paragraph (2) the policy is not to be a qualifying policy after the event 15 (notwithstanding any other provision of this Schedule). (4) In sub-paragraph (1)(b)(ii) "relevant period" means any period of 12 months beginning at or after the time of the variation. (5) Sub-paragraph (2) – does not apply in the case of an event mentioned in sub-20 paragraph (1)(a), (e), (f) or (g) if the policy is a pure protection policy, and does not apply in the case of an event mentioned in subparagraph (1)(b), (c) or (d) if the policy is a pure protection policy both before and after the event. 25 "Pure protection policy" has the meaning given by paragraph A6(1)(c) above. (6) Sub-paragraph (2) does not apply in the case of an event mentioned in sub-paragraph (1)(e) where the assignment falls within paragraph B2(3)(e) above and is a mortgage endowment 30 assignment. "Mortgage endowment assignment" is to be read in accordance with paragraph A6(3) above. (7) In sub-paragraph (2) – the reference to an individual who is a beneficiary under 35 the policy is to be read in accordance with paragraph A5 "the statement period" means – the period of 3 months after the day on which the event occurs, or 40 if the event occurs before the day on which the Finance Act 2013 is passed, the period of 3 months after that day, or such longer period as an officer of Revenue and Customs may allow, and 45 "prescribed" means prescribed by regulations made by the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs.

| | | (8) An officer of Revenue and Customs may allow a longer period for the purposes of sub-paragraph (7)(b) only if— (a) the individual in question has made a request in writing to an officer of Revenue and Customs for a longer period to be allowed, and (b) such an officer is satisfied. | 5 |
|---|-----|---|----|
| | | (b) such an officer is satisfied – (i) that there is a reasonable excuse for the required statement not having been made within the period mentioned in sub-paragraph (7)(b)(i) or (ii), and | |
| | | (ii) that the request under paragraph (a) was made without unreasonable delay after the reasonable excuse ceased. | 10 |
| | | (9) Regulations under sub-paragraph (7)(c) may – | |
| | | (a) make different provision for different cases or circumstances, and | 15 |
| | | (b) contain incidental, supplementary, consequential, transitional, transitory or saving provision." | |
| 4 | (1) | Paragraph 17 (substitutions) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In sub-paragraph (2) before paragraph (a) insert— | |
| | , | "(za) the new policy cannot be a qualifying policy if the old policy was not a qualifying policy by virtue of— (i) paragraph A1(2), B1(2), B2(2) or B3(3) above, or (ii) sub-paragraph (i) above or this sub-paragraph;". | 20 |
| | (3) | In sub-paragraph (2)(a) after the first "not" insert "and paragraph (za) above does not apply". | 25 |
| | (4) | In sub-paragraph (4) for "(2)" substitute "(2)(a) to (c)". | |
| | (5) | After sub-paragraph (4) insert — | |
| | | "(5) In determining under sub-paragraph (2)(a) to (c) above whether the new policy would apart from this paragraph be a qualifying policy, paragraph A1 above is not to be applied in relation to the issue of the new policy; but this does not stop that paragraph being applied in relation to the issue of the new policy after this paragraph has been applied." | 30 |
| 5 | | In paragraph 25 (application of paragraph 17 in cases involving new non-resident policies) after sub-paragraph (2) insert — | 35 |
| | | "(2A) In determining for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a) above whether a policy would, apart from paragraph 24, have been a qualifying policy, paragraphs A1 and B1 to B3 above are to be ignored. (But this does not affect the application of any of those paragraphs | 40 |
| | | in relation to the new policy.)". | 10 |
| 6 | (1) | In section 55 of FA 1995 (qualifying life insurance policies: disapplication of paragraph 21 of Schedule 15 to ICTA from appointed date) in subsection (3) after "subject" insert "to paragraphs A1(2), B2(2) and B3(3) of that Schedule | 45 |
| | | and". | 45 |

(2) The amendment made by this paragraph is treated as having come into force on the appointed date (see section 55(9) of FA 1995).

PART 2

RESTRICTED RELIEF QUALIFYING POLICIES

7 Chapter 9 of Part 4 of ITTOIA 2005 (gains from contracts for life insurance etc) is amended as follows.

5

8 After section 463 insert –

"463A Restricted relief qualifying policies: disapplication of section 485 etc

(1) This section applies for the purpose of determining if an individual is liable for tax charged under this Chapter.

10

15

- (2) In relation to an event occurring on or after 6 April 2013, section 485 (disregard of certain events in relation to qualifying policies) does not apply in relation to a policy ("policy X") which is a restricted relief qualifying policy (see paragraph A2 of Schedule 15 to ICTA).
- (3) If an individual is liable for tax charged under this Chapter as a result of subsection (2), the gain on which the tax is charged in the case of the individual is reduced by the following amount —

$$G \times \frac{TAP}{TP}$$

where -

G is the amount of the gain (apart from this subsection),

20

- TAP is the total amount of premiums payable under policy X during the policy X period so far as they are allowable premiums as determined in accordance with section 463B, and
- TP is the total amount of premiums payable under policy X during the policy X period.

25

(4) If section 528 also applies in the case of the individual in relation to the gain, subsection (3) is to be applied to the gain before section 528 and, accordingly, the reduction to be made under section 528 is to be determined by reference to the gain as reduced by subsection (3).

30

- (5) The following subsections apply for the purposes of this section (except subsection (2)) and section 463B.
- (6) "The policy X period" means the period for which policy X has run before the chargeable event occurs.
- (7) Subsections (8) and (9) apply if policy X is a new policy in relation to another policy.
- (8) For the purposes of subsection (6) policy X is to be taken to have
 - (a) from the issue of the other policy, or
 - (b) if the other policy was also a new policy in relation to an earlier policy, from the issue of the earlier policy,

and so on.

| (9) | References to premiums payable under policy X are to be read as including references to premiums payable under any earlier policy taken into account under subsection (8). | | | | | |
|--------|--|----|--|--|--|--|
| (10) | premiums payable under a policy— (a) so much of a premium as is charged on the grounds that an exceptional risk of death or disability is involved; (b) subject to subsection (11), so much of the first premium payable the liability for the payment of which— (i) is discharged in accordance with paragraph 15(2) of Schedule 15 to ICTA, or (ii) in the case of a policy in relation to which paragraph 3 of that Schedule applies, is discharged under a | | | | | |
| | provision of the policy falling within paragraph 3(4)(c) of that Schedule. | 15 | | | | |
| (11) | subsection (10)(b) in the case of a policy is – $\pounds 3,600 \times N$ | | | | | |
| | where N is the number of complete years for which ran – (a) the other policy involved, or (b) if there is more than one other policy involved, the policy which ran for the most number of complete years. | 20 | | | | |
| (12) | In determining the premiums payable under a policy any provision for the waiver of premiums by reason of a person's disability is to be ignored. | | | | | |
| (13) | "New policy" has the meaning given in paragraph 17 of Schedule 15 to ICTA. | | | | | |
| 463B I | Restricted relief qualifying policies: allowable premiums | | | | | |
| (1) | This section sets out how to determine the extent to which premiums payable under policy X during the policy X period are allowable premiums for the purposes of section 463A(3). | 30 | | | | |
| (2) | A premium payable under policy X is allowable if it is payable before the restricted relief date. | | | | | |
| (3) | In this section "the restricted relief date" means – (a) 6 April 2013, or (b) if later, the date on which policy X became a restricted relief qualifying policy. | 35 | | | | |
| (4) | Premiums payable under policy X in a relevant premium period are allowable so far as they do not exceed in total the premium limit for the period. | 40 | | | | |
| (5) | In subsection (4) "relevant premium period" means— (a) any period of one year which— (i) begins with a relevant date, and (ii) ends in the policy X period, and (b) if it is not covered by paragraph (a), the period which— | 45 | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

(10).

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

(17)

The policy is –

new policy, or

becoming a restricted relief qualifying policy.

the policy ("policy Y") in relation to which policy X was the

45

Part 2 — Restricted relief qualifying policies begins with the last relevant date to fall within the policy X period, and (ii) ends at the end of the policy X period. In subsection (5) "relevant date" means – the restricted relief date, or 5 any anniversary of the restricted relief date. For the purposes of subsection (4) "the premium limit" for a relevant premium period is determined in accordance with subsections (8) to 10 Determine the premiums payable in the relevant premium period under policies related to policy X. If the total of those premiums is £3,600 or more, the premium limit is nil (and, accordingly, no premiums payable under policy X in the relevant premium period are allowable). If the total of those premiums is less than £3,600, the premium limit 15 is the difference between that total and £3,600. Subsection (4) does not apply if, at the time policy X became a restricted relief qualifying policy, any policy related to policy X was itself a restricted relief qualifying policy. For the purposes of this section a policy is "related" to policy X if it 20 met the following requirements at the time policy X became a restricted relief qualifying policy – the policy is a qualifying policy under which the individual is a beneficiary (as determined in accordance with paragraph A5 of Schedule 15 to ICTA); 25 (b) the policy is neither a protected policy nor a pure protection policy. In subsection (12)(b) – "protected policy" is to be read in accordance with paragraph A4 of Schedule 15 to ICTA, and 30 "pure protection policy" has the meaning given by paragraph A6(1)(c) of that Schedule. A policy which is a new policy in relation to a policy "related" to policy X (whether by virtue of subsection (12) or this subsection) is also "related" to policy X if it meets the requirements of subsection 35 (12)(a) and (b) when issued. A policy ceases to be "related" to policy X if it ceases to meet those requirements. If policy X is a restricted relief qualifying policy as provided for by paragraph A2(14) of Schedule 15 to ICTA, references in this section 40 to policy X becoming a restricted relief qualifying policy are to be read as references to the policy determined under subsection (17)

(b) a policy –

| | (b) | if policy Y was also a restricted relief qualifying policy as provided for by paragraph A2(14) of Schedule 15 to ICTA, the policy in relation to which policy Y was the new policy, | | | | |
|------|---|--|----------------|--|--|--|
| | and so | on. | | | | |
| (18) | The fo | a premium ("premium A") is payable under policy X on a day ("day A") which is on or after 21 March 2012 but before 6 April 2013, and | 5 | | | |
| | (b) | the next premium payable under policy X is payable on a day ("day B") which is— (i) on or after 6 April 2013, and (ii) more than one month after day A. | 10 | | | |
| (19) | payab | um A is to be treated as if, instead of being one premium le on day A, it were a series of premiums payable at monthly als with the first premium in the series payable on day A. | 15 | | | |
| (20) | compl | umber of premiums in the series is equal to the number of lete months falling within the period beginning with day A and g with day B. | | | | |
| (21) | | mount of each premium in the series is the amount of premium ided by the number of premiums in the series. | 20 | | | |
| | | d relief qualifying policies: personal representatives and vith deceased settlors | | | | |
| (1) | repres | section applies for the purpose of determining if personal sentatives are liable for tax charged under this Chapter as ded for by section 466. | 25 | | | |
| (2) | This section also applies for the purpose of determining if trustees are liable for tax charged under this Chapter as provided for by section 467 where — | | | | | |
| | (a) (b) | condition B in that section is met, and the person who created the trusts has died. | 30 | | | |
| (3) | (disreg | ation to an event occurring on or after 6 April 2013, section 485 gard of certain events in relation to qualifying policies) does oply in relation to a policy if the policy is a restricted relief ying policy (see paragraph A2 of Schedule 15 to ICTA). | | | | |
| (4) | under apply (a) | personal representatives or trustees are liable for tax charged this Chapter as a result of subsection (3), section 463A(3) is to in the case of the personal representatives or the trustees—as if the reference to the individual were to the personal representatives or to the trustees, and | 35 40 | | | |
| (5) | (b) For th (a) | as if the restricted relief qualifying policy were policy X. is purpose— in section 463B(12)(a) the reference to the individual is to be read as a reference to the deceased, and | 1 0 | | | |

| | Schedule 9 — Qualifying insurance policies Part 2 — Restricted relief qualifying policies | |
|----|---|-----|
| | (i) which would otherwise have ceased to be "related" to policy X for the purposes of section 463B on the deceased's death, but | |
| | (ii) which continues to run after the deceased's death, | |
| 5 | is to be treated as "related" to policy X after the deceased's death. | |
| 10 | A policy which is a new policy (as defined in paragraph 17 of Schedule 15 to ICTA) in relation to a policy treated as "related" to policy X under subsection (5)(b) or this subsection is also to be treated as "related" to policy X if, apart from the deceased's death, it would meet the requirements of section 463B(12)(a) and (b) on its issue. | (6) |
| 15 | A policy treated as "related" to policy X under subsection (5)(b) or (6) ceases to be so treated if, apart from the deceased's death, it would cease to meet the requirements of section 463B(12)(a) and (b). | (7) |
| 20 | If section 528A also applies in the case of the personal representatives or the trustees in relation to the gain, section 463A(3) is to be applied to the gain before section 528A and, accordingly, the reduction to be made under section 528A is to be determined by reference to the gain as reduced by section 463A(3). | (8) |
| | lestricted relief qualifying policies: assignments and events bllowing assignments etc | |
| 25 | This section applies if — (a) paragraph A1 of Schedule 15 to ICTA applies in relation to a policy by virtue of paragraph A1(8) in consequence of an event relating to the policy ("the relevant event"), | (1) |
| | (b) after the relevant event, the policy is not a qualifying policy by virtue of paragraph A1(2), and | |
| 30 | (c) in relation to an event occurring after the relevant event — (i) an individual is liable for tax charged under this Chapter on a gain from the policy, and (ii) but for the application of paragraph A1 in relation to the policy, section 463A(3) would have applied in the case of the individual so as to reduce the gain. | |
| 35 | Section 463A(3) is to apply in the case of the individual in relation to the gain as if the policy were policy X. | (2) |
| | But, for this purpose, section 463B(5) has effect as if the references to the policy X period were to the part of that period falling before the relevant event. | (3) |
| 40 | If section 528 also applies in the case of the individual in relation to the gain, section 463A(3) is to be applied to the gain before section 528 and, accordingly, the reduction to be made under section 528 is to be determined by reference to the gain as reduced by section | (4) |

463E Transitional protection for policies issued in respect of insurances made on or after 21 March 2012 but before 6 April 2013

This section applies if –

463A(3).

| | | (a) (b) | a policy ("policy Z") is issued, the issue of policy Z is an event falling within paragraph | |
|----|--------|---------------|--|----|
| | | (0) | A2(3) of Schedule 15 to ICTA by virtue of paragraph (e), | |
| | | (c) | after its issue, policy Z is a qualifying policy but not a restricted relief qualifying policy, | 5 |
| | | (d) | policy Z is varied on or after 6 April 2013 and the variation is | J |
| | | (e) | an event falling within paragraph A1(3) of Schedule 15, after the variation, policy Z is not a qualifying policy by | |
| | | (C) | virtue of paragraph A1(2) of that Schedule, | |
| | | (f) | in relation to an event occurring after the variation, an individual is liable for tax charged under this Chapter on a gain from policy Z, and | 10 |
| | | (g) | but for the application of paragraph A1 of Schedule 15 in relation to policy Z, the individual would not have been liable because of section 485. | 15 |
| | (2) | | nin on which the tax is charged in the case of the individual is ed by the following amount— | |
| | | | $G \times \frac{TPV}{TP}$ | |
| | | where. | _ | |
| | | | PV is the total amount of premiums payable under policy Z | 20 |
| | | TI | before the variation, and P is the total amount of premiums payable under policy Z before the chargeable event. | |
| | (3) | the gai | on 528 also applies in the case of the individual in relation to in, subsection (2) is to be applied to the gain before section 528 ecordingly, the reduction to be made under section 528 is to be nined by reference to the gain as reduced by subsection (2). | 25 |
| | (4) | Section | n 463A(10) to (12) applies for the purposes of subsection (2)." | |
| 9 | | | (disregard of certain events in relation to qualifying policies) on (7) insert – | 30 |
| | "(8) | This se | ection is subject to sections 463A and 463C." | |
| | | | Part 3 | |
| | | | INFORMATION POWERS | |
| 10 | After | section 5 | 552ZA of ICTA insert – | 35 |
| | "552ZB | Regulat | tions in relation to qualifying policies | |
| | (1) | The Co | ommissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs may | |
| | | make r (a) | regulations requiring relevant persons— to require the provision to them of prescribed information in connection with applications for the issue of qualifying | 40 |
| | | (b) | policies; to provide prescribed information to persons who apply for the issue of qualifying policies; | |
| | | | | |

to provide to an officer of Revenue and Customs prescribed information about qualifying policies issued by them. The regulations may make such provision as the Commissioners think fit for securing that an officer of Revenue and Customs is able -5 to ascertain whether there has been or is likely to be any (a) contravention of the requirements of the regulations, and to verify any information provided to an officer of Revenue and Customs as required by the regulations. The provision that may be made by virtue of subsection (2) includes, 10 (3) in particular, provision requiring relevant persons to make available books, documents and other records for inspection by or on behalf of an officer of Revenue and Customs. (4) The regulations may – make different provision for different cases or circumstances, 15 and supplementary, (b) contain incidental, consequential, transitional, transitory or saving provision. In this section – "information" includes certificates issued by prescribed persons 20 certifying prescribed matters, "prescribed" means prescribed by the regulations, "qualifying policy" includes a policy which would be a qualifying policy apart from paragraph A1(2), B1(2), B2(2) or B3(3) of Schedule 15, 25 paragraph 17(2)(za) of that Schedule (including as applied by paragraph 18), and "relevant person", in relation to a qualifying policy, means the the person who issues, or is proposing to issue, the policy." 30 11 In section 552B of ICTA (duties of overseas insurers' tax representatives) in subsection (2) after paragraph (b) omit "and", and after paragraph (c) insert "and any duties imposed by regulations under section 35 552ZB,". 12 In section 98 of TMA 1970 (special returns etc), in the second column of the Table, after the entry for regulations under section 552ZA(6) of ICTA insert-"regulations under section 552ZB;". 40 Part 1 - Introduction

SCHEDULE 10

Section 26

10

15

30

35

Transfer of assets abroad

Part 1

INTRODUCTION

1 Chapter 2 of Part 13 of ITA 2007 (tax avoidance: transfer of assets abroad) is 5 amended as follows.

PART 2

NEW EXEMPTION FOR GENUINE TRANSACTIONS ETC

- In section 718 (meaning of "person abroad" etc) in subsection (2) omit 2 paragraph (a) (UK resident body corporate incorporated outside UK treated as resident outside UK).
- In section 720 (charge to tax on income treated as arising under section 721) 3 in subsection (7) –
 - (a) for "742" substitute "742A", and
 - (b) after "transaction" insert ", etc".

4 In section 727 (charge to tax on income treated as arising under section 728) in subsection (5) —

- (a) for "742" substitute "742A", and
- after "transaction" insert ", etc".
- 5 In section 731 (charge to tax on income treated as arising under section 732) 20 in subsection (4) –
 - for "742" substitute "742A", and (a)
 - after "transaction" insert ", etc".
- (1) Section 736 (exemptions: introduction) is amended as follows. 6
 - (2) In subsection (1) for "742" substitute "742A".

25

- (3) After subsection (2) insert
 - The exemption given by section 742A applies only in the case of a "(2A) relevant transaction effected on or after 6 April 2012."
- 7 After section 742 insert -

"742A Post-5 April 2012 transactions: exemption for genuine transactions

Subsection (2) applies for the purpose of determining the liability of an individual to tax under this Chapter by reference to a relevant

- the transaction is effected on or after 6 April 2012, and
- (b) conditions A and B are met.

Income is to be left out of account so far as the individual satisfies an officer of Revenue and Customs that it is attributable to the transaction.

Condition A is that –

transaction if -

- (a) were, viewed objectively, the transaction to be considered to be a genuine transaction having regard to any arrangements under which it is effected and any other relevant circumstances, and
- (b) were the individual to be liable to tax under this Chapter by reference to the transaction,

the individual's liability to tax would, in contravention of a relevant treaty provision, constitute an unjustified and disproportionate restriction on a freedom protected under that relevant treaty provision.

(4) In subsection (3) "relevant treaty provision" means —

- (a) Title II or IV of Part Three of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union,
- (b) Part II or III of the EEA agreement, or
- (c) the provision of any subsequent treaty replacing a provision mentioned in paragraph (a) or (b).
- (5) Condition B is that the individual satisfies an officer of Revenue and Customs that, viewed objectively, the transaction must be considered to be a genuine transaction having regard to any arrangements under which it is effected and any other relevant circumstances.
- (6) Without prejudice to the generality of subsection (3)(a) or (5), in order for the transaction to be considered to be a genuine transaction the transaction must not—
 - (a) be on terms other than those that would have been made between persons not connected with each other dealing at arm's length, or
 - (b) be a transaction that would not have been entered into between such persons so dealing,

having regard to any arrangements under which the transaction is effected and any other relevant circumstances.

- (7) Subsection (8) applies if any asset or income falling within subsection (12) is used for the purposes of, or is received in the course of, activities carried on in a territory outside the United Kingdom by a person ("the relevant person") through a business establishment which the relevant person has in that territory.
- (8) Without prejudice to the generality of subsection (3)(a) or (5), in order for the transaction to be considered to be a genuine transaction the activities mentioned in subsection (7) must consist of the provision by the relevant person of goods or services to others on a commercial basis and involve—
 - (a) the use of staff in numbers, and with competence and authority,
 - (b) the use of premises and equipment, and
 - (c) the addition of economic value, by the relevant person, to those to whom the goods or services are provided,

commensurate with the size and nature of those activities.

(9) In subsection (8)(a) "staff" means employees, agents or contractors of the relevant person.

10

5

15

20

25

30

35

40

- (a) references to a company were to a person, and
- (b) references to a permanent establishment were to a business establishment.
- (11) Subsection (6) does not apply if
 - (a) the relevant transfer is made by an individual who makes it wholly—
 - (i) for personal reasons (and not commercial reasons), and

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

- (ii) for the personal benefit (and not the commercial benefit) of other individuals, and
- (b) no consideration is given (directly or indirectly) for the relevant transfer or otherwise for any benefit received by any individual mentioned in paragraph (a)(ii),

and all assets and income falling within subsection (12) are dealt with accordingly.

- (12) The assets and income falling within this subsection are—
 - (a) any of the assets transferred by the relevant transfer;
 - (b) any assets directly or indirectly representing any of the assets transferred;
 - (c) any income arising from any assets within paragraph (a) or (b);
 - (d) any assets directly or indirectly representing the accumulations of income arising from any assets within paragraph (a) or (b).
- (13) In subsections (11) and (12) references to the relevant transfer are
 - (a) if the transaction mentioned in subsection (1) is a relevant transfer, the transfer, or
 - (b) if the transaction so mentioned is an associated operation, the relevant transfer to which it relates.
- (14) Subsection (15) applies if
 - (a) subsection (2) would apply in relation to a transaction but for the individual being unable to satisfy an officer of Revenue and Customs for the purposes of condition B that the transaction meets the requirements set out in subsection (6),
 - (b) the individual does satisfy an officer of Revenue and Customs that those requirements are met in relation to a part of the transaction.
- (15) Subsection (2) applies as if the reference to the transaction were to that part of the transaction."
- 8 In section 751 (the Tribunal's jurisdiction on appeals) after paragraph (d) 45 insert
 - "(da) section 742A (post-5 April 2012 transactions: exemption for genuine transactions),".

- 9 (1) The amendment made by paragraph 2 above has effect in relation to times on or after 6 April 2012.
 - (2) The amendments made by paragraphs 3 to 8 above have effect for the tax year 2012-13 and subsequent tax years.

Part 3 5

Amendments relating to the charges under sections 720 and 727

Main provision

- 10 (1) Section 721 (individuals with power to enjoy income as a result of a relevant transaction) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (3) after "the income" insert "of the person abroad".

10

- (3) Before subsection (3) insert
 - "(3B) The amount of the income treated as arising under subsection (1) is equal to the amount of the income of the person abroad (subject to sections 724 and 725).
 - (3C) Subsection (1) does not apply if –

15

- (a) the individual is liable for income tax charged on the income of the person abroad by virtue of a charge not contained in this Chapter, and
- (b) all that income tax has been paid."
- (4) In subsection (4) after "the income" insert "of the person abroad".

20

- (5) Omit subsection (5)(a).
- 11 (1) Section 724 (special rules where benefit provided out of income of person abroad) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (2) after "on" insert "an amount equal to".
 - (3) In subsection (3) –

25

- (a) for "on" substitute "by reference to", and
- (b) after "previous tax year" insert "under this Chapter".
- 12 (1) Section 725 (reduction in amount charged where controlled foreign company involved) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1), as substituted by paragraph 22 of Schedule 20 to FA 2012, for paragraph (b) and the "and" before it substitute
 - (b) an amount of income is treated as arising to an individual under section 721 for a tax year, and
 - (c) the income mentioned in section 721(2) is or includes a sum forming part of the CFC's chargeable profits for that accounting period."
 - (3) After subsection (2) insert
 - "(2A) In a case in which section 724 applies, the reference to S in the formula in subsection (2) is to be read as a reference to X% of S.

225 Schedule 10 - Transfer of assets abroad

"X%" is determined as follows –

 $100\% \times \frac{A}{I}$

where -

A is the amount on which the individual is liable as determined under section 724(2), and

5

10

15

25

30

35

I is the amount of the income mentioned in section 721(2)."

- (4) In relation to cases in which the amendments made by paragraph 22 of Schedule 20 to FA 2012 are to be ignored in accordance with paragraph 50(9) of that Schedule, the amendment made by sub-paragraph (5) below has effect instead of the amendment made by sub-paragraph (2) above.
- (5) In subsection (1) for paragraph (c) and the "and" before it substitute
 - an amount of income is treated as arising to an individual under section 721 for a tax year, and
 - the income mentioned in section 721(2) is or includes a sum forming part of the controlled foreign company's chargeable profits for that accounting period."
- 13 In section 726 (non-UK domiciled individuals to whom remittance basis applies) in subsection (2) for "the extent" substitute "the corresponding extent".
- (1) Section 728 (individuals receiving capital sums as a result of a relevant 20 transaction) is amended as follows.
 - (2) After subsection (1) insert
 - The amount of the income treated as arising under subsection (1) is equal to the amount of the income of the person abroad (subject to subsection (2))."
 - (3) In subsection (2) for the words from "it applies" to the end substitute "if
 - in subsection (1) of that section
 - the reference to section 721 were a reference to this section, and
 - the reference to section 721(2) were a reference to subsection (1)(a) of this section, and
 - (b) subsections (2A) and (2B) of that section were omitted."
 - (4) After subsection (2) insert
 - "(2A) Subsection (1) does not apply if –
 - the individual is liable for income tax charged on the income of the person abroad by virtue of a charge not contained in this Chapter, and
 - all that income tax has been paid."
 - (5) Omit subsection (3)(a).
- 15 In section 730 (non-UK domiciled individuals to whom remittance basis 40 applies) in subsection (2) for "the extent" substitute "the corresponding extent".
- (1) Section 743 (no duplication of charges) is amended as follows. 16

10

15

20

25

30

40

| (2) | After | subsection | (2) |) insert – |
|-----|-------|------------|-----|------------|
|-----|-------|------------|-----|------------|

- "(2A) Subsection (2B) applies if -
 - (a) in the case of an individual, an amount of income is taken into account in charging income tax under section 720 or 727, and
 - (b) the individual subsequently receives that income.
 - (2B) The income received is treated as not being the individual's income for income tax purposes."
- (3) In subsection (3) for "subsections (1) and (2)" substitute "this section".
- (4) Omit subsection (4).
- 17 (1) Section 744 (meaning of taking income into account in charging income tax for section 743) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1) for "743(1) and (2)" substitute "743".
 - (3) In subsection (2)
 - (a) in paragraph (a) omit "or value of the benefit", and
 - (b) in paragraph (b) for "income charged" substitute "the income mentioned in section 721(2)".
 - (4) In subsection (3) for "that income" substitute "the income mentioned in section 728(1)(a)".
- 18 (1) Section 745 (rates of tax applicable to income charged under sections 720 and 727 etc) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1) for "so far as it" substitute "if (and to the corresponding extent that) the income mentioned in section 721(2) or 728(1)(a)".
 - (3) For subsections (3) and (4) substitute
 - "(3) Subsection (4) applies to income treated as arising to an individual under section 721 or 728 so far as subsection (1) does not apply to it.
 - (4) The charge to income tax under section 720 or 727 operates by treating the income as if it were income within section 19(2) (meaning of "dividend income") if the income mentioned in section 721(2) or 728(1)(a) would be dividend income were it the income of the individual."
- In section 746 (deductions and reliefs where individual charged under section 720 or 727) for subsection (2) substitute
 - "(2) For the purpose of determining the deductions and reliefs allowed to the individual, the individual is to be treated as if the individual had actually received the amount by reference to which the income treated as arising to the individual under section 721 or 728 is determined."

Commencement and transitional provision

- 20 (1) The amendments made by this Part of this Schedule have effect for the tax year 2013-14 and subsequent tax years.
 - (2) They have effect in relation to relevant transfers occurring before 6 April 2013 as well as relevant transfers occurring on or after that date.

Finance (No. 2) Bill 227

 $Schedule\ 10\ -\ Transfer\ of\ assets\ abroad$

Part 3 – Amendments relating to the charges under sections 720 and 727

- 21 (1) Sections 721(3C) and 728(2A) of ITA 2007 (as inserted by paragraphs 10(3) and 14(4) above) have effect only if the income of the person abroad arises to that person on or after 6 April 2013.
 - (2) The amendments made by paragraphs 10(5) and 14(5) above have no effect in relation to income arising to a person abroad before 6 April 2013.

SCHEDULE 11 Section 27

5

10

15

25

35

DEDUCTION OF INCOME TAX AT SOURCE ETC

Deduction from interest payable on compensation

- 1 Chapter 3 of Part 15 of ITA 2007 (deduction from certain payments of yearly interest) is amended as follows.
- 2 In section 874 (duty to deduct from certain payments of yearly interest), after subsection (5) insert
 - "(5A) For the purposes of subsection (1) a payment of interest which is payable to an individual in respect of compensation is to be treated as a payment of yearly interest (irrespective of the period in respect of which the interest is paid).
 - (5B) But the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs may make regulations which provide that subsection (5A) does not apply in the circumstances prescribed in the regulations."
- In section 875 (interest paid by building societies), at the end insert "unless it is treated as a payment of yearly interest by virtue of section 874(5A)."
- In section 878 (interest paid by banks), after subsection (1) insert
 - "(1A) But that duty does apply to such a payment if it is treated as a payment of yearly interest by virtue of section 874(5A)."

Deduction from yearly interest: specialties

- In section 874 of ITA 2007 (duty to deduct from certain payments of yearly interest), after subsection (6) insert
 - '(6A) In determining for the purposes of subsection (1) whether a payment of interest arises in the United Kingdom no account is to be taken of the location of any deed which records the obligation to pay the interest."

Payment of interest in kind

6 After section 370 of ITTOIA 2005 insert —

"370A Valuation of interest not paid in cash

- (1) This section applies to the payment of an amount of interest in the form of
 - (a) goods or services, or
 - (b) a voucher.

8

9

10

(3)

| | Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 11 — Deduction of income tax at source etc | |
|----|--|-----------------|
| | Where this section applies by virtue of subsection (1)(a), the amount of the payment is to be taken to be equal to the market value, at the time the payment is made, of the goods or services. | (2) |
| 5 | Where this section applies by virtue of subsection (1)(b), the amount of the payment is to be taken to be equal to whichever is the higher of — | (3) |
| | (a) the face value of the voucher,(b) the amount of money for which the voucher is capable of being exchanged, or | |
| 10 | (c) the market value, at the time the payment is made, of any goods or services for which the voucher is capable of being exchanged. | |
| 15 | In this section references to a voucher are to a voucher, stamp or similar document or token which is capable of being exchanged for money, goods or services." | (4) |
| | ction 380 of that Act (funding bonds), in subsection (3), at the end insert t does not include any instrument providing for payment in the form of ds or services or a voucher)". | "(but o |
| 20 | ection 939 of ITA 2007 (duty to retain bonds where issue treated as ment of interest), in subsection (6), at the end insert "(but does not ade any instrument providing for payment in the form of goods or ices or a voucher)". | payme includ |
| 25 | ection 975 of that Act (statements about deduction of income tax), in ection (1) — after "if" insert "— (a) ", and | |
| | | (b) |
| 30 | r section 975 of that Act insert — | After |
| | Statements about certain payments of interest | "975A St |
| | Subsection (2) applies if a person makes a payment of interest of which the whole or part is in the form of goods or services or a voucher. | (1) |
| 35 | The person must provide the recipient of the payment with a statement showing— (a) the gross amount of the payment, (b) the amount of the sum deducted under any provision of Chapters 2 to 7 or under section 919 or 928 (if any) | (2) |

(c) the actual amount paid, and

Subsection (5) applies where a person –

(d) the date on which the payment was made.

The amounts mentioned in paragraphs (a) to (c) of subsection (2) are to be calculated in accordance with section 370A of ITTOIA 2005.

passed.

11

12

Commencement

40

| u duction of income tax at source e | etc |
|--|--|
| deemed inter | making a payment of an amount of interest ("the rest") by virtue of section 413 of CTA 2009 or ITTOIA 2005 (funding bonds), and |
| (b) is under a du | ty under section 939(2) to retain funding bonds are to income tax on the deemed interest at the |
|) The person must pro statement showing – | ovide the recipient of the funding bonds with a |
| (a) the gross amo | ount of the deemed interest, |
| | esenting income tax which the person is treated on 939(3) as having deducted by retaining ds, |
| _ | f the deemed interest after the deduction of that |
| (d) the date on v paid. | which the deemed interest is treated as being |
| | eemed interest is to be calculated in accordance CTA 2009 or section 380 of ITTOIA 2005, as the |
| recipient on the date | his section must be provided in writing to the that the payment is made or (as the case may be) med interest is treated as being paid. |
|) The duty to comply | with this section is enforceable by the recipient. |
|) In this section – | |
| document or | a voucher are to a voucher, stamp or similar token which is capable of being exchanged for s or services, and |
| • | nds" has the same meaning as in Chapter 12 (see |
| | issue of funding bonds), in subsection (3), at the clude any instrument providing for payment in s or a voucher)". |
| t | |
| amendments made by p | paragraphs 1 to 4 have effect – |
| | yment of interest by a building society which is |
|) in relation to any oth 1 October 2013. | er payment of interest which is made on or after |

(2) The amendments made by paragraphs 5 to 11 have effect in relation to any payment of interest which is made on or after the day on which this Act is

SCHEDULE 12

Section 28

DISGUISED INTEREST

Key amendments to Part 4 of ITTOIA 2005

- Part 4 of ITTOIA 2005 (savings and investment income) is amended in accordance with paragraphs 2 and 3.

 In section 365(1) (overview of Part 4)—

 (a) after paragraph (a) insert—

 "(aa) Chapter 2A (disguised interest),", and

 (b) omit paragraph (k).
 - After Chapter 2 insert –

10

"CHAPTER 2A

DISGUISED INTEREST

381A Charge to tax on disguised interest

(1) This Chapter applies where a person is party to an arrangement which produces for the person a return in relation to any amount which is economically equivalent to interest.

15

- (2) Income tax is charged on the return if the return is not charged to income tax under or as a result of any other provision of this Act or any other Act.
- 3) Subsection (2) does not apply to a return that would be charged to income tax under or as a result of another provision but for an exemption.

(4) For the purposes of this Chapter a return produced for a person by an arrangement in relation to any amount is "economically equivalent to interest" if (and only if) —

25

- (a) it is reasonable to assume that it is a return by reference to the time value of that amount of money,
- (b) it is at a rate reasonably comparable to what is (in all the circumstances) a commercial rate of interest, and
- (c) at the relevant time there is no practical likelihood that it will cease to be produced in accordance with the arrangement unless the person by whom it falls to be produced is prevented (by reason of insolvency or otherwise) from producing it.

30

(5) In subsection (4)(c) "the relevant time" means the time when the person becomes party to the arrangement or, if later, when the arrangement begins to produce a return for the person.

35

(6) In this Chapter "arrangement" includes any agreement, understanding, scheme, transaction or series of transactions (whether or not legally enforceable).

381B Income charged

Tax is charged under this Chapter on the full amount of the return, or any part of the return, arising in the tax year.

381C Person liable

The person liable for any tax charged under this Chapter is the person receiving or entitled to the return or the part of the return.

5

381D Avoidance of double taxation

(1) This section applies if at any time a tax other than income tax ("the other tax") is charged in relation to a return on which income tax is charged under this Chapter.

10

- (2) In order to avoid a double charge to tax in respect of the return, a person may make a claim for one or more consequential adjustments to be made in respect of the other tax.
- (3) On a claim under this section an officer of Revenue and Customs must make such of the consequential adjustments claimed (if any) as are just and reasonable.

15

- (4) Consequential adjustments may be made
 - (a) in respect of any period,
 - (b) by way of an assessment, the modification of an assessment, the amendment of a claim, or otherwise, and

20

(c) despite any time limit imposed by or under any enactment.

381E Exception for returns from certain shares

(1) This Chapter does not apply in relation to an arrangement that produces a return for a person, in relation to an amount, which is economically equivalent to interest where—

25

- (a) the arrangement involves only excluded shares, and
- (b) no relevant arrangement has been made (by any person) in relation to those excluded shares.
- (2) For the purposes of this section shares are excluded shares if they are admitted to trading on a regulated market and —

30

- (a) they were issued before 6 April 2013, or
- (b) if issued on or after that date, at the time of issue no arrangements involving only the shares would produce a return, in relation to an amount, which is economically equivalent to interest.

35

- (3) In subsection (2) "regulated market" has the same meaning as in Directive 2004/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments (see Article 4.1(14)).
- (4) For the purposes of this section an arrangement is relevant, in relation to excluded shares, where —

- (a) the arrangement is made on or after 6 April 2013, and
- (b) it is reasonable to assume that the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of the arrangement is to secure that arrangements involving only the shares produce a return, in

relation to an amount, which is economically equivalent to interest."

Consequential amendments

The following amendments are in consequence of the amendments made by paragraphs 2(a) and 3.

5

15

25

30

35

40

TCGA 1992

- 5 TCGA 1992 is amended as follows.
- In section 37 (consideration chargeable to tax on income), after subsection (2) insert
 - "(2A) Subsection (1) is not to be taken as excluding from the consideration so taken into account any money or money's worth which is, or is taken into account in computing, a return on which income tax is charged under Chapter 2A of Part 4 of ITTOIA 2005 (disguised interest) (but see section 381D of that Act)."
- 7 In section 39 (exclusion of expenditure by reference to tax on income), after subsection (3) insert
 - "(3A) This section is not to be taken as excluding, from the sums allowable under section 38 as a deduction in the computation of the gain, expenditure allowable as a deduction in computing a return on which income tax is charged under Chapter 2A of Part 4 of ITTOIA 20 2005 (disguised interest) (but see section 381D of that Act)."
- Omit sections 148A to 148C (provision dealing with the capital gains tax consequences of Chapter 12 of Part 4 of ITTOIA 2005).
- 9 (1) Section 263A (agreements for sale and repurchase of securities) is amended as follows.
 - (2) Before subsection (1) insert
 - "(A1) For the purposes of this section there is a repo in respect of securities if
 - (a) a person ("the original owner") has agreed to sell the securities to another person ("the interim holder"), and
 - (b) the original owner or a person connected with the original owner—
 - (i) is required to buy back the securities by the agreement or a related agreement,
 - (ii) is required to buy back the securities as a result of the exercise of an option acquired under the agreement or a related agreement, or
 - (iii) exercises an option to buy back the securities which was acquired under the agreement or a related agreement."
 - (3) In subsection (1), for the words from "falling" to "repos)" substitute "where under a repo in respect of securities the original owner has transferred the securities to the interim holder".
 - (4) Omit subsection (5).

10

15

20

25

30

35

10 After section 263A insert –

"263AA Section 263A: interpretation

- (1) Subsections (2) to (7) apply for the purposes of section 263A.
- (2) References to buying back securities include references to
 - (a) buying similar securities, and

(b) in the case of a person connected with the person who is the original owner under the repo, buying the securities sold by the original owner or similar securities.

- (3) Subsection (2) applies even if the person buying the securities has not held them before.
- (4) References to repurchase or a repurchaser are to be read accordingly.
- (5) For the purposes of subsection (2) securities are similar if they give their holders
 - (a) the same rights against the same persons as to capital and distributions, interest and dividends, and
 - (b) the same remedies to enforce those rights.
- (6) Subsection (5) applies even if there is a difference in
 - (a) the total nominal amounts of the securities,
 - (b) the form in which they are held, or
 - (c) the manner in which they can be transferred.
- (7) Agreements are related if they are entered into in pursuance of the same arrangement (regardless of the date on which either agreement is entered into).
- (8) In section 263A and this section "securities" means
 - (a) shares in a company wherever resident,

(b) loan stock or other securities of —

- (i) the government of the United Kingdom,
- (ii) a local authority in the United Kingdom,
- (iii) another public authority in the United Kingdom,
- (iv) a company resident in the United Kingdom or other body resident in the United Kingdom, or
- c) shares, loan stock, stock or other securities issued by
 - (i) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or
 - (ii) another body of persons not resident in the United Kingdom."
- 11 (1) Section 263F (power to modify repo provisions: non-standard repo cases) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (2), for the words from "cases" to the end substitute "any case mentioned in section 263A(1)."
 - (3) For subsection (9) substitute
 - "(9) "Post-agreement fluctuations" are fluctuations in the value of
 - (a) securities transferred in pursuance of the original sale, or

| (b) representative securities, which occur in the period after the making of the agreement for the original sale. |
|--|
| (10) "Representative securities" are securities which, for the purposes of the repurchase, are to represent securities transferred in pursuance of the original sale." |
| In section 263G (power to modify repo provisions: redemption arrangements) — (a) in subsection (2), for the words from "cases" to the end substitute "any case mentioned in section 263A(1).", and (b) omit subsection (4). |
| TOIA 2005 |
| 13 (1) ITTOIA 2005 is amended as follows. |
| (2) Omit Chapter 12 of Part 4 (disposals of futures and options involving guaranteed returns). |
| (3) In section 687(2) (application of charge to tax), at the end insert "or to income falling within Chapter 2A of Part 4". |
| (4) In Schedule 1 (consequential amendments), omit paragraph 435. |
| (5) In Schedule 2 (transitionals and savings), omit paragraph 95. |
| (6) In Schedule 4 (abbreviations and defined expressions), omit the entry for "future (in Chapter 12 of Part 4)". |
| A 2007 |
| In Schedule 14 of FA 2007 (sale and repurchase of securities: minor and consequential amendments), omit paragraphs 22 and 23. |
| TA 2007 |
| 15 (1) ITA 2007 is amended as follows. |
| (2) Omit the following provisions (which deal with deemed manufactured payments and repos) — (a) section 596(5), (b) sections 597 to 605, (c) section 606(1) to (7) and (9) and (10), and (d) sections 607 to 614. |
| (3) In Schedule 1 (minor and consequential amendments), omit paragraphs 310, 543 and 544. |
| (4) In Schedule 2 (transitionals and savings), omit paragraphs 112 to 124. |
| (5) In Schedule 4 (index of defined expressions) – (a) omit the entries for – "company UK REIT (in Chapter 4 of Part 11)", "distribution (in Chapter 4 of Part 11)", "gross amount (in Chapter 4 of Part 11)", |
| |

| | | "group (in Chapter 4 of Part 11)", "group UK REIT (in Chapter 4 of Part 11)", "Manufactured dividend (in Chapter 4 of Part 11)", "principal company (in Chapter 4 of Part 11)", | |
|-------|------|--|----|
| | | "property rental business (in Chapter 4 of Part 11)", and "the repurchase price of the securities (in Chapter 4 of Part 11)", and | 5 |
| | | (b) in the entry for "distribution (except in Chapter 4 of Part 11)", omit "(except in Chapter 4 of Part 11)". | |
| CTA | 2010 | | 10 |
| 16 | | In Schedule 1 of CTA 2010 (minor and consequential amendments), omit paragraphs 540 to 543 and 544(a), (c) and (d). | |
| FA 20 | 010 | | |
| 17 | | In Schedule 6 of FA 2010 (charities etc), omit paragraph 21(4). | |
| Comr | пепс | ment and transitional provision | 15 |
| 18 | (1) | Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amendments made by this Schedule have effect for the tax year 2013-2014 and subsequent tax years. | |
| | (2) | Chapter 2A of Part 4 of ITTOIA 2005 does not apply in relation to an arrangement that produces a return for a person, in relation to an amount, which is economically equivalent to interest if— (a) the person became party to the arrangement before 6 April 2013, and (b) none of the provisions repealed by paragraphs 13(2) and 15(2) applied in relation to the arrangement before that date. | 20 |
| | | SCHEDULE 13 Section 33 | |
| | | CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP OF SHELL COMPANY: RESTRICTION OF RELIEF | 25 |
| Amer | ıdme | ats of Part 14 of CTA 2010 | |
| 1 | (1) | Part 14 of CTA 2010 (change in company ownership) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In section 672 (overview of Part) — (a) after subsection (3) insert — | |
| | | "(3A) Chapter 5A restricts relief for certain non-trading deficits and losses where there is a change of ownership of a shell company.";(b) in subsection (7), omit the "and" at the end of paragraph (b) and after that paragraph insert — | 30 |
| | | "(ba) "shell company", see section 705A, and". | 35 |

(3) After Chapter 5 insert –

"CHAPTER 5A

| | | SHELL COMPANIES: RESTRICTIONS ON RELIEF | |
|------|-----|--|----|
| | | Introduction | |
| 705A | Int | roduction to Chapter | 5 |
| (. | 1) | This Chapter applies where there is a change in the ownership of a shell company. | |
| (2 | 2) | In this Chapter — "the change in ownership" means the change in ownership mentioned in subsection (1); "the company" means the company mentioned in subsection (1); | 10 |
| | | "shell company" means a company that — (a) is not carrying on a trade,(b) is not a company with investment business, and(c) is not carrying on a UK property business. | 15 |
| | | tional split of accounting period in which change in ownership curs | |
| (´. | 1) | This section applies for the purposes of this Chapter. | |
| (2 | 2) | The accounting period in which the change in ownership occurs ("the actual accounting period") is treated as two separate accounting periods ("notional accounting periods"), the first ending with the change and the second consisting of the remainder of the period. | 20 |
| (3 | 3) | The amounts for the actual accounting period in column 1 of the table in section 705F(2) are apportioned to the two notional accounting periods in accordance with section 705F. | 25 |
| (4 | 4) | In this Chapter "the actual accounting period" and "notional accounting periods" have the same meaning as in this section. | |
| | | Restrictions on relief | 30 |
| 705C | Re | striction on debits to be brought into account | |
| (í. | 1) | This section has effect for the purpose of restricting the debits to be brought into account for the purposes of Part 5 of CTA 2009 (loan relationships) in respect of the company's loan relationships. | |
| (2 | 2) | The debits to be brought into account for the purposes of Part 5 of | 35 |

- CTA 2009 for -
 - (a) the accounting period beginning immediately after the change in ownership, or
 - any subsequent accounting period, do not include relevant non-trading debits so far as amount A 40 exceeds amount B.

| ıce (No. 2) Bill Iule 13 – Chan | ge in ownership of shell company: restriction of relief | |
|------------------------------------|--|--|
| (3) | Amount A is the sum of— (a) the amount of those relevant non-trading debits, and (b) the amount of any relevant non-trading debits which have been brought into account for the purposes of that Part for any previous accounting period ending after the change in ownership. | |
| (4) | Amount B is the amount of the taxable total profits of the accounting period ending with the change in ownership. | |
| (5) | For the meaning of "relevant non-trading debit", see section 730. | |
| | estriction on carry forward of non-trading deficit from loan lationships | |
| (1) | This section has effect for the purpose of restricting the carry forward of a non-trading deficit from the company's loan relationships under Part 5 of CTA 2009 (loan relationships). | |
| (2) | Subsection (3) applies if the non-trading deficit in column 1 of row 4 of the table in section 705F(2) is apportioned in accordance with section 705F to the first notional accounting period. | |
| (3) | None of that non-trading deficit may be carried forward to —(a) the accounting period beginning immediately after the change in ownership, or(b) any subsequent accounting period. | |
| 705E R | estriction on relief for non-trading loss on intangible fixed assets | |
| (1) | This section has effect for the purpose of restricting relief under section 753 of CTA 2009 (treatment of non-trading losses) in respect of a non-trading loss on intangible fixed assets. | |
| (2) | Relief under section 753 of CTA 2009 against the total profits of the same accounting period is available only in relation to each of the notional accounting periods considered separately. | |
| (3) | A non-trading loss on intangible fixed assets for an accounting period beginning before the change in ownership may not be— (a) carried forward under section 753(3) of that Act to an accounting period ending after the change in ownership, or (b) treated under that section as if it were a non-trading debit of that period. | |
| | Apportionment of amounts | |
| 705F A | pportionment of amounts | |
| (1) | This section applies for the purposes of this Chapter. | |
| (2) | Any amount for the actual accounting period in column 1 of the following table is to be apportioned to the two notional accounting periods in accordance with the corresponding method of apportionment in column 2 of the table. | |

| Row | 1. Amount to be apportioned | 2. Method of apportionment | |
|-----|--|---|----------|
| 1 | The amount for the actual accounting period of any adjusted non-trading profits from the company's loan relationships (see section 705G(2))). | Apportion the amount in column 1 on a time basis according to the respective lengths of the two notional accounting periods. | 5 |
| 2 | The amount for the actual accounting period of any adjusted non-trading deficit from the company's loan relationships (see section 705G(3)). | Apportion the amount in column 1 on a time basis according to the respective lengths of the two notional accounting periods. | 10 |
| 3 | The amount of any non-trading debit that falls to be brought into account for the actual accounting period for the purposes of Part 5 of CTA 2009 (loan relationships) in respect of any debtor | (1) If condition A in section 705G(4) is met, apportion the amount in column 1 by reference to the time of accrual of the amount to which the debit relates. | 15 |
| | relationship of the company. | (2) If condition B in section 705G(5) is met, apportion the amount in column 1 to the first notional accounting period. | 20 |
| 4 | The amount of any non-trading deficit carried forward to the actual accounting period under section 457(1) of CTA 2009 (basic rule for deficits: carry forward to accounting periods after deficit period). | Apportion the whole of the amount in column 1 to the first notional accounting period. | 25 30 |
| 5 | The amount of any non-trading credits or debits in respect of intangible fixed assets that fall to be brought into account for the actual accounting period under section 751 of CTA 2009 (non-trading gains and losses), but excluding any amount within column 1 of row 6. | Apportion to each notional accounting period the credits or debits that would fall to be brought into account in that period if it were a period of account for which accounts were drawn up in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice. | 35 |
| 6 | The amount of any non-trading loss on intangible fixed assets carried forward to the actual accounting period under section | Apportion the whole of the amount in column 1 to the first notional accounting period. | 40 |
| | 753(3) of CTA 2009 and treated under that section as if it were a non-trading debit of that period. | | 45 |

Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 13 — Change in ownership of shell company: restriction of relief

| Row | 1 | . Amount to be apportioned 2. Method of apportionment | |
|-----|--------------------|---|--|
| 7 | to w the wou | other amounts by reference hich the profits or losses of actual accounting period d (but for this Chapter) be lated. Apportion the amount in column 1 on a time basis according to the respective lengths of the two notional accounting periods. | |
| | (3) | If any method of apportionment in column 2 of the table in subsection (2) would work unjustly or unreasonably in any case, such other method is to be used as is just and reasonable. | |
| | (4) | For the meaning of certain expressions used in this section, see section 705G. | |
| 705 | G M | eaning of certain expressions in section 705F | |
| | (1) | This section applies for the purposes of the table in section 705F(2). | |
| | (2) | For the purposes of column 1 of row 1 of the table, the amount for the actual accounting period of any adjusted non-trading profits from the company's loan relationships is the amount which would be the amount of the profits from those relationships chargeable under section 299 of CTA 2009 (charge to tax on non-trading profits) if, in calculating that amount, amounts for that period within column 1 of | |
| | | row 3 or 4 of the table were disregarded. | |
| | (3) | For the purposes of column 1 of row 2 of the table, the amount for the actual accounting period of any adjusted non-trading deficit from the company's loan relationships is the amount which would be the amount of the non-trading deficit from those relationships if, in calculating that amount, amounts for that period within column 1 of row 3 or 4 of the table were disregarded. | |
| | (4) | (a) the amount in column 1 of row 3 of the table is determined on an amortised cost basis of accounting, and (b) none of the following provisions applies — (i) section 373 of CTA 2009 (late interest treated as not accruing until paid in some cases), (ii) section 407 of that Act (postponement until redemption of debits for connected companies' deeply discounted securities), or (iii) section 409 of that Act (postponement until redemption of debits for close companies' deeply discounted securities). | |
| | (5) | Condition B is that— (a) the amount in column 1 of row 3 of the table is determined on an amortised cost basis of accounting, and (b) any of the provisions mentioned in subsection (4)(b) applies." | |
| (4) | In sec | tion 721 (when things other than share capital may be taken into | |
| | | nt: Chapters 2 to 5) — | |
| | (a) | in the heading, for "5" substitute "5A"; | |

- (b) in subsection (1), for "5" substitute "5A";
- (c) in subsection (4), for "or 5" substitute ", 5 or 5A".
- (5) In section 725 (provision applying for the purposes of Chapters 2 to 5)
 - (a) in the heading, for "5" substitute "5A";
 - (b) in subsection (1), for "5" substitute "5A".

- (6) In section 730 (meaning of "relevant non-trading debit")
 - (a) in subsection (1), for "and 696" substitute ", 696 and 705C";
 - b) in subsections (3)(c), (4)(c) and (5)(b) for "or 696" substitute ", 696 or 705C".

Consequential amendments

10

In Schedule 4 to that Act (index of defined expressions) insert at the appropriate places —

| "the actual accounting period (in Chapter 5A of Part 14) | section 705B(4)" | |
|--|-------------------|----|
| "the change in ownership (in Chapter 5A of Part 14) | section 705A(2)" | |
| "the company (in Chapter 5A of Part 14) | section 705A(2)" | 15 |
| "notional accounting periods (in Chapter 5A of Part 14) | section 705B(4)" | |
| "shell company (in Chapter 5A of Part 14) | section 705A(2)". | |

Commencement

3 The amendments made by this Schedule have effect in relation to changes in ownership that occur on or after 20 March 2013.

20

SCHEDULE 14

Section 34

R&D EXPENDITURE CREDITS

Part 1

AMENDMENTS OF CTA 2009

1 In Part 3 of CTA 2009 (trading income), after Chapter 6 insert –

25

"CHAPTER 6A

TRADE PROFITS: R&D EXPENDITURE CREDITS

Claims for credits

104A R&D expenditure credits

(1) A company carrying on a trade may make a claim for an amount (an "R&D expenditure credit") to be brought into account as a receipt in calculating the profits of the trade for an accounting period.

35

40

| endmen | nts of CTA 2009 | | |
|--------|---|---|----|
| (2) | accounting period if the owhich is allowable as a d | It to an R&D expenditure credit for the company has qualifying R&D expenditure eduction in calculating for corporation tax e trade for the accounting period. | |
| (3) | in the accounting per expenditure" means — | that is a small or medium-sized enterprise riod, the company's "qualifying R&D rpenditure on sub-contracted R&D (see | 5 |
| | | lifying expenditure (see section 104F), and xpenditure (see section 104I). | 10 |
| (4) | | y that is a large company throughout the ompany's "qualifying R&D expenditure" | |
| | (a) its qualifying exp development (see | enditure on in-house direct research and section 104J), | 15 |
| | | penditure on contracted out research and section 104K), and | |
| | | enditure on contributions to independent elopment (see section 104L). | 20 |
| (5) | The amount of an R&D expenditure credit to which a company is entitled is determined in accordance with section 104M. | | |
| (6) | Section 104N contains profor an R&D expenditure of | ovision about the effect of a successful claim credit. | |
| (7) | Sections 104U to 104W contain provision about insurance companies and group companies. | | 25 |
| (8) | Section 104X contains ant | i-avoidance provision. | |
| (9) | Section 104Y contains def | initions. | |
| (10) | | e procedure for making claims under this 8 to FA 1998, in particular Part 9A of that | 30 |
| | | | |

104B Restriction on claiming relief under Part 13 and credit for same expenditure

A company may not make a claim for an R&D expenditure credit and for relief under Part 13 (additional relief for expenditure on research and development) in respect of the same expenditure.

SMEs: qualifying expenditure on sub-contracted R&D

104C Qualifying expenditure on sub-contracted R&D

- For the purposes of this Chapter a company's "qualifying expenditure on sub-contracted R&D" means expenditure incurred by it that meets conditions A and B.
- Condition A is that the expenditure is incurred on research and development contracted out to the company by –
 - (a) a large company, or

| | | Schedule 14 — R&D expenditure credits Part 1 — Amendments of CTA 2009 | |
|---------|-----------------------|--|----|
| | (b) | any person otherwise than in the course of carrying on a chargeable trade. | |
| (3) | A "cha | argeable trade" is— | |
| | (a) (b) | a trade, profession or vocation carried on wholly or partly in the United Kingdom, the profits of which are chargeable to income tax under Chapter 2 of Part 2 of ITTOIA 2005, or a trade carried on wholly or partly in the United Kingdom, the profits of which are chargeable to corporation tax under Chapter 2 of this Part. | 5 |
| (4) | | tion B is that the expenditure is expenditure to which section or 104E applies. | 10 |
| 104D Ex | penditı | re on sub-contracted R&D undertaken in-house | |
| (1) | | ection applies to expenditure on research and development cted out to a company if conditions A, B and C are met. | |
| (2) | | tion A is that the research and development is undertaken by mpany itself. | 15 |
| (3) | Condi (a) (b) (c) (d) | incurred on staffing costs (see section 1123), incurred on software or consumable items (see section 1125), qualifying expenditure on externally provided workers (see section 1127), or incurred on relevant payments to the subjects of a clinical trial (see section 1140). | 20 |
| (4) | | tion C is that the expenditure is attributable to relevant ch and development in relation to the company. | 25 |
| (5) | expen | ections 1124, 1126 and 1132 for provision about when diture within subsection (3)(a), (b) or (c) is attributable to nt research and development. | |
| 104E Ex | penditı | re on sub-contracted R&D not undertaken in-house | |
| (1) | | ection applies to expenditure on research and development cted out to a company if conditions A, B and C are met. | 30 |
| (2) | Condi to— | tion A is that the expenditure is incurred in making payments | |
| | | a qualifying body, an individual, or a firm, each member of which is an individual, pect of research and development contracted out by the my to the body, individual or firm. | 35 |
| (3) | | tion B is that the research and development is undertaken by dy, individual or firm itself. | 40 |

Condition C is that the expenditure is attributable to relevant research and development in relation to the company.

(5) See sections 1124, 1126 and 1132 for provision about when particular kinds of expenditure are attributable to relevant research and development.

| | development. | |
|---------|---|----|
| | SMEs: subsidised qualifying expenditure | |
| 104F Su | bsidised qualifying expenditure | 5 |
| | For the purposes of this Chapter a company's "subsidised qualifying expenditure" means— (a) its subsidised qualifying expenditure on in-house direct research and development (see section 104G), and (b) its subsidised qualifying expenditure on contracted out research and development (see section 104H). | 10 |
| 104G Su | bsidised qualifying expenditure on in-house direct R&D | |
| (1) | A company's "subsidised qualifying expenditure on in-house direct research and development" means expenditure incurred by it in relation to which each of conditions A to D is met. | 15 |
| (2) | Condition A is that the expenditure is subsidised. | |
| (3) | Condition B is that the expenditure is — (a) incurred on staffing costs (see section 1123), (b) incurred on software or consumable items (see section 1125), (c) qualifying expenditure on externally provided workers (see section 1127), or (d) incurred on relevant payments to the subjects of a clinical trial (see section 1140). | 20 |
| (4) | Condition C is that the expenditure is attributable to relevant research and development undertaken by the company itself. | 25 |
| (5) | Condition D is that the expenditure is not incurred by the company in carrying on activities which are contracted out to the company by any person. | |
| (6) | See sections 1124, 1126 and 1132 for provision about when expenditure within subsection (3)(a), (b) or (c) is attributable to relevant research and development. | 30 |
| 104H Su | bsidised qualifying expenditure on contracted out R&D | |
| (1) | A company's "subsidised qualifying expenditure on contracted out research and development" means expenditure— (a) which is incurred by it in making the qualifying element of a sub-contractor payment (see sections 1134 to 1136), and (b) in relation to which each of conditions A to E is met. | 35 |
| (2) | Condition A is that the expenditure is subsidised. | |

(3) Condition B is that the sub-contractor is –

a firm, each member of which is an individual.

a qualifying body,

an individual, or

(a)

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

- (4) Condition C is that the body, individual or firm concerned undertakes the contracted out research and development itself.
- (5) Condition D is that the expenditure is attributable to relevant research and development in relation to the company.
- 6) Condition E is that the expenditure is not incurred by the company in carrying on activities which are contracted out to the company by any person.
- (7) See sections 1124, 1126 and 1132 for provision about when particular kinds of expenditure are attributable to relevant research and development.

SMEs: capped R&D expenditure

104I Capped R&D expenditure

For the purposes of this Chapter a company's "capped R&D expenditure" means any expenditure –

- (a) in respect of which the company is not entitled to relief under Chapter 2 of Part 13 merely because of section 1113 (cap on R&D aid),
- (b) which is not qualifying expenditure on sub-contracted R&D, and
- (c) which would have been qualifying R&D expenditure had the company been a large company throughout the accounting period in question.

Large companies: qualifying R&D expenditure

104J Qualifying expenditure on in-house direct R&D

- (1) A company's "qualifying expenditure on in-house direct research and development" means expenditure incurred by it in relation to which conditions A, B and C are met.
- (2) Condition A is that the expenditure is—
 - (a) incurred on staffing costs (see section 1123),
 - (b) incurred on software or consumable items (see section 1125),
 - (c) qualifying expenditure on externally provided workers (see section 1127), or
 - (d) incurred on relevant payments to the subjects of a clinical trial (see section 1140).
- (3) Condition B is that the expenditure is attributable to relevant research and development undertaken by the company itself.
- (4) Condition C is that, if the expenditure is incurred in carrying on activities contracted out to the company, the activities are contracted out by
 - (a) a large company, or
 - (b) any person otherwise than in the course of carrying on a chargeable trade.
- (5) A "chargeable trade" is –

| | (a) (b) | a trade, profession or vocation carried on wholly or partly in the United Kingdom, the profits of which are chargeable to income tax under Chapter 2 of Part 2 of ITTOIA 2005, or a trade carried on wholly or partly in the United Kingdom, the profits of which are chargeable to corporation tax under Chapter 2 of this Part. | 5 |
|---------|------------|--|----|
| (6) | expend | ections 1124, 1126 and 1132 for provision about when diture within subsection (2)(a), (b) or (c) is attributable to nt research and development. | |
| 104K Qu | ıalifyin | g expenditure on contracted out R&D | 10 |
| (1) | and de | npany's "qualifying expenditure on contracted out research evelopment" means expenditure incurred by it in relation to each of conditions A to D is met. | |
| (2) | Condit | tion A is that the expenditure is incurred in making payments | 15 |
| | (a) | a qualifying body, an individual, or a firm, each member of which is an individual, | 13 |
| | in res | pect of research and development contracted out by the my to the body, individual or firm concerned ("the contracted") | 20 |
| (3) | | tion B is that the body, individual or firm concerned takes the contracted out R&D itself. | |
| (4) | | tion C is that the expenditure is attributable to relevant ch and development in relation to the company. | 25 |
| (5) | | tion D is that, if the contracted out R&D is itself contracted out company, it is contracted out by— a large company, or any person otherwise than in the course of carrying on a chargeable trade. | 30 |
| (6) | A "cha | argeable trade" is— | |
| () | (a) | a trade, profession or vocation carried on wholly or partly in the United Kingdom, the profits of which are chargeable to income tax under Chapter 2 of Part 2 of ITTOIA 2005, or | |
| | (b) | a trade carried on wholly or partly in the United Kingdom, the profits of which are chargeable to corporation tax under Chapter 2 of this Part. | 35 |
| (7) | kinds | ctions 1124, 1126 and 1132 for provision about when particular of expenditure are attributable to relevant research and opment. | 40 |
| 104L Qu | ıalifyin | g expenditure on contributions to independent R&D | |
| (1) | indepe | mpany's "qualifying expenditure on contributions to endent research and development" means expenditure ed by it in relation to which each of conditions A to E is met. | |

(2) Condition A is that the expenditure is incurred in making payments

to -

| its | Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 14 — R&D expenditure credits Part 1 — Amendments of CTA 2009 | |
|-----|---|---------|
| ру | (a) a qualifying body, (b) an individual, or (c) a firm, each member of which is an individual, for the purpose of funding research and development carried on by the body, individual or firm concerned ("the funded R&D"). | |
| nd | Condition B is that the funded R&D is relevant research and development in relation to the company. | (3) |
| ne | Condition C is that the funded R&D is not contracted out to the qualifying body, individual or firm concerned by another person. | (4) |
| | Condition D is that, if the payment is made to an individual, the company is not connected with the individual when the payment is made. | (5) |
| | Condition E is that, if the payment is made to a firm (other than a qualifying body), the company is not connected with any member of the firm when the payment is made. | (6) |
| | Amount of credit | |
| | mount of R&D expenditure credit | 104M A1 |
| ne | The amount of the R&D expenditure credit to which a company is entitled for an accounting period is the relevant percentage of the amount of the company's qualifying R&D expenditure for the period. | (1) |
| ру | In the case of a ring fence trade, the relevant percentage is 49%. In this subsection "ring fence trade" has the meaning given by section 277 of CTA 2010. | (2) |
| | In any other case, the relevant percentage is 10%. | (3) |
| ıg | The Treasury may by order replace the percentage for the time being specified in subsection (2) or (3) with a different percentage. | (4) |
| al, | An order under subsection (4) may contain incidental, supplemental, consequential and transitional provision and savings. | (5) |
| | Payment of credit | |
| | ayment of R&D expenditure credit | 104N Pa |
| re | This section applies if a company is entitled to an R&D expenditure credit for an accounting period under this Chapter. | (1) |
| | The amount to which the company is entitled in respect of the R&D expenditure credit ("the set-off amount") is to be treated in the following way— | (2) |
| ne | Step 1 The set-off amount is to be applied in discharging any liability of the company to pay corporation tax for the accounting period. | |

Step 2

If any of the set-off amount is remaining, go to step 2.

| If the amount remaining after step 1 is greater than the company's |
|---|
| total expenditure on workers for the accounting period (see section |
| 104O) — |

- (a) that amount is to be reduced to the amount of that expenditure (which may be nil), and
- (b) so much of the amount remaining after step 1 as is greater than the amount of that expenditure is to be treated for the purposes of this section as an amount of R&D expenditure credit to which the company is entitled for its next accounting period.

If any of the set-off amount is remaining, go to step 3.

Step 3

The amount remaining after step 2 is to be applied in discharging any liability of the company to pay corporation tax for any other accounting period.

If any of the set-off amount is remaining, go to step 4.

Step 4

If the company is a member of a group, it may surrender the whole or any part of the amount remaining after step 3 to any other member of the group (see section 104Q).

If no such surrender is made, or any of the set-off amount is otherwise remaining, go to step 5.

Step 5

Deduct from the amount remaining after step 4 the following amounts –

- (a) an amount equal to the corporation tax that would be chargeable on the amount if it was an amount of profits (or in the case of a ring fence trade, ring fence profits) of the company for the accounting period and corporation tax on such profits was chargeable at the main rate, and
- (b) in the case of a ring fence trade, an amount equal to the supplementary charge that would be chargeable on the amount if it was an amount of adjusted ring fence profits for the accounting period.

For provision about the treatment of any amount so deducted, see section 104R.

Step 6

The amount remaining after step 5 is to be applied in discharging any other liability of the company to pay a sum to the Commissioners under or by virtue of an enactment or under a contract settlement.

If any of the set-off amount is remaining, go to step 7.

Step 7

The amount remaining after step 6 is payable to the company by an officer of Revenue and Customs.

But this is subject to section 104S (restrictions on payment of R&D expenditure credit).

10

5

15

25

20

30

40

45

| | | Schedule 14 – R&D expenditure credits Part 1 – Amendments of CTA 2009 | |
|---------|------------------------------|---|----|
| (3) | In this | section – | |
| (-) | | adjusted ring fence profits" has the meaning given by section 330(2) of CTA 2010, | |
| | | he Commissioners" means the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, | 5 |
| | "(| contract settlement" means an agreement made in connection with any person's liability to make a payment to the Commissioners under or by virtue of an enactment, | |
| | | ring fence profits" has the meaning given by section 276 of CTA 2010, and | 10 |
| | "r | ring fence trade" has the meaning given by section 277 of CTA 2010. | |
| 104O To | otal exp | enditure on workers | |
| (1) | | e purposes of section 104N, the amount of a company's total diture on workers for an accounting period is the sum of—the relevant portion of the company's staffing costs for the period (see subsection (2)), and | 15 |
| | (b) | if the company is a member of a group and has incurred expenditure on any externally provided workers, the relevant portion of any staffing costs for the period incurred by another member of the group (the "relevant group company") in providing any of those workers for the company (see subsection (3)). | 20 |
| (2) | | elevant portion of the company's staffing costs for an ating period is the amount of those costs that— are paid to, or in respect of, directors or employees who are directly and actively engaged in relevant research and development (whether they are wholly or partly so engaged), and | 25 |
| | (b) | form part of the total amount of the company's PAYE and NIC liabilities for the accounting period (see section 104P). | 30 |
| (3) | incurre provid | levant portion of any staffing costs for an accounting period ed by a relevant group company in providing externally ed workers for the company is the sum of the amounts to be nined in the case of each of those workers as follows— | 35 |
| | Step 1 | | |
| | Calcula (a) (b) (c) | has been incurred by the relevant group company in providing the externally provided worker for the company, has been incurred on staffing costs, and forms part of the total amount of the relevant group company's PAYE and NIC liabilities for the accounting period (see section 104P). | 40 |

Step 2

Calculate the percentage (the "appropriate percentage") given by – $$\frac{R}{T}\times 100$$

| Finance (No. 2) Bill |
|---------------------------------------|
| Schedule 14 - R&D expenditure credits |
| Part 1 - Amendments of CTA 2009 |

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

| where - | |
|---------|--|
|---------|--|

- R is the amount of the company's qualifying expenditure on the externally provided worker that has been taken into account in calculating the amount of the company's qualifying R&D expenditure for the period, and
- T is the total amount of the company's qualifying expenditure on the externally provided worker.

Step 3

The amount to be determined in the case of the externally provided worker is the appropriate percentage of the amount given by step 1.

104P Total amount of company's PAYE and NIC liabilities

- For the purposes of section 104O the total amount of a company's PAYE and NIC liabilities for an accounting period is the sum of —
 - (a) amount A, and
 - (b) amount B.

(2) Amount A is the total amount of income tax for which the company is required to account to an officer of Revenue and Customs under PAYE regulations for the accounting period.

- (3) In calculating amount A disregard any deduction the company is authorised to make in respect of child tax credit or working tax credit.
- (4) Amount B is the total amount of Class 1 national insurance contributions for which the company is required to account to an officer of Revenue and Customs for the accounting period.
- (5) In calculating amount B disregard any deduction the company is authorised to make in respect of payments of statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, child tax credit or working tax credit.
- (6) In a case where the company is required to account for any amount of income tax or Class 1 national insurance contributions for a payment period that does not fall wholly within the accounting period, the portion of that amount to be included in the total amount of the company's PAYE and NIC liabilities for the accounting period is to be determined on such basis as is just and reasonable in all the circumstances.

104Q Surrender of credit to other group companies

- (1) This section applies if
 - (a) a company is entitled to an R&D expenditure credit under this Chapter for an accounting period ("the surrender period"), and
 - (b) the company surrenders the whole or any part of the credit to another member of the group (the "relevant group member") under step 4 in section 104N(2).
- (2) In this section an accounting period of a relevant group member is a "relevant accounting period" if there is a period ("the overlapping period") that is common to the accounting period and the surrender period.

(3) The amount surrendered is to be applied in discharging any liability of the relevant group member to pay corporation tax for any relevant accounting period as follows—

Step 1

Take the proportion of the relevant accounting period included in the overlapping period.

5

Apply that proportion to the amount of corporation tax payable by the relevant group member for the relevant accounting period.

Step 2

Take the proportion of the surrender period included in the overlapping period.

10

Apply that proportion to the amount surrendered to the relevant group member.

Step 3

The amount given by step 2 is to be applied in discharging the amount given by step 1.

15

- (4) If any of the amount surrendered is remaining after the operation of step 3 in subsection (3), it is to be treated for the purposes of section 104N as if it had not been surrendered to the relevant group member.
- (5) The surrender by a company of the whole or any part of an R&D expenditure credit to another company under step 4 in section 104N(2)—

20

- (a) is not to be taken into account in determining the profits or losses of either company for corporation tax purposes, and
- (b) for corporation tax purposes is not to be regarded as the making of a distribution.

25

104R Payment of credit net of tax

- (1) This section applies if
 - (a) a company is entitled to an R&D expenditure credit for an accounting period under this Chapter, and

30

- (b) an amount ("the step 5 amount") is deducted in respect of the credit under step 5 in section 104N(2).
- (2) The step 5 amount is to be applied in discharging any liability of the company to pay corporation tax for any subsequent accounting period.

35

- This is subject to subsection (3).
- (3) If the company is a member of a group, it may surrender the whole or any part of the step 5 amount to any other member of the group (the "relevant group member").

In such a case, section 104Q(3) applies to the amount surrendered as it applies to an amount of R&D expenditure credit surrendered under step 4 in section 104N(2).

40

(4) If any of the amount surrendered under subsection (3) is remaining after the operation of step 3 in section 104Q(3), it is to be treated for the purposes of section 104N as if it had not been surrendered to the relevant group member.

| 1 inchanter | 1.0 of C111 2000 | | |
|-------------|--|--|--|
| (5) | Any amounts to be applied under subsection (2) or (3) in discharging any liability of a company to pay corporation tax for an accounting period are to be so applied before any amounts that may be so applied under step 1, 3 or 4 in section 104N(2). | | |
| (6) | The surrender by a company of the whole or any part of the step 5 amount to another company under this section— (a) is not to be taken into account in determining the profits or losses of either company for corporation tax purposes, and (b) for corporation tax purposes is not to be regarded as the making of a distribution. | | |
| 104S Re | estrictions on payment of R&D expenditure credit | | |
| (1) | This section applies if — (a) a company is entitled to an R&D expenditure credit for an accounting period under this Chapter, and (b) an amount of the R&D expenditure credit is payable to the company under step 7 of section 104N(2). | | |
| (2) | If at the time of claiming the credit the company was not a going concern (see section 104T) — (a) the company is not entitled to be paid that amount, and (b) that amount is extinguished. | | |
| (3) | But if the company becomes a going concern on or before the last day on which an amendment of the company's tax return for the accounting period could be made under paragraph 15 of Schedule 18 to FA 1998, the company is entitled to be paid that amount. | | |
| (4) | If the company's tax return for the accounting period is enquired into by an officer of Revenue and Customs— (a) no payment of that amount need be made before the officer's enquiries are completed (see paragraph 32 of Schedule 18 to FA 1998), but (b) the officer may make a payment on a provisional basis of such amount as the officer thinks fit. | | |
| (5) | No payment of that amount need be made if the company has outstanding PAYE and NIC liabilities for the period. | | |
| (6) | A company has outstanding PAYE and NIC liabilities for an accounting period if it has not paid to an officer of Revenue and Customs any amount that it is required to pay— (a) under PAYE regulations, or (b) in respect of Class 1 national insurance contributions, for payment periods ending in the accounting period. | | |
| 104T "C | Going concern" | | |
| (1) | For the purposes of section 104S(2) and (3) a company is a going concern if— | | |

(a) its latest published accounts were prepared on a going

nothing in those accounts indicates that they were only prepared on that basis because of an expectation that the

concern basis, and

| | | Schedule 14 – R&D expenditure credits Part 1 – Amendments of CTA 2009 | |
|---------|-------------|--|----|
| | This is | company would receive R&D expenditure credits under this Chapter. subject to subsection (2). | |
| (2) | | pany is not a going concern at any time if it is in administration aidation at that time. | 5 |
| (3) | For the | e purposes of this section a company is in administration if — it is in administration under Part 2 of the Insolvency Act 1986 or Part 3 of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989 (S.I. 1989/2405 (N.I. 19)), or | |
| | (b) | a corresponding situation under the law of a country or territory outside the United Kingdom exists in relation to the company. | 10 |
| (4) | For the | e purposes of this section a company is in liquidation if — it is in liquidation within the meaning of section 247 of that Act or Article 6 of that Order, or | 15 |
| | (b) | a corresponding situation under the law of a country or territory outside the United Kingdom exists in relation to the company. | |
| (5) | | n 436(2) of the Companies Act 2006 (meaning of "publication" uments) has effect for the purposes of this section. | 20 |
| | | Insurance companies | |
| 104U In | surance | companies treated as large companies | |
| (1) | This so | ection applies if an insurance company — carries on life assurance business in an accounting period, and | 25 |
| | (b) | is a small or medium-sized enterprise in the period. | |
| (2) | were 1 | For the purposes of this Chapter the company is to be treated as if it were not such an enterprise in the period (and accordingly is to be treated as a large company for the purposes of this Chapter). | |
| (3) | has eff | n 1119 (meaning of "small or medium-sized enterprise"), as it fect for the purposes of this Chapter (see section 104Y), is to be ubject to this section. | 30 |
| 104V Er | ntitleme | ent to credit: I minus E basis | |
| (1) | This se (a) | for an accounting period, an insurance company is charged to tax in respect of its basic life assurance and general annuity business in accordance with the I-E rules, and the calculation of the company's charge to tax for the period in respect of that business does not involve the calculation of | 35 |
| (2) | Section (a) | any BLAGAB trade profit or loss of the company. n 104A has effect as if — the reference in subsection (1) to calculating the profits of a trade were a reference to calculating the I-E profit of the basic | 40 |

life assurance and general annuity business carried on by the

company, and

a company to obtain –

45

| | expenditure credits ts of CTA 2009 | 1 |
|--------|---|---------------|
| | (b) the reference in subsection (2) to qualifying R&D expenditure allowable as a deduction in calculating the profits of a trade for an accounting period were a reference to any such expenditure that would be allowable as such a deduction if the company were to calculate its BLAGAB trade profit or loss for the period. | ! ! |
| (3) | Any receipt to be brought into account by virtue of this section is to be treated for the purposes of section 92 of FA 2012 (certain BLAGAB trading receipts to count as deemed I-E receipts) as if it had been taken into account in calculating the company's BLAGAB trade profit or loss for the period. | , 1 |
| (4) | In this section "BLAGAB trade profit" and "BLAGAB trade loss" have the meaning given by section 136 of FA 2012. | 1 |
| | Group companies | |
| 104W R | D expenditure of group companies | 15 |
| (1) | This section applies if — (a) a company ("A") incurs expenditure on making a payment to another company ("B") in respect of activities contracted out by A to B, | |
| | (b) the activities would, if carried out by A, be research and development of A (taken together with A's other activities), and | • |
| | (c) A and B are members of the same group at the time the payment is made. | <u>}</u> |
| (2) | If the activities are undertaken by B itself, they are to be treated for the purposes of this Chapter (so far as it would not otherwise be the case) as research and development undertaken by B itself. | |
| (3) | If B makes a payment to a third party ("C"), any of the activities— (a) contracted out by B to C, and (b) undertaken by C itself, are to be treated for the purposes of this Chapter (so far as it would not otherwise be the case) as research and development contracted out by B to C. | |
| | Anti-avoidance | |
| 104X A | tificially inflated claims for credit | 35 |
| (1) | To the extent that a transaction is attributable to arrangements entered into wholly or mainly for a disqualifying purpose, it is to be disregarded for the purpose of determining for an accounting period R&D expenditure credits to which a company is entitled under this Chapter. | <u> </u> |
| (2) | Arrangements are entered into wholly or mainly for a "disqualifying purpose" if their main object, or one of their main objects, is to enable | |

(a) an R&D expenditure credit under this Chapter to which it

would not otherwise be entitled, or

- (b) an R&D expenditure credit under this Chapter of a greater amount than that to which it would otherwise be entitled.
- (3) In this section "arrangements" includes any scheme, agreement or understanding, whether or not legally enforceable.

Interpretation

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

104Y Interpretation

(1) In this Chapter the following terms have the same meaning as they have in Part 13 (additional relief for expenditure on R&D) —

"large company" (see section 1122),

"payment period" (see section 1141),

"qualifying body" (see section 1142),

"relevant research and development" (see section 1042),

"research and development" (see section 1041),

"small or medium-sized enterprise" (see section 1119).

(2) The following sections apply for the purposes of this Chapter as they apply for the purposes of Part 13 —

or the purposes of Part 13 – sections 1123 and 1124 (staffing costs),

sections 1125 and 1126 (software or consumable items),

sections 1127 to 1132 (qualifying expenditure on externally provided workers),

sections 1133 to 1136 (sub-contractor payments),

section 1138 ("subsidised expenditure"),

section 1140 (relevant payments to the subjects of a clinical trial).

- (3) For the purposes of this Chapter two companies are members of the same group if they are members of the same group of companies for the purposes of Part 5 of CTA 2010 (group relief)."
- 2 (1) Part 13 of CTA 2009 (additional relief for expenditure on research and development) is amended as follows.
 - (2) After section 1040 (and before the cross-heading "Interpretation") insert –

"1040A R&D expenditure credits

- (1) For provision enabling a company carrying on a trade to make a claim for an amount in respect of expenditure on research and development (an "R&D expenditure credit") to be brought into account as a receipt in calculating the profits of the trade for an accounting period, see Chapter 6A of Part 3.
- (2) For provision prohibiting a company from making a claim for an R&D expenditure credit and for relief under this Part in respect of the same expenditure, see section 104B."
- (3) In section 1138 (meaning of "subsidised expenditure"), in subsection (3), omit the "and" at the end of paragraph (a) and after paragraph (b) insert—

 "(c) R&D expenditure credits under Chapter 6A of Part 3."
- 3 In Schedule 4 to CTA 2009 (index of defined expressions), at the appropriate

place insert –

| "capped R&D expenditure (in Chapter 6A of Part 3) | section 104I"; | |
|--|---|----|
| "large company (in Chapter 6A of Part 3) | section 1122 (as applied by section 104Y)"; | 5 |
| "payment period (in Chapter 6A of Part 3) | section 1141 (as applied by section 104Y)"; | |
| "qualifying body (in Chapter 6A of Part 3) | section 1142 (as applied by section 104Y)"; | 10 |
| "qualifying expenditure on sub-contracted R&D (in Chapter 6A of Part 3) | section 104C"; | |
| "qualifying R&D expenditure (in Chapter 6A of Part 3) | section 104A"; | 15 |
| "relevant payment to the subject of a clinical trial (in Chapter 6A of Part 3) | section 1140 (as applied by section 104Y)"; | |
| "relevant research and development (in Chapter 6A of Part 3) | section 1042 (as applied by section 104Y)"; | 20 |
| "research and development (in Chapter 6A of Part 3) | section 1041 (as applied by section 104Y)"; | 25 |
| "small or medium-sized enterprise (in Chapter 6A of Part 3) | section 1119 (as applied by section 104Y)"; | |
| "software or consumable items (in Chapter 6A of Part 3) | section 1125 (as applied by section 104Y)"; | 30 |
| "staffing costs (in Chapter 6A of Part 3) | section 1123 (as applied by section 104Y)"; | |
| "subsidised qualifying expenditure (in Chapter 6A of Part 3) | section 104F". | 35 |

Part 2

CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS

| $\Gamma \Delta$ | 100 | Q |
|-----------------|------|---|
| rA | 1990 | 0 |

| FA 1 | 1998 | | |
|------|------|---|----------|
| 4 | | Schedule 18 to FA 1998 (company tax returns, assessments and related matters) is amended as follows. | 5 |
| 5 | | In paragraph 10(2) (other claims and elections to be included in return), after "first-year tax credits" insert ", R&D expenditure credits". | |
| 6 | (1) | Paragraph 52 (recovery of excessive repayments etc) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In sub-paragraph (2), after paragraph (b) insert— "(bza) R&D expenditure credit under Chapter 6A of Part 3 of the Corporation Tax Act 2009,". | 10 |
| | (3) | In sub-paragraph (5) — (a) after paragraph (a) insert — "(aa) an amount of R&D expenditure credit paid to a company for an accounting period,"; (b) after "paragraph (a)," insert "(aa),". | 15 |
| 7 | (1) | Part 9A (claims for R&D tax relief) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In paragraph 83A (introduction), for the words after "applies" substitute "to— $$ | |
| | | (a) claims for R&D expenditure credits under Chapter 6A of Part 3 of the Corporation Tax Act 2009, and(b) claims for R&D tax relief under Part 13 of that Act." | 20 |
| | (3) | In paragraph 83C (content of claim), before "relief" insert "credit or". | |
| | (4) | Accordingly, the heading of the Part becomes "CLAIMS FOR R&D EXPENDITURE CREDITS OR R&D TAX RELIEF". | 25 |
| FA 2 | 2007 | | |
| 8 | | In Schedule 24 to FA 2007 (penalties for errors), in paragraph 28(fa) (definition of "corporation tax credit"), after sub-paragraph (i) insert— "(ia) an R&D expenditure credit under Chapter 6A of Part 3 of CTA 2009,". | 30 |
| CTA | 2010 | | |
| 9 | | Part 8A of CTA 2010 (profits arising from the exploitation of patents etc) is amended as follows. | |
| 10 | | In section 357CG (adjustments in calculating profits of trade), in subsection (4), after "amounts to be deducted are" insert "— (a) the amount of any R&D expenditure credits (within the meaning of Chapter 6A of Part 3 of CTA 2009) brought into account in calculating the profits of the trade for the accounting period, and (b) ". | 35 40 |
| | | (\mathcal{O}) . | |

Schedule 14 – R&D expenditure credits
Part 2 – Consequential amendments

| 11 | | In secti | ion 357CK (deductions that are not routine deductions), in subsection | |
|------|------|-----------------------|---|----|
| | | (a) | in paragraph (a), the words from "for which" to the end become subparagraph (i); | |
| | | (b) | after that sub-paragraph insert ", or | 5 |
| | | | (ii) in respect of which the company is entitled to an R&D expenditure credit for the accounting period under Chapter 6A of Part 3 of CTA 2009,"; | |
| | | (c) | at the beginning of paragraph (b) insert "where the company obtains an additional deduction as mentioned in paragraph (a)(i),". | 10 |
| | | | Part 3 | |
| | | ABo | OLITION OF CERTAIN RELIEF UNDER PART 13 OF CTA 2009 | |
| Amer | ıdme | ents of Pa | art 13 of CTA 2009 | |
| 12 | | | 3 of CTA 2009 (additional relief for expenditure on research and pment) is amended as follows. | 15 |
| 13 | (1) | Section | 1039 (overview of Part) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | | section (3) — | |
| | | (a) (b) | for "Chapters 2 to 4" substitute "Chapter 2"; omit paragraphs (b) and (c). | 20 |
| | (3) | Omit s | ubsection (4). | |
| | (4) | In subs (a) (b) | section (5) — for "Chapters 2 to 5" substitute "Chapter 2"; omit paragraphs (b) and (c). | |
| 14 | | Omit C | Chapter 3 (relief for SMEs: R&D sub-contracted to SME). | 25 |
| 15 | | Omit (R&D). | Chapter 4 (relief for SMEs: subsidised and capped expenditure on | |
| 16 | | Omit C | Chapter 5 (relief for large companies). | |
| 17 | (1) | Section as follo | 1081 (insurance companies treated as large companies) is amended ows. | 30 |
| | (2) | In subs | section (2), for "Chapters 2 to 5" substitute "Chapter 2". | |
| | (3) | Omit s | ubsection (3). | |
| 18 | | Omit s | ection 1082 (R&D expenditure of group companies). | |
| 19 | | Omit s tax). | ection 1083 (refunds of expenditure treated as income chargeable to | 35 |
| 20 | (1) | Section | a 1084 (artificially inflated claims for relief or tax credit) is amended as s. | |
| | (2) | In subs | section (2)(a), for "Chapters 2 to 5" substitute "Chapter 2". | |

(3) In subsection (3)(a) and (b), for "Chapters 2 to 5" substitute "Chapter 2".

35

2009 for an accounting period beginning before 1 April 2016, the amendments made by Part 3 of this Schedule are treated as having effect in

relation to expenditure incurred by the company on or after the first day of

(2) But in a case where the accounting period includes 1 April 2013, those amendments are treated as having effect in relation to expenditure incurred

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

that accounting period.

by the company on or after that day.

"section 1072(1)(a),".

Consequential amendments

entries-

Schedule 15 - Tax relief for television production Part 1 - Amendments of CTA 2009

SCHEDULE 15

Section 35

259

TAX RELIEF FOR TELEVISION PRODUCTION

PART 1

AMENDMENTS OF CTA 2009

| 1 | After | Part 15 | of CTA | 2009 | insert – |
|---|-------|---------|--------|------|----------|
| | | | | | |

5

"PART 15A

TELEVISION PRODUCTION

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Introductory

10

1216A Overview of Part

- (1) This Part is about television production.
- (2) Sections 1216AA to 1216AJ contain definitions and other provisions about interpretation that apply for the purposes of this Part. See, in particular—

evant

- (a) section 1216AB, which explains what is meant by a "relevant programme", and
- (b) section 1216AE, which explains how a company comes to be treated as the television production company in relation to a relevant programme.

20

25

30

15

- (3) Chapter 2 is about the taxation of the activities of a television production company and includes—
 - (a) provision for the company's activities in relation to its relevant programme to be treated as a separate trade, and
 - (b) provision about the calculation of the profits and losses of that trade.

(4) Chapter 3 is about relief (called "television tax relief") which can be given to a television production company —

(a) by way of additional deductions to be made in calculating the profits or losses of the company's separate trade, or

(b) by way of a payment (a "television tax credit") to be made on the company's surrender of losses from that trade.

5) Chapter 4 is about the relief which can be given for losses made by a television production company in its separate trade, including provision for certain such losses to be transferred to other separate trades.

- (6) Chapter 5 provides
 - (a) for relief under Chapters 3 and 4 to be given on a provisional basis, and

(b) for such relief to be withdrawn if it turns out that conditions that must be met for such relief to be given are not actually met.

Meaning of "television programme", "relevant programme" etc

| | Meaning of television programme, relevant programme etc | |
|-----------------|---|----|
| 1216AA ' | 'Television programme" | 5 |
| (1) | This section applies for the purposes of this Part. | |
| (2) | "Television programme" means any programme (with or without sounds) which— (a) is produced to be seen on television, and (b) consists of moving or still images or of legible text or of a combination of those things. | 10 |
| (3) | In subsection (2) "television" includes the internet. | |
| (4) | Any television programmes that are commissioned together under the same agreement are treated as a single television programme. | |
| (5) | A television programme is completed when it is first in a form in which it can reasonably be regarded as ready for broadcast to the general public. | 15 |
| 1216AB " | Relevant programme" | |
| (1) | This section applies for the purposes of this Part. | |
| (2) | A television programme is a "relevant programme" if— (a) conditions A and B are met, and (b) in the case of a television programme that is not animation, conditions C and D are met. | 20 |
| (3) | Condition A is that the programme is— (a) a drama, (b) a documentary, or (c) animation. For further provision about these terms, see section 1216AC. | 25 |
| (4) | Condition B is that the programme is not an excluded programme (see section 1216AD). | 30 |
| (5) | Condition C is that the slot length in relation to the programme is greater than 30 minutes. | |
| (6) | Condition D is that the average core expenditure per hour of slot length in relation to the programme is not less than £1 million. For the meaning of "core expenditure", see section 1216AG. | 35 |
| (7) | "Slot length", in relation to a television programme, means the period of time which the programme is commissioned to fill. | |
| 1216AC 7 | Types of programme eligible to be relevant programmes | |

(1) This section applies for the purposes of this Part.

(a) it consists wholly or mainly of a depiction of events,

A programme is a "drama" if –

Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 15 — Tax relief for television production Part 1 — Amendments of CTA 2009

| | (b) the events are depicted (wholly or mainly) by one or more persons performing, and | |
|---------------|--|----|
| | (c) the whole or a major proportion of what is done by the person or persons performing, whether by way of speech, acting, singing or dancing, involves the playing of a role, | 5 |
| | and for these purposes "drama" includes comedy. | |
| (3) | A drama or documentary that includes animation is to be treated as animation if the core expenditure on the completed animation constitutes at least 51% of the total core expenditure on the completed programme. | 10 |
| 1216AD | Excluded programmes | |
| (1) | For the purposes of this Part a television programme is an excluded programme if it falls within any of the Heads set out in the following subsections — | |
| | (a) subsection (2) (advertisements etc), | 15 |
| | (b) subsection (3) (current affairs etc), | |
| | (c) subsection (4) (entertainment shows), | |
| | (d) subsection (5) (competitions), | |
| | (e) subsection (6) (live performances),(f) subsection (7) (training programmes). | 20 |
| (2) | | 20 |
| (2) | Head 1 is any advertisement or other promotional programme. | |
| (3) | Head 2 is any news or current affairs programme or discussion programme. | |
| (4) | Head 3 is any quiz show, game show, panel show, variety show, chat show or similar entertainment. | 25 |
| (5) | Head 4 is any programme consisting of or including –(a) a competition or contest, or(b) the results of a competition or contest. | |
| (6) | Head 5 is any broadcast of a live event or of a theatrical or artistic performance given otherwise than for the purpose of being filmed. | 30 |
| (7) | Head 6 is any programme produced for training purposes. | |
| | Other interpretation | |
| 1216AE | Television production company | |
| (1) | For the purposes of this Part "television production company" is to be read in accordance with this section. | 35 |
| (2) | There cannot be more than one television production company in relation to a relevant programme. | |
| (3) | A company is the television production company in relation to a relevant programme if the company (otherwise than in partnership)— (a) is responsible— | 40 |
| | (i) for pre-production, principal photography and post- production of the programme, and | |

for delivery of the programme, is actively engaged in production planning and decisionmaking during pre-production, principal photography and post-production, and directly negotiates, contracts and pays for rights, goods and 5 services in relation to the programme. A company is the television production company in relation to a relevant programme that is a qualifying co-production if the company (otherwise than in partnership) – 10 is a co-producer, and (b) makes an effective creative, technical and artistic contribution to the programme. If there is more than one company meeting the description in subsection (3) or (4), the company that is most directly engaged in the activities referred to in that subsection is the television production 15 company in relation to the relevant programme. If there is no company meeting the description in subsection (3) or (4), there is no television production company in relation to the relevant programme. A company may elect to be regarded as a company which does not 20 meet the description in subsection (3) or (4). (8)The election – must be made by the company by being included in its company tax return for an accounting period (and may be 25 included in the return originally made or by amendment), may be withdrawn by the company only by amending its (b) company tax return for that accounting period. The election has effect in relation to relevant programmes which commence principal photography in that or any subsequent 30 accounting period. 1216AF "Television production activities" etc In this Part "television production activities", in relation to a relevant programme, means the activities involved in development, preproduction, principal photography and post-production of the 35 programme. If all or any of the images in a relevant programme are generated by computer, references in this Part to principal photography are to be read as references to, or as including, the generation of those images. 40 (3) The Treasury may by regulations – amend subsections (1) and (2), provide that specified activities are or are not to be regarded as television production activities or as television production activities of a particular description, and provide that, in relation to a specified description of relevant 45 programme, references to television production activities of a

particular description are to be read as references to such activities as may be specified.

263

5

10

15

20

25

35

40

"Specified" means specified in the regulations.

| 1216AG | "Production | evnenditure" | and "core | expenditure" |
|--------|----------------------|--------------|-----------|--------------|
| 1210AG | 1 I U U U C LI U I I | expenditure | allu Cole | expenditure |

- (1) This section applies for the purposes of this Part.
- (2) "Production expenditure", in relation to a relevant programme, means expenditure on television production activities in connection with the programme.
- (3) "Core expenditure", in relation to a relevant programme, means production expenditure on pre-production, principal photography and post-production of the programme.

1216AH "UK expenditure" etc

- (1) In this Part "UK expenditure", in relation to a relevant programme, means expenditure on goods or services that are used or consumed in the United Kingdom.
- (2) Any apportionment of expenditure as between UK expenditure and non-UK expenditure for the purposes of this Part is to be made on a just and reasonable basis.
- (3) The Treasury may by regulations amend subsection (1).

1216AI "Qualifying co-production" and "co-producer"

In this Part -

- (a) "qualifying co-production" means a relevant programme that is eligible to be certified as a British programme under section 1216CB as a result of an agreement between Her Majesty's Government in the United Kingdom and any other government, international organisation or authority, and
- (b) "co-producer" means a person who is a co-producer for the purposes of the agreement mentioned in paragraph (a).

1216AJ "Company tax return"

In this Part "company tax return" has the same meaning as in Schedule 18 to FA 1998 (see paragraph 3(1)).

CHAPTER 2

TAXATION OF ACTIVITIES OF TELEVISION PRODUCTION COMPANY

Separate programme trade

1216B Activities of television production company treated as a separate trade

- (1) This Chapter applies for corporation tax purposes to a company that is the television production company in relation to a relevant programme.
- (2) The company's activities in relation to the programme are treated as a trade separate from any other activities of the company (including any activities in relation to any other television programme).

- (3)In this Chapter the separate trade is called "the separate programme
- (4) The company is treated as beginning to carry on the separate programme trade
 - when pre-production begins, or

10

15

20

25

if earlier, when any income from the relevant programme is received by the company.

1216BA Calculation of profits or losses of separate programme trade

- This section applies for the purpose of calculating the profits or losses of the separate programme trade.
- For the first period of account the following are brought into account
 - as a debit, the costs of the relevant programme incurred (and (a) represented in work done) to date, and
 - as a credit, the proportion of the estimated total income from the relevant programme treated as earned at the end of that period.
- For subsequent periods of account the following are brought into account
 - as a debit, the difference between the amount of the costs of the relevant programme incurred (and represented in work done) to date and the corresponding amount for the previous period, and
 - as a credit, the difference between the proportion of the estimated total income from the relevant programme treated as earned at the end of that period and the corresponding amount for the previous period.
- The proportion of the estimated total income treated as earned at the end of a period of account is given by –

30

where -

C is the total to date of costs incurred (and represented in work done),

T is the estimated total cost of the relevant programme, and I is the estimated total income from the relevant programme.

35

Supplementary

1216BB Income from the relevant programme

References in this Chapter to income from the relevant programme are to any receipts by the company in connection with the making or exploitation of the programme.

- This includes (2)
 - receipts from the sale of the programme or rights in it,
 - royalties or other payments for use of the programme or aspects of it (for example, characters or music),

Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 15 - Tax relief for television production

Part 1 - Amendments of CTA 2009

265

payments for rights to produce games or other merchandise, receipts by the company by way of a profit share agreement. Receipts that (apart from this subsection) would be regarded as of a capital nature are treated as being of a revenue nature. 5 1216BC Costs of the relevant programme References in this Chapter to the costs of the relevant programme are to expenditure incurred by the company on – television production activities in connection with the programme, or 10 activities with a view to exploiting the programme. This is subject to any provision of the Corporation Tax Acts prohibiting the making of a deduction, or restricting the extent to which a deduction is allowed, in calculating the profits of a trade. Expenditure that (apart from this subsection) would be regarded as 15 of a capital nature by reason only of being incurred on the creation of an asset (the relevant programme) is treated as being of a revenue nature. 1216BD When costs are taken to be incurred For the purposes of this Chapter costs are incurred when they are 20 represented in the state of completion of the work in progress. (2) Accordingly – payments in advance for work to be done are ignored until the work has been carried out, and 25 deferred payments are recognised to the extent that the work is represented in the state of completion. The costs incurred on the relevant programme are taken to include an amount that has not been paid only if it is the subject of an unconditional obligation to pay. 30 If an obligation is linked to income being earned from the relevant programme, no amount is to be brought into account in respect of the costs of the obligation unless an appropriate amount of income is or has been brought into account. 1216BE Pre-trading expenditure This section applies if, before the company began to carry on the 35 separate programme trade, it incurred expenditure on development of the relevant programme. The expenditure may be treated as expenditure of the separate programme trade and as if incurred immediately after the company 40 began to carry on that trade. If expenditure so treated has previously been taken into account for

other tax purposes, the company must amend any relevant company

tax return accordingly.

(4) Any amendment or assessment necessary to give effect to subsection (3) may be made despite any limitation on the time within which an amendment or assessment may normally be made.

1216BF Estimates

Estimates for the purposes of this Chapter must be made as at the balance sheet date for each period of account, on a just and reasonable basis taking into consideration all relevant circumstances.

5

CHAPTER 3

| | TELEVISION TAX RELIEF | |
|---------|---|----------|
| | Introductory | 10 |
| 1216C A | vailability and overview of television tax relief | |
| (1) | This Chapter applies for corporation tax purposes to a company that is the television production company in relation to a relevant programme. | |
| (2) | Relief under this Chapter ("television tax relief") is available to the company if the conditions specified in the following sections are met in relation to the programme— (a) section 1216CA (intended for broadcast), (b) section 1216CB (British programme), and (c) section 1216CE (UK expenditure). | 15 20 |
| (3) | Television tax relief is given by way of— (a) additional deductions (see sections 1216CF and 1216CG), and (b) television tax credits (see sections 1216CH to 1216CJ). | |
| (4) | But television tax relief is not available in respect of any expenditure if— (a) the company is entitled to an R&D expenditure credit under Chapter 6A of Part 3 in respect of the expenditure, or (b) the company has obtained relief under Part 13 (additional relief for expenditure on research and development) in respect of the expenditure. | 25 |
| (5) | Sections 1216CK to 1216CN contain provision about unpaid costs, artificially inflated claims and confidentiality of information. | |
| (6) | In this Chapter "the separate programme trade" means the company's separate trade in relation to the relevant programme (see section 1216B). | 35 |

See Schedule 18 to FA 1998 (in particular, Part 9D) for information about the procedure for making claims for television tax relief.

"Intended for broadcast"

1216CA Intended for broadcast

- (1) The relevant programme must be intended for broadcast to the general public.
- (2) Whether this condition is met is determined when television production activities begin, so that—
 - (a) where a relevant programme is originally intended for broadcast, this condition continues to be met even if that ceases to be the intention, and
 - (b) where a relevant programme is not originally intended for broadcast, this condition is not met even if that becomes the intention.

5

10

25

40

British programmes

1216CB British programme

- (1) The relevant programme must be certified by the Secretary of State 15 as a British programme.
- (2) The Secretary of State, with the approval of the Treasury, may by regulations specify conditions which must be met by a relevant programme before it may be certified as a British programme.

 These conditions are known as the "cultural test".
- (3) Regulations under subsection (2) may
 - (a) specify different conditions in relation to different descriptions of relevant programme,
 - (b) provide that specified descriptions of programme may not be certified as a British programme, and
 - (c) enable the Secretary of State to direct that any provision made by virtue of paragraph (b) does not apply to a programme that meets specified conditions.

"Specified" means specified in the regulations.

- (4) Regulations under subsection (2) are to be made by statutory 30 instrument.
- (5) A statutory instrument containing regulations under subsection (2) is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the House of Commons.
- (6) Sections 1216CC and 1216CD contain further provision about certification of programmes as British programmes, including provision about applications for, and withdrawal of, certification.

1216CC Applications for certification

- (1) An application for certification of a relevant programme as a British programme is to be made to the Secretary of State by the television production company.
- (2) The application may be for an interim or final certificate.
- (3) An interim certificate is a certificate that –

issued.

| | Part 1 – Amendments of CTA 2009 | |
|---|---|--------|
| | (a) is granted before the programme is completed, and(b) states that the programme, if completed in accordance with the proposals set out in the application, will be a British programme. | |
| | A final certificate is a certificate that — (a) is granted after the programme is completed, and (b) states that the programme is a British programme. | (4) |
| | The applicant must provide the Secretary of State with any documents or information which the Secretary of State requires in order to determine the application. | (5) |
| | The Secretary of State may require information provided for the purposes of the application to be accompanied by a statutory declaration, made by the person providing it, as to the truth of the information. | (6) |
| | The Secretary of State may by regulations make provision supplementing this section, including — (a) provision about the form of applications, (b) provision about the particulars and evidence necessary for satisfying the Secretary of State that a programme meets the cultural test, and | (7) |
| | (c) provision that any statutory declaration which is required by subsection (6) to be made by any person may be made on the person's behalf by such person as is specified in the regulations. | |
| | Regulations under subsection (7) are to be made by statutory instrument. | (8) |
| | A statutory instrument containing regulations under subsection (7) is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the House of Commons. | (9) |
| | Certification and withdrawal of certification | 1216CD |
| | If the Secretary of State is satisfied that the requirements are met for interim or final certification of a relevant programme as a British programme, the Secretary of State must certify the programme accordingly. | (1) |
| , | If the Secretary of State is not satisfied that those requirements are met, the Secretary of State must refuse the application. | (2) |
| 4 | An interim certificate – (a) may be given subject to conditions, and (unless the Secretary of State directs otherwise) is of no effect if the conditions are not met, and (b) may be expressed to expire after a specified period, and (unless the Secretary of State directs otherwise) ceases to have | (3) |
| | (b) may be expressed to expire after a specified period, and (unless the Secretary of State directs otherwise) ceases to have effect at the end of that period. | |

An interim certificate ceases to have effect when a final certificate is

10

15

20

30

- (5) If it appears to the Secretary of State that a relevant programme certified under this Part ought not to have been certified, the Secretary of State may revoke its certification.
- (6) Unless the Secretary of State directs otherwise, a certificate that is revoked is treated as never having had effect.

UK expenditure

1216CE UK expenditure

- (1) At least 25% of the core expenditure on the relevant programme incurred
 - (a) in the case of a British programme that is not a qualifying coproduction, by the company, and
 - (b) in the case of a qualifying co-production, by the co-producers,

must be UK expenditure.

(2) The Treasury may by regulations amend the percentage specified in subsection (1).

Additional deductions

1216CF Additional deduction for qualifying expenditure

- (1) If television tax relief is available to the company, it may (on making a claim) make an additional deduction in respect of qualifying expenditure on the relevant programme.
- (2) The deduction is made in calculating the profit or loss of the separate programme trade.
- (3) In this Chapter "qualifying expenditure" means core expenditure on the relevant programme that falls to be taken into account under Chapter 2 in calculating the profit or loss of the separate programme trade for tax purposes.
- (4) The Treasury may by regulations
 - (a) amend subsection (3), and
 - (b) provide that expenditure of a specified description is or is not to be regarded as qualifying expenditure.

1216CG Amount of additional deduction

(1) For the first period of account during which the separate programme trade is carried on, the amount of the additional deduction is —

35

where E is –

- (a) so much of the qualifying expenditure as is UK expenditure, or
- (b) if less, 80% of the total amount of qualifying expenditure.
- (2) For any period of account after the first, the amount of the additional deduction is given by —

E - P

| .70 | | Schedule 15 – Tax relief for television production Part 1 – Amendments of CTA 2009 | |
|-----|--------|--|----|
| | | where – E is – | |
| | | (a) so much of the qualifying expenditure incurred to date as is UK expenditure, or | |
| | | (b) if less, 80% of the total amount of qualifying expenditure incurred to date, and | į |
| | | P is the total amount of the additional deductions given for previous periods. | |
| | (3) | The Treasury may by regulations amend this section. | |
| | | Television tax credits | 10 |
| | 1216CH | Television tax credit claimable if company has surrenderable loss | |
| | (1) | If television tax relief is available to the company, it may claim a television tax credit for an accounting period in which it has a surrenderable loss. | |
| | (2) | The company's surrenderable loss in an accounting period is – (a) the company's available loss for the period in the separate programme trade (see subsection (3)), or (b) if less, the available qualifying expenditure for the period (see subsections (5) and (6)). | 1: |
| | (3) | The company's available loss for an accounting period is given by — $L + RUL$ | 2 |
| | | where – | |
| | | L is the amount of the company's loss for the period in the separate programme trade, and RUL is the amount of any relevant unused loss of the company (see subsection (4)). | 2. |
| | (4) | The "relevant unused loss" of a company is so much of any available loss of the company for the previous accounting period as has not been— | |
| | | (a) surrendered under section 1216CI(1), or(b) carried forward under section 45 of CTA 2010 and set against profits of the separate programme trade. | 3 |

For the first period of account during which the separate programme trade is carried on, the available qualifying expenditure is the amount that is E for that period for the purposes of section 1216CG(1).

For any period of account after the first, the available qualifying expenditure is given by – E – S

where -

40 E is the amount that is E for that period for the purposes of

35

section 1216CG(2), and S is the total amount previously surrendered under section 1216CI(1).

(7) If a period of account of the separate programme trade does not coincide with an accounting period, any necessary apportionments are to be made by reference to the number of days in the periods concerned.

1216CI Surrendering of loss and amount of television tax credit

(1) The company may surrender the whole or part of its surrenderable loss in an accounting period.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

- (2) If the company surrenders the whole or part of that loss, the amount of the television tax credit to which it is entitled for the accounting period is 25% of the amount of the loss surrendered.
- (3) The company's available loss for the accounting period is reduced by the amount surrendered.

1216CJ Payment in respect of television tax credit

- (1) If the company
 - (a) is entitled to a television tax credit for a period, and
 - (b) makes a claim,

the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs ("the Commissioners") must pay to the company the amount of the credit.

- (2) An amount payable in respect of
 - (a) a television tax credit, or

(b) interest on a television tax credit under section 826 of ICTA, may be applied in discharging any liability of the company to pay corporation tax.

To the extent that it is so applied the Commissioners' liability under subsection (1) is discharged.

- (3) If the company's company tax return for the accounting period is enquired into by the Commissioners, no payment in respect of a television tax credit for that period need be made before the Commissioners' enquiries are completed (see paragraph 32 of Schedule 18 to FA 1998).
 - In those circumstances the Commissioners may make a payment on a provisional basis of such amount as they consider appropriate.
- (4) No payment need be made in respect of a television tax credit for an accounting period before the company has paid to the Commissioners any amount that it is required to pay for payment periods ending in that accounting period
 - (a) under PAYE regulations,
 - (b) under section 966 of ITA 2007 (visiting performers), or
 - (c) in respect of Class 1 national insurance contributions under Part 1 of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992 or Part 1 of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits (Northern Ireland) Act 1992.
- (5) A payment in respect of a television tax credit is not income of the company for any tax purpose.

10

15

20

30

35

45

Miscellaneous

1216CK No account to be taken of amount if unpaid

- (1) In determining for the purposes of this Chapter the amount of costs incurred on a relevant programme at the end of a period of account, ignore any amount that has not been paid 4 months after the end of that period.
- (2) This is without prejudice to the operation of section 1216BD (when costs are taken to be incurred).

1216CL Artificially inflated claims for additional deduction or tax credit

- (1) So far as a transaction is attributable to arrangements entered into wholly or mainly for a disqualifying purpose, it is to be ignored in determining for any period—
 - (a) any additional deduction which a company may make under this Chapter, and
 - (b) any television tax credit to be given to a company.
- (2) Arrangements are entered into wholly or mainly for a disqualifying purpose if their main object, or one of their main objects, is to enable a company to obtain—
 - (a) an additional deduction under this Chapter to which it would not otherwise be entitled or of a greater amount than that to which it would otherwise be entitled, or
 - (b) a television tax credit to which it would not otherwise be entitled or of a greater amount than that to which it would otherwise be entitled.
- (3) "Arrangements" includes any scheme, agreement or understanding, whether or not legally enforceable.

1216CM Confidentiality of information

- (1) Section 18(1) of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restriction on disclosure by Revenue and Customs officials) does not prevent disclosure to the Secretary of State for the purposes of the Secretary of State's functions under any of the provisions listed in subsection (2).
- (2) The provisions referred to in subsection (1) are
 - (a) sections 1216CB to 1216CD (certification of relevant programmes as British),
 - (b) sections 1217CB to 1217CD (certification of video games as British), and
 - (c) Schedule 1 to the Films Act 1985 (certification of films as British).
- (3) Information so disclosed may be disclosed to the British Film 40 Institute.
- (4) The Treasury may by order amend subsection (3)
 - (a) so as to substitute for the person or body specified in that subsection a different person or body, or
 - (b) in consequence of a change in the name of the person or body so specified.

| (5) | A person to whom information is disclosed under subsection (1) or (3) may not otherwise disclose it except— | | |
|--------|---|--|----|
| | (a) | for the purposes of the Secretary of State's functions under any of the provisions listed in subsection (2), | |
| | (b) | if the disclosure is authorised by an enactment, | 5 |
| | (c) | in pursuance of an order of a court, | |
| | (d) | for the purposes of a criminal investigation or legal proceedings (whether civil or criminal) connected with the operation of any of Parts 15 to 15B of this Act or Schedule 1 to the Films Act 1985, | 10 |
| | (e) | with the consent of the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, or | |
| | (f) | with the consent of each person to whom the information relates. | |
| 1216CN | Wrongi | ful disclosure | 15 |
| (1) | A pers | son ("X") commits an offence if — | |
| , , | (a) | X discloses revenue and customs information relating to a person (as defined in section 19(2) of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005), | |
| | (b) | the identity of the person to whom the information relates is specified in the disclosure or can be deduced from it, and the disclosure contravenes section 1216CM(5) | 20 |
| | (c) | the disclosure contravenes section 1216CM(5). | |
| (2) | | rson ("Y") is charged with an offence under subsection (1), it is not for Y to prove that Y reasonably believed— that the disclosure was lawful, or that the information had already and lawfully been made available to the public. | 25 |
| (2) | A | • | |
| (3) | A pers (a) | on guilty of an offence under subsection (1) is liable — on conviction on indictment, to imprisonment for a term not exceeding two years or a fine or both, or | 30 |
| | (b) | on summary conviction, to imprisonment for a term not exceeding 12 months or a fine not exceeding the statutory maximum or both. | |
| (4) | | secution for an offence under subsection (1) may be brought in and Wales only — by the Director of Revenue and Customs Prosecutions, or with the consent of the Director of Public Prosecutions. | 35 |
| (5) | North | secution for an offence under subsection (1) may be brought in ern Ireland only — by the Commissioners for Her Majosty's Royanua and | 40 |
| | (a) | by the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, or | 40 |
| | (b) | with the consent of the Director of Public Prosecutions for Northern Ireland. | |
| (6) | | | |
| | (a) | in England and Wales, in relation to an offence committed before the commencement of section 282 of the Criminal Justice Act 2003, or | 45 |

(b) in Northern Ireland, the reference in subsection (3)(b) to 12 months is to be read as a reference to 6 months.

| | CHAPTER 4 | | |
|---------------------------------------|--|----|--|
| | PROGRAMME LOSSES | 5 | |
| 1216D A | pplication of sections 1216DA and 1216DB | | |
| (1) | Sections 1216DA and 1216DB apply to a company that is the television production company in relation to a relevant programme. | | |
| (2) | In those sections — "the completion period" means the accounting period of the company — (a) in which the relevant programme is completed, or (b) if the company does not complete the relevant | 10 | |
| | programme, in which it abandons television production activities in relation to the programme, "loss relief" includes any means by which a loss might be used to reduce the amount in respect of which the company, or any other person, is chargeable to tax, | 15 | |
| | "pre-completion period" means an accounting period of the company before the completion period, and "the separate programme trade" means the company's separate trade in relation to the relevant programme (see section 1216B). | 20 | |
| 1216DA | Restriction on use of losses while programme in production | | |
| (1) | This section applies if in a pre-completion period a loss is made in the separate programme trade. | 25 | |
| (2) | The loss is not available for loss relief except to the extent that it may be carried forward under section 45 of CTA 2010 to be set against profits of the separate programme trade in a subsequent period. | | |
| 1216DB Use of losses in later periods | | | |
| (1) | This section applies to the following accounting periods of the company ("relevant later periods")— (a) the completion period, and (b) any subsequent accounting period during which the separate programme trade continues. | 35 | |
| (2) | Subsection (3) applies if a loss made in the separate programme trade is carried forward under section 45 of CTA 2010 from a precompletion period to a relevant later period. | | |
| (3) | So much (if any) of the loss as is not attributable to television tax relief (see subsection (6)) may be treated for the purposes of loss relief as if it were a loss made in the period to which it is carried forward. | 40 | |

Part 1 - Amendments of CTA 2009 Subsection (5) applies if in a relevant later period a loss is made in the separate programme trade. The amount of the loss that may be – deducted from total profits of the same or an earlier period under section 37 of CTA 2010, or 5 surrendered as group relief under Part 5 of that Act, is restricted to the amount (if any) that is not attributable to television tax relief (see subsection (6)). The amount of a loss in any period that is attributable to television tax relief is calculated by deducting from the total amount of the loss 10 the amount there would have been if there had been no additional deduction under Chapter 3 in that or any earlier period. This section does not apply to a loss to the extent that it is carried forward or surrendered under section 1216DC. 1216DC Terminal losses 15 This section applies if a company ("company A") is the television production company in relation to a qualifying programme, company A ceases to carry on its separate trade in relation to that programme ("trade X") (see section 1216B), and 20 (c) if company A had not ceased to carry on trade X, it could have carried forward an amount under section 45 of CTA 2010 to be set against profits of trade X in a later period ("the terminal loss"). 25 If on cessation of trade X company A – is the television production company in relation to another qualifying programme, and is carrying on its separate trade in relation to that programme ("trade Y"), it may (on making a claim) make an election under subsection (3). 30 The election is to have the terminal loss (or a part of it) treated as if it were a loss brought forward under section 45 of CTA 2010 to be set against the profits of trade Y in the first accounting period beginning after the cessation and so on. Subsection (5) applies if on cessation of trade X – 35 there is another company ("company B") that is the television production company in relation to a qualifying programme, company B is carrying on its separate trade in relation to that programme ("trade Z"), and company B is in the same group as company A for the 40 purposes of Part 5 of CTA 2010 (group relief). Company A may surrender the terminal loss (or a part of it) to company B. On the making of a claim by company B the amount surrendered is

treated as if it were a loss brought forward by company B under

section 45 of CTA 2010 to be set against the profits of trade Z of the

45

first accounting period of that company beginning after the cessation and so on. The Treasury may, in relation to the surrender of a loss under subsection (5) and the resulting claim under subsection (6), make provision by regulations corresponding, subject to such adaptations or other modifications as appear to them to be appropriate, to that made by Part 8 of Schedule 18 to FA 1998 (company tax returns: claims for group relief). "Qualifying programme" means a relevant programme in relation to which the conditions for television tax relief are met (see 1216C(2)). 10 **CHAPTER 5** Provisional entitlement to relief 1216E Introduction In this Chapter – "the company" means the television production company in 15 relation to a relevant programme, "the completion period" means the accounting period of the company -(a) in which the relevant programme is completed, or if the company does not complete the relevant 20 programme, in which it abandons television production activities in relation to it, "interim accounting period" means any earlier accounting period of the company during which television production activities are carried on in relation to the relevant 25 programme, "interim certificate" and "final certificate" have the meaning given by section 1216CC, "the separate programme trade" means the company's separate trade in relation to the relevant programme (see section 30 1216B), and "special television relief" means television tax relief, or relief under section 1216DC (transfer of terminal losses from one relevant programme to another). 35 The company's company tax return for the completion period must state that the relevant programme has been completed or that the company has abandoned television production activities in relation to it (as the case may be). 1216EA Certification as a British programme 40 The company is not entitled to special television relief for an interim accounting period unless its company tax return for the period is accompanied by an interim certificate. If an interim certificate ceases to be in force (otherwise than on being

superseded by a final certificate) or is revoked, the company –

| Amenumer | us oj CIA | . 2009 | |
|----------|------------|--|--|
| | (a) | is not entitled to special television relief for any period for which its entitlement depended on the certificate, and | |
| | (b) | must amend accordingly its company tax return for any such period. | |
| (3) | If the | relevant programme is completed by the company – | |
| | (a) | its company tax return for the completion period must be accompanied by a final certificate, | |
| | (b) | if that requirement is met, the final certificate has effect for the completion period and for any interim accounting period, and | |
| | (c) | if that requirement is not met, the company —(i) is not entitled to special television relief for any period, and | |
| | | (ii) must amend accordingly its company tax return for any period for which such relief was claimed. | |
| (4) | | company abandons television production activities in relation relevant programme — | |
| | (a) | its company tax return for the completion period may be accompanied by an interim certificate, and | |
| | (b) | the abandonment of television production activities does not affect any entitlement to special television relief in that or any previous accounting period. | |
| (5) | If a fir | nal certificate is revoked, the company — | |
| | (a) (b) | is not entitled to special television relief for any period, and must amend accordingly its company tax return for any period for which such relief was claimed. | |
| 1216EB | The UK | expenditure condition | |
| (1) | | ompany is not entitled to special television relief for an interim nting period unless— | |
| | (a) | its company tax return for the period states the amount of planned core expenditure on the relevant programme that is UK expenditure, and | |
| | (b) | that amount is such as to indicate that the condition in section 1216CE (the UK expenditure condition) will be met on completion of the programme. | |
| | | se requirements are met, the company is provisionally treated ation to that period as if that condition was met. | |
| (2) | | h a statement is made but it subsequently appears that the tion will not be met on completion of the programme, the any— | |
| | (a) | is not entitled to special television relief for any period for which its entitlement depended on such a statement, and | |
| | (b) | must amend accordingly its company tax return for any such period. | |

When the relevant programme is completed or the company abandons television production activities in relation to it (as the case may be), the company's company tax return for the completion

period must be accompanied by a final statement of the amount of core expenditure on the programme that is UK expenditure.

- (4) If that statement shows that the condition in section 1216CE is not met, the company
 - (a) is not entitled to special television relief for any period, and
 - (b) must amend accordingly its company tax return for any period for which such relief was claimed.

1216EC Time limit for amendments and assessments

Any amendment or assessment necessary to give effect to the provisions of this Chapter may be made despite any limitation on the time within which an amendment or assessment may normally be made."

PART 2

COMMENCEMENT

- 2 (1) Any power conferred on the Secretary of State or the Treasury by virtue of this Schedule to make regulations or an order comes into force on the day on which this Act is passed.
 - (2) So far as not already brought into force by sub-paragraph (1), the amendments made by this Schedule come into force in accordance with provision contained in an order made by the Treasury.
 - (3) An order under sub-paragraph (2)
 - (a) may make different provision for different purposes;
 - (b) may make such adaptations of Part 15A of CTA 2009 as appear to be necessary or expedient in consequence of other provisions of this Act not yet having come into force.
- 3 (1) The amendments made by this Schedule have effect in relation to accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2013.
 - (2) Sub-paragraph (3) applies where a company has an accounting period beginning before 1 April 2013 and ending on or after that date ("the straddling period").
 - (3) For the purposes of Part 15A of CTA 2009
 - (a) so much of the straddling period as falls before 1 April 2013, and so much of that period as falls on or after that date, are treated as separate accounting periods, and
 - (b) any amounts brought into account for the purposes of calculating for corporation tax purposes the profits of any trade of the company for the straddling period are apportioned to the two separate accounting periods on such basis as is just and reasonable.

10

5

20

15

25

30

SCHEDULE 16

Section 35

TAX RELIEF FOR VIDEO GAMES DEVELOPMENT

Part 1

AMENDMENTS OF CTA 2009

1 After Part 15A of CTA 2009 (inserted by Schedule 15 above) insert – 5

"PART 15B

VIDEO GAMES DEVELOPMENT

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

| Introductori | , 1 | 10 |
|--------------|-----|----|
| | | |

1217A Overview of Part

- This Part is about video games development.
- Sections 1217AA to 1217AF contain definitions and other provisions about interpretation that apply for the purposes of this Part. See, in particular —

- section 1217AA, which contains provision about the meaning of "video game", and
- section 1217AB, which explains how a company comes to be treated as the video games development company in relation to a video game.

20

15

- Chapter 2 is about the taxation of the activities of a video games development company and includes
 - provision for the company's activities in relation to its video game to be treated as a separate trade, and
 - provision about the calculation of the profits and losses of that trade.

25

- Chapter 3 is about relief (called "video games tax relief") which can be given to a video games development company –
 - by way of additional deductions to be made in calculating the profits or losses of the company's separate trade, or

30

- by way of a payment (a "video game tax credit") to be made on the company's surrender of losses from that trade.
- Chapter 4 is about the relief which can be given for losses made by a video games development company in its separate trade, including provision for certain such losses to be transferred to other separate trades.

- Chapter 5 provides
 - for relief under Chapters 3 and 4 to be given on a provisional basis, and

(b) for such relief to be withdrawn if it turns out that conditions that must be met for such relief to be given are not actually met

| | Interpretation | |
|--------|--|----|
| 1217AA | "Video game" etc | 5 |
| (1) | This section applies for the purposes of this Part. | |
| (2) | "Video game" does not include – (a) anything produced for advertising or promotional purposes, or (b) anything produced for the purposes of gambling (within the meaning of the Gambling Act 2005). | 10 |
| (3) | References to a video game include the game's soundtrack. | |
| (4) | A video game is completed when it is first in a form in which it can reasonably be regarded as ready for copies of it to be made and made available to the general public. | 15 |
| 1217AB | Video games development company | |
| (1) | For the purposes of this Part "video games development company" is to be read in accordance with this section. | |
| (2) | There cannot be more than one video games development company in relation to a video game. | 20 |
| (3) | A company is the video games development company in relation to a video game if the company (otherwise than in partnership) – (a) is responsible for designing, producing and testing the video game, (b) is actively engaged in planning and decision-making during the design, production and testing of the video game, and | 25 |
| | (c) directly negotiates, contracts and pays for rights, goods and services in relation to the video game. | |
| (4) | If there is more than one company meeting the description in subsection (3), the company that is most directly engaged in the activities referred to in that subsection is the video games development company in relation to the video game. | 30 |
| (5) | If there is no company meeting the description in subsection (3), there is no video games development company in relation to the video game. | 35 |
| (6) | A company may elect to be regarded as a company which does not meet the description in subsection (3). | |
| (7) | The election— (a) must be made by the company by being included in its | |

company tax return for an accounting period (and may be

included in the return originally made or by amendment),

(b) may be withdrawn by the company only by amending its

company tax return for that accounting period.

10

15

20

25

30

35

(8) The election has effect in relation to video games which begin to be produced in that or any subsequent accounting period.

1217AC "Video game development activities" etc

- (1) In this Part "video game development activities", in relation to a video game, means the activities involved in designing, producing and testing the video game.
- (2) The Treasury may by regulations
 - (a) amend subsection (1),
 - (b) provide that specified activities are or are not to be regarded as video game development activities or as video game development activities of a particular description, and
 - (c) provide that, in relation to a specified description of video game, references to video game development activities of a particular description are to be read as references to such activities as may be specified.

"Specified" means specified in the regulations.

1217AD "Core expenditure"

- (1) In this Part "core expenditure", in relation to a video game, means expenditure on designing, producing and testing the video game.
- (2) But the following descriptions of expenditure are not to be regarded as core expenditure for the purposes of this Part
 - (a) any expenditure incurred in designing the initial concept for a video game;
 - (b) any expenditure incurred in debugging a completed video game or carrying out any maintenance in connection with such a video game.

1217AE "UK expenditure" etc

- (1) In this Part "UK expenditure", in relation to a video game, means expenditure on goods or services that are used or consumed in the United Kingdom.
- (2) Any apportionment of expenditure as between UK expenditure and non-UK expenditure for the purposes of this Part is to be made on a just and reasonable basis.
- (3) The Treasury may by regulations amend subsection (1).

1217AF "Company tax return"

In this Part "company tax return" has the same meaning as in Schedule 18 to FA 1998 (see paragraph 3(1)).

CHAPTER 2

TAXATION OF ACTIVITIES OF VIDEO GAMES DEVELOPMENT COMPANY

Separate video game trade

1217B Activities of video games development company treated as a separate trade

5

- This Chapter applies for corporation tax purposes to a company that is the video games development company in relation to a video game.
- (2) The company's activities in relation to the video game are treated as a trade separate from any other activities of the company (including any activities in relation to any other video game).

10

- In this Chapter the separate trade is called "the separate video game (3) trade".
- The company is treated as beginning to carry on the separate video (4)game trade –

15

- (a) when the design of the video game begins, or
- (b) if earlier, when any income from the video game is received by the company.

1217BA Calculation of profits or losses of separate video game trade

This section applies for the purpose of calculating the profits or losses of the separate video game trade.

20

- For the first period of account the following are brought into (2) account -
 - (a) as a debit, the costs of the video game incurred (and represented in work done) to date, and

25

- as a credit, the proportion of the estimated total income from the video game treated as earned at the end of that period.
- For subsequent periods of account the following are brought into account -

30

as a debit, the difference between the amount of the costs of the video game incurred (and represented in work done) to date and the corresponding amount for the previous period,

as a credit, the difference between the proportion of the estimated total income from the video game treated as earned at the end of that period and the corresponding amount for the previous period.

35

The proportion of the estimated total income treated as earned at the end of a period of account is given by –

$$\frac{C}{T} \times I$$
 40

where -

C is the total to date of costs incurred (and represented in work done),

10

15

25

T is the estimated total cost of the video game, and I is the estimated total income from the video game.

Supplementary

1217BB Income from the video game

- (1) References in this Chapter to income from the video game are to any receipts by the company in connection with the production or exploitation of the video game.
- (2) This includes
 - (a) receipts from the sale of the video game or rights in it,
 - (b) royalties or other payments for use of the video game or aspects of it (for example, characters or music),
 - (c) payments for rights to produce games or other merchandise, and
 - (d) receipts by the company by way of a profit share agreement.
- (3) Receipts that (apart from this subsection) would be regarded as of a capital nature are treated as being of a revenue nature.

1217BC Costs of the video game

- (1) References in this Chapter to the costs of the video game are to expenditure incurred by the company on—
 - (a) video game development activities in connection with the video game, or
 - (b) activities with a view to exploiting the video game.
- (2) This is subject to any provision of the Corporation Tax Acts prohibiting the making of a deduction, or restricting the extent to which a deduction is allowed, in calculating the profits of a trade.
- (3) Expenditure that (apart from this subsection) would be regarded as of a capital nature by reason only of being incurred on the creation of an asset (the video game) is treated as being of a revenue nature.

1217BD When costs are taken to be incurred

- (1) For the purposes of this Chapter costs are incurred when they are represented in the state of completion of the work in progress.
- (2) Accordingly
 - (a) payments in advance for work to be done are ignored until the work has been carried out, and
 - (b) deferred payments are recognised to the extent that the work is represented in the state of completion.
- (3) The costs incurred on the video game are taken to include an amount that has not been paid only if it is the subject of an unconditional obligation to pay.
- (4) If an obligation is linked to income being earned from the video game, no amount is to be brought into account in respect of the costs of the obligation unless an appropriate amount of income is or has been brought into account.

1217BE Estimates

Estimates for the purposes of this Chapter must be made as at the balance sheet date for each period of account, on a just and reasonable basis taking into consideration all relevant circumstances.

CHAPTER 3 5

10

15

20

25

35

VIDEO GAMES TAX RELIEF

Introductory

1217C Availability and overview of video games tax relief

- (1) This Chapter applies for corporation tax purposes to a company that is the video games development company in relation to a video game.
- (2) Relief under this Chapter ("video games tax relief") is available to the company if the conditions specified in the following sections are met in relation to the video game
 - (a) section 1217CA (intended for supply),
 - (b) section 1217CB (British video game), and
 - (c) section 1217CE (UK expenditure).
- (3) Video games tax relief is given by way of
 - (a) additional deductions (see sections 1217CF and 1217CG), and
 - (b) video game tax credits (see sections 1217CH to 1217CJ).
- (4) But video games tax relief is not available in respect of any expenditure if—
 - (a) the company is entitled to an R&D expenditure credit under Chapter 6A of Part 3 in respect of the expenditure, or
 - (b) the company has obtained relief under Part 13 (additional relief for expenditure on research and development) in respect of the expenditure.
- (5) Sections 1217CK to 1217CN contain provision about unpaid costs, artificially inflated claims and confidentiality of information.
- (6) In this Chapter "the separate video game trade" means the company's separate trade in relation to the video game (see section 1217B).
- (7) See Schedule 18 to FA 1998 (in particular, Part 9D) for information about the procedure for making claims for video games tax relief.

"Intended for supply"

1217CA Intended for supply

- (1) The video game must be intended for supply to the general public.
- (2) Whether this condition is met is determined when video game production activities begin, so that—

Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 16 — Tax relief for video games development

Part 1 - Amendments of CTA 2009

a) where a video game is originally intended for supply, this condition continues to be met even if that ceases to be the intention, and

(b) where a video game is not originally intended for supply, this condition is not met even if that becomes the intention.

5

15

20

25

30

35

40

285

British video games

1217CB British video game

- (1) The video game must be certified by the Secretary of State as a British video game.
- (2) The Secretary of State, with the approval of the Treasury, may by regulations specify conditions which must be met by a video game before it may be certified as a British video game.

 These conditions are known as the "cultural test".
- (3) Regulations under subsection (2) may
 - (a) specify different conditions in relation to different descriptions of video game,
 - (b) provide that specified descriptions of video game may not be certified as a British video game, and
 - (c) enable the Secretary of State to direct that any provision made by virtue of paragraph (b) does not apply to a video game that meets specified conditions.

"Specified" means specified in the regulations.

- (4) Regulations under subsection (2) are to be made by statutory instrument.
- (5) A statutory instrument containing regulations under subsection (2) is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the House of Commons.
- (6) Sections 1217CC and 1217CD contain further provision about certification of video games as British video games, including provision about applications for, and withdrawal of, certification.

1217CC Applications for certification

- (1) An application for certification of a video game as a British video game is to be made to the Secretary of State by the video games development company.
- (2) The application may be for an interim or final certificate.

(3) An interim certificate is a certificate that —

- (a) is granted before the video game is completed, and
- (b) states that the video game, if completed in accordance with the proposals set out in the application, will be a British video game.
- (4) A final certificate is a certificate that
 - (a) is granted after the video game is completed, and
 - (b) states that the video game is a British video game.

40

| | Schedule 16 – Tax renef for video games development Part 1 – Amendments of CTA 2009 | |
|----|--|--------|
| | The applicant must provide the Secretary of State with any documents or information which the Secretary of State requires in order to determine the application. | (5) |
| 5 | The Secretary of State may require information provided for the purposes of the application to be accompanied by a statutory declaration, made by the person providing it, as to the truth of the information. | (6) |
| 10 | supplementing this section, including— (a) provision about the form of applications, | (7) |
| | (b) provision about the particulars and evidence necessary for satisfying the Secretary of State that a video game meets the cultural test, and | |
| 15 | (c) provision that any statutory declaration which is required by subsection (6) to be made by any person may be made on the person's behalf by such person as is specified in the regulations. | |
| | Regulations under subsection (7) are to be made by statutory instrument. | (8) |
| 20 | A statutory instrument containing regulations under subsection (7) is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the House of Commons. | (9) |
| | Certification and withdrawal of certification | 1217CD |
| 25 | If the Secretary of State is satisfied that the requirements are met for interim or final certification of a video game as a British video game, the Secretary of State must certify the video game accordingly. | (1) |
| | If the Secretary of State is not satisfied that those requirements are met, the Secretary of State must refuse the application. | (2) |
| 30 | An interim certificate — (a) may be given subject to conditions, and (unless the Secretary of State directs otherwise) is of no effect if the conditions are not met, and | (3) |
| 35 | (b) may be expressed to expire after a specified period, and (unless the Secretary of State directs otherwise) ceases to have effect at the end of that period. | |
| | An interim certificate ceases to have effect when a final certificate is issued. | (4) |
| | If it appears to the Secretary of State that a video game certified under this Part ought not to have been certified, the Secretary of State | (5) |

Unless the Secretary of State directs otherwise, a certificate that is revoked is treated as never having had effect.

may revoke its certification.

(6)

UK expenditure

1217CE UK expenditure

- (1) At least 25% of the core expenditure on the video game incurred by the company must be UK expenditure.
- (2) The Treasury may by regulations amend the percentage specified in subsection (1).

Additional deductions

1217CF Additional deduction for qualifying expenditure

- (1) If video games tax relief is available to the company, it may (on making a claim) make an additional deduction in respect of qualifying expenditure on the video game.
- (2) The deduction is made in calculating the profit or loss of the separate video game trade.
- (3) In this Chapter "qualifying expenditure" means core expenditure on the video game that falls to be taken into account under Chapter 2 in calculating the profit or loss of the separate video game trade for tax purposes.
- (4) The Treasury may by regulations
 - (a) amend subsection (3), and
 - (b) provide that expenditure of a specified description is or is not to be regarded as qualifying expenditure.

1217CG Amount of additional deduction

(1) For the first period of account during which the separate video game trade is carried on, the amount of the additional deduction is —

E 25

287

5

10

20

30

40

where E is –

- (a) so much of the qualifying expenditure as is UK expenditure, or
- (b) if less, 80% of the total amount of qualifying expenditure.
- (2) For any period of account after the first, the amount of the additional deduction is given by —

E - P

where -

E is—

- (a) so much of the qualifying expenditure incurred to date as is UK expenditure, or
- (b) if less, 80% of the total amount of qualifying expenditure incurred to date, and
- P is the total amount of the additional deductions given for previous periods.
- (3) The Treasury may by regulations amend this section.

Video game tax credits

1217CH Video game tax credit claimable if company has surrenderable loss

If video games tax relief is available to the company, it may claim a video game tax credit for an accounting period in which it has a surrenderable loss. 5 The company's surrenderable loss in an accounting period is – the company's available loss for the period in the separate video game trade (see subsection (3)), or if less, the available qualifying expenditure for the period (see subsections (5) and (6)). 10 The company's available loss for an accounting period is given by — L + RULwhere -L is the amount of the company's loss for the period in the separate video game trade, and 15 RUL is the amount of any relevant unused loss of the company (see subsection (4)). The "relevant unused loss" of a company is so much of any available loss of the company for the previous accounting period as has not been – 20 (a) surrendered under section 1217CI(1), or carried forward under section 45 of CTA 2010 and set against profits of the separate video game trade. For the first period of account during which the separate video game 25 trade is carried on, the available qualifying expenditure is the amount that is E for that period for the purposes of section 1217CG(1). For any period of account after the first, the available qualifying expenditure is given by –

E - S

30

35

40

45

where-

- E is the amount that is E for that period for the purposes of section 1217CG(2), and
- S is the total amount previously surrendered under section 1217CI(1).
- (7) If a period of account of the separate video game trade does not coincide with an accounting period, any necessary apportionments are to be made by reference to the number of days in the periods concerned.

1217CI Surrendering of loss and amount of video game tax credit

- (1) The company may surrender the whole or part of its surrenderable loss in an accounting period.
- (2) If the company surrenders the whole or part of that loss, the amount of the video game tax credit to which it is entitled for the accounting period is 25% of the amount of the loss surrendered.

(3) The company's available loss for the accounting period is reduced by the amount surrendered.

| 121/CI Payment in respect of video game tax cre | ent in respect of video game tax cre | edit |
|---|--------------------------------------|------|
|---|--------------------------------------|------|

| (1) | If the company — |
|-----|------------------|
|-----|------------------|

- (a) is entitled to a video game tax credit for a period, and
- (b) makes a claim,

the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs ("the Commissioners") must pay to the company the amount of the credit.

- (2) An amount payable in respect of
 - (a) a video game tax credit, or

10

5

- (b) interest on a video game tax credit under section 826 of ICTA, may be applied in discharging any liability of the company to pay corporation tax.
- To the extent that it is so applied the Commissioners' liability under subsection (1) is discharged.

15

20

- (3) If the company's company tax return for the accounting period is enquired into by the Commissioners, no payment in respect of a video game tax credit for that period need be made before the Commissioners' enquiries are completed (see paragraph 32 of Schedule 18 to FA 1998).
 - In those circumstances the Commissioners may make a payment on
- a provisional basis of such amount as they consider appropriate.
 (4) No payment need be made in respect of a video game tax credit for an accounting period before the company has paid to the Commissioners any amount that it is required to pay for payment

25

(a) under PAYE regulations,

periods ending in that accounting period –

- (b) under section 966 of ITA 2007 (visiting performers), or
- (c) in respect of Class 1 national insurance contributions under Part 1 of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992 or Part 1 of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits (Northern Ireland) Act 1992.

30

(5) A payment in respect of a video game tax credit is not income of the company for any tax purpose.

Miscellaneous

35

1217CK No account to be taken of amount if unpaid

(1) In determining for the purposes of this Chapter the amount of costs incurred on a video game at the end of a period of account, ignore any amount that has not been paid 4 months after the end of that period.

40

(2) This is without prejudice to the operation of section 1217BD (when costs are taken to be incurred).

| 1217CL | Artificially inflated claims for additional deduction or tax credit |
|--------|---|
| (1) | So far as a transaction is attributable to arrangements entered into wholly or mainly for a disqualifying purpose, it is to be ignored in determining for any period— |
| | (a) any additional deduction which a company may make under this Chapter, and |
| | (b) any video game tax credit to be given to a company. |
| (2) | Arrangements are entered into wholly or mainly for a disqualifying purpose if their main object, or one of their main objects, is to enable a company to obtain— (a) an additional deduction under this Chapter to which it would not otherwise be entitled or of a greater amount than that to which it would otherwise be entitled, or |
| | (b) a video game tax credit to which it would not otherwise be entitled or of a greater amount than that to which it would otherwise be entitled. |
| (3) | "Arrangements" includes any scheme, agreement or understanding, whether or not legally enforceable. |
| 1217CM | Confidentiality of information |
| (1) | Section 18(1) of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restriction on disclosure by Revenue and Customs officials) does not prevent disclosure to the Secretary of State for the purposes of the Secretary of State's functions under any of the provisions listed in subsection (2). |
| (2) | The provisions referred to in subsection (1) are — |
| | (a) sections 1216CB to 1216CD (certification of relevant programmes as British), |
| | (b) sections 1217CB to 1217CD (certification of video games as British), and |
| | (c) Schedule 1 to the Films Act 1985 (certification of films as British). |
| (3) | Information so disclosed may be disclosed to the British Film Institute. |
| (4) | The Treasury may by order amend subsection (3) — |
| | (a) so as to substitute for the person or body specified in that subsection a different person or body, or |
| | (b) in consequence of a change in the name of the person or body so specified. |
| (5) | A person to whom information is disclosed under subsection (1) or (3) may not otherwise disclose it except— |
| | (a) for the purposes of the Secretary of State's functions under any of the provisions listed in subsection (2), |
| | (b) if the disclosure is authorised by an enactment, |

in pursuance of an order of a court,

for the purposes of a criminal investigation or legal proceedings (whether civil or criminal) connected with the

| | | operation of any of Parts 15 to 15B of this Act or Schedule 1 to the Films Act 1985, | |
|--------|----------------------|---|----|
| | (e) | with the consent of the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, or | |
| | (f) | with the consent of each person to whom the information relates. | 5 |
| 1217CN | Wrongf | ful disclosure | |
| (1) | _ | son ("X") commits an offence if — | |
| | (a) | X discloses revenue and customs information relating to a person (as defined in section 19(2) of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005), | 10 |
| | (b) | the identity of the person to whom the information relates is specified in the disclosure or can be deduced from it, and the disclosure controvenes section 1217CM(5) | |
| (=) | (c) | the disclosure contravenes section 1217CM(5). | |
| (2) | | rson ("Y") is charged with an offence under subsection (1), it is nce for Y to prove that Y reasonably believed — that the disclosure was lawful, or | 15 |
| | (b) | that the information had already and lawfully been made available to the public. | |
| (3) | A pers (a) | on guilty of an offence under subsection (1) is liable — on conviction on indictment, to imprisonment for a term not exceeding two years or a fine or both, or | 20 |
| | (b) | on summary conviction, to imprisonment for a term not exceeding 12 months or a fine not exceeding the statutory maximum or both. | 25 |
| (4) | | secution for an offence under subsection (1) may be brought in | |
| | Englar (a) (b) | nd and Wales only — by the Director of Revenue and Customs Prosecutions, or with the consent of the Director of Public Prosecutions. | |
| (5) | | secution for an offence under subsection (1) may be brought in ern Ireland only— | 30 |
| | (a) | by the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, or | |
| | (b) | with the consent of the Director of Public Prosecutions for Northern Ireland. | 35 |
| (6) | (a) | application of this section— in England and Wales, in relation to an offence committed before the commencement of section 282 of the Criminal Justice Act 2003, or | |
| | | in Northern Ireland, ference in subsection (3)(b) to 12 months is to be read as a nee to 6 months. | 40 |

CHAPTER 4

VIDEO GAME LOSSES

| 1217D Application of | sections 121' | 7DA and | 1217DB |
|----------------------|---------------|---------|--------|
|----------------------|---------------|---------|--------|

| | VIDEO GIAINE BESSEE | |
|---------|---|----|
| 1217D A | pplication of sections 1217DA and 1217DB | |
| (1) | Sections 1217DA and 1217DB apply to a company that is the video games development company in relation to a video game. | 5 |
| (2) | In those sections — "the completion period" means the accounting period of the company — | |
| | (a) in which the video game is completed, or (b) if the company does not complete the video game, in which it abandons video game development activities in relation to the video game, | 10 |
| | "loss relief" includes any means by which a loss might be used to reduce the amount in respect of which the company, or any other person, is chargeable to tax, "new completion, period" means an associating period of the | 15 |
| | "pre-completion period" means an accounting period of the company before the completion period, and "the separate video game trade" means the company's separate trade in relation to the video game (see section 1217B). | |
| 1217DA | Restriction on use of losses while video game in development | 20 |
| (1) | This section applies if in a pre-completion period a loss is made in the separate video game trade. | |
| (2) | The loss is not available for loss relief except to the extent that it may be carried forward under section 45 of CTA 2010 to be set against profits of the separate video game trade in a subsequent period. | 25 |
| 1217DB | Use of losses in later periods | |
| (1) | This section applies to the following accounting periods of the company ("relevant later periods")— (a) the completion period, and (b) any subsequent accounting period during which the separate video game trade continues. | 30 |
| (2) | Subsection (3) applies if a loss made in the separate video game trade is carried forward under section 45 of CTA 2010 from a precompletion period to a relevant later period. | |
| (3) | So much (if any) of the loss as is not attributable to video games tax relief (see subsection (6)) may be treated for the purposes of loss relief as if it were a loss made in the period to which it is carried forward. | 35 |
| (4) | Subsection (5) applies if in a relevant later period a loss is made in the separate video game trade. | 40 |
| | | |

The amount of the loss that may be –

- deducted from total profits of the same or an earlier period under section 37 of CTA 2010, or
- surrendered as group relief under Part 5 of that Act,

10

15

20

25

30

is restricted to the amount (if any) that is not attributable to video games tax relief (see subsection (6)).

- (6) The amount of a loss in any period that is attributable to video games tax relief is calculated by deducting from the total amount of the loss the amount there would have been if there had been no additional deduction under Chapter 3 in that or any earlier period.
- (7) This section does not apply to a loss to the extent that it is carried forward or surrendered under section 1217DC.

1217DC Terminal losses

- (1) This section applies if
 - (a) a company ("company A") is the video games development company in relation to a qualifying video game,
 - (b) company A ceases to carry on its separate trade in relation to that video game ("trade X") (see section 1217B), and
 - (c) if company A had not ceased to carry on trade X, it could have carried forward an amount under section 45 of CTA 2010 to be set against profits of trade X in a later period ("the terminal loss").
- (2) If on cessation of trade X company A
 - (a) is the video games development company in relation to another qualifying video game, and
 - (b) is carrying on its separate trade in relation to that video game ("trade Y"),

it may (on making a claim) make an election under subsection (3).

- (3) The election is to have the terminal loss (or a part of it) treated as if it were a loss brought forward under section 45 of CTA 2010 to be set against the profits of trade Y in the first accounting period beginning after the cessation and so on.
- (4) Subsection (5) applies if on cessation of trade X
 - (a) there is another company ("company B") that is the video games development company in relation to a qualifying video game,
 - (b) company B is carrying on its separate trade in relation to that video game ("trade Z"), and
 - (c) company B is in the same group as company A for the purposes of Part 5 of CTA 2010 (group relief).
- (5) Company A may surrender the terminal loss (or a part of it) to company B.
- (6) On the making of a claim by company B the amount surrendered is treated as if it were a loss brought forward by company B under section 45 of CTA 2010 to be set against the profits of trade Z of the first accounting period of that company beginning after the cessation and so on.
- (7) The Treasury may, in relation to the surrender of a loss under subsection (5) and the resulting claim under subsection (6), make provision by regulations corresponding, subject to such adaptations or other modifications as appear to them to be appropriate, to that

made by Part 8 of Schedule 18 to FA 1998 (company tax returns: claims for group relief).

(8) "Qualifying video game" means a video game in relation to which the conditions for video games tax relief are met (see 1217C(2)).

CHAPTER 5

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

PROVISIONAL ENTITLEMENT TO RELIEF

1217E Introduction

(1) In this Chapter –

"the company" means the video games development company in relation to a video game,

"the completion period" means the accounting period of the company —

- (a) in which the video game is completed, or
- (b) if the company does not complete the video game, in which it abandons video game development activities in relation to it,

"interim accounting period" means any earlier accounting period of the company during which video game development activities are carried on in relation to the video game,

"interim certificate" and "final certificate" have the meaning given by section 1217CC,

"the separate video game trade" means the company's separate trade in relation to the video game (see section 1217B), and

"special video games relief" means -

- (a) video games tax relief, or
- (b) relief under section 1217DC (transfer of terminal losses from one video game to another).
- (2) The company's company tax return for the completion period must state that the video game has been completed or that the company has abandoned video game development activities in relation to it (as the case may be).

1217EA Certification as a British video game

- (1) The company is not entitled to special video games relief for an interim accounting period unless its company tax return for the period is accompanied by an interim certificate.
- (2) If an interim certificate ceases to be in force (otherwise than on being superseded by a final certificate) or is revoked, the company
 - (a) is not entitled to special video games relief for any period for which its entitlement depended on the certificate, and
 - (b) must amend accordingly its company tax return for any such period.
- (3) If the video game is completed by the company
 - (a) its company tax return for the completion period must be accompanied by a final certificate,

Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 16 – Tax relief for video games development Part 1 – Amendments of CTA 2009

| | (b) | | requirement is met, the final certificate has effect for mpletion period and for any interim accounting period, | |
|-----------------|------------|------------------------------|---|----|
| | (c) | | requirement is not met, the company — is not entitled to special video games relief for any period, and | 5 |
| | | (ii) | must amend accordingly its company tax return for any period for which such relief was claimed. | |
| (4) | | | ny abandons video game development activities in video game — | 10 |
| | (a) | | npany tax return for the completion period may be panied by an interim certificate, and | |
| | (b) | the aba | andonment of video game development activities does ect any entitlement to special video games relief in that previous accounting period. | 15 |
| (5) | If a fin | al certif | icate is revoked, the company — | |
| | (a) | is not and | entitled to special video games relief for any period, | |
| | (b) | | amend accordingly its company tax return for any for which such relief was claimed. | 20 |
| 1217EB 7 | Γhe UK | expend | liture condition | |
| (1) | | | is not entitled to special video games relief for an nting period unless— | |
| | (a) | its con planne | npany tax return for the period states the amount of ed core expenditure on the video game that is UK liture, and | 25 |
| | (b) | 1217CI | nount is such as to indicate that the condition in section E (the UK expenditure condition) will be met on etion of the video game. | |
| | | e requir | rements are met, the company is provisionally treated hat period as if that condition was met. | 30 |
| (2) | | ion will | ement is made but it subsequently appears that the l not be met on completion of the video game, the | |
| | (a) | is not e | entitled to special video games relief for any period for its entitlement depended on such a statement, and | 35 |
| | (b) | | mend accordingly its company tax return for any such | |
| (3) | game compa | develop ny's co panied | eo game is completed or the company abandons video ment activities in relation to it (as the case may be), the mpany tax return for the completion period must be by a final statement of the amount of core expenditure game that is UK expenditure. | 40 |
| (4) | | ne comp is not | ent shows that the condition in section 1217CE is not eany— entitled to special video games relief for any period, | 45 |
| | | and | | |

must amend accordingly its company tax return for any period for which such relief was claimed.

1217EC Time limit for amendments and assessments

Any amendment or assessment necessary to give effect to the provisions of this Chapter may be made despite any limitation on the time within which an amendment or assessment may normally be made."

5

Part 2

COMMENCEMENT

- 2 (1) Any power conferred on the Secretary of State or the Treasury by virtue of this Schedule to make regulations or an order comes into force on the day on which this Act is passed.
 - (2) So far as not already brought into force by sub-paragraph (1), the amendments made by this Schedule come into force in accordance with provision contained in an order made by the Treasury.

15

10

- (3) An order under sub-paragraph (2)
 - may make different provision for different purposes;
 - may make such adaptations of Part 15B of CTA 2009 as appear to be necessary or expedient in consequence of other provisions of this Act not yet having come into force.

20

- 3 (1) The amendments made by this Schedule have effect in relation to accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2013.
 - (2) Sub-paragraph (3) applies where a company has an accounting period beginning before 1 April 2013 and ending on or after that date ("the straddling period").

25

- (3) For the purposes of Part 15B of CTA 2009
 - so much of the straddling period as falls before 1 April 2013, and so much of that period as falls on or after that date, are treated as separate accounting periods, and
 - any amounts brought into account for the purposes of calculating for corporation tax purposes the profits of any trade of the company for the straddling period are apportioned to the two separate accounting periods on such basis as is just and reasonable.

30

SCHEDULE 17

Section 35

TELEVISION AND VIDEO GAMES TAX RELIEF: CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS

35

ICTA

- 1 (1) Section 826 of ICTA (interest on tax overpaid) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1), after paragraph (f) insert
 - "(fa) a payment of television tax credit falls to be made to a company; or

Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 17 - Television and video games tax relief: consequential amendments

297

| | (fb) a payment of video game tax credit falls to be made to a company; or". |
|---------|--|
| (3) | In subsection (3C), after "film tax credit" insert ", television tax credit or video game tax credit". |
| (4) | In subsection (8A)(b)(ii), after "film tax credit" insert "or television tax credit or video game tax credit". |
| (5) | In subsection (8BA), after "film tax credit" (in both places) insert "or television tax credit or video game tax credit". |
| FA 1998 | |
| 2 | Schedule 18 to FA 1998 (company tax returns, assessments and related matters) is amended as follows. |
| 3 (1) | Paragraph 10 (other claims and elections to be included in return) is amended as follows. |
| (2) | In sub-paragraph (4), for "film tax relief" substitute "tax relief under Part 15, 15A or 15B of the Corporation Tax Act 2009". |
| (3) | After sub-paragraph (5) insert — |
| | "(6) An election under section 1216AE(7) of the Corporation Tax Act 2009 (election not to be a television production company) can only be made by being included in a company tax return (see section 1216AE(8)(a) of that Act). |
| | (7) An election under section 1217AB(6) of the Corporation Tax Act 2009 (election not to be a video games development company) can only be made by being included in a company tax return (see section 1217AB(7)(a) of that Act)." |
| 4 (1) | Paragraph 52 (recovery of excessive overpayments etc) is amended as follows. |
| (2) | In sub-paragraph (2), after paragraph (bd) insert— "(be) television tax credit under Part 15A of that Act, (bf) video game tax credit under Part 15B of that Act,". |
| (3) | In sub-paragraph (5) — (a) after paragraph (af) insert — "(ag) an amount of television tax credit paid to a company for an accounting period, (ah) an amount of video game tax credit paid to a company for an accounting period,"; |
| | (b) after "(ae)" insert ", (ag), (ah)". |
| 5 (1) | Part 9D (claims for film tax relief) is amended as follows. |
| (2) | In paragraph 83S (introduction), for "film tax relief" substitute "the following reliefs — (a) film tax relief, |
| | (a) film tax relief,(b) television tax relief, |

(c) video games tax relief."

(3) The heading of that Part becomes "CLAIMS FOR TAX RELIEF UNDER PART 15, 15A OR 15B OF THE CORPORATION TAX ACT 2009".

CAA 2001

- In Schedule A1 to CAA 2001 (first-year tax credits), in paragraph 11(4), omit the "and" at the end of paragraph (b) and after paragraph (c) insert—
- 5

10

- "(d) Chapter 3 of Part 15A of that Act (television tax credits), and
- (e) Chapter 3 of Part 15B of that Act (video game tax credits)."

FA 2007

- In Schedule 24 to FA 2007 (penalties for errors), in paragraph 28(fa) (meaning of "corporation tax credit"), omit the "or" at the end of subparagraph (iv) and after that sub-paragraph insert—
 - "(iva) a television tax credit under Chapter 3 of Part 15A of that Act,
 - (ivb) a video game tax credit under Chapter 3 of Part 15B of that Act, or".

CTA 2009

8 In Chapter 6A of Part 3 of CTA 2009 (trade profits: R&D expenditure credits), after section 104B insert –

"104BA Restriction on claiming other tax reliefs

20

25

35

40

- (1) For provision prohibiting an R&D expenditure credit being given under this Chapter and relief being given under Chapter 3 of Part 15 (film tax relief), see section 1195(3A).
- (2) For provision prohibiting an R&D expenditure credit being given under this Chapter and relief being given under Chapter 3 of Part 15A (television tax relief), see section 1216C(4).
- (3) For provision prohibiting an R&D expenditure credit being given under this Chapter and relief being given under Chapter 3 of Part 15B (video games tax relief), see section 1217C(4)."
- 9 In Part 8 of CTA 2009 (intangible fixed assets), in Chapter 10 (excluded assets), after section 808 insert –

"808A Assets representing production expenditure on certain TV programmes

- (1) This Part does not apply to an intangible fixed asset held by a television production company so far as it represents production expenditure on a television programme to which Chapter 2 of Part 15A (taxation of activities of television production company) applies.
- (2) In this section—
 - (a) "television programme" has the same meaning as in Part 15A (see section 1216AA),
 - (b) "television production company" has the same meaning as in that Part (see section 1216AE), and

Schedule 17 - Television and video games tax relief: consequential amendments

Finance (No. 2) Bill 299

> "production expenditure" has the same meaning as in that Part (see section 1216AG(2)).

808B Assets representing core expenditure on video games

- This Part does not apply to an intangible fixed asset held by a video games development company so far as it represents core expenditure on a video game to which Chapter 2 of Part 15B (taxation of activities of video games development company) applies.
- (2)In this section –
 - "video game" has the same meaning as in Part 15B (see section 1217AA),

"video games development company" has the same meaning as in that Part (see section 1217AB), and

- "core expenditure" has the same meaning as in that Part (see section 1217AD)."
- 10 In Part 13 of CTA 2009 (additional relief for expenditure on research and development), after section 1040 insert -

"1040ZA Restriction on claiming other tax reliefs

- For provision prohibiting relief being given under this Part and under Chapter 3 of Part 15 (film tax relief), see section 1195(3A).
- For provision prohibiting relief being given under this Part and 20 under Chapter 3 of Part 15A (television tax relief), see section 1216C(4).
- For provision prohibiting relief being given under this Part and under Chapter 3 of Part 15B (video games tax relief), see section 1217C(4)."
- 11 Part 15 of CTA 2009 (film tax relief) is amended as follows.
- 12 In section 1195 (availability and overview of film tax relief), after subsection (3) insert –
 - But film tax relief is not available in respect of any expenditure if
 - the company is entitled to an R&D expenditure credit under Chapter 6A of Part 3 in respect of the expenditure, or
 - the company has obtained relief under Part 13 (additional relief for expenditure on research and development) in respect of the expenditure."
- (1) Section 1206 (confidentiality of information) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1), for the words from "Schedule 1" to the end substitute "any of the provisions listed in subsection (1A)".
 - (3) After subsection (1) insert
 - The provisions referred to in subsection (1) are
 - sections 1216CB to 1216CD (certification of relevant programmes as British),
 - sections 1217CB to 1217CD (certification of video games as British), and

10

5

15

25

30

35

- Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 17 - Television and video games tax relief: consequential amendments Schedule 1 to the Films Act 1985 (certification of films as British)." (4) In subsection (2), for "UK Film Council" substitute "British Film Institute". (5) After that subsection insert – "(2A) 5 The Treasury may by order amend subsection (2) – so as to substitute for the person or body specified in that subsection a different person or body, or in consequence of a change in the name of the person or body so specified." (6) In subsection (3) – 10 in paragraph (a), for the words from "Schedule 1" to the end substitute "any of the provisions listed in subsection (1A)"; in paragraph (d), for "that Schedule or this Part" substitute "any of (b) Parts 15 to 15B of this Act or Schedule 1 to the Films Act 1985". (1) In section 1310 of CTA 2009 (orders and regulations), subsection (4) is 14 15 amended as follows. (2) Omit the "or" at the end of paragraph (e) and after that paragraph insert section 1216AF(3) (meaning of "television production activities" etc), (eb) section 1216AH(3) (meaning of "UK expenditure" etc), 20 section 1216CE(2) (UK expenditure), (ec) section 1216CF(4) (additional deduction for qualifying (ed) expenditure), section 1216CG(3) (amount of additional deduction), (ee) section 1217AC(2) (meaning of "video games development (ef) 25 activities" etc), section 1217AE(3) (meaning of "UK expenditure" etc), (eg) section 1217CE(2) (UK expenditure), (eh) section 1217CF(4) (additional deduction for qualifying (ei) expenditure), 30 section 1217CG(3) (amount of additional deduction),". (1) Schedule 4 to CTA 2009 (index of defined expressions) is amended as 15 follows. (2) At the appropriate place insert —
 - "the company (in section 1216E(1)"; 35 Chapter 5 of Part 15A) "company tax return (in section 1216AJ"; Part 15A) "the completion period section 1216E(1)"; (in Chapter 5 of Part 15A) 40 "co-producer section 1216AI"; (in Part 15A)

| "core expenditure (in Part 15A) | section 1216AG(3)"; | |
|--|---------------------|----|
| "costs of the relevant programme (in Chapter 2 of Part 15A) | section 1216BC"; | 5 |
| "final certificate (in Chapter 5 of Part 15A) | section 1216CC"; | |
| "income from the relevant programme (in Chapter 2 of Part 15A) | section 1216BB"; | 10 |
| "interim accounting period (in Chapter 5 of Part 15A) | section 1216E(1)"; | |
| "interim certificate (in Chapter 5 of Part 15A) | section 1216CC"; | 15 |
| "principal photography (in Part 15A) | section 1216AF(2)"; | |
| "production expenditure (in Part 15A) | section 1216AG(2)"; | |
| "qualifying co- production (in Part 15A) | section 1216AI"; | 20 |
| "qualifying expenditure (in Chapter 3 of Part 15A) | section 1216CF(3)"; | |
| "relevant programme (in Part 15A) | section 1216AB"; | 25 |
| "the separate programme trade (in Chapters 2, 3 and 5 of Part 15A) | section 1216B(3)"; | |
| "special television relief (in Chapter 5 of Part 15A) | section 1216E(1)"; | 30 |
| "television production activities (in Part 15A) | section 1216AF"; | |
| "television production company (in Part 15A) | section 1216AE"; | |
| "television programme (in Part 15A) | section 1216AA"; | 35 |
| "television tax relief (in Part 15A) | section 1216C(2)"; | |
| "UK expenditure (in Part 15A) | section 1216AH". | 40 |

(3) At the appropriate place insert –

| "the company (in Chapter 5 of Part 15B) | section 1217E(1)"; | |
|---|---------------------|----|
| "company tax return (in Part 15B) | section 1217AF"; | 5 |
| "the completion period (in Chapter 5 of Part 15B) | section 1217E(1)"; | |
| "core expenditure (in Part 15B) | section 1217AD"; | |
| "costs of the video game (in Chapter 2 of Part 15B) | section 1217BC"; | 10 |
| "final certificate (in Chapter 5 of Part 15B) | section 1217CC"; | |
| "income from the video game (in Chapter 2 of Part 15B) | section 1217BB"; | 15 |
| "interim accounting period (in Chapter 5 of Part 15B) | section 1217E(1)"; | |
| "interim certificate (in Chapter 5 of Part 15B) | section 1217CC"; | 20 |
| "qualifying expenditure (in Chapter 3 of Part 15B) | section 1217CF(3)"; | |
| "the separate video game trade (in Chapters 2, 3 and 5 of Part 15B) | section 1217B(3)"; | 25 |
| "special video games relief (in Chapter 5 of Part 15B) | section 1217E(1)"; | |
| "UK expenditure (in Part 15B) | section 1217AE"; | 30 |
| "video game (in Part 15B) | section 1217AA"; | |
| "video games development activities (in Part 15B) | section 1217AC"; | 35 |
| "video games development (in Part 15B) | section 1217AB"; | |
| "video games tax relief (in Part 15B) | section 1217C(2)". | 40 |

Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 17 - Television and video games tax relief: consequential amendments

303

| $\Gamma \Lambda$ | 20 | α |
|------------------|------|----------|
| FA | - 70 | 109 |

16 In Schedule 54A to FA 2009 (further provision as to late payment interest and repayment interest), in paragraph 2(2), omit the "or" at the end of paragraph (d) and after paragraph (e) insert a payment of television tax credit under Chapter 3 of Part 5 15 of CTA 2009 for an accounting period, or a payment of video game tax credit under Chapter 3 of Part 15B of CTA 2009 for an accounting period." CTA 2010 17 Part 8A of CTA 2010 (profits arising from the exploitation of patents etc) is 10 amended as follows. 18 (1) Section 357CG (adjustments in calculating profits of trade) is amended as follows. (2) In subsection (3), omit the "and" at the end of paragraph (a) and after 15 paragraph (b) insert – the amount of any additional deduction for the accounting "(c) period obtained by the company under Part 15A of CTA 2009 in respect of qualifying expenditure on a television programme, and the amount of any additional deduction for the accounting 20 period obtained by the company under Part 15B of CTA 2009 in respect of qualifying expenditure on a video game." (3) After subsection (5) insert – "(5A) In a case where the company is – 25 a television production company in relation to a television programme, or a video games development company in relation to a (ii)video game, and (b) there is a shortfall in qualifying expenditure in relation to the 30 separate programme trade or (as the case may be) the separate video game trade for a relevant accounting period (see section 357CHA), the amount of qualifying expenditure brought into account in calculating the profits of the trade for that accounting period is to be 35 increased by the amount mentioned in section 357CHA(2)." (4) In subsection (6) – for "subsection (5)" substitute "subsections (5) and (5A)"; before the definition of "R&D expenditure" insert –

""qualifying expenditure" -

in relation to a company that is a television production company, has the same meaning as in Chapter 3 of Part 15A of CTA 2009, and in relation to a company that is a video games development company, has the same meaning

as in Chapter 3 of Part 15B of that Act,";

40

19

Schedule 17 - Television and video games tax relief: consequential amendments omit the "and" before the definition of "research and development"; (d) after that definition insert — ""the separate programme trade", in relation to a television production company, has the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of Part 15A of CTA 2009 (see 5 section 1216B), "the separate video game trade", in relation to a video games development company, has the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of Part 15B of CTA 2009 (see section 10 1217B), "television production company" has the same meaning as in Part 15A of CTA 2009 (see section 1216AE), and "video games development company" has the same meaning as in Part 15B of CTA 2009 (see section 1217AB)." 15 After section 357CH insert – "357CHA Shortfall in qualifying expenditure There is a shortfall in qualifying expenditure in relation to the separate programme trade of a television production company or (as the case may be) the separate video game trade of a video games 20 development company for a relevant accounting period if the actual qualifying expenditure of the trade for the accounting period (as adjusted under subsections (8) to (11)) is less than 75% of the average amount of qualifying expenditure. The amount that is to be added to the actual qualifying expenditure 25 for the purposes of section 357CG(5A) is an amount equal to the difference between – 75% of the average amount of qualifying expenditure, and the actual qualifying expenditure, as adjusted under 30 subsections (8) to (11). In this section – the "actual qualifying expenditure" of a trade of a company for an accounting period is the amount of qualifying expenditure that (ignoring section 357CG(5A)) is brought into account in calculating the profits of the trade for the 35 accounting period, and the following terms have the meaning given by section 357CG(6) -"qualifying expenditure", "relevant accounting period", 40 "the separate programme trade", "the separate video game trade", "television production company", "video games development company".

(4) The average amount of qualifying expenditure is—

 $\frac{E}{N} \times 365$

where -

Finance (No. 2) Bill 305

| | E is the amount of qualifying expenditure that — | |
|-----|---|----|
| | (a) has been incurred by the company during the relevant period, and | |
| | (b) has been brought into account in calculating the profits of the trade for any accounting period ending before the first relevant accounting period, and N is the number of days in the relevant period. | 5 |
| (5) | The relevant period is the shorter of — | |
| | (a) the period of 4 years ending immediately before the first relevant accounting period, and(b) the period beginning with the day on which the company begins to carry on the trade and ending immediately before the first relevant accounting period. | 10 |
| (6) | For a relevant accounting period of less than 12 months, the average amount of qualifying expenditure is proportionately reduced. | 15 |
| (7) | Subsections (8) to (11) apply for the purposes of determining— (a) whether there is a shortfall in qualifying expenditure for a relevant accounting period, and (b) if there is such a shortfall, the amount to be added by virtue of subsection (2). | 20 |
| (8) | If the amount of the actual qualifying expenditure for a relevant accounting period is greater than the average amount of qualifying expenditure, the difference between the two amounts is to be added to the actual qualifying expenditure for the next relevant accounting period. | 25 |
| (9) | If— | |
| | (a) there is not a shortfall in qualifying expenditure for a relevant accounting period, but | |
| | (b) in the absence of any additional amount, there would be a shortfall in qualifying expenditure for that accounting period, | 30 |
| | the remaining portion of the additional amount is to be added to the actual qualifying expenditure for the next relevant accounting period. | |
| 10) | For the purposes of this section — | 35 |
| | "additional amount", in relation to a relevant accounting period, means any amount added to the actual qualifying expenditure for that accounting period by virtue of subsection (8), (9) or (11), and | |
| | "the remaining portion" of an additional amount is so much of that amount as exceeds the difference between — | 40 |
| | (a) the actual qualifying expenditure for the relevant accounting period in the absence of the additional amount, and | |
| | (b) 75% of the average amount of qualifying expenditure. | 45 |
| 11) | If— | |
| | (a) there is not a shortfall in qualifying expenditure for a relevant accounting period, and | |

| | | | (b) | there would not be a shortfall in qualifying expenditure for that accounting period in the absence of any additional amount, | |
|------|-------|-----------------|------------------------|---|----|
| | | | expend | Iditional amount is to be added to the actual qualifying diture for the next relevant accounting period (in addition to Iditional amount so added by virtue of subsection (8))." | 5 |
| 20 | (1) | Section follows | | (deductions that are not routine deductions) is amended as | |
| | (2) | In subs | section "(e) (f) | (1), at the end insert — subsection (7A) (television production expenditure), subsection (7B) (video games development expenditure)." | 10 |
| | (3) | After s | ubsecti | on (7) insert – | |
| | | "(7A) | Head 5 | 5 is— | |
| | | | (a) | the amount of any qualifying expenditure on a television programme for which an additional deduction for the accounting period is obtained by the company under Part 15A of CTA 2009, and | 15 |
| | | | (b) | the amount of that additional deduction. | |
| | | (7B) | Head 6 | | |
| | | | (a) (b) | the amount of any qualifying expenditure on a video game for which an additional deduction for the accounting period is obtained by the company under Part 15B of CTA 2009, and the amount of that additional deduction." | 20 |
| Cons | equer | ıtial ren | umberir | 18 | |
| 21 | (1) | Section (a) (b) | section | and 1218 of CTA 2009 are renumbered as follows— n 1217 becomes section 1218A, and n 1218 becomes section 1218B. | 25 |
| | (2) | | n 1218E sectior | n 985(3), | 30 |
| | | | section section | n 999(4), n 1000(3), n 1013(3), and n 1021(3). | |
| | (3) | In Sche | | to CTA 2009 — | 35 |
| | | (a) | "sectio | entry for "company with investment business (in Part 16)", for on 1218(1) and (2)" substitute "section 1218B(1) and (2)", and entry for "investment business in a company (in Part 16)", for | |
| | | (b) | | on 1218(3)" substitute "section 1218B(3)". | |
| | (4) | In secti | ion 18 c | of CAA 2001, for "section 1218" substitute "section 1218B". | 40 |
| | | | | | |

Commencement

22 (1) The amendments made by this Schedule come into force in accordance with provision contained in an order made by the Treasury.

Schedule 17 - Television and video games tax relief: consequential amendments

Finance (No. 2) Bill 307

- (2) An order under sub-paragraph (1)
 - may make different provision for different purposes;
 - may make such adaptations of provisions of this Schedule brought into force as appear to be necessary or expedient in consequence of other provisions of this Act not yet having come into force.

(1) The amendments made by this Schedule have effect in relation to accounting 23 periods beginning on or after 1 April 2013.

(2) For provision about the case where a company has an accounting period beginning before 1 April 2013 and ending on or after that date, see paragraph 3(3) of Schedule 15 or (as the case may be) Schedule 16.

SCHEDULE 18

Section 38

REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUSTS: UK REITS WHICH INVEST IN OTHER UK REITS

- Part 12 of CTA 2010 (real estate investment trusts) is amended as follows. 1
- 2 (1) Section 530 (condition as to distribution of profits) is amended as follows.
 - (2) For subsection (1) substitute –

15

5

10

- In the case of a group UK REIT, the condition in this section is met in relation to an accounting period if –
 - so much of the group's UK profits arising in the period as are UK REIT investment profits (see section 549A), and
 - (b) at least 90% of the rest of the group's UK profits arising in the period,

are distributed by the principal company of the group on or before the filing date for the principal company's tax return for the period (see paragraph 14 of Schedule 18 to FA 1998)."

(3) For subsection (4) substitute –

25

30

20

- In the case of a company UK REIT, the condition in this section is met in relation to an accounting period if
 - so much of the profits of the company's property rental business arising in the period as are UK REIT investment profits (see section 549A), and

at least 90% of the rest of the profits of the company's property rental business arising in the period,

are distributed on or before the filing date for the company's tax return for the period (see paragraph 14 of Schedule 18 to FA 1998).

- (4A) For the purposes of subsection (4) profits of the company's property 35 rental business are to be calculated in accordance with section 599."
- 3 (1) Section 530A (condition as to distribution of profits: increase in profits after delivery of tax return) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (2) for "530(1)(c)" substitute "530(1)".
 - (3) In subsection (6) for "530(4)(b)" substitute "530(4)".

- (4) After subsection (9) insert
 - "(10) This section cannot be relied upon to satisfy the requirement of section 530(1)(a) or (4)(a)."
- 4 (1) Section 531 (conditions as to balance of business) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (5)(b) after "cash" insert "or relevant UK REIT shares".

- (3) In subsection (6)(b) after "cash" insert "and relevant UK REIT shares".
- (4) After subsection (8) insert
 - "(9) In this section "relevant UK REIT shares" means
 - (a) in the case of a group UK REIT, shares held by a member of the group in the principal company of another group UK REIT or in a company UK REIT, and

10

- (b) in the case of a company UK REIT, shares held by the company in the principal company of a group UK REIT or in another company UK REIT."
- In section 548 (distributions: liability to tax) in subsections (1) and (3) after "distribution" insert "(other than one falling within section 549A(5) or (7))".

15

- In section 549 (distributions: supplementary) in subsection (3)(a) and (b) after "distribution" insert "(other than one falling within section 549A(5) or (7))".
- 7 After section 549 insert –

20

"549A Distributions from one UK REIT to another UK REIT

(1) If a company receives a distribution falling within subsection (5) or (7), the distribution is to be treated as profits of a property rental business carried on by the company in the United Kingdom.

Such profits are referred to in this Part as "UK REIT investment profits".

25

30

- (2) The property rental business mentioned in subsection (1) is to be treated as separate from any other property rental business of the company.
- (3) References to profits of property rental business or UK property rental business are to be read as including UK REIT investment profits accordingly, including where the profits referred to are otherwise profits calculated in accordance with international accounting standards or section 599.
- (4) Section 549(2) and (2A) applies in relation to distributions falling within subsection (5) or (7) as it applies in relation to relevant distributions.
- (5) A distribution falls within this subsection if
 - (a) it is made by the principal company of a group UK REIT to a shareholder of the company which is —

- (i) a member of another group UK REIT, or
- (ii) a company UK REIT, and

Schedule 18 - Real estate investment trusts: UK REITs which invest in other UK REITs

Finance (No. 2) Bill 309

| | (b) it is a distribution of amounts shown in the financial statements under section 532(2)(a) (statement of group's property rental business) as — (i) profits or gains (or both) of UK members of the group, or (ii) profits or gains (or both) of UK property rental business of non-UK members of the group. | 5 |
|----|---|----|
| | (6) In subsection (5) the reference to a distribution made by the principal company includes a reference to a distribution made by the principal company of the post-cessation group. | 10 |
| | (7) A distribution falls within this subsection if — (a) it is made by a company UK REIT to a shareholder of the company which is — (i) a member of a group UK REIT, or (ii) another company UK REIT, and (b) it is a distribution in respect of profits or gains (or both) of property rental business of the company. | 15 |
| | (8) In subsection (7) the reference to a distribution made by a company UK REIT includes a reference to a distribution made by the post-cessation company." | 20 |
| 8 | In section 550 (attribution of distributions) in subsection (2) — (a) for paragraph (a) substitute — "(a) first, to distributions in satisfaction of the requirement of section 530(1)(a) or 530(4)(a) (as the case may be), (aa) second, to distributions in satisfaction of the requirement of section 530(1)(b) or 530(4)(b) (as the case may be),", | 25 |
| | (b) in paragraph (b) for "second" substitute "third",(c) in paragraph (c) for "third" substitute "fourth",(d) in paragraph (d) for "fourth" substitute "fifth", and(e) in paragraph (e) for "fifth" substitute "sixth". | 30 |
| 9 | In section 588 (joint ventures: effect of notice under section 586) after subsection (6) insert — | |
| | "(7) Subsections (3) to (6) apply (in particular) for the purpose of interpreting section 549A(5)(a)(i) and (7)(a)(i)." | 35 |
| 10 | In section 589 (joint ventures: effect of notice under section 587) after subsection (6) insert — | |
| | "(7) Subsections (3) to (6) apply (in particular) for the purpose of interpreting section 549A(5)(a)(i) and (7)(a)(i)." | |
| 11 | In section 605 (property rental business: exclusion of business producing listed income) after subsection (1) insert — | 40 |
| | "(1A) But see section 549A which treats income falling within class 7 of the table as profits of property rental business." | |
| 12 | In Chapter 18 of Part 15 of ITA 2007 (deduction of income tax at source) in sections 973 and 974 (which relate to distributions made by UK REITs) after | 45 |

| subsection (| 6) insert – |
|--------------|-------------|
|--------------|-------------|

- "(7) In relation to references to profits of property rental business, see section 549A of CTA 2010."
- 13 (1) The amendments made by paragraph 4 above have effect for accounting periods beginning on or after the day on which this Act is passed.

5

- (2) The amendment made by paragraph 7 above has effect in relation to distributions as follows
 - (a) in the case of a distribution received by a member of a group UK REIT, the amendment has effect if the distribution is received in an accounting period of the principal company of the group beginning on or after the day on which this Act is passed, and

10

(b) in the case of a distribution received by a company UK REIT, the amendment has effect if the distribution is received in an accounting period of the company beginning on or after the day on which this Act is passed,

15

and the other amendments made by this Schedule have effect accordingly.

SCHEDULE 19

Section 41

TAX MISMATCH SCHEMES

1 CTA 2010 is amended in accordance with paragraphs 2 to 4.

20

In section 1(4) (overview of Act), after paragraph (j) insert — "(ja) tax mismatch schemes (see Part 21BA),".

3 After Part 21B insert –

"PART 21BA

TAX MISMATCH SCHEMES

938O Losses and profits from tax mismatch scheme to be disregarded

25

- (1) This section applies to a company that is (at any time) a party to a tax mismatch scheme.
- (2) No scheme loss or profit made by the company in any accounting period in relation to the scheme is to be brought into account as a debit or credit for the purposes of Part 5 of CTA 2009 (loan relationships) or Part 7 of that Act (derivative contracts).

30

35

- (3) An amount that would, apart from this section, be brought into account for the purposes of Part 5 or 7 of that Act as respects any matter—
 - (a) is treated, for the purposes of section 464(1) or (as the case may be) 699(1) of that Act (priority of Part 5 or 7 for corporation tax purposes), as if it were so brought into account, and
 - (b) accordingly, may not be brought into account for any other corporation tax purposes as respects that matter.

938P Meaning of "tax mismatch scheme"

- (1) A scheme is a tax mismatch scheme if condition A or B is met.
- (2) Condition A is that, at the time the scheme is entered into, there is no practical likelihood that the scheme will fail to secure a relevant tax advantage of £2 million or more.
- (3) The Treasury may by order substitute a higher amount for the amount for the time being specified in subsection (2).
- (4) Any such substitution is to have effect in relation to schemes entered into on or after the day on which the order comes into force.
- (5) Condition B is that—
 - (a) the purpose, or one of the main purposes, of the company in entering into the scheme is to obtain the chance of securing a relevant tax advantage (of any amount), and
 - (b) at the time the scheme is entered into
 - (i) there is no chance that the scheme will secure a relevant tax disadvantage, or
 - (ii) there is such a chance, but the expected value of the scheme is nevertheless a positive amount.
- (6) If, at the time the company enters into the scheme, there are chances that the scheme would, if carried out, secure different relevant tax advantages or disadvantages in different circumstances, the amounts and probabilities of each must be taken into account in determining the expected value of the scheme.
- (7) In determining whether condition A or B is met, it is to be assumed that the parties to the scheme carry it out.
- (8) Where, at the time the scheme is entered into, the length of the scheme period is uncertain, condition A or B is met if it would be met on any reasonable assumption as to the length of the scheme period.
- (9) In determining whether condition A or B is met, section 938O (scheme profits and losses to be left out of account) is to be disregarded.

938Q Meaning of "scheme loss" and "scheme profit"

- (1) A loss or profit made by a company in an accounting period is a "scheme loss" or "scheme profit" in relation to a tax mismatch scheme if the loss or profit—
 - (a) arises from a transaction, or series of transactions, that forms part of the scheme,
 - is, or is comprised in, an amount that is brought into account as a debit or credit for the purposes of Part 5 or 7 of CTA 2009, and
 - (c) meets the first or second asymmetry condition.
- (2) The first asymmetry condition is that the loss or profit affects the amount of any relevant tax advantage secured by the scheme.
- (3) Where, at the end of the accounting period –

10

5

15

20

25

30

35

| | (a) | it is not certain whether the scheme will secure a relevant tax advantage, or | |
|--------|----------------------|--|----|
| | (b) | it is not certain what the amount of the relevant tax advantage secured by the scheme will be, | |
| | condit | or profit is to be treated as meeting the first asymmetry ion if, at that time, there is a chance that the scheme will secure vant tax advantage and that the loss or profit will affect its int. | 5 |
| (4) | Where | - | |
| | (a) | a loss or profit meets the conditions in subsection (1)(a) and (b), and | 10 |
| | (b) | a part, but not the whole, of the loss or profit meets the first asymmetry condition, | |
| | only to profit' | hat part of the loss or profit is a "scheme loss" or "scheme | 15 |
| (5) | | econd asymmetry condition is that the loss or profit — | |
| | (a) (b) | does not meet the first asymmetry condition, but arises from a transaction, or series of transactions, that might (if events had turned out differently) have given rise to a loss or profit that would have done so. | 20 |
| (6) | | ences in this section to a loss or profit include a loss or profit g in respect of interest or expenses. | |
| (7) | or seco | ermining whether the condition in subsection (1)(b) or the first and asymmetry condition is met, section 938O (scheme profits sees to be left out of account) is to be disregarded. | 25 |
| 938R M | 1 eaning | g of "relevant tax advantage" etc and "the scheme period" | |
| (1) | an eco | Part "relevant tax advantage", in relation to a scheme, means nomic profit that— | |
| | (a) (b) (c) | is made by the company over the scheme period, meets the condition in subsection (3), and is not negligible. | 30 |
| (2) | In this | s Part "relevant tax disadvantage", in relation to a scheme, s an economic loss that — | |
| | (a) | is made by the company over the scheme period, | |
| | (b) (c) | meets the condition in subsection (3), and is not negligible. | 35 |
| (3) | asymr | ondition is that the economic profit or loss arises as a result of metries in the way that the company brings, or does not bring, atts into account as debits and credits for the purposes of Part 5 ECTA 2009. | 40 |
| (4) | A refe (a) (b) | rence in this section to asymmetries includes, in particular — asymmetries relating to quantification, and asymmetries relating to timing. | |
| (5) | In this | section— | |
| | (a) | a reference to an economic profit includes an increase in an economic profit and a decrease in an economic loss, and | 45 |

10

15

20

25

30

35

45

- (b) a reference to an economic loss includes an increase in an economic loss and a decrease in an economic profit.
- (6) In this Part "the scheme period", in relation to a scheme, means the period during which the scheme has effect.

938S Meaning of references to economic profits and losses

- An economic profit or loss is to be computed for the purposes of this Part taking into account, in particular —
 - (a) profits and losses made as a result of the operation of the Corporation Tax Acts, and
 - (b) any adjustments required to reflect the time value of money.
- (2) In determining for the purposes of this Part the amount of an economic profit or loss made by the company over the scheme period, profits and losses made by the company are to be taken into account only to the extent that they are attributable to times at which the company is a party to the scheme.

938T Tax capacity assumption

- (1) This section applies for the purpose of determining whether a scheme will, or might, secure a relevant tax advantage.
- (2) The economic profits and losses made by the company over the scheme period must be calculated on the assumption that the company
 - (a) obtains the full tax benefit of any loss made by the company in relation to a loan relationship or a derivative contract during the period, and
 - (b) incurs the full tax cost of any profit made by the company in relation to a loan relationship or a derivative contract during the period.
- (3) The "full tax benefit" of a loss is the reduction in the liability of the company to corporation tax that would result if—
 - (a) the loss were brought into account as a debit or as a reduction in a credit for the purposes of Part 5 or 7 of CTA 2009, and
 - (b) the company's profits chargeable to corporation tax, disregarding the loss, were equal to the debit (or the reduction in the credit) determined by reference to the loss.
- (4) The "full tax cost" of a profit is the increase in the liability of the company to corporation tax that would result if—
 - (a) the profit were brought into account as a credit or as a reduction in a debit for the purposes of Part 5 or 7 of CTA 2009, and
 - (b) the company's profits chargeable to corporation tax, 40 disregarding the profit, were nil.

938U Meaning of "scheme"

In this Part "scheme" includes any scheme, arrangements or understanding of any kind whatever, whether or not legally enforceable, involving a single transaction or two or more transactions.

10

25

30

938V Priority

For the purposes of this Part the following provisions are to be treated as of no effect—

- (a) section 441 of CTA 2009 (loan relationships for unallowable purposes);
- (b) section 690 of that Act (derivative contracts for unallowable purposes);
- (c) Part 6 of TIOPA 2010 (tax arbitrage);
- (d) Part 7 of that Act (tax treatment of financing costs and income)."
- In Schedule 4 (index of defined expressions), at the appropriate places insert—

| "economic loss (in Part 21BA) | section 938S" | |
|---|----------------|----|
| "economic profit (in Part 21BA) | section 938S" | |
| "relevant tax advantage (in Part 21BA) | section 938R" | 15 |
| "relevant tax disadvantage (in Part 21BA) | section 938R" | |
| "scheme (in Part 21BA) | section 938U" | |
| "scheme loss (in Part 21BA) | section 938Q" | |
| "the scheme period (in Part 21BA) | section 938R" | |
| "scheme profit (in Part 21BA) | section 938Q". | 20 |
| "a tax mismatch scheme (in Part 21BA) | section 938P". | |

- In section 231(8) of TIOPA 2010 (tax arbitrage: overview), for the words from "section" to the end substitute "sections 938N and 938V of CTA 2010 (this Part treated as of no effect for the purposes of Parts 21B and 21BA of CTA 2010 (group mismatch and tax mismatch schemes))."
- 6 (1) The amendments made by this Schedule have effect in relation to schemes entered into at any time (including any time before the commencement date).
 - (2) But section 938O in Part 21BA of CTA 2010 (as inserted by paragraph 3 of this Schedule) does not apply to—
 - (a) scheme losses or profits that relate to a time before the commencement date, or
 - (b) scheme profits that relate to a time on or after that date but are made in relation to a scheme entered into before that date.
 - (3) In this paragraph "the commencement date" means 5 December 2012.

SCHEDULE 20

Section 45

COMMUNITY AMATEUR SPORTS CLUBS

Introductory

1 Chapter 9 of Part 13 of CTA 2010 (community amateur sports clubs) is amended as follows.

5

Meaning of "open to the whole community"

- 2 (1) Section 659 (meaning of "open to the whole community") is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1), for paragraph (c) substitute
 - "(c) the costs associated with membership of the club for any year do not represent a significant obstacle to membership of the club, use of its facilities or full participation in its activities (see subsection (2A))."

10

- (3) After subsection (2) insert
 - "(2A) For the purposes of subsection (1)(c) the costs associated with membership of a club for any year represent a significant obstacle to membership of the club, use of its facilities or full participation in its activities if—

15

(a) those costs exceed the amount specified for the year for the purposes of this subsection in regulations made by the Treasury, and

20

- (b) the club has not made such arrangements as are necessary to secure that those costs do not represent such an obstacle.
- (2B) The Treasury may by regulations make provision supplementing subsection (2A), including—

25

- (a) provision as to what constitutes full participation in a club's activities;
- (b) provision as to costs that are, or are not, to be regarded as the costs associated with membership of a club;
- (c) provision about calculating the amount of the costs associated with membership of a club for any year.

30

35

- (2C) The provision that may be made by regulations under this section includes
 - (a) different provision for different purposes, and
 - (b) provision having effect in relation to times before the regulations are made.

(2D) Section 1171(4) (orders and regulations subject to negative resolution procedure) does not apply to any regulations made under this section if a draft of the statutory instrument containing them has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons."

- (4) For subsection (3) substitute
 - "(3) A club is not prevented from being "open to the whole community" for the purposes of section 658 merely because it charges different fees for different descriptions of person."

Meaning of "organised on an amateur basis"

- 5
- 3 (1) Section 660 (meaning of "organised on an amateur basis") is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1), omit the "and" after paragraph (b) and after that paragraph insert
 - "(ba) it does not exceed the limit on paid players (see subsection (5A)), and".
 - (3) In subsection (4)(g)
 - (a) after "travel" insert "or subsistence", and
 - (b) for "travelling to away matches" substitute "in connection with away matches".

15

- (4) After subsection (4) insert
 - "(4A) In subsection (4)(g) "subsistence expenses" means expenses on food, drink and temporary living accommodation."
- (5) After subsection (5) insert
 - "(5A) A club does not exceed the limit on paid players for the purposes of subsection (1) if
 - (a) the number of persons paid to play for the club does not at any time exceed the specified maximum,
 - (b) the number of such persons in any year does not exceed the specified maximum for that year,

25

20

- (c) the amount paid to any such person in any year in respect of activities undertaken for the club does not exceed the specified maximum for that year, and
- (d) the total amount paid to such persons in any year in respect of activities undertaken for the club does not exceed the specified maximum for that year.

30

35

"Specified" means specified in regulations made by the Treasury.

- (5B) The Treasury may by regulations make provision supplementing subsection (5A), including
 - (a) provision as when a person is, or is not, to be regarded as a person paid to play for a club, and
 - (b) provision about calculating for the purposes of subsection (5A) the amount paid to such a person."
- (6) After subsection (7) insert
 - "(8) The Treasury may by regulations make further provision as to when a club is "organised on an amateur basis" for the purposes of section 658.
 - (9) The provision that may be made by regulations under subsection (8) includes —

| nunity amateur sports clubs | edule 20 – Comm |
|--|------------------|
| (a) provision as to the conditions which a club must meet in order to be "organised on an amateur basis" for the purposes of section 658; | |
| (b) provision as to what are, or are not, to be regarded as "ordinary benefits of an amateur sports club" for the purposes of subsection (1); | |
| (c) provision about persons who are, or are not, to be regarded as guests of a member of a club for the purposes of subsection (1). | |
| Regulations made under subsection (8) may amend this section or make other amendments to this Chapter. | (10) |
| A statutory instrument that contains (whether alone or with other provisions) regulations under subsection (8) that amend this section or make other amendments to this Chapter may not be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons." | (11) |
| subsection (11) insert — | (7) After s |
| The provision that may be made by regulations under this section includes— (a) different provision for different purposes, and (b) provision having effect in relation to times before the regulations are made. | "(12) |
| Section 1171(4) (orders and regulations subject to negative resolution procedure) does not apply to any regulations made under this section if a draft of the statutory instrument containing them has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons." | (13) |
| mainly of social members | ıbs consisting 1 |
| tion 658 (meaning of "community amateur sports club"), in subsection c), for "section 661" substitute "sections 660A and 661". | |
| section 660 insert – | After s |
| Clubs consisting mainly of social members | "660A CI |
| A club is not to be regarded as a club that has as its main purpose the provision of facilities for, and the promotion of participation in, one or more eligible sports if the percentage of its members who are social members exceeds the percentage specified for the purposes of this section in regulations made by the Treasury. | (1) |
| A member is a "social member" for the purposes of this section if the member does not participate, or participates only occasionally, in the sporting activities of the club. | (2) |

The Treasury may by regulations make provision –

as to activities that are, or are not, to be regarded as "sporting activities" of a club;

| | | | | Schedule 20 – Community amateur sports clubs | |
|------|---------|-----------|-----------------------|---|----|
| | | | (b) | as to the circumstances in which a member of a club is, or is not, to be regarded as participating in the sporting activities of the club; | |
| | | | (c) | as to the circumstances in which a member of a club is, or is not, to be regarded as participating only occasionally in those activities. | 5 |
| | | (4) | The princlud | rovision that may be made by regulations under this section les— | |
| | | | (a) (b) | different provision for different purposes, and provision having effect in relation to times before the regulations are made. | 10 |
| | | (5) | proced section | n 1171(4) (orders and regulations subject to negative resolution dure) does not apply to any regulations made under this n if a draft of the statutory instrument containing them has laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of nons." | 15 |
| Exen | iptio | ns | | | |
| 6 | | In sect | tion 662 ction (5) | (exemption from corporation tax for UK trading income), after insert — | |
| | | "(5A) | | reasury may by order amend the figure for the time being ied as the relevant threshold in subsection (5)(a). | 20 |
| | | (5B) | that as made | utory instrument containing an order under subsection (5A) mends that figure so as to substitute a lower figure may not be unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before, and ved by a resolution of, the House of Commons." | 25 |
| 7 | | | | 3 (exemption from corporation tax for UK property income), on (5) insert – | |
| | | "(5A) | The T | reasury may by order amend the figure for the time being ied as the relevant threshold in subsection (5)(a). | |
| | | (5B) | that as made | utory instrument containing an order under subsection (5A) mends that figure so as to substitute a lower figure may not be unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before, and ved by a resolution of, the House of Commons." | 30 |
| Powe | er to s | specify i | псоте с | ondition | |
| 8 | (1) | registe | ered as inless it | may by regulations provide that a club is not entitled to be a community amateur sports club under section 658 of CTA meets one or more conditions relating to income received by | 35 |
| | (2) | | les, in p | n that may be made by regulations under this paragraph articular — sion restricting the amount of income, or income of a specified | 40 |
| | | (a) | | ption, that a community amateur sports club may receive for a | |
| | | (b) | | sion prohibiting such a club from receiving income of a lied description. | 45 |

40

| | , | o. 2) Bill 319 O — Community amateur sports clubs |
|------|-------|--|
| | | "Specified" means specified in the regulations. |
| | (3) | Regulations made under this paragraph may — (a) amend Chapter 9 of Part 13 of CTA 2010, (b) make different provision for different purposes, and (c) contain provision having effect in relation to times before the regulations are made or this Act is passed. |
| | (4) | A statutory instrument that contains (whether alone or with other provisions) regulations under this paragraph may not be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons. |
| Comr | nenc | cement |
| 9 | (1) | Any power conferred on the Treasury under or by virtue of this Schedule to make regulations or an order comes into force on the day on which this Act is passed (and may be exercised to make provision having effect in relation to times before this Act is passed). |
| | (2) | So far as not already brought into force by virtue of sub-paragraph (1), the amendments made by this Schedule come into force in accordance with provision contained in an order made by the Treasury. |
| | (3) | An order made under sub-paragraph (2) may – (a) provide for such amendments to be treated as having come into force on a date not earlier than 1 April 2010; (b) make transitional provision or savings. |
| 10 | (1) | In a case where a club that was registered as a community amateur sports club before the day on which this Act is passed ceases to be entitled to be registered as such by virtue of this Schedule, an officer of Revenue and Customs may not cancel the club's registration with effect from a date earlier than that day. |
| | (2) | But sub-paragraph (1) does not prevent the cancellation of the club's registration if the officer is satisfied that— (a) any information provided by a person ("P") at the time of registration was inaccurate, and (b) the inaccuracy was careless (within the meaning of paragraph 3 of Schedule 24 to FA 2007) or deliberate on P's part. |
| | | SCHEDULE 21 Section 47 |
| Tran | ISITI | IONAL PROVISION RELATING TO REDUCTION IN STANDARD LIFETIME ALLOWANCE ETC |
| | | Part 1 |
| | | "FIXED PROTECTION 2014" |

(1) This paragraph applies on or after 6 April 2014 in the case of an individual -

(a) who, on that date, has one or more arrangements under –

(i) a registered pension scheme, or

Schedule 21 - Transitional provision relating to reduction in standard lifetime allowance etc Part 1 - "Fixed protection 2014" a relieved non-UK pension scheme of which the individual is a relieved member, in relation to whom paragraph 7 of Schedule 36 to FA 2004 (primary protection) does not make provision for a lifetime allowance enhancement factor, 5 in relation to whom paragraph 12 of that Schedule (enhanced protection) does not apply on that date, and in whose case paragraph 14 of Schedule 18 to FA 2011 (transitional provision relating to new standard lifetime allowance for the tax year 2012-13) does not apply on that date, 10 if notice of intention to rely on it is given to an officer of Revenue and Customs. (2) Part 4 of FA 2004 has effect in relation to the individual as if the standard lifetime allowance were the greater of the standard lifetime allowance and £1,500,000. 15 (3) But this paragraph ceases to apply if on or after 6 April 2014 – there is benefit accrual in relation to the individual under an arrangement under a registered pension scheme, there is an impermissible transfer into any arrangement under a registered pension scheme relating to the individual, 20 a transfer of sums or assets held for the purposes of, or representing accrued rights under, any such arrangement is made that is not a permitted transfer, or an arrangement relating to the individual is made under a registered (d) pension scheme otherwise than in permitted circumstances. 25 (4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(a) there is benefit accrual in relation to the individual under an arrangement – in the case of a money purchase arrangement that is not a cash balance arrangement, if a relevant contribution is paid under the arrangement on or after 6 April 2014, 30 in the case of a cash balance arrangement or a defined benefits arrangement, if there is an increase in the value of the individual's rights under the arrangement at any time on or after that date (but subject to sub-paragraph (11)), and in the case of a hybrid arrangement – 35 where the benefits that may be provided to or in respect of the individual under the arrangement include money purchase benefits other than cash balance benefits, if a relevant contribution is paid under the arrangement on or after 6 April 2014, and 40 in any case, if there is an increase in the value of the individual's rights under the arrangement at any time on or after that date (but subject to sub-paragraph (11)). (5) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (4)(b) and (c)(ii) and (11) whether there is an increase in the value of the individual's rights under the arrangement 45 (and its amount if there is) is to be determined – in the case of a cash balance arrangement (or a hybrid arrangement under which cash balance benefits may be provided to or in respect

> of the individual under the arrangement), by reference to whether there is an increase in the amount that would, on the valuation

Finance (No. 2) Bill

321

5

45

Schedule 21 - Transitional provision relating to reduction in standard lifetime allowance etc

Part 1 - "Fixed protection 2014" assumptions, be available for the provision of benefits to or in respect of the member (and, if there is, the amount of the increase), and in the case of a defined benefits arrangement (or a hybrid arrangement under which defined benefits may be provided to or in respect of the individual under the arrangement), by reference to whether there is an increase in the benefits amount. (6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (5)(b) "the benefits amount" is – $(P \times RVF) + LS$ where – LS is the lump sum to which the individual would, on the valuation 10 assumptions, be entitled under the arrangement (otherwise than by commutation of pension); P is the annual rate of the pension which would, on the valuation assumptions, be payable to the individual under the arrangement; RVF is the relevant valuation factor. 15 (7) Paragraph 17A of Schedule 36 to FA 2004 (impermissible transfers) applies for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(b) but as if the references to a relevant existing arrangement were to the arrangement and the reference in subparagraph (2) to 5 April 2006 were to 5 April 2014. (8) Sub-paragraphs (7) to (8B) of paragraph 12 of Schedule 36 to FA 2004 (when 20 there is a permitted transfer) apply for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(c); and where there is a permitted transfer – if it is a permitted transfer by virtue of sub-paragraph (8)(a) of paragraph 12, this paragraph applies in relation to the arrangement to which the transfer is made, 25 if it is a permitted transfer by virtue of sub-paragraph (8)(b) of that paragraph, this paragraph applies in relation to the arrangement to which the transfer is made as if it were the same as that from which it is made, and if it is a permitted transfer by virtue of sub-paragraph (8)(c) of that 30 paragraph, this paragraph applies in relation to the arrangement to which the transfer is made as if it were the same as that from which it is made and (if the employment is transferred) as if the employment with the transferee were the employment with the transferor. 35 (9) Sub-paragraphs (2A) to (2C) of paragraph 12 of Schedule 36 to FA 2004 ("permitted circumstances") apply for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(d). (10) Paragraph 14 of Schedule 36 to FA 2004 (when a relevant contribution is paid under an arrangement) applies for the purposes of sub-paragraph (4)(a) and 40 (c)(i). (11) Increases in the value of the individual's rights under an arrangement are to be ignored for the purposes of sub-paragraph (4)(b) or (c)(ii) if in no tax year do they exceed the relevant percentage.

(12) The relevant percentage, in relation to a tax year, means—

where the arrangement (or a predecessor arrangement) includes provision for the value of the rights of the individual to increase during the tax year at an annual rate specified in the rules of the pension scheme (or a predecessor registered pension scheme) on 11 December 2012 –

- Schedule 21 Transitional provision relating to reduction in standard lifetime allowance etc Part 1 - "Fixed protection 2014" that percentage (or, where more than one arrangement (i) includes such provision, the higher or highest of the percentages specified), plus the relevant statutory increase percentage; (b) otherwise – 5 the percentage by which the consumer prices index for the (i) month of September in the previous tax year is higher than it was for the September before that (or nil per cent if it is not higher), or (ii) if higher, the relevant statutory increase percentage. 10 (13) In sub-paragraph (12)(a) – "predecessor arrangement", in relation to an arrangement, means another arrangement (under the same or another registered pension scheme) from which some or all of the sums or assets held for the purposes of the arrangement directly or indirectly derive; 15 "predecessor registered pension scheme", in relation to a pension scheme, means another registered pension scheme from which some or all of the sums or assets held for the purposes of the arrangement under the pension scheme directly or indirectly derive. (14) In sub-paragraph (12) "the relevant statutory increase percentage", in 20 relation to a tax year, means the percentage increase in the value of the individual's rights under the arrangement during the tax year so far as it is attributable solely to one or more of the following an increase in accordance with section 15 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 or section 11 of the Pension Schemes (Northern Ireland) Act 25 1993 (increase of guaranteed minimum where commencement of guaranteed minimum pension postponed); a revaluation in accordance with section 16 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 or section 12 of the Pension Schemes (Northern Ireland) Act 1993 (early leavers: revaluation of earnings factors); 30 a revaluation in accordance with Chapter 2 of Part 4 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 or the Pension Schemes (Northern Ireland) Act 1993 (early leavers: revaluation of accrued benefits); a revaluation in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 4 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 or the Pension Schemes (Northern Ireland) Act 35 1993 (early leavers: protection of increases in guaranteed minimum pensions); the application of section 67 of the Equality Act 2010 (sex equality rule for occupational pension schemes). 40 (15) Sub-paragraph (16) applies in relation to a tax year if the arrangement is a defined benefits arrangement which is under an annuity contract treated as a registered pension scheme under section 153(8) of FA 2004,
 - (b) the contract provides for the value of the rights of the individual to be increased during the tax year at an annual rate specified in the contract, and(c) the contract limits the annual rate to the percentage increase in the
 - (c) the contract limits the annual rate to the percentage increase in the retail prices index over a 12 month period specified in the contract.
- (16) Sub-paragraph (12)(b)(i) applies as if it referred instead to the annual rate of the increase in the value of the rights during the tax year.

Finance (No. 2) Bill
Schedule 21 — Transitional provision relating to reduction in standard lifetime allowance etc

Part 1 – "Fixed protection 2014"

(17) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (15)(c) the 12 month period must end during the 12 month period preceding the month in which the increase in the value of the rights occurs.

323

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

- (18) Subject to sub-paragraphs (19) to (21), sub-paragraph (3) applies in relation to an individual who is a relieved member of a relieved non-UK pension scheme as if the relieved non-UK pension scheme were a registered pension scheme; and the other sub-paragraphs of this paragraph apply accordingly.
- (19) Sub-paragraphs (20) and (21) apply for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(a) (instead of sub-paragraph (4)) in determining if there is benefit accrual in relation to an individual under an arrangement under a relieved non-UK pension scheme of which the individual is a relieved member.
- (20) There is benefit accrual in relation to the individual under the arrangement if there is a pension input amount under sections 230 to 237 of FA 2004 (as applied by Schedule 34 to that Act) greater than nil in respect of the arrangement for a tax year; and, in such a case, the benefit accrual is treated as occurring at the end of the tax year.
- (21) There is also benefit accrual in relation to the individual under the arrangement if
 - (a) in a tax year there occurs a benefit crystallisation event in relation to the individual (whether in relation to the arrangement or to any other arrangement under any pension scheme or otherwise), and
 - (b) had the tax year ended immediately before the benefit crystallisation event, there would have been a pension input amount under sections 230 to 237 of FA 2004 greater than nil in respect of the arrangement for the tax year,

and, in such a case, the benefit accrual is treated as occurring immediately before the benefit crystallisation event.

- (22) Expressions used in this paragraph and Part 4 of FA 2004 (pension schemes) have the same meaning in this paragraph as in that Part.
- (23) In particular, references to a relieved non-UK pension scheme or a relieved member of such a scheme are to be read in accordance with paragraphs 13(3) and (4) and 18 of Schedule 34 to FA 2004 (application of lifetime allowance charge provisions to members of overseas pension schemes).
- 2 (1) The Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs may by regulations amend paragraph 1.
 - (2) Regulations under this paragraph may (for example) add to the cases in which paragraph 1 is to apply or is to cease to apply.
 - (3) Regulations under this paragraph may include provision having effect in relation to a time before the regulations are made; but—
 - (a) the time must be no earlier than 6 April 2014, and
 - (b) the provision must not increase any person's liability to tax.
- 3 (1) The Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs may by regulations make provision specifying how any notice required to be given to an officer of Revenue and Customs under paragraph 1 is to be given.
 - (2) In sub-paragraph (1) the reference to paragraph 1 is to that paragraph as amended from time to time by regulations under paragraph 2.

10

15

20

25

30

35

- 4 (1) Regulations under paragraph 2 or 3 may include supplementary or incidental provision.
 - (2) The powers to make regulations under paragraphs 2 and 3 are exercisable by statutory instrument.
 - (3) A statutory instrument containing regulations under paragraph 2 or 3 is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the House of Commons.

Part 2

OTHER PROVISION

- 5 Part 4 of FA 2004 (pension schemes) is amended as follows.
- 6 (1) Section 218 (standard lifetime allowance etc) is amended as follows.
 - (2) After subsection (5B) insert
 - Where the operation of a lifetime allowance enhancement factor is provided for by any of sections 220, 222, 223 and 224 and the time mentioned in the definition of SLA in the section concerned fell within the period consisting of the tax year 2012-13 and the tax year 2013-14, subsection (4) has effect as if the amount to be multiplied by LAEF were £1,500,000 if that is greater than SLA.
 - (5BB) Where more than one lifetime allowance enhancement factor operates, subsection (5BA) does not apply if subsection (5A) or (5B) applies."
 - (3) After subsection (5C) insert
 - "(5D) Where benefit crystallisation event 7 occurs on or after 6 April 2014 by reason of the payment of a relevant lump sum death benefit in respect of the death of the individual during the period consisting of the tax year 2012-13 and the tax year 2013-14, the standard lifetime allowance at the time of the benefit crystallisation event is £1,500,000."
 - (4) The amendments made by this paragraph have effect for the tax year 2014-15 and subsequent tax years.
- (1) In section 219 (availability of individual's lifetime allowance) after subsection (5) insert –
 - If paragraph 7 of Schedule 36 (primary protection) makes provision for a lifetime allowance enhancement factor in relation to the individual, subsection (5) has effect as if CSLA were £1,500,000 if that is greater than CSLA."
 - (2) The amendment made by this paragraph has effect for cases in which the time of the current benefit crystallisation event falls on or after 6 April 2014.
- 8 (1) Part 1 of Schedule 29 (authorised lump sums: lump sum rule) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In paragraph 2 (which applies for the purpose of determining pension 40

Finance (No. 2) Bill

Part 2 – Other provision

| commencement lump sums |) after sub-paragraph | (8) | insert - |
|------------------------|-----------------------|-----|----------|
|------------------------|-----------------------|-----|----------|

- "(9) Sub-paragraph (10) applies if the member is a protected individual (but not if this paragraph applies with the modifications set out in paragraph 27 or 28 of Schedule 36).
- (10) Sub-paragraphs (6) and (7) have effect as if CSLA were £1,500,000 if that is greater than CSLA.
- (11) The member is a "protected individual" if
 - (a) paragraph 7 of Schedule 36 (primary protection) makes provision for a lifetime allowance enhancement factor in relation to the member, or
 - (b) at the time the member becomes entitled to the lump sum, paragraph 12 of that Schedule (enhanced protection) applies in relation to the member."
- (3) The amendment made by sub-paragraph (2) has effect for cases in which the member becomes entitled to the lump sum on or after 6 April 2014.
- (4) In paragraph 8 (which applies for the purpose of determining trivial commutation lump sums) for sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) substitute—
 - "(2) The adjustment referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) is the multiplication of the value of the member's relevant crystallised pension rights on 5 April 2006 by —

 $\frac{\text{CL}}{15,000}$

where CL is the commutation limit on the nominated date.

(3) The adjustment referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b) is the multiplication of the amount crystallised by a previous benefit crystallisation event by —

 $\frac{\text{CL}}{\text{BCL}}$

where-

CL is the commutation limit on the nominated date, and BCL is the commutation limit when the previous benefit crystallisation event occurred."

(5) The amendment made by sub-paragraph (4) has effect for cases in which the nominated date falls on or after 6 April 2014.

SCHEDULE 22

Section 54

325

5

10

15

20

25

30

EMPLOYEE SHAREHOLDER SHARES

Part 1

35

INCOME TAX TREATMENT OF EMPLOYEE SHAREHOLDER SHARES

- 1 ITEPA 2003 is amended in accordance with paragraphs 2 to 15.
- 2 In section 19(2) (time of receipt of non-money earnings), at the appropriate

| - 1 | | | |
|-------|------|----------|--|
| n | 200 | insert- | |
| ν | lace | IIISCI t | |

"section 226A (amount treated as earnings: employee shareholder shares)."

3 In Chapter 12 of Part 3, after section 226 insert –

"Shares of employee shareholders

5

226A Amount treated as earnings

- (1) This section applies if shares having a market value of no less than £2000 are acquired by an employee in consideration of an employee shareholder agreement.
- (2) An amount calculated in accordance with subsection (3) is to be treated as earnings from the employment, in respect of the acquisition of the shares, for the tax year in which they are acquired. But this is subject to subsection (4).
- (3) The amount is—

MV - P

15

10

where -

- (a) MV is an amount equal to the market value of the shares;
- (b) P is any payment the employee is treated as making for the shares under section 226B.

But if P exceeds MV, the amount is nil.

20

- (4) If the shares are acquired pursuant to an employment-related securities option, subsection (2) does not apply.
- (5) If subsection (2) applies, nothing else constitutes earnings under this Part from the employment in respect of the acquisition of the shares.
- (6) For the purposes of this section and sections 226B to 226D –

25

30

35

40

- shares are "acquired" by an employee if the employee becomes beneficially entitled to them (and they are acquired at the time when the employee becomes so entitled);
- "employee shareholder agreement" means an agreement by virtue of which an employee is an employee shareholder (see section 205A(1)(a) to (c) of the Employment Rights Act 1996);
- "employee shareholder share" means a share acquired by an employee in consideration of an employee shareholder agreement;
- "employee" and "employer company", in relation to an employee shareholder agreement, mean the individual and the company which enter into the agreement;
- "employment-related securities option" has the same meaning as in Chapter 5 of Part 7 (see section 471(5));
- "market value" has the same meaning as it has for the purposes of TCGA 1992 by virtue of Part 8 of that Act; and the market value of shares is their market value on the day on which they are acquired (but see also subsection (7)).
- (7) For the purposes of subsection (1), the market value of the shares is to be determined ignoring —

Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 22 – Employee shareholder shares

Part 1 – Income tax treatment of employee shareholder shares

(a) any election under section 431 (election for market value of restricted shares to be calculated as if not restricted), and

327

5

10

15

20

25

30

40

(b) section 437 (market value of convertible securities to be determined as if not convertible).

226B Deemed payment for employee shareholder shares

- (1) This section applies if shares having a market value of no less than £2000 are acquired by an employee in consideration of an employee shareholder agreement.
- (2) Where all the shares acquired in consideration of the agreement are acquired on the same day, the employee is to be treated, for the purposes of this Act, as having made on that day a payment of £2000 for those shares.
- (3) Where
 - (a) shares are acquired by the employee in consideration of the agreement on more than one day, and
 - (b) of those shares, shares having a market value of not less than £2000 are acquired on the first of those days,

the employee is to be treated for the purposes of this Act as having made, on the first of those days, a payment of £2000 for the shares acquired on that day.

- (4) If the market value of the shares acquired by the employee on the day mentioned in subsection (2) or (3)(b) exceeds £2000, the amount of the payment under subsection (2) or (3) which the employee is to be treated as having made for each of the shares is an amount equal to the appropriate proportion of the market value of that share.
- (5) The "appropriate proportion" is the following $-\frac{2000}{V}$

where V is the total market value of the shares acquired by the employee on the day.

- (6) This section is subject to—
 - (a) section 226C (only one payment deemed to be made under agreements with associated companies), and
 - (b) section 226D (no deemed payment if shareholder or a connected person has a material interest in the company).
- (7) Except as provided by this section, for the purposes of this Act the employee is to be treated as having given no consideration for shares acquired in consideration of the agreement.
- (8) Section 226A(7) applies for the purposes of this section as it applies for the purposes of section 226A(1).

226C Only one payment deemed to be made under associated agreements

(1) An employee who is treated as having made a payment under section 226B for shares acquired in consideration of an employee shareholder agreement ("the relevant agreement") is not to be treated as having made a payment for any other qualifying shares.

| | Part 1 – Income tax treatment of employee shareholder shares | |
|---------|--|----------|
| (2) | "Qualifying shares" means employee shareholder shares in — (a) the employer company in relation to the relevant agreement, or | |
| | (b) an associated company of that company, which are acquired by the employee in consideration of an agreement within subsection (3). | 5 |
| (3) | An agreement is within this subsection if it is – (a) another employee shareholder agreement with the same employer company, or (b) an employee shareholder agreement with an associated company of that company. | 10 |
| (4) | For the purposes of this section— (a) a company is an "associated company" of another if— (i) one of the two has control of the other, or (ii) both are under the control of the same person or | 15 |
| | persons, and (b) if a company controls another when an employee shareholder agreement is entered into with the employee, paragraph (a) applies as if that continued to be the case (in addition to any other circumstances) when any subsequent employee shareholder agreement is entered into with that employee. | 20 |
| (5) | But subsection (4)(b) does not apply as between two companies if— (a) one of the companies has been dissolved, (b) the period of two years beginning with the date of the dissolution has passed, and (c) the employee has not, at any time in that period, been engaged in any office or employment (including engagement under a contract for services) with any company which is an associated company of the dissolved company. | 25 30 |
| (6) | In this section "control" is to be read in accordance with sections 450 and 451 of CTA 2010. | |
| 226D Sh | areholder or connected person having material interest in company | |
| (1) | No payment is treated as made under section 226B in respect of any shares if, on the date on which the shares are acquired— (a) the employee has a material interest in the employer company or a relevant parent undertaking, or | 35 |
| | (b) the employee is connected with an individual who has a material interest in the employer company or a relevant parent undertaking. | 40 |
| (2) | No payment is treated as made under section 226B in respect of any shares if — | |
| | (a) at any time in the period of one year ending with the date on which the shares are acquired, the employee had a material interest in the employer company or a relevant parent undertaking, or | 45 |
| | (b) on the date on which the shares are acquired, the employee is | |

connected with an individual who, at any time in the period

10

15

25

30

35

40

45

of one year ending with that date, had a material interest in the employer company or a relevant parent undertaking.

| (3) | Subsections (4) and (5) define "material interest" for the purposes of |
|-----|--|
| | this section. |
| | Those subsections must be read together with subsections (6) to (8). |

- (4) An individual ("A") has a material interest in a company if at least 25% of the voting rights in the company are exercisable
 - (a) by A,
 - (b) by persons connected with A, or
 - (c) by A and persons connected with A together.
- (5) If a company is a close company, an individual ("A") has a material interest in it if
 - (a) A,
 - (b) persons connected with A, or
 - (c) A and persons connected with A together, possess such rights as would, in the event of the winding up of the company or in any other circumstances, give an entitlement to receive at least 25% of the assets that would then be available for distribution among the participators.
- (6) For the purposes of subsection (1), A is to be treated as having a material interest in a company at any time if either of the following conditions is met.
- (7) The first condition is that—
 - (a) A,
 - (b) persons connected with A, or
 - (c) A and persons connected with A together, have an entitlement to acquire such rights as would (together with any existing rights) give A a material interest in the company.
- (8) The second condition is that there are arrangements in place between
 - (a) the employer company or a relevant parent undertaking, and
 - (b) A, or persons connected with A, or A and persons connected with A together,

which enable A or those persons to acquire such rights as would (together with any existing rights) give A a material interest in the company.

- (9) In this section—
 - "arrangements" includes any agreement, understanding, scheme, transaction or series of transactions (whether or not legally enforceable);

"close company" includes a company that would be a close company but for—

- (a) section 442(a) of CTA 2010 (exclusion of companies not resident in the United Kingdom), or
- (b) sections 446 and 447 of CTA 2010 (exclusion of certain quoted companies);

| | "relevant parent undertaking" means any parent undertaking of the employer company and for this purpose "parent undertaking" is to be read in accordance with section 1162 of the Companies Act 2006." | |
|----|--|----------|
| 4 | In consequence of the amendment made by paragraph 3 – (a) in the heading to Chapter 12 of Part 3, for "PAYMENTS" substitute "OTHER AMOUNTS", and (b) before section 221 insert the heading "Payments". | 5 |
| 5 | In section 428 (restricted securities: amount of charge on occurrence of chargeable event), in subsection (7), after paragraph (b) insert— "(ba) any amount treated as earnings from the employee's employment under section 226A (employee shareholder shares: amount treated as earnings) in respect of the acquisition of the employment-related securities (other than an amount of exempt income),". | 10 15 |
| 6 | In section 431 (election for full or partial disapplication of Chapter 2 (restricted securities)), in subsection (3), after paragraph (a) insert— "(aa) determining any amount that is to be treated as earnings from the employment where section 226A applies (employee shareholder shares: amount treated as earnings),". | 20 |
| 7 | In section 437 (convertible securities: adjustment of charge), in subsection (1)(a), after "charge)" insert ", section 226A (employee shareholder shares: amount treated as earnings)". | |
| 8 | In section 446B (charge on acquisition of securities with artificially depressed market value), in subsection (4), after paragraph (b) insert — "(ba) section 226A (employee shareholder shares: amount treated as earnings),". | 25 |
| 9 | In section 446T (securities acquired for less than market value: amount of notional loan), in subsection (3), after paragraph (b) insert— "(ba) any amount treated as earnings from the employee's employment under section 226A (employee shareholder shares: amount treated as earnings) in respect of the acquisition of the employment-related securities (other than an amount of exempt income),". | 30 |
| 10 | In section 446V (Chapter 3C to be additional to other income tax charges), after paragraph (b) insert— "(ba) section 226A (employee shareholder shares: amount treated as earnings),". | 35 |
| 11 | In section 452 (shares in research institution spin-out companies: market value on acquisition), in subsection (2), after paragraph (a) insert— "(aa) determining any amount that is to be treated as earnings from the employment under section 226A (employee shareholder shares: amount treated as earnings),". | 40 |
| 12 | In section 479 (securities options: amount of gain realised on chargeable event), after subsection (3) insert — | 45 |

"(3A) Sections 226B to 226D (deemed payment for acquisition of employee

shareholder shares) provide for the determination of the amount of

10

15

25

30

35

40

| consideration, | if | any, | which | is | given | for | employee | shareholder |
|----------------|-----|-------|---------|-----|---------|------|----------|-------------|
| shares (within | the | e mea | ning of | sec | tion 22 | 6A(6 | 5))." | |

- In section 531 (enterprise management incentives: limitation of charge where shares acquired below market value), after subsection (3) insert—
 - "(3A) Sections 226B to 226D (deemed payment for acquisition of employee shareholder shares) provide for the determination of the amount, if any, for which employee shareholder shares (within the meaning of section 226A(6)) are acquired."
- 14 (1) Section 532 (enterprise management incentives: consequences after disqualifying events) is amended as follows.
 - (2) After subsection (4) insert
 - "(4A) Sections 226B to 226D (deemed payment for acquisition of employee shareholder shares) provide for the determination of the amount, if any, for which employee shareholder shares (within the meaning of section 226A(6)) are acquired."
 - (3) In subsection (5), for "those subsections" substitute "subsections (2) and (3)".
- In section 554N (exclusions: other cases involving employment-related securities etc), in subsection (7)(b), after "Part 3" insert ", or an amount treated under section 226A as earnings of A,".
- In Chapter 3 of Part 4 of ITTOIA 2005 (tax on dividends etc from UK companies), after section 385 insert —

"Purchase by company of exempt employee shareholder shares

385A No charge to tax on purchase by company of exempt employee shareholder shares

- (1) No tax is charged under this Chapter on the amount or value of a payment made by a company on the purchase of shares from an individual if—
 - (a) the payment is made in respect of shares in the company,
 - (b) the shares are exempt employee shareholder shares, and
 - (c) at the time of the disposal, the individual is not an employee of, or an office-holder in, the employer company or an associated company of that company.
- (2) In this section
 - "exempt employee shareholder share", "employer company" and "associated company" have the same meaning as in sections 236B to 236D of TCGA 1992 (capital gains tax treatment of employee shareholder shares);
 - "in respect of shares in the company" has the same meaning as in Part 23 of CTA 2010 (company distributions) (see section 1113 of that Act)."

Part 2

CAPITAL GAINS TAX EXEMPTION FOR EMPLOYEE SHAREHOLDER SHARES

- 17 TCGA 1992 is amended as follows.
- In section 58(2) (spouses and civil partners: disposals excepted from the 18 usual rule) –
- 5

- (a) omit "or" at the end of paragraph (a), and
- after paragraph (b) insert ", or
 - (c) if the disposal is of exempt employee shareholder shares (see sections 236B to 236D),".
- 19 (1) Section 149AA (restricted and convertible employment-related securities) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1) for "Where" substitute "Subject to subsection (1A), where".
 - (3) After that subsection insert
 - Where an individual has acquired an asset consisting of shares "(1A) which, on acquisition, became employee shareholder shares –

15

10

- the consideration for the acquisition is (subject to section 119A) to be taken to be equal to any amount that constituted earnings under Chapter 1 of Part 3 of ITEPA 2003 (earnings) or section 226A of that Act (employee shareholder shares),
- 20
- (b) no other consideration is to be treated as having been given for the acquisition of the shares."
- (4) In subsection (2)
 - for "Subsection (1) above applies" substitute "Subsections (1) and (1A) apply", and
- 25

- for "is" substitute "are".
- (5) After subsection (6) insert
 - For the purposes of subsection (1A) "(6A)

"employee shareholder share" has the meaning given in section 236B(3) (exemption for employee shareholder shares), and

shares are "acquired" by an individual if the individual becomes beneficially entitled to them (and they are so

acquired at the time when the individual becomes so entitled)."

(6) In subsection (7) –

35

- for "In subsection (1) the" substitute "In subsections (1) and (1A) a",
- after "ITEPA 2003" insert "or was treated as earnings under section 226A of that Act".
- (7) Accordingly, in the heading for that section, after "securities" insert "and 40 employee shareholder shares".

20 After section 236A insert –

23

(ii)

persons, and

| | "Employee shareholders | |
|---------|---|----|
| 236B Ex | emption for employee shareholder shares | |
| (1) | A gain which accrues on the first disposal of an exempt employee shareholder share is not a chargeable gain. | 5 |
| (2) | A share is an exempt employee shareholder share if it is— (a) an employee shareholder share, and (b) exempt in accordance with sections 236C and 236D. | |
| (3) | In this section and sections 236C to 236G — shares are "acquired" by an employee if the employee becomes beneficially entitled to them (and they are acquired at the time when the employee becomes so entitled); | 10 |
| | "employee shareholder share" means a share acquired in consideration of an employee shareholder agreement and held by the employee; "employee shareholder agreement" means an agreement by virtue of which an employee is an employee shareholder (see | 15 |
| | section 205A(1)(a) to (c) of the Employment Rights Act 1996); "employee" and "employer company", in relation to an employee shareholder agreement, mean the individual and the company which enter into the agreement. | 20 |
| 236C Or | aly first £50,000 of shares under associated agreements to be exempt | |
| (1) | An employee shareholder share acquired in consideration of an employee shareholder agreement ("the relevant agreement") is exempt for the purposes of section 236B only if, immediately after its acquisition, the total value of qualifying shares which have been acquired by the employee does not exceed £50,000. | 25 |
| (2) | "Qualifying share" means an employee shareholder share in— (a) the employer company in relation to the relevant agreement, or | 30 |
| | (b) an associated company of that company, which is acquired by the employee in consideration of an agreement within subsection (3). | |
| (3) | An agreement is within this subsection if it is – (a) the relevant agreement, (b) another employee shareholder agreement with the same employer company, or (c) an employee shareholder agreement with an associated | 35 |
| | company of that company. | |
| (4) | For the purposes of this section — (a) a company is an "associated company" of another if — (i) one of the two has control of the other, or | 40 |

both are under the control of the same person or

- (b) if a company controls another when an employee shareholder agreement is entered into with the employee, paragraph (a) applies as if that continued to be the case (in addition to any other circumstances) when any subsequent employee shareholder agreement is entered into with that employee.
- 5
- (5) But subsection (4)(b) does not apply as between two companies if
 - (a) one of the companies has been dissolved,
 - (b) the period of two years beginning with the date of the dissolution has passed, and

15

- (c) the employee has not, at any time in that period, been engaged in any office or employment (including engagement under a contract for services) with any company which is an associated company of the dissolved company.
- (6) If a number of qualifying shares are acquired by an employee on a day and
 - ve been
 - (a) before that day, the value of qualifying shares that have been acquired by the employee does not exceed £50,000, and
 - (b) at the end of that day, that value does exceed that sum, the appropriate proportion of the shares (rounded down, if necessary, to the nearest share) is to be treated for the purposes of subsection (1) as having been acquired separately and before the others.
- (7) The "appropriate proportion" is the following $\frac{50000 B}{T}$

25

30

where -

B is the value of qualifying shares acquired before the day; T is the total value of qualifying shares acquired on the day.

- (8) For the purposes of this section, the value of a share (at any time) is its unrestricted market value at the time when it was acquired by the employee.
- (9) The unrestricted market value of a share when it is acquired by an employee is what the market value of the share would be immediately after the acquisition, but for any restriction.

 For this purpose "restriction" has the meaning given by section 432(8) of ITEPA 2003 (restricted securities for the purposes of Chapter 2 of Part 7 of that Act).

236D Shares not exempt if shareholder or connected person has material interest in company

- (1) An employee shareholder share is not exempt for the purposes of section 236B if, on the date on which the share is acquired
 - (a) the employee has a material interest in the employer company or a relevant parent undertaking, or
 - (b) the employee is connected with an individual who has a material interest in the employer company or a relevant parent undertaking.

45

| (2) | | nployee shareholder share is not exempt for the purposes of a 236B if— | | | |
|-----|---------------------|---|----|--|--|
| | (a) | at any time in the period of one year ending with the date on which the share is acquired, the employee had a material interest in the employer company or a relevant parent undertaking, or | 5 | | |
| | (b) | on the date on which the share is acquired, the employee is connected with an individual who, at any time in the period of one year ending with that date, had a material interest in the employer company or a relevant parent undertaking. | 10 | | |
| (3) | this se | | | | |
| | THOSE | subsections must be read together with subsections (6) to (8). | | | |
| (4) | | dividual ("A") has a material interest in a company if at least f the voting rights in the company are exercisable — by A, | 15 | | |
| | ` ' | by persons connected with A, or by A and persons connected with A together. | | | |
| (5) | | mpany is a close company, an individual ("A") has a material st in it if — A, | 20 | | |
| | | persons connected with A, or | | | |
| | (c) | A and persons connected with A together, | | | |
| | compa receiv | as such rights as would, in the event of the winding up of the any or in any other circumstances, give an entitlement to e at least 25% of the assets that would then be available for oution among the participators. | 25 | | |
| (6) | mater | e purposes of subsection (1), A is to be treated as having a ial interest in a company at any time if either of the following ions is met. | 30 | | |
| (7) | The fir | rst condition is that— | | | |
| | (a) | | | | |
| | (b) | persons connected with A, or | | | |
| | (c) | A and persons connected with A together, an entitlement to acquire such rights as would (together with | 35 | | |
| | | sisting rights) give A a material interest in the company. | 55 | | |
| (8) | _ | econd condition is that there are arrangements in place | | | |
| | betwe (a) (b) | en — the employer company or a relevant parent undertaking, and A, or persons connected with A, or A and persons connected with A together, | 40 | | |
| | | enable A or those persons to acquire such rights as would her with any existing rights) give A a material interest in the | | | |
| (9) | In this | section – | 45 | | |

| | Part 2 – Capital gains tax exemption for employee shareholder shares | |
|---------|--|----|
| | "arrangements" includes any agreement, understanding, scheme, transaction or series of transactions (whether or not legally enforceable); | |
| | "close company" includes a company that would be a close company but for— | 5 |
| | (a) section 442(a) of CTA 2010 (exclusion of companies not resident in the United Kingdom), or | |
| | (b) sections 446 and 447 of CTA 2010 (exclusion of certain quoted companies); | |
| | "relevant parent undertaking" means any parent undertaking of the employer company and for this purpose "parent undertaking" is to be read in accordance with section 1162 of the Companies Act 2006. | 10 |
| 236E Id | entification of exempt employee shareholder shares | |
| (1) | Sections 104 (share pooling), 105 (disposal on or before acquisition) and 106A (identification of securities) do not apply to exempt employee shareholder shares. | 15 |
| (2) | Subsection (3) applies where— (a) an employee holds shares of the same class in a company, (b) some, but not all, of the shares are exempt employee | 20 |
| | shareholder shares, and (c) the employee disposes of some, but not all, of the shares in that holding. | |
| (3) | Where this subsection applies — (a) the employee may determine what proportion of the shares disposed of are to be treated as exempt employee shareholder shares (up to the number of such shares which the employee holds), and | 25 |
| | (b) the consideration received for the shares disposed of is to be apportioned accordingly. | 30 |
| (4) | For the purposes of this section shares in a company are not to be treated as being of the same class unless they are so treated by the practice of a recognised stock exchange or would be so treated if dealt with on a recognised stock exchange. | |
| | organisation of share capital involving employee shareholder ares | 35 |
| (1) | Section 127 (equation of original shares and new holding on reorganisation) does not apply to exempt employee shareholder shares. | |
| (2) | The reference in subsection (1) to section 127 includes that section as applied by sections 135 and 136 (other company reconstructions). | 40 |
| 236G Re | linquishment of employment rights is not disposal of an asset | |
| (1) | This section applies where an individual has acquired shares in consideration of entering into an employee shareholder agreement. | |

The individual is not to be regarded as disposing of an asset by reason of the individual ceasing to have, or not acquiring, the rights

mentioned in section 205A of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (rights which an employee shareholder does not have) in consequence of entering into the agreement."

PART 3

| | TAKI 5 | |
|----|--|----------|
| | CORPORATION TAX | 5 |
| 21 | CTA 2009 is amended as follows. | |
| 22 | In section 1005 (definitions), at the appropriate place insert— ""employee shareholder share" has the meaning given by section 226A(6) of ITEPA 2003,". | |
| 23 | (1) Section 1009 (relief for employee share acquisitions: employee's tax position) is amended as follows. | 10 |
| | (2) In subsection (2)(a), for "earnings within Chapter 1 of Part 3 of ITEPA 2003" substitute "relevant earnings". | |
| | (3) After subsection (2) insert – | |
| | "(2A) "Relevant earnings" means — (a) earnings within Chapter 1 of Part 3 of ITEPA 2003, and (b) any amount that is treated as earnings by virtue of section 226A of that Act (employee shareholder shares)." | 15 |
| | (4) After subsection (5) insert – | |
| | "(6) Where the shares are employee shareholder shares, this section is subject to section 1038B." | 20 |
| 24 | In section 1010(1) (acquisition of shares: relief if shares neither restricted nor convertible), after "section 1012" insert "and, in the case of employee shareholder shares, section 1038B". | |
| 25 | (1) Section 1011 (acquisition of shares: relief if shares are restricted or convertible) is amended as follows. | 25 |
| | (2) In subsections (2) and (3), for "earnings of the employee within Chapter 1 of Part 3 of ITEPA 2003" substitute "relevant earnings of the employee". | |
| | (3) For subsection (4) substitute – | |
| | "(4) For the purposes of subsections (2) and (3) "relevant earnings" means— (a) earnings within Chapter 1 of Part 3 of ITEPA 2003, and (b) any amount that is treated as earnings by virtue of section 226A of that Act (employee shareholder shares) (but see also section 1038B of this Act), except that it does not include any amount of exempt income (within the meaning of section 8 of ITEPA 2003)." | 30 35 |
| 26 | In section 1018(1) (acquisition of shares pursuant to option: relief if shares neither restricted nor convertible), after "section 1020" insert "and, in the | |

case of employee shareholder shares, section 1038B".

| 27 | In section 1019(1) (acquisition of shares pursuant to option: relief if shares are restricted or convertible), after "section 1020" insert "and, in the case of employee shareholder shares, section 1038B". | | | |
|----|--|----|--|--|
| 28 | In section 1022 (takeover of company whose shares are subject to option), after subsection (4) insert — | | | |
| | "(5) Where the shares are employee shareholder shares, this section is subject to section 1038B." | | | |
| 29 | In section 1026 (restricted shares: relief available on chargeable event), after subsection (4) insert — | | | |
| | "(5) Where the shares are employee shareholder shares, this section is subject to section 1038B." | 10 | | |
| 30 | In section 1027 (restricted shares: relief available on death of employee), after subsection (4) insert — | | | |
| | "(5) Where the shares are employee shareholder shares, this section is subject to section 1038B." | 15 | | |
| 31 | In section 1033 (convertible securities: relief available on chargeable event), after subsection (4) insert — | | | |
| | "(5) Where the shares are employee shareholder shares, this section is subject to section 1038B." | | | |
| 32 | In section 1034 (convertible securities: relief available following death of employee), after subsection (4) insert – | 20 | | |
| | "(5) Where the shares are employee shareholder shares, this section is subject to section 1038B." | | | |
| 33 | (1) At the end of Chapter 6 of Part 12 insert — | | | |
| | "1038B Employee shareholder shares | 25 | | |
| | For the purposes of this Part, any payment treated as made under section 226B of ITEPA 2003 (employee treated as paying £2000 for employee shareholder shares) in respect of the acquisition of shares is to be ignored when determining — | | | |
| | (a) whether a person is subject to a charge to tax under that Act,(b) the amount that counts (or would have counted) as employment income under that Act, or(c) the consideration given by a person in relation to the | 30 | | |
| | acquisition of the shares." | | | |
| | (2) Accordingly, in the heading for that Chapter, at the end insert "ETC". | 35 | | |
| 34 | In section 1292 (provision of qualifying benefits), after subsection (6) insert— | | | |
| | "(6ZA) In determining whether condition A or B is met, any payment treated as made under section 226B of ITEPA 2003 (deemed payment for employee shareholder shares) is to be ignored." | 40 | | |
| 35 | In section 1293 (timing and amount of certain qualifying benefits), after | | | |

Finance (No. 2) Bill 339 Schedule 22 - Employee shareholder shares Part 3 - Corporation tax subsection (5) insert – In determining for the purposes of subsections (3) and (5) the amount that is, or would be, charged to tax under ITEPA 2003, any payment treated as made under section 226B of that Act (deemed payment for employee shareholder shares) is to be ignored." 5 36 In Schedule 4 (index of definitions), at the appropriate place insert – "employee shareholder share (in Part section 226A(6) of ITEPA 2003 (see section 1005 of this Act)". 12) PART 4 10 **COMMENCEMENT** 37 The amendments made by this Schedule come into force in accordance with provision made by the Treasury by order made by statutory instrument. SCHEDULE 23 Section 63 EMI OPTIONS AND ENTREPRENEURS' RELIEF ETC Entrepreneurs' relief to apply to shares acquired under EMI option 15 1 (1) In Chapter 3 of Part 5 of TCGA 1992 (entrepreneurs' relief) section 169I (material disposal of business assets) is amended as follows. (2) In subsection (5) for "or B" substitute ", B, C or D". (3) After subsection (7) insert – "(7A) Condition C is that — 20 the assets disposed of are relevant EMI shares, the option grant date is, or is before, the first date of the period of 1 year ending with the date of the disposal, and throughout that period of 1 year – the company is either a trading company or the 25 holding company of a trading group, and the individual is an officer or employee of the company or (if the company is a member of a trading group) of one or more companies which are members of the trading group. 30 (7B) Condition D is that – the assets disposed of are relevant EMI shares acquired by the individual before the cessation date, the option grant date is, or is before, the first date of the period of 1 year ending with the cessation date, 35 the conditions in paragraph (c) of subsection (7A) are met

throughout that period of 1 year, and

| | Schedule 23 – EMI options and entrepreneurs' relief etc | |
|------|---|----------|
| | (d) the cessation date is within the period of 3 years ending with the date of the disposal. | |
| (7C) | In this section "relevant EMI shares" means – (a) shares of a company acquired by an individual to which subsection (7D) applies, or (b) shares of a company to which subsection (7F) applies. | 5 |
| (7D) | This subsection applies to shares of a company acquired by an individual if the individual — (a) acquires them on or after 6 April 2013, and (b) acquires them as a result of the exercise of a qualifying option within the meaning given by section 527(4) of ITEPA 2003 (enterprise management incentives) where the option is exercised on or before the tenth anniversary of the date mentioned in section 529(2) of that Act. | 10 |
| (7E) | Subsection (7D) does not apply to shares acquired as a result of the exercise of a qualifying option if — (a) a disqualifying event (see section 533 of ITEPA 2003) occurs in relation to the option before its exercise, and (b) it is exercised later than the period mentioned in section 532(1)(b) of ITEPA 2003. | 15 20 |
| (7F) | This subsection applies to shares of a company if — (a) the shares are the new holding in a case in which section 127 applies in relation to an individual, (b) the original shares in that case are relevant EMI shares (whether by virtue of subsection (7D) or this subsection), and (c) that case is one in which section 127 applies by virtue only of — (i) section 126, or (ii) subject to subsection (7G), section 135(3). | 25 |
| (7G) | Subsection (7F)(c)(ii) applies only if — (a) the exchange of shares in question is a qualifying exchange of shares as defined in paragraph 40 of Schedule 5 to ITEPA 2003, and | 30 |
| | (b) when the exchange occurs, the independence requirement (see paragraph 9 of Schedule 5 to ITEPA 2003) and the trading activities requirement (see paragraphs 13 and 14 of that Schedule) are met in relation to the new company (see paragraph 40(1)(a) of that Schedule). | 35 |
| (7H) | In this section "the original relevant EMI shares", in relation to shares which are relevant EMI shares by virtue of subsection (7F), means the shares originally acquired by the individual to which subsection (7D) applied. | 40 |
| (7I) | If the shares disposed of are relevant EMI shares by virtue of subsection (7F), in relation to times before the reorganisation mentioned in section 127, in subsection (7A)(c) references to the | 45 |

company are to be read as references to (if different) –

shares, or

(a) the company whose shares are the original relevant EMI

| | original relevant EMI shares were acquired— (i) the company whose shares are the original relevant | | | | |
|----------------|--|----|--|--|--|
| | EMI shares, or (ii) if at the time in question the individual is holding relevant EMI shares which are shares of another company, that other company. | 5 | | | |
| | This subsection is subject to subsection (7N). | | | | |
| (7J) | If the shares disposed of are relevant EMI shares by virtue of subsection (7F), the question of whether the requirement of subsection (7B)(a) is met is to be determined by reference to the date of the acquisition of the original relevant EMI shares. | 10 | | | |
| (7K) | Subject to what follows, in subsections (7A)(b) and (7B)(b) "the option grant date" means the date on which the qualifying option in question was granted. | | | | |
| (7L) | Subsections (7M) and (7N) apply if the qualifying option is a replacement option for the purposes of the EMI code (see paragraph 41 of Schedule 5 to ITEPA 2003). | | | | |
| (7M) | In subsections (7A)(b) and (7B)(b) "the option grant date" means – (a) the date on which the old option was granted, or (b) if the old option was also a replacement option, the date on which the earlier old option was granted, and so on. | 20 | | | |
| (53 T) | | | | | |
| (7N) | In relation to any time during the currency of an old option taken into account under subsection (7M), in subsection (7A)(c) references to the company are to be read as references to the company whose shares were the subject of the old option. | 25 | | | |
| (7O) | In subsection (7B) "the cessation date" means the date on which the company — | | | | |
| | (a) ceases to be a trading company without continuing to be or becoming a member of a trading group, or | 30 | | | |
| | (b) ceases to be a member of a trading group without continuing to be or becoming a trading company. | | | | |
| (7P) | Subsections (7Q) and (7R) apply in relation to a disposal of relevant EMI shares if — | 35 | | | |
| | (a) the shares were acquired as a result of the exercise of a qualifying option where— | | | | |
| | (i) a disqualifying event (see section 533 of ITEPA 2003) occurs in relation to the option before its exercise, but | | | | |
| | (ii) it is exercised within the period mentioned in section 532(1)(b) of ITEPA 2003, or | 40 | | | |
| | (b) if the shares are relevant EMI shares by virtue of subsection (7F), the original relevant EMI shares were acquired as mentioned in paragraph (a). | | | | |
| (7Q) | Subsection (7A)(b) has effect as if the reference to the date of the disposal were a reference to the date of the disqualifying event. | 45 | | | |

10

15

20

25

30

35

(7R) If the disqualifying event is within section 534(1)(c) of ITEPA 2003, subsection (7B)(a) has effect as if the reference to the cessation date were a reference to the first day after the period mentioned in section 532(1)(b) of that Act if that day is later than the cessation date."

Identification of shares acquired under EMI option

- 2 Chapter 1 of Part 4 of TCGA 1992 (general provision relating to shares etc) is amended as follows.
- In section 105 (disposal on or before day of acquisition of shares etc) after subsection (3) insert
 - "(4) Subsection (5) applies if an individual
 - (a) acquires shares ("the relevant shares") of the same class, on the same day and in the same capacity, and
 - (b) some of the relevant shares are relevant EMI shares (as defined by section 169I(7C) to (7G)).
 - (5) This section has effect as if
 - (a) paragraph (a) of subsection (1) required the relevant EMI shares to be treated as acquired by the individual by a single transaction separate from the remainder of the relevant shares (which are also to be treated by virtue of that paragraph as acquired by the individual by a single transaction), and
 - (b) subsection (1) required the relevant EMI shares to be treated as disposed of after the remainder of the relevant shares."
- 4 (1) Section 106A (identification of securities for capital gains tax purposes) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (5)
 - (a) omit the "and" after paragraph (a),
 - (b) after paragraph (a) insert
 - "(aa) with securities acquired by him within that period which are not relevant EMI shares, rather than with securities acquired by him within that period which are relevant EMI shares; and", and
 - (c) at the beginning of paragraph (b) insert "subject to paragraph (aa),".
 - (3) After subsection (6) insert
 - "(6A) Subject to subsections (4) and (5) above, a company's shares which are disposed of shall be identified
 - (a) with relevant EMI shares, rather than with other shares, and
 - (b) with relevant EMI shares acquired at an earlier time rather than with relevant EMI shares acquired at a later time.
 - (6B) No shares identified with relevant EMI shares by virtue of subsection (6A)(a) or (b) above shall be regarded as forming part of an existing section 104 holding or as constituting a section 104 holding."

15

25

30

35

(4) In subsection (10), before the definition of "securities", insert—

"relevant EMI shares" has the meaning given by section 169I(7C) to (7G),".

Commencement and transitional provision

- 5 (1) The amendments made by paragraphs 1 to 4 above have effect in relation to disposals of shares on or after 6 April 2013.
 - (2) In the case of the amendments made by paragraphs 2 to 4 above, subparagraph (1) is subject to paragraph 6(4) below.
- 6 (1) This paragraph applies if, during the tax year 2012-13, an individual acquires shares of a class in a company ("the relevant shares") which would be relevant EMI shares were the reference to 6 April 2013 in section 169I(7D)(a) of TCGA 1992 (as inserted by paragraph 1 above) a reference to 6 April 2012 instead.
 - (2) If the individual makes no disposals of shares of that class in that company during that tax year, the relevant shares are to be treated as if they were relevant EMI shares.
 - (3) If the individual disposes of shares of that class in that company during that tax year, the individual may elect for the relevant shares to be treated as if they were relevant EMI shares.
 - (4) If the individual makes an election under sub-paragraph (3) 20
 - (a) the amendments made by paragraphs 2 to 4 above also have effect, in the case of the individual, in relation to disposals of shares of that class in that company during that tax year, but
 - (b) for this purpose, the amendment made by sub-paragraph (5) has effect instead of the amendment made by paragraph 4(3) above.
 - (5) In section 106A of TCGA 1992 after subsection (6) insert
 - "(6A) Subject to subsections (4) and (5) above, a company's shares which are disposed of shall be identified
 - (a) with shares which are not relevant EMI shares, rather than with relevant EMI shares, and
 - (b) with relevant EMI shares acquired at a later time rather than with relevant EMI shares acquired at an earlier time.
 - (6B) No shares identified with relevant EMI shares by virtue of subsection (6A)(b) above shall be regarded as forming part of an existing section 104 holding or as constituting a section 104 holding."
 - (6) An election under sub-paragraph (3) may not be made or revoked after 31 January 2014 (and paragraph 3(1)(b) of Schedule 1A to TMA 1970 does not apply in relation to such an election).
 - (7) For the purposes of this paragraph shares in a company are not to be treated as being of the same class unless they are so treated by the practice of a recognised stock exchange or would be so treated if dealt with on a recognised stock exchange.
 - (8) "Recognised stock exchange" has the meaning given by section 1005 of ITA 2007.

SCHEDULE 24

Section 64

CHARGE ON CERTAIN HIGH VALUE DISPOSALS BY COMPANIES ETC

Part 1

| | | TAXATION OF CHARGEABLE GAINS ACT 1992 | | | |
|---|---|---|----|--|--|
| 1 | TCGA 1992 is amended as follows. | | | | |
| 2 | (1) Section 1 (the charge to tax) is amended as follows. | | | | |
| | (2) In subsection (2), after "Acts" insert ", subject to the exception in subsection (2A)". | | | | |
| | (3) After s | subsection (2) insert – | | | |
| | "(2A) | But companies are chargeable to capital gains tax, and not corporation tax, in respect of chargeable gains accruing to them to the extent that those gains are ATED-related gains in respect of which the companies are chargeable to capital gains tax under section 2B." | 10 | | |
| | (4) In sub | section (3) for "subsection (2)" substitute "subsections (2) and (2A)". | 15 | | |
| | | ion 2 (persons and gains chargeable to capital gains tax, and allowable , after subsection (7) insert — | | | |
| | "(7A) | Nothing in this section applies in relation to an ATED-related gain chargeable to, or an ATED-related loss allowable for the purposes of, capital gains tax by virtue of section 2B." | 20 | | |
| 4 | Afters | section 2 insert – | | | |
| | "2B Pe | rsons chargeable to capital gains tax on ATED-related gains | | | |
| | (1) | A person (other than an excluded person) ("P") is chargeable to capital gains tax in respect of any ATED-related chargeable gain accruing to P in a tax year on a relevant high value disposal. | 25 | | |
| | (2) | A person is "excluded" if the person is an individual, the trustees of a settlement or the personal representatives of a deceased person and— | | | |
| | | (a) the gain accrues on a disposal of any partnership assets and the person is a member of the partnership, or(b) the gain accrues on a disposal of any property held for the purposes of a relevant collective investment scheme and the person is a participant in relation to the scheme. | 30 | | |
| | (3) | Capital gains tax is charged on the total amount of ATED-related chargeable gains accruing to P in the tax year on relevant high value disposals, after deducting ring-fenced ATED-related allowable losses in relation to that year. | 35 | | |

Subsections (5) to (7) apply in relation to an ATED-related allowable loss accruing to P in a tax year on a relevant high value disposal.

Finance (No. 2) Bill 345 Schedule 24 –

| | | 0 | 0 | , |
|-----------------|----------|---------------|---------|---------|
| <i>Part 1 –</i> | Taxation | of Chargeable | Gains A | ct 1992 |

2C

dwelling interest. (4) Condition C is that –

(a) P, or

| | ge on certain high value disposals by companies etc f Chargeable Gains Act 1992 | | | | |
|------|---|--|--|--|--|
| (5) | The loss is not allowable as a deduction from ATED-related chargeable gains accruing in any earlier tax year on relevant high value disposals. | | | | |
| (6) | Relief is not to be given under this Act more than once in respect of the loss or any part of the loss. | | | | |
| (7) | Relief is not to be given under this Act in respect of the loss if, and so far as, relief has been or may be given in respect of it under the Tax Acts. | | | | |
| (8) | The only deductions which can be made from ATED-related chargeable gains are those permitted by this section. | | | | |
| (9) | See section 57A and Schedule 4ZZA for how to compute – (a) the ATED-related gain or loss accruing on a relevant high value disposal, and (b) the gain or loss accruing on a relevant high value disposal which is not ATED-related. | | | | |
| (10) | In this section— "participant", in relation to a relevant collective investment scheme, is to be read in accordance with section 235 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000; | | | | |
| | "relevant collective investment scheme" means a collective investment scheme within the meaning of Part 17 of that Act (see section 235 of that Act) other than— | | | | |
| | (a) a unit trust scheme within the meaning of that Part (see section 237(1) of that Act), or | | | | |
| | (b) an open-ended investment company within the meaning of that Part (see section 236(1) of that Act);"ring-fenced ATED-related allowable losses", in relation to a tax year, means — | | | | |
| | (a) any ATED-related allowable losses accruing to P in the tax year on relevant high value disposals, and(b) so far as they have not been allowed as a deduction | | | | |
| | from ATED-related chargeable gains accruing in any previous tax year on relevant high value disposals, any ATED-related allowable losses accruing to P in any previous tax year (not earlier than the tax year 2013-14) on such disposals. | | | | |
| "R | Relevant high value disposal" | | | | |
| (1) | A disposal on which a gain or loss accrues to P is a "relevant high value disposal" if conditions A to D are met. | | | | |
| (2) | Condition A is that the disposal is of the whole or part of a chargeable interest ("the disposed of interest"). | | | | |

Condition B is that the disposed of interest has, at any time during the relevant ownership period, been or formed part of a single-

| | ł | Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 24 — Charge on certain high value disposals by companies etc Part 1 — Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 | |
|-----|------------------------------------|--|----|
| | | disposed of interest is a partnership asset, the sible partners, or | |
| | (c) if the c relevan day-to- | disposed of interest is held for the purposes of a t collective investment scheme, the person who has day control over the management of the property to the scheme, | 5 |
| | dwellings with more days in th | een within the charge to annual tax on enveloped in respect to that single-dwelling interest on one or ne relevant ownership period which are not relievable in to the interest. | 10 |
| (5) | | that the amount or value of the consideration for the ds the threshold amount (see section 2D). | |
| (6) | In this section a | and section 2D – | |
| () | Finance | le interest" has the same meaning as in Part 3 of the Act 2013 (annual tax on enveloped dwellings) (see 104 of that Act (chargeable interest)); | 15 |
| | "dwelling of that A | " has the same meaning as in that Part (see section 110 Act); | |
| | | collective investment scheme" has the same meaning ction 2B; | 20 |
| | "the relev begins- | vant ownership period" means the period which | |
| | | if an election has been made under paragraph 5 of Schedule 4ZZA, with the day on which P acquired the chargeable interest or, if later, 31 March 1982, and | 25 |
| | • • | in any other case, with the day on which P acquired the chargeable interest or, if later, 6 April 2013, | |
| | occurs; | ds with the day before the day on which the disposal | |
| | any of t Act 201 | e day" means a day which is "relievable" by virtue of he provisions mentioned in section 130 of the Finance 3 (ATED: effect of reliefs) and in respect of which a as been made under section 103(3) of that Act; | 30 |
| | 93 of th | | 35 |
| | that Ac | | |
| | enveloped dwe | ce to being "within the charge" to annual tax on ellings with respect to a single-dwelling interest is to rdance with section 168(2) of that Act. | 40 |
| (7) | For the purpos | es of Condition C – | |
| | of the reas if sec ATED) | of the Finance Act 2013 applies, in relation to any part elevant ownership period falling before 1 April 2013, action 91(8)(a) of that Act (first chargeable period for read "the period beginning with 31 March 1982 and with 31 March 1983", and | 45 |
| | (b) when 6 2013 is | letermining whether any day falling before 1 April a relievable day, the definition of "relievable day" in ion (6) above is to read as if the words "and in respect | |
| | | h a claim has been made under section 103(3) of that | 50 |

of which a claim has been made under section 103(3) of that

Act" were omitted.

Finance (No. 2) Bill
Schedule 24 — Charge on certain high value disposals by companies etc

2D "The threshold amount"

- (1) This section applies to determine "the threshold amount" in relation to a disposal which meets Conditions A to C in section 2C ("the current disposal").
- (2) If 5

347

20

25

30

35

40

- (a) the current disposal is not a part disposal of an asset, and
- (b) P has not made any relevant related disposals, the threshold amount is £2 million, subject to subsection (5) (joint interests).
- (3) If paragraphs (a) and (b) of subsection (2) do not both apply, the threshold amount is the relevant fraction of £2 million, subject to subsection (5) (joint interests).
- (4) "The relevant fraction" is –

 $\frac{C}{TMV}$

where –

"C" is the amount or value of the consideration for the current disposal;

"TMV" is what would be the market value, at the time of the current disposal, of a notional asset comprising —

- (a) the disposed of interest (see section 2C(2)),
- (b) if the current disposal is a part disposal, any part of the chargeable interest held by P that remains undisposed of immediately following that part disposal,
- (c) any chargeable interest (or part of a chargeable interest) which was the subject of a relevant related disposal, and
- (d) any chargeable interest (or part of a chargeable interest) held by P at the time of the current disposal which, if P had disposed of it at that time, would have been the subject of a relevant related disposal.
- (5) If the disposed of interest is a share of the whole of
 - (a) a chargeable interest, or
 - (b) a part of a chargeable interest,

subsections (2) and (3) have effect as if the references to "£2 million" were to the joint share fraction of that amount.

- (6) The joint share fraction is the fraction of the whole of the chargeable interest or part represented by the disposed of interest.
- (7) "Relevant related disposal", in relation to the current disposal, means any disposal by P which—
 - (a) meets Conditions A to C in section 2C in circumstances where the single-dwelling interest referred to in Condition C is—
 - (i) the single-dwelling interest by virtue of which Condition C is met in relation to the current disposal, 45 or

2E

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(1)

(2)

fraction of that amount.

2F

| Part 1 – Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 | |
|---|---|
| (ii) another single-dwelling interest in the same dwelling as that interest, and was made in the period of 6 years ending with the day on which the current disposal occurs, but not before 6 April 2013. | 5 |
| on of losses | |
| a disposal would be a relevant high value disposal, but for a failure to meet condition D in section 2C, | |
| loss would accrue to a person (other than an excluded person) in a tax year on the disposal, and | 10 |
| the total of the sums allowable as a deduction under section 38 in relation to the disposal exceeds the threshold amount in relation to the disposal. | 15 |
| | |
| the ATED-related loss which accrues on the disposal is to be restricted to the amount which would have been that loss had the consideration for the disposal been £1 greater than the threshold amount in relation to the disposal. | 20 |
| In a case where paragraph 2 of Schedule 4ZZA applies (calculation of gains or losses on disposals of assets held on 5 April 2013), the reference in subsection (1)(c) to the disposal is to be read as a reference to the notional disposal referred to in paragraph 3(2) of that Schedule (disposal on which notional post-April 2013 gain or loss accrues). | |
| ed, or affects any gain (whether or not ATED-related), accruing | 30 |
| "excluded" has the meaning given by section 2B(2); | |
| g relief for gains | 35 |
| ant high value disposal and is chargeable to capital gains tax by | |
| e difference between — the amount or value of the consideration, and the threshold amount (within the meaning of section 2D) in | 40 |
| | (ii) another single-dwelling interest in the same dwelling as that interest, and was made in the period of 6 years ending with the day on which the current disposal occurs, but not before 6 April 2013. Itom of losses section applies where (ignoring this section) — a disposal would be a relevant high value disposal, but for a failure to meet condition D in section 2C, if it were a relevant high value disposal, an ATED-related loss would accrue to a person (other than an excluded person) in a tax year on the disposal, and the total of the sums allowable as a deduction under section 38 in relation to the disposal exceeds the threshold amount in relation to the disposal is to be treated as a relevant high value disposal (and section 57A and Schedule 4ZZA apply accordingly), and the ATED-related loss which accrues on the disposal is to be restricted to the amount which would have been that loss had the consideration for the disposal been £1 greater than the threshold amount in relation to the disposal. case where paragraph 2 of Schedule 4ZZA applies (calculation amount in subsection (1)(c) to the disposal is to be read as a ence to the notional disposal referred to in paragraph 3(2) of that dule (disposal on which notional post-April 2013 gain or loss tes). sing in subsection (2)(b) restricts any loss which is not ATED-ed, or affects any gain (whether or not ATED-related), accruing the relevant high value disposal. is section — "excluded" has the meaning given by section 2B(2); "the threshold amount" has the meaning given by section 2D. grelief for gains section applies to an ATED-related gain which accrues on a raint high value disposal and is chargeable to capital gains tax by the of section 2B. e is excluded from the gain so much of it as exceeds five-thirds e difference between — the amount or value of the consideration, and |

But where the relevant fraction is less than 1, subsection (2) has effect as if the amount determined under that subsection were the relevant

Finance (No. 2) Bill 349

Schedule 24 – Charge on certain high value disposals by companies etc Part 1 – Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992

| | , | U C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C |
|----|-------------------|--|
| | (4) | "The relevant fraction"— |
| | , , | (a) in a case where the ATED-related gain is determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 4ZZA, has the meaning given by paragraph 3(4) of that Schedule, and |
| | | (b) in a case where the ATED-related gain is determined in accordance with paragraph 6 of that Schedule, has the same meaning as in paragraph 6(5)(a) of that Schedule. |
| | (5) | Nothing in this section restricts any gain which is not ATED-related, or affects any loss (whether or not ATED-related), accruing on the relevant high value disposal." |
| 5 | In sect | ion 4 (rates of capital gains tax), after subsection (3) insert – |
| | "(3A) | The rate of capital gains tax in respect of gains chargeable under section 2B accruing to a person in a tax year is 28%." |
| 6 | | tion 8 (company's total profits to include chargeable gains), after tion (4) insert – |
| | "(4A) | Nothing in this section applies in relation to an ATED-related gain chargeable to, or an ATED-related loss allowable for the purposes of, capital gains tax by virtue of section 2B." |
| 7 | | tion 13 (attribution of gains to members of non-resident companies), ubsection (1) insert — |
| | "(1A) | But this section does not apply if the gain is an ATED-related gain chargeable to capital gains tax by virtue of section 2B (capital gains tax on ATED-related gains)." |
| 8 | In sect "2B,". | ion 16 (computation of losses), in subsection (3) after "section" insert |
| 9 | In Par | t 2, after Chapter 4 insert — |
| | | "CHAPTER 5 |
| | Coi | MPUTATION OF GAINS AND LOSSES: RELEVANT HIGH VALUE DISPOSALS |
| | 57A Ga | ins and losses on relevant high value disposals |
| | (1) | Schedule 4ZZA makes provision about the computation of gains and losses on relevant high value disposals, including provision about whether a gain or loss is ATED-related or not. |
| | (2) | But if the effect of Schedule 4ZZA applying in relation to a disposal would be that no ATED-related gain or loss accrues on the disposal, for the purposes of this Act the gain or loss on the disposal is to be computed ignoring that Schedule (and is not ATED-related)." |
| 10 | Afters | section 100 insert — |
| | "100A Ex | cemption for certain EEA UCITS |
| | | |

ATED-related gains accruing on relevant high value disposals made by an EEA UCITS which is not an open-ended investment company

or a unit trust scheme are not chargeable gains under section 2B.

(2)

In this section –

| Schedule 24 – C | harge on certain high value disposals by companies etc |
|-----------------|--|
| | Part 1 – Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 |

- "EEA UCITS" has the same meaning as in Part 17 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (see section 237 of that Act);
- "unit trust scheme" has same meaning as in that Part (see section 237(1) of that Act);
- "open-ended investment company" has the same meaning as in that Part (see section 236(1) of that Act)."
- (1) Section 161 (appropriations to and from stock) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1) for "subsection (3)" substitute "subsections (3) to (3ZB)".
 - (3) After subsection (3) insert –

5

- But if the person "(3ZA)
 - meets the requirement of paragraph (a) or (b) of subsection (3), and
 - (ignoring any election under this section) would be treated under subsection (1) as making a relevant high value disposal on which an ATED-related gain chargeable to, or loss allowable for the purposes of, capital gains tax under section 2B would accrue,

the person may not elect under subsection (3) but may elect for subsection (3ZB) to apply.

20

15

- (3ZB) Subject to subsection (4), where an election is made for this subsection to apply –
 - a gain or loss accruing on the disposal under subsection (1) which is not ATED-related is not a chargeable gain or an allowable loss,

25

the market value of the asset at the time of the appropriation is, for the purposes of computing the profits of the trade for the purposes of tax, to be treated as reduced by the amount of any gain, or increased by the amount of any loss, which would be a chargeable gain or allowable loss but for paragraph (a), and

30

- the chargeable gain or allowable loss which accrues on that disposal and is ATED-related is unaffected by the election."
- (4) In subsection (3A), after "subsection (3)" insert "or (3ZA)".
- (5) In subsection (4), after "subsection (3)" insert "or (3ZA)".

35

- In section 171 (transfers within a group: general provisions), in subsection 12 (2), after paragraph (b) insert –
 - a relevant high value disposal on which (ignoring subsection (1)) there accrues to company A an ATED-related gain chargeable to, or an ATED-related loss allowable for the purposes of, capital gains tax by virtue of section 2B; or".

40

13 After section 187 insert –

"187A Deemed disposal under section 185: ATED-related gains and losses

This section applies if —

Finance (No. 2) Bill
Schedule 24 — Charge on certain high value disposals by companies etc

| Conconnic | | 80 011 001 111 | | e mepeeme | 090 |
|-----------------|----------|----------------|--------------|-----------|-----|
| <i>Part 1 –</i> | Taxation | of Chargeab | le Gains Act | t 1992 | |

| (a) | (ignoring subsections (2) and (3)) a gain or loss would accrue |
|-----|--|
| | to a company on a disposal of an asset deemed to have been |
| | made by virtue of section 185(2), and |

- (b) that gain or loss is an ATED-related gain chargeable to, or an ATED-related loss allowable for the purposes of, capital gains tax under section 2B.
- (2) That gain or loss does not accrue to the company on that disposal.
- (3) But, on a subsequent disposal of the whole or part of the asset, the whole or a corresponding part of the gain or loss
 - (a) is deemed to accrue to the company (in addition to any gain or loss that actually accrues on that subsequent disposal), and

10

25

30

40

- (b) (if that would not otherwise be the case) is to be treated as an ATED-related gain or loss accruing on a relevant high value disposal.
- (4) Nothing in this section affects the treatment, for the purposes of this Act, of any gain or loss which is not ATED-related and accrues on the disposal of the asset deemed to have been made by virtue of section 185(2)."
- 14 In section 271 (miscellaneous exemptions)
 - (a) in subsection (1A), after "registered pension scheme" insert "or an overseas pension scheme", and
 - (b) in subsection (10), for the words after "above" substitute "—
 "investments" includes futures contracts and options contracts;
 "overseas pension scheme" has the same meaning as in Part 4 of
 the Finance Act 2004 (see section 150(7) of that Act)."
- In section 288 (interpretation), in subsection (1), at the appropriate places insert
 - ""ATED-related", in relation to a gain or loss, is to be construed in accordance with section 57A and Schedule 4ZZA;";
 - ""relevant high value disposal" has the meaning given by section 2C;".
- 16 After Schedule 4 insert –

"SCHEDULE 4ZZA

RELEVANT HIGH VALUE DISPOSALS: GAINS AND LOSSES

Introductory 35

- This Schedule applies for the purposes of determining in relation to a relevant high value disposal made by a person ("P")
 - (a) whether a gain or loss which is ATED-related accrues to P on the disposal, and
 - (b) whether a gain or loss which is not ATED-related accrues to P on the disposal.

Assets held on 5 April 2013: no paragraph 5 election

2 If the interest disposed of was held by P on 5 April 2013 –

15

25

30

35

40

- (a) paragraph 3 applies for the purposes of computing the gain or loss accruing to P which is ATED-related, and
- (b) paragraph 4 applies for the purposes of computing the gain or loss accruing to P which is not ATED-related.
- 3 (1) An amount equal to the relevant fraction of the notional post-April 2013 gain or loss is the ATED-related gain or loss (as the case may be).
 - (2) "Notional post-April 2013 gain or loss" means the gain or loss which (in the absence of section 2B and this Schedule) would have accrued on the relevant high value disposal had P acquired the interest on 5 April 2013 for a consideration equal to its market value on that date.
 - (3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), the amount of the gain or loss accruing to P is to be computed (whether or not that would otherwise be the case) as if P were within the charge to capital gains tax (but not within the charge to corporation tax on chargeable gains).
 - (4) "The relevant fraction" is –

 $\frac{\text{CD}}{\text{TD}}$

where – 20

"CD" is the number of days in the relevant ownership period which are ATED chargeable days;

"TD" is the total number of days in the relevant ownership period.

- (5) "The relevant ownership period" means the period beginning with 6 April 2013 and ending with the day before the day on which the relevant high value disposal occurs.
- (6) "ATED chargeable day" means any day by virtue of which condition C in section 2C(4) is met in relation to the relevant high value disposal.
- 4 (1) The gain or loss accruing on the relevant high value disposal which is not ATED-related is computed as follows.

Step 1

Determine the amount of the notional pre-April 2013 gain or loss. *Step* 2

In a case where there is a notional post-April 2013 gain —

- (a) determine the amount of that gain remaining after the deduction of the ATED-related gain determined under paragraph 3, and
- (b) adjust that remaining gain by reducing it by the notional indexation allowance.

Step 3

In a case where there is a notional post-April 2013 loss, determine the amount of that loss remaining after deduction of the ATEDrelated loss determined under paragraph 3.

Step 4 45 Add – Finance (No. 2) Bill 353

Schedule 24 — Charge on certain high value disposals by companies etc Part 1 — Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992

(a) the amount of any gain or loss determined under Step 1, and

(b) the amount of any adjusted gain determined under Step 2 or (as the case may be) any loss determined under Step 3,

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

(treating any amount which is a loss as a negative amount).

If the result is a positive amount, that amount is the gain on the relevant high value disposal which is not ATED-related.

If the result is a negative amount, that amount (expressed as a positive number) is the loss on the relevant high value disposal which is not ATED-related.

(2) "The notional pre-April 2013 gain or loss" means the gain or loss which would have accrued on 5 April 2013 had the interest been disposed of for a consideration equal to its market value on that date.

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), the amount of the gain or loss accruing to P is to be computed (whether or not that would otherwise be the case) as if P were within the charge to corporation tax on chargeable gains (but not within the charge to capital gains tax).

(4) Paragraph 3(2) and (3) (meaning of "notional post-April 2013 gain or loss") also applies for the purposes of this paragraph.

(5) "Notional indexation allowance" means the relevant fraction of an amount equal to the difference between —

- (a) the indexation allowance which (in the absence of section 2B and this Schedule) would be made under Chapter 4 of Part 2 in determining the gain accruing on the relevant high value disposal were that gain being computed for corporation tax purposes, and
- (b) the indexation allowance which is made under Chapter 4 of Part 2 in determining the notional pre-April 2013 gain.
- (6) "The relevant fraction" is –

$$\frac{TD-CD}{TD}$$

where "CD" and "TD" have the same meaning as in paragraph 3(4).

Election for paragraph 2 to 4 not to apply to a chargeable interest

- 5 (1) A person may make an election under this paragraph for paragraphs 2 to 4 not to apply in relation to a chargeable interest held by (or any part of which is held by) the person on 5 April 2013.
 - (2) An election is irrevocable.
 - (3) An election must be made by being included in a tax return under the Management Act for the tax year in which the first relevant high value disposal by the person of the chargeable interest (or any part of it) on or after 6 April 2013 occurs.

Schedule 24 - Charge on certain high value disposals by companies etc

| | Schedule 24 — Charge on certain high value disposals by companies etc Part 1 — Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 | |
|----|--|----------|
| | (4) The reference in sub-paragraph (3) to an election being included in a return includes an election being included by virtue of an amendment of the return. | |
| 5 | (5) All such adjustments are to be made, whether by way of discharge or repayment of tax, the making of assessments or otherwise, as are required to give effect to an election. | |
| | (6) In this paragraph "chargeable interest" has the same meaning as in Part 3 of the Finance Act 2013 (annual tax on enveloped dwellings) (see section 104 of that Act). | |
| 10 | where election made or assets acquired after 5 April 2013 | Cases wh |
| | (a) an election is made by P under paragraph 5 in respect of the chargeable interest which (or a part of which) is the | 6 |
| 15 | subject of the relevant high value disposal, or (b) the chargeable interest (or part) disposed of by the relevant high value disposal was not held by P throughout the period beginning with 5 April 2013 and ending with the disposal. | |
| 20 | (2) The ATED-related gain or loss accruing on the relevant high value disposal is computed as follows. Step 1 | |
| | Determine the amount of the gain or loss which would accrue to P, ignoring section 2B and this Schedule (but not the remainder of this Step). | |
| 25 | For this purpose, the amount of the gain or loss is to be computed (whether or not that would otherwise be the case) as if P were within the charge to capital gains tax (but not within the charge to corporation tax on chargeable gains). Step 2 | |
| 30 | An amount equal to the relevant fraction of that gain or loss is the ATED-related gain or loss accruing on the relevant high value disposal. | |
| 35 | (3) The gain or loss accruing on the relevant high value disposal which is not ATED-related is to be computed as follows. <i>Step 1</i> | |
| | In a case where there is a gain under Step 1 of sub-paragraph (2) — (a) determine the amount of the gain remaining after the deduction of the ATED-related gain, and | |
| 40 | (b) adjust the remaining gain by reducing it by an amount equal to the notional indexation allowance. | |
| | That adjusted gain is the gain accruing on the relevant high value disposal which is not ATED-related. Step 2 | |
| | | |

In a case where there is a loss under Step 1 of sub-paragraph (2), determine the amount of the loss remaining after deduction of the ATED-related loss. That remaining loss is the loss accruing on the relevant high value disposal which is not ATED-related.

Finance (No. 2) Bill 355 Schedule 24 - Charge on certain high value disposals by companies etc Part 1 - Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 (4) "Notional indexation allowance" means the relevant fraction of the indexation allowance which would be made under Chapter 4 of Part 2 in determining the gain under Step 1 in sub-paragraph (2) were that gain being computed for corporation tax purposes. (5) Subject to sub-paragraph (6), "the relevant fraction" – 5 in sub-paragraph (2) has the same meaning as in paragraph 3(4), and in sub-paragraph (4) has the same meaning as in paragraph 4(6). (6) For the purpose of determining the relevant fraction under sub-10 paragraph (5), paragraph 3(5) has effect as if the relevant ownership period began on the day on which P acquired the interest or, if later, 31 March 1982. Adjustments of ATED chargeable days (1) This paragraph applies where, as a result of a claim under section 15 103(3) of the Finance Act 2013 (adjustment of chargeable amount), or an amendment of or adjustment to such a claim, there is an alteration in the number of ATED chargeable days. (2) All such adjustments are to be made, whether by way of discharge 20 or repayment of tax, the making of assessments or otherwise, as are required to give effect to any change in liability to tax as a result of that alteration." 17 In Schedule 7A (restriction on set-off of pre-entry losses), after paragraph 10 insert -"10A 25 Section 161(3ZB)(a) and (b) does not apply to a loss if, in the absence of an election under section 161(3ZA), the loss would have been a pre-entry loss." PART 2 OTHER AMENDMENTS 30 Corporation Tax Act 2009 18 In section 2 of CTA 2009 (charge to corporation tax), after subsection (2) insert -"(2A) But in subsection (2) "chargeable gains" does not include gains chargeable to capital gains tax under section 2B of TCGA 1992 (companies etc chargeable to capital gains tax on ATED-related gains 35 on relevant high value disposals)." Corporation Tax Act 2010

- (1) Section 32 of CTA 2010 (meaning of "augmented profits") is amended as 19 follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1), in paragraph (a) after "company's" insert "adjusted".

Part 2 - Other amendments

(3) After that subsection insert –

"(1A) A company's "adjusted taxable total profits" of a period are what would have been the company's taxable total profits of the period in the absence of sections 1(2A), 2B and 8(4A) of TCGA 1992 and section 2(2A) of CTA 2009 (certain gains on relevant high value disposals by companies etc chargeable to capital gains tax not corporation tax)."

PART 3

COMMENCEMENT

The amendments made by this Schedule have effect in relation to disposals occurring on or after 6 April 2013.

SCHEDULE 25

Section 71

5

10

15

20

25

30

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT TAX RELIEF

Income tax: carry forward of relief

- 1 Part 7 of ITA 2007 (community investment tax relief) is amended as follows.
- In section 335 (form and amount of CITR) in subsection (3) for "this purpose" substitute "the purposes of this section and section 335A".
- 3 After section 335 insert –

"335A Carry forward of CITR

- (1) This section applies if
 - (a) the investor is entitled to a tax reduction for a relevant tax year under section 335 in respect of the investment, but
 - (b) the amount of the tax reduction is not fully deducted at Step 6 for that relevant tax year.
- (2) The amount ("the excess amount") not deducted is treated as follows.
- (3) For each subsequent relevant tax year for which the investor
 - (a) is entitled to a tax reduction under section 335 in respect of the investment, and
 - (b) makes a claim under this subsection,

the investor is also entitled to a tax reduction under this subsection which is given effect at Step 6.

- (4) The amount of the tax reduction under subsection (3) for any relevant tax year is the excess amount so far as it has not been deducted at Step 6 for any earlier relevant tax year by virtue of that subsection.
- (5) In this section "Step 6" means Step 6 of the calculation in section 23." 35

- Schedule 25 Community investment tax relief In section 357 (attribution of CITR) after subsection (4) insert – In the case of CITR under section 335A, in subsection (4)(a) the reference to the year is to be read as a reference to the year mentioned in section 335A(1)(a)." 5 (1) Section 361 (disposal of securities or shares during 5 year period) is 5 amended as follows. (2) For subsection (3) substitute – Subsections (3A) to (3H) apply if – the disposal is a qualifying disposal, and the investor has made a claim under section 335 in respect of 10 (b) the former investment for a tax year ("tax year X"). (3A)Subsection (3B) applies if the total of the following CITR does not exceed A – any CITR attributable to the former investment in respect of tax year X given under section 335, and 15 any CITR attributable to the former investment in respect of later tax years given under section 335A where tax year X is the tax year mentioned in section 335A(1)(a). (3B) All CITR falling within subsection (3A)(a) or (b) must be withdrawn. If the total of the CITR falling within subsection (3A)(a) or (b) exceeds (3C)20 A, that total must be reduced by A. For the purposes of subsection (3C) CITR given in a later tax year (3D) must be reduced before CITR given in an earlier tax year. (3E) For the purposes of subsections (3A) and (3C) "A" is an amount equal 25 to 5% of the amount or value of the consideration (if any) which the investor receives for the former investment. (3F) If the total of the CITR falling within subsection (3A)(a) or (b) (a) ("B") is less than the amount ("C") which is equal to 5% of the invested amount 30 in respect of the former investment for tax year X, "A" is to be reduced by multiplying it by the fraction — If the amount of CITR attributable to the former investment in (3G) respect of a tax year has been reduced before the CITR is obtained, 35 the amount referred to in subsection (3F) as B is to be treated for the
 - without the reduction. Subsection (3G) does not apply to a reduction by virtue of section 358 (attribution: bonus shares).

purposes of that subsection as the amount it would have been

- (3) Omit subsections (5) to (7).
- The amendments made by paragraphs 1 to 5 above have effect in relation to 6 investments made on or after 6 April 2013.

| Corpo | oration tax: | carry forward of relief | |
|-------|--------------|--|----------|
| 7 | Part 7 | of CTA 2010 (community investment tax relief) is amended as follows. | |
| 8 | (1) Sectio | n 220 (form and amount of CITR) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) For su | bsection (3) substitute— | |
| | "(3) | The amount of that reduction for the relevant accounting period is 5% of the invested amount in respect of the investment for the period." | 5 |
| | | esection (4) for "this purpose" substitute "the purposes of this section ection 220A". | |
| 9 | After | section 220 insert — | 10 |
| | "220A C | arry forward of CITR | |
| | (1) | This section applies if — (a) the investor is entitled to a reduction in its liability for corporation tax for a relevant accounting period under section 220 in respect of the investment, but (b) the amount of the reduction is not fully deducted at Step 2 for that relevant accounting period. | 15 |
| | (2) | The amount ("the excess amount") not deducted is treated as follows. | |
| | (3) | For each subsequent relevant accounting period for which the investor— (a) is entitled to a reduction in its liability for corporation tax under section 220 in respect of the investment, and (b) makes a claim under this subsection, the investor is also entitled to a reduction in its liability for corporation tax under this subsection. | 20 25 |
| | (4) | The amount of the reduction under subsection (3) for any relevant accounting period is the excess amount so far as it has not been deducted at Step 2 for any earlier relevant accounting period by virtue of that subsection. | |
| | (5) | In this section "Step 2" means the second step in paragraph 8(1) of Schedule 18 to FA 1998 (calculation of tax payable)." | 30 |
| 10 | In sec | tion 240 (attribution of CITR) after subsection (4) insert – | |
| | "(4A) | In the case of CITR under section 220A, in subsection (4)(a) the reference to the period is to be read as a reference to the period mentioned in section 220A(1)(a)." | 35 |
| 11 | | n 244 (disposal of securities or shares during 5 year period) is ded as follows. | |
| | (2) For su | bsection (3) substitute – | |
| | "(3) | Subsections (3A) to (3H) apply if — (a) the disposal is a qualifying disposal, and (b) the investor has made a claim under section 220 in respect of the former investment for an accounting period ("period X"). | 40 |

359 Schedule 25 - Community investment tax relief Subsection (3B) applies if the total of the following CITR does not exceed A any CITR attributable to the former investment in respect of period X given under section 220, and any CITR attributable to the former investment in respect of 5 later accounting periods given under section 220A where period X is the accounting period mentioned in section 220A(1)(a). (3B) All CITR falling within subsection (3A)(a) or (b) must be withdrawn. If the total of the CITR falling within subsection (3A)(a) or (b) exceeds 10 (3C)A, that total must be reduced by A. For the purposes of subsection (3C) CITR given in a later accounting period must be reduced before CITR given in an earlier accounting period. For the purposes of subsections (3A) and (3C) "A" is an amount equal 15 to 5% of the amount or value of the consideration (if any) which the investor receives for the former investment. If— (3F) the total of the CITR falling within subsection (3A)(a) or (b) (a) 20 ("B") is less than the amount ("C") which is equal to 5% of the invested amount in respect of the former investment for period X, "A" is to be reduced by multiplying it by the fraction – (3G) If the amount of CITR attributable to the former investment in 25 respect of an accounting period has been reduced before the CITR is obtained, the amount referred to in subsection (3F) as B is to be treated for the purposes of that subsection as the amount it would have been without the reduction. 30 (3H) Subsection (3G) does not apply to a reduction by virtue of section 241 (attribution: bonus shares).' (3) Omit subsections (5) to (7). The amendments made by paragraphs 7 to 11 above have effect in relation to investments made in accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 35 2013.

Corporation tax: limit on State aid

12

(1) In Part 7 of CTA 2010 (community investment tax relief) after section 220A (as inserted by paragraph 9 above) insert –

"220B Limit on State aid

The reductions that may be made in the amount of the investor's liability for corporation tax under section 220 or 220A for an accounting period ("the current accounting period") are limited as follows.

| | (2) | The sum of the following amounts must not exceed €200,000 — (a) so far as it represents aid granted to the investor, the total amount of reductions made in the amount of the investor's liability for corporation tax under section 220 or 220A — (i) for the current accounting period, or (ii) any earlier accounting period which ends during the relevant 3-year period, and (b) the total of any de minimis aid granted to the investor during the relevant 3-year period which does not fall within paragraph (a). | 5 |
|-------|--------|---|----|
| | (3) | In subsection (2) "the relevant 3-year period" means the period of 3 years ending at the end of the current accounting period. | |
| | (4) | Subsection (2) is to be read as if it were contained in Article 2 of Commission Regulation (EC) No. 1998/2006 (de minimis aid)." | |
| | | mendment made by this paragraph has effect for the purpose of ag CITR in respect of investments made on or after 1 April 2013. | 15 |
| | | In respect of investments made before that date is to be ignored for the ses of section 220B(2) of CTA 2010. | |
| | | SCHEDULE 26 Section 72 | |
| | | LEASE PREMIUM RELIEF | 20 |
| Incor | ne tax | | |
| 1 | ITTOI | A 2005 is amended as follows. | |
| 2 | | tion 61 (tenants occupying land for purposes of trade treated as ing expenses) after subsection (5) insert — | |
| | "(5A) | No expense is to be determined under this section by reference to the taxed receipt if section 292(4B) or (4C) applies." | 25 |
| 3 | | tion 292 (tenants under taxed leases treated as incurring expenses) ubsection (4) insert – | |
| | "(4A) | No expense is to be determined under this section by reference to the taxed receipt if subsection (4B) or (4C) applies. | 30 |
| | (4B) | This subsection applies if there would have been no taxed receipt but for the application of Rule 1 in section 303 in determining the effective duration of the lease. | |
| | (4C) | This subsection applies if there would have been no taxed receipt but for the application of Rule 1 in section 243 of CTA 2009 in determining the effective duration of the lease for the purposes of Chapter 4 of Part 4 of that Act." | 35 |
| 4 | | mendments made by paragraphs 2 and 3 above have effect in relation es granted on or after 6 April 2013. | |

| Finance (No. 2) Bill | |
|-----------------------------|--------|
| Schedule 26 - Lease premium | relief |

| 3 | 6 | 1 |
|---|---|---|
| J | v | 1 |

| Corporation | tax |
|-------------|-----|
|-------------|-----|

| Corpo | oration tax | | |
|-------|--|--|----|
| 5 | CTA 2009 is amended as follows. | | |
| 6 | In section 63 (tenants occupying land for purposes of trade treated as incurring expenses) after subsection (5) insert — | | |
| | "(5A) | No expense is to be determined under this section by reference to the taxed receipt if section 232(4B) or (4C) applies." | 5 |
| 7 | | tion 232 (tenants under taxed leases treated as incurring expenses) subsection (4) insert — | |
| | "(4A) | No expense is to be determined under this section by reference to the taxed receipt if subsection (4B) or (4C) applies. | 10 |
| | (4B) | This subsection applies if there would have been no taxed receipt but for the application of Rule 1 in section 243 in determining the effective duration of the lease. | |
| | (4C) | This subsection applies if there would have been no taxed receipt but for the application of Rule 1 in section 303 of ITTOIA 2005 in determining the effective duration of the lease for the purposes of Chapter 4 of Part 3 of that Act." | 15 |
| 8 | | mendments made by paragraphs 6 and 7 above have effect in relation ses granted on or after 1 April 2013. | |
| | | SCHEDULE 27 Section 74 | 20 |
| | | MANUFACTURED PAYMENTS | |
| | | Part 1 | |
| | | INCOME TAX | |
| 1 | Before | e Part 11A of ITA 2007 insert – | |
| | | "PART 11ZA | 25 |
| | | MANUFACTURED PAYMENTS | |
| | 614ZA (| Overview of Part | |
| | | This Part deals with the application of the Income Tax Acts to manufactured payment relationships and payments representative of dividends or interest. | 30 |
| | 614ZB K | Key definitions | |
| | (1) | For the purposes of the Income Tax Acts a person has a manufactured payment relationship if conditions A to C are met. | |
| | (2) | Condition A is that under any arrangements — (a) an amount is payable by or to the person, or | 35 |

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

- (b) any other benefit is given by or to the person (including the release of the whole or part of any liability to pay an amount).
- (3) Condition B is that the arrangements relate to the transfer of securities.
- (4) Condition C is that the amount or value of the other benefit
 - (a) is representative of a dividend or interest on the securities, or
 - (b) will fall to be treated as representative of such a dividend or interest when it is paid or given.
- (5) In subsection (2) the reference to an amount being payable, or other benefit being given, by the person includes a reference to an amount being payable, or other benefit being given, by another person on behalf of the person in question.
- (6) In this Part
 - "manufactured payment", in relation to a manufactured payment relationship, means an amount, or the value of a benefit, within subsection (2), and

"securities" means -

- (a) shares in a company, and
- (b) loan stock or any similar security (whether the security is of the government of the United Kingdom, any other government, any public or local authority in the United Kingdom or elsewhere, or any other company or body).

614ZC Treatment of payer of manufactured payment

- (1) This section applies where a person has a manufactured payment relationship under which a manufactured payment is paid by or on behalf of the person.
- (2) No deduction is allowed in respect of the manufactured payment in calculating any profits or other income of the person for income tax purposes (subject to subsection (3)).
- (3) Subsection (2) does not apply in relation to the person so far as the manufactured payment is brought into account under Part 2 of ITTOIA 2005 in calculating the profits of a trade carried on by the person.
- (4) But nothing in subsection (3) affects the question whether (apart from that provision) a deduction in calculating the profits of a trade carried on by the person is allowed.

614ZD Treatment of recipient of manufactured payment

- (1) Subsection (2) applies if a person has a manufactured payment relationship under which a manufactured payment is payable to the person.
- (2) For the purposes of the charge to income tax on the person's income, the Income Tax Acts apply to the person as if the manufactured payment were a dividend or interest on the securities (as the case may require).

| Finance (No. 2) Bill |
|-------------------------------------|
| Schedule 27 — Manufactured payments |
| Dart 1 Income tax |

| (3) | Subsection (2) is subject to subsections (4) to (6). | |
|----------------|---|------|
| (4) | Subsection (2) does not apply in relation to the person so far as the manufactured payment is brought into account under Part 2 of ITTOIA 2005 in calculating the profits of a trade carried on by the person. | |
| (5) | Subsection (2) does not apply in relation to the person for the purposes of determining entitlement to double taxation relief in respect of any dividend or interest. | |
| (6) | In a case in which the manufactured payment is treated as a dividend by virtue of subsection (2), the person is not entitled to a tax credit under Chapter 3 of Part 4 of ITTOIA 2005 (tax credits for certain recipients of distributions) in respect of the dividend. | 10 |
| (7) | For the purposes of this section "double taxation relief" means any relief given under or as a result of Part 2 of TIOPA 2010." | |
| | Part 2 | 15 |
| | CORPORATION TAX | |
| Before | Part 18 of CTA 2010 insert – | |
| | "PART 17A | |
| | MANUFACTURED DIVIDENDS | |
| | | |
| 814A O | Overview of Part | 20 |
| 814A O | Overview of Part This Part deals with the application of the Corporation Tax Acts to manufactured dividend relationships and payments representative of dividends. | - |
| | This Part deals with the application of the Corporation Tax Acts to manufactured dividend relationships and payments representative | - |
| | This Part deals with the application of the Corporation Tax Acts to manufactured dividend relationships and payments representative of dividends. | |
| 814B K | This Part deals with the application of the Corporation Tax Acts to manufactured dividend relationships and payments representative of dividends. Cey definitions For the purposes of the Corporation Tax Acts a company has a | . 25 |
| 814B K (1) | This Part deals with the application of the Corporation Tax Acts to manufactured dividend relationships and payments representative of dividends. Exercise Service S | 25 |
| 814B K (1) (2) | This Part deals with the application of the Corporation Tax Acts to manufactured dividend relationships and payments representative of dividends. Cey definitions For the purposes of the Corporation Tax Acts a company has a manufactured dividend relationship if conditions A to C are met. Condition A is that under any arrangements— (a) an amount is payable by or to the company, or (b) any other benefit is given by or to the company (including the release of the whole or part of any liability to pay an amount). Condition B is that the arrangements relate to the transfer of shares | 25 |

| | Schedule 27 – Manufactured payments Part 2 – Corporation tax | |
|----|---|--------|
| 5 | In this Part— "manufactured dividend", in relation to a manufactured dividend relationship, means an amount, or the value of a benefit, within subsection (2), and "the real dividend" means the dividend mentioned in subsection (4)(a). | (6) |
| | Treatment of payer of manufactured dividend | 814C T |
| 10 | This section applies where a company has a manufactured dividend relationship under which a manufactured dividend is paid by or on behalf of the company. | (1) |
| | No deduction in calculating income for corporation tax purposes is allowed in respect of the manufactured dividend (subject to subsections (3) to (7)). | (2) |
| 15 | Subsection (2) does not apply in relation to the company so far as the manufactured dividend is brought into account under Part 3 of CTA 2009 in calculating the profits of a trade carried on by the company. | (3) |
| 20 | Subsection (5) applies if — (a) the manufactured dividend relates to investment business which the company has, (b) the company received the real dividend in the accounting period, and (c) the real dividend is taxed by virtue of section 548(5) (recipients of distributions from REITs). | (4) |
| 25 | The manufactured dividend is to be treated as expenses of management of the company's investment business for the accounting period for the purposes of Chapter 2 of Part 16 of CTA 2009. | (5) |
| 30 | Subsection (7) applies if — (a) the manufactured dividend is referable to basic life assurance and general annuity business which the company has, (b) the company received the real dividend in the accounting period, and (c) the real dividend is taxed by virtue of section 548(5) (recipients of distributions from REITs). | (6) |
| 35 | So far as the manufactured dividend is referable as mentioned in subsection (6)(a), the manufactured dividend is to be treated for the purposes of section 76 of FA 2012 as a deemed BLAGAB management expense for the accounting period. | (7) |
| 40 | Nothing in subsection (3) affects the question whether (apart from that provision) a deduction in calculating the profits of a trade carried on by the company is allowed. | (8) |
| | The references in subsections (4) and (6) to the real dividend include references to a manufactured dividend which is treated as a real | (9) |

For the purposes of subsections (6) and (7), the manufactured dividend is treated as referable to basic life assurance and general

45

dividend by virtue of section 814D(2).

35

40

annuity business so far as the real dividend is received by the company and is so referable in accordance with Chapter 4 of Part 2 of FA 2012 (apportionment rules for I-E charge).

814D Treatment of recipient of manufactured dividend

Subsection (2) applies if a company has a manufactured dividend relationship under which a manufactured dividend is payable to it. For the purposes of the charge to corporation tax on the income of the company, the Corporation Tax Acts apply to the company, and any company claiming title through or under the company, as if the manufactured dividend were a dividend on the shares. 10 Subsection (2) is subject to subsections (4) to (8). (3) Subsection (2) does not apply in relation to a company so far as the manufactured dividend is brought into account under Part 3 of CTA 2009 in calculating the profits of a trade carried on by the company. 15 Subsection (2) does not apply in relation to a company for the purposes of determining entitlement to double taxation relief in respect of any dividend. Part 9A of CTA 2009 (company distributions), in its application in relation to a manufactured dividend as a result of subsection (2), has effect with the modification in subsection (7). 20 The modification is that references in that Part to the payer are to be treated as references to the company that pays the real dividend, and the definition of "the payer" in section 931T is to be treated as (b) omitted. 25 The company to which the manufactured dividend is payable is not entitled to a tax credit under section 1109 (tax credits for certain recipients of exempt qualifying distributions) in respect of the dividend. For the purposes of subsection (5) "double taxation relief" means any 30 relief given under or as a result of Part 2 of TIOPA 2010. (10)This section has effect regardless of section 358 of CTA 2009

(exclusion of credits on release of connected companies debts) or any other provision of Part 5 of that Act (loan relationships) which

PART 3

prevents a credit from being brought into account."

CONSEQUENTIAL ETC AMENDMENTS

Introductory

3 The following amendments are in consequence of, or otherwise connected with, the amendments made by Parts 1 and 2.

10

15

25

30

35

4

TCGA 1992

| 5 | In section 263B (stock lending arrangements), for subsection (7) substitute – |
|---|---|
| | |

- "(7) In this section "securities" has the meaning given by section 263AA."
- Omit section 263D (gains accruing to persons paying manufactured dividends).
- 7 In section 263F (power to modify repo provisions: non-standard repo cases)
 - (a) in subsection (1) –

TCGA 1992 is amended as follows.

- (i) at the end of paragraph (c) insert "or", and
- (ii) omit paragraph (d) (and the word "or" at the end of it), and
- (b) in subsection (2), omit "or 263D".
- 8 In section 263G (power to modify repo provisions: redemption arrangements)
 - (a) in subsection (1), omit paragraph (d) (but not the word "or" at the end of it), and
 - (b) in subsection (2), omit "or 263D".
- 9 In section 263H (sections 263F and 263G: supplementary provisions), in subsection (3)(b) omit "or 263D".
- 10 (1) Section 263I (powers about manufactured overseas dividend) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1), for paragraphs (a) and (b) substitute
 - '(a) pays or receives an amount (a "manufactured overseas dividend") which is representative of an overseas dividend on overseas securities where the payment or receipt is required to be made under an arrangement for the transfer of the securities, or
 - (b) is treated as doing so for any purposes of the Tax Acts."
 - (3) For subsection (6) substitute
 - "(6) In this section—
 - (a) "overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by—
 - (i) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or
 - (ii) another body of persons not resident in the United Kingdom,
 - (b) "overseas securities" includes shares in a company which is not resident in the United Kingdom,
 - (c) "overseas dividend" means any interest, dividend or other annual payment payable in respect of overseas securities, and
 - (d) "securities" includes loan stock or any similar security."

Part 3 – Consequential etc amendments

FA 2004

In Schedule 24 to FA 2004 (manufactured dividends), omit paragraph 3(1) and (3).

ITTOIA 2005

- 12 ITTOIA 2005 is amended as follows. 5
- In section 397(6) (list of provisions to which the section is subject), for the words from "section 592" to "owner under repo)," substitute—

 "section 614ZD(6) of ITA 2007,".
- In section 397A (tax credit for distributions of non-UK resident companies)
 - (a) in subsection (6), for the words from "section 592" to the end substitute—

"section 614ZD(6) of ITA 2007.", and

- (b) omit subsection (8).
- Omit section 397B (tax credits under section 397A: manufactured overseas dividends).

ITA 2007

- 16 ITA 2007 is amended as follows.
- 17 In section 2 (overview of Act)
 - (a) omit subsection (11), and
 - (b) before subsection (11A) insert —

"(11ZA) Part 11ZA is about manufactured payments."

- Omit the following provisions (which deal with manufactured payments and repos)
 - (a) sections 565 to 595,
 - (b) section 596(1) to (4), and
 - (c) section 606(8).
- In section 647 (makers of manufactured payments), for subsection (6) substitute
 - "(6) In this section "manufactured payments contract" means a contract under which—
 - (a) the seller is required to pay another person an amount which is representative of a periodical payment of interest on UK securities under an arrangement between them for the transfer of the securities, or
 - (b) the seller is required to pay another person an amount which is representative of an overseas dividend on overseas securities under an arrangement between them for the transfer of the securities.
 - (7) In this section—

(a) "overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by —

367

20

10

25

30

35

| (ii) another non-UK resident body of persons, and includes shares in a non-UK resident company, (b) "overseas dividend" means any interest, dividend or other annual payment payable in respect of overseas securities, and (c) "UK securities" means securities of— (i) the government of the United Kingdom, (ii) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (iii) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (iv) a UK resident company or other UK resident body, but does not include shares in a UK resident company." 20 In section 658 (powers to modify: supplementary), for subsection (5) substitute— "(5) Subsections (6) to (10) apply for the purposes of sections 656 and 657 and this section. (6) "UK shares" means shares in a UK resident company. (7) "UK securities" means securities of— (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— | | | (i) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or | |
|---|----|------|---|----|
| and includes shares in a non-UK resident company, (b) "overseas dividend" means any interest, dividend or other annual payment payable in respect of overseas securities, and (c) "UK securities" means securities of — (i) the government of the United Kingdom, (ii) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (iii) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (iv) a UK resident company or other UK resident body, but does not include shares in a UK resident company." 20 In section 658 (powers to modify: supplementary), for subsection (5) substitute— "(5) Subsections (6) to (10) apply for the purposes of sections 656 and 657 and this section. (6) "UK shares" means shares in a UK resident company. (7) "UK securities" means securities of— (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614%C(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". | | | | |
| annual payment payable in respect of overseas securities, and (c) "UK securities" means securities of— (i) the government of the United Kingdom, (ii) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (iii) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (iv) a UK resident company or other UK resident body, but does not include shares in a UK resident company." 20 In section 658 (powers to modify: supplementary), for subsection (5) substitute— "(5) Subsections (6) to (10) apply for the purposes of sections 656 and 657 and this section. (6) "UK shares" means shares in a UK resident company. (7) "UK securities" means securities of— (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". | | | | 5 |
| and (c) "UK securities" means securities of — (i) the government of the United Kingdom, (ii) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (iii) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (iv) a UK resident company or other UK resident body, but does not include shares in a UK resident company." 20 In section 658 (powers to modify: supplementary), for subsection (5) substitute— "(5) Subsections (6) to (10) apply for the purposes of sections 656 and 657 and this section. (6) "UK shares" means shares in a UK resident company. (7) "UK securities" means securities of— (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". | | | | |
| (c) "UK securities" means securities of— (i) the government of the United Kingdom, (ii) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (iii) a nother public authority in the United Kingdom, or (iv) a UK resident company or other UK resident body, but does not include shares in a UK resident company." 20 In section 658 (powers to modify: supplementary), for subsection (5) substitute— "(5) Subsections (6) to (10) apply for the purposes of sections 656 and 657 and this section. (6) "UK shares" means shares in a UK resident company. (7) "UK securities" means securities of— (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". | | | | |
| (i) the government of the United Kingdom, (ii) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (iii) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (iv) a UK resident company or other UK resident body, but does not include shares in a UK resident company." 20 In section 658 (powers to modify: supplementary), for subsection (5) substitute— "(5) Subsections (6) to (10) apply for the purposes of sections 656 and 657 and this section. (6) "UK shares" means shares in a UK resident company. (7) "UK securities" means securities of— (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". | | | | |
| (ii) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (iii) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (iv) a UK resident company or other UK resident body, but does not include shares in a UK resident company." 20 In section 658 (powers to modify: supplementary), for subsection (5) substitute— "(5) Subsections (6) to (10) apply for the purposes of sections 656 and 657 and this section. (6) "UK shares" means shares in a UK resident company. (7) "UK securities" means securities of— (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". | | | | 10 |
| (iv) a UK resident company or other UK resident body, but does not include shares in a UK resident company." 20 In section 658 (powers to modify: supplementary), for subsection (5) substitute— "(5) Subsections (6) to (10) apply for the purposes of sections 656 and 657 and this section. (6) "UK shares" means shares in a UK resident company. (7) "UK securities" means securities of— (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". | | | (, | |
| but does not include shares in a UK resident company." In section 658 (powers to modify: supplementary), for subsection (5) substitute— "(5) Subsections (6) to (10) apply for the purposes of sections 656 and 657 and this section. (6) "UK shares" means shares in a UK resident company. (7) "UK securities" means securities of— (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". | | | (iii) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or | |
| In section 658 (powers to modify: supplementary), for subsection (5) substitute— "(5) Subsections (6) to (10) apply for the purposes of sections 656 and 657 and this section. (6) "UK shares" means shares in a UK resident company. (7) "UK securities" means securities of— (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". | | | | |
| substitute— "(5) Subsections (6) to (10) apply for the purposes of sections 656 and 657 and this section. (6) "UK shares" means shares in a UK resident company. (7) "UK securities" means securities of— (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". 22 In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities)— | | | but does not include shares in a UK resident company." | |
| and this section. (6) "UK shares" means shares in a UK resident company. (7) "UK securities" means securities of — (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by — (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute — "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". 22 In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities) — | 20 | | | 15 |
| (7) "UK securities" means securities of — (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by — (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute — "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". 22 In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities) — | | "(5) | | |
| (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— (a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". 22 In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities)— | | (6) | "UK shares" means shares in a UK resident company. | |
| (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— (a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". 22 In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities)— | | (7) | "UK securities" means securities of — | 20 |
| (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". 22 In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities)— | | () | | |
| (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by – (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute – "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". 22 In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities) – | | | (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, | |
| (8) But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by— (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— (a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". 22 In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities)— | | | | |
| (9) "Overseas securities" means shares, stock or other securities issued by — (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute — (a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". 22 In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities) — | | | (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. | |
| (a) a government, local authority or other public authority of a territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". 22 In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities)— | | (8) | But "UK securities" does not include UK shares. | 25 |
| territory outside the United Kingdom, or (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". 22 In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities)— | | (9) | | |
| (b) another non-UK resident body of persons. (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." 21 In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute — "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". 22 In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities) — | | | | |
| (10) "Overseas securities" includes shares in a non-UK resident company." In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute — "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities) — | | | | 30 |
| In section 918(1) (manufactured dividends on UK shares: REITs), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities)— | | | | 30 |
| paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". 22 In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities)— | | (10) | | |
| section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of a dividend (a "manufactured dividend"), and". 22 In section 919 (manufactured interest on UK securities) — | 21 | | raph (a) substitute – | |
| , | | | section 614ZC(1) and the amount payable is representative of | 35 |
| | 22 | | , | |
| "(1) This section applies if — | | \ / | · / | 40 |
| (a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned in section 614ZC(1), | | | (a) a person pays a manufactured payment as mentioned | 40 |
| (b) the amount payable is representative of interest on UK securities ("manufactured interest"), and | | | (b) the amount payable is representative of interest on | |
| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | | | 45 |

| | (i) is UK resident, or | |
|----|---|----|
| | (ii) pays the manufactured interest in the course of a trade carried on in the United Kingdom through a branch or agency.", | |
| | (b) in subsection (4), omit the words from "section 583" to "special | 5 |
| | cases)", and (c) after subsection (5) insert — | |
| | "(6) In subsection (1) "UK securities" means securities of — | |
| | (a) the government of the United Kingdom, (b) a local authority in the United Kingdom, (c) another public authority in the United Kingdom, or (d) a UK resident company or other UK resident body. | 10 |
| | (7) But "UK securities" does not include shares in a UK resident company. | |
| | (8) In this section "securities" includes loan stock or any similar security." | 15 |
| 23 | Omit section 920 (foreign payers of manufactured interest: the reverse charge). | |
| 24 | In section 921 (cases where interest on underlying securities paid gross), in subsection (3), for the words from "securities" to the end substitute "manufactured interest" has the same meaning as in section 919." | 20 |
| 25 | Omit sections 922 to 925 (manufactured overseas dividends). | |
| 26 | In section 925A(2) (creditor repos), for "to 925" substitute ", 919 and 921". | |
| 27 | Omit section 925B (debtor repos). | |
| 28 | In section 925C (actual payments ignored) — (a) in the heading, omit "or 925B", (b) omit "or 925B(2)", and (c) for "to 925" substitute ", 919 and 921". | 25 |
| 29 | In section 926 (interpretation of Chapter 9 of Part 15), omit subsections (1) and (1A). | 30 |
| 30 | In Schedule 1 (minor and consequential amendments), omit paragraph 335(1) to (4) and (6) to (8). | |
| 31 | In Schedule 2 (transitionals and savings), omit paragraphs 108 to 111 (and the headings "Part 12", "Manufactured payments and repos" and "Tax credits: stock lending arrangements and repos" immediately preceding paragraph 108). | 35 |
| 32 | In Schedule 4 (index of defined expressions), omit the entries for — "buying back securities, in the context of a repo (in Part 11)", "company UK REIT (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", | |
| | "gross amount (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", "group (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", "group UK REIT (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", "manufactured dividend (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", "manufactured dividend (in Chapter 3 of Part 11)", | 40 |

| | | "manufactured interest (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", "manufactured overseas dividend (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", | |
|------|------|---|----|
| | | "overseas dividend (in Part 11)", | |
| | | "overseas dividend (in Chapter 9 of Part 15)", | |
| | | "overseas securities (in Part 11)", | 5 |
| | | "overseas tax (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", | |
| | | "overseas tax (in Chapter 9 of Part 15)", | |
| | | "overseas tax credit (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", | |
| | | "prescribed (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", | |
| | | "principal company (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", | 10 |
| | | "principal company (in Chapter 9 of Part 15)", | |
| | | "property rental business (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", | |
| | | "property rental business (in Chapter 9 of Part 15)", "valeted agreements (in Part 11)" | |
| | | "related agreements (in Part 11)", "relevant withholding tax (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", | 15 |
| | | "repo (in Part 11)", | 13 |
| | | "the rules about manufactured payments (in Chapter 4 of Part 11)", | |
| | | "stock lending arrangement (in Part 11)", | |
| | | "trade carried on through a branch or agency (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", | |
| | | "transfer (in Chapter 2 of Part 11)", | 20 |
| | | "UK securities (in Part 11)", and | |
| | | "UK shares (in Part 11)". | |
| FA 2 | 008 | | |
| 33 | (1) | FA 2008 is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In Schedule 12 (tax credit for certain foreign distributions), omit paragraphs 26, 27(2)(a) and (c) and (3), 28(2)(a) and (c) and (3), 29(2)(a), (c)(i) and (d) and (3) and 30. | 25 |
| | (3) | In Schedule 23 (manufactured payments: anti avoidance), omit paragraphs 1 to 4, 6, 7 and 9 to 11. | |
| CTA | 2009 | 9 | 30 |
| 34 | | CTA 2009 is amended as follows. | |
| 35 | | In section 539 (introduction to Chapter about manufactured interest), omit subsection (7). | |
| 36 | | In section 540(3) (manufactured interest treated as interest under loan relationship), omit "and to section 799 of CTA 2010". | 35 |
| 37 | | In section 550 (which makes provision about the effect of the sale of securities on a borrower)— | |
| | | (a) in subsection (4), for "(6)" substitute "(5C)", | |
| | | (b) after subsection (5A) insert — | |
| | | | 40 |
| | | "(5B) Nothing in subsection (3) entitles the borrower to double taxation relief in respect of any income payable in respect of overseas securities. | 40 |

nance (No. 2) Bill 371

| 1 11110 | Consequential etc amenanents |
|---------|--|
| | (5C) But nothing in subsection (3) affects the entitlement of the borrower to double taxation relief in respect of any overseas tax deducted from any amount representative of income payable in respect of overseas securities. |
| | (5D) In subsection (5C) "overseas tax" means tax under the law of a territory outside the United Kingdom.", and(c) omit subsection (6). |
| 38 | In section 1221(1) (amounts treated as expenses of management), for paragraph (i) substitute – |
| | "(i) section 814C(5) of CTA 2010 (treatment of payer of manufactured dividend),". |
| 39 | In section 1248 (expenses in connection with arrangements for securing a tax advantage) — |
| | (a) omit subsection (3), and(b) in subsection (5), omit the definition of "relevant tax relief". |
| FA 2 | 009 |
| 40 | In Schedule 19 to FA 2009 (income tax credits for foreign distributions), omit paragraphs 4 and 13(b). |
| СТА | 2010 |
| 41 | CTA 2010 is amended as follows. |
| 42 | In section 1 (overview of Act), in subsection (4) — (a) omit paragraph (d), and (b) before paragraph (e) insert — "(da) manufactured dividends (see Part 17A),". |
| 43 | Omit Part 17 (manufactured payments and repos). |
| 44 | (1) Section 1109(5) (provisions to which section 1109 is subject) is amended as follows. |
| | (2) Omit paragraphs (a) to (c) (and the word "and" at the end of paragraph (c)). |
| | (3) Immediately before subsection (5)(d) insert— "(ca) section 814D (no tax credits for recipient of manufactured dividend), and". |
| 45 | In Schedule 1 (minor and consequential amendments), omit paragraphs 259, 537, 538, 539(b) and (c), 635, 636 and 689(a) and (b)(i). |
| 46 | In Schedule 2 (transitionals and savings), omit Part 17 (manufactured payments and repos). |
| 47 | In Schedule 4 (index of defined expressions), omit the entries for— "creditor quasi-repo (in Chapter 5 of Part 17)", "creditor repo (in Chapter 5 of Part 17)", |
| | "debtor quasi-repo (in Chapter 5 of Part 17)", "debtor repo (in Chapter 5 of Part 17)", "manufactured dividend (in Part 17)", |

| | | "manufactured overseas dividend (in Part 17)", "overseas dividend (in Part 17)", "overseas securities (in Part 17)", "overseas tax (in Part 17)", "prescribed (in Chapter 4 of Part 17)", "stock lending arrangement (in Chapter 5 of Part 17)", and "UK shares (in Part 17)". | 5 |
|-------|------|--|----|
| ГІОР. | A 20 | 010 | |
| 48 | (1) | TIOPA 2010 is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In section 85A(4) (schemes involving deemed foreign tax), omit paragraph (b) of the definition of "real foreign tax". | 10 |
| | (3) | In Schedule 7 (miscellaneous relocations), omit paragraph 113. | |
| | (4) | In Schedule 8 (minor and consequential amendments), omit paragraph 82. | |
| FA 20 | 011 | | |
| 49 | | In Schedule 13 to FA 2011 (profits of foreign permanent establishments), omit paragraphs 22 to 24. | 15 |
| FA 20 |)12 | | |
| 50 | (1) | FA 2012 is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | Omit section 22 (treatment of the receipt of manufactured overseas dividends). | 20 |
| | (3) | In section 78(3) (amounts which are deemed BLAGAB management expense for accounting period), for "783(6), 785(4) or 791(6)" substitute "814C(7)". | |
| | (4) | In Schedule 16 (minor and consequential amendments), omit paragraphs 220 to 223. | |
| | | PART 4 | 25 |
| | | COMMENCEMENT | |
| 51 | | The amendments made by Parts 1 and 2 of this Schedule have effect in relation to any payment representative of a dividend or interest which is made on or after 1 January 2014. | |
| 52 | | The amendments made by Part 3 of this Schedule come into force on that date. | 30 |
| | | | |

SCHEDULE 28

Section 76

CLOSE COMPANIES

Part 1

AMENDMENTS OF PART 10 OF CTA 2010

| 1 | | Dout 10 | of CTA 2010 (class companies) is amonded as follows | E |
|---|-----|---------------------|--|----|
| 1 | | | of CTA 2010 (close companies) is amended as follows. | 5 |
| 2 | (1) | In sect | ion 438 (overview), after subsection (2) insert – | |
| | | "(2A) | Chapter 3A imposes a charge to tax in connection with other arrangements involving close companies and participators. | |
| | | (2B) | Chapter 3B restricts the relief available to close companies in connection with loans, advances and other arrangements." | 10 |
| | (2) | | nendment made by this paragraph is treated as having come into force March 2013. | |
| 3 | (1) | In secti substit | ion 455 (charge to tax in case of loan to participator), for subsection (1) ute— | |
| | | "(1) | This section applies if a close company makes a loan or advances money to— | 15 |
| | | | (a) a relevant person who is a participator in the company or an associate of such a participator, | |
| | | | (b) the trustees of a settlement one or more of the trustees or actual or potential beneficiaries of which is a participator in the company or an associate of such a participator, or | 20 |
| | | | (c) a limited liability partnership or other partnership one or more of the partners in which is an individual who is— | |
| | | | (i) a participator in the company, or(ii) an associate of an individual who is such a participator." | 25 |
| | (2) | | nendment made by this paragraph has effect in relation to a loan or se made on or after 20 March 2013. | |
| 4 | (1) | | ion 459(2) (application of other provisions where loan treated as made icipator), after "458" insert "and 464C and 464D". | 30 |
| | (2) | | nendment made by this paragraph is treated as having come into force March 2013. | |
| 5 | (1) | After C | Chapter 3 insert — | |
| | | | "CHAPTER 3A | |

CHARGE TO TAX: OTHER ARRANGEMENTS

35

464A Charge to tax: arrangements conferring benefit on participator

- (1) This section applies if
 - (a) a close company is at any time a party to tax avoidance arrangements, and

(3)

Part 1 – Amendments of Part 10 of CTA 2010 as a result of those arrangements, a benefit is conferred (whether directly or indirectly) on an individual who is – a participator in the company, or an associate of such a participator. But this section does not apply if, or to the extent that, the conferral 5 of the benefit gives rise to – a charge to tax on the company under section 455, or a charge to income tax on the participator or associate. There is due from the company, as if it were an amount of 10 corporation tax chargeable on the company for the accounting period in which the benefit is conferred on the participator or associate, an amount equal to 25% of the value of the benefit conferred. Tax due under this section in relation to a benefit conferred on a participator or associate is due and payable in accordance with 15 section 59D of TMA 1970 on the day following the end of the period of 9 months from the end of the accounting period in which the benefit was conferred. If a company (C) controls another company (D), a participator in C is to be treated for the purposes of this section as being also a 20 participator in D. For the purposes of this section, arrangements are "tax avoidance arrangements" if the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of the arrangements is – to avoid or reduce, or obtain a relief or increased relief from, 25 a charge to tax on the company under section 455, or to obtain a tax advantage for the participator or associate. In this section – "arrangements" includes any arrangements, scheme or understanding of any kind, whether or not legally 30 enforceable, involving a single transaction or two or more "tax advantage" has the meaning given in section 1139, reading references to tax in that section as references to income tax. 464B Relief in case of return payment to company 35 Subsection (2) applies if a benefit has been conferred which gave rise to a charge to tax on the company under section 464A. Relief is to be given from that tax, or a proportionate part of it, if —

a payment ("the return payment") is made to the company in

no consideration is given for the return payment.

Relief under this section is to be given on a claim, which must be made within 4 years from the end of the financial year in which the 40

respect of the benefit, and

return payment is made to the company.

| | (4) | Subsection (5) applies if the return payment is made on or after the day on which tax under section 464A becomes due and payable in relation to the benefit. | |
|---|-----------|---|----------|
| | (5) | Relief in respect of the return payment may not be given under this section at any time before the end of the period of 9 months from the end of the accounting period in which the return payment was made. | 5 |
| | (6) | Schedule 1A to TMA 1970 (claims and elections not included in return) applies to a claim for relief under this section unless— (a) the claim is included (by amendment or otherwise) in the return for the period in which the benefit was conferred, and (b) the relief may be given at the time the claim is made." | 10 |
| | | amendment made by this paragraph has effect in relation to gements to which a close company becomes a party on or after 20 a 2013. | |
| 6 | (1) After | Chapter 3A insert — | 15 |
| | | "CHAPTER 3B | |
| | | RESTRICTION ON RELIEF | |
| | 464C Re | estriction on relief under sections 458 and 464B | |
| | (1) | Subsection (4) applies where, within any period of 30 days — (a) one or more repayments totalling £5,000 or more are made to a close company in respect of one or more chargeable payments made by the company to a person, and (b) one or more chargeable payments totalling £5,000 or more are made by the company to the person or an associate of the person. | 20 25 |
| | (2) | Subsection (4) also applies where — (a) immediately before a repayment is made, £15,000 or more is owed to a close company in respect of one or more chargeable payments made by the company to a person, (b) at any time after the repayment is made, the close company makes a chargeable payment ("the new payment") to the person or an associate of the person, and (c) the condition in subsection (3) is met. | 30 |
| | (3) | The condition is that, at the time of the repayment — (a) any person intended that the new payment would be made, or (b) arrangements had been made for the new payment to be made. | 35 |
| | (4) | Where this section applies, relief is not to be given under section 458(2) or 464B(2) (or, if already given, is to be withdrawn) in respect of whichever is the lower of the following amounts— (a) the amount repaid, and (b) the amount of— | 40 |

| | Schedule 28 — Close companies Part 1 — Amendments of Part 10 of CTA 2010 | |
|----|---|---------|
| | (i) in a case within subsection (1), the chargeable payments mentioned in paragraph (b) of that subsection, and | |
| | (ii) in a case within subsection (2), the new payment. | |
| 5 | Subsection (4) does not apply in relation to a repayment which gives rise to a charge to income tax on the participator or associate by reference to whom the loan, advance or benefit was a chargeable payment. | (5) |
| 10 | The Treasury may by order vary a sum specified in subsection (1) or (2). | (6) |
| | An order under subsection (6) may contain incidental, supplemental, consequential and transitional provision and savings. | (7) |
| | ection 464C: supplementary | 464D Se |
| 15 | All such assessments and adjustments of assessments are to be made as are necessary to give effect to section 464C(4). | (1) |
| 20 | If a person who has made a tax return becomes aware that, after making it, anything in it has become incorrect because of the operation of section 464C(4), the person must give notice to an officer of Revenue and Customs specifying how the return needs to be amended. | (2) |
| | The notice must be given within 3 months beginning with the day on which the person became aware that anything in the return had become incorrect because of the operation of section 464C(4). | (3) |
| 25 | In section 464C, "chargeable payment" means — (a) a loan or advance made by a close company which gives rise to a charge to tax under section 455, or (b) the conferral of a benefit on an individual in circumstances which give rise to a charge to tax under section 464A. | (4) |
| 30 | In a case within subsection (4)(b) — (a) the conferral of the benefit is to be treated for the purposes of | (5) |

- In a case v
 - the conferral of the benefit is to be treated for the purposes of section 464C as a loan made by the close company to the individual to the value of the benefit conferred, and
 - any payment in respect of which (apart from section 464C) relief is due to the close company under section 464B is to be treated for the purposes of section 464C as a repayment of the loan."

- (2) The amendment made by this paragraph has effect in relation to repayments and return payments made on or after 20 March 2013.
- 7 In section 465 (power to obtain information), after "Chapter 3" (in both 40 places) insert "or 3A".

Part 2

OTHER AMENDMENTS

| Taxes Management Act 1970 | Taxes | Managen | nent Ac | t 1970 |
|---------------------------|-------|---------|---------|--------|
|---------------------------|-------|---------|---------|--------|

| axes | s Ma | nageme | nt Act 1 | 1970 | | | | |
|------|------------------------|---|---|---|----------|--|--|--|
| 8 | | TMA 1970 is amended as follows. | | | | | | |
| 9 | In secti (a) (b) | | tion 59E(11)(a) (provision as to when tax is due and payable) — after "455" insert "or 464A", and after "loan" insert "or benefit". | | | | | |
| 10 | | memb | ers) — after " | 9F(6)(a) (arrangements for paying tax on behalf of group '455" insert "or 464A", and 'loan" insert "or benefit". | 10 | | | |
| 11 | (1) | | | corporation tax on close company in connection with loans to etc) is amended as follows. | | | | |
| | (2) | In sub (a) (b) | | (1)— '459" insert "and 464A and 464B", and y close companies" insert "or benefits". | 15 | | | |
| | (3) | 3) For subsection (3) substitute – | | | | | | |
| | | "(3) | For th (1) abo (a) (b) | the date when tax under section 455 of CTA 2010 became due and payable is that determined in accordance with subsection (3) of that section, and | 20 25 | | | |
| (5 | (4) | After subsection (3A) insert – | | | | | | |
| | | "(3B) | 2010 i under 464A o in resp | re is a payment which for the purposes of section 464B of CTA is a return payment in respect of a benefit conferred, interest a section 87A of this Act on so much of the tax under section of CTA 2010 as is referable to the return payment is not payable pect of any period after the date on which the return payment made." | 30 | | | |
| | (5) | In subsection (4), after "458" insert "or 464B". | | | | | | |
| | (6) | In subsection (5), after "459" insert "or 464A and 464B". | | | | | | |
| | (7) | In the heading, after "loans" insert "or benefits". | | | | | | |
| 12 | | | | nents made by paragraphs 9 to 11 are treated as having come 20 March 2013. | | | | |

Finance Act 1998

(1) Schedule 18 to FA 1998 (company tax returns, assessments and related matters) is amended as follows.

| | Part 2 – Other amendments | |
|----|--|----------|
| | In paragraph 1 (meaning of "tax"), after the entry relating to section 455 of CTA 2010 insert — | (2) |
| | "section 464A of that Act (tax on other benefit conferred on participator),". | |
| 5 | In paragraph 8(1) (calculation of tax payable), in paragraph 1 of the third step— | (3) |
| | (a) after "455" insert "or 464A", and(b) for "or advance made by close company" substitute ", advance or benefit". | |
| 10 | In paragraph 18 (failure to deliver return: tax-related penalty), for sub-paragraph (4) substitute — | (4) |
| 15 | (4) In determining that amount no account is to be taken of – (a) any relief under section 458 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 (relief in respect of repayment, etc of loan) which is deferred under subsection (5) of that section, or (b) any relief under section 464B of that Act (relief in respect of return payment) which is deferred under subsection (5) of that section." | |
| 20 | The amendments made by this paragraph are treated as having come into force on 20 March 2013. | (5) |
| | Tax (Trading and Other Income) Act 2005 | псоте Та |
| | In section 417 of ITTOIA 2005 (person liable for charge on release of loan or advance), for subsection (1) substitute — | 14 (1) |
| 25 | "(1) The person liable for any tax charged under this Chapter is — (a) in the case of a loan or advance made to a partnership, any partner who is an individual, and (b) in any other case, the person to whom the loan or advance was made. | |
| 30 | (1A) If more than one person is liable in a case within subsection (1)(a), the liability is to be apportioned between them in a just and reasonable manner." | |

(2) The amendment made by this paragraph has effect in relation to loans or advances made on or after 20 March 2013.

SCHEDULE 29

Section 86

379

5

15

20

25

30

MISCELLANEOUS AMENDMENTS RELATING TO DECOMMISSIONING

PART 1

ABANDONMENT GUARANTEES AND ABANDONMENT EXPENDITURE

| | | ······ o··· | | | |
|------|------|-------------|------|--|--|
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

- 1 (1) In Part 2 of ITTOIA 2005 (trading income), Chapter 16A (oil activities) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In section 225N (expenditure on and under abandonment guarantees)
 - (a) after subsection (1) insert –

Expenditure on abandonment quarantees

- "(1A) Subsection (2) also applies if expenditure incurred by a participator in an oil field would be so allowable as a result of section 3(1)(hh) of that Act but for the fact that the oil field is a non-taxable oil field within the meaning of Part 3 of FA 1993 (see section 185 of that Act).";
- (b) in subsection (2), for "that expenditure is so allowable" substitute "the expenditure mentioned in subsection (1) or (1A) is or would be so allowable".
- (3) In section 225R (introduction to sections 225S and 225T)
 - (a) in paragraph (a) of subsection (1), omit the words from ", or would apply" to "made";
 - (b) in paragraph (b) of that subsection, after "Schedule" insert ", or would fall to be so attributed if a claim under paragraph 2A(2) of that Schedule were made";
 - (c) after subsection (1) insert
 - "(1A) The condition in subsection (1)(b) is to be treated as met for the purposes of this section if it would be met but for the fact that the contributing participator is (or was) a participator in an oil field that is a non-taxable oil field within the meaning of Part 3 of FA 1993 (see section 185 of that Act).";
 - (d) in subsection (2), before "attributed" insert "or would be".
- 2 (1) In Part 8 of CTA 2010 (oil activities), Chapter 4 (calculation of profits) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In section 292 (expenditure on and under abandonment guarantees)
 - (a) after subsection (1) insert
 - '(1A) Subsection (2) also applies if expenditure incurred by a participator in an oil field would be so allowable as a result of section 3(1)(hh) of that Act but for the fact that the oil field is a non-taxable oil field within the meaning of Part 3 of FA 1993 (see section 185 of that Act).";
 - (b) in subsection (2), for "that expenditure is so allowable" substitute "the expenditure mentioned in subsection (1) or (1A) is or would be so allowable".
 - (3) In section 296 (introduction to sections 297 and 298) –

| | | | Schedule 29 — Miscellaneous amendments relating to decommissioning Part 1 — Abandonment guarantees and abandonment expenditure | |
|------|-------------|---------------------------|--|----|
| | (6 | | agraph (a) of subsection (1), omit the words from ", or would " to "made"; | |
| | (1 | o) in par would | ragraph (b) of that subsection, after "Schedule" insert ", or I fall to be so attributed if a claim under paragraph 2A(2) of that ule were made"; | 5 |
| | (| c) after s | ubsection (1) insert — | |
| | | "(1A) | The condition in subsection (1)(b) is to be treated as met for the purposes of this section if it would be met but for the fact that the contributing participator is (or was) a participator in an oil field that is a non-taxable oil field within the meaning of Part 3 of FA 1993 (see section 185 of that Act)."; | 10 |
| | (0 | d) in sub | section (2), before "attributed" insert "or would be". | |
| Expe | nditure u | nder aband | onment guarantees | |
| 3 | pro | visions), | 3 to OTA 1975 (petroleum revenue tax: miscellaneous in paragraph 8 (certain subsidised expenditure to be after sub-paragraph (1) insert — | 15 |
| | , | for met | sub-paragraph (1) above does not apply to any expenditure which the relevant participator is liable that has been or is to be directly or indirectly out of a payment made by the guarantor ler an abandonment guarantee. | 20 |
| | | (1B) In s | ub-paragraph (1A) above— "abandonment guarantee" has the same meaning as it has for the purposes of section 3 of this Act (see section 104 of the Finance Act 1991), and "the guarantor" and "the relevant participator" have the | 25 |
| | | | same meaning as in section 104 of that Act." | 20 |
| 4 | in t of" | he definiti | to OTA 1975 (allowance of expenditure), in paragraph 2C(2), on of "sum in default", for the words from "less the aggregate substitute "less so much of that payment as has been made by". | 30 |
| 5 | (1) Par | t 3 of FA 1 | 991 (oil taxation) is amended as follows. | |
| | | | 105 (restriction of expenditure relief by reference to payments onment guarantees). | |
| | | it section 1 rantees). | 106 (relief for reimbursement expenditure under abandonment | 35 |

- 6 (1) In Part 2 of ITTOIA 2005 (trading income), Chapter 16A (oil activities) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In section 225N (expenditure on and under abandonment guarantees), omit subsections (3) and (4).
 - (3) Omit section 225O (relief for reimbursement expenditure under 40 abandonment guarantees).
- 7 (1) In Part 8 of CTA 2010 (oil activities), Chapter 4 (calculation of profits) is amended as follows.

Finance (No. 2) Bill 381

Schedule 29 — Miscellaneous amendments relating to decommissioning Part 1 — Abandonment guarantees and abandonment expenditure

(2) In section 292 (expenditure on and under abandonment guarantees), omit subsections (3) and (4). (3) Omit section 293 (relief for reimbursement expenditure under abandonment guarantees). Reimbursement by defaulter in respect of abandonment expenditure 5 8 In Part 3 of FA 1991, omit section 108 (reimbursement by defaulter in respect of certain abandonment expenditure). 9 In Part 2 of ITTOIA 2005, omit section 225T (reimbursement by defaulter in respect of certain abandonment expenditure). 10 In Part 8 of CTA 2010, omit section 298 (reimbursement by defaulter in 10 respect of certain abandonment expenditure). Consequential amendments (1) Section 104 of FA 1991 is amended as follows. 11 (2) In subsection (1), omit "and sections 105 and 106 below". (3) In subsection (2), omit "and section 106 (but not section 105) below". 15 12 In FA 2008, omit section 105. 13 In Part 2 of ITTOIA 2005, Chapter 16A is amended as follows. (1) Section 225N is amended as follows. 14 (2) Omit subsection (5). 20 (3) In subsection (6), in the definition of "abandonment guarantee" – for "section 105 of FA 1991" substitute "section 3 of OTA 1975", and for "that Act" substitute "FA 1991". (b) (4) The heading of that section becomes "Expenditure on abandonment guarantees". 15 Omit sections 225P and 225Q. 25 16 In section 225R (introduction to sections 225S and 225T) – in subsection (1), for "Sections 225S and 225T apply" substitute "Section 225S applies"; the heading of section 225R becomes "Introduction to section 225S". 17 In Part 8 of CTA 2010, Chapter 4 is amended as follows. 30 (1) Section 292 is amended as follows. 18 (2) Omit subsection (5). (3) In subsection (6), in the definition of "abandonment guarantee" – for "section 105 of FA 1991" substitute "section 3 of OTA 1975", and for "that Act" substitute "FA 1991". 35

(4) The heading of that section becomes "Expenditure on abandonment

guarantees".

382 Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 29 - Miscellaneous amendments relating to decommissioning Part 1 – Abandonment guarantees and abandonment expenditure 19 Omit sections 294 and 295. 20 In section 296 (introduction to sections 297 and 298) – in subsection (1), for "Sections 297 and 298 apply" substitute "Section 297 applies"; the heading of section 296 becomes "Introduction to section 297". 5 PART 2 RECEIPTS ARISING FROM DECOMMISSIONING Calculation of profits chargeable to corporation tax and supplementary charge 21 In Chapter 4 of Part 8 of CTA 2010 (oil activities: calculation of profits), after section 298 insert -10 "Receipts arising from decommissioning 298A Receipts arising from decommissioning This section applies if a company that is or has been carrying on a ring fence trade ("the defaulter") has defaulted on a liability under — 15 a relevant agreement, or an abandonment programme, to make a payment towards decommissioning expenditure, another company that is or has been carrying on a ring fence trade ("the contributing company") pays an amount ("the 20 relevant contribution") in or towards meeting the whole or part of the default, and the amount of the relevant contribution is less than the sum of the amounts within subsection (2). 25 The amounts within this subsection are any payments made (directly or indirectly) to the contributing company by the guarantor under an abandonment guarantee as a result of the defaulter defaulting on the liability, 30 any reimbursement payments, and any relief from tax which the contributing company obtains in respect of the relevant contribution. The difference between – the sum of the amounts within subsection (2), and the relevant contribution, 35 ("the relevant difference") is to be treated as a receipt (in the nature of income) of the contributing company's ring fence trade for the

relevant accounting period (see subsection (4)).

This is subject to subsections (5) and (6).

("the certification date").

"The relevant accounting period" means the accounting period that includes the day on which the Secretary of State certifies that the

relevant abandonment programme has been satisfactorily completed

- (5) If the contributing company has ceased to carry on the ring fence trade before the certification date, "the relevant accounting period" is the last accounting period of the trade.
- (6) If the contributing company has ceased to be within the charge to corporation tax in respect of the ring fence trade before the certification date, "the relevant accounting period" is the accounting period during or at the end of which the contributing company ceased to be within the charge to corporation tax in respect of the trade.
- (7) The relevant difference is to be determined
 - (a) in a case where subsection (5) or (6) applies, at the end of the calendar year in which the certification date falls, and
 - (b) in any other case, at the end of the relevant accounting period.
- (8) In a case where subsection (5) or (6) applies, any corporation tax chargeable for the relevant accounting period by virtue of this section is due and payable as if it were corporation tax for an accounting period beginning with the certification date.
- (9) Any additional assessment to corporation tax required in order to take account of a receipt arising under this section may be made at any time not later than 4 years after the end of the calendar year in which the certification date falls.
- (10) In this section
 - "abandonment programme" means an abandonment programme approved under Part 4 of the Petroleum Act 1998 (including such a programme as revised),
 - "decommissioning expenditure" has the meaning given by section 330C,
 - "reimbursement payment" means any payment made to the contributing company by the defaulter in reimbursing the contributing company in respect of, or otherwise making good to the contributing company, the whole or any part of the relevant contribution,
 - "the relevant abandonment programme" means the abandonment programme in respect of which the decommissioning expenditure mentioned in subsection (1)(a) was incurred, and
 - "relevant agreement" has the meaning given by section 104(5)(a) of FA 1991."

Calculation of profits chargeable to income tax

22 In Chapter 16A of Part 2 of ITTOIA 2005 (trading income: oil activities), after section 225U insert —

"Receipts arising from decommissioning

225V Receipts arising from decommissioning

(1) This section applies if –

383

5

10

20

25

30

35

a person that is or has been carrying on a ring fence trade

| Schedule 29 – Miscellaneous amendments relating to decommissioning | |
|--|--|
| Part 2 – Receipts arising from decommissioning | |

23

1 2

| Receipts unstity from decommissioning | |
|---|---|
| "abandonment programme" means an abandonment programme approved under Part 4 of the Petroleum Act 1998 (including such a programme as revised), "decommissioning expenditure" has the meaning given by section 330C of CTA 2010, "reimbursement payment" means any payment made to the contributing person by the defaulter in reimbursing the contributing person in respect of, or otherwise making good to the contributing person, the whole or any part of the relevant contribution, "the relevant abandonment programme" means the abandonment programme in respect of which the decommissioning expenditure mentioned in subsection (1)(a) was incurred, and "relevant agreement" has the meaning given by section 104(5)(a) of FA 1991." | |
| PART 3 | |
| Commencement | |
| The amendments made by this Schedule have effect in relation to expenditure incurred on or after the day on which this Act is passed. | 2 |
| SCHEDULE 30 Section 90 | |
| RESTRICTIONS ON ALLOWANCES FOR CERTAIN OIL-RELATED EXPENDITURE | |
| Part 1 | |
| DECOMMISSIONING EXPENDITURE | |
| CAA 2001 is amended as follows. | 2 |
| After section 165 insert – | |
| "Restrictions on allowances: anti-avoidance | |
| 165A Decommissioning services supplied by connected person | |
| (1) Allowances under this Part are restricted under section 165B(1) if — (a) a person ("R") who is carrying on, or has ceased to carry on, a ring fence trade enters into an arrangement, (b) under the arrangement, a person ("S") who is connected with R provides a service to R, and (c) all or part of the consideration for the service is decommissioning expenditure. | 3 |
| (2) Subsection (1)(b) may be satisfied whether the service is provided to R directly or indirectly; and in particular it does not matter — | |

whether payments are made by R directly to S.

Subsections (4) to (9) apply for the purposes of this section and

sections 165B to 165E. References to providing a service include – (4)letting a ship on charter or any other asset on hire, and providing goods which are to be used up in the course of 5 providing a service. "Decommissioning expenditure" means expenditure in connection with decommissioning. "Decommissioning" means – demolishing plant or machinery, 10 preserving plant or machinery pending its reuse or preparing plant or machinery for reuse, or arranging for the reuse of plant or machinery. It is immaterial for the purposes of subsection (6)(b) whether the 15 plant or machinery is reused, is demolished or is partly reused and partly demolished. It is immaterial for the purposes of subsection (6)(c) and (d) whether the plant or machinery is in fact reused. References to R's expenditure under the arrangement are to so much 20 of the consideration for the service as is decommissioning expenditure incurred by R. 165B Restriction on allowance available The amount, if any, by which R's expenditure under the arrangement exceeds D is to be left out of account in determining R's 25 available qualifying expenditure. D is the cost to S of providing the service or, if R's expenditure under the arrangement relates to only part of the service, that part. Subsection (2) is subject to sections 165C and 165D, which provide (3) for D to be calculated differently in certain circumstances. 30 But if, under any arrangement, a particular service or part of a service is provided by more than one person who is connected with R (so that without this subsection there would be more than one amount for D in relation to that service or part), D is the lowest of those amounts. 35 165C Allowance in respect of certain services related to decommissioning This section applies to so much of R's expenditure under the arrangement as relates to the supply by S of a service if – (a) the service is a planning or project management service, and the cost plus method is an appropriate method of applying 40 the arm's length principle to the provision of it. D is the sum of —

Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 30 - Restrictions on allowances for certain oil-related expenditure

Part 1 – Decommissionin

| Decommiss | ioning exp | penditure | |
|-----------|-------------------|---|---|
| | (a) | the cost to S of providing the service or, if R's expenditure under the arrangement relates to only part of the service, that part, and | |
| | (b) | the appropriate percentage of that amount. | |
| (3) | The ap | opropriate percentage is the smaller of — the appropriate mark up determined in accordance with the cost plus method, and 10%. | |
| (4) | pricing "The t | expression which is used in this section and in the transfer g guidelines has the meaning given in those guidelines. ransfer pricing guidelines" has the meaning given by section of TIOPA 2010. | |
| | | e where decommissioning undertaken for other ors in oil field | |
| (1) | (a) (b) | ection applies where — S decommissions the plant or machinery, there are, in addition to R, one or more other participators in the relevant field, and | |
| | (c) | the expenditure incurred in respect of the decommissioning is apportioned between the participators (including R) in accordance with their shares in the oil won from the relevant field or their shares in the equity of that field. | |
| (2) | | ne part of the expenditure referred to in subsection (1)(c) which turned by R. | |
| (3) | Where (a) | plant or machinery is or has been used in connection with the winning of oil from more than one relevant field, and | |
| | | the expenditure incurred in respect of the decommissioning is apportioned between those fields in accordance with the contribution from each field to the total of the oil won using that plant or machinery, etions (1) and (2) apply to each such field as if subsection (1)(c) and to the expenditure apportioned to that field. | , |
| (4) | | ed to the expenditure apportioned to that field. absections (2) and (3) do not apply (and section 165B(2) applies d) if— | |
| | (a) | the amount of consideration, or the method of determining the amount of consideration, to be received by S under the arrangement or arrangements, or | |
| | (b) | the apportionment of the liability for that consideration (whether between the participators as mentioned in subsection (1)(c) or between the fields as mentioned in subsection (3)(b)), | |
| | has he | on agreed as or as part of an avoidance scheme | |

387

45

has been agreed as, or as part of, an avoidance scheme.

A scheme is an "avoidance scheme" if the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of a party in entering into the scheme is to enable a person to obtain a tax advantage under this Part that would not otherwise be obtained.

| | Part 1 – Decommissioning expenditure | |
|----|---|---------|
| | The reference in subsection (5) to obtaining a tax advantage that would not otherwise be obtained includes obtaining an allowance that is in any way more favourable to a person than the one that would otherwise be obtained. | (6) |
| į | In this section— "licensee", "oil" and "oil field" have the same meaning as in Part 1 of OTA 1975, | (7) |
| 10 | "other participator" means a person, not connected with R, who is a licensee in respect of any licensed area wholly or partly included in the oil field in question, and "relevant field" means an oil field — | |
| | (a) in which plant or machinery is located, or | |
| 15 | (b) in connection with which the plant or machinery is being or has been used for the purposes of a ring fence trade. | |
| | ransaction to obtain tax advantage | 165E Tr |
| | Allowances under this Part are restricted under subsection (5) if — | (1) |
| 20 | (a) a person ("R") who is carrying on, or has ceased to carry on, a ring fence trade enters into a transaction with another person ("S"), | |
| | (b) S receives from R consideration for services provided in pursuance of the transaction, | |
| | (c) all or part of that consideration is decommissioning expenditure, and | |
| 25 | (d) the transaction either has an avoidance purpose, or is part of, or occurs as a result of, a scheme or arrangement that has an avoidance purpose. | |
| | Subsection (1)(d) may be satisfied – | (2) |
| 30 | (a) whether the scheme or arrangement was made before or after the transaction was entered into, and | |
| | (b) whether or not the scheme or arrangement is legally enforceable. | |
| | A transaction, scheme or arrangement has an "avoidance purpose" if the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of a party in — | (3) |
| 35 | (a) entering into the transaction, scheme or arrangement, or | |
| | (b) agreeing an amount of consideration, or a method of determining an amount of consideration, to be paid in pursuance of the transaction, scheme or arrangement, | |
| 40 | is to enable a person to obtain a tax advantage under this Part that would not otherwise be obtained. | |
| | The reference in subsection (3) to obtaining a tax advantage that would not otherwise be obtained includes obtaining an allowance that is in any way more favourable to a person than the one that | (4) |

of account in determining R's available qualifying expenditure.

All or part of R's expenditure under the transaction is to be left out

45

(6) The amount of expenditure to be left out of account is —

would otherwise be obtained.

Schedule 30 - Restrictions on allowances for certain oil-related expenditure Part 1 — Decommissioning expenditure

| | | (a) (b) | such amount as would or would in effect cancel out the tax advantage mentioned in subsection (3) (whether that advantage is obtained by R or another person and whether it relates to the transaction or something else), or if the amount found under paragraph (a) exceeds the whole of R's expenditure under the transaction, the whole of that expenditure." | 5 |
|---|---------|-------------------|--|----------|
| 3 | | | 5), at the end insert "and sections 165A to 165E (restrictions on nti-avoidance)." | |
| 4 | In sect | ` | 8), after the reference to section 70DA insert—sections 165A to 165E (restrictions on allowances: antiavoidance);". | 10 |
| 5 | In sect | tion 1610 | C(3), for "and 164(4)" substitute ", 164(4) and 165A to 165E". | |
| 6 | In sect | ion 164(| (5A), at the end insert "and sections 165A to 165E." | |
| 7 | After | section 1 | 165(3) insert — | 15 |
| | "(3A) | Subsec | ction (3) is subject to sections 165A to 165E." | |
| 8 | incurr | | ents made by this Part have effect in relation to expenditure ecommissioning carried out on or after the day on which this | |
| | | | Part 2 | 20 |
| | | | EXPENDITURE ON SITE RESTORATION | |
| 9 | After | section 4 | 416ZB of CAA 2001 (inserted by section 89) insert – | |
| | | | coration services supplied by connected person | |
| | (1) | Where | | |
| | (-) | (a) (b) (c) | a person ("R") who is carrying on, or has ceased to carry on, a ring fence trade enters into an arrangement, under the arrangement, a person ("S") who is connected with R provides a service to R in connection with work on the restoration of a relevant site, and (in the absence of this section) all or part of the consideration | 25 30 |
| | | | for the service would be qualifying expenditure of R under section 416ZA, nount of the expenditure which is qualifying expenditure is ted under section 416ZD(1). | |
| | (2) | | etion (1)(b) may be satisfied whether the service is provided to etly or indirectly; and in particular it does not matter—whether R and S are parties to the same contract, or whether payments are made by R directly to S. | 35 |
| | (3) | | ctions (4) and (5) apply for the purposes of this section and as 416ZD and 416ZE. | 40 |
| | (4) | "Relev | ant site" has the meaning given by section 416ZA(8). | |
| | (5) | Refere | nces to providing a service include – | |

(b) providing goods which are to be used up in the course of providing a service.

416ZD Restriction on allowance available

- (1) In determining how much of the consideration for the service is qualifying expenditure, there is to be left out of account the amount (if any) by which that consideration exceeds D.
- (2) D is the cost to S of providing the service or, if the qualifying expenditure relates to only part of the service, that part.
- (3) Subsection (2) is subject to –

10

5

- (a) subsection (4), and
- (b) section 416ZE,

which provide for D to be calculated differently in certain circumstances.

- (4) The following provisions apply in relation to an amount restricted under subsection (1) as they apply in relation to an amount restricted under section 165B(1)
 - (a) section 165C;
 - (b) section 165E, subject to the modifications in subsection (5).
- (5) The modifications are that —

20

25

30

15

- (a) the references to Part 2 are to be read as references to this Part,
- (b) in subsection (1)(c), the reference to decommissioning expenditure is to be read as a reference to qualifying expenditure under section 416ZA, and
- (c) in subsection (5), the reference to R's available qualifying expenditure is to be read as a reference to R's qualifying expenditure on the restoration of the site.
- (6) But if, under the arrangement, a particular service or part of a service is provided by more than one person who is connected with R (so that without this subsection there would be more than one amount for D in relation to that service or part), D is the lowest of those amounts.

416ZE Allowance where site restoration undertaken for other participators in oil field

(1) This section applies where –

- (a) S carries out the restoration of a relevant site,
- (b) there are, in addition to R, one or more other participators in the relevant field, and
- (c) the expenditure incurred in carrying out the restoration is apportioned between the participators (including R) in accordance with their shares in the oil won from the relevant field or their shares in the equity of that field.
- (2) D is the part of the expenditure referred to in subsection (1)(c) which is incurred by R.
- (3) Where— 45

Part 2 - Expenditure on site restoration

10

11

passed.

Schedule 30 - Restrictions on allowances for certain oil-related expenditure a relevant site has been used in connection with the winning of oil from more than one relevant field, and the expenditure incurred in respect of the restoration is apportioned between those fields in accordance with the contribution from each field to the total of the oil won using 5 that site. subsections (1) and (2) apply to each such field as if subsection (1)(c) referred to the expenditure apportioned to that field. But subsections (2) and (3) do not apply (and section 416ZD(2) applies instead) if — 10 the amount of consideration, or the method of determining the amount of consideration, to be received by S under the arrangement or arrangements, or the apportionment of the liability for that consideration (whether between the participators as mentioned in 15 subsection (1)(c) or between the fields as mentioned in subsection (3)(b), has been agreed as, or as part of, an avoidance scheme. A scheme is an "avoidance scheme" if the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of a party in entering into the scheme is to enable a 20 person to obtain a tax advantage under this Part that would not otherwise be obtained. The reference in subsection (5) to obtaining a tax advantage that would not otherwise be obtained includes obtaining an allowance that is in any way more favourable to a person than the one that 25 would otherwise be obtained. In relation to the restoration of a relevant site, "relevant field" means any of the following the oil field in which the site is located; (a) if the site is the site of a source to the working of which a ring 30 fence trade relates (or related), an oil field from which oil is or has been won by means of working the source; if the site is land used in connection with working such a source, an oil field from which oil is or has been won by means of working the source. 35 In this section – "licensee", "oil" and "oil field" have the same meaning as in Part 1 of OTA 1975, and "other participator" means a person, not connected with R, who is a licensee in respect of any licensed area wholly or partly 40

included in the oil field in question."

for "Chapter 4 contains" substitute "Chapters 4 and 5 contain".

In section 395(3) of that Act (provisions limiting "qualifying expenditure")

The amendments made by this Part have effect in relation to expenditure incurred on restoration carried out on or after the day on which this Act is

391

Part 3

AMENDMENTS OF TIOPA 2010

| 12 | Part 4 | of TIOPA 2010 (transfer pricing) is amended as follows. | |
|----|--------|---|----|
| 13 | | tion 147(6) (list of exceptions to the basic rule stated in that section), paragraph (b) insert— "(ba) section 206A (modification of basic rule where allowances restricted for certain oil-related expenditure),". | 5 |
| 14 | After | section 206 insert — | |
| | | Modification of basic rule where allowances restricted for certain spenditure | 10 |
| | (1) | (a) in a case to which section 165A(1) of CAA 2001 (restriction of allowances for decommissioning expenditure) applies, R's available qualifying expenditure is restricted under section 165B(2) or 165C of that Act, or (b) in a case to which section 416ZC(1) of that Act (restriction of allowances for expenditure on site restoration) applies, R's qualifying expenditure is restricted under section 416ZD(2) or section 165C as applied by section 416ZD(4)(a) of that Act. | 15 |
| | (2) | In calculating for tax purposes S's profits and losses in relation to the service provided by S to R, the amount which S is required to bring into account is an amount equal to R's expenditure (restricted as mentioned in subsection (1)(a) or (b)). | 20 |
| | (3) | Section 147(3) and (5) do not apply to the extent that they are inconsistent with subsection (2). | 25 |
| | (4) | In this section "R" and "S" have the meaning given by section 165A or 416ZC of CAA 2001 (as the case may be)." | |

- In section 213 (effect of Part 4 on capital allowances), after subsection (2) insert
 - "(3) But a claim under section 174 may not be made if the claim would affect the operation of sections 165A to 165E or 416ZC to 416ZE of CAA 2001."
- The amendments made by this Part have effect for accounting periods ending on or after the day on which this Act is passed.

Part 1 – Returns

SCHEDULE 31

Section 160

ANNUAL TAX ON ENVELOPED DWELLINGS: RETURNS, ENQUIRIES, ASSESSMENTS AND APPEALS

| 1 | Р | A | Ţ | ? | Г | 1 | |
|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|
| | | | | | | | |

RETURNS

5

Contents of return

- 1 (1) The Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs may by regulations make provision about—
 - (a) the form and content of a return;
 - (b) the method of delivering a return.

10

- (2) Regulations under sub-paragraph (1) may make different provision for different purposes.
- (3) Every return must include a declaration by the person making it to the effect that the return is correct and complete to the best of the person's knowledge.
- (4) A return is treated as containing any information provided by the person making the return for the purpose of completing the return.
- References in this Part of this Act to the delivery of an annual tax on enveloped dwellings return are to the delivery of a return that complies with all requirements imposed by or under any of sections 157, 158 and 158 and paragraph 1.

20

15

Amendment of return by chargeable person

- 3 (1) A person who has delivered a return may amend the return by notice to an officer of Revenue and Customs.
 - (2) The Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs may require that notices under this paragraph –

25

- (a) are in a specified form, or
- (b) contain specified information.
- (3) An amendment under this paragraph must be made by the end of the next chargeable period after the chargeable period to which the return relates (but see the exception that follows).

30

(4) If a return is delivered on or after 1 January in the chargeable period next after that to which it relates, the latest time for amending the return under this paragraph is the end of the period of 3 months after the day on which the return is delivered.

Correction of return by HMRC

35

- 4 (1) An officer of Revenue and Customs may correct any obvious error or omission in a return.
 - (2) A correction under this paragraph
 - (a) is made by notice to the chargeable person, and
 - (b) is regarded as effecting an amendment of the return.

(3) The reference in sub-paragraph (1) to an error includes, for instance, an arithmetical mistake or an error of principle. (4) A correction under this paragraph must be made within the 9 months beginning with the day on which the return was delivered, or 5 (a) if the correction is needed as a result of an amendment under paragraph 3, the day on which the amendment was made. (5) A correction under this paragraph has no effect if the chargeable person – amends the return so as to reject the correction, or gives a notice rejecting the correction in the special period mentioned 10 in sub-paragraph (6). (6) A notice is given in the "special period" if it is given – after the end of the period within which the chargeable person may amend the return, but before the end of the 3 months beginning with the date of issue of the 15 notice of correction. (7) A notice under sub-paragraph (5)(b) must be given to HMRC. PART 2 DUTY TO KEEP AND PRESERVE RECORDS 20 Duty to keep and preserve records (1) A person who is required to deliver a return for a chargeable period must keep any records that may be needed to enable the person to deliver a correct and complete return, and preserve those records in accordance with this paragraph. (2) The records must be preserved until the end of the later of the relevant day 25 and the date on which an enquiry into the return is completed, or if there is no enquiry, an officer of Revenue and Customs no longer has power to enquire into the return. (3) "The relevant day" means – 30 the sixth anniversary of the last day of the chargeable period, or any earlier day that may be specified in writing by the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs. (4) Different days may be specified for different purposes under sub-paragraph (3)(b). 35 (5) The records required to be kept and preserved under this paragraph include – details of any relevant transaction (including any contract or (a) conveyance and any supporting maps, plans or similar documents and records of relevant payments, receipts and financial 40 arrangements); records of any valuation of the single-dwelling interest relevant to its value on any day in the chargeable period.

Schedule 31 – Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: returns, enquiries, assessments and appeals Part 2 – Duty to keep and preserve records

| | | | • | |
|-------|---------|----------------------|--|--|
| | (6) | | Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs may by tions – | |
| | | (a) | provide that the records required to be kept under this paragraph do, or do not, include records specified in the regulations; | |
| | | (b) | specify supporting documents that are required to be kept under this paragraph. | |
| | (7) | things Majest | ations under this paragraph may make provision by reference to specified in a notice published by the Commissioners for Herry's Revenue and Customs in accordance with the regulations (and not rawn by a subsequent notice). | |
| | (8) | | orting documents" includes accounts, books, deeds, contracts, ers and receipts. | |
| Prese | rvati | ion of in | formation etc | |
| 6 | | The du (a) (b) | by preserving them in any form and by any means, or by preserving the information contained in them in any form and by any means, subject to any conditions or exceptions specified in writing by the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs. | |
| Penal | lty fo | r failure | e to keep and preserve records | |
| 7 | (1) | | son who fails to comply with paragraph 5 in relation to a chargeable is liable to a penalty not exceeding £3,000, subject to the following ion. | |
| | (2) | any fac would | nalty is incurred if an officer of Revenue and Customs is satisfied that its that it is reasonable to require should be proved to HMRC, and that have been proved by the records, are proved by other documentary are provided to them. | |
| | | | Part 3 | |
| | | | Enquiry into return | |
| Notic | ce of o | enquiry | | |
| 8 | (1) | | ficer of Revenue and Customs may enquire into a return if sub- raph (2) has been complied with. | |
| | (2) | Notice (a) | of the intention to make an enquiry must be given— to the person by whom or on whose behalf the return was delivered ("the relevant person"); | |
| | | (b) | before the end of the period of 12 months after the relevant date. | |
| | (3) | The re (a) (b) | levant date is— the filing date, if the return was delivered on or before that date; the date on which the return was delivered, if the return was delivered after the filing date; | |

| | | (c) the date on which the amendment was made, if the return is amended under paragraph 3 (amendment by person making the return). | |
|-------|-------|---|----|
| | (4) | A return that has been the subject of one notice under this paragraph may not be the subject of another, except a notice given in consequence of an amendment (or another amendment) of the return under paragraph 3. | 5 |
| | (5) | A notice under this paragraph is referred to as a "notice of enquiry". | |
| Scope | of ei | nquiry | |
| 9 | (1) | An enquiry extends to anything contained in the return, or required to be contained in the return, that relates— (a) to the question whether the relevant person is chargeable to tax with respect to the interest to which the return relates for the chargeable period concerned, or | 10 |
| | | (b) to the amount of tax chargeable on the relevant person with respect to that interest for that period. | 15 |
| | (2) | Sub-paragraph (3) applies if the notice of enquiry is given as a result of the amendment of a return under paragraph 3 (amendment by person making the return) — | |
| | | (a) at a time when it is no longer possible to give a notice of enquiry under paragraph 8(3)(a) or (b), or(b) after an enquiry into the return has been completed. | 20 |
| | (3) | The enquiry is limited to— (a) matters to which the amendment relates, and (b) matters affected by the amendment. | |
| Amen | dme | ent of self assessment during enquiry to prevent loss of tax | 25 |
| 10 | (1) | If at a time when an enquiry is in progress into a return an officer of Revenue and Customs forms the opinion— (a) that the amount stated in the self assessment contained in the return as the amount of tax payable is insufficient, and | |
| | | (b) that unless the assessment is immediately amended there is likely to be a loss of tax to the Crown, the officer may by notice in writing to the relevant person amend the assessment to make good the deficiency. | 30 |
| | (2) | If the enquiry is one that is limited by paragraph 9(2) and (3) to matters arising from an amendment of the return, sub-paragraph (1) above applies only so far as the deficiency is attributable to the amendment. | 35 |
| | (3) | For the purposes of this paragraph the period during which an enquiry is in progress is the whole of the period — (a) beginning with the day on which the notice of enquiry is given, and (b) ending with the day on which the enquiry is completed. | 40 |

Finance (No. 2) Bill
Schedule 31. Annual tax on enzyloned dynellings; returns, enquiries, assessments and annuals

Referral of questions to tribunal during enquiry

- 11 (1) At any time when an enquiry is in progress into a return any question arising in connection with the subject-matter of the return may be referred to the tribunal for determination.
 - (2) Notice of the referral must be given to the tribunal jointly by the relevant person and an officer of Revenue and Customs.

5

10

15

20

25

35

40

- (3) More than one notice of referral may be given under this paragraph in relation to an enquiry.
- (4) For the purposes of this paragraph the period during which an enquiry is in progress is the whole of the period
 - (a) beginning with the day on which the notice of enquiry is given, and
 - (b) ending with the day on which the enquiry is completed.

Withdrawal of notice of referral

An officer of Revenue and Customs or the relevant person may withdraw a notice of referral under paragraph 11.

Effect of referral on enquiry

- 13 (1) While proceedings on a referral under paragraph 11 are in progress in relation to an enquiry
 - (a) no closure notice may be given in relation to the enquiry, and
 - (b) no application may be made for a direction to give a closure notice.
 - (2) Proceedings on a referral are "in progress" where
 - (a) notice of referral has been given and has not been withdrawn, and
 - (b) the questions referred have not been finally determined.
 - (3) A question referred has been "finally determined" when
 - (a) it has been determined by the tribunal, and
 - (b) there is no further possibility of the determination being varied or set aside (disregarding any power to grant permission to appeal out of time).

Effect of determination

- 14 (1) A determination under paragraph 11 is binding on the parties to the referral in the same way, and to the same extent, as a decision on a preliminary issue in an appeal.
 - (2) The officer of Revenue and Customs conducting the enquiry must take the determination into account
 - (a) in reaching conclusions on the enquiry, and
 - (b) in the formulation of any amendments of the return that may be required to give effect to those conclusions.
 - (3) The question determined may not be reopened on an appeal, except to the extent that it could be reopened if it had been determined as a preliminary issue in that appeal.

| Tribunal | to | which | referra | ıls | are | made |
|----------|----|-------|---------|-----|-----|------|
| | | | | | | |

| 15 | (1) | Where the question to be referred under paragraph 11 is of the market value of any single-dwelling interest, the referral is to be made to— (a) the Upper Tribunal, if the land is in England and Wales; (b) the Lands Tribunal for Scotland, if the land is in Scotland; (c) the Lands Tribunal for Northern Ireland, if the land is in Northern Ireland. |
|------|-------|---|
| | (2) | In any other case a referral under paragraph 11 is to be made to— (a) the First-tier Tribunal, or (b) where determined by or under Tribunal Procedure Rules, the Upper Tribunal. |
| | (3) | References to "the tribunal" in paragraphs 11 and 13 are to be read accordingly. |
| Сотр | letio | n of enquiry |
| 16 | (1) | An enquiry under paragraph 8 is completed when an officer of Revenue and Customs informs the relevant person by a notice (a "closure notice") that the enquiry is complete and states the conclusions reached in the enquiry. |
| | (2) | A closure notice must either — (a) state that in the officer's opinion no amendment of the return is required, or (b) make the amendments of the return required to give effect to the officer's conclusions. |
| | (3) | A closure notice takes effect when it is issued. |

Direction to complete enquiry

- 17 (1) The relevant person may apply to the tribunal for a direction that a closure 25 notice is to be given within a specified period.
 - (2) The tribunal hearing the application must give a direction unless satisfied that HMRC have reasonable grounds for not giving a closure notice within that period.
 - (3) In this paragraph "the tribunal" means –

30

35

- (a) the First-tier Tribunal, or
- (b) where determined by or under Tribunal Procedure Rules, the Upper Tribunal.

Part 4

HMRC DETERMINATION WHERE NO RETURN DELIVERED

Determination of tax chargeable if no return delivered

- 18 (1) This paragraph applies where condition A or condition B is met.
 - (2) Condition A is that—

Schedule 31 — Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: returns, enquiries, assessments and appeals Part 4 — HMRC determination where no return delivered

| | | (a) | an officer of Revenue and Customs has reason to believe that a person ("P") is chargeable to tax for a chargeable period in respect of a single-dwelling interest, | |
|-------|-----|---------------|---|----|
| | | (b) | P has not made an annual tax on enveloped dwellings return for the period in respect of the interest, and | 5 |
| | | (c) | the relevant filing date has passed. | |
| | (3) | Condi | tion B is that — | |
| | | (a) (b) | an officer of Revenue and Customs has reason to believe that additional tax is payable by a person ("P") under section 161(3) for a chargeable period in respect of a single-dwelling interest, P has not made an annual tax on enveloped dwellings return for the | 10 |
| | | (c) | period in respect of the interest, and the relevant filing date has passed. | |
| | (4) | | relevant filing date" means the date by which the officer believes a was required to be delivered. | 15 |
| | (5) | best of | fficer may make a determination (an "HMRC determination") to the the officer's information and belief of the amount of tax to which P is eable for the period concerned with respect to the interest. | |
| | (6) | | e of the determination must be given to P and must state the date on it is issued. | 20 |
| | (7) | | MRC determination may be made more than 4 years after the end of argeable period to which it relates. | |
| Deter | min | ation to | have effect as a self assessment | |
| 19 | (1) | | ermination under paragraph 18 has effect for enforcement purposes as ere a self assessment made by P. | 25 |
| | (2) | | -paragraph (1) "for enforcement purposes" means for the purposes of a 163 and Schedule 12 to FA 2003 (collection and recovery of tax etc). | |
| | (3) | | ng in this paragraph affects any liability of a person to a penalty for to deliver a return. | |
| Deter | min | ation su | perseded by actual self assessment | 30 |
| 20 | (1) | charge | r an HMRC determination has been made P delivers a return for the cable period with respect to the interest in question, the self assessment ed in that return supersedes the determination. | |
| | (2) | Sub-pa (a) | aragraph (1) does not apply to a return delivered — more than 4 years after the power to make the determination first became exercisable, or | 35 |
| | | (b) which | more than 12 months after the date of the determination, ever is the later. | |
| | (3) | Where | ·— | |
| | | (a) | proceedings have been begun for the recovery of any tax charged by an HMRC determination, and | 40 |
| | | (b) | before the proceedings are concluded the determination is superseded by a self assessment, | |

the proceedings may be continued as if they were proceedings for the recovery of so much of the tax charged by the self assessment as is due and payable and has not yet been paid.

Part 5

| | | HMRC ASSESSMENTS | 5 | | |
|--|------|---|----|--|--|
| Asses | smei | t where loss of tax discovered | | | |
| 21 | (1) | Sub-paragraph (2) applies if an officer of Revenue and Customs discovers that— | | | |
| | | (a) an amount of tax that ought to have been assessed under this Part of this Act as tax chargeable on a person for a chargeable period with respect to a single-dwelling interest has not been assessed, | 10 | | |
| | | (b) an assessment of the tax chargeable on a person for a chargeable period in respect of a single-dwelling interest is or has become insufficient, or | | | |
| | | (c) relief has been given that is or has become excessive. | 15 | | |
| (2) An officer of Revenue and Customs may make an assessment (a "discover assessment") in the amount or further amount that ought in the officer opinion to be charged in order to make good to the Crown the loss of tax. | | | | | |
| | (3) | The functions of an officer of Revenue and Customs under this paragraph are also exercisable by the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs. | 20 | | |
| Asses | smei | t to recover excessive repayment of tax | | | |
| 22 | (1) | If an amount of tax has been, but ought not to have been, repaid to a person | | | |

- that amount may be assessed and recovered as if it were unpaid tax.
 - (2) If the repayment was made with interest, the amount assessed and 25 recovered may include the amount of interest that ought not to have been paid.

30

35

40

References to "the taxpayer"

23 In paragraphs 24 to 27 references to "the taxpayer" are to the person mentioned in paragraph 21(1)(a) or (b) or 22(1).

Conditions for making assessment where return has been delivered

- (1) If the taxpayer has delivered a return in respect of the interest in question for the chargeable period in question, an assessment under paragraph 21 or 22 may only be made in the two cases specified in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3). See also the further restriction in sub-paragraph (7).
 - (2) The first case is where the situation mentioned in paragraph 21(1) or 22(1) was brought about carelessly or deliberately by –
 - the taxpayer,
 - a person acting on behalf of the taxpayer, or
 - a person who was a partner of the taxpayer at the relevant time.

Finance (No. 2) Bill

Color let 1 21 A mark to a series of the little and the lit

Schedule 31 — Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: returns, enquiries, assessments and appeals Part 5 — HMRC assessments

(b) completed their enquiries into the return.

| (3) | The second case is where it could not reasonably have been expected that an officer of Revenue and Customs in possession of the information made available to HMRC before the relevant time would be aware at the relevant time of the situation mentioned in paragraph 21(1) or 22(1). |
|-----|---|
| (4) | In sub-paragraph (3) "the relevant time" means the time HMRC— (a) ceased to be entitled to give a notice of enquiry into the return, or |

- (5) For this purpose information is regarded as made available to HMRC if
 - (a) it is contained in a return delivered by the taxpayer,
 - (b) it is contained in any documents produced or information provided to an officer of Revenue and Customs for the purposes of an enquiry into any such return,

5

10

15

25

30

35

40

45

- (c) it is information the existence and relevance of which officers of Revenue and Customs could reasonably have been expected to infer from information made available as mentioned in paragraph (a) or (b), or
- (d) it is information the existence and relevance of which was notified to an officer of Revenue and Customs by the taxpayer or a person acting on the taxpayer's behalf.
- (6) In sub-paragraph (5)(c) and (d) "relevance" means relevance as regards the situation mentioned in paragraph 21(1) or 22(1).
- (7) No assessment may be made under paragraph 21 or 22 if
 - (a) the situation mentioned in paragraph 21(1) or 22(1) is attributable to a mistake in the return as to the basis on which the tax liability ought to have been calculated, and
 - (b) the return was in fact made on the basis prevailing, or in accordance with the practice generally prevailing, at the time it was made.

Time limit for assessments

- 25 (1) The general rule is that no assessment may be made more than 4 years after the end of the chargeable period to which the assessment relates.
 - (2) An assessment of a person to tax in a case involving a loss of tax brought about carelessly by the taxpayer or a related person may be made up to 6 years after the end of the chargeable period to which the assessment relates.
 - (3) An assessment to which this sub-paragraph applies may be made up to 20 years after the end of the chargeable period to which the assessment relates.
 - (4) Sub-paragraph (3) applies to an assessment of a person in any case involving a loss of tax
 - (a) brought about deliberately by the taxpayer or a related person,
 - (b) attributable to a failure by the taxpayer to comply with obligations under section 157(1) or 157(1) (duty to make annual tax on enveloped dwellings return or return of adjusted chargeable amount, or
 - (c) attributable to arrangements in respect of which the person has failed to comply with an obligation under section 309, 310 or 313 of FA 2004 (obligation of parties to tax avoidance schemes to provide information to HMRC).

40

(5) An assessment under paragraph 22 (assessment to recover excessive repayment of tax) is not out of time if it is made while an enquiry is in progress into a relevant return, or within the period of one year beginning with the date on which the repayment in question was made. 5 (6) In sub-paragraph (5) – "in progress" is to be read in accordance with paragraph 11(4); "relevant return" means a return delivered by the taxpayer and relating to the chargeable period and the interest in question. 10 (7) If the taxpayer has died any assessment on the personal representatives must be made within 4 years after the death, and an assessment is not to be made by virtue of sub-paragraph (2) in respect of a chargeable period that ended more than 6 years before the death. 15 (8) Any objection to the making of an assessment on the ground that the time limit for making it has expired can only be made on an appeal against the assessment. (9) In this paragraph "related person", in relation to the taxpayer, means – (a) a person acting on the taxpayer's behalf, or 20 (b) a person who was the partner of the taxpayer at the relevant time. Losses brought about carelessly or deliberately 26 (1) This paragraph applies for the purposes of paragraph 25. (2) A loss of tax is brought about carelessly by a person if the person fails to take reasonable care to avoid bringing about that loss. 25 (3) Sub-paragraph (4) applies where – information is provided to HMRC, the person who provided the information, or the person on whose behalf the information was provided, discovers some time later that 30 the information was inaccurate, and that person fails to take reasonable steps to inform HMRC. (4) Any loss of tax brought about by the inaccuracy is to be treated as having been brought about carelessly by that person. (5) References to a loss of tax brought about deliberately by a person include a loss of tax brought about as a result of a deliberate inaccuracy in a document 35 given to HMRC by or on behalf of that person. Assessment procedure (1) Notice of an assessment must be served on the taxpayer. (2) The notice must state —

the tax due.

the date on which the notice is issued, and

the time within which any appeal against the assessment must be

Finance (No. 2) Bill

School also 31. Annual tax on expelored dynallinger naturals and garden and garden.

Schedule 31 — Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: returns, enquiries, assessments and appeals Part 5 — HMRC assessments

(3) After notice of the assessment has been served on the taxpayer, the assessment may not be altered except in accordance with the express provisions of this Part of this Act.

(4) Where an officer of Revenue and Customs has decided to make an assessment to tax, and has taken all other decisions needed for arriving at the amount of the assessment, the officer may entrust to some other officer of Revenue and Customs the responsibility for completing the assessing procedure, whether by means involving the use of a computer or otherwise, including responsibility for serving notice of the assessment.

PART 6 10

RELIEF IN CASE OF OVERPAID TAX OR EXCESSIVE ASSESSMENT

Relief in case of double assessment

- 28 (1) A person who believes that tax has been assessed on that person more than once in respect of the same matter may make a claim to the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs for relief against any double charge.
 - (2) Schedule 11A to FA 2003 (claims not included in returns) applies in relation to a claim under sub-paragraph (1) as it applies to a claim such as is mentioned in paragraph 1 of that Schedule.

Claim for relief for overpaid tax etc

20

25

30

15

5

- 29 (1) This paragraph applies where
 - (a) a person has paid an amount by way of tax but believes the tax was not chargeable, or
 - (b) a person has been assessed as chargeable to an amount of tax, or a determination has been made that a person is chargeable to an amount of tax but the person believes the tax is not chargeable.
 - (2) The person may make a claim to the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs for the amount to be repaid or discharged.
 - (3) Where this paragraph applies, the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs are not liable to give relief, except as provided in this Schedule or by or under any other provision of this Part of this Act.
 - (4) For the purposes of this paragraph and paragraphs 30 to 34, an amount paid by one person on behalf of another is treated as paid by the other person.

Cases in which Commissioners are not liable to give effect to a claim

- 30 (1) The Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs are not liable to give effect to a claim under paragraph 29 if or to the extent that the claim falls within a case described in this paragraph.
 - (2) Case A is where the amount of tax paid, or liable to be paid, is excessive because of
 - (a) a mistake in a claim, or 40
 - (b) a mistake consisting of making, or failing to make, a claim.

(3) Case B is where the claimant is or will be able to seek relief by taking other steps under this Part of this Act. (4) Case C is where the claimant – could have sought relief by taking such steps within a period that has now expired, and 5 knew or ought reasonably to have known, before the end of that period, that such relief was available. (5) Case D is where the claim is made on grounds that have been put to a court or tribunal in the course of an appeal by the claimant relating to the amount paid or liable to be paid, or 10 have been put to HMRC in the course of an appeal by the claimant relating to that amount that is treated as having been determined by a tribunal (by virtue of paragraph 46 (settling of appeals by agreement). (6) Case E is where the claimant knew, or ought reasonably to have known, of 15 the grounds for the claim before the latest of the following – the date on which a relevant appeal in the course of which the ground could have been put forward was determined by a court or tribunal (or is treated as having been so determined); the date on which the claimant withdrew a relevant appeal to a court 20 the end of the period in which the claimant was entitled to make a relevant appeal to a court or tribunal. In this sub-paragraph "relevant appeal" means an appeal by the claimant relating to the amount paid or liable to be paid. 25 (7) Case F is where the amount in question was paid or is liable to be paid in consequence of proceedings enforcing the payment of that amount brought against the claimant by HMRC, or in accordance with an agreement between the claimant and HMRC settling such proceedings. 30 (8) Case G is where – the amount paid, or liable to be paid, is excessive by reason of a mistake in calculating the claimant's liability to tax, and liability was calculated in accordance with the practice generally prevailing at the time. 35 (9) Case G does not apply where the amount paid, or liable to be paid, is tax which has been charged contrary to EU law. (10) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9), an amount of tax is charged contrary to EU law if, in the circumstances in question, the charge to tax is contrary 40 to – (a) the provisions relating to the free movement of goods, persons, services and capital in Titles II and IV of Part 3 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, or the provisions of any subsequent treaty replacing the provisions (b) mentioned in paragraph (a). 45

Making a claim

| 31 | (1) | A claim under paragraph 29 must be made within the period of 4 years after |
|----|-----|---|
| | . , | the end of the chargeable period to which the payment by way of tax, or the |
| | | assessment or determination, relates. |

- (2) A claim under paragraph 29 may not be made by being included in a return. 5
- (3) Schedule 11A to FA 2003 (claims not included in returns) applies in relation to a claim under paragraph 29 as it applies to a claim such as is mentioned in paragraph 1 of that Schedule.

The claimant: partnerships

- (1) This paragraph is about the application of paragraph 29 in a case where 10 either -
 - (in a case falling within sub-paragraph (1)(a) of that paragraph) the person paid the amount in question in the capacity of a responsible partner or representative partner, or
 - (in a case falling within sub-paragraph (1)(b) of that paragraph) the assessment was made on, or the determination related to the liability of, the person in such a capacity.
 - (2) In such a case, only a relevant person who has been nominated to do so by all of the relevant persons may make a claim under paragraph 29 in respect of the amount in question.
 - (3) The relevant persons are all the persons who would have been liable as responsible partners to pay the amount in question had the payment been due or (in a case falling within sub-paragraph (1)(b)) had the assessment or determination been correctly made.

Assessment of claimant in connection with claim

- (1) This paragraph applies where
 - a claim is made under paragraph 29 (relief for overpaid tax etc),
 - the grounds for giving effect to the claim also provide grounds for a discovery assessment on the claimant in respect of single-dwelling interest, and
 - such an assessment could be made but for a relevant restriction.
 - (2) In a case falling within paragraph 32(1)(a) or (b), the reference to the claimant in sub-paragraph (1)(b) of this paragraph includes any relevant person (as defined in paragraph 32(3)).
 - (3) The following are relevant restrictions
 - the restrictions in paragraph 24 (assessment where return has been delivered);
 - the expiry of a time limit for making a discovery assessment.
 - (4) Where this paragraph applies
 - the relevant restrictions are to be disregarded, and
 - the discovery assessment is not out of time if it is made before the final determination of the claim.

15

20

25

30

35

5

(5) A claim is not finally determined until it, or the amount to which it relates, can no longer be varied (whether on appeal or otherwise).

406

Contract settlements (1) In paragraph 29(1)(a) the reference to an amount paid by a person by way of tax includes an amount paid by a person under a contract settlement in connection with tax believed to be due. (2) Sub-paragraphs (3) to (6) apply if the person who paid the amount under the contract settlement ("the payer") and the person from whom the tax was due ("the taxpayer") are not the same person. (3) In relation to a claim under paragraph 29 in respect of that amount — 10 the references to the claimant in paragraph 30(5), (6) and (7) (Cases D, E and F) have effect as if they included the taxpayer, the reference to the claimant in paragraph 30(8) (case G) has effect as if it were a reference to the taxpayer, the reference to the claimant in paragraph 33(1)(b) has effect as if it 15 were a reference to the taxpayer, and references to tax in Schedule 11A to FA 2003 (as it applies to a claim under paragraph 29) include the amount paid under the contract settlement. (4) Sub-paragraph (5) applies where the grounds for giving effect to a claim by 20 the payer in respect of the amount also provide grounds for a discovery assessment on the taxpayer in respect of any single-dwelling interest. (5) The Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs may set any amount repayable to the payer as a result of the claim against any amount payable by the taxpayer as a result of the assessment. 25 (6) The obligations of the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs and the taxpayer are discharged to the extent of any set-off under sub-paragraph (5). (7) "Contract settlement" means an agreement made in connection with any person's liability to make a payment to the Commissioners for Her Majesty's 30 Revenue and Customs under or by virtue of an enactment. Part 7 REVIEWS AND APPEALS

Right of appeal

- (1) An appeal may be brought against— 35 an amendment of a self assessment under paragraph 10 (amendment during enquiry to prevent loss of tax), a conclusion stated or amendment made by a closure notice (see paragraph 16), an HMRC determination under paragraph 18 (determination of tax 40 chargeable if no return delivered),
 - a discovery assessment (see paragraph 21), or (d)
 - an assessment under paragraph 22 (assessment to recover excessive repayment).

 $Schedule\ 31\ -\ Annual\ tax\ on\ enveloped\ dwellings:\ returns,\ enquiries,\ assessments\ and\ appeals$

Part 7 - Reviews and appeals

(2) If an appeal under sub-paragraph (1)(a) against an amendment of a self assessment is made while an enquiry is in progress none of the steps mentioned in paragraph 38(2)(a) to (c) may be taken in relation to the appeal until the enquiry is completed.

Notice of appeal 5

- 36 (1) Notice of an appeal under paragraph 35 must be given—
 - (a) in writing,
 - (b) within 30 days after the specified date,
 - (c) to HMRC.
 - (2) In sub-paragraph (1) "specified date" means –

10

15

25

30

35

40

- (a) in relation to an appeal under paragraph 35(1)(a), the date on which the notice of amendment was issued;
- (b) in relation to an appeal under paragraph 35(1)(b), the date on which the closure notice was issued;
- (c) in relation to an appeal under paragraph 35(1)(c) the date on which the HMRC determination was issued;
- (d) in relation to an appeal under paragraph 35(1)(d) or (e), the date on which the notice of assessment was issued.
- (3) The notice of appeal must specify the grounds of appeal.
- (4) Where a determination has been made under paragraph 18 as to the amount of tax to which a person is chargeable with respect to a single-dwelling interest, the only grounds on which an appeal lies under paragraph 35(1)(c) are
 - (a) that the condition in section 91(2)(a) (nature and value of interest) is not met in relation to the interest in question on any day to which the determination relates,
 - (b) that the person, partnership or scheme that the determination identifies as meeting the ownership condition on one or more days does not meet that condition on any day in the chargeable period,
 - (c) if the tax is determined to be chargeable by virtue of section 91(5), that a person identified in the determination as one of the responsible partners is not a responsible partner in relation to any tax chargeable for the period in question, or
 - (d) if the tax is determined to be chargeable by virtue of section 91(6), that the person identified in the determination as the chargeable person in relation to the collective investment scheme concerned is not the chargeable person.

Late notice of appeal

- 37 (1) This paragraph applies in a case where
 - (a) notice of appeal may be given to HMRC under this Schedule, but
 - (b) no notice is given before the relevant time limit.
 - (2) Notice may be given after the relevant time limit if
 - (a) HMRC agree, or
 - (b) where HMRC do not agree, the tribunal gives permission.

(3) HMRC must agree to notice being given after the relevant time limit if the appellant has requested in writing that HMRC do so and HMRC are satisfied that there was reasonable excuse for not giving the notice before the relevant time limit, and 5 that the request has been made without unreasonable delay. (4) If a request of the kind mentioned in sub-paragraph (3) is made, HMRC must notify the appellant whether or not HMRC agree to the request. (5) In this paragraph "relevant time limit", in relation to notice of appeal, means the time before which the notice must to be given (disregarding this 10 paragraph). Steps that may be taken following notice of appeal (1) This paragraph applies if notice of appeal has been given to HMRC. (2) In such a case the appellant may notify HMRC that it requires them to review the 15 matter in question (see paragraph 39), HMRC may notify the appellant of an offer to review the matter in question (see paragraph 40), or the appellant may notify the appeal to the tribunal. (3) If the appellant notifies the appeal to the tribunal, the tribunal is to 20 determine the matter in question. (4) See paragraphs 43 and 44 for provision about the circumstances in which an appeal may be notified to the tribunal after a review has been required by the appellant or offered by HMRC. 25 (5) This paragraph does not prevent the matter in question from being dealt with in accordance with paragraph 46(1) (settling of appeals by agreement). Right of appellant to require review (1) If the appellant notifies HMRC that it requires them to review the matter in question, HMRC mustnotify the appellant of HMRC's view of the matter in question within 30 the relevant period, and (b) review the matter in question in accordance with paragraph 41. (2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply if the appellant has already given a notification under this paragraph in relation to the matter in question, 35 HMRC have given a notification under paragraph 40 in relation to the matter in question, or the appellant has notified the appeal to the tribunal. (3) In this paragraph "the relevant period" means the period of 30 days beginning with the day on which HMRC 40 receive the notification from the appellant, or such longer period as is reasonable.

Schedule 31 - Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: returns, enquiries, assessments and appeals Part 7 – Reviews and appeals

Offer of review by HMRC

(1) Sub-paragraphs (2) to (5) apply if HMRC notify the appellant of an offer to review the matter in question.

| (2) | The notification must include a statement of HMRC's view of the matter in |
|-----|---|
| | question. |

- (3) If the appellant notifies HMRC within the acceptance period that it accepts the offer, HMRC must review the matter in question in accordance with paragraph 41.
- (4) If the appellant does not accept the offer in accordance with sub-paragraph (3) -
 - HMRC's view of the matter in question is treated as if it were (a) contained in a settlement agreement (see paragraph 46(1)); but
 - paragraph 46(3) (right to withdraw from agreement) does not apply in relation to that notional agreement.
- (5) Sub-paragraph (4) does not apply to the matter in question if, or to the extent that, the appellant notifies the appeal to the tribunal. (See paragraph 44 for the circumstances in which the appellant may do so after accepting HMRC's offer of a review).
- (6) HMRC may not take the action mentioned in sub-paragraph (1) at any time if before that time -
 - HMRC have given a notification under this paragraph in relation to the matter in question,
 - the appellant has given a notification under paragraph 39 in relation to the matter in question, or
 - (c) the appellant has notified the appeal to the tribunal.
- (7) In this paragraph "acceptance period" means the period of 30 days beginning with the date of the document by which HMRC notify the appellant of the offer to review the matter in question.

Nature of review

- (1) This paragraph applies if HMRC are required by paragraph 39 or 40 to 41 review the matter in question.
 - (2) The nature and extent of the review are to be such as appear appropriate to HMRC in the circumstances.
 - (3) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (2), HMRC must, in particular, have regard to steps taken before the beginning of the review –
 - by HMRC in deciding the matter in question, and
 - by any person in seeking to resolve disagreement about the matter in question.
 - (4) The review must take account of any representations made by the appellant at a stage which gives HMRC a reasonable opportunity to consider them.
 - (5) The review may conclude that HMRC's view of the matter in question is to be –
 - (a) upheld,
 - (b) varied, or

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

- (c) cancelled.
- (6) HMRC must notify the appellant of the conclusions of the review and their reasoning within—
 - (a) the period of 45 days beginning with the relevant day, or
 - (b) such other period as may be agreed.

5

10

15

- (7) In sub-paragraph (6) "relevant day" means
 - (a) in a case where the appellant required the review, the day when HMRC notified the appellant of HMRC's view of the matter in question,
 - (b) in a case where HMRC offered the review, the day when HMRC received notification of the appellant's acceptance of the offer.
- (8) If HMRC do not give notice of the conclusions of the review within the period specified in sub-paragraph (6), the review is treated as having concluded that HMRC's view of the matter in question is upheld.
- (9) If sub-paragraph (8) applies, HMRC must notify the appellant of the conclusions which the review is treated as having reached.

Effect of conclusions of review

410

- 42 (1) If HMRC give notice of the conclusions of a review (see paragraph 41)
 - (a) the conclusions are to be treated as if they were contained in a settlement agreement (see paragraph 46(1)), but

20

- (b) paragraph 46(3) (withdrawal from agreement) does not apply in relation to that notional agreement.
- (2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to the matter in question if, or to the extent that, the appellant notifies the appeal to the tribunal (see paragraphs 43 and 44).

25

30

Notifying appeal to tribunal after appellant has required review

- 43 (1) Where HMRC have notified an appellant under paragraph 39(1)(a) of their view of a matter to which an appeal under paragraph 35 relates, the appellant—
 - (a) may not notify the appeal to the tribunal before the beginning of the post-review period;
 - (b) may notify the appeal to the tribunal after the end of that period only if the tribunal gives permission.
 - (2) Except where sub-paragraph (3) applies, the post-review period is the period of 30 days beginning with the date of the document in which HMRC give notice of the conclusions of the review in accordance with paragraph 41(6).
 - (3) If the period specified in paragraph 41(6) ends without HMRC having given notice of the conclusions of the review, the post-review period is the period that—
 - (a) begins with the day following the last day of the period specified in paragraph 41(6), and
 - (b) ends 30 days after the date of the document in which HMRC give notice of the conclusions of the review in accordance with paragraph 41(9).

40

Schedule 31 - Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: returns, enquiries, assessments and appeals Part 7 – Reviews and appeals

Notifying appeal to tribunal after HMRC have offered review (1) Where HMRC have offered to review the matter to which a notice of an appeal under paragraph 35 relates, the right of the appellant at any time to notify the appeal to the tribunal depends on whether or not the appellant has accepted the offer at that time. 5 (2) If the appellant has accepted the offer, the appellant – may not notify the appeal to the tribunal before the beginning of the post-review period; may notify the appeal to the tribunal after the end of that period only if the tribunal gives permission. 10 (3) If the appellant has not accepted the offer, the appellant – may notify the appeal to the tribunal within the acceptance period; may notify the appeal to the tribunal after the end of that period only if the tribunal gives permission. (4) In this paragraph – 15 "acceptance period" has the same meaning as in paragraph 40; "post-review period" has the same meaning as in paragraph 43. Interpretation of paragraphs 38 to 44 45 (1) In paragraphs 38 to 44— "matter in question" means the matter to which an appeal relates; 20 a reference to a notification is to a notification in writing. (2) In paragraphs 38 to 44, a reference to the appellant includes a person acting on behalf of the appellant except in relation to – notification of HMRC's view under paragraph 39(1)(a), notification by HMRC of an offer of review (and of their view of the 25 matter) under paragraph 40, notification of the conclusions of a review under paragraph 41(6) or (3) But if a notification falling within any of the paragraphs of sub-paragraph (2) is given to the appellant, a copy of the notification may also be given to a 30 person acting on behalf of the appellant. Settling of appeals by agreement (1) In relation to an appeal of which notice has been given under paragraph 36, "settlement agreement" means an agreement between the appellant and an officer of Revenue and Customs that is -35 entered into before the appeal is determined, and to the effect that the decision appealed against should be upheld without variation, varied in a particular manner or discharged or cancelled.

40 (2) Where a settlement agreement is entered into in relation to an appeal, the consequences are to be the same (for all purposes) as if, at the time the agreement was entered into, the tribunal had decided the appeal and had upheld the decision without variation, varied it in that manner or discharged or cancelled it, as the case may be.

- (3) Sub-paragraph (2) does not apply if, within 30 days from the date when the settlement agreement was entered into, the appellant gives notice in writing to HMRC that it wishes to withdraw from the agreement.
- (4) Where a settlement agreement is not in writing
 - (a) sub-paragraph (2) does not apply unless the fact that an agreement was entered into, and the terms agreed, are confirmed by notice in writing given by HMRC to the appellant or by the appellant to the HMRC, and

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

- (b) the references in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) to the time when the agreement was entered into are to be read as references to the time when the notice of confirmation was given.
- (5) Sub-paragraph (6) applies where notice of an appeal has been given under paragraph 36 and
 - (a) the appellant notifies HMRC, orally or in writing, that the appellant does not wish to proceed with the appeal, and
 - (b) HMRC do not, within 30 days after that notification, give the appellant notice in writing indicating that they are unwilling that the appeal should be withdrawn.
- (6) Sub-paragraphs (1) to (4) have effect as if, at the date of the appellant's notification, the appellant and an officer of Revenue and Customs had agreed (orally or in writing, as the case may be) that the decision under appeal should be upheld without variation.
- (7) References in this paragraph to an agreement being entered into with an appellant, and to the giving of notice or notification by or to the appellant, include references to an agreement being entered into, or notice or notification being given by or to, a person acting on behalf of the appellant in relation to the appeal.

Appeal does not postpone recovery of tax

- 47 (1) Where there is an appeal under paragraph 35, the tax charged by the amendment or assessment in question remains due and payable as if there had been no appeal.
 - (2) Sub-paragraph (1) is subject to paragraphs 48 and 49.

Application for payment of tax to be postponed

- 48 (1) If the appellant has grounds for believing that the amendment or assessment overcharges the appellant to tax, or as a result of the conclusion stated in the closure notice the tax charged on the appellant is excessive, the appellant may—
 - (a) first apply by notice in writing to HMRC within 30 days of the specified date for a determination by them of the amount of tax the payment of which should be postponed pending the determination of the appeal, and
 - (b) if the appellant does not agree with a determination made by HMRC under paragraph (a), refer the application for postponement to the tribunal within 30 days from the date of the document notifying HMRC's determination.

Schedule 31 – Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: returns, enquiries, assessments and appeals

Part 7 – Reviews and appeals

(2) An application under sub-paragraph (1)(a) must state the amount believed to be overcharged to tax and the grounds for that belief.

(3) An application may be made more than 30 days after the specified date if there is a change in the circumstances of the case as a result of which the appellant has grounds for believing that it is overcharged to tax by the decision appealed against.

5

10

20

25

40

- (4) If, after an application under sub-paragraph (1) has been determined, there is a change in the circumstances of the case as a result of which either party has grounds for believing that the amount determined has become either excessive or insufficient, that party may (if the parties cannot agree on a revised determination) apply to the tribunal for a revised determination of that amount.
- (5) An application under sub-paragraph (4) may be made at any time before the determination of the appeal.
- (6) An application under this paragraph is to be subject to the relevant provisions of Part 5 of the Taxes Management Act 1970 (see, in particular, section 48(2)(b) of that Act).
- (7) The amount of tax of which payment is to be postponed pending the determination of the appeal is the amount (if any) by which it appears that there are reasonable grounds for believing that the appellant is overcharged.
- (8) Where an application under this paragraph has been determined, section 161 has effect in relation to any tax of which payment is not postponed as if
 - (a) the tax were payable in accordance with an assessment under paragraph 22 issued on the date on which the application was determined, and
 - (b) there was no appeal against that assessment.
- (9) In this paragraph "specified date" has the meaning given by paragraph 36.

Agreement to postpone payment of tax

- 49 (1) If the appellant and an officer of Revenue and Customs agree that payment of an amount of tax should be postponed pending the determination of the appeal, the consequences are to be the same (for all purposes) as if the tribunal had, at the time when the agreement was entered into, made a direction to the same effect as the agreement.

 This is without prejudice to the making of a further agreement or further
 - This is without prejudice to the making of a further agreement or further direction.
 - (2) Where the agreement is not in writing
 - (a) sub-paragraph (1) does not apply unless the fact that an agreement was entered into, and the terms agreed, are confirmed by notice in writing given by the officer of Revenue and Customs to the appellant or by the appellant to that officer, and
 - (b) the reference in sub-paragraph (1) to the time when the agreement was entered into is to be read as a reference to the time when notice of confirmation was given.

(3) References in this paragraph to an agreement being entered into with an appellant, and to the giving of notice to or by the appellant, include references to an agreement being entered into, or notice being given to or by, a person acting on behalf of the appellant in relation to the appeal.

Assessments and self assessments

5

- 50 (1) This paragraph applies where an appeal under paragraph 35(1) has been notified to the tribunal.
 - (2) If the tribunal decides that the appellant is overcharged by a self assessment or any other assessment, the assessment must be reduced accordingly.
 - (3) If the tribunal does not so decide, the assessment is to stand good.

10

(4) If it appears to the tribunal that the appellant is undercharged to tax by a self assessment or any other assessment, the assessment must be increased accordingly.

Tribunal determinations

- 51 The determination of the tribunal in relation to any proceedings under this Part of this Schedule is to be final and conclusive except as otherwise provided in
 - a) sections 9 to 14 of the Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007, or
 - (b) this Part of this Act.

Payment of tax where appeal has been determined

20

25

30

15

- 52 (1) On the determination of an appeal under paragraph 35 any tax overpaid must be repaid.
 - (2) On the determination of an appeal under paragraph 35, section 161 (payment of tax) has effect in relation to any relevant tax as if
 - (a) the tax were payable in accordance with an assessment under paragraph 22 issued on the date on which HMRC issues to the appellant a notice of the total amount payable in accordance with the determination, and
 - (b) there had been no appeal against that assessment.
 - (3) The reference in sub-paragraph (2) to "relevant tax" is to any tax payable in accordance with the determination, so far as it is tax
 - (a) the payment of which had been postponed, or
 - (b) which would not have been charged by the amendment or assessment if there had been no appeal.

Payment of tax where there is a further appeal

35

- 53 (1) Where a party to an appeal to the tribunal under paragraph 35 makes a further appeal, tax is to be payable or repayable in accordance with the determination of the tribunal or court (as the case may be), even though the further appeal is pending.
 - (2) But if the amount charged by the assessment is altered by the order or judgment of the Upper Tribunal or court, then—

Schedule 31 — Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: returns, enquiries, assessments and appeals Part 7 — Reviews and appeals

(a) if too much tax has been paid, the amount overpaid must be refunded, with any interest allowed by the order or judgment, and

(b) if too little tax has been charged, the amount undercharged is due and payable at the end of the 30 days beginning with the date on which HMRC issue to the other party a notice of the total amount payable in accordance with the order or judgment.

5

10

15

20

25

30

References to "the tribunal"

- 54 (1) In this Part of this Schedule "the tribunal" means
 - (a) the First-tier Tribunal, or
 - (b) where determined by or under Tribunal Procedure Rules, the Upper Tribunal.
 - (2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply so far as sub-paragraph (3) requires otherwise.
 - (3) Where the question in any dispute on any appeal under paragraph 35(1) is of the market value of any single-dwelling interest, that question is to be determined on a reference by
 - (a) the Upper Tribunal, if the land is in England and Wales;
 - (b) the Lands Tribunal for Scotland, if the land is in Scotland;
 - (c) the Lands Tribunal for Northern Ireland, if the land is in Northern Ireland.

Part 8

SUPPLEMENTARY

Application of Schedule in cases involving joint liability to tax

- 55 (1) This paragraph applies where
 - (a) section 94(2) applies and the other persons mentioned in section 94(1)(b) include a company, or
 - (b) section 94(4) applies and P is a company.
 - (2) Any obligation to deliver a return with respect to the single-dwelling interest for the chargeable period concerned is a joint obligation of the persons who are jointly and severally liable under subsection (2) or (as the case may be) (4) of section 94; and a single return is required.

Partnerships

- In relation to a return delivered by the responsible partners for a partnership, anything required or authorised under section 157 or this Schedule to be done by the responsible partners is required or authorised to be done by all the responsible partners.
- In this Schedule "return", except where the contrary is indicated, means an annual tax on enveloped dwellings return or a return of the adjusted chargeable amount.

Meaning of "filing date"

58 "Filing date", in relation to an annual tax on enveloped dwellings return, means the day by the end of which the return is required to be delivered.

| | SCHEDULE 32 Section 162 | | | | | |
|---|--|----|--|--|--|--|
| | ANNUAL TAX ON ENVELOPED DWELLINGS: INFORMATION AND ENFORCEMENT | 5 | | | | |
| | Part 1 | | | | | |
| | Information and inspection powers | | | | | |
| 1 | Schedule 36 to FA 2008 (information and inspection powers) is amended as follows. | | | | | |
| 2 | In paragraph 12A (powers to inspect property for valuation etc), in subparagraph (3) — (a) omit the "or" after paragraph (d), and (b) after paragraph (e) insert ", or (f) annual tax on enveloped dwellings." | 10 | | | | |
| 3 | After paragraph 21A insert – | 15 | | | | |
| | "Taxpayer notices following annual tax on enveloped dwellings return | | | | | |
| | 21B (1) Where a person has delivered, for a chargeable period with respect to a single-dwelling interest— (a) an annual tax on enveloped dwellings return, or (b) a return of the adjusted chargeable amount, a taxpayer notice may not be given for the purpose of checking the person's annual tax on enveloped dwellings position as regards the matters dealt with in that return. | 20 | | | | |
| | (2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply where, or to the extent that, any of conditions A to C is met.(3) Condition A is that notice of enquiry has been given in respect of – | 25 | | | | |
| | (a) the return, or(b) a claim (or an amendment of a claim) made by the person in relation to the chargeable period, and the enquiry has not been completed. | 30 | | | | |
| | (4) In sub-paragraph (3) "notice of enquiry" means a notice under paragraph 8 of Schedule 31 to FA 2013 or paragraph 7 of Schedule 11A to FA 2003 (as applied by paragraph 28(2) of Schedule 31 to FA 2013). | 35 | | | | |
| | (5) Condition B is that, as regards the person, an officer of Revenue and Customs has reason to suspect that — | | | | | |

Finance (No. 2) Bill
Schedule 32 — Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: information and enforcement

Schedule 32 — Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: information and enforcemen Part 1 — Information and inspection powers

- (a) an amount that ought to have been assessed to annual tax on enveloped dwellings for the chargeable period may not have been assessed,
- (b) an assessment to annual tax on enveloped dwellings for the chargeable period may be or have become insufficient, or

5

10

15

20

- (c) relief from annual tax on enveloped dwellings for the chargeable period may be or have become excessive.
- (6) Condition C is that the notice is given for the purpose of obtaining any information or document that is also required for the purpose of checking that person's position as regards a tax other than annual tax on enveloped dwellings.
- (7) In this Schedule references to a "single-dwelling interest" are to be read in accordance with section 105 of FA 2013."
- 4 In paragraph 37 (partnerships), after sub-paragraph (2A) insert
 - "(2B) Where, in respect of a single-dwelling interest (see paragraph 21B(7)) to which one or more companies are or were entitled as members of a partnership, any member of the partnership has—
 - (a) delivered an annual tax on enveloped dwellings return under Part 3 of FA 2013, or
 - (b) made a claim under that Part of that Act, paragraph 21B (restrictions where taxpayer has delivered annual return) has effect as if that return had been delivered, or that claim had been made, by each member of the partnership."
- 5 In paragraph 63(1) (meaning of "tax" in the Schedule), after paragraph (h) 25 insert
 - "(ha) annual tax on enveloped dwellings,".

Part 2

PENALTIES

Errors in returns 30

In Schedule 24 to FA 2007 (penalties for errors), in the Table in paragraph 1, after the entry relating to stamp duty reserve tax insert—

| "Annual dwellings | tax | on | enveloped | Annual ta dwellings ret | | enveloped | |
|---------------------|-----|----|-----------|----------------------------|----------|------------|----|
| Annual dwellings | tax | on | enveloped | Return of amount." | adjusted | chargeable | 35 |

Failure to make returns

7 (1) In Schedule 55 to FA 2009 (penalty for failure to make returns etc), in the

Part 2 - Penalties

Table in paragraph 1, after item 11 insert –

| "11A | Annual tax o | n enveloped | dwelli | nl tax on enveloped ngs return under n 157 of FA 2013 | | | |
|---|---|---|-----------------|--|----------|--|--|
| 11B | Annual tax o dwellings | n enveloped | | n of adjusted chargeable nt under section 158". | 5 | | |
| (2) That Schedule, as amended by sub-paragraph (1), is taken to have come into force for the purposes of annual tax on enveloped dwellings on the date on which this Act is passed. | | | | | | | |
| Failure to mak | e payments on time | | | | 10 | | |
| | Paragraphs 9 to 12 contain amendments and modifications of Schedule 56 to FA 2009 (penalty for failure to make payments on time). | | | | | | |
| 9 (1) the | Table in paragraph | 1 of that Sched | dule is a | mended as follows. | | | |
| (2) Aft | er item 10 insert – | | | | | | |
| "10A | Annual tax on enveloped dwellings | under s 161(1) or (2) 2013 (excep | t an falling | The date falling 30 days after the date specified in section 161(1) or (2) of FA 2013 as the date by which the amount must be paid". | 15 20 | | |
| (3) Aft | er item 15 insert – | | | | | | |
| "15A | Annual tax on enveloped dwellings | Amount show determination under paragra of Schedule FA 2013 | n aph 18 | The date falling 30 days after the filing date for the return in question". | 25 | | |
| (4) In item 17, in the second column, for "or 10" substitute ", 10 or 10A" and in the third column for "15" substitute "15A". | | | | | | | |
| 10 (1) Until paragraphs 2(13)(a) and 2(14)(a) of Schedule 11 to F(No. 3)A 2010 | | | | | | | |

- (which amend items 23 and 24) come into force, paragraph 1 of Schedule 56
 - to FA 2009 has effect as if in item 23 the references in the second and third columns to items 1 to 6, 9 or 10 included item 10A, and

30

- in item 24 the reference in the second column to items 1 to 6, 9 or 10 included item 10A.
- (2) With effect from the coming into force of paragraphs 2(13)(a) and 2(14)(a) of Schedule 11 to F(No. 3)A 2010, paragraph 1 of Schedule 56 to FA 2009 is amended as follows -

Finance (No. 2) Bill 419 Schedule 32 - Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: information and enforcement Part 2 - Penalties in item 23, in the second and third columns, for "9, 10" substitute "9 (a) to 10A"; in item 24, in the second column, for "9, 10" substitute "9 to 10A". 11 Until paragraph 3 of Schedule 11 to F(No. 3)A 2010 comes into force, paragraph 2(c) has effect as if the reference in that paragraph to items 1 to 10 5 were to items 1 to 10A. 12 Schedule 56 to FA 2009, as amended by paragraph 4, is taken to have come into force for the purposes of annual tax on enveloped dwellings on the date on which this Act is passed. SCHEDULE 33 10 Section 166 ANNUAL TAX ON ENVELOPED DWELLINGS: MISCELLANEOUS AMENDMENTS AND TRANSITORY PROVISION Part 1 MISCELLANEOUS AMENDMENTS 15 Provisional collection of taxes 1 In section 1(1) of the Provisional Collection of Taxes Act 1968 (temporary statutory effect of House of Commons resolutions), after "stamp duty land tax," insert "annual tax on enveloped dwellings,". Disclosure of tax avoidance schemes In section 318(1) of FA 2004 (disclosure of tax avoidance schemes: 2 20 interpretation), in the definition of "tax" omit the "or" after paragraph (f), and after paragraph (g) insert ", or annual tax on enveloped dwellings." Definitions relating to charities 25 In paragraph 7 of Schedule 6 to FA 2010 (definition of "charity", "charitable 3 company" and "charitable trust") – (a) omit the "and" after paragraph (g), and after paragraph (h) insert ", and (i) annual tax on enveloped dwellings." 30 PART 2 TRANSITORY PROVISION: THE FIRST CHARGEABLE PERIOD In relation to the chargeable period beginning on 1 April 2013, section 157 4 has effect as if subsections (2) and (3) of that section provided as follows –

A return under subsection (1) must be delivered by the end of 1

October 2013 if the days on which the person is within the charge

with respect to the interest include 1 April 2013.

420 Finance (No. 2) Bill

Schedule 33 – Annual tax on enveloped dwellings: miscellaneous amendments and transitory provision

Part 2 – Transitory provision: the first chargeable period

| | (3) | If the days on which the person is within the charge with respect to the interest do not include 1 April 2013, the return must be delivered— (a) by the end of 1 October 2013, or (b) by the end of the period of 30 days beginning with the first day in the chargeable period on which the person is within the charge with respect to the interest, whichever is the later." |
|-----|-------------|---|
| 5 | | tion to the chargeable period beginning on 1 April 2013, section 161 ent of tax) has effect as if subsection (1) of that section provided as s— |
| | "(1) | Tax charged on a person under section 96 with respect to a single-dwelling interest must be paid — (a) by the end of 31 October 2013, or |
| | | (b) if later, by the end of the filing date for the return." |
| | | SCHEDULE 34 Section 174 |
| | Tr | EATMENT OF LIABILITIES FOR INHERITANCE TAX PURPOSES |
| НТА | 1984 | |
| 1 | IHTA | 1984 is amended as follows. |
| 2 | (1) Section | n 162 (liabilities) is amended as follows. |
| | | section (4), after "possible" insert "and to the extent that it is not taken uce value in accordance with section 162B". |
| | | section (5), after "possible" insert "and to the extent that it is not taken uce value in accordance with section 162B". |
| 3 | After s | ection 162 insert – |
| | "162A Li | abilities attributable to financing excluded property |
| | (1) | To the extent that a liability is attributable to financing (directly or indirectly)— (a) the acquisition of any excluded property, or (b) the maintenance, or an enhancement, of the value of any such |
| | | property, it may only be taken into account so far as permitted by subsection (2) or (3). |
| | (2) | Where the excluded property has been disposed of, in whole or in part, for full consideration in money or money's worth, the liability may be taken into account up to an amount equal to so much of that consideration as — (a) is not excluded property, and (b) has not been used — |

Schedule 34 – Treatment of liabilities for inheritance tax purposes

Finance (No. 2) Bill 421

| | (i) to finance (directly or indirectly) the acquisition of excluded property or the maintenance, or an enhancement, of the value of such property, or(ii) to discharge (directly or indirectly) any other liability that, by virtue of this section, would not be taken into account. | 5 |
|--------|---|----------|
| (3) | The liability may be taken into account to the extent that it is greater than the value of such of the excluded property as has not been disposed of, but only so far as the liability is not greater than that value by virtue of— (a) arrangements the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of which is to secure a tax advantage, (b) an increase in the amount of the liability (whether due to the accrual of interest or otherwise), or | 10 |
| | (c) a disposal, in whole or in part, of the excluded property. | 15 |
| (4) | In subsection (3)(a) — "arrangements" includes any scheme, transaction or series of transactions, agreement or understanding, whether or not legally enforceable, and any associated operations; "tax advantage" means — (a) the avoidance or reduction of a charge to tax, or (b) the avoidance of a possible determination in respect of tax. | 20 |
| 162B L | iabilities attributable to financing certain relievable property | |
| (1) | Subsection (2) applies if — (a) the whole or part of any value transferred by a transfer of value is to be treated as reduced, under section 104, by virtue of it being attributable to the value of relevant business property, and (b) the transferor has a liability which is attributable, in whole or in part, to financing (directly or indirectly) — | 25 30 |
| | (i) the acquisition of that property, or(ii) the maintenance, or an enhancement, of its value. | |
| (2) | The liability is, so far as possible, to be taken to reduce the value attributable to the value of the relevant business property, before it is treated as reduced under section 104, but only to the extent that the liability — (a) is attributable as mentioned in subsection (1)(b), and | 35 |
| | (b) does not reduce the value of the relevant business property by virtue of section 110(b). | 40 |
| (3) | Subsection (4) applies if — (a) the whole or part of any value transferred by a transfer of value is to be treated as reduced, under section 116, by virtue of it being attributable to the agricultural value of agricultural | 45 |
| | property, and (b) the transferor has a liability which is attributable, in whole or in part, to financing (directly or indirectly)— (i) the acquisition of that property, or | |

45

the maintenance, or an enhancement, of its agricultural value. To the extent that the liability is attributable as mentioned in subsection (3)(b), it is, so far as possible, to be taken to reduce the value attributable to the agricultural value of the agricultural property, before it is treated as reduced under section 116. For the purposes of subsections (1) to (4) references to a transfer of value include references to an occasion on which tax is chargeable under Chapter 3 of Part 3 (apart from section 79) and – (a) references to the value transferred by a transfer of value 10 include references to the amount on which tax is then chargeable, and references to the transferor include references to the trustees of the settlement concerned. 15 Subsection (7) applies if – part of the value of a person's estate immediately before death is attributable to the value of land on which trees or underwood are growing, the value of the trees or underwood is to be left out of account, under section 125(2)(a), in determining the value 20 transferred by the chargeable transfer made on the person's the person has a liability which is attributable, in whole or in part, to financing (directly or indirectly) – the acquisition of the land or trees or underwood, 25 planting the trees or underwood, or (ii) (iii) the maintenance, or an enhancement, of the value of the trees or underwood. To the extent that the liability is attributable as mentioned in subsection (6)(c), it is, so far as possible, to be taken to reduce the 30 value of the trees or underwood, before their value is left out of account. In this section – (8)"agricultural property" and "agricultural value" have the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of Part 5; 35 "relevant business property" has the same meaning as in Chapter 1 of Part 5. 162C Sections 162A and 162B: supplementary provision This section applies for the purposes of determining the extent to which a liability is attributable as mentioned in section 162A(1) or 40 162B(1)(b), (3)(b) or (6)(c). Where a liability was discharged in part before the time in relation to which the question as to whether or how to take it into account arises -

any part of the liability that, at the time of discharge, was not

attributable as mentioned in subsection (1) is, so far as

possible, to be taken to have been discharged first,

(a)

| | (b) (c) | any part of the liability that, at the time of discharge, was attributable as mentioned in section 162B(1)(b), (3)(b) or (6)(c) is, so far as possible, only to be taken to have been discharged after any part of the liability within paragraph (a) was discharged, and any part of the liability that, at the time of discharge, was attributable as mentioned in section 162A(1) is, so far as | 5 |
|--------------------|-----------------------------|--|----------|
| | | possible, only to be taken to have been discharged after any parts of the liability within paragraph (a) or (b) were discharged." | 10 |
| After s insert- | | 175 (estate on death: liability to make future payments etc) | |
| "175A D | ischarg | e of liabilities after death | |
| (1) | | ermining the value of a person's estate immediately before a liability may be taken into account to the extent that— it is discharged on or after death, out of the estate, in money or money's worth, and | 15 |
| | (b) | it is not otherwise prevented, under any provision of this Act, from being taken into account. | |
| (2) | accord the cas purpos | the whole or any part of a liability is not discharged in lance with paragraph (a) of subsection (1), the liability or (as see may be) the part may only be taken into account for the see mentioned in that subsection to the extent that— | 20 |
| | (a) (b) (c) | there is a real commercial reason for the liability or the part not being discharged, the liability or the part is not being left undischarged as part of arrangements the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of which is to secure a tax advantage, and the liability or the part is not otherwise prevented, under any | 25 |
| (3) | reason | provision of this Act, from being taken into account. e purposes of subsection (2)(a) there is a real commercial for a liability, or part of a liability, not being discharged where own that— the liability is to a person dealing at arm's length, or if the liability were to a person dealing at arm's length, that person would not require the liability to be discharged. | 30 35 |
| (4) | "6 | section (2)(b) — arrangements" includes any scheme, transaction or series of transactions, agreement or understanding, whether or not legally enforceable, and any associated operations; tax advantage" means — (a) a relief from tax or increased relief from tax, (b) a repayment of tax or increased repayment of tax, (c) the avoidance, reduction or delay of a charge to tax or an assessment to tax, or (d) the avoidance of a possible assessment to tax or determination in respect of tax. | 40 45 |
| (5) | In sub | section (4) "tax" includes income tax and capital gains tax. | |

Where the liability is discharged as mentioned in subsection (1)(a) (6)only in part any part of the liability that is attributable as mentioned in section 162A(1) is, so far possible, taken to be discharged first, any part of the liability that is attributable as mentioned in 5 section 162B(1)(b), (3)(b) or (6)(c) is, so far as possible, taken to be discharged only after any part of the liability within paragraph (a) is discharged, and (c) the liability so far as it is not attributable as mentioned in paragraph (a) or (b) is, so far as possible, taken to be 10 discharged only after any parts of the liability within either of those paragraphs are discharged." Commencement 5 The amendments made by this Schedule have effect in relation to transfers of value made, or treated as made, on or after the day on which this Act is 15 passed. SCHEDULE 35 Section 188 VEHICLE LICENCES FOR DISABLED PEOPLE 1 VERA 1994 is amended as follows. 2 20 (1) Section 19 (rebates) is amended as follows. (2) In subsection (3), after paragraph (c) insert— "(ca) a qualifying application for a vehicle licence for the vehicle is made,". (3) After that subsection insert – An application for a vehicle licence is a qualifying application for the 25 purposes of subsection (3)(ca) if – paragraph 1ZA of Schedule 1 applies to the vehicle when the application is made, but that paragraph did not apply to the vehicle when the licence which is unexpired when the application is made was taken 30 3 (1) Section 22ZA (nil licences for vehicles for disabled persons: information) is amended as follows. (2) In subsection (1)(b), at the beginning insert "falls within subsection (1A) or". (3) After subsection (1) insert – 35 Information falls within this subsection if it is — "(1A) the name, date of birth or national insurance number of a person who is in receipt of a relevant payment, or would be in receipt of such a payment but for –

| | (i) regulations under section 86(1) of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (treatment as in-patient in hospital or similar institution), or | |
|---|--|----|
| | (ii) corresponding provision having effect in relation to personal independence payment in Northern Ireland; | 5 |
| | (b) in the case of a person who is or would be in receipt of personal independence payment attributable to entitlement to the mobility component, the rate of the payment to which the person is or would be entitled; | |
| | (c) in the case of a person who has ceased or will cease to receive a relevant payment, the date on which the person ceased or will cease to receive it and the reason for the person ceasing to receive it. | 10 |
| | (1B) In subsection (1A) "relevant payment" means— | |
| | (a) personal independence payment attributable to entitlement to the mobility component, and | 15 |
| | (b) armed forces independence payment." | |
| | (4) In subsections (2) and (4), and in the heading, omit "nil". | |
| | (5) For subsection (5) substitute – | |
| | "(5) In this section "relevant licence functions" means functions relating to applications for, and the issue of — | 20 |
| | (a) vehicle licences in respect of vehicles to which paragraph | |
| | 1ZA of Schedule 1 applies, and (b) nil licences in respect of vehicles that are exempt vehicles | |
| | (b) nil licences in respect of vehicles that are exempt vehicles under paragraph 19 of Schedule 2 or paragraph 7 of Schedule 4." | 25 |
| 4 | In section 62(1) (definitions), at the appropriate places insert – | |
| | ""armed forces independence payment" means armed forces independence payment under a scheme established under section 1 of the Armed Forces (Pensions and Compensation) Act 2004,", and | 30 |
| | ""personal independence payment" means personal independence payment under— | |
| | (a) the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or | |
| | (b) the corresponding provision having effect in Northern Ireland,". | 35 |
| 5 | In Schedule 1 (annual rates of duty), in Part 1 after paragraph 1 insert — | |
| | "1ZA(1) The annual rate of vehicle excise duty applicable to a vehicle to which this paragraph applies is 50 per cent of the rate which (but for this paragraph) would be applicable. | 40 |
| | (2) This paragraph applies to a vehicle when it is being used, or kept for use, by or for the purposes of a disabled person who is in receipt of personal independence payment by virtue of entitlement to the mobility component at the standard rate if— | |
| | (a) the vehicle is registered under this Act in the name of the disabled person, and | 45 |
| | (b) no other vehicle registered in his or her name under this Act is – | |

| Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 35 — Vehicle licences for disabled people | |
|---|----|
| (i) a vehicle for which a vehicle licence taken out at a rate of duty reduced in accordance with subparagraph (1) is in force, or (ii) an exempt vehicle under paragraph 19 of Schedule 2 or paragraph 7 of Schedule 4. | 5 |
| (3) This paragraph has effect as if a person were in receipt of personal independence payment by virtue of entitlement to the mobility component at the standard rate in any case where the person would be in receipt of that payment by virtue of that entitlement but for— | 10 |
| (a) regulations under section 86(1) of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (treatment as in-patient in hospital or similar institution), or | |
| (b) corresponding provision having effect in Northern Ireland. | 15 |
| (4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), a vehicle is to be treated as registered under this Act in the name of a person in receipt of personal independence payment by virtue of entitlement to the mobility component at the standard rate if it is so registered in the name of — | 20 |
| (a) an appointee, or(b) a person nominated for the purposes of this paragraph by the person or an appointee. | 20 |
| (5) In sub-paragraph (4) "appointee" means a person appointed pursuant to regulations made under (or having effect as if made under) the Social Security Administration Act 1992 or the Social Security Administration (Northern Ireland) Act 1992 to exercise any of the rights and powers of a person in receipt of personal independence payment." | 25 |
| (1) In Schedule 2 (exempt vehicles), paragraph 19 is amended as follows. | 30 |
| (2) In sub-paragraph (1), for paragraph (b) substitute— "(b) no other vehicle registered in his or her name under this Act is— | |
| (i) a vehicle for which a vehicle licence taken out at a rate of vehicle excise duty reduced in accordance with paragraph 1ZA(1) of Schedule 1 is in force, or (ii) an exempt vehicle under this paragraph or paragraph 7 of Schedule 4." | 35 |
| (3) In sub-paragraph (2), after paragraph (a) insert— "(aa) he or she is in receipt of personal independence payment by virtue of entitlement to the mobility component at the enhanced rate, | 40 |
| (ab) he or she is in receipt of armed forces independence payment,". | |
| (4) After sub-paragraph (2A) insert – | 45 |

"(2B) This paragraph has effect as if a person were in receipt of personal independence payment by virtue of entitlement to the mobility component at the enhanced rate in any case where the person

| | | . 2) Bill — Vehicle licences j | for disabled people 427 |
|--------|-------|-----------------------------------|--|
| | | wou but 1 | ld be in receipt of that payment by virtue of that entitlement for— |
| | | (a) | regulations under section 86(1) of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (treatment as in-patient in hospital or similar institution), or |
| | | (b) |) corresponding provision having effect in Northern Ireland." |
| | (5) | by virtue of en mobility supp | aph (3), for "person in receipt of a disability living allowance titlement to the mobility component at the higher rate, or of a plement," substitute "disabled person who satisfies subby virtue of paragraph (a), (aa), (ab) or (b) of that sub- |
| | (6) | | aph (4)(a), after "disability living allowance," insert "personal payment or armed forces independence payment,". |
| 7 | | The amendme force on 8 Apr | ents made by this Schedule are treated as having come into il 2013. |
| | | | SCHEDULE 36 Section 190 |
| | | V | ALUATION OF CERTAIN SUPPLIES OF FUEL |
| Introd | ducto | ory | |
| 1 | | VATA 1994 is | amended as follows. |
| Valua | ıtion | of supplies for p | rivate use |
| 2 | | In Schedule 6 | (valuation: special cases), before paragraph 1 insert – |
| | | | "Part 1 |
| | | 7 | ALUATION OF SUPPLIES OF FUEL FOR PRIVATE USE |
| | 0 | ption for valuati | on on flat-rate basis |
| | | supp para cons supp | paragraph applies if, in a prescribed accounting period, plies of goods by a taxable person ("P") arise by virtue of graph 5(1) of Schedule 4 (but otherwise than for a ideration) where road fuel which is or has previously been plied to or imported or manufactured by P in the course of P's ness is provided for, or appropriated to, private use. |
| | | | this purpose "road fuel is provided for, or appropriated to, ate use" if— |
| | | - | it is provided or to be provided by P – (i) to an individual for private use in the individual's own car or a car allocated to the individual, and (ii) by reason of the individual's employment, |

Interpretation

| | | | Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 36 – Valuation of certain supplies of fuel | |
|-------|-------|-------------|---|----|
| | | (c) | where P is a partnership, it is provided or to be provided to any of the individual partners for private use in that partner's own car. | |
| | (3) | | opt for all supplies of goods within sub-paragraph (1) made in the prescribed accounting period to be valued on the flatasis. | 5 |
| | (4) | indivi | e flat-rate basis, the value of all supplies made to any one dual in respect of any one car is that determined in lance with an order under paragraph B1. | |
| B1 | (1) | | reasury must, by order, make provision about the valuation plies on the flat-rate basis. | 10 |
| | (2) | In part (a) | set out a table ("the base valuation table") by reference to which the value of supplies is to be determined until such time as the base valuation table is replaced under paragraph (b), provide that at regular intervals— | 15 |
| | | (5) | (i) the amounts specified in the base valuation table are to be revalorised by the Commissioners in accordance with the order, and (ii) a table (an "updated valuation table") containing the revalorised amounts is to take effect (and replace any existing table) in accordance with the order, and | 20 |
| | | (c) | require the Commissioners to publish any updated valuation table before it takes effect, together with a statement specifying the date from which it has effect. | 25 |
| | (3) | table a | der under this paragraph may provide for the base valuation and any updated valuation table to be implemented or emented by either or both of the following— rules set out in the order which explain how the value is to be determined by reference to any table; notes set out in the order with respect to the interpretation or application of any table or any rules or notes. | 30 |
| | (4) | | or notes may make different provision for different astances or cases. | 35 |
| erpre | tatio | n | | |
| C1 | (1) | For the (a) | e purposes of this Part of this Schedule— any reference to an individual's own car is to be construed as including any car of which for the time being the individual has the use, other than a car allocated to the individual, subject to sub-paragraph (2), a car is at any time to be taken | 40 |

to be allocated to an individual if at that time it is made available (without any transfer of the property in it) either

to the individual or to any other person, and is so made available by reason of the individual's employment and

for private use, and

| | the employee by reason of the employee's employment. | 5 |
|---|---|----|
| | (2) For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, in any prescribed accounting period a car is not regarded as allocated to an individual by reason of the individual's employment if— | |
| | (a) in that period it was made available to, and actually used by, more than one of the employees of one or more employers and, in the case of each of them, it — (i) was made available to that employee by reason of the employment, but | 10 |
| | (ii) was not in that period ordinarily used by any one of them to the exclusion of the others, | 15 |
| | (b) in the case of each of the employees, any private use of the car made by the employee in that period was merely incidental to the employee's other use of it in that period, and | |
| | (c) in that period it was not normally kept overnight on or in the vicinity of any residential premises where any of the employees was residing, except while being kept overnight on premises occupied by the person making the car available to them. | 20 |
| | (3) In this Part of this Schedule – | 25 |
| | "employment" includes any office, and related expressions are to be construed accordingly; | |
| | "car" means a motor car as defined by paragraph 1A(4) and | |
| | (5); "road fuel" means hydrocarbon oil as defined by the Hydrocarbon Oil Duties Act 1979 (see section 1(2) of that Act) on which duty has been or is required to be paid in accordance with that Act. | 30 |
| | (4) The Treasury may, by order, amend the definition of "road fuel" in sub-paragraph (3). | 35 |
| | Part 2 | |
| | OTHER PROVISIONS". | |
| 3 | In paragraph 6 of that Schedule (valuation of supplies of goods by virtue of paragraph 5(1) of Schedule 4 etc), in sub-paragraph (1), after "except where" insert "the person making the supply opts under paragraph A1(3) above for valuation on the flat-rate basis or". | 40 |
| 4 | Omit sections 56 and 57 (fuel for private use). | |
| 5 | In section 97(4) (orders subject to affirmative procedure), in paragraph (f) — (a) after "paragraph" insert "B1, C1(4),", and (b) after "1A(7)" insert ", 2A(4)". | 45 |
| | | |

(c) fuel provided by an employer to an employee and fuel provided to any person for private use in a car which, by

virtue of paragraph (b), is for the time being taken to be allocated to the employee is to be taken to be provided to

Supplies to employees etc at less than open market value

- 6 After paragraph 2 of Schedule 6 insert
 - "2A (1) This paragraph applies if
 - (a) a taxable person ("P") makes a supply of road fuel for a consideration,
- 5

10

- (b) the recipient of the supply is
 - (i) connected with P, or
 - (ii) an employee or partner of P or a person who is connected with such an employee or partner,
- (c) the value of the supply would (in the absence of this paragraph) be less than its open market value, and
- (d) the recipient of the supply is not entitled to credit for the whole of the input tax arising on the supply.
- (2) The value of the supply is to be taken to be an amount equal to its open market value.
- 15

- (3) For the purposes of this paragraph
 - (a) "road fuel" means hydrocarbon oil as defined by the Hydrocarbon Oil Duties Act 1979 (see section 1(2) of that Act) on which duty has been or is required to be paid in accordance with that Act, and

20

- (b) any question whether a person is connected with another is to be determined in accordance with section 1122 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010.
- (4) The Treasury may, by order, amend the definition of "road fuel" in sub-paragraph (3)(a)."

25

Commencement and transitional provision

- 7 (1) The amendments made by paragraphs 2 to 4 come into force in relation to prescribed accounting periods beginning on or after 1 February 2014.
 - (2) Subject to that, section 56 of VATA 1994 has effect on and after 11 December 2012 as if in subsection (2) of that section for the words after "it is supplied" there were substituted "for consideration."

30

- 8 (1) The amendment made by paragraph 6 is to be treated as coming into force on 11 December 2012 and has effect in relation to—
 - (a) supplies of goods on or after the commencement day, and
 - (b) supplies of goods in the period beginning with 11 December 2012 and ending immediately before the commencement day, if and to the extent that the goods are not made available before the end of that period to the person to whom they are supplied.
 - (2) "The commencement day" means the day on which this Act is passed.

Schedule 37 - Stamp duty land tax: transactions entered into before completion of contract

Finance (No. 2) Bill 431

| | | | 37 |
|--|--|--|----|
| | | | |
| | | | |

Section 193

STAMP DUTY LAND TAX: TRANSACTIONS ENTERED INTO BEFORE COMPLETION OF **CONTRACT**

- 1 Part 4 of FA 2003 (stamp duty land tax) is amended as follows.
- 2 For section 45 (contract and conveyance: effect of transfer of rights) substitute -

Transactions entered into before completion of contract "45

Schedule 2A contains –

- provision about the application of section 44 (contract and conveyance) in certain cases where an assignment of rights, subsale or other transaction is entered into without the contract having been completed, and
- other provision about such cases."
- 3 After Schedule 2 insert -

"SCHEDULE 2A

15

20

25

30

5

10

TRANSACTIONS ENTERED INTO BEFORE COMPLETION OF CONTRACT

Pre-completion transactions

- 1 (1) This Schedule applies where –
 - a person ("the original purchaser") enters into a contract ("the original contract") for the acquisition by that person of a chargeable interest under which the acquisition is to be completed by a conveyance, and
 - there is a pre-completion transaction.
 - (2) A transaction is a "pre-completion transaction" for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) if –
 - as a result of the transaction a person other than the original purchaser ("the transferee") becomes entitled to call for a conveyance to that person of the whole or part of the subject-matter of the original contract, and
 - immediately before the transaction took place a person was entitled under the original contract to call for a conveyance of the whole or part of that subject-matter.
 - (3) A transaction that effects a person's acquisition of the whole or part of the subject-matter of the original contract is not a precompletion transaction.
 - (4) The grant or assignment of an option is not a pre-completion transaction.
 - (5) The fact that a transaction has the effect of discharging the original contract does not prevent that transaction from being a precompletion transaction.

35

- Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 37 – Stamp duty land tax: transactions entered into before completion of contract (6) The reference in sub-paragraph (1)(a) to a contract does not include a contract that is an assignment of rights in relation to another contract. (7) In this Schedule references to "part of the subject-matter of the original contract"— 5 are to a chargeable interest that is the same as the chargeable interest referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) except that it relates to part only of the land concerned, and also include, so far as is appropriate, interests or rights appurtenant or pertaining to the chargeable interest. 10 (8) This Schedule does not apply where paragraph 12B of Schedule 17A (assignment of agreement for lease) applies. Other key expressions (1) A pre-completion transaction is an "assignment of rights" if the entitlement of the transferee referred to in paragraph 1(2)(a) is an 15 entitlement to exercise rights under the original contract. (2) A pre-completion transaction other than an assignment of rights is referred to in this Schedule as a "free-standing transfer". (3) In this Schedule "the transferor", in relation to a pre-completion transaction, means a party to the pre-completion transaction who 20 immediately before the pre-completion transaction took place was entitled to call for a conveyance of (what became) the subjectmatter of the pre-completion transaction. (4) References in this Schedule to the "subject-matter" of a precompletion transaction – 25 are to the chargeable interest the conveyance of which the transferee is entitled to call for as a result of the precompletion transaction, and include, so far as appropriate, any interest or right appurtenant or pertaining to the chargeable interest. 30 Tax not charged on transferee by reason of the pre-completion transaction The transferee is not regarded as entering into a land transaction by reason of the pre-completion transaction. Assignments of rights: application of rules about completion and consideration (1) This paragraph applies if the pre-completion transaction is an 35 assignment of rights. (2) If the subject-matter of the original contract is conveyed to the transferee, the conveyance is taken to effect the completion of the original contract (despite section 44(10)).
 - (3) Sub-paragraphs (4) to (6) apply if 40 the subject-matter of the original contract is conveyed to the transferee, or

Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 37 – Stamp

433

| o du | ty land tax: transactions entered into before completion of contract |
|------|--|
| | (b) the original contract is substantially performed by the transferee. |
| (4) | The transferee is taken to be the purchaser under the land transaction effected as mentioned in section 44(3), or treated as effected under section 44(4). |
| (5) | For the purpose of determining the chargeable consideration for that land transaction, the land transaction is taken to give effect to a contract the consideration under which is — |
| | (a) the consideration under the original contract, and |
| | (b) the consideration for the assignment of rights. |
| | Paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 has effect accordingly (but this sub- paragraph does not allow any amount of consideration given by a person to be counted twice in determining the chargeable consideration). |
| (6) | In any case in which there is a relevant connection between parties as mentioned in paragraph 12(2) (minimum consideration rule), the chargeable consideration for the land transaction mentioned in sub-paragraph (4) of this paragraph is calculated (regardless of whether the consideration is taken to be the amount in paragraph |
| | (a), (b) or (c) of sub-paragraph 12(2)), as if in paragraph 1(1) of Schedule 4 the words, "or a person connected with him" were omitted. |
| (7) | The original contract is said to be "substantially performed by the transferee" where a land transaction is treated under section 44(4) as effected by reason of — |
| | (a) the transferee under the assignment of rights, or a person connected with the transferee, taking possession of the whole, or substantially the whole, of the subject-matter of the original contract, or |
| | (b) a substantial amount of the consideration being paid or provided by the transferee or a person connected with the transferee, or |
| | (c) consideration paid or provided by a person within paragraph (b) amounting, when taken together with consideration paid or provided by another person, to a substantial amount of the consideration. |
| (8) | References in sub-paragraph (7) to possession and to the payment or provision of a substantial amount of the consideration are to be read in accordance with section 44(6) and (7). |
| (9) | In sub-paragraph (5) "the consideration" — (a) in relation to the land transaction, means (what is to be taken to be) the consideration for the acquisition of the |

subject-matter of the land transaction;

to which that contract relates.

in relation to the original contract, means the consideration for the acquisition of the subject-matter of that contract;

in relation to the assignment of rights, means the consideration for the transferee's acquisition of the rights

Assi

| Sc | chedule 37 – Stamp duty land tax: transactions entered into before completion of contract | |
|----------|---|----------|
| signment | of rights: transferor treated as making separate acquisition | |
| 5 (1) | Where paragraph 4(4) to (6) applies (assignment of rights: original contract completed or substantially performed) this Part of this Act has effect as if— (a) the effective date of the land transaction mentioned in paragraph 4(4) ("the transferee's land transaction") were also the effective date of another land transaction (a "notional land transaction"), and | 5 |
| | (b) the original purchaser were the purchaser under that notional land transaction.The notional land transaction is referred to below as "associated with" the assignment of rights under which the original purchaser | 10 |
| | is the transferor. | |
| (2) | Where sub-paragraph (1) applies and the assignment of rights mentioned in paragraph 4(1) ("the implemented assignment of rights") was preceded by one or more related assignments of rights, then for the purposes of this Part of this Act there is taken to be, for each assignment of rights (other than the first) in the chain formed by the implemented assignment of rights and those preceding assignments of rights, an additional land transaction in | 15 20 |
| | the case of which— (a) the effective date is the effective date of the transferee's | |
| | land transaction, and (b) the purchaser is the transferor under that assignment of rights. The additional land transaction is referred to below as "associated with" the assignment of rights. | 25 |
| (3) | For the purpose of determining the chargeable consideration for the notional land transaction, Schedule 4 has effect as if paragraph 1(1) of that Schedule provided that the chargeable consideration is (except as otherwise expressly provided) the total of amounts A and B. | 30 |
| (4) | For the purpose of determining the chargeable consideration for any additional land transaction, Schedule 4 has effect as if paragraph 1(1) of that Schedule provided that the chargeable consideration is (except as otherwise expressly provided) the total of amounts A, B and C. | 35 |
| (5) | For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (3) and (4)— A is the total amount of any consideration in money or money's worth given (whether directly or indirectly) by any of the following as consideration under the original contract— (a) the transferon under the assignment of rights with | 40 |
| | (a) the transferee under the assignment of rights with which the notional land transaction or (as the case requires) the additional land transaction is associated;(b) where that assignment of rights is one in a chain of | 45 |
| | successive transactions that are pre-completion transactions in relation to the original contract (all having at least part of their subject-matter in common), the transferee under any subsequent pre- | |
| | completion transaction in that chain; | 50 |

completion transaction in that chain;

(1) This paragraph applies where –

8

| | (c) a person connected with a person falling within paragraph (a) or (b); | |
|---------------|---|----|
| | B is the total amount of any other consideration in money or money's worth given as consideration under the original contract (directly or indirectly) by— | 5 |
| | (a) the purchaser (under the notional land transaction or, as the case requires, the additional land transaction), or | |
| | (b) a person connected with the purchaser; | |
| | C is the amount of any consideration in money or money's worth given for the preceding assignment of rights by— (a) the purple sor (up don't be additional land transaction) | 10 |
| | (a) the purchaser (under the additional land transaction), or | |
| | (b) a person connected with the purchaser. | |
| | In the definition of amount C, "the preceding assignment of rights" means the assignment of rights as a result of which the purchaser became entitled to call for a conveyance of (what became) the subject-matter of the assignment of rights associated with the additional land transaction. | 15 |
| , , | In sub-paragraph (2) "related assignment of rights" means a transaction that is an assignment of rights in relation to the original contract and has some subject-matter in common with the implemented assignment of rights. | 20 |
| Paragraph 5: | effect of rescission etc following substantial performance | |
| . , | This paragraph applies where paragraph 5(1) (transferor treated as making separate acquisition) applies by virtue of the substantial performance by the transferee of the original contract. | 25 |
| , , | If the original contract is (to any extent) subsequently rescinded or annulled, or is for any other reason not carried into effect, the tax paid by virtue of paragraph 5(1), and any tax paid by virtue of paragraph 5(2), must (to that extent) be repaid by HMRC. | 30 |
| | Repayment under sub-paragraph (2) must be claimed by amendment of the land transaction return made in respect of the notional or additional land transaction. | |
| Assignment of | of rights relating to part only of subject-matter of original contract | 35 |
| 7 | Where the transferee under the assignment of rights referred to in paragraph 4(1) is entitled to call for the conveyance of part, but not the whole, of the subject-matter of the original contract— | |
| | (a) paragraph 4 applies as if the original contract, so far as relating to that part of its subject-matter, were a separate contract, and | 40 |
| | (b) the references in paragraph 5 to the original contract are to be read accordingly. | |
| Assignment of | of rights: references to "the vendor" | |

| | (a) | the pre-completion transaction is an assignment of rights, | |
|-----|-------------------------------|---|----------|
| | (b) | and either the subject-matter of the original contract is conveyed to the transferee or the original contract is substantially performed by the transferee. | 5 |
| (2) | free-st | paragraph does not apply if the original contract is itself a randing transfer. A ragraphs 10 and 11 for the treatment of such cases. | |
| (3) | referen | ation to a relevant land transaction, the general rule is that ences in this Part of this Act to the vendor are to be read as ences to the vendor under the original contract (but see subraphs (4) and (5)). | 10 |
| (4) | before the will referen | es where the original contract was substantially performed the transferee became entitled to call for a conveyance of hole or part of the subject-matter of the original contract, nces in this Part of this Act to the vendor are to be read as nces to the person who was the purchaser under the original ct when it was substantially performed. | 15 |
| (5) | in the | tion to a relevant land transaction, references to the vendor specified provisions (see sub-paragraph (6)) are to be read uding— the vendor under the original contract, and the transferor under any relevant assignment of rights. | 20 |
| (6) | ` / | section 61(1)(a) (compliance with planning obligations: conditions for exemption); section 66(1) and (2) (transfers involving public bodies); paragraph 8(1)(a) of Schedule 4 (debt as consideration); paragraph 10(2)(c) of Schedule 4 (carrying out of works); paragraph 16 of Schedule 4 (indemnity given by vendor). | 25 30 |
| (7) | The fo | Illowing are "relevant land transactions"— the land transaction effected by the conveyance mentioned in sub-paragraph (1)(b) or treated as effected by the substantial performance mentioned in that provision; the notional land transaction mentioned in paragraph 5(1)(b) and any additional land transaction under paragraph 5(2). | 35 |
| (8) | transa to ano | ermining under section 108(1) whether or not a relevant land ction such as is mentioned in sub-paragraph (7)(a) is linked ther transaction, it may be assumed that any of the following vendor under the relevant land transaction— the vendor (determined in accordance with sub-paragraph (3)), or the transferor under any relevant assignment of rights. | 40 |
| (9) | The fo | llowing are "relevant assignments of rights" in relation to a | 45 |

Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 37 - Stamp duty land tax: transactions entered into before completion of contract

437

the assignment of rights mentioned in sub-paragraph

any other transaction that is an assignment of rights in relation to the original contract and has some subjectmatter in common with the assignment of rights mentioned in paragraph (a).

Free-standing transfers: consideration and substantial performance

- (1) This paragraph applies where the pre-completion transaction is a free-standing transfer.
 - (2) If the transferee acquires the subject-matter of the free-standing transfer, the consideration for the transaction effecting that acquisition is taken to include the consideration given for the freestanding transfer (if that would not otherwise be the case).
 - (3) References in sub-paragraph (2) to an acquisition include an acquisition deemed to take place under section 44(4) (and the reference to the transaction effecting that acquisition is read accordingly).
 - (4) An action taken by the transferee (or an assignee of the transferee) that would, if taken by the original purchaser, constitute (for the purposes of section 44(5)) the taking of possession of the whole or 20 substantially the whole of the subject-matter of the original contract is treated as effecting the substantial performance of the original contract.
 - (5) If a transaction that is a free-standing transfer in relation a contract is also a free-standing transfer in relation to another contract (in particular, where there have been successive free-standing transfers), each of those contracts may be regarded as "the original contract" for the purposes of separate applications of subparagraph (4).
 - (6) In sub-paragraph (4)
 - the reference to the transferee includes a person connected with the transferee, and
 - the reference to an assignee of the transferee includes a person connected with such a person.
 - (7) References in this paragraph to an assignee of the transferee are to a person who, as a result of a transaction that is an assignment of rights in relation to the free-standing transfer, is entitled to call for a conveyance of the whole or part of the subject-matter of the freestanding transfer.

Meaning of "the vendor": cases involving free-standing transfers

- 10 (1) This paragraph applies where
 - a land transaction is effected, or treated as effected, by an acquisition falling within paragraph 9(2) (read with paragraph 9(3)), or
 - paragraph 8(1) (meaning of "vendor" where the transferee is the assignee under an assignment of rights) would apply

5

10

25

15

30

35

40

but for paragraph 8(2) (exclusion of cases where the original contract is itself a free-standing transfer).

- (2) In this paragraph "the relevant land transaction" means the land transaction
 - (a) mentioned in sub-paragraph (1)(a), or

by of 5

10

15

20

- (b) in a case falling within sub-paragraph (1)(b), effected by the conveyance to the transferee of the subject-matter of the original contract or the substantial performance by the transferee of the original contract.
- (3) References in this paragraph to "the specified transaction" are to –

_

- (a) the free-standing transfer mentioned in paragraph 9(2), or
- (b) the original contract the subject-matter of which is conveyed to the transferee or which is substantially performed by the transferee.
- (4) The general rule is that in relation to the relevant land transaction references in this Part of this Act to "the vendor" are to be read as references to the vendor or (as the case may be) transferor under the first appropriate transaction (but see sub-paragraph (5)).
- (5) In relation to the relevant land transaction, references to the vendor in the specified provisions (see sub-paragraph (6)) are to be read as including
 - (a) the vendor under the first appropriate transaction, and
 - (b) each person who is the transferor in the case of a relevant pre-completion transaction.
- (6) The specified provisions are –

25

- (a) section 61(1)(a) (compliance with planning obligations: conditions for exemption);
- (b) section 66(1) and (2) (transfers involving public bodies);
- (c) paragraph 8(1)(a) of Schedule 4 (debt as consideration);
- (d) paragraph 10(2)(c) of Schedule 4 (carrying out of works);
- 30
- (e) paragraph 16 of Schedule 4 (indemnity given by vendor).
- (7) In determining under section 108(1) whether or not the relevant land transaction is linked to another transaction it may be assumed that any of the following is the vendor under the relevant land transaction —

35

- (a) the vendor (determined under sub-paragraph (4)), or
- (b) the transferor under any relevant pre-completion transaction.
- (8) The following are "relevant pre-completion transactions" in relation to the relevant land transaction—

- (a) the specified transaction;
- (b) any other transaction that is a pre-completion transaction in relation to the original contract and has some subject-matter in common with the specified transaction.

Finance (No. 2) Bill 439

Paragraph 10: "the first appropriate transaction" and "the original contract"

- (1) Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, "the first appropriate transaction" means the original contract.
 - (2) If the original contract is not performed at the same time as, and in connection with the performance of, the specified transaction, "the first appropriate transaction" means a transaction that is a precompletion transaction in relation to the original contract and meets the following conditions.

5

10

15

20

25

40

- (3) The conditions are that the pre-completion transaction
 - is performed at the time when the specified transaction is performed and (if it is not itself the specified transaction) is performed in connection with the performance of the specified transaction,
 - is a transaction on which the entitlement of the transferee to call for the conveyance of the subject-matter of the specified transaction depends, and
 - is not preceded by another pre-completion transaction meeting the conditions in paragraphs (a) and (b).
- (4) For the purposes of this paragraph
 - a contract for a land transaction is taken to be "performed" when it is substantially performed or completed (whichever is earlier);
 - a free-standing transfer other than a contract is taken to be "performed" when the transferee under that free-standing transfer (or an assignee of that transferee, as defined in paragraph 9(7)) acquires the subject-matter of that freestanding transfer.
- (5) Where the specified transaction is a pre-completion transaction in relation to each of two or more contracts such as are mentioned in paragraph 1(1)(a) that together form a series of such contracts 30 (each having some subject-matter in common with all the others), references in paragraph 10 and this paragraph to "the original contract" are to be read as references to the first contract in that series.
- (6) In this paragraph "the specified transaction" has the meaning 35 given by paragraph 10(3).

Minimum consideration rule

- (1) This paragraph applies where either of the following provisions applies
 - paragraph 4(3) (assignment of rights: chargeable interest acquired or treated as acquired by transferee);
 - paragraph 9(2) (free-standing transfers: chargeable interest acquired or treated as acquired by transferee).
 - (2) If there is a relevant connection between parties, then for the purposes of paragraph 1(1) of Schedule 4 the consideration given 45 by the purchaser for the subject-matter of the land transaction referred to in paragraph 4(4) or 9(2) is taken to be –

Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 37 – Stamp duty land tax: transactions entered into before completion of contract the amount that it would be apart from this subparagraph, or (if higher) the first minimum amount, or (c) (if higher than both those amounts) the second minimum amount. 5 (3) There is a "relevant connection between parties" if – the persons who are the transferor and transferee in relation to the pre-completion transaction mentioned in paragraph 4(1) or 9(1) ("the implemented transaction") are connected with each other, or are not acting at arm's 10 length, or sub-paragraph (4) applies. (4) This sub-paragraph applies if – the implemented transaction is one in a chain of successive transactions (all having at least part of their subject-matter 15 in common) that are pre-completion transactions in relation to the original contract, and a person who is the transferor in relation to a precompletion transaction that precedes the implemented transaction in the chain of transactions is connected with, 20 or not acting at arm's length in relation to, the transferee under the implemented transaction. (5) Where the implemented transaction is a pre-completion transaction in relation to a contract for a land transaction that is not itself a free-25 standing transfer in relation to any other contract, and a contract, or two or more successive contracts, that are themselves free-standing transfers in relation to the contract mentioned in paragraph (a), references in this paragraph to "the original contract" are to the 30 contract mentioned in paragraph (a) (and do not include any contract mentioned in paragraph (b)). The first minimum amount (1) "The first minimum amount" means if the chargeable interest acquired (or treated as acquired) 35 under the land transaction referred to in paragraph 4(4) or 9(2) is the whole subject-matter of the original contract, the amount of any consideration (in money or money's worth) agreed to be given, under the terms of the original contract, for the acquisition of that subject-matter, or 40

if paragraph (a) does not apply, so much of the amount mentioned in paragraph (a) as is referable, on a just and reasonable apportionment, to the chargeable interest mentioned in that paragraph.

45

This is subject to sub-paragraph (2).

(2) If conditions A to C are met, "the first minimum amount" means the amount of any consideration (in money or money's worth) agreed, under the terms of the transfer to the first T, to be given in

| respect of the subject-matter of that transaction (including an | |
|--|----|
| consideration relating to an obligation of the transferor under th | ıe |
| transfer to the first T). | |

| | | eration relating to an obligation of the transferor under the er to the first T). | |
|-------|-------------|--|----|
| (3) | | nditions mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) are as follows. ondition A is that the pre-completion transaction referred to in paragraph 4(4) or 9(2) is one of a chain of successive transactions (all having at least part of their subject-matter in common) that are pre-completion transactions in relation to the original contract. | 5 |
| | С | ondition B is that a person ("T") is the transferor under a pre-completion transaction that forms part of that chain and T is connected with, or not acting at arm's length in relation to— | 10 |
| | | (a) the transferee under that transaction, or | 15 |
| | | (b) the transferee under a subsequent transaction in the chain. | 15 |
| | C | ondition C is that having regard to all the circumstances it would not be reasonable to conclude that the obtaining of a tax advantage (for any person) was the main purpose, or one of main purposes, of T in entering into— (a) any pre-completion transaction in the chain, or | 20 |
| | | (b) any arrangements of which such a transaction forms part. | |
| (4) | Where (a) | conditions A to C are met, "the first T" means— if condition B is met in relation to only one pre-completion | 25 |
| | (b) | transaction, T, or if condition B is met in relation to more than one precompletion transaction in the chain, the transferor in relation to the first of the pre-completion transactions in relation to which condition B is met. | 30 |
| (5) | In this (a) | paragraph "the transfer to the first T" means— the pre-completion transaction under which the first T is the transferee, or | |
| | (b) | the original contract (if T is the original purchaser). | |
| (6) | (a) | paragraph— references to "the original contract" are to be read in accordance with paragraph 12(5) (and references to the original purchaser are to be read accordingly); | 35 |
| | (b) | "tax advantage" has the same meaning as in paragraph 18. | |
| ond n | ıinimun | n amount | 40 |
| (1) | | agraph 12 "the second minimum amount" means the total of amounts of consideration given by the relevant parties. | |
| (2) | Tl | والمعالم | |

The seco

- 14
 - (2) The net amount of consideration given by any relevant party is ${\rm CP-CR}$

where -

| | Finance (No. 2) Bill chedule 37 — Stamp duty land tax: transactions entered into before completion of contract | Scl |
|----------|--|-----|
| 5 | CP is the total amount of consideration given by the party for the acquisition of the chargeable interest or as consideration for a pre-completion transaction; CR is the total of any amounts of consideration given to the party by another relevant party (or other relevant parties) as consideration for the acquisition of the chargeable interest or as consideration for a pre-completion transaction. If CR is greater than CP, the net amount of consideration given by the relevant party is taken to be zero. | |
| | Except where sub-paragraph (4) applies, the relevant parties for the purposes of this paragraph are— (a) the original purchaser, and (b) the transferee. | (3) |
| 15 | If the pre-completion transaction referred to in paragraph 4(4) or 9(2) ("the implemented transaction") is one in a chain of successive transactions (having at least part of their subject-matter in common) that are pre-completion transactions in relation to the original contract, only the following are relevant parties— | (4) |
| 20 25 | (a) the persons who are the transferor and transferee in relation to the implemented transaction;(b) a person who is the transferor in relation to preceding transaction, if that person is connected with, or not acting at arm's length in relation to, the transferee under the implemented transaction, | |
| | (c) the transferee under a pre-completion transaction, if the transferor is a relevant party (whether by virtue of this paragraph (c) or otherwise). | |
| 30 | For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) – (a) amounts given by a person connected with a relevant party are treated as given by the relevant party; (b) amounts given to a person connected with a relevant party are treated as given to the relevant party. | (5) |
| 35 | References in this paragraph to a person connected with a relevant party do not include a person who is a relevant party. | |
| 40 | If the subject-matter of the implemented transaction is not the whole subject-matter of the original contract— (a) the amounts that are taken for the purposes of subparagraph (2) to be given "for the acquisition of the chargeable interest" are to be determined on a just and | (6) |

(a) reasonable basis, and

only so much of the consideration for a preceding transaction as is referable, on a just and reasonable apportionment, to the subject-matter of the implemented transaction is taken into account under sub-paragraph (2).

45

(7) In this paragraph –

(a) references to "the original contract" are to be read in accordance with paragraph 12(5) (and references to "the original purchaser" are to be read accordingly);

Finance (No. 2) Bill 443

> "preceding transaction" means a pre-completion transaction that precedes the implemented transaction in a chain of successive pre-completion transactions (all having at least part of their subject-matter in common).

Relief for original purchaser: assignment of rights

(1) This paragraph applies where –

- a person would, in the absence of this paragraph, be liable to pay tax in respect of a notional land transaction deemed to take place under paragraph 5(1) or an additional land transaction deemed to take place under paragraph 5(2), and
- the original contract had not been substantially performed when the assignment of rights mentioned in paragraph 4(1) was entered into.
- (2) If the purchaser claims relief under this paragraph in respect of the notional land transaction or additional land transaction, no liability to tax arises in respect of that transaction.
- (3) Sub-paragraph (2) does not apply if the land transaction mentioned in paragraph 4(4) is exempt from charge by virtue of any of sections 71A to 73 (which relate to alternative property finance).
- (4) Relief under this section must be claimed in a land transaction return or an amendment of such a return.

Relief for original purchaser: qualifying subsales

(1) This paragraph applies if –

- the pre-completion transaction is a qualifying subsale,
- the original purchaser would, in the absence of this paragraph, be liable to pay tax in respect of a land transaction effected by the completion of the original contract or deemed to be effected by the substantial performance of the original contract,
- the performance of the qualifying subsale takes place at the same time as, and in connection with, the performance of the original contract, and
- relief is claimed in respect of the land transaction (d) mentioned in paragraph (b).
- (2) If the subject-matter of the qualifying subsale is the whole of the subject-matter of the original contract, no liability to tax arises in respect of the land transaction.
- (3) If the subject-matter of the qualifying subsale is part (but not the 40 whole) of the subject-matter of the original contract, the amount of the consideration for the land transaction is taken to be
 - the amount that it would be apart from this subsection, less
 - so much of that amount as is referable to the subject-matter of the qualifying subsale.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

| | (4) | The amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (3)(a) may be reduced more than once under sub-paragraph (3) if there is more than one qualifying subsale. | |
|----------|--------|--|----|
| | (5) | Sub-paragraphs (2) to (4) do not apply if— (a) the original contract had been substantially performed when the qualifying subsale was entered into, or (b) the transaction effected, or deemed to be effected, by the performance of the qualifying subsale is exempt from charge by virtue of any of sections 71A to 73. | 5 |
| | (6) | Relief under this section must be claimed in a land transaction return or an amendment of a land transaction return. | 10 |
| | (7) | For the purposes of this paragraph a contract for a land transaction is taken to be "performed" when it is substantially performed or completed (whichever is earlier). | |
| | (8) | A pre-completion transaction is a "qualifying subsale" if it is a contract under which the original purchaser contracts to sell the whole or part of the subject-matter of the original contract to the transferee. | 15 |
| Applicat | tion (| of paragraph 16 to successive subsales | |
| 17 | | If a transaction is a qualifying subsale in relation to more than one contract such as is mentioned in paragraph 1(1)(a), paragraph 16 is to be applied separately in relation to each such original contract for the purpose of determining what relief, if any, may be available with respect to the land transaction in question. | 20 |
| Tax avoi | idan | ce arrangements | 25 |
| 18 | (1) | Relief may not be claimed — | |
| | | (a) under paragraph 15 if the assignment of rights referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b) of that paragraph forms part of any tax avoidance arrangements, or | |
| | | (b) under paragraph 16 if the qualifying subsale referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c) of that paragraph forms part of any tax avoidance arrangements. | 30 |
| | (2) | Arrangements are "tax avoidance arrangements" if, having regard to all the circumstances, it would be reasonable to conclude that the obtaining of a tax advantage for the original purchaser or any other person was the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of the original purchaser in entering into the arrangements. | 35 |
| | (3) | In this paragraph "tax advantage" means— (a) a relief from tax or increased relief from tax, (b) a repayment of tax or increased repayment of tax, (c) the avoidance or reduction of a charge to tax, or (d) the avoidance of a possible assessment to tax. | 40 |
| | (4) | In this paragraph "arrangements" includes any agreement, understanding, scheme, transaction or series of transactions (whether or not legally enforceable). | 45 |

Schedule 37 – Stamp duty land tax: transactions entered into before completion of contract

Finance (No. 2) Bill 445

> (5) Nothing in paragraphs 12 to 14 (minimum consideration rule) or this paragraph affects the breadth of the application of sections 75A to 75C (anti-avoidance).

| Exclusio | on of | transactions from duty to make returns etc | |
|----------|--------|---|----|
| 19 | (1) | The Treasury may by regulations amend this Schedule, or any provision of this Part of this Act relating to the making of returns, so as to— | 5 |
| | | (a) exempt relevant purchasers of any specified description, or in specified circumstances, from the duty to deliver a land transaction return, | 10 |
| | | (b) provide for relief under paragraph 15 or 16 to be available without a claim in the case of any specified class of transactions, or | |
| | | (c) provide that paragraph 5 does not apply in specified cases. | |
| | (2) | In this paragraph "relevant purchaser" means a person who is the transferor under a pre-completion transaction. | 15 |
| Connec | ted p | ersons | |
| 20 | | Section 1122 of CTA 2010 (connected persons) applies for the purposes of this Schedule. | |
| Interpre | etatio | n of Schedule | 20 |
| 21 | (1) | In this Schedule – | |
| | () | "assignment of rights" has the meaning given by paragraph 2(1); | |
| | | "contract" includes any agreement; | |
| | | "conveyance" includes any instrument; | 25 |
| | | "free-standing transfer" has the meaning given by paragraph 2(2); | |
| | | "pre-completion transaction" (in relation to a contract such as is mentioned in paragraph 1(1)) has the meaning given by paragraph 1(2); | 30 |
| | | "qualifying subsale" has the meaning given by paragraph 16(8); | |
| | | "the transferee", in relation to a pre-completion transaction, has the meaning given by paragraph 1(2)(a); | |
| | | "the transferor", in relation to a pre-completion transaction, has the meaning given by paragraph 2(3). | 35 |
| | (2) | In this Schedule – | |
| | | (a) references to "the original contract" are to be read in | |

- (a) references to "the original contract" are to be read in accordance with paragraph 1(1)(a);
- references to "the original purchaser" are to be read in (b) accordance with paragraph 1(1)(a) and see also subparagraph (3);

40

references to "part of the subject-matter of the original contract" are to be read in accordance with paragraph 1(7);

| | (d) references to the "subject-matter" of a pre-completion transaction are to be read in accordance with paragraph 2(4); | |
|----|---|----|
| | (e) references to substantial performance of the original contract "by the transferee" (in cases involving an assignment of rights) are to be read in accordance with paragraph 4(7). | 5 |
| | (3) For any one contract for the acquisition of a chargeable interest there is only one original purchaser (disregarding cases involving joint purchasers)." | 10 |
| 4 | In section 57A (sale and leaseback arrangements), in subsection (3)(c) — (a) omit "section 45 (contract and conveyance: effect of transfer of rights) or", and | |
| | (b) after the second occurrence of "transfer of rights)" insert "or a pre- completion transaction within the meaning of Schedule 2A (transactions entered into before completion of contract)". | 15 |
| 5 | In section 77 (notifiable transactions), in subsection (1) — (a) omit the "or" after paragraph (c), and (b) after paragraph (d) insert, "or (e) a notional or additional land transaction under paragraph 5 of Schedule 2A." | 20 |
| 6 | In section 79(2) (registration of land transactions etc) — (a) omit paragraph (a)(i) and the "or" after it, and (b) after paragraph (b) insert — "(ba) under paragraph 5 of Schedule 2A (transactions entered into before completion of contract),". | 25 |
| 7 | In section 119 (meaning of "effective date" of a transaction), in subsection (2), at the appropriate place insert — "paragraph 5 of Schedule 2A,". | |
| 8 | In section 121 (index of defined expressions), in the entry for "vendor", in the second column, for "sections 45(5A) and 45A(9)" substitute "section 45A(9) and paragraphs 8, 10 and 11 of Schedule 2A". | 30 |
| 9 | In Schedule 6B (transfers involving multiple dwellings), in paragraph 7(6), in the definition of "relevant deeming provision", after "45A" insert "or paragraph 5(1) or (3) of Schedule 2A". | 35 |
| 10 | In paragraph 12B of Schedule 17A (assignment of agreement for lease), in sub-paragraph (1) for "section 45 (contract and conveyance: effect of transfer of rights)" substitute "Schedule 2A (transactions entered into before completion of contract)". | |
| 11 | The amendments made by this Schedule have effect in relation to transfers of rights (see section 45 of FA 2003) and pre-completion transactions (see paragraph 3) entered into on or after the day on which this Act is passed. | 40 |
| | | |

SCHEDULE 38

Section 194

STAMP DUTY LAND TAX: RELIEF FROM 15% RATE

1 Part 4 of FA 2003 (stamp duty land tax) is amended as follows.

Amendments of FA 2003

5 (1) Schedule 4A (higher rate for certain transactions) is amended as follows. (2) In paragraph 2(6) (treatment of certain transactions as two separate chargeable transactions) for "and 5" substitute ", 5 to 5K and 6A to 6H". (3) For paragraph 5 (property developers) and the cross-heading preceding it substitute -"Businesses of letting, trading in or redeveloping properties 10 5 (1) Paragraph 3 does not apply to a chargeable transaction so far as its subject-matter consists of a higher threshold interest that is acquired exclusively for one or more of the following purposes – exploitation as a source of rents or other receipts (other than excluded rents) in the course of a qualifying property 15 rental business; development or redevelopment and resale in the course of (b) a property development trade; resale in the course of a property development trade (in a case where the chargeable transaction is part of a 20 qualifying exchange); resale (as stock of the business) in the course of a property trading business. (2) A chargeable interest does not count as being acquired exclusively for one or more of those purposes if it is intended that a non-25 qualifying individual will be permitted to occupy the dwelling. (3) In this paragraph – "excluded rents" has the same meaning as in section 131 of the Finance Act 2013; 30 "property development trade" means a trade that consists of or includes buying and developing or redeveloping for resale residential or non-residential property, and is run on a commercial basis and with a view to profit; "part of a qualifying exchange" is to be construed in 35 accordance with section 137(4) of the Finance Act 2013; "property trading business" means a business that consists of or includes activities in the nature of a trade of buying and selling dwellings, and is run on a commercial basis and with a view to profit; 40

"qualifying property rental business" has the same meaning

as in section 131 of the Finance Act 2013."

(4) After paragraph 5 insert –

"Meaning of "non-qualifying individual"

- 5A (1) In paragraph 5 "non-qualifying individual", in relation to a chargeable transaction, means any of the following the purchaser (other than a purchaser entering into the 5 transaction as a member of a partnership); a purchaser who enters into the transaction as a member of a partnership and has a major share in the partnership, an individual (a "connected person") who is connected with the purchaser; 10 a relevant settlor; (d) the spouse or civil partner of a connected person or of a relevant settlor; a relative of a connected person or of a relevant settlor, or the spouse or civil partner of a relative of a connected 15 person or of a relevant settlor; a relative of the spouse or civil partner of a connected person or of a relevant settlor; the spouse or civil partner of a person falling within 20 paragraph (g); an individual who is a major participant in a relevant collective investment scheme or is connected with a major participant in a relevant collective investment scheme. (2) A member of a partnership has a "major share" in the partnership 25 if the member is entitled to a 50% or greater share in the income profits of the partnership, or in the partnership's assets. (3) A collective investment scheme is a "relevant collective investment scheme" for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(i) if the 30 purchaser under the chargeable transaction referred to in that subparagraph acquires the subject-matter of the transaction for the purposes of that scheme. (4) An individual who participates in a collective investment scheme is a "major participant" in the scheme if the individual is entitled to a share of at least 50% either of all the profits 35 or income arising from the scheme or of any profits or income arising from the scheme that may be distributed to participants, or would in the event of the winding up of the scheme be entitled to 50% or more of the assets of the scheme that 40 would then be available for distribution among the participants. (5) The reference in sub-paragraph (4)(a) to profits or income arising
 - from a collective investment scheme is to profits or income arising from the acquisition, holding, management or disposal of the 45 property subject to the scheme.
 - (6) In this paragraph –

| | "participant", in relation to a collective investment scheme, is to be read in accordance with section 235 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000; | |
|--------------|--|---------|
| | "relative" means brother, sister, ancestor or lineal descendant; "relevant settlor", in relation to a chargeable transaction, means an individual who is a settlor in relation to a relevant settlement (as defined in sub-paragraph (6)); "settlement" has the same meaning as in Chapter 5 of Part 5 of ITTOIA 2005 (see section 620 of that Act). | 5 10 |
| (7) | Where a person, in the capacity of trustee of a settlement, is connected with a person who is the purchaser under a chargeable transaction, that settlement is a "relevant settlement" in relation to the chargeable transaction. | |
| (8) | In sub-paragraph (7) "trustee" is to be read in accordance with section 1123(3) of CTA 2010 ("connected persons": supplementary). | 15 |
| (9) | In this paragraph "the purchaser", in relation to a chargeable transaction, is to be read as a reference to any of the purchasers (if there are more than one). | 20 |
| (10) | Section 1122 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 (connected persons) has effect for the purposes of this paragraph, but for those purposes— | |
| | (a) subsections (7) and (8) of that section (application of rules about connected persons to partnerships) are to be disregarded, and (b) subsections (2) to (7) of section 170 of the Finance Act 2013 apply as they apply for the purposes of Part 3 of that Act. | 25 |
| Trades invol | ving making a dwelling available to the public | |
| 5B (1) | Paragraph 3 does not apply to a chargeable transaction so far as its subject-matter consists of a higher threshold interest in relation to which the conditions in sub-paragraph (2) are met. | 30 |
| (2) | The conditions are that — (a) the higher threshold interest is acquired with the intention that it will be exploited as a source of income in the course of a qualifying trade, and (b) reasonable commercial plans have been formulated to | 35 |
| | carry out that intention without delay (except so far as delay may be justified by commercial considerations or cannot be avoided). | 40 |
| (3) | "Qualifying trade", in relation to a higher threshold interest, means a trade that— (a) is carried on on a commercial basis and with a view to profit, and | |
| | (b) involves, in its normal course, offering the public the opportunity to make use of, stay in or otherwise enjoy the dwelling as customers of the trade on at least 28 days in any calendar year. | 45 |

| | Schedule 38 – Stamp duty land tax: relief from 15% rate | |
|---------------|--|----------|
| (4) | For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3), persons are not considered to have the opportunity to make use of, stay in or otherwise enjoy a dwelling unless the areas that they have the opportunity to make use of, stay in or otherwise enjoy include a significant part of the interior of the dwelling. | 5 |
| (5) | The size (relative to the size of the whole dwelling), nature and function of any relevant area or areas in a dwelling are taken into account in determining whether they form a significant part of the interior of the dwelling. | |
| Financial ins | stitutions acquiring dwellings in the course of lending | 10 |
| 5C (1) | Sub-paragraph (2) applies to a chargeable transaction if the purchaser is a financial institution carrying on a business that involves the lending of money. | |
| (2) | Paragraph 3 does not apply to the chargeable transaction so far as its subject-matter consists of a higher threshold interest that is acquired in the course of that business— (a) for the purpose of resale in the course of the business and, (b) in connection with those lending activities. | 15 |
| Dwellings fo | r occupation by certain employees etc | |
| 5D (1) | Paragraph 3 does not apply to a chargeable transaction so far as its subject-matter consists of a higher threshold interest in relation to which the conditions in sub-paragraph (2) are met. Those conditions can only be met if the purchaser, or a relevant group member, carries on or is to carry on a relievable trade. | 20 |
| (2) | (a) the interest is acquired for the purpose of making the dwelling available to one or more qualifying employees or qualifying partners for use as living accommodation, and (b) the dwelling is to be made available as mentioned in paragraph (a) for purposes that are solely or mainly purposes of the qualifying trade. | 25 30 |
| (3) | For the purposes of the relief under this paragraph it does not matter whether or not the individuals mentioned in subparagraph (2)(a) are identified at the time of the chargeable transaction. | 35 |
| (4) | "Relievable trade" means a trade that is carried on on a commercial basis and with a view to profit. | |
| (5) | In this paragraph references to making a dwelling available to a qualifying individual include making it available to persons who are to share the accommodation with a qualifying individual as that individual's family. | 40 |
| (6) | Where the purchaser is a company, "relevant group member" means a company which is a member of the same group of companies as the purchaser for the purposes mentioned in paragraph 1(2) of Schedule 7 (group relief). | 45 |

Mo

| ore abo | ut t | the condition in paragraph 5D(2)(a) | |
|---------|------|---|----------|
| 5E | (1) | In a case where the person carrying on the qualifying trade mentioned in paragraph 5D(1) carries it on in partnership with one or more other persons, "qualifying partner" means any individual who is a member of the partnership. | 5 |
| | (2) | "Qualifying employee" means an individual employed for the purposes of the qualifying trade. | |
| | (3) | In a case falling within sub-paragraph (1), the condition in paragraph 5D(2)(a) is taken not to be met if the individuals, or a class of individuals, to whom it is proposed to make the dwelling available for use as living accommodation include, or are likely to include, a member of the partnership who is (or will at the relevant time be) entitled to a 10% or greater share— | 10 |
| | | (a) in the income profits of the partnership, or(b) in any company beneficially entitled to the higher threshold interest mentioned in paragraph 5D(1), or(c) in that higher threshold interest. | 15 |
| | (4) | In addition, the condition in paragraph 5D(2)(a) is taken not to be met if the individuals, or a class of individuals, to whom it is proposed to make the dwelling available for use as living accommodation include, or are likely to include, an individual employed for the purposes of the trade in question who is (or will at the relevant time be)— | 20 |
| | | (a) entitled to a 10% or greater share — (i) in the income profits of the trade, or (ii) in any company that is beneficially entitled to the higher threshold interest, or (iii) in that higher threshold interest, or (b) employed to provide excluded domestic services. | 25 |
| | (5) | The reference in sub-paragraph (4)(b) to an individual employed to provide excluded domestic services is to an individual the duties of whose employment include the provision of services in connection with the (actual or intended) occupation, by an individual to whom sub-paragraph (6) applies, of the dwelling mentioned in paragraph 5D(2)(a) ("the relevant dwelling"), or a linked dwelling. | 30 35 |
| | (6) | This sub-paragraph applies to any individual who is connected with a person who is or is to be beneficially entitled to the higher threshold interest. | |
| | (7) | The following are "linked" dwellings for the purposes of sub- paragraph (5) — (a) if the conditions in section 114(2) of the Finance Act 2013 are met in relation to the relevant dwelling and another dwelling, that other dwelling; | 40 |
| | | (b) a dwelling that is linked to the relevant dwelling, as described in section 115(1) of the Finance Act 2013. | 45 |

(8) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (3)(c) and (4)(a) persons who are entitled to a chargeable interest as beneficial joint tenants (or,

(9)

(10)

Farmhouses

5F (1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7) In this paragraph –

| Schedule 38 – Stamp duty land tax: relief from 15% rate | |
|---|----|
| in Scotland, as joint owners) are taken to be entitled to the chargeable interest as beneficial tenants in common (or, in Scotland, as owners in common) in equal shares. | |
| Section 145 of the Finance Act 2013 (meaning of "10% or greater share in a company") applies for the purposes of this paragraph as for the purposes of section 144 of that Act. | 5 |
| In this paragraph references to employment include the holding of an office. | |
| Paragraph 3 does not apply to a chargeable transaction so far as its subject-matter consists of a higher threshold interest in or over a dwelling— | 10 |
| (a) that is, or is to be, a farmhouse, and(b) in relation to which the conditions in sub-paragraph (3) are met. | 15 |
| The reference in sub-paragraph (1) to a dwelling that "is or is to be a farmhouse" is to a dwelling that forms part of land that is to be occupied, or to continue to be occupied, for the purposes of a qualifying trade of farming. | |
| The conditions are that — | 20 |
| (a) the dwelling is to be occupied for the purposes of that trade by a qualifying farm worker, | |
| (b) reasonable commercial plans have been formulated under which such occupation is either to continue from the effective date of the chargeable transaction or to begin without delay (except so far as delay may be justified by commercial considerations or cannot be avoided), and | 25 |
| (c) occupation of the farmhouse by a qualifying farm worker is then expected to continue as part of the normal way in which the trade is, or is to be, carried on. | 30 |
| In sub-paragraph (3) "qualifying farm worker" means an individual who occupies the dwelling for the purposes of the trade mentioned in that sub-paragraph and has a substantial involvement— | |
| (a) in the day-to-day work of the trade, or(b) in the direction and control of the conduct of the trade. | 35 |
| "Qualifying trade of farming" means a trade of farming that is carried on— | |
| (a) on a commercial basis, and(b) with a view to the realisation of profits. | 40 |
| A person occupying part of a dwelling is regarded as occupying the dwelling for the purposes of this paragraph. | 13 |

(a) "farming" has the same meaning as in the Corporation Tax Acts (see section 1125 of CTA 2010), except that in this paragraph "farming" includes market gardening;

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

"market gardening" has the same meaning as in the Corporation Tax Acts (see section 1125(5) of CTA 2010).

Withdrawal of relief

- 5G (1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where relief under paragraph 5 has been allowed in respect of a higher threshold interest forming the whole or part of the subject-matter of a chargeable transaction. (2) The relief is withdrawn if at any time in the period of three years beginning with the effective date of the chargeable transaction ("the control period") a requirement in sub-paragraph (3) is not 10 met. (3) The requirements are that – the higher threshold interest (if still held by the purchaser) is held exclusively for one or more of the purposes
 - mentioned in paragraph 5(1), any chargeable interest derived from the higher threshold interest that may be held by the purchaser is held exclusively for one or more of those purposes, and
 - (if the higher threshold interest or a chargeable interest derived from it is held by the purchaser) no non-qualifying individual is permitted to occupy the dwelling.
 - (4) The requirements in sub-paragraph (3)(a) and (b) do not apply in relation to times when, because of a change of circumstances that is unforeseen and beyond the purchaser's control, it is not reasonable to expect the purposes for which the higher threshold interest was acquired to be carried out.
 - (5) Sub-paragraph (6) applies if a higher threshold interest was acquired for a purpose mentioned in paragraph 5(1) but at some time in the control period the activity in question (for instance, exploitation of the interest as mentioned in paragraph 5(1)(a) –
 - has not yet begun, or
 - (b) has ceased.
 - (6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3), the interest is taken to be held for the purpose in question only if reasonable steps are being taken to ensure that the purpose in question is carried out.
 - (7) In this paragraph "non-qualifying individual" (in relation to the chargeable transaction mentioned in sub-paragraph (1)) has the meaning given by paragraph 5A.
- 5H (1) This paragraph applies where relief under paragraph 5B (trades involving making a dwelling open to the public) has been allowed in respect of a higher threshold interest forming the whole or part of the subject-matter of a chargeable transaction.
 - (2) The relief is withdrawn if at any time in the period of three years beginning with the effective date of the chargeable transaction ("the control period") a requirement in sub-paragraph (3) is not
 - (3) The requirements are that—

5I

5J

| | | Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 38 – Stamp duty land tax: relief from 15% rate | |
|-----|---------------------------|--|----|
| | (a) (b) | the higher threshold interest (if still held by the purchaser), is being exploited as a source of income in the course of a qualifying trade, and any chargeable interest derived from that interest that may be held by the purchaser is being exploited as mentioned | 5 |
| | | in paragraph (a). | |
| (4) | times unfore reason | quirements in sub-paragraph (3) do not apply in relation to when, because of a change of circumstances that is seen and beyond the purchaser's control, it is not able to expect the chargeable interest concerned to be ted in the manner specified. | 10 |
| (5) | | aragraph (6) applies if at some time in the control period the threshold interest, or a chargeable interest derived from | |
| | (a) (b) | has not begun to be exploited as mentioned in sub- paragraph (3), or has ceased to be so exploited. | 15 |
| (6) | reason interes | quirements in sub-paragraph (3) are treated as being met if table steps are being taken to ensure that the chargeable it in question begins to be exploited as mentioned in that tragraph, or that such exploitation of the interest is resumed. | 20 |
| (1) | institu allowe | aragraph applies where relief under paragraph 5C (financial tions acquiring dwellings in the course of lending) has been ed in respect of a higher threshold interest forming the or part of the subject-matter of a chargeable transaction. | 25 |
| (2) | not me | lief is withdrawn if any requirement in sub-paragraph (3) is et at any time in the period of three years beginning with the ve date of the chargeable transaction ("the control period") ee sub-paragraphs (4) and (5)). | |
| (3) | The re- | quirements are that— the purchaser continues to be a financial institution carrying on a business that involves the lending of money, and | 30 |
| | (b) | the interest is held for the purpose of resale in the course of the business. | 35 |
| (4) | | quirements in sub-paragraph (3) apply only to times in the l period when the purchaser holds— the higher threshold interest, or | |
| | (b) | a chargeable interest that is derived from the higher threshold interest. | 40 |
| (5) | times | quirements in sub-paragraph (3) do not apply in relation to when, because of a change of circumstances that is seen and beyond the purchaser's control, it is not | |

reasonable to expect those requirements to be met.

(1) This paragraph applies where relief under paragraph 5D (dwellings for occupation by certain employees etc) has been

allowed in respect of a higher threshold interest forming the whole or part of the subject-matter of a chargeable transaction.

| | (2) | The relief is withdrawn if any requirement in sub-paragraph (3) is not met at any time in the period of three years beginning with the effective date of the chargeable transaction ("the control period") (but see sub-paragraphs (4) and (5)). | |
|----|-----|--|----|
| | (3) | The requirements are that— (a) the purchaser, or a relevant group member (as defined in paragraph 5D(6)), carries on a trade on a commercial basis and with a view to profit, | 5 |
| | | (b) the dwelling is made available as mentioned in paragraph 5D(2)(a), and (c) the dwelling is made so available for purposes that are solely or mainly purposes of the trade mentioned in paragraph (a) of this sub-paragraph. | 10 |
| | (4) | The requirements in sub-paragraph (3) apply only to times in the control period when the purchaser holds— (a) the higher threshold interest, or (b) a chargeable interest that is derived from the higher threshold interest. | 15 |
| | (5) | The requirements in sub-paragraph (3) do not apply in relation to times when, because of a change of circumstances that is unforeseen and beyond the purchaser's control, it is not reasonable to expect those requirements to be met. | 20 |
| | (6) | Sub-paragraph (7) applies if at some time in the control period the dwelling — (a) has not begun to be made available as mentioned in sub-paragraph (3)(b) and (c), or (b) has ceased to be so made available. | 25 |
| | (7) | The requirements in paragraphs (b) and (c) of sub-paragraph (3) are treated as being met if reasonable steps are being taken to ensure that the dwelling will begin to be, or will return to being, available as mentioned in those paragraphs. | 30 |
| 5K | (1) | This paragraph applies where relief under paragraph 5F (farmhouses) has been allowed in respect of a higher threshold interest forming the whole or part of the subject-matter of a chargeable transaction. | 35 |
| | (2) | The relief is withdrawn if at any time in the period of three years beginning with the effective date of the chargeable transaction ("the control period") the requirements in sub-paragraph (3) are not met (but see sub-paragraphs (4) and (5)). | |
| | (3) | The requirements are that— (a) the land mentioned in paragraph 5F(2)(a) is occupied for the purposes of a qualifying trade of farming, and (b) the dwelling is occupied for the purposes of that trade by a qualifying farm worker. | 40 |
| | (4) | The requirements in sub-paragraph (3) apply only to times in the control period when the purchaser holds— (a) the higher threshold interest, or | 45 |

| | (b) a chargeable interest that is derived from the higher threshold interest. | |
|----------------|--|----------|
| , , | The requirements in sub-paragraph (3) do not apply in relation to times when, because of a change of circumstances that is unforeseen and beyond the purchaser's control, it is not reasonable to expect those requirements to be met. | 5 |
| | Sub-paragraph (7) applies if at some time in the control period a requirement in sub-paragraph (3) — (a) has not begun to be met, or (b) has ceased to be met. | 10 |
| , , | The requirement is treated as being met if reasonable steps are being taken to ensure that the requirement begins to be met, or is again met." | |
| (5) After para | agraph 6 insert – | |
| "Modification | ns for cases involving alternative finance arrangements | 15 |
| 6A (1) | (a) section 71A (land sold to financial institution and leased to person), section 72 (land sold in Scotland sold to financial institution and leased to person) or section 73 (land sold to financial institution and re-sold to person) applies, and (b) the major interest in land purchased under the first transaction consists of or includes a higher threshold interest. | 20 |
| (2) | In this paragraph "the first transaction" means — (a) where section 71A applies, the transaction mentioned in section 71A(1)(a); (b) where section 72 applies, the transaction mentioned in section 72(1)(a); (c) where section 73 applies, the transaction mentioned in | 25 |
| | section 73(1)(a)(i). The condition in paragraph 3(3) is treated as being met with respect to the first transaction only if that condition is met with respect to the second transaction. | 30 |
| | If the second transaction would qualify for relief under any of paragraphs 5(1), 5B(1), 5D(1) and 5F(1) (disregarding the exemptions in sections 71A(3), 72(3) and 73(3) and assuming, for this purpose, that the subject-matter of the second transaction is a higher threshold interest), the first transaction is taken to qualify for relief under the same provision (and accordingly paragraph 3 does not apply in relation to the first transaction). | 35 40 |
| , , | The first transaction does not qualify for relief under any of paragraphs $5(1)$, $5B(1)$, $5D(1)$ or $5F(1)$ except in accordance with sub-paragraph (4). | |
| | In this paragraph "the second transaction" has the same meaning as in section 71A, 72 or 73 (as the case requires). | 45 |

(1) This paragraph applies where section 72A (land in Scotland sold to financial institution and person in common) applies and the major interest in land purchased under the transaction mentioned in section 72A(1)(a) ("the first transaction") consists of or includes a higher threshold interest. 5 (2) In determining whether or not the first transaction meets the condition in paragraph 3(3) it is to be assumed that the financial institution referred to in section 72A(1) is not one of the persons acquiring the major interest in land under that transaction. (3) Paragraphs 5 to 5F have effect in relation to the first transaction as 10 they would have effect if the financial institution were not a purchaser under that transaction. Paragraphs 6A and 6B: application where transaction is split under paragraph 2(3) 6C (1) Where paragraph 6A or 6B ("the modifying paragraph") applies 15 and the first transaction (within the meaning of that paragraph) is treated under paragraph 2(3) as two separate chargeable transactions, references in the modifying paragraph to the first transaction include those separate transactions. (2) If the subject-matter of the second transaction (within the meaning of paragraph 6A) includes a chargeable interest other than a 20 higher threshold interest, that fact is ignored in determining for the purposes of paragraph 6A – whether that transaction meets the condition in paragraph whether it would qualify for relief under any of 25 paragraphs 5(1), 5B(1), 5D(1) and 5F(1). Alternative finance arrangements: withdrawal of relief 6D (1) This paragraph applies where relief under paragraph 5 (businesses of letting, trading in or developing properties) has 30 been allowed, in accordance with paragraph 6A(4) or 6B(3), with respect to the purchase of a major interest in land. (2) The relief is withdrawn if at any time in the period of three years beginning with the effective date of the first transaction ("the control period") a relevant requirement is not met. 35 (3) The relevant requirements are that any relevant interest (see sub-paragraphs (5) and (6)) held by the relevant person is held by that person exclusively for one or more of the purposes mentioned in paragraph (if a relevant interest is held by the relevant person) no 40 non-qualifying individual is permitted to occupy the dwelling. (4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(a) and (b) it does not matter whether the relevant interest is held by the relevant person –

(a) jointly or (in Scotland) in common, or

(b) otherwise.

| | (5) | 6A(4), "relevant interest" means any of the following – (a) the interest acquired under the second transaction (within | |
|----|-----|---|----|
| | | the meaning of paragraph 6A); (b) any interest transferred to the relevant person as a result of the exercise of the right mentioned in section 71A(1)(d) or 72(1)(c); | 5 |
| | | (c) any chargeable interest derived from an interest such as is mentioned in paragraph (a) or (b). | |
| | (6) | In relation to relief allowed in accordance with paragraph 6B(3), "relevant interest" means any of the following — (a) the interest purchased under the first transaction (within the meaning of paragraph 6B); | 10 |
| | | (b) any interest transferred to the relevant person as a result of the exercise of the right mentioned in section 72A(1)(c);(c) any chargeable interest derived from an interest such as is mentioned in paragraph (a) or (b). | 15 |
| | (7) | In this paragraph— "non-qualifying individual" (in relation to the chargeable transaction mentioned in sub-paragraph (1)) has the meaning given by paragraph 5A; | 20 |
| | | "the relevant person" means the person (other than the financial institution) who entered into the arrangements in question as mentioned in section 71A(1), 72(1), 72A(1) or 73(1). | 25 |
| 6E | (1) | The requirement in paragraph 6D(3)(a) does not apply in relation to times when, because of a change of circumstances that is unforeseen and beyond the relevant person's control, it is not reasonable to expect the interest in question to be held for the purpose for which the relevant person acquired that person's initial interest. | 30 |
| | (2) | Sub-paragraph (3) applies if the relevant person's initial interest was acquired by the relevant person for a purpose mentioned in paragraph $5(1)$, but at some time in the control period the activity in question (for instance, exploitation as mentioned in paragraph $5(1)(a)$)— | 35 |
| | | (a) has not begun in the case of a relevant interest, or(b) has ceased in the case of a relevant interest. | |
| | (3) | For the purposes of paragraph 6D(3)(a) the relevant interest is taken to be held for the purpose in question only if reasonable steps are being taken to ensure that the purpose in question is carried out. | 40 |
| | (4) | In this paragraph — (a) "the control period", "relevant interest" and "the relevant person" have the same meaning as in paragraph 6D; (b) references to the relevant person's "initial interest" are to the interest mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(a) or (6)(a) of paragraph 6D (as the case requires). | 45 |

| 2) Bill - Stan | | ty land ta | ax: relief from 15% rate | |
|-------------------|-----|--------------------------------|--|---|
| 6F | (1) | involv in acco | paragraph applies where relief under paragraph 5B (trades ring making a dwelling open to the public) has been allowed, ordance with paragraph 6A(4) or 6B(3), with respect to the ase of a major interest in land. | |
| | (2) | beginr | elief is withdrawn if at any time in the period of three years ning with the effective date of the first transaction ("the ol period") the requirement in sub-paragraph (3) is not met. | |
| | (3) | | equirement is that the dwelling is being exploited as a source ome in the course of a qualifying trade. | |
| | (4) | times unfore reasor | quirement in sub-paragraph (3) does not apply in relation to when, because of a change of circumstances that is eseen and beyond the relevant person's control, it is not hable to expect the interest in question to be exploited as oned in that sub-paragraph. | |
| | (5) | Sub-pa persor (a) (b) | aragraph (6) applies if at some time in the control period that n— has not begun to exploit the interest as a source of income in the course of a relevant trade, or has ceased so to exploit it. | |
| | (6) | reasor | equirement in sub-paragraph (3) is treated as being met if hable steps are being taken to ensure that the relevant st begins to be exploited as mentioned in that subraph, or that such exploitation of the interest is resumed. | |
| | (7) | In this (a) (b) | "the relevant person" means the person (other than the financial institution) who enters into the arrangements mentioned in section 71A(1), 72(1), 72A(1) or 73(1); references to a major interest in land include an undivided share in a major interest in land. | |
| 6G | (1) | (dwell | paragraph applies where relief under paragraph 5D lings for occupation by certain employees etc) has been ed, in accordance with paragraph 6A(4) or 6B(3), with et to the purchase of a major interest in land. | |
| | (2) | the rel | elief is withdrawn if at any time in the control period when evant person holds a relevant interest (whether jointly, or in on, or otherwise) any requirement in sub-paragraph (4) is et. | , |
| | (3) | | o-paragraph (2) "the control period" means the three years ning with the effective date of the first transaction. | |
| | (4) | The re (a) | the relevant person, or a relevant group member, carries on a qualifying trade, the dwelling is made available as mentioned in paragraph | |
| | | (c) | 5D(2)(a), and the dwelling is made so available for purposes that are solely or mainly purposes of the trade mentioned in sub- paragraph (a). | |

6H

| | Schedule 38 – Stamp duty land tax: relief from 15% rate | |
|-----|--|----|
| (5) | The requirements in sub-paragraph (4) do not apply in relation to times when, because of a change of circumstances that is unforeseen and beyond the relevant person's control, it is not reasonable to expect those requirements to be met. | |
| (6) | Sub-paragraph (7) applies if at some time in the control period the relevant interest — (a) has not begun to be made available as mentioned in sub- | 5 |
| | paragraph (4)(b) and (c), or (b) has ceased to be so made available. | |
| (7) | The requirements in paragraphs (b) and (c) of sub-paragraph (4) are treated as being met if reasonable steps are being taken to ensure that the dwelling will begin to be, or will return to being, made available as mentioned in those paragraphs. | 10 |
| (8) | Where the relevant person is a company, "relevant group member" means a company which is a member of the same group of companies as the relevant person for the purposes mentioned in paragraph 1(2) of Schedule 7. | 15 |
| (9) | In this paragraph— (a) "relevant interest" has the same meaning as in paragraph 6D; | 20 |
| | (b) "the relevant person" means the person (other than the financial institution) who enters into the arrangements mentioned in section 71A(1), 72(1), 72A(1) or 73(1);(c) references to a major interest in land include an undivided share in a major interest in land. | 25 |
| (1) | This paragraph applies where relief under paragraph 5F (farmhouses) has been allowed, in accordance with paragraph 6A(4) or 6B(3), in relation to the purchase of a major interest in land. | |
| | The relief is withdrawn if at any time in the control period when the relevant person holds a relevant interest (whether jointly, or in common, or otherwise) any requirement in sub-paragraph (4) is not met. | 30 |
| (3) | In sub-paragraph (2) "the control period" means the three years beginning with the effective date of the first transaction. | 35 |
| (4) | The requirements are that — (a) the land mentioned in paragraph 5F(2) is occupied for the purposes of a qualifying trade of farming, and (b) the dwelling is occupied for the purposes of that trade by a qualifying farm worker. | 40 |
| (5) | The requirements in sub-paragraph (4) do not apply in relation to times when, because of a change of circumstances that is unforeseen and beyond the relevant person's control, it is not | |

reasonable to expect those requirements to be met.

(a) has not begun to be met, or

(6) Sub-paragraph (7) applies if at some time in the control period a requirement in sub-paragraph (4) —

- (b) has ceased to be met.
- (7) The requirement is treated as being met if reasonable steps are being taken to ensure that the requirement begins to be met, or is again met.
- (8) In this paragraph—

10

15

20

25

35

40

45

- (a) "the relevant interest" has the same meaning as in paragraph 6D;
- (b) "the relevant person" means the person (other than the financial institution) who enters into the arrangements mentioned in section 71A(1), 72(1), 72A(1) or 73(1);
- (c) references to a major interest in land include an undivided share in a major interest in land.
- (6) In paragraph 9 (interpretation), at the appropriate places insert
 - ""financial institution" has the same meaning as in sections 71A to 73B (see section 73BA);"
 - ""property development trade" has the meaning given by paragraph 5(3);"
 - ""property rental business" has the meaning given by section 131(4) of the Finance Act 2013;"
 - ""property trading business" has the meaning given by paragraph 5(3);"
 - ""qualifying farm worker" has the meaning given by paragraph 5F(4);"
 - ""qualifying trade" has the meaning given by paragraph 5B(3);"
 - ""qualifying trade of farming" has the meaning given by paragraph 5F(5);".

Minor and consequential amendments

- 3 (1) Section 81 (further return where relief withdrawn) is amended as follows.
 - (2) After subsection (1) insert
 - "(1A) Where relief is withdrawn to any extent under any of paragraphs 5G to 5K of Schedule 4A (higher rate for certain transactions) the purchaser must deliver a further return before the end of the period of 30 days after the relevant date.
 - (1B) In subsection (1A) "the relevant date" means
 - (a) in the case of relief under paragraph 5 of Schedule 4A (businesses of letting, trading in or redeveloping properties), the first day in the period mentioned in paragraph 5G(2) on which a requirement under paragraph 5G(3) was not met in the case of the chargeable interest in question;
 - (b) in the case of relief under paragraph 5B of that Schedule (trades involving making a dwelling available to the public), the first day in the period mentioned in paragraph 5H(2) on which a requirement under paragraph 5H(3) was not met in the case of the chargeable interest in question;
 - (c) in the case of relief under paragraph 5C of that Schedule (financial institutions acquiring dwellings in the course of lending), the first day in the period mentioned in paragraph

tax".

5I(2) on which a requirement under paragraph 5I(3) was not met in the case of the chargeable interest in question; in the case of relief under paragraph 5D of that Schedule (dwellings for occupation by certain employees etc), the first 5 day in the period mentioned in paragraph 5I(2) on which a requirement under paragraph 5J(3) was not met in the case of the chargeable interest in question; in the case of relief under paragraph 5F of that Schedule (farmhouses), the first day in the period mentioned in paragraph 5K(2) on which a requirement under paragraph 10 5K(3) was not met in the case of the chargeable interest in question." (3) In subsection (2A), for "Tax" substitute "Where subsection (1) applies any (4) In subsection (3) for "this section" substitute "subsection (1)". 15 (5) After subsection (4) insert – The provisions of Schedule 10 apply to a return under subsection (1A) as they apply to a return under section 76, but with the adaptation that references to the effective date of the transaction are to be read as references to the relevant date (as defined in subsection 20 (1B))." After section 81 insert – "81ZA Alternative finance arrangements: return where relief withdrawn Where relief given in respect of a transaction entered into under alternative finance arrangements is withdrawn to any extent under 25 any of paragraphs 6D, 6F, 6G or 6H of Schedule 4A (higher rate of tax: alternative finance arrangements) – the relevant person must deliver a return to HMRC before the end of the period of 30 days after the date of the disqualifying 30 event; the return must contain a self-assessment of the additional tax chargeable as a result of the withdrawal of the relief; the tax so chargeable is calculated by reference to the rates in force at the effective date of the transaction in respect of which the relief was allowed. 35 The provisions of Schedule 10 (returns, enquiries, assessments and other matters) apply to a return under this section as they apply to a return under section 76 (general requirement to make land transaction return), but with the following adaptations – references to the effective date of the transaction are to be 40 read as references to the date of the disqualifying event; references to the purchaser are to be read as references to the relevant person so far as that is necessary as a result of

In this section "the date of the disqualifying event" means the first day in the control period on which a relevant requirement was not met.

subsection (1) of this section or section 85(3) (payment of additional tax by relevant person where relief withdrawn).

| | (4) | In subsection (3) "relevant requirement" means – | |
|---|---------|---|----|
| | | (a) where the relief was given under paragraph 5 of Schedule 4A (businesses of letting, trading in or redeveloping properties), a requirement under paragraph 5G(3) of that Schedule; | |
| | | (b) where the relief was given under paragraph 5B of that Schedule (trades involving making a dwelling available to the public), a requirement under paragraph 5H(3) of that Schedule; | 5 |
| | | (c) where the relief was given under paragraph 5C of that Schedule (financial institutions acquiring dwellings in the course of lending), a requirement under paragraph 5I(3) of that Schedule; | 10 |
| | | (d) where the relief was given under paragraph 5D of that Schedule (dwellings for occupation by certain employees etc), a requirement under paragraph 5J(3) of that Schedule; | 15 |
| | | (e) where the relief was given under paragraph 5F of that Schedule (farmhouses), a requirement under paragraph 5K(3) of that Schedule. | |
| | (5) | In subsection (3) "the control period" has the same meaning as in paragraph 5G, 5H, 5I, 5J or 5K (as the case requires) of Schedule 4A. | 20 |
| | (6) | In this section — "alternative finance arrangements" means any arrangements such as are mentioned in section 71A, 72, 72A or 73; "the relevant person" means the person (other than the financial institution) who entered into the arrangements in question." | 25 |
| 5 | In sect | ion 85 (liability for tax), after subsection (2) insert – | |
| | "(3) | Where relief given in respect of a transaction entered into under alternative finance arrangements is withdrawn to any extent under any of paragraphs 6D, 6F, 6G and 6H of Schedule 4A (higher rate: alternative finance arrangements) — (a) subsection (1) does not apply in relation to the additional tax payable as a result of the withdrawal of the relief, and (b) the relevant person is liable to pay that additional tax. | 30 |
| | (4) | In subsection (3) "the relevant person" means the person (other than the financial institution) who entered into the arrangements in question." | 35 |
| 6 | In sect | ion 86 (payment of tax), after subsection (2) insert – | |
| | "(2A) | Tax payable as a result of a withdrawal of relief under any of paragraphs 6D, 6F, 6G and 6H of Schedule 4A (higher rate: alternative finance arrangements) must be paid not later than the filing date for the return relating to the withdrawal (see section 81ZA(1))." | 40 |
| 7 | of the | table in section 122 (index of defined expressions), in second column entry for "settlement", after "paragraph 1(1)" insert "(except as vise expressly provided)". | 45 |

Application of amendments

8 The amendments made by paragraphs 1 to 7 have effect in relation to transactions with an effective date on or after the day on which this Act is passed.

Transactions to which section 29 of the Scotland Act 2012 applies

- (1) In relation to transactions in relation to which section 29 of the Scotland Act 2012 (disapplication of UK stamp duty land tax) has effect, FA 2003 as amended by this Schedule has effect subject to the following further amendments.
 - (2) In section 81ZA, in subsection (6), in the definition of "alternative finance arrangements", omit "72, 72A".
 - (3) In Schedule 4A
 - (a) in paragraph 6A
 - (i) in sub-paragraph (1)(a), omit "section 72 (land in Scotland sold to financial institution and leased to person)",
 - (ii) omit sub-paragraph (2)(b),
 - (iii) in sub-paragraph (4), omit ", 72(3)", and
 - (iv) in sub-paragraph (6), omit ", 72",
 - (b) omit paragraph 6B,
 - (c) in paragraph 6C
 - (i) in sub-paragraph (1), omit "or 6B ("the modifying paragraph")" and for "in the modifying paragraph" substitute "in paragraph 6A", and
 - (ii) accordingly, in the heading omit "and 6B",
 - (d) in paragraph 6D
 - (i) in sub-paragraph (1), omit "or 6B(3)",
 - (ii) in sub-paragraph (3)(a), omit "and (6)",
 - (iii) in sub-paragraph (5)(b), omit "or 72(1)(c)",
 - (iv) omit sub-paragraph (6), and
 - (v) in sub-paragraph (7), in the definition of "relevant person", omit ", 72(1), 72A(1)",
 - (e) in paragraph 6E(4)(b), for "sub-paragraph (5)(a) or (6)(a) of paragraph 6D (as the case requires)" substitute "paragraph 6D(5)(a)",
 - (f) in paragraph 6F
 - (i) in sub-paragraph (1), omit "or 6B(3)", and
 - (ii) in sub-paragraph (7)(b), omit ", 72(1), 72A(1)",
 - (g) in paragraph 6G-
 - (i) in sub-paragraph (1), omit "or 6B(3)", and
 - (ii) in sub-paragraph (9)(b), omit "72(1), 72A(1)", and
 - (h) in paragraph 6H—
 - (i) in sub-paragraph (1), omit "or 6B(3), and
 - (ii) in sub-paragraph (8)(b), omit "72(1), 72A(1)".

5

15

20

25

Z

30

35

SCHEDULE 39

Section 195

STAMP DUTY LAND TAX ON LEASES

Introduction

1 Part 4 of FA 2003 (stamp duty land tax) is amended as follows.

Leases that continue after a fixed term

5

10

15

20

- 2 (1) In Schedule 17A (further provisions about leases), paragraph 3 (leases that continue after a fixed term) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In sub-paragraph (3)
 - (a) after "continuation of the lease" insert "for a period (or further period) of one year", and
 - (b) in paragraph (a), for "that term" substitute "that one year period".
 - (3) After that sub-paragraph insert
 - "(3A) Sub-paragraph (2) is subject to paragraph 3A."
 - (4) In sub-paragraph (4), for the words from "the day" to the end substitute "the last day of the one year period for which the lease is continued or (as the case may be) further continued."
 - (5) After sub-paragraph (5) insert
 - "(6) Where
 - (a) a lease would be treated as continuing for a period (or further period) of one year under sub-paragraph (2), but
 - (b) (ignoring that sub-paragraph) the lease actually terminates at a time during that period,

the lease is to be treated as continuing under sub-paragraph (2) only until that time; and the references in sub-paragraphs (3) and (4) to that one year period are accordingly to be read as references to so much of that year as ends with that time."

25

30

35

- 3 After that paragraph insert
 - "3A (1) This paragraph applies where—
 - (a) (ignoring this paragraph) paragraph 3 would apply to treat a lease ("the original lease") as if it were a lease for a fixed term one year longer than the original term,
 - (b) during that one year period the tenant under that lease is granted a new lease of the same or substantially the same premises,
 - (c) the term of the new lease begins during that one year period, and
 - (d) paragraph 9A (backdated lease granted to tenant holding over) does not apply.
 - (2) Paragraph 3 does not apply to treat the lease as continuing after the original fixed term.
 - (3) The term of the new lease is treated for the purposes of this Part as beginning immediately after the original fixed term.

10

15

20

25

30

45

- (4) Any rent which, in the absence of this paragraph, would be payable under the original lease in respect of that one year period is to be treated as payable under the new lease (and paragraph 1A of Schedule 5 does not apply to it).
- (5) Where the fixed term of a lease has previously been extended (on one or more occasions) under paragraph 3, this paragraph applies as if references to the original term were references to the fixed term as previously so extended."
- 4 In section 87 (interest on unpaid tax), in subsection (3)
 - (a) after paragraph (aa) insert –

in the case of an amount payable under paragraph 3(3) of Schedule 17A (leases that continue after a fixed term) by reason of the continuation of a lease for a period (or further period) under paragraph 3(2) or (6) of that Schedule, the final day of the period (or further period)," and

- (b) in paragraph (ab) omit "3(3) or" and "leases that continue after a fixed term and".
- In section 119 (meaning of "effective date" of a transaction), in subsection (2), at the appropriate place in the list insert —

"paragraph 3(4) of Schedule 17A (leases that continue after a fixed term),".

Agreement for lease and assignment of agreement for lease

- 6 (1) Schedule 17A is amended as follows.
 - (2) In paragraph 12A (agreement for lease), for sub-paragraph (3) substitute
 - "(3) Where a lease ("the actual lease") is subsequently granted in pursuance of the agreement, the notional lease is to be treated for the purposes of this Part as if it were a lease granted
 - (a) on the date the agreement was substantially performed,
 - (b) for a term which begins with that date and ends at the end of the term of the actual lease, and
 - (c) in consideration of the total rent payable over that term and any other consideration given for the notional lease or the actual lease.
 - (3A) Where sub-paragraph (3) applies the grant of the actual lease is disregarded for the purposes of this Part except section 81A (return or further return in consequence of later linked transaction).
 - (3B) For the purposes of section 81A
 - (a) the grant of the notional lease and the grant of the actual lease are linked (whether or not they would be linked by virtue of section 108),
 - (b) the lessee under the actual lease (rather than the lessee under the notional lease) is liable for any tax or additional tax payable in respect of the notional lease as a result of sub-paragraph (3), and

| | y | | | |
|-----|--------------------------------|-------------------|--|--|
| | (c) | the ea | ference in section 81A(1)(a) to "the purchaser under rlier transaction" is to be read, in relation to the all lease, as a reference to the lessee under the actual | |
| (3) | In paragraph 19 (a) for sub-pa | | res of let) — ph (2) substitute — | |
| | "(2) | missiv lease i | e in Scotland there is a lease constituted by concluded the soft let ("the first lease") and at some later time a sexecuted ("the second lease"), the first lease is to be all for the purposes of this Part as if it were a lease ad— on the date the missives of let were concluded, for a period which begins with that date and ends at the end of the period of the second lease, and in consideration of the total rent payable over that period and any other consideration given for the first lease or the second lease. | |
| | (2A) | lease i | e sub-paragraph (2) applies the grant of the second is disregarded for the purposes of this Part except in 81A (return or further return in consequence of inked transaction). | |
| | (2B) | For the (a) | the grant of the first lease and the grant of the second lease are linked (whether or not they would be linked by virtue of section 108), the lessee under the second lease (rather than the lessee under the first lease) is liable for any tax or additional tax payable in respect of the first lease | |
| | (b) for sub-pa | (c) araorai | lease as a result of sub-paragraph (2), and the reference in section 81A(1)(a) to "the purchaser under the earlier transaction" is to be read, in relation to the first lease, as a reference to the lessee under the actual lease. bh (4) substitute— | |
| | _ | | e sub-paragraph (3) applies and at some later time a | |
| | (1) | lease (the no | "the actual lease") is executed, this Part applies as if tional lease were a lease granted — | |
| | | (a) | on the date the agreement was substantially performed, | |
| | | (b) (c) | for a period which begins with that date and ends at the end of the period of the actual lease, and in consideration of the total rent payable over that period and any other consideration given for the agreement or the actual lease. | |
| | (4A) | lease i | e sub-paragraph (4) applies the grant of the second is disregarded for the purposes of this Part except in 81A (return or further return in consequence of | |

later linked transaction)."

(4B) For the purposes of section 81A –

10

15

30

35

- (a) the grant of the notional lease and the grant of the actual lease are linked (whether or not they would be linked by virtue of section 108),(b) the lessee under the actual lease (rather than the
- lessee under the actual lease (rather than the lessee under the notional lease) is liable for any tax or additional tax payable in respect of the notional lease as a result of sub-paragraph (4), and
- (c) the reference in section 81A(1)(a) to "the purchaser under the earlier transaction" is to be read, in relation to the notional lease, as a reference to the lessee under the actual lease."
- (4) Accordingly, in Schedule 25 to FA 2006, paragraphs 4 and 5 are omitted.

Abnormal rent increases

- 7 (1) In Schedule 17A, omit paragraphs 14 and 15 (abnormal increases in rent after fifth year).
 - (2) Accordingly, the following are also repealed
 - (a) in Schedule 25 to FA 2006, paragraphs 7, 8 and 9(5), and
 - (b) in Schedule 3 to the Scotland Act 2012, paragraph 27(9).

Commencement

- 8 (1) The amendments made by paragraph 2(2), (4) and (5) have effect in relation to any one year period for which a lease is continued, or further continued, which begins on or after the commencement day (including any period which would be one year but for paragraph 3(6) of Schedule 17A to FA 2003).
 - (2) The amendments made by paragraphs 2(3), 3 and 5 have effect if the one year period mentioned in paragraph 3A(1)(b) of Schedule 17A to FA 2003 begins on or after the commencement day.
 - (3) The amendments made by paragraph 4 have effect in relation to amounts payable in consequence of any period for which a lease is continued, or further continued, which begins on or after the commencement day.
 - (4) The amendments made by paragraph 6 have effect if the effective date of the actual lease or, as the case may be, second lease falls on or after the commencement day.
 - (5) The amendments made by paragraph 7 have effect in relation to any increase in rent that takes effect on or after the commencement day.
 - (6) "The commencement day" means the day on which this Act is passed.

6

as follows.

SCHEDULE 40

Section 198

40

CLIMATE CHANGE LEVY: SUPPLIES SUBJECT TO CARBON PRICE SUPPORT RATES ETC

Part 1

| | | EARLIER PROVISION NOT TO HAVE EFFECT | |
|-----|------|--|----|
| 1 | (1) | On and after 26 March 2013, Schedule 6 to FA 2000 (climate change levy) has effect as if neither — (a) Schedule 20 to FA 2011, nor (b) Parts 1 and 2 of Schedule 32 to FA 2012, had ever been enacted. | 5 |
| | (2) | Accordingly — (a) in FA 2011, section 78 and Schedule 20 are omitted, and (b) in FA 2012, Parts 1 and 2 of Schedule 32 are omitted. | 10 |
| | (3) | The amendments made by sub-paragraph (2) are treated as having come into force on 26 March 2013. | |
| | | Part 2 | 15 |
| | | New provision having effect from 1 April 2013 | |
| New | prov | ision | |
| 2 | | Schedule 6 to FA 2000 (climate change levy) is amended as follows. | |
| 3 | | In paragraph 4 (definition of "taxable supply") in sub-paragraph (2)(b) after "24" insert ", 24A, 24B, 24C, 42D". | 20 |
| 4 | | In paragraph 5 (supplies of electricity) after sub-paragraph (2) insert — | |
| | | "(2A) Levy is chargeable on a supply of electricity if— (a) the supply is made by an exempt unlicensed electricity supplier who is an auto-generator or who is of a description prescribed by regulations made by the Treasury, | 25 |
| | | (b) the electricity was produced in a generating station owned by the supplier using commodities which were the subject of a deemed supply under paragraph 24A or which would have been the subject of such a supply had the reference in paragraph 24A(1)(a) to Great Britain been a reference to the United Kingdom instead, | 30 |
| | | (c) the supply is not a deemed supply under paragraph 23(3), and | |
| | | (d) the person to whom the supply is made is not an electricity utility." | 35 |
| 5 | | In paragraph 6 (supplies of gas) in sub-paragraph (2A) after "24" insert ", 24A, 24B, 24C, 42D". | |

(1) Paragraph 14 (exemption for supplies to electricity producers) is amended

- Part 2 New provision having effect from 1 April 2013 (2) In sub-paragraphs (2)(b) and (3)(b) after "electricity" insert "in a small generating station". (3) After sub-paragraph (3) insert — "(3ZA) Sub-paragraph (1) does not exempt a supply where the person to whom the supply is made -5 uses the commodity supplied in producing electricity in a stand-by generator, and uses the electricity produced otherwise than in exemptionretaining ways." (4) After sub-paragraph (3A) insert — 10 "(3B) Paragraph 24A makes provision under which carbon price support rate commodities intended to be used in a generating station may be the subject of a deemed taxable supply (and, accordingly, this paragraph needs to be read subject to that paragraph)." 15 (5) Omit sub-paragraphs (4) and (5). 7 In paragraph 15 (exemption for supplies to combined heat and power stations) after sub-paragraph (4) insert – "(4A) Paragraph 24B makes provision under which carbon price 20 support rate commodities intended to be used in a combined heat and power station may be the subject of a deemed taxable supply (and, accordingly, this paragraph needs to be read subject to that paragraph)." 8 (1) Paragraph 17 (exemption: self-supplies by electricity producers) is amended as follows. 25 (2) After sub-paragraph (1) insert – "(1A) The supply is exempt from levy if it is a supply of electricity produced in – (a) a fully exempt combined heat and power station, a partly exempt combined heat and power station, 30 (c) a stand-by generator, or (d) a small generating station. (1B) Sub-paragraph (1A)(d) applies only if the producer is – an auto-generator, or an exempt unlicensed electricity supplier of a description 35 prescribed by regulations made by the Treasury." (3) In sub-paragraph (2) for the words from "If" to "unless—" substitute "This paragraph does not exempt the supply if—". (4) Omit sub-paragraphs (3) and (4). 9 In paragraph 21 (regulations to avoid double charges to levy) after sub-40 paragraph (2) insert —
 - "(2A) In sub-paragraph (2)(b) "taxable supply" does not include a deemed supply under paragraph 24A, 24B, 24C or 42D."

10 In Part 2 after paragraph 24 insert –

"Deemed taxable supply: commodities to be used in producing electricity

| 24A | (1) | Sub-paragraph | n (2) | applies if – |
|-----|-----|---------------|-------|--------------|
|-----|-----|---------------|-------|--------------|

(a) a quantity of a carbon price support rate commodity is brought onto, or arrives at, a site in Great Britain at which a generating station is situated,

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

- (b) that quantity of the commodity is intended to be used for producing electricity in the station,
- (c) the station is neither a fully exempt combined heat and power station nor a partly exempt combined heat and power station, and
- (d) the station is neither a small generating station nor a standby generator.
- (2) For the purposes of this Schedule the owner of the station is deemed to make a taxable supply to himself of that quantity of the commodity.
- (3) In sub-paragraph (1)(a) the reference to a commodity being brought onto, or arriving at, a site covers (in particular) gas in a gaseous state arriving at the site through a pipe.
- (4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) it does not matter
 - (a) if the quantity of the commodity is not the subject of an actual supply made to the owner of the station, or
 - (b) if the commodity's availability for use in the station is subject to any condition.

Deemed taxable supply: commodities to be used in combined heat and power station

24B (1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies if –

- (a) a quantity of a carbon price support rate commodity is brought onto, or arrives at, the CHPQA site of a fully exempt combined heat and power station or a partly exempt combined heat and power station in Great Britain,
- (b) that quantity of the commodity is intended to be used in the station for producing outputs of the station, and
- (c) the station is not a small generating station.
- (2) For the purposes of this Schedule the operator of the station is deemed to make a taxable supply to himself of that quantity of the commodity so far as that quantity is referable to the production of electricity.
- (3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) the extent to which a quantity of a commodity is referable to the production of electricity is to be determined in accordance with regulations under paragraph 24D(1).
- (4) In sub-paragraph (1)(a) the reference to a commodity being brought onto, or arriving at, the CHPQA site of a station covers (in particular) gas in a gaseous state arriving at the CHPQA site through a pipe.

- Schedule 40 Climate change levy: supplies subject to carbon price support rates etc Part 2 – New provision having effect from 1 April 2013 (5) In sub-paragraph (1)(b) "outputs" has the meaning given by paragraph 148(9). (6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) it does not matter if the quantity of the commodity is not the subject of an actual supply made to the operator of the station, or 5 if the commodity's availability for use in the station is subject to any condition. (7) In this paragraph "CHPQA site", in relation to a fully exempt combined heat and power station or a partly exempt combined heat and power station, means the site of the scheme in relation to 10 which the station's CHPQA certificate was issued. 24C (1) This paragraph applies if – a determination ("the initial determination") is made under regulations falling within paragraph 24B(3) that none of a quantity of a carbon price support rate 15 commodity is, or a proportion of such a quantity is not, referable to the production of electricity, as a result of the initial determination, the quantity or proportion of a quantity is determined not to be the subject 20 of a deemed supply under paragraph 24B, and it is later determined that, contrary to the initial determination, the quantity or proportion of a quantity – was referable to the production of electricity, and accordingly, should have been determined to be 25 the subject of a deemed supply under paragraph 24B. (2) For the purposes of this Schedule – the operator of the station in question is deemed to make a taxable supply to himself of the quantity or proportion of 30 a quantity, and the amount payable by way of levy on the deemed supply is the amount which would have been payable in relation to the quantity or proportion of a quantity had it been determined to be the subject of a deemed supply as 35 mentioned in sub-paragraph (1)(c)(ii). Power to make regulations giving effect to paragraphs 24A to 24C etc 24D (1) The Commissioners may by regulations make provision for giving effect to paragraphs 24Å to 24C and 42Å to 42D. (2) Regulations under sub-paragraph (1) may, in particular, include 40 provision – (a) for determining whether a deemed supply under paragraph 24A or 24B is made; for determining the quantity of any commodity which is 45 the subject of such a deemed supply;
 - for determining whether paragraph 42C(2) applies in relation to a deemed supply under paragraph 24A or 24B

and, if it does, the reduction in the relevant carbon price support rate.

- (3) Regulations under sub-paragraph (1) may include
 - (a) provision in respect of calculations, measurements, data and procedures to be made or used;
 - (b) provision that, so far as framed by reference to any document, is framed by reference to that document as from time to time in force."
- 11 After paragraph 38 insert –

"Deemed supplies under paragraph 24A, 24B, 24C or 42D

10

15

30

- 38A (1) A deemed supply under paragraph 24A or 24B is treated as taking place when the quantity of the commodity is brought onto, or arrives at, the site at which the station is situated or the CHPQA site of the station (as the case may be).
 - (2) A deemed supply under paragraph 24C or 42D is treated as taking place upon the later determination."
- 12 (1) Paragraph 39 (regulations as to time of supply) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In sub-paragraph (1)(c) after "24" insert ", 24A, 24B, 24C, 42D".
 - (3) In sub-paragraph (3) after "supply)" insert "and 38A".
- In paragraph 42 (amount payable by way of levy) before sub-paragraph (2) 20 insert
 - "(1B) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to a deemed supply under paragraph 24A or 24B."
- 14 After paragraph 42 insert
 - "42A(1) This paragraph applies to a deemed supply under paragraph 24A 25 or 24B.
 - (2) The amount payable by way of levy on the deemed supply is the amount ascertained by applying the relevant carbon price support rate; and the levy payable on a fraction of a kilowatt hour, kilogram or gigajoule is that fraction of the levy payable on a kilowatt hour, kilogram or gigajoule.
 - (3) The carbon price support rates are as follows.

| Carbon price support rate commodity | Carbon price support rate | |
|--|-------------------------------|----|
| Any gas in a gaseous state that is of a kind supplied by a gas utility | £0.00091 per kilowatt hour | 35 |

| Carbon price support rate commodity | Carbon price support rate |
|--|---------------------------|
| Any petroleum gas, or other gaseous hydrocarbon, in a liquid state | £0.01460 per kilogram |
| Any commodity falling within paragraph 3(1)(d) to (f) | £0.44264 per gigajoule |

10

- (4) Sub-paragraph (2) needs to be read with paragraphs 42B and 42C.
- 42B (1) This paragraph applies for the purposes of paragraph 42A(2) if the commodity deemed to be supplied is a quantity of a commodity falling within paragraph 3(1)(d) to (f).
 - (2) The number of gigajoules in the quantity supplied is to be determined by reference to the total gross calorific value of that quantity.

15

(3) Sub-paragraph (4) applies if there is included in that quantity any coal slurry taken from a slurry pit situated at the site of a coal mine (including a disused coal mine).

20

(4) The gross calorific value of the coal slurry is to be left out of account in determining the total gross calorific value of that quantity.

25

42C (1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies for the purposes of paragraph 42A(2) if, in the calendar year in which the deemed supply is treated as taking place, carbon capture and storage technology is operated in relation to carbon dioxide generated by the station in question in producing electricity.

30

(2) In relation to the deemed supply, only C% of the relevant carbon price support rate is to be applied (instead of the full rate).

2.5

(3) "C%" is 100% minus the station's carbon capture percentage for the calendar year.

(4) The station's "carbon capture percentage" for the calendar year is

- the percentage of the station's generated carbon dioxide for that year which, through the operation of the carbon capture and storage technology, is—
- 35

- (a) captured, and
- (b) then disposed of by way of permanent storage.
- (5) The station's "generated carbon dioxide" for the calendar year is the amount of carbon dioxide generated in the year by the station from the use of carbon price support rate commodities in producing electricity.

Finance (No. 2) Bill

School via 40. Climate change large cumules subject to carbon price support rates etc.

Schedule 40 — Climate change levy: supplies subject to carbon price support rates etc Part 2 — New provision having effect from 1 April 2013

- (6) In this paragraph "carbon capture and storage technology" and "carbon dioxide" have the meaning given by section 7(3) and (4) of the Energy Act 2010.
- (7) Sub-paragraph (8) applies for the purposes of sub-paragraph (4) in relation to any carbon dioxide if
 - (a) the carbon dioxide is captured but then leaks out and therefore is not disposed of by way of permanent storage, but
 - (b) the leak does not occur
 - (i) on the land on which the station is situated,
 - (ii) on any other land under the control of the station's owner or a person connected with the station's owner, or

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

(iii) from any pipeline or other facility or installation which is operated by the station's owner or a person connected with the station's owner.

Section 1122 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 ("connected" persons) applies for the purposes of paragraph (b).

- (8) The carbon dioxide is to be treated as if it had been disposed of by way of permanent storage.
- (9) If the percentage mentioned in sub-paragraph (4) is not a whole number, it is to be rounded to the nearest whole number (taking 0.5% as nearest to the next whole number).
- 42D (1) This paragraph applies if
 - (a) an amount is determined to be payable by way of levy on a deemed supply of a quantity of a commodity under paragraph 24A or 24B, but
 - (b) it is later determined that that amount is too low.
 - (2) For the purposes of this Schedule
 - (a) the person who made the deemed supply is deemed to make a further taxable supply to himself of the quantity of the commodity, and
 - (b) the amount payable by way of levy on that further deemed supply is
 - (i) the total amount payable on the first deemed supply on the basis of the later determination mentioned in sub-paragraph (1)(b), less
 - (ii) the amount previously determined to be payable on the first deemed supply."
- In paragraph 55 (notification of registrability) in sub-paragraph (1) after paragraph (a) insert
 - "(aa) expects to be deemed to make a taxable supply to himself under paragraph 24A or 24B, or".
- In paragraph 62 (tax credits) in sub-paragraph (1) after paragraph (b) insert
 - "(ba) a quantity of a carbon price support rate commodity is the subject of a deemed supply under paragraph 24A or 24B but afterwards the quantity—

| | (i) is not used as mentioned in paragraph 24A(1)(b) or 24B(1)(b) (as the case may be), and | |
|----|---|-----|
| | (ii) is removed from the site at which the station is situated or from the CHPQA site of the station (as the case may be); | 5 |
| | (bb) after— | |
| | (i) a determination is made under regulations falling within paragraph 24B(3) that a quantity, or a proportion of a quantity, of a carbon price support rate commodity is referable to the production of electricity, and | 10 |
| | (ii) it is accordingly determined that the quantity or proportion of a quantity is the subject of a deemed supply under paragraph 24B, | |
| | it is determined that the quantity or proportion of a quantity was not referable to the production of electricity; (bc) after an amount is determined to be payable by way of levy on a deemed supply under paragraph 24A or 24B, it is determined that that amount is too high;". | 15 |
| 17 | In paragraph 146 (regulations) in sub-paragraph (3) — (a) for "14(3)," substitute "5(2A), 14(2),", and (b) after "16," insert "17(1B),". | 20 |
| 18 | In paragraph 147 (definitions) — | |
| | (a) at the appropriate places, insert — | |
| | ""carbon price support rate commodity" means any taxable commodity other than electricity;", | 25 |
| | ""CHPQA certificate" has the same meaning as in the Climate Change Levy (Combined Heat and Power Stations) Exemption Certificate Regulations 2001 (S.I. 2001/486);", | 30 |
| | ""exempt unlicensed electricity supplier" has the meaning given by paragraph 152A;", | |
| | ""Great Britain" includes the territorial waters of the United Kingdom so far as adjacent to Great Britain;", | |
| | ""small generating station" has the meaning given by paragraph 152B;", and | 35 |
| | ""stand-by generator" means a generating station which— | |
| | (a) is used to provide an emergency electricity supply to a building in the event of a failure of the building's usual electricity supply, and | 40 |
| | (b) is not used for any other purpose;", and | |
| | (b) in the definition of "prescribed" – | |
| | (i) for "14(3)," substitute "5(2A), 14(2),", and | 4 - |
| | (ii) after "16(3)" insert ", 17(1B)". | 45 |

Finance (No. 2) Bill
Schedule 40 — Climate change levy: supplies subject to carbon price support rates etc

Part 2 – New provision having effect from 1 April 2013

19 After paragraph 152 insert –

"Meaning of "exempt unlicensed electricity supplier"

- 152A(1) In this Schedule "exempt unlicensed electricity supplier" means a person
 - (a) to whom an exemption from section 4(1)(c) of the Electricity Act 1989 (persons supplying electricity to premises) has been granted by an order under section 5 of that Act, or

477

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

(b) to whom an exemption from Article 8(1)(c) of the Electricity Supply (Northern Ireland) Order 1992 has been granted by an order under Article 9 of that Order,

except where the person is acting otherwise than for purposes connected with the carrying on of activities authorised by the exemption.

- (2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies subject to
 - (a) any direction under paragraph 151(1), and
 - (b) any regulations under paragraph 151(2).

Meaning of "small generating station"

- 152B(1) In this Schedule "small generating station" means a generating station the capacity of which for producing electricity is no more than 2 megawatts.
 - (2) Sub-paragraph (3) applies if a relevant station ("station X") is one of a number of relevant stations which—
 - (a) are situated in the United Kingdom, and
 - (b) are owned by P or persons connected with P.
 - (3) In applying sub-paragraph (1) in relation to station X, the reference to the capacity of a generating station is to be read as a reference to the capacity of station X and all the other relevant stations mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) taken together.
 - (4) In sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) "relevant station" means a generating station which is neither an exempt CHP station nor a stand-by generator.
 - (5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b)
 - (a) "P" is the person who owns station X, and
 - (b) section 1122 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 ("connected" persons) applies.
 - (6) Sub-paragraph (7) applies if the scheme in relation to which the CHPQA certificate of an exempt CHP station ("station Y") is issued covers other exempt CHP stations as well.
 - (7) In applying sub-paragraph (1) in relation to station Y, the reference to the capacity of a generating station is to be read as a reference to the capacity of station Y and all the other exempt CHP stations mentioned in sub-paragraph (6) taken together.

10

20

25

- (8) In this paragraph "exempt CHP station" means a fully exempt combined heat and power station or a partly exempt combined heat and power station."
- 20 (1) Regulation 5 of the Climate Change Levy (Electricity and Gas) Regulations 2001 (S.I. 2001/1136) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In paragraph (1) for "paragraph 14(2) of the Act (exemption: certain supplies to electricity producers)" substitute "paragraphs 5(2A), 14(2) and 17(1B) of the Act (which contain references to exempt unlicensed electricity suppliers)".
 - (3) In paragraph (2)(a) for "14(4)" substitute "152A(1)".
 - (4) The amendments made by this paragraph are to be treated as having been made by the Treasury under the powers to make regulations conferred by paragraphs 5(2A), 14(2) and 17(1B) of Schedule 6 to FA 2000.

Commencement

- The amendments made by this Part of this Schedule are treated as having come into force on 26 March 2013.
- 22 (1) The amendments made by paragraph 6(2) and (3) above have effect for the purpose of determining if a supply of gas or electricity is exempt from levy where the gas or electricity is actually supplied on or after 1 April 2013. "Gas" means gas in a gaseous state that is of a kind supplied by a gas utility.
 - (2) Those amendments are to have effect for the purpose of determining if any other supply is exempt from levy where the supply is treated as taking place on or after 1 April 2013.
 - (3) The amendments made by paragraph 8 above have effect for the purpose of determining if a supply of electricity is exempt from levy where the electricity is caused to be consumed on or after 1 April 2013.
 - (4) The amendment made by paragraph 10 above has effect in relation to carbon price support rate commodities which are brought onto, or arrive at, sites on or after 1 April 2013.

PART 3 30

CARBON PRICE SUPPORT RATES FROM 1 APRIL 2014

- 23 (1) In paragraph 42A of Schedule 6 to FA 2000 (as inserted by paragraph 14 above) for sub-paragraph (3) substitute
 - "(3) The carbon price support rates are as follows.

| Carbon price support rate commodity | Carbon price support rate |
|--|-------------------------------|
| Any gas in a gaseous state that is of a kind supplied by a gas utility | £0.00175 per kilowatt hour |

| Schedule 40 – Climate change | levy: suppli | es subject to | carbon pi | rice su |
|--------------------------------------|--------------|---------------|-----------|---------|
| <i>Part 3 — Carbon price support</i> | rates from 1 | 1 April 2014 | | |

| Carbon price support rate commodity | Carbon price support rate |
|--|------------------------------|
| Any petroleum gas, or other gaseous hydrocarbon, in a liquid state | £0.02822 per kilogram |
| Any commodity falling within paragraph 3(1)(d) to (f) | £0.85489 per gigajoule" |

(2) The amendment made by this paragraph has effect in relation to supplies treated as taking place on or after 1 April 2014 but before 1 April 2015.

Part 4

CARBON PRICE SUPPORT RATES FROM 1 APRIL 2015

24 (1) In paragraph 42A of Schedule 6 to FA 2000 (as inserted by paragraph 14 15 above) for sub-paragraph (3) substitute –

"(3) The carbon price support rates are as follows.

| Carbon price support rate commodity | Carbon price support rate | |
|--|-------------------------------|----|
| Any gas in a gaseous state that is of a kind supplied by a gas utility | £0.00334 per kilowatt hour | 20 |
| Any petroleum gas, or other gaseous hydrocarbon, in a liquid state | £0.05307 per kilogram | 25 |
| Any commodity falling within paragraph 3(1)(d) to (f) | £1.62534 per gigajoule" | 30 |

(2) The amendment made by this paragraph has effect in relation to supplies treated as taking place on or after 1 April 2015.

SCHEDULE 41

Section 206

5

15

20

25

30

GENERAL ANTI-ABUSE RULE: PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS

The GAAR Advisory Panel

- 1 (1) In this Part "the GAAR Advisory Panel" means the panel of persons established by the Commissioners for the purposes of the general anti-abuse rule.
 - (2) In this Schedule "the Chair" means any member of the GAAR Advisory Panel appointed by the Commissioners to chair it.

Meaning of "designated HMRC officer"

In this Schedule a "designated HMRC officer" means an officer of Revenue and Customs who has been designated by the Commissioners for the purposes of the general anti-abuse rule.

Notice to taxpayer of proposed counteraction of tax advantage

- 3 (1) If a designated HMRC officer considers
 - (a) that a tax advantage has arisen to a person ("the taxpayer") from tax arrangements that are abusive, and
 - (b) that the advantage ought to be counteracted under section 206, the officer must give the taxpayer a written notice to that effect.
 - (2) The notice must
 - (a) specify the arrangements and the tax advantage,

explain why the officer considers that a tax advantage has arisen to the taxpayer from tax arrangements that are abusive,

- (c) set out the counteraction that the officer considers ought to be taken,
- (d) inform the taxpayer of the period under paragraph 4 for making representations, and
- (e) explain the effect of paragraphs 5 and 6.
- (3) The notice may set out steps that the taxpayer may take to avoid the proposed counteraction.
- 4 (1) If a notice is given to the taxpayer under paragraph 3, the taxpayer has 45 days beginning with the day on which the notice is given to send written representations in response to the notice to the designated HMRC officer.
 - (2) The designated officer may, on a written request made by the taxpayer, extend the period during which representations may be made.

Referral to GAAR Advisory Panel

- 5 If no representations are made in accordance with paragraph 4, a designated 35 HMRC officer must refer the matter to the GAAR Advisory Panel.
- 6 (1) If representations are made in accordance with paragraph 4, a designated HMRC officer must consider them.

(2) If, after considering them, the designated HMRC officer considers that the tax advantage ought to be counteracted under section 206, the officer must refer the matter to the GAAR Advisory Panel. 7 If the matter is referred to the GAAR Advisory Panel, the designated HMRC officer must at the same time provide it with – 5 a copy of the notice given to the taxpayer under paragraph 3, a copy of any representations made in accordance with paragraph 4 and any comments that the officer has on those representations, and a copy of the notice given to the taxpayer under paragraph 8. 8 If the matter is referred to the GAAR Advisory Panel, the designated HMRC 10 officer must at the same time give the taxpayer a notice which specifies that the matter is being referred, is accompanied by a copy of any comments provided to the GAAR (b) Advisory Panel under paragraph 7(b), and informs the taxpayer of the period under paragraph 9 for making 15 representations, and of the requirement under that paragraph to send any representations to the officer. (1) The taxpayer has 21 days beginning with the day on which a notice is given under paragraph 8 to send the GAAR Advisory Panel written representations about – 20 the notice given to the taxpayer under paragraph 3, or any comments provided under paragraph 7(b). (2) The GAAR Advisory Panel may, on a written request made by the taxpayer, extend the period during which representations may be made. (3) The taxpayer must send a copy of any representations to the designated 25 HMRC officer at the same time as the representations are sent to the GAAR Advisory Panel. (4) If no representations were made in accordance with paragraph 4, the designated HMRC officer may provide the GAAR Advisory Panel with comments on any 30 representations made under this paragraph, and if comments are provided, must at the same time send a copy of them to the taxpayer. Decision of GAAR Advisory Panel and opinion notices 35 (1) If the matter is referred to the GAAR Advisory Panel, the Chair must arrange for a sub-panel consisting of 3 members of the GAAR Advisory Panel (one of whom may be the Chair) to consider it. (2) The sub-panel may invite the taxpayer or the designated HMRC officer (or both) to supply the sub-panel with further information within a period specified in the invitation. 40 (3) Invitations must explain the effect of sub-paragraph (4) or (5) (as appropriate). (4) If the taxpayer supplies information to the sub-panel under this paragraph, the taxpayer must at the same time send a copy of the information to the designated HMRC officer. 45

10

15

20

25

30

- (5) If the designated HMRC officer supplies information to the sub-panel under this paragraph, the officer must at the same time send a copy of the information to the taxpayer.
 11 (1) Where the matter is referred to the GAAR Advisory Panel, the sub-panel must produce—

 (a) one opinion notice stating the joint opinion of all the members of the sub-panel, or
 (b) two or three opinion notices which taken together state the opinions of all the members.

 (2) The sub-panel must give a copy of the opinion notice or notices to—

 (a) the designated HMRC officer, and
 (b) the taxpayer.
 - (3) An opinion notice is a notice which states that in the opinion of the members of the sub-panel, or one or more of those members
 - (a) the entering into and carrying out of the tax arrangements is a reasonable course of action in relation to the relevant tax provisions—
 - (i) having regard to all the circumstances (including the matters mentioned in subsections (2)(a) to (c) and (3) of section 204), and
 - (ii) taking account of subsections (4) to (6) of that section, or
 - (b) the entering into or carrying out of the tax arrangements is not a reasonable course of action in relation to the relevant tax provisions having regard to those circumstances and taking account of those subsections, or
 - (c) it is not possible, on the information available, to reach a view on that matter,

and the reasons for that opinion.

- (4) For the purposes of the giving of an opinion under this paragraph, the arrangements are to be assumed to be tax arrangements.
- (5) In this Part, a reference to any opinion of the GAAR Advisory Panel about any tax arrangements is a reference to the contents of any opinion notice about the arrangements.

Notice of final decision after considering opinion of GAAR Advisory Panel

- 12 (1) A designated HMRC officer who has received a notice or notices under paragraph 11 must, having considered any opinion of the GAAR Advisory Panel about the tax arrangements, give the taxpayer a written notice setting out whether the tax advantage arising from the arrangements is to be counteracted under the general anti-abuse rule.
 - (2) If the notice states that a tax advantage is to be counteracted, it must also set out
 - (a) the adjustments required to give effect to the counteraction, and
 - (b) if relevant, any steps that the taxpayer is required to take to give effect to it.

Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 41 - General anti-abuse rule: procedural requirements

483

Notices may be given on assumption that tax advantage does arise

(1) A designated HMRC officer may give a notice, or do anything else, under this Schedule where the officer considers that a tax advantage might have arisen to the taxpayer.

(2) Accordingly, any notice given by a designated HMRC officer under this Schedule may be expressed to be given on the assumption that the tax advantage does arise (without agreeing that it does).

SCHEDULE 42

Section 213

5

15

20

25

30

35

TRUSTS WITH VULNERABLE BENEFICIARY

Inheritance Tax Act 1984 10

- IHTA 1984 is amended as follows. 1
- 2 (1) Section 71A (trusts for bereaved minors) is amended as follows.
 - (2) For subsection (3)(c)(ii) substitute
 - "(ii) if any of the income arising from any of the settled property is applied for the benefit of a beneficiary, it is applied for the benefit of the bereaved minor."
 - (3) In subsection (4), before paragraph (a) insert
 - the trustees' having powers that enable them to apply otherwise than for the benefit of the bereaved minor amounts (whether consisting of income or capital, or both) not exceeding the annual limit,".
 - (4) After subsection (4) insert
 - For the purposes of this section and section 71B, the "annual limit" is whichever is the lower of the following amounts –
 - (a) £3,000, and
 - 3% of the amount that is the maximum value of the settled (b) property during the period in question.
 - For those purposes the annual limit applies in relation to each period (4B) of 12 months that begins on 6 April.
 - (4C) The Treasury may by order made by statutory instrument –
 - specify circumstances in which subsection (4)(za) is, or is not, to apply in relation to a trust, and
 - amend the definition of "the annual limit" in subsection (4A).
 - An order under subsection (4C) may (4D)
 - make different provision for different cases, and
 - contain transitional and saving provision.
 - A statutory instrument containing an order under subsection (4C) (4E) may not be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons."

3 (1) Section 71B (charge to tax on property to which section 71A applies) is amended as follows. (2) In subsection (1), after "(2)" insert ", (2B)". (3) After subsection (2) insert – 5 Subsection (2B) applies in a case in which— "(2A) an amount is paid or applied otherwise than for the benefit of the bereaved minor, and the exemptions provided by subsection (2) of this section and subsections (3) and (4) of section 70 do not apply. In such a case, tax is not charged under this section in respect of 10 (2B)whichever is the lower of the following amounts – the amount paid or applied, and the annual limit." (1) Section 71D (age 18-to-25 trusts) is amended as follows. (2) For subsection (6)(c)(ii) substitute – 15 "(ii) if any of the income arising from any of the settled property is applied for the benefit of a beneficiary, it is applied for the benefit of B." (3) After that subsection insert – "(6A) Where the income arising from the settled property is held on trusts 20 of the kind described in section 33 of the Trustee Act 1925 (protective trusts), paragraphs (b) and (c) of subsection (6) have effect as if for "living and under the age of 25," there were substituted "under the age of 25 and the income arising from the settled property is held on trust for B,". 25 (4) In subsection (7), before paragraph (a) insert – the trustees' having powers that enable them to apply otherwise than for the benefit of B amounts (whether consisting of income or capital, or both) not exceeding the annual limit,". 30 (5) After that subsection insert — For the purposes of this section and section 71E, the "annual limit" is whichever is the lower of the following amounts – (a) £3,000, and 3% of the amount that is the maximum value of the settled 35 property during the period in question. For those purposes the annual limit applies in relation to each period (7B) of 12 months that begins on 6 April. The Treasury may by order made by statutory instrument — (7C) specify circumstances in which subsection (7)(za) is, or is not, 40 to apply in relation to a trust, and amend the definition of "the annual limit" in subsection (7A).

An order under subsection (7C) may –

make different provision for different cases, and

(7D)

20

25

30

35

40

- (b) contain transitional and saving provision.
- (7E) A statutory instrument containing an order under subsection (7C) may not be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons."
- 5 (1) Section 71E (charge to tax on property to which section 71D applies) is 5 amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1), for "(4)" substitute "(4A)".
 - (3) After subsection (4) insert
 - If an amount is paid or applied otherwise than for the benefit of B and the exemptions provided by subsections (2) to (4) do not apply, tax is not charged under this section in respect of whichever is the lower of the following amounts –
 - the amount paid or applied, and
 - the annual limit."
- (1) Section 89 (trusts for disabled persons) is amended as follows. 6
 - 15
 - (2) For subsection (1)(b) substitute
 - which secure that, if any of the settled property or income arising from it is applied during the disabled person's life for the benefit of a beneficiary, it is applied for the benefit of the disabled person."
 - (3) For subsection (3) substitute
 - The trusts on which the settled property is held are not to be treated as falling outside subsection (1) by reason only of
 - the trustees' having powers that enable them to apply otherwise than for the benefit of the disabled person amounts (whether consisting of income or capital, or both) not exceeding the annual limit,
 - the trustees' having the powers conferred by section 32 of the Trustee Act 1925 (powers of advancement),
 - the trustees' having those powers but free from, or subject to a less restrictive limitation than, the limitation imposed by proviso (a) of subsection (1) of that section,
 - the trustees' having the powers conferred by section 33 of the Trustee Act (Northern Ireland) 1958 (corresponding provision for Northern Ireland),
 - the trustees' having those powers but free from, or subject to a less restrictive limitation than, the limitation imposed by subsection (1)(a) of that section, or
 - the trustees' having powers to the like effect as the powers mentioned in any of paragraphs (b) to (e).
 - For the purposes of this section, the "annual limit" is whichever is the lower of the following amounts –
 - £3,000, and (a)
 - 3% of the amount that is the maximum value of the settled property during the period in question.

(4)

(5)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

| (3B) | For those purposes the annual limit applies in relation to each period of 12 months that begins on 6 April. |
|--------|--|
| (3C) | The Treasury may by order made by statutory instrument — (a) specify circumstances in which subsection (3)(a) is, or is not, to apply in relation to a trust, and (b) amend the definition of "the annual limit" in subsection (3A). |
| (3D) | An order under subsection (3C) may — (a) make different provision for different cases, and (b) contain transitional and saving provision. |
| (3E) | A statutory instrument containing an order under subsection (3C) may not be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons." |
| | esection (4), for the words following "into settlement," substitute "was bled person". |
| For su | absections (5) and (6) substitute— |
| "(4A) | In this section "disabled person" has the meaning given by Schedule 1A to the Finance Act 2005." |
| | n 89A (self-settlement by person with condition expected to lead to ility) is amended as follows. |
| perso | osection (1)(b), for the words following "A becoming" substitute "a n falling within any paragraph of the definition of "disabled person" in raph 1 of Schedule 1A to the Finance Act 2005". |
| In sub | osection (2), after "settled property" insert "or income arising from it". |
| For su | absections (5) and (6) substitute— |
| "(5) | For the purposes of subsection (1)(b), assume — (a) that A will meet any conditions as to residence or presence that are required to establish entitlement to the allowance or |
| | payment in question, (b) that there will be no provision made by regulations under any of the following— (i) sections 67(1) and (2), 72(8) and 113(2) of SSCBA 1992, (ii) sections 67(1) and (2), 72(8) and 113(2) of SSCB(NI)A |
| | 1992, and (iii) sections 85 and 86 of WRA 2012 and the corresponding provision having effect in Northern Ireland, and |
| | |
| | (c) that A will not be prevented from receiving the allowance or |
| | (c) that A will not be prevented from receiving the allowance or payment in question by any of the following —(i) section 113(1) of SSCBA 1992, |

10

15

20

25

30

40

| (5) | Before subsection | (7) |) insert – |
|-----|-------------------|-----|------------|
|-----|-------------------|-----|------------|

- "(6A) The trusts on which the settled property is held are not to be treated as falling outside subsection (2) by reason only of—
 - (a) the trustees' having powers that enable them to apply otherwise than for the benefit of the disabled person amounts (whether consisting of income or capital, or both) not exceeding the annual limit,
 - (b) the trustees' having the powers conferred by section 32 of the Trustee Act 1925 (powers of advancement),
 - (c) the trustees' having those powers but free from, or subject to a less restrictive limitation than, the limitation imposed by proviso (a) of subsection (1) of that section,
 - (d) the trustees' having the powers conferred by section 33 of the Trustee Act (Northern Ireland) 1958 (corresponding provision for Northern Ireland),
 - (e) the trustees' having those powers but free from, or subject to a less restrictive limitation than, the limitation imposed by subsection (1)(a) of that section, or
 - (f) the trustees' having powers to the like effect as the powers mentioned in any of paragraphs (b) to (e).
 - (6B) For the purposes of this section, the "annual limit" is whichever is the lower of the following amounts
 - (a) £3,000, and
 - (b) 3% of the amount that is the maximum value of the settled property during the period in question.
 - (6C) For those purposes the annual limit applies in relation to each period of 12 months that begins on 6 April.
 - (6D) The Treasury may by order made by statutory instrument
 - (a) specify circumstances in which subsection (6A)(a) is, or is not, to apply in relation to a trust, and
 - (b) amend the definition of "the annual limit" in subsection (6B).
 - (6E) An order under subsection (6D) may
 - (a) make different provision for different cases, and
 - (b) contain transitional and saving provision.
 - (6F) A statutory instrument containing an order under subsection (6D) may not be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons."
- (6) For subsection (8) substitute
 - "(8) In this section—
 - "SSCBA 1992" means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992,
 - "SSCB(NI)A 1992" means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits (Northern Ireland) Act 1992, and
 - "WRA 2012" means the Welfare Reform Act 2012."
- 8 (1) Section 89B (meaning of "disabled person's interest") is amended as follows.

10

11

- Schedule 42 Trusts with vulnerable beneficiary (2) For subsection (2) substitute – In subsection (1)(c) "disabled person" has the meaning given by Schedule 1A to the Finance Act 2005." (3) After that subsection insert – 5 Where the income arising from the settled property is held on trusts "(2A) of the kind described in section 33 of the Trustee Act 1925 (protective trusts), subsection (1)(d)(v) has effect as if for "A's life" there were substituted "the period during which the income from the property is held on trust for A"." 10 (1) The amendments made by paragraphs 2 to 8 have effect in relation to property transferred into settlement on or after 8 April 2013. (2) Nothing in paragraphs 6 to 8 is to be read as preventing property transferred into a relevant settlement on or after 8 April 2013 from being property to which section 89 or 89A of IHTA 1984 applies. Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 15 TCGA 1992 is amended as follows. (1) Section 169D (exceptions to rules on gifts to settlor-interested settlements etc) is amended as follows. (2) For subsection (3) substitute – 20 The first condition is that, immediately after the making of the disposal, the settled property is held on trusts which secure that, during the lifetime of a disabled person – if any of the property is applied for the benefit of a beneficiary, it is applied for the disabled person's benefit, and 25 either – the disabled person is entitled to all of the income (if (i) there is any) arising from any of the property, or if any such income is applied for the benefit of a beneficiary, it is applied for the disabled person's 30 (3) After subsection (4) insert – "(4A) Where the income arising from the settled property is held on trusts of the kind described in section 33 of the Trustee Act 1925 (protective trusts), subsection (3) has effect as if the reference to the lifetime of a 35
 - disabled person were a reference to the period during which the income is held on trust for the disabled person.
 - The trusts on which the settled property is held are not to be treated (4B)as falling outside subsection (3) by reason only of
 - the trustees' having powers that enable them to apply in any tax year otherwise than for the benefit of the disabled person amounts (whether consisting of income or capital, or both) not exceeding the annual limit,

40

the trustees' having the powers conferred by section 32 of the Trustee Act 1925 (powers of advancement),

| | | | (c) | the trustees' having those powers but free from, or subject to a less restrictive limitation than, the limitation imposed by proviso (a) of subsection (1) of that section, | |
|----|-----|--------|------------------|--|----|
| | | | (d) | the trustees' having the powers conferred by section 33 of the Trustee Act (Northern Ireland) 1958 (corresponding provision for Northern Ireland), | 5 |
| | | | (e) | the trustees' having those powers but free from, or subject to a less restrictive limitation than, the limitation imposed by subsection (1)(a) of that section, or | |
| | | | (f) | the trustees' having powers to the like effect as the powers mentioned in any of paragraphs (b) to (e). | 10 |
| | | (4C) | | the purposes of this section, the "annual limit" for a tax year is sever is the lower of the following amounts — £3,000, and 3% of the amount that is the maximum value of the settled property during the tax year in question. | 15 |
| | | (4D) | mi m | | |
| | | (4D) | (a) (b) | reasury may by order— specify circumstances in which subsection (4B)(a) is, or is not, to apply in relation to a trust, and amend the definition of "the annual limit" in subsection (4C). | 20 |
| | | (4E) | ` , | | |
| | | (4E) | (a) (b) | der under subsection (4D) may – make different provision for different cases, and contain transitional and saving provision. | |
| | | (4F) | may 1 | cutory instrument containing an order under subsection (4D) not be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid e, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons." | 25 |
| | (4) | For su | bsectio: | ns (7) to (9) substitute – | |
| | | "(7) | | s section "disabled person" has the meaning given by Schedule the Finance Act 2005". | |
| | (5) | Omit s | ubsecti | ion (10). | 30 |
| | (6) | | | ents made by this paragraph have effect in relation to disposals s of a settlement on or after 8 April 2013. | |
| | (7) | be rea | d as p | lement is a relevant settlement, nothing in this paragraph is to reventing section 169D(2) of TCGA 1992 from applying in e disposal. | 35 |
| 12 | (1) | | | of Schedule 1 (application of exempt amount and reporting sinvolving settled property) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In sub | -paragr | raph (1) — | |
| | | (a) | allowa to the | nentally disabled person or a person in receipt of attendance ance or of a disability living allowance by virtue of entitlement care component at the highest or middle rate" substitute bled person", and | 40 |
| | | (b) | | ragraphs (a) and (b) substitute— | |
| | | | | "(a) if any of the property is applied for the benefit of a beneficiary, it is applied for the disabled person's benefit, and | 45 |

| | Schedule 42 – Trusts with outherdole beneficiary | | |
|----|--|-----------------------------|-----|
| | (b) either— | (b) either | |
| | (i) the disabled person is entitled to all of the income (if there is any) arising from any of the property, or | (i) | |
| 5 | (ii) if any such income is applied for the benefit of a beneficiary, it is applied for the disabled person's benefit,". | (ii) | |
| | p-paragraph insert — | ter that sub-paragraph inse | (3) |
| | e trusts on which settled property is held are not to be treated | | |
| 10 | alling outside sub-paragraph (1) by reason only of — | _ | |
| | a) the trustees' having powers that enable them to apply in any tax year otherwise than for the benefit of the disabled person amounts (whether consisting of income or capital, or both) not exceeding the annual limit, | any tax year person amou | |
| 15 | | (b) the trustees' | |
| | the trustees' having those powers but free from, or subject to a less restrictive limitation than, the limitation imposed by proviso (a) of subsection (1) of that section, | to a less rest | |
| 20 | the trustees' having the powers conferred by section 33 of the Trustee Act (Northern Ireland) 1958 (corresponding provision for Northern Ireland), | the Trustee | |
| 25 | the trustees' having those powers but free from, or subject to a less restrictive limitation than, the limitation imposed by subsection (1)(a) of that section, or | to a less rest | |
| | | (f) the trustees' | |
| 30 | the purposes of this paragraph, the "annual limit" for a tax r is whichever is the lower of the following amounts— a) £3,000, and | year is whichever is | |
| 50 | | (b) 3% of the am | |
| | e Treasury may by order— | ` ' | |
| 35 | a) specify circumstances in which sub-paragraph (1A)(a) is, or is not, to apply in relation to a trust, and | | |
| 55 | | (b) amend the | |
| | order under sub-paragraph (1C) may – | • • | |
| 40 | , <u>.</u> | • , | |
| | | | |

- (1E) A statutory instrument containing an order under sub-paragraph (1C) may not be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons."
- 45 (4) In sub-paragraph (2), for the words from the beginning to "that subparagraph" substitute "The reference in sub-paragraph (1)".
- (5) In sub-paragraph (6), for the definitions of "mentally disabled person",

491 Schedule 42

| Sched | ule 42 | – Trusts w | rith vulr | ierable benef | ficiary |
|-------|--------|------------|-----------------|-------------------------|---|
| | | "attenda | | disabled | and "disability living allowance" substitute – person" has the meaning given by Schedule 1A to nce Act 2005; and". |
| | (6) | | | | e by this paragraph have effect in relation to the tax quent tax years. |
| | (7) | be read | as pr g in r | eventing elation to | a relevant settlement, nothing in this paragraph is to sections 3(1) to (5C) and 3A of TCGA 1992 from the settlement as provided by paragraph 1(1) of |
| Finai | псе А | ct 2005 | | | |
| 13 | | FA 2005 | is am | ended as | follows. |
| 14 | (1) | Section 3 | 34 (dis | abled per | rsons) is amended as follows. |
| | (2) | | ction "(b) | (2), for pa either – | aragraph (b) substitute— |
| | | | | (i) ti ti (ii) ii | hat the disabled person is entitled to all the income (if here is any) arising from any of the property, or f any such income is applied for the benefit of a beneficiary, it is applied for the benefit of the disabled person." |
| | (3) | For subs | ectior | (3) subst | titute — |
| | | S | | | hich property is held are not to be treated as failing to conditions in subsection (2) are met by reason only |
| | | | (a) | tax year amounts | nees' having powers that enable them to apply in any otherwise than for the benefit of the disabled person is (whether consisting of income or capital, or both) eding the annual limit, |
| | | | (b) | the trust | rees' having the powers conferred by section 32 of the Act 1925 (powers of advancement), |
| | | | (c) | the trust a less re | tees' having those powers but free from, or subject to estrictive limitation than, the limitation imposed by (a) of subsection (1) of that section, |
| | | | (d) | Trustee | rees' having the powers conferred by section 33 of the Act (Northern Ireland) 1958 (corresponding in for Northern Ireland), |
| | | | (e) | the trust a less re | nees' having those powers but free from, or subject to estrictive limitation than, the limitation imposed by on (1)(a) of that section, or |
| | | | (f) | | tees' having powers to the like effect as the powers ed in any of paragraphs (b) to (e). |
| | | | | | es of this section, the "annual limit" for a tax year is e lower of the following amounts— |

(3C) The Treasury may by order made by statutory instrument –

property during the tax year in question.

(b) 3% of the amount that is the maximum value of the settled

45

(a) £3,000, and

| | | (a) specify circumstances in which subsection (3)(a) is, or is not, to apply in relation to a trust, and(b) amend the definition of "the annual limit" in subsection (3B). | |
|----|------------|--|----|
| | (3D) | An order under subsection (3C) may – | |
| | \ / | (a) make different provision for different cases, and(b) contain transitional and saving provision. | 5 |
| | (3E) | A statutory instrument containing an order under subsection (3C) may not be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons." | |
| 15 | (1) Sectio | on 35 (relevant minors) is amended as follows. | 10 |
| | (2) For su | ubsection (3)(c)(ii) substitute— | |
| | | "(ii) if any such income is applied for the benefit of a beneficiary, it is applied for the benefit of the relevant minor." | |
| | (3) For su | ubsection (4) substitute — | |
| | "(4) | Trusts to which subsection (2) applies are not to be treated as failing to secure that the conditions in subsection (3) are met by reason only of — | 15 |
| | | (a) the trustees' having powers that enable them to apply in any tax year otherwise than for the benefit of the relevant minor amounts (whether consisting of income or capital, or both) not exceeding the annual limit, | 20 |
| | | (b) the trustees' having the powers conferred by section 32 of the Trustee Act 1925 (powers of advancement), | |
| | | (c) the trustees' having those powers but free from, or subject to a less restrictive limitation than, the limitation imposed by proviso (a) of subsection (1) of that section, | 25 |
| | | (d) the trustees' having the powers conferred by section 33 of the Trustee Act (Northern Ireland) 1958 (corresponding provision for Northern Ireland), | |
| | | (e) the trustees' having those powers but free from, or subject to a less restrictive limitation than, the limitation imposed by subsection (1)(a) of that section, or | 30 |
| | | (f) the trustees' having powers to the like effect as the powers mentioned in any of paragraphs (b) to (e). | |
| | (4B) | For the purposes of this section, the "annual limit" for a tax year is whichever is the lower of the following amounts— (a) £3,000, and (b) 3% of the amount that is the maximum value of the settled | 35 |
| | | property during the tax year in question. | |
| | (4C) | The Treasury may by order made by statutory instrument— (a) specify circumstances in which subsection (4)(a) is, or is not, to apply in relation to a trust, and | 40 |
| | | (b) amend the definition of "the annual limit" in subsection (4B). | |
| | (4D) | An order under subsection (4C) may — (a) make different provision for different cases, and (b) contain transitional and saving provision. | 45 |

17

18

Finance (No. 2) Bill

| No. 2) Bill 42 – Trusts | s with vulnerable beneficiary | |
|----------------------------|---|--|
| (4E) | A statutory instrument containing an order under subsection (4C) may not be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons." | |
| For sec | ction 38 substitute – | |
| "38 Me | eaning of "disabled person" | |
| | In this Chapter "disabled person" has the meaning given by Schedule 1A." | |
| | mendments made by paragraphs 14 to 16 have effect for the tax year 4 and subsequent tax years. | |
| After S | Schedule 1 insert — | |
| | "SCHEDULE 1A Section 38 | |
| | MEANING OF "DISABLED PERSON" | |
| "Disabled | l person" | |
| 1 | "Disabled person" means— | |
| | (a) a person who by reason of mental disorder within the meaning of the Mental Health Act 1983 is incapable of administering his or her property or managing his or her affairs, | |
| | (b) a person in receipt of attendance allowance, | |
| | (c) a person in receipt of a disability living allowance by virtue of entitlement to the care component at the highest or middle rate, | |
| | (d) a person in receipt of personal independence payment by virtue of entitlement to the daily living component, | |
| | (e) a person in receipt of constant attendance allowance, or(f) a person in receipt of armed forces independence payment. | |
| Attendan | ce allowance | |
| 2 | A person is to be treated as a disabled person under paragraph 1(b) if he or she satisfies HMRC that if he or she were to meet the prescribed conditions as to residence and presence under section 64(1) of SSCBA 1992 or section 64(1) of SSCB(NI)A 1992 he or she would be entitled to receive attendance allowance. | |
| 3 | A person who is (or is treated as) a disabled person under paragraph 1(b) is not to cease to be (or to be treated as) such a disabled person by reason only of — (a) provision made by regulations under section 67(1) or (2) of SSCBA 1992 or section 67(1) or (2) of SSCB(NI)A 1992 (non-satisfaction of conditions for attendance allowance where | |

person is undergoing treatment for renal failure in hospital

section 113(1) of SSCBA 1992 or section 113(1) of SSCB(NI)A 1992 or provision made by regulations under section 113(2) of SSCBA 1992 or section 113(2) of

or is provided with certain accommodation), or

10

15

20

25

35

40

45

SSCB(NI)A 1992 (general provisions as to disqualification and suspension).

Disability living allowance

- A person is to be treated as a disabled person under paragraph 1(c) if he or she satisfies HMRC that if he or she were to meet the prescribed conditions as to residence and presence under section 71(6) of SSCBA 1992 or section 71(6) of SSCB(NI)A 1992 he or she would be entitled to receive a disability living allowance by virtue of entitlement to the care component at the highest or middle rate.
- A person who is (or is treated as) a disabled person under paragraph 1(c) is not to cease to be (or to be treated as) such a disabled person by reason only of
 - (a) provision made by regulations under section 72(8) of SSCBA 1992 or section 72(8) of SSCB(NI)A 1992 (no payment of disability allowance for persons for whom certain accommodation is provided), or
 - (b) section 113(1) of SSCBA 1992 or section 113(1) of SSCB(NI)A 1992 or provision made by regulations under section 113(2) of SSCBA 1992 or section 113(2) of SSCB(NI)A 1992 (general provisions as to disqualification and suspension).

Personal independence payment

- A person is to be treated as a disabled person under paragraph 1(d) if he or she satisfies HMRC that if he or she were to meet the prescribed conditions as to residence and presence under section 77(3) of WRA 2012 or the corresponding provision having effect in Northern Ireland he or she would be entitled to receive personal independence payment entitlement by virtue of entitlement to the daily living component.
- A person who is (or is treated as) a disabled person under paragraph 1(d) is not to cease to be (or to be treated as) such a disabled person by reason only of
 - (a) provision made by regulations under section 85 of WRA 2012 (exclusion of certain care home residents) or the corresponding provision having effect in Northern Ireland,
 - (b) provision made by regulations under section 86 of WRA 2012 (exclusion of certain hospital in-patients) or the corresponding provision having effect in Northern Ireland, or
 - (c) section 87 of WRA 2012 (exclusion of prisoners and detainees) or the corresponding provision having effect in Northern Ireland.

Interpretation

8 In this Schedule –

"armed forces independence payment" means armed forces independence payment under a scheme established under

| section 1 of the Armed Forces (Pensions and Compensation) Act 2004, | |
|--|----|
| "attendance allowance" means an allowance under section section 64 of the SSCBA 1992 or section 64 of the SSCB(NI)A 1992, | 5 |
| "constant attendance allowance" means an allowance under article 8 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (S.I. 2006/606), | |
| "disability living allowance" means a disability living allowance under section 71 of the SSCBA 1992 or section 71 of the SSCB(NI)A 1992, | 10 |
| "HMRC" means Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, | |
| "personal independence payment" means personal independence payment under — (a) WRA 2012, or | 15 |
| (b) the corresponding provision having effect in Northern Ireland, | |
| "SSCBA 1992" means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992, | 20 |
| "SSCB(NI)A 1992" means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits (Northern Ireland) Act 1992, "WRA 2012" means the Welfare Reform Act 2012." | |
| Interpretation: relevant settlement | |
| In this Schedule, "relevant settlement" means— (a) a settlement created before 8 April 2013 the trusts of which have not been altered on or after that date, or | 25 |
| (b) a settlement arising after 8 April 2013 under a will executed before that date which has not been altered on or after that date. | |
| SCHEDULE 43 Section 215 | 30 |
| STATUTORY RESIDENCE TEST | |
| PART 1 | |
| THE RULES | |
| Introduction | |
| 1 (1) This Part of this Schedule sets out the rules for determining for the purposes of relevant tax whether individuals are resident or not resident in the UK. | 35 |
| (2) The rules are referred to collectively as "the statutory residence test". | |
| (3) The rules do not apply in determining for the purposes of relevant tax | |
| whether individuals are resident or not resident in England, Wales, Scotland or Northern Ireland specifically (rather than in the UK as a whole). | 40 |
| (4) "Relevant tax" means— | |

| | | | Part 1 – The rules | |
|-------|-------|----------------------|--|----|
| | | (a) (b) (c) | income tax, capital gains tax, and (so far as the residence status of individuals is relevant to them) inheritance tax and corporation tax. | |
| | (5) | Key co | oncepts used in the rules are defined in Part 2 of this Schedule. | 5 |
| Inter | preta | tion of e | enactments | |
| 2 | (1) | reside | ctments relating to relevant tax, a reference to being resident (or not nt) in the UK is, in the case of individuals, a reference to being resident t resident) in the UK in accordance with the statutory residence test. | |
| | (2) | an acti | aragraph (1) applies even if the reference relates to the tax liability of ual or deemed person that is not an individual (for example, where the cy of another person depends on the residence status of an individual). | 10 |
| | (3) | reside of any | dividual who, in accordance with the statutory residence test, is nt (or not resident) in the UK "for" a tax year is taken for the purposes enactment relating to relevant tax to be resident (or not resident) there imes in that tax year. | 15 |
| | (4) | | e Part 3 of this Schedule (split year treatment) for cases where the effect -paragraph (3) is relaxed in certain circumstances. | |
| | (5) | | chedule has effect subject to any express provision to the contrary in ling to be recognised and acknowledged in law by virtue of) any nent. | 20 |
| The | basic | rule | | |
| 3 | | An inc (a) (b) | dividual ("P") is resident in the UK for a tax year ("year X") if— the automatic residence test is met for that year, or the sufficient ties test is met for that year. | 25 |
| 4 | | If neitl year. | her of those tests is met for that year, P is not resident in the UK for that | |
| The i | auton | natic res | sidence test | |
| 5 | | The au (a) (b) | atomatic residence test is met for year X if P meets — at least one of the automatic UK tests, and none of the automatic overseas tests. | 30 |
| The | auton | ıatic UI | X tests | |
| 6 | | There | are 4 automatic UK tests. | |
| 7 | | The fir X. | est automatic UK test is that P spends at least 183 days in the UK in year | 35 |
| 8 | (1) | The se | cond automatic UK test is that— | |

(a) P has a home in the UK during all or part of year X,

(b)

X, and

that home is one where P spends a sufficient amount of time in year

| | – Statu he rules | tory residence test |
|-----|---------------------|--|
| | (c) | there is at least one period of 91 (consecutive) days in respect of which the following conditions are met— (i) the 91-day period in question occurs while P has that home, (ii) at least 30 days of that 91-day period fall within year X, and (iii) throughout that 91-day period, condition A or condition B is met or a combination of those conditions is met. |
| (2) | Condi | tion A is that P has no home overseas. |
| (3) | Condi (a) (b) | tion B is that— P has one or more homes overseas, but each of those homes is a home where P spends no more than a permitted amount of time in year X. |
| (4) | there i | tion to a home of P's in the UK, P "spends a sufficient amount of time" in year X if there are at least 30 days in year X when P is present there it day for at least some of the time (no matter how short a time). |
| (5) | amour when | ation to a home of P's overseas, P "spends no more than a permitted not of time" there in year X if there are fewer than 30 days in year X P is present there on that day for at least some of the time (no matter hort a time). |
| (6) | In sub (a) (b) | a reference to 30 days is to 30 days in aggregate, whether the days are consecutive or intermittent, and a reference to P being present at the home is to P being present there at a time when it is a home of P's (so presence there on any other occasion, for example to look round the property with a view to buying it, is to be disregarded). |
| (7) | respec | aragraph (1)(c) is satisfied so long as there is a period of 91 days in it of which the conditions described there are met, even if those itions are in fact met for longer than that. |
| (8) | If P ha (a) (b) | each of those homes must be looked at separately to see if the second automatic UK test is met, and the second automatic UK test is then met so long as it is met in relation to at least one of those homes. |
| (1) | The th | P works sufficient hours in the UK, as assessed over a period of 365 days, during that period, there are no significant breaks from UK work, all or part of that period falls within year X, more than 75% of the total number of days in the 365-day period on |
| | ` / | which P does more than 3 hours' work are days on which P does more than 3 hours' work in the LIK, and |

(2) Take the following steps to work out, for any given period of 365 days, whether P works "sufficient hours in the UK" as assessed over that period — 45 Step 1

(e) at least one day in year X is a day on which P does more than 3 hours' work in the UK.

Identify any days in the period on which P does more than 3 hours' work overseas, including ones on which P also does work in the UK on the same day. The days so identified are referred to as "disregarded days". Step 2

Add up (for all employments held and trades carried on by P) the total number of hours that P works in the UK during the period, but ignoring any hours that P works in the UK on disregarded days.

The result is referred to as P's "net UK hours".

Stev 3

10

5

Subtract from 365 –

- the total number of disregarded days, and
- any days that are allowed to be subtracted, in accordance with the rules in paragraph 28 of this Schedule, to take account of periods of leave and gaps between employments.

15

The result is referred to as the "reference period".

Divide the reference period by 7. If the answer is more than 1 and is not a whole number, round down to the nearest whole number. If the answer is less than 1, round up to 1.

20

Step 5

Divide P's net UK hours by the number resulting from step 4.

If the answer is 35 or more, P is considered to work "sufficient hours in the UK" as assessed over the 365-day period in question.

(3) This paragraph does not apply to P if –

25

- P has a relevant job on board a vehicle, aircraft or ship at any time in (a) year X, and
- at least 6 of the trips that P makes in year X as part of that job are cross-border trips that either begin in the UK, end in the UK or begin and end in the UK.

30

35

40

- 10 The fourth automatic UK test is that –
 - P dies in year X,
 - for each of the previous 3 tax years, P was resident in the UK by virtue of meeting the automatic residence test,
 - even assuming P were not resident in the UK for year X, the tax year preceding year X would not be a split year as respects P (see Part 3 of this Schedule), and
 - when P died, either
 - P's home was in the UK, or
 - P had more than one home and at least one of them was in the UK.

The automatic overseas tests

- 11 There are 5 automatic overseas tests.
- 12 The first automatic overseas test is that —
 - P was resident in the UK for one or more of the 3 tax years preceding vear X,

| | | (b) (c) | the number of days in year X that P spends in the UK is less than 16, and P does not die in year X. | |
|----|-----|---------------------|--|----|
| 13 | | ` ' | cond automatic overseas test is that — | |
| 13 | | (a) | P was resident in the UK for none of the 3 tax years preceding year X, and | 5 |
| | | (b) | the number of days that P spends in the UK in year X is less than 46. | |
| 14 | (1) | The th | P works sufficient hours overseas, as assessed over year X, during year X, there are no significant breaks from overseas work, the number of days in year X on which P does more than 3 hours' work in the UK is less than 31, and the number of days in year X falling within sub-paragraph (2) is less than 91. | 10 |
| | (2) | A day (a) (b) | falls within this sub-paragraph if — it is a day spent by P in the UK, but it is not a day that is treated under paragraph 23(4) as a day spent by P in the UK. | 15 |
| | (3) | | the following steps to work out whether P works "sufficient hours eas" as assessed over year X— | 20 |
| | | Identii UK, in | fy any days in year X on which P does more than 3 hours' work in the cluding ones on which P also does work overseas on the same day. The second sec | 25 |
| | | Add u | up (for all employments held and trades carried on by P) the total er of hours that P works overseas in year X, but ignoring any hours works overseas on disregarded days. | |
| | | | sult is referred to as P's "net overseas hours". | 30 |
| | | | the total number of disregarded days, and any days that are allowed to be subtracted, in accordance with the rules in paragraph 28 of this Schedule, to take account of periods of leave and gaps between employments. | 35 |
| | | The re | sult is referred to as the "reference period". | 55 |
| | | whole | e the reference period by 7. If the answer is more than 1 and is not a number, round down to the nearest whole number. If the answer is an 1, round up to 1. | 40 |
| | | • | e P's net overseas hours by the number resulting from step 4. | |
| | | | answer is 35 or more, P is considered to work "sufficient hours eas" as assessed over year X. | |
| | (4) | This p | aragraph does not apply to P if — | 45 |

| | | | Furt 1 – The rules | |
|--------|------------|--------------|---|----|
| | | (a) | P has a relevant job on board a vehicle, aircraft or ship at any time in year X, and | |
| | | (b) | at least 6 of the trips that P makes in year X as part of that job are cross-border trips that either begin in the UK, end in the UK or begin and end in the UK. | 5 |
| 15 | (1) | | urth automatic overseas test is that— P dies in year X, | |
| | | (b) (c) | P was resident in the UK for neither of the 2 tax years preceding year X or, alternatively, P's case falls within sub-paragraph (2), and the number of days that P spends in the UK in year X is less than 46. | 10 |
| | (2) | P's cas | se falls within this sub-paragraph if — | |
| | ` ' | | P was not resident in the UK for the tax year preceding year X, and the tax year before that was a split year as respects P because the circumstances of the case fell within Case 1, Case 2 or Case 3 (see Part 3 of this Schedule). | 15 |
| 16 | (1) | | th automatic overseas test is that — | |
| | | | P dies in year X, P was resident in the UK for neither of the 2 tax years preceding year X because P met the third automatic overseas test for each of those years or, alternatively, P's case falls within sub-paragraph (2), and P would meet the third automatic overseas test for year X if paragraph 14 were read with the relevant modifications. | 20 |
| | (2) | D'c 626 | | |
| | (2) | (a) (b) | P was not resident in the UK for the tax year preceding year X because P met the third automatic overseas test for that year, and the tax year before that was a split year as respects P because the | 25 |
| | | (~) | circumstances of the case fell within Case 1 (see Part 3 of this Schedule). | |
| | (3) | The re | levant modifications of paragraph 14 are – | |
| | | (a) | in sub-paragraph (1)(a) and (b) and sub-paragraph (3), for "year X" read "the period from the start of year X up to and including the day before the day of P's death", and | 30 |
| | | (b) | in step 3 of sub-paragraph (3), for "365 (or 366 if year X includes 29 February)" read "the number of days in the period from the start of year X up to and including the day before the day of P's death". | 35 |
| The si | uffici | ient ties | test | |
| 17 | (1) | The su | ifficient ties test is met for year X if— | |
| | | (a) | P meets none of the automatic UK tests and none of the automatic overseas tests, but | 40 |
| | (2) | (p) | P has sufficient UK ties for that year. | 40 |
| | ` ′ | | es" is defined in Part 2 of this Schedule. | |
| | (3) | Wheth (a) | ner P has "sufficient" UK ties for year X will depend on — whether P was resident in the UK for any of the previous 3 tax years, and | |
| | | (b) | the number of days that P spends in the UK in year X. | 45 |

25

30

(4) The Tables in paragraphs 18 and 19 show how many ties are sufficient in each case.

Sufficient UK ties

The Table below shows how many UK ties are sufficient in a case where P was resident in the UK for one or more of the 3 tax years preceding year X—

| Days spent by P in the UK in year X | Number of ties that are sufficient | |
|--|---------------------------------------|----|
| More than 15 but not more than 45 | At least 4 | _ |
| More than 45 but not more than 90 | At least 3 | 10 |
| More than 90 but not more than 120 | At least 2 | |
| More than 120 | At least 1 | |
| | | |

The Table below shows how many UK ties are sufficient in a case where P use resident in the UK for none of the 3 tax years preceding year X—

| Days spent by P in the UK in year X | Number of ties that are sufficient | |
|--|---------------------------------------|--|
| More than 45 but not more than 90 | All 4 | |
| More than 90 but not more than 120 | At least 3 | |
| More than 120 | At least 2 | |
| | | |

- 20 (1) If P dies in year X, paragraph 18 has effect as if the words "More than 15 but" were omitted from the first column of the Table.
 - (2) In addition to that modification, if the death occurs before 1 March in year X, paragraphs 18 and 19 have effect as if each number of days mentioned in the first column of the Table were reduced by the appropriate number.
 - (3) The appropriate number is found by multiplying the number of days, in each case, by —

 $\frac{A}{12}$

where "A" is the number of whole months in year X after the month in which P dies.

21

23

(2) This is subject to the deeming rule.

(a) P has at least 3 UK ties for a tax year,

(3) The deeming rule applies if –

Part 1 – The rules (4) If, for any number of days, the appropriate number is not a whole number, the appropriate number is to be rounded up or down as follows – if the first figure after the decimal point is 5 or more, round the appropriate number up to the nearest whole number, otherwise, round it down to the nearest whole number. (b) 5 PART 2 KEY CONCEPTS Introduction This Part of this Schedule defines some key concepts for the purposes of this 10 Schedule. Days spent (1) If P is present in the UK at the end of a day, that day counts as a day spent by P in the UK. (2) But it does not do so in the following two cases. (3) The first case is where – 15 (a) P only arrives in the UK as a passenger on that day, P leaves the UK the next day, and (b) between arrival and departure, P does not engage in activities that are to a substantial extent unrelated to P's passage through the UK. (4) The second case is where – 20 P would not be present in the UK at the end of that day but for exceptional circumstances beyond P's control that prevent P from leaving the UK, and P intends to leave the UK as soon as those circumstances permit. (5) Examples of circumstances that may be "exceptional" are— 25 national or local emergencies such as war, civil unrest or natural disasters, and a sudden or life-threatening illness or injury. (6) For a tax year the maximum number of days to which sub-paragraph (2) may 30 apply in reliance on sub-paragraph (4) is limited to 60, and accordingly, once the number of days within sub-paragraph (4) reaches 60 (counting forward from the start of the tax year), any subsequent days within that sub-paragraph, whether involving the same or different exceptional circumstances, will count as days spent 35 by P in the UK. (1) If P is not present in the UK at the end of a day, that day does not count as a day spent by P in the UK.

40

the number of days in that tax year when P is present in the UK at some point in the day but not at the end of the day ("qualifying days") is more than 30, and P was resident in the UK for at least one of the 3 tax years preceding 5 that tax year. (4) The deeming rule is that, once the number of qualifying days in the tax year reaches 30 (counting forward from the start of the tax year), each subsequent qualifying day in the tax year is to be treated as a day spent by P in the UK. (5) The deeming rule does not apply for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(a) (so, in deciding for those purposes whether P has a 90-day tie, qualifying 10 days in excess of 30 are not to be treated as days spent by P in the UK). Days spent "in" a period Any reference to a number of days spent in the UK "in" a given period is a reference to the total number of days spent there (in aggregate) in that period, whether continuously or intermittently. 15 (1) A person's home could be a building or part of a building or, for example, a vehicle, vessel or structure of any kind. (2) Whether, for a given building, vehicle, vessel, structure or the like, there is a sufficient degree of permanence or stability about P's arrangements there for 20 the place to count as P's home (or one of P's homes) will depend on all the circumstances of the case. (3) But somewhere that P uses periodically as nothing more than a holiday home or temporary retreat (or something similar) does not count as a home of P's. 25 (4) A place may count as a home of P's whether or not P holds any estate or interest in it (and references to "having" a home are to be read accordingly). (5) Somewhere that was P's home does not continue to count as such merely because P continues to hold an estate or interest in it after P has moved out (for example, if P is in the process of selling it or has let or sub-let it, having 30 set up home elsewhere). (1) P is considered to be "working" (or doing "work") at any time when P is

Work

24

Home

- 26 doing something -
 - (a) in the performance of duties of an employment held by P, or
 - (b) in the course of a trade carried on by P (alone or in partnership).
 - (2) In deciding whether something is being done in the performance of duties of an employment, regard must be had to whether, if value were received by P for doing the thing, it would fall within the definition of employment income in section 7 of ITEPA 2003.
 - (3) In deciding whether something is being done in the course of a trade, regard must be had to whether, if expenses were incurred by P in doing the thing,

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

the expenses could be deducted in calculating the profits of the trade for income tax purposes.

- (4) Time spent travelling counts as time spent working
 - (a) if the cost of the journey could, if it were incurred by P, be deducted in calculating P's earnings from that employment under section 337, 338, 340 or 342 of ITEPA 2003 or, as the case may be, in calculating the profits of the trade under ITTOIA 2005, or
 - (b) to the extent that P does something else during the journey that would itself count as work in accordance with this paragraph.
- (5) Time spent undertaking training counts as time spent working if
 - (a) in the case of an employment held by P, the training is provided or paid for by the employer and is undertaken to help P in performing duties of the employment, and
 - (b) in the case of a trade carried on by P, the cost of the training could be deducted in calculating the profits of the trade for income tax purposes.
- (6) Sub-paragraphs (4) and (5) have effect without prejudice to the generality of sub-paragraphs (2) and (3).
- (7) Assume for the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (5) that P is someone who is chargeable to income tax under ITEPA 2003 or ITTOIA 2005.
- (8) A voluntary post for which P has no contract of service does not count as an employment for the purposes of this Schedule.

Location of work

- 27 (1) Work is done where it is actually done, regardless of where the employment is held or the trade is carried on by P.
 - (2) But work done by way of or in the course of travelling to or from the UK by air or sea or via a tunnel under the sea is assumed to be done overseas even during the part of the journey in or over the UK.
 - (3) For these purposes, travelling to or from the UK is taken to—
 - (a) begin when P boards the aircraft, ship or train that is bound for a destination in the UK or (as the case may be) overseas, and
 - (b) end when P disembarks from that aircraft, ship or train.
 - (4) This paragraph is subject to express provisions in this Schedule about the location of work done by people with relevant jobs on board vehicles, aircraft or ships.

Rules for calculating the reference period

- 28 (1) This paragraph applies in calculating the "reference period" (which is a step taken in determining whether P works "sufficient hours in the UK" or "sufficient hours overseas" as assessed over a given period of days).
 - (2) The number of days in the given period may be reduced to take account of
 - (a) reasonable amounts of annual leave or parenting leave taken by P during the period (for all employments held and trades carried on by P during the period, whether in the UK or overseas),

absences from work at times during the period when P is on sick leave and cannot reasonably be expected to work as a result of the illness or injury in question, and non-working days embedded within a block of leave for which a reduction is made under paragraph (a) or (b). 5 (3) But no reduction may be made in respect of any day that is a "disregarded day" (see paragraphs 9(2) and 14(3) in Part 1 of this Schedule). (4) For any particular employment or trade, "reasonable" amounts of annual leave or parenting leave are to be assessed having regard to (among other 10 things) -(a) the nature of the work, and the country or countries where P is working. (5) Non-working days are "embedded within" a block of leave only if there are, as part of that block of leave at least 3 consecutive days of leave taken before the non-working day 15 or series of non-working days in question, and at least 3 consecutive days of leave taken after the non-working day or series of non-working days in question. (6) A "non-working day" is any day of the week, month or year on which P is not normally expected to work (according to P's contract of 20 employment or usual pattern of work), and does not in fact work. (7) In calculating the reductions to be made under sub-paragraph (2) – if it turns out, after applying sub-paragraph (3), that the reasonable amounts of annual leave or parenting leave or, as the case may be, 25 the absences from work on sick leave do not add up (across the period) to a whole number of days, the number in that case is to be rounded down to the nearest whole number, but any such rounding is to be ignored for the purposes of subparagraph (2)(c). 30 (8) If -(a) P changes employment during the given period, there is a gap between the two employments, and P does not work at all at any time between the two employments, the number of days in the given period may be reduced by the number of 35 days in that gap. (9) But if the gap lasts for more than 15 days, only 15 days may be subtracted, and if there is more than one change of employment during the period, 40 (b) the maximum number of days that may be subtracted under subparagraph (8) for all the gaps in total is 30.

Significant breaks from UK or overseas work

29 (1) There is a "significant break from UK work" if at least 31 days go by and not one of those days is —

(a) a day on which P does more than 3 hours' work in the UK, or

40

30

UK ties

- (b) a day on which P would have done more than 3 hours' work in the UK but for being on annual leave, sick leave or parenting leave. (2) There is a "significant break from overseas work" if at least 31 days go by and not one of those days is a day on which P does more than 3 hours' work overseas, or 5 a day on which P would have done more than 3 hours' work overseas but for being on annual leave, sick leave or parenting leave. Relevant jobs on board vehicles, aircraft or ships (1) P has a "relevant" job on board a vehicle, aircraft or ship if condition A and 10 condition B are met. (2) Condition A is that P either – holds an employment, the duties of which consist of duties to be performed on board a vehicle, aircraft or ship while it is travelling, or carries on a trade, the activities of which consist of work to be done or services to be provided on board a vehicle, aircraft or ship while it 15 is travelling. (3) Condition B is that substantially all of the trips made in performing those duties or carrying on those activities are ones that involve crossing an international boundary at sea, in the air or on land (referred to as "cross-20 border trips"). (4) Sub-paragraph (2)(b) is not satisfied unless, in order to do the work or provide the services, P has to be present (in person) on board the vehicle, aircraft or ship while it is travelling. (5) Duties or activities of a purely incidental nature are to be ignored in deciding whether the duties of an employment or the activities of a trade consist of 25 duties or activities of a kind described in sub-paragraph (2)(a) or (b). (1) What counts as a "UK tie" depends on whether P was resident in the UK for one or more of the 3 tax years preceding year X. (2) If P was resident in the UK for one or more of those 3 tax years, each of the 30 following types of tie counts as a UK tie – (a) a family tie, (b) an accommodation tie, (c) a work tie,
 - (3) Otherwise, each of the following types of tie counts as a UK tie
 - a family tie,
 - (b) an accommodation tie,

a 90-day tie, and

a country tie.

- (c) a work tie, and
- a 90-day tie.
- (4) In order to have the requisite number of UK ties for year X, each tie of P's must be of a different type.

F

| ami | ly tie | | |
|-----|--------|---|----|
| 32 | (1) | P has a family tie for year X if — (a) in year X, a relevant relationship exists at any time between P and another person, and (b) that other person is someone who is resident in the UK for year X. | 5 |
| | (2) | A relevant relationship exists at any time between P and another person if at the time — | |
| | | (a) P and the other person are husband and wife or civil partners and, in either case, are not separated,(b) P and the other person are living together as husband and wife or, if they are of the same sex, as if they were civil partners, or(c) the other person is a child of P's and is under the age of 18. | 10 |
| | (3) | P does not have a family tie for year X by virtue of sub-paragraph (2)(c) if P sees the child in the UK on fewer than 61 days (in total) in— (a) year X, or (b) if the child turns 18 during year X, the part of year X before the day on which the child turns 18. | 15 |
| | (4) | A day counts as a day on which P sees the child if P sees the child in person for all or part of the day. | |
| | (5) | "Separated" means separated – (a) under an order of a court of competent jurisdiction, (b) by deed of separation, or (c) in circumstances where the separation is likely to be permanent. | 20 |
| 33 | (1) | This paragraph applies in deciding for the purposes (only) of paragraph 32(1)(b) whether a person with whom P has a relevant relationship (a "family member") is someone who is resident in the UK for year X. | 25 |
| | (2) | A family tie based on the fact that a family member has, by the same token, a relevant relationship with P is to be disregarded in deciding whether that family member is someone who is resident in the UK for year X. | |
| | (3) | A family member falling within sub-paragraph (4) is to be treated as being not resident in the UK for year X if the number of days that he or she spends in the UK in the part of year X outside term-time is less than 21. | 30 |
| | (4) | A family member falls within this sub-paragraph if he or she— (a) is a child of P's who is under the age of 18, (b) is in full-time education in the UK at any time in year X, and (c) is resident in the UK for year X but would not be so resident if the time spent in full-time education in the UK in that year were disregarded. | 35 |
| | (5) | In sub-paragraph (4) — (a) references to full-time education in the UK are to full-time education | 40 |

at a university, college, school or other educational establishment in

the reference to the time spent in full-time education in the UK is to

the UK, and

the time spent there during term-time.

(6) For the purposes of this paragraph, half-term breaks and other breaks when teaching is not provided during a term are considered to form part of "term-

| Accommo | dation tie | |
|----------|---|----------|
| 34 (1) | P has an accommodation tie for year X if — (a) P has a place to live in the UK, (b) that place is available to P during year X for a continuous period of at least 91 days, and (c) P spends at least one night at that place in that year. | 5 |
| (2) | If there is a gap of fewer than 16 days between periods in year X when a particular place is available to P, that place is to be treated as continuing to be available to P during the gap. | 10 |
| (3) | P is considered to have a "place to live" in the UK if— (a) P's home or at least one of P's homes (if P has more than one) is in the UK, or (b) P has a holiday home or temporary retreat (or something similar) in the UK, or (c) accommodation is otherwise available to P where P can live when P is in the UK. | 15 |
| (4) | Accommodation may be "available" to P even if P holds no estate or interest in it and even has no legal right to occupy it. | 20 |
| (5) | If the accommodation is the home of a close relative of P's, sub-paragraph (1)(c) has effect as if for "at least one night" there were substituted "a total of at least 16 nights". | |
| (6) | A "close relative" is— (a) a parent or grandparent, (b) a brother or sister, (c) a child aged 18 or over, or (d) a grandchild aged 18 or over, in each case, including by half-blood or by marriage or civil partnership. | 25 30 |
| Work tie | | |
| 35 (1) | P has a work tie for year X if P works in the UK for at least 40 days (whether continuously or intermittently) in year X. | |
| (2) | For these purposes, P works in the UK for a day if P does more than 3 hours' work in the UK on that day. | 35 |

- (1) This paragraph applies for the purposes of paragraph 35.
 - (2) It applies in cases where P has a relevant job on board a vehicle, aircraft or ship.
 - (3) When making a cross-border trip as part of that job
 - if the trip begins in the UK, P is assumed to do more than 3 hours' 40 work in the UK on the day on which it begins,
 - if the trip ends in the UK, P is assumed to do fewer than 3 hours' work in the UK on the day on which it ends.

Part 2 - Key concepts (4) Those assumptions apply regardless of how late in the day the trip begins or ends (even if it begins or ends just before midnight). (5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(a), it does not matter whether the trip ends on that same day. (6) A day that falls within both paragraph (a) and paragraph (b) of sub-5 paragraph (3) is to be treated as if it fell only within paragraph (a). (7) In the case of a cross-border trip to or from the UK that is undertaken in stages -(a) the day on which the trip begins or, as the case may be, ends is the day on which the stage of the trip that involves crossing the UK 10 border begins or ends, and accordingly, any day on which a stage is undertaken by P solely within the UK must (if it lasts for more than 3 hours) be counted separately as a day on which P does more than 3 hours' work in the UK. 15 90-day tie P has a 90-day tie for year X if P has spent more than 90 days in the UK in – the tax year preceding year X, the tax year preceding that tax year, or (b) 20 each of those tax years separately. Country tie (1) P has a country tie for year X if the country in which P meets the midnight test for the greatest number of days in year X is the UK. (2) If – P meets the midnight test for the same number of days in year X in 25 (a) two or more countries, and that number is the greatest number of days for which P meets the midnight test in any country in year X, P has a country tie for year X if one of those countries is the UK. (3) P meets the "midnight test" in a country for a day if P is present in that 30 country at the end of that day. PART 3

Introduction

37

39 This Part of this Schedule -

35

- explains when, as respects an individual, a tax year is a split year,
- defines the overseas part and the UK part of a split year, and

SPLIT YEAR TREATMENT

amends certain enactments to provide for special charging rules in cases involving split years.

- Part 3 Split year treatment 40 (1) The effect of a tax year being a split year is to relax the effect of paragraph 2(3) (which treats individuals who are UK resident "for" a tax year as being UK resident at all times in that year). (2) When and how the effect of paragraph 2(3) is relaxed is defined in the special charging rules introduced by the amendments made by this Part. 5 (3) Subject to those special charging rules (and any other special charging rules for split years that may be introduced in the future), nothing in this Part alters an individual's residence status for a tax year or affects his or her liability to tax. 41 10 This Part does not apply in determining the residence status of personal representatives, and applies to only a limited extent in determining the residence status of the trustees of a settlement (see section 475 of ITA 2007 and section 69 of TCGA 1992, as amended by this Part). 15 42 The existence of special charging rules for cases involving split years is not intended to affect any question as to whether an individual would fall to be regarded under double taxation arrangements as a resident of the UK. Definition of a "split year" 20 43 (1) As respects an individual, a tax year is a "split year" if – the individual is resident in the UK for that year, and the circumstances of the case fall within – (b) Case 1, Case 2 or Case 3 (cases involving actual or deemed departure from the UK), or Case 4, Case 5, Case 6, Case 7 or Case 8 (cases involving actual 25 or deemed arrival in the UK). (2) The 8 Cases are described in paragraphs 44 to 51. (3) In those paragraphs, the individual is referred to as "the taxpayer" and the tax year as "the relevant year". (4) In applying Part 2 of this Schedule to those paragraphs, for "P" read "the 30 taxpayer". Case 1 (1) The circumstances of a case fall within Case 1 if they are as described in sub-44 paragraphs (2) to (4). (2) The taxpayer was resident in the UK for the previous tax year (whether or 35 not it was a split year). (3) There is at least one period (consisting of one or more days) that —
 - (b) ends with the last day of the relevant year, and

(i) falls within the relevant year, and

is a day on which the taxpayer does more than 3 hours' work

40

(c) satisfies the overseas work criteria.

begins with a day that -

10

15

20

25

30

- (4) The taxpayer is not resident in the UK for the next tax year because the taxpayer meets the third automatic overseas test for that year (see paragraph 14).
- (5) A period "satisfies the overseas work criteria" if
 - (a) the taxpayer works sufficient hours overseas, as assessed over that period,
 - (b) during that period, there are no significant breaks from overseas work,
 - (c) the number of days in that period on which the taxpayer does more than 3 hours' work in the UK does not exceed the permitted limit, and
 - (d) the number of days in that period falling within sub-paragraph (6) does not exceed the permitted limit.
- (6) A day falls within this sub-paragraph if
 - (a) it is a day spent by the taxpayer in the UK, but

(b) it is not a day that is treated under paragraph 23(4) as a day spent by the taxpayer in the UK.

- (7) To work out whether the taxpayer works "sufficient hours overseas" as assessed over a given period, apply paragraph 14(3) but with the following modifications
 - (a) for "P" read "the taxpayer",
 - (b) for "year X" read "the period under consideration",
 - (c) for "365 (or 366 if year X includes 29 February)" read "the number of days in the period under consideration", and
 - (d) in paragraph 28(9)(b), as it applies for the purposes of step 3, for "30" read "the permitted limit".
- (8) The permitted limit is—
 - (a) for sub-paragraphs (5)(c) and (7)(d), the number found by reducing 30 by the appropriate number, and
 - (b) for sub-paragraph (5)(d), the number found by reducing 90 by the appropriate number.
- (9) The appropriate number is the result of –

$$A \times \frac{B}{12}$$

where -

"A" is—

- (a) 30, for sub-paragraphs (5)(c) and (7)(d), or
- (b) 90, for sub-paragraph (5)(d), and

"B" is the number of whole months in the part of the relevant year before the day mentioned in sub-paragraph (3)(a).

Case 2 40

- 45 (1) The circumstances of a case fall within Case 2 if they are as described in subparagraphs (2) to (6).
 - (2) The taxpayer was resident in the UK for the previous tax year (whether or not it was a split year).

(3) The taxpayer has a partner whose circumstances fall within Case 1 for – the relevant year, or (b) the previous tax year. (4) On a day in the relevant year, the taxpayer moves overseas so the taxpayer and the partner can continue to live together while the partner is working 5 overseas. (5) In the part of the relevant year beginning with the deemed departure day the taxpayer has no home in the UK at any time, or has homes in both the UK and overseas but spends the greater part of the time living in the overseas home, and 10 the number of days that the taxpayer spends in the UK does not exceed the permitted limit. (6) The taxpayer is not resident in the UK for the next tax year. (7) If sub-paragraph (3)(a) applies, the "deemed departure day" is the later of the day mentioned in sub-paragraph (4), and 15 (b) the first day of what is, for the partner, the overseas part of the relevant year as defined for Case 1 (see paragraph 53). (8) If sub-paragraph (3)(b) applies, the "deemed departure day" is the day mentioned in sub-paragraph (4). (9) The permitted limit is the number found by reducing 90 by the appropriate 20 number. (10) The appropriate number is the result of – $A \times \frac{B}{12}$ where -"A" is 90, and 25 "B" is the number of whole months in the part of the relevant year before the deemed departure day. Case 3 46 (1) The circumstances of a case fall within Case 3 if they are as described in subparagraphs (2) to (6). 30 (2) The taxpayer was resident in the UK for the previous tax year (whether or not it was a split year). (3) At the start of the relevant year the taxpayer had one or more homes in the UK but – there comes a day in the relevant year when P ceases to have any 35 home in the UK, and from then on, P has no home in the UK for the rest of that year. (4) In the part of the relevant year beginning with the day mentioned in subparagraph (3)(a), the taxpayer spends fewer than 16 days in the UK.

(5) The taxpayer is not resident in the UK for the next tax year.

40

| sub-pa | end of the period of 6 months beginning with the day mentioned in aragraph (3)(a), the taxpayer has a sufficient link with a country |
|----------------------|--|
| The ta | xpayer has a "sufficient link" with a country overseas if and only if— the taxpayer is considered for tax purposes to be a resident of that |
| (b) | country in accordance with its domestic laws, or the taxpayer has been present in that country (in person) at the end of each day of the 6-month period mentioned in sub-paragraph (6), or |
| (c) | the taxpayer's only home is in that country or, if the taxpayer has more than one home, they are all in that country. |
| | |
| | rcumstances of a case fall within Case 4 if they are as described in subraphs (2) to (4). |
| The ta | xpayer was not resident in the UK for the previous tax year. |
| test, b | e start of the relevant year, the taxpayer did not meet the only home ut there comes a day in the relevant year when that ceases to be the and the taxpayer then continues to meet the only home test for the rest tyear. |
| | e part of the relevant year before that day, the taxpayer does not have ent UK ties. |
| The "c (a) (b) | only home test" is met if — the taxpayer has only one home and that home is in the UK, or the taxpayer has more than one home and all of them are in the UK. |
| paragi | raphs 17 to 20 (and Part 2 of this Schedule so far as it relates to those raphs) apply for the purposes of sub-paragraph (4) with the following ments— |
| (a) | references in those paragraphs and that Part to year X are to be read as references to the part of the relevant year mentioned in subparagraph (4), and |
| /1 \ | each number of days mentioned in the first column of the Table in |
| (b) | paragraphs 18 and 19 is to be reduced by the appropriate number. |
| | The ta (a) (b) (c) The cirparage The ta At the test, becase are of that For the sufficient of the "case" (a) (b) Parage parage adjust: |

35

where "A" is the number of whole months in the part of the relevant year beginning with the day mentioned in sub-paragraph (3).

(8) Sub-paragraph (6)(a) does not apply to the references to year X in paragraphs 32(1)(b) and 33 of this Schedule (which relate to the residence status of family members) so those references must continue to be read as references to year X.

10

15

20

25

30

Case 5

- 48 (1) The circumstances of a case fall within Case 5 if they are as described in subparagraphs (2) and (3).
 - (2) The taxpayer was not resident in the UK for the previous tax year.
 - (3) There is at least one period of 365 days in respect of which the following conditions are met—
 - (a) the period begins with a day that
 - (i) falls within the relevant year, and
 - (ii) is a day on which the taxpayer does more than 3 hours' work in the UK,
 - (b) in the part of the relevant year before the period begins, the taxpayer does not have sufficient UK ties,
 - (c) the taxpayer works sufficient hours in the UK, as assessed over the period,
 - (d) during the period, there are no significant breaks from UK work, and
 - (e) at least 75% of the total number of days in the period on which the taxpayer does more than 3 hours' work are days on which the taxpayer does more than 3 hours' work in the UK.
 - (4) To work out whether the taxpayer works "sufficient hours in the UK" as assessed over a given period, apply paragraph 9(2) but for "P" read "the taxpayer".
 - (5) Paragraphs 17 to 20 (and Part 2 of this Schedule so far as it relates to those paragraphs) apply for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(b) with the following adjustments—
 - (a) references in those paragraphs and that Part to year X are to be read as references to the part of the relevant year mentioned in subparagraph (3)(b), and
 - (b) each number of days mentioned in the first column of the Table in paragraphs 18 and 19 is to be reduced by the appropriate number.
 - (6) The appropriate number is found by multiplying the number of days, in each case, by—

 $\frac{\mathbf{A}}{12}$

where "A" is the number of whole months in the part of the relevant year beginning with the day on which the 365-day period in question begins.

(7) Sub-paragraph (5)(a) does not apply to the references to year X in paragraphs 32(1)(b) and 33 of this Schedule (which relate to the residence status of family members) so those references must continue to be read as references to year X.

Case 6

- 49 (1) The circumstances of a case fall within Case 6 if they are as described in subparagraphs (2) to (4).
 - (2) The taxpayer was not resident in the UK for the previous tax year because the taxpayer met the third automatic overseas test for that year (see paragraph 14).

| | - | |
|-----|--|--|
| (3) | There is at least one period (consisting of one or more days) that— (a) begins with the first day of the relevant year, (b) ends with a day that— (i) falls within the relevant year, and (ii) is a day on which the taxpayer does more than 3 hours' work overseas, and | |
| | (c) satisfies the overseas work criteria. | |
| (4) | The taxpayer is resident in the UK for the next tax year (whether or not it is a split year). | |
| (5) | A period "satisfies the overseas work criteria" if — (a) the taxpayer works sufficient hours overseas, as assessed over that period, (b) during that period, there are no significant breaks from overseas | |
| | work, (c) the number of days in that period on which the taxpayer does more than 3 hours' work in the UK does not exceed the permitted limit, and (d) the number of days in that period felling within sub-pergraph (6) | |
| | (d) the number of days in that period falling within sub-paragraph (6) does not exceed the permitted limit. | |
| (6) | A day falls within this sub-paragraph if— (a) it is a day spent by the taxpayer in the UK, but (b) it is not a day that is treated under paragraph 23(4) as a day spent by the taxpayer in the UK. | |
| (7) | To work out whether the taxpayer works "sufficient hours overseas" as assessed over a given period, apply paragraph 14(3) but with the following modifications— (a) for "P" read "the taxpayer", | |
| | (a) for "P" read "the taxpayer", (b) for "year X" read "the period under consideration", (c) for "365 (or 366 if year X includes 29 February)" read "the number of days in the period under consideration", and (d) in paragraph 28(9)(b), as it applies for the purposes of step 3, for "30" read "the permitted limit". | |
| (8) | The permitted limit is — (a) for sub-paragraphs (5)(c) and (7)(d), the number found by reducing 30 by the appropriate number, and (b) for sub-paragraph (5)(d), the number found by reducing 90 by the appropriate number. | |
| (9) | The appropriate number is the result of – $A \times \frac{B}{12}$ | |
| | where — "A" is — (a) 30, for sub-paragraphs (5)(c) and (7)(d), or (b) 90, for sub-paragraph (5)(d), and | |

"B" is the number of whole months in the part of the relevant year after the 365-day period in question ends.

Case 7

- 50 (1) The circumstances of a case fall within Case 7 if they are as described in subparagraphs (2) to (6).
 - (2) The taxpayer was not resident in the UK for the previous tax year.
 - (3) The taxpayer has a partner whose circumstances fall within Case 6 for –

5

- (a) the relevant year, or
- (b) the previous tax year.
- (4) On a day in the relevant year, the taxpayer moves to the UK so the taxpayer and the partner can continue to live together on the partner's return or relocation to the UK.

10

- (5) In the part of the relevant year before the deemed arrival day
 - (a) the taxpayer has no home in the UK at any time, or has homes in both the UK and overseas but spends the greater part of the time living in the overseas home, and
 - (b) the number of days that the taxpayer spends in the UK does not exceed the permitted limit.

15

- (6) The taxpayer is resident in the UK for the next tax year (whether or not it is a split year).
- (7) If sub-paragraph (3)(a) applies, the "deemed arrival day" is the later of
 - (a) the day mentioned in sub-paragraph (4), and

20

25

- (b) the first day of what is, for the partner, the UK part of the relevant year as defined for Case 6 (see paragraph 54).
- (8) If sub-paragraph (3)(b) applies, the "deemed arrival day" is the day mentioned in sub-paragraph (4).
- (9) The permitted limit is the number found by reducing 90 by the appropriate number.
- (10) The appropriate number is the result of –

$$A \times \frac{B}{12}$$

where -

"A" is 90, and

30

"B" is the number of whole months in the part of the relevant year beginning with the deemed arrival day.

Case 8

- 51 (1) The circumstances of a case fall within Case 8 if they are as described in subparagraphs (2) to (5).
 - (2) The taxpayer was not resident in the UK for the previous tax year.
 - (3) At the start of the relevant year, the taxpayer had no home in the UK but
 - (a) there comes a day when, for the first time in that year, the taxpayer does have a home in the UK, and
 - (b) from then on, the taxpayer continues to have a home in the UK for the rest of that year and for the whole of the next tax year.

40

- (4) For the part of the relevant year before the day mentioned in sub-paragraph (3)(a), the taxpayer does not have sufficient UK ties.
- (5) The taxpayer is resident in the UK for the next tax year and that tax year is not a split year as respects the taxpayer.
- (6) Paragraphs 17 to 20 (and Part 2 of this Schedule so far as it relates to those paragraphs) apply for the purposes of sub-paragraph (4) with the following adjustments-

- references in those paragraphs and that Part to year X are to be read as references to the part of the relevant year mentioned in subparagraph (4), and
- each number of days mentioned in the first column of the Table in paragraphs 18 and 19 is to be reduced by the appropriate number.
- (7) The appropriate number is found by multiplying the number of days, in each case, by -

5

10

where "A" is the number of whole months in the relevant year beginning with the day mentioned in sub-paragraph (3)(a).

(8) Sub-paragraph (6)(a) does not apply to the references to year X in paragraphs 32(1)(b) and 33 of this Schedule (which relate to the residence status of family members) so those references must continue to be read as references to year X.

20

General rules for construing Cases 1 to 8

- 52 (1) This paragraph applies for the purposes of paragraphs 44 to 51.
 - (2) A reference to "the previous tax year" is to the tax year preceding the relevant year.

25

- (3) A reference to "the next tax year" is to the tax year following the relevant
- (4) "Partner", in relation to the taxpayer, means
 - a husband or wife or civil partner,
 - if the taxpayer and another person are living together as husband and wife, that other person, or

30

- if the taxpayer and another person of the same sex are living together as if they were civil partners, that other person.
- (5) If calculation of the appropriate number results in a number of days that is not a whole number, the appropriate number is to be rounded up or down as follows -

35

- if the first figure after the decimal point is 5 or more, round the appropriate number up to the nearest whole number,
- otherwise, round it down to the nearest whole number.

The overseas part 40

- 53 (1) "The overseas part" of a split year is—
 - (a) the part of that year defined below for the Case in question, or

(b) are neither –

| | Schedule 43 – Statutory residence test Part 3 – Split year treatment | | |
|-----|---|-------|-------|
| | (b) if the taxpayer's circumstances fall within more than one Case, the shortest of the parts so defined for those Cases. | | |
| | For Case 1, the overseas part is — | (2) | |
| 5 | (a) if there is only one period falling within paragraph 44(3), the part beginning with the first day of that period, and(b) if there is more than one such period, the part beginning with the first day of the longest of those periods. | | |
| | For Case 2, the overseas part is the part beginning with the deemed departure day as defined in paragraph 45(7) and (8). | (3) | |
| 10 | For Case 3, the overseas part is the part beginning with the day mentioned in paragraph 46(3)(a). | (4) | |
| | For Case 4, the overseas part is the part before the day mentioned in paragraph 47(3). | (5) | |
| | For Case 5, the overseas part is — | (6) | |
| 15 | (a) if there is only one period falling within paragraph 48(3), the part before that period begins, and | | |
| | (b) if there is more than one such period, the part before the first of those periods begins. | | |
| | For Case 6, the overseas part is— | (7) | |
| 20 | (a) if there is only one period falling within paragraph 49(3), the part ending with the last day of that period, and(b) if there is more than one such period, the part ending with the last day of the longest of those periods. | | |
| 2.5 | For Case 7, the overseas part is the part before the deemed arrival day as | (8) | |
| 25 | defined in paragraph 50(7) and (8). | (0) | |
| | For Case 8, the overseas part is the part before the day mentioned in paragraph 51(3)(a). | (9) | |
| | part | ЈК ра | The U |
| 30 | "The UK part" of a split year is the part of that year that is not the overseas part. | | 54 |
| | harging rules for employment income | al ch | Speci |
| | ITEPA 2003 is amended as follows. | | 55 |
| | In section 15 (earnings for year when employee UK resident), for subsection (1) substitute — | (1) | 56 |
| 35 | "(1) This section applies to general earnings for a tax year for which the employee is UK resident except that, in the case of a split year, it does not apply to any part of those earnings that is excluded. | | |
| | (1A) General earnings are "excluded" if they –(a) are attributable to the overseas part of the split year, and | | |

general earnings in respect of duties performed in the United Kingdom, nor

| | | | (ii) general earnings from overseas Crown employment subject to United Kingdom tax." | |
|----|--------|------------------|--|----|
| | (2) A | After s | subsection (3) insert – | |
| | | "(4) | Any attribution required for the purposes of subsection (1A)(a) is to be done on a just and reasonable basis. | 5 |
| | | (5) | The following provisions of Chapter 5 of this Part apply for the purposes of subsection (1A)(b) as for the purposes of section 27(2) — (a) section 28 (which defines "general earnings from overseas Crown employment subject to United Kingdom tax"), and (b) sections 38 to 41 (which contain rules for determining the place of performance of duties of employment). | 10 |
| | | (6) | Subject to any provision made in an order under section 28(5) for the purposes of subsection (1A)(b), provisions made in an order under that section for the purposes of section 27(2) apply for the purposes of subsection (1A)(b) too." | 15 |
| 57 | | | ion 22 (chargeable overseas earnings for year when remittance basis s and employee outside section 26), for subsection (7) substitute — | |
| | | "(7) | Section 15(1) does not apply to general earnings within subsection (1)." | |
| 58 | | ectior ollows | n 23 (calculation of "chargeable overseas earnings") is amended as s. | 20 |
| | (2) In | n subs | section (3), for step 1 substitute— "Step 1 Identify— (a) in the case of a tax year that is not a split year, the full | 25 |
| | | | amount of the overseas earnings for that year, and (b) in the case of a split year, so much of the full amount of the overseas earnings for that year as is attributable to the UK part of the year." | |
| | | | t subsection, in step 2, for "those earnings" substitute "the earnings ied under step 1". | 30 |
| | (4) A | After t | hat subsection insert — | |
| | | "(4) | Any attribution required for the purposes of step 1 or step 2 in subsection (3) is to be done on a just and reasonable basis." | |
| 59 | | | n 24 (limit on chargeable overseas earnings where duties of associated yment performed in UK) is amended as follows. | 35 |
| | (2) A | After s | subsection (2) insert – | |
| | "(| (2A) | If the tax year is a split year as respects the employee, subsection (2) has effect as if for "the aggregate earnings for that year from all the employments concerned" there were substituted "so much of the aggregate earnings for that year from all the employments concerned as is attributable to the UK part of that year"." | 40 |
| | | | | |

| | (3) After | 1 (2) | |
|----|---------------------|--|---|
| | ` ' | subsection (3) insert – | |
| | "(3A) | Any attribution required for the purposes of subsection (2A) is to be done on a just and reasonable basis." | |
| 60 | | on 26 (foreign earnings for year when remittance basis applies and oyee meets section 26A requirement) is amended as follows. | |
| | | bsection (1), for the words from "if the general earnings" to the end itute "if the general earnings meet all of the following conditions— (a) they are neither— (i) general earnings in respect of duties performed in the United Kingdom, nor (ii) general earnings from overseas Crown employment subject to United Kingdom tax, and (b) if the tax year is a split year as respects the employee, they are | 1 |
| | (a) A G | attributable to the UK part of the year." | |
| | (3) After | subsection (5) insert – | 1 |
| | "(5A) | Any attribution required for the purposes of subsection (1)(b) is to be done on a just and reasonable basis." | |
| | (4) For s | ubsection (6) substitute — | |
| | "(6) | Section 15(1) does not apply to general earnings within subsection (1)." | 2 |
| 61 | In sec inser | etion 232 (giving effect to mileage allowance relief), after subsection (6) | |
| | "(6A) | If the earnings from which a deduction allowed under this section is deductible include earnings that are "excluded" within the meaning of section 15(1A) — | 2 |
| | | (a) the amount of the deduction allowed is a proportion of the amount that would be allowed under this section if the tax year were not a split year, and | |
| | | (b) that proportion is equal to the proportion that the part of the earnings that is not "excluded" bears to the total earnings." | 3 |
| 62 | (1) Section follows | on 329 (deduction from earnings not to exceed earnings) is amended as vs. | |
| | (2) After | subsection (1) insert — | |
| | "(1A) | If the earnings from which a deduction allowed under this Part is deductible include earnings that are "excluded" within the meaning of section 15(1A)— (a) the amount of the deduction allowed is a proportion of the | 3 |

(3) In subsection (2), after "those earnings" insert "(or, in a case within subsection (1A), the part of those earnings that is not "excluded")".

were not a split year, and

amount that would be allowed under this Part if the tax year

40

(b) that proportion is equal to the proportion that the part of the earnings that is not "excluded" bears to the total earnings."

10

15

20

25

30

35

- (4) In subsection (3), after "the earnings" insert "(or, in a case within subsection (1A), the part of the earnings that is not "excluded")".
- 63 (1) Section 394 (charge on employer-financed retirement benefits) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (4C), omit "or" at the end of paragraph (b) and after that paragraph insert
 - "(ba) an amount which would count as employment income of the employee or former employee under that Chapter but for the application of section 554Z5 (overlap with earlier relevant step), or".
 - (3) In that subsection, for paragraph (c) substitute
 - "(c) an amount which would be within paragraph (a), (b) or (ba) apart from—
 - (i) the employee or former employee having been non-UK resident for any tax year, or
 - (ii) any tax year having been a split year as respects the employee or former employee."
- 64 (1) Section 421E (income relating to securities: exclusions about residence etc) is amended as follows.
 - (2) For subsection (1) substitute
 - "(1) Chapters 2, 3 and 4 do not apply in relation to employment-related securities if the acquisition occurs in a tax year that is not a split year as respects the employee and
 - (a) the earnings from the employment for that tax year are not general earnings to which section 15, 22 or 26 applies (earnings for year when employee UK resident), or
 - (b) had there been any earnings from the employment for that tax year, they would not have been general earnings to which any of those sections applied.
 - (1A) Chapters 2, 3 and 4 do not apply in relation to employment-related securities if the acquisition occurs in the UK part of a tax year that is a split year as respects the employee and
 - (a) the earnings from the employment attributable to that part of the year are not general earnings to which section 15, 22 or 26 applies, or
 - (b) had there been any earnings from the employment attributable to that part of the year, they would not have been general earnings to which any of those sections applied.
 - (1B) Chapters 2, 3 and 4 do not apply in relation to employment-related securities if the acquisition occurs in the overseas part of a tax year that is a split year as respects the employee."
 - (3) After subsection (2) insert
 - "(2A) But Chapters 3A to 3D do apply in relation to employment-related securities in relation to which they are disapplied by subsection (2) if
 - (a) the acquisition takes place in the overseas part of a tax year that is a split year as respects the employee,

| | | (b) the tax year is a split year because the circumstances of the case fall within Case 1, Case 2 or Case 3 as described in Part 3 of Schedule 43 to FA 2013 (split year treatment: cases involving actual or deemed departure from the United Kingdom), and (c) had it not been a split year — (i) the earnings from the employment for that tax year (or some of them) would have been general earnings to which section 15, 22 or 26 applied, or (ii) if there had been any earnings from the employment for that tax year, they (or some of them) would have | 5 10 |
|----|-------------|---|---------|
| | _ | been general earnings to which any of those sections applied." | |
| 65 | | tion 474 (cases where Chapter 5 of Part 7 does not apply), for tion (1) substitute — | 15 |
| | "(1) | This Chapter (apart from sections 473 and 483) does not apply in relation to an employment-related securities option if the acquisition occurs in a tax year that is not a split year as respects the employee and— | |
| | | (a) the earnings from the employment are not general earnings to which section 15, 22 or 26 applies (earnings for year when employee UK resident), or | 20 |
| | | (b) had there been any earnings from the employment, they would not have been general earnings to which any of those sections applied. | 25 |
| | (1A) | This Chapter (apart from sections 473 and 483) does not apply in relation to an employment-related securities option if the acquisition occurs in the UK part of a tax year that is a split year as respects the employee and — | |
| | | (a) the earnings from the employment attributable to that part of the year are not general earnings to which section 15, 22 or 26 applies (earnings for year when employee UK resident), or | 30 |
| | | (b) had there been any earnings from the employment attributable to that part of the year, they would not have been general earnings to which any of those sections applied. | 35 |
| | (1B) | This Chapter (apart from sections 473 and 483) does not apply in relation to an employment-related securities option if the acquisition occurs in the overseas part of a tax year that is a split year as respects the employee." | |
| 66 | (1) Section | n 554Z4 (residence issues) is amended as follows. | 40 |
| | (2) For su | bsections (3) to (5) substitute – | |
| | "(3) | Subsection (4) applies if the value of the relevant step, or a part of it, is "for" – | |
| | | (a) a tax year for which A is non-UK resident, or(b) a tax year that is a split year as respects A. | 45 |
| | (4) | The value, or the part of it, is to be reduced— (a) in a case within subsection (3)(a), by so much of the value, or the part of it, as is not in respect of UK duties, and | |

| | | (b) in a case within subsection (3)(b), by so much of the value, or the part of it, as is both—(i) attributable to the overseas part of the tax year, and(ii) not in respect of UK duties. | |
|----|--------------------|--|----|
| | (5) | The extent to which — (a) the value, or the part of it, is not in respect of UK duties, or (b) so much of the value, or the part of it, as is attributable to the overseas part of the tax year is not in respect of UK duties, is to be determined on a just and reasonable basis." | 5 |
| | (3) After s | subsection (5) insert – | 10 |
| | "(5A) | Any attribution required for the purposes of subsection (4)(b)(i) is to be done on a just and reasonable basis. | |
| | (5B) | "UK duties" means duties performed in the United Kingdom." | |
| 67 | "UK r | tion 554Z6 (overlap with certain earnings), in subsection (1)(a), after esident" insert "(and, in the case of a tax year that is a split year as its A, are not "excluded" by virtue of section 15(1A)(a) and (b)(i))". | 15 |
| 68 | | ction 554Z9 (remittance basis: A is ordinarily UK resident), in ction (5) — | |
| | (a) | in paragraph (b), after "that income" insert "(or of so much of it as is attributable to the UK part of the relevant tax year, if it was a split year as respects A)", and | 20 |
| | (b) | in paragraph (c), after "tax year" insert "(or the UK part of it)". | |
| 69 | (1) Section follow | n 554Z10 (remittance basis: A is not ordinarily resident) is amended as | |
| | (2) In sub | section (1), for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) the value of the relevant step, or a part of it, is "for" a tax year ("the relevant tax year") as determined under section 554Z4,". | 25 |
| | (3) For su | bsection (2) substitute – | |
| | "(2) | The overseas portion of (as the case may be) – (a) A's employment income by virtue of section 554Z2(1), or (b) the relevant part of A's employment income by virtue of that section, | 30 |
| | | is "taxable specific income" in a tax year so far as the overseas portion is remitted to the United Kingdom in that year." | 35 |
| | (4) After t | that subsection insert— | |
| | "(2A) | "The overseas portion" of A's employment income by virtue of section 554Z2(1), or of the relevant part of that income, is so much of that income, or of the relevant part of it, as is not in respect of UK duties. | 40 |
| | (2B) | "UK duties" means duties performed in the United Kingdom." | |

(5) In subsection (3), for "this purpose" substitute "the purposes of this section".

15

20

25

30

- (6) For subsection (4) substitute
 - "(4) The extent to which—
 - (a) the employment income, or the relevant part of it, is not in respect of UK duties, or
 - (b) so much of the employment income, or of the relevant part of it, as is attributable to the UK part of the relevant tax year is not in respect of UK duties,

is to be determined on a just and reasonable basis."

Special charging rules for pension income

- 70 (1) Section 575 of ITEPA 2003 (foreign pensions: taxable pension income) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1), after "subsections" insert "(1A),".
 - (3) After that subsection insert
 - "(1A) If the person liable for the tax under this Part is an individual and the tax year is a split year as respects that individual, the taxable pension income for the tax year is the full amount of the pension income arising in the UK part of the year, subject to subsections (2) and (3) and section 576A."
 - (4) In subsection (2), after "tax year" insert "or, as the case may be, the UK part of the tax year".

PAYE income

- 71 (1) Section 690 of ITEPA 2003 (employee non-residents etc) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1), omit "only".
 - (3) After that subsection insert
 - "(1A) This section also applies in relation to an employee in a tax year if it appears to an officer of Revenue and Customs that—
 - (a) the tax year is likely to be a split year as respects the employee, and
 - (b) the employee works or will work in the United Kingdom and also works or is likely to work outside the United Kingdom."

Special charging rules for trading income

- 72 ITTOIA 2005 is amended as follows.
- 73 In section 6 (territorial scope of charge to tax), after subsection (2) insert
 - "(2A) If the tax year is a split year as respects a UK resident individual, this section has effect as if, for the overseas part of that year, the individual were non-UK resident."
- 74 (1) Section 17 (effect of becoming or ceasing to be UK resident) is amended as follows.

| | (2) For | subsection | (1) substitute — | |
|----|----------------|---------------------------|--|----|
| | "(1 |) This se (a) (b) | ction applies if — an individual carries on a trade otherwise than in partnership, and there is a change of residence. | 5 |
| | (1A |) For the (a) (b) | e purposes of this section there is a "change of residence" if—the individual becomes or ceases to be UK resident, or a tax year is, as respects the individual, a split year. | |
| | (1B | , | ange of residence occurs — in a case falling within subsection (1A)(a), at the start of the tax year for which the individual becomes or ceases to be UK resident, and | 10 |
| | | (b) | in a case falling within subsection (1A)(b), at the start of whichever of the UK part or the overseas part of the tax year is the later part." | 15 |
| | indi | vidual do | (2), at the beginning insert "If this section applies and the es not actually cease permanently to carry on the trade effore the change of residence occurs,". | |
| 75 | | ection 243 section (5) | 3 (post-cessation receipts: extent of charge to tax), after insert – | 20 |
| | "(6 | section | ax year is a split year as respects a UK resident individual, this has effect as if, for the overseas part of that year, the lual were non-UK resident." | |
| 76 | In se | | (calculation of firm's profits or losses), after subsection (3) | 25 |
| | "(3A | | tax year that is a split year as respects the partner, this section ect as if the partner were non-UK resident in the overseas part year." | |
| 77 | (1) Sect | ion 852 (ca | rrying on by partner of notional trade) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) For | subsection | ı (6) substitute — | 30 |
| | "(6 | ceasing | e is a change of residence, the partner is treated as permanently g to carry on one notional trade when that change of residence and starting to carry on another immediately afterwards." | |
| | (3) Afte | r subsectio | on (7) insert — | |
| | "(8 | | tions (1A) and (1B) of section 17 apply for the purposes of tion (6)." | 35 |
| 78 | (1) Sect follo | • | arrying on by partner of notional business) is amended as | |
| | (2) For | subsection | (5) substitute — | |
| | "(5 | ceasing | e is a change of residence, the partner is treated as permanently g to carry on one notional business when that change of nice occurs and starting to carry on another immediately pards." | 40 |

15

25

30

35

40

- (3) After that subsection insert
 - "(5A) Subsections (1A) and (1B) of section 17 apply for the purposes of subsection (5)."

Special charging rules for property income

- 79 In section 270 of ITTOIA 2005 (profits of property businesses: income 5 charged), after subsection (2) insert
 - "(3) If, as respects an individual carrying on an overseas property business, the tax year is a split year
 - (a) tax is charged under this Chapter on so much of the profits referred to in subsection (1) as arise in the UK part of the tax year, and
 - (b) the portion of the profits arising in the overseas part of the tax year is, accordingly, not chargeable to tax under this Chapter.
 - (4) In determining how much of the profits arise in the UK part of the tax year
 - (a) determine first how much of the non-CAA profits arise in the UK part by apportioning the non-CAA profits between the UK part and the overseas part on a just and reasonable basis, and
 - (b) then adjust the portion of the non-CAA profits arising in the UK part by deducting any CAA allowances for the year and adding any CAA charges for the year.
 - (5) In subsection (4)
 - "CAA allowances" means allowances treated under section 250 or 250A of CAA 2001 (capital allowances for overseas property businesses) as an expense of the business;

"CAA charges" means charges treated under either of those sections as a receipt of the business;

"non-CAA profits" means profits before account is taken of any CAA allowances or CAA charges."

Special charging rules for savings and investment income

- Part 4 of ITTOIA 2005 (savings and investment income) is amended as follows.
- In section 368 (territorial scope of charges in respect of savings and investment income), after subsection (2) insert
 - "(2A) If income arising to an individual who is UK resident arises in the overseas part of a split year, it is to be treated for the purposes of this section as arising to a non-UK resident."
- 82 In section 465 (person liable for tax on gains from life insurance etc: individuals), after subsection (1) insert
 - "(1A) But if the tax year is a split year as respects the individual, the individual is not liable for tax under this Chapter in respect of gains arising in the overseas part of that year (subject to section 465B)."
- In section 467 (person liable: UK resident trustees), in subsection (4), after

10

15

20

25

30

| | paragraph | (a) |) insert – |
|--|-----------|-----|------------|
|--|-----------|-----|------------|

- "(aa) is UK resident but the gain arises in the overseas part of a tax year that is, as respects the person who created the trusts, a split year,".
- 84 (1) Section 528 (reduction in amount charged under Chapter 9 of Part 4: non-UK resident policy holders) is amended as follows.
 - (2) The amendments made by sub-paragraphs (3) to (6) apply to section 528 as substituted by paragraph 3 of Schedule 8 to this Act, and have effect in relation to policies and contracts in relation to which that section as so substituted has effect.
 - (3) In subsection (1)(b), for the words from "on which" to the end substitute "that are foreign days".
 - (4) After subsection (1) insert
 - "(1A) "Foreign days" are
 - (a) days falling within any tax year for which the individual is not UK resident, and
 - (b) days falling within the overseas part of any tax year that is a split year as respects the individual."
 - (5) In subsection (3), in the definition of "A", for "days falling within subsection (1)(b)" substitute "foreign days".
 - (6) In subsection (8), for "subsection (1)(b)" substitute "subsection (1A)(a) and (b)".
 - (7) The amendments made by sub-paragraphs (8) to (10) apply to section 528 as in force immediately before the substitution mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) so far as that section as so in force continues to have effect after the substitution.
 - (8) In subsection (1), for the words from "the policy holder" to the end substitute "there are one or more days in the policy period that are foreign days."
 - (9) After that subsection insert
 - "(1A) "Foreign days" are
 - (a) days on which the policy holder is not UK resident, and
 - (b) days falling within the overseas part of any tax year that is a split year as respects the policy holder (if the policy holder is an individual)."
 - (10) In subsection (3), in the definition of "A", for the words from "on which" to the end substitute "in the policy period that are foreign days, and".
- 85 (1) Section 528A (reduction in amount charged on basis of non-UK residence of deceased person), as inserted by paragraph 3 of Schedule 8 to this Act, is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1)(b), for the words from "on which" to the end substitute "that were foreign days".
 - (3) In subsection (2)
 - (a) in paragraph (b), for the words from "on which" to the end substitute "that were foreign days, and", and

| | | (b) for paragraph (c), substitute— "(c) the deceased died— | |
|----|-----|--|----|
| | | (i) in a tax year for which the deceased was UK resident but not one that was a split year as respects the deceased, or(ii) in the UK part of a tax year that was a split year as respects the deceased." | 5 |
| | (4) | After that subsection insert — | |
| | | "(2A) "Foreign days" are — (a) days falling within any tax year for which the deceased was not UK resident, and (b) days falling within the overseas part of any tax year that was a split year as respects the deceased." | 10 |
| | (5) | In subsection (4), in the definition of "A", for the words from "are days falling" to the end substitute "were foreign days, and". | 15 |
| | (6) | In subsection (8), for "subsection (1)(b) or (2)(b)" substitute "subsection (2A)(a) and (b)". | 10 |
| 86 | (1) | Section 536 (top slicing relieved liability: one chargeable event) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | The amendment made by sub-paragraph (3) applies to section 536 as amended by paragraph 5 of Schedule 8 to this Act, and has effect in accordance with paragraph 7 of that Schedule. | 20 |
| | (3) | For subsection (7) substitute — | |
| | | "(7) If in the case of the individual the gain is reduced under section 528 – (a) divide the number of foreign days in the material interest period (as determined in accordance with that section, including subsections (7) and (8)) by 365, (b) if the result is not a whole number, round it down to the | 25 |
| | | nearest whole number, and (c) reduce N, for steps 1 and 3 in subsection (1), by the number found by applying paragraphs (a) and (b)." | 30 |
| | (4) | The amendment made by sub-paragraph (5) applies to section 536 as in force immediately before it is amended by paragraph 5 of Schedule 8 to this Act, so far as that section as so in force continues to have effect after it is so amended. | 35 |
| | (5) | For subsection (7) substitute – | |
| | | "(7) If the gain is from such a policy — (a) divide the number of foreign days in the policy period (as defined in section 528) by 365, (b) if the result is not a whole number, round it down to the nearest whole number, and (c) reduce N, for steps 1 and 3 in subsection (1), by the number found by applying paragraphs (a) and (b)." | 40 |
| | | | |

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Special charging rules for miscellaneous income

- 87 In section 577 (territorial scope of charges in respect of miscellaneous income), after subsection (2) insert
 - "(2A) If income arising to an individual who is UK resident arises in the overseas part of a split year, it is to be treated for the purposes of this section as arising to a non-UK resident."

Special charging rules for relevant foreign income charged on remittance basis

- In section 832 of ITTOIA 2005 (relevant foreign income charged on remittance basis), for subsection (2) substitute—
 - "(2) For any tax year for which the individual is UK resident, income tax is charged on the full amount of so much (if any) of the relevant foreign income as is remitted to the United Kingdom—
 - (a) in that year, or
 - (b) in the UK part of that year, if that year is a split year as respects the individual."
- 89 (1) Chapter 2 of Part 13 of ITA 2007 (transfer of assets abroad) is amended as follows in consequence of the amendment made by the preceding paragraph.
 - (2) In section 726 (non-UK domiciled individuals to whom remittance basis applies), after subsection (4) insert
 - "(5) In the application of section 832 of ITTOIA 2005 to the foreign deemed income, subsection (2) of that section has effect with the omission of paragraph (b)."
 - (3) In section 730 (non-UK domiciled individuals to whom remittance basis applies), after subsection (4) insert
 - "(5) In the application of section 832 of ITTOIA 2005 to the foreign deemed income, subsection (2) of that section has effect with the omission of paragraph (b)."
 - (4) In section 735 (non-UK domiciled individuals to whom remittance basis applies), after subsection (4) insert
 - "(5) In the application of section 832 of ITTOIA 2005 to the foreign deemed income, subsection (2) of that section has effect with the omission of paragraph (b)."

Special charging rules for capital gains

- 90 TCGA 1992 is amended as follows.
- 91 (1) Section 2 (persons and gains chargeable to capital gains tax, and allowable losses) is amended as follows.
 - (2) After subsection (1A) (inserted by Schedule 44 to this Act) insert
 - "(1B) If the year is a split year as respects an individual, the individual is not chargeable to capital gains tax in respect of any chargeable gains accruing to the individual in the overseas part of that year.

year".

| | | | Turt o Opin year ireatment | |
|----|-----|------------------|--|----|
| | | (1C) | But subsection (1B) — (a) does not apply to chargeable gains in respect of which the individual would have been chargeable to capital gains tax under section 10, had the individual been not resident in the UK for the year, and (b) is without prejudice to section 10A." | 5 |
| | (3) | In sub (a) (b) | section (2) — after "the year of assessment" insert "or, where subsection (1B) applies, the UK part of that year", and in paragraph (a), after "that year of assessment" insert "or that part (as the case may be)". | 10 |
| 92 | (1) | Section | n 3A (reporting limits) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In sub (a) (b) | section (1) — in paragraph (a), after "year of assessment" insert "or, if that year is a split year as respects the individual, the UK part of that year", and in paragraph (b), after "in that year" insert "or, as the case may be, that part of the year". | 15 |
| | (3) | In sub year)" | section (2), after "year of assessment" insert "(or the UK part of such a | |
| 93 | (1) | | n 12 (non-UK domiciled individuals to whom remittance basis s) is amended as follows. | 20 |
| | (2) | After s | subsection (2) insert – | |
| | | "(2A) | If that tax year is a split year as respects the individual, the chargeable gains are treated as accruing to the individual in the part of the year (the overseas part or the UK part) in which the foreign chargeable gains are so remitted." | 25 |
| | (3) | In sub | section (3), after "that year" insert "or, where applicable, that part of ar". | |
| 94 | | | cion 13 (attribution of gains to members of non-resident companies), ubsection (3) insert — | 30 |
| | | "(3A) | Subsection (2) does not apply in the case of a participator who is an individual if— (a) the tax year in which the chargeable gain accrues to the company is a split year as respects the participator, and (b) the chargeable gain accrues to the company in the overseas part of that year." | 35 |
| 95 | | In sect | ion 16 (computation of losses), after subsection (3) insert – | |
| | | "(3A) | If the person is an individual and the year is a split year as respects that individual, subsection (3) also applies to a loss accruing to the individual in the overseas part of that year." | 40 |

In section 16ZB (individual who has made election under section 16ZA: foreign chargeable gains remitted in tax year after tax year in which accrue), in subsection (1)(c), after "tax year" insert "or a part of the applicable tax

| Part 3 - | - Sp | lit year tr | eatment | | | | | |
|----------|------|------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 97 | (1) | | 16ZC (individual who has made election under section $16ZA$ and to remittance basis applies) is amended as follows. | | | | | |
| | (2) | 2) In subsection (3) — | | | | | | |
| | | (a) | in paragraph (a), after "that year" insert "or, if that year is a split year as respects the individual, in the UK part of that year", and | | | | | |
| | | (b) | in paragraph (b), after "that year" insert "or they are so remitted in that year but it is a split year as respects the individual and they are so remitted in the overseas part of the year". | | | | | |
| | (3) | | section (7), in the definition of "relevant allowable losses", after "tax nsert "or a part of the tax year". | | | | | |
| 98 | | dual re | ion 86 (attribution of gains to settlors with interest in non-resident or esident settlements), in subsection (4)(a), after "the year" insert "or if, eects the settlor, the year is a split year, in the UK part of that year". | | | | | |
| 99 | | | tion 87 (non-UK resident settlements: attribution of gains to ciaries), after subsection (6) insert — | | | | | |
| | | "(7) | If the relevant tax year is a split year as respects a beneficiary of the settlement — | | | | | |
| | | | (a) the amount on which the beneficiary is chargeable to capital gains tax by virtue of this section for that year (in respect of the settlement) is a portion of the amount on which the beneficiary would have been so chargeable if the relevant tax year had not been a split year, and | | | | | |
| | | | (b) the portion is the portion attributable to the UK part of the relevant tax year calculated on a time apportionment basis." | | | | | |
| ruste | es o | f a settle | ement | | | | | |
| 100 | | In sect | ion 69 of TCGA 1992 (trustees of settlements), after subsection (2D) | | | | | |
| | "(| (2DA) | A trustee who is resident in the United Kingdom for a tax year is to be treated for the purposes of subsections (2A) and (2B) as if he or she were not resident in the United Kingdom for that year if — (a) the trustee is an individual, (b) the individual becomes or ceases to be a trustee of the | | | | | |
| | | | settlement during the tax year, (c) that year is a split year as respects the individual, and (d) in that year, the only period when the individual is a trustee | | | | | |
| | | | of the settlement falls wholly within the overseas part of the year. | | | | | |
| | | (2DB) | Subsection (2DA) is subject to subsection (2D) and, accordingly, an individual who is treated under subsection (2DA) as not resident is, in spite of that, to be regarded as resident whenever the individual acts as mentioned in subsection (2D)." | | | | | |
| 101 | | In sect | ion 475 of ITA 2007 (residence of trustees), after subsection (6) insert – | | | | | |

(a) an individual becomes or ceases to be a trustee of the

Subsection (8) applies if —

settlement during a tax year,

- (b) that year is a split year as respects the individual, and
- (c) the only period in that year when the individual is a trustee of the settlement falls wholly within the overseas part of the year.
- (8) The individual is to be treated for the purposes of subsections (4) and (5) as if he or she had been non-UK resident for the year (and hence for the period in that year when he or she was a trustee of the settlement).
- (9) But subsection (8) is subject to subsection (6) and, accordingly, an individual who is treated under subsection (8) as having been non-UK resident is, in spite of that, to be treated as UK resident whenever the individual acts as mentioned in subsection (6)."

Definitions in enactments relating to income tax and CGT

- 102 (1) Section 288 of TCGA 1992 (interpretation) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1), insert the following definition in the appropriate place ""split year", as respects an individual, means a tax year that, as respects that individual, is a split year within the meaning of Part 3 of Schedule 43 to the Finance Act 2013 (statutory residence test: split year treatment);".
 - (3) After subsection (1ZA) insert –

20

5

10

15

- "(1ZB) A reference in this Act to "the overseas part" or "the UK part" of a split year is to be read in accordance with Part 3 of Schedule 43 to the Finance Act 2013 (statutory residence test: split year treatment)."
- In Part 2 of Schedule 1 to ITEPA 2003 (index of defined expressions), insert the following entries in the appropriate places —

25

| "the overseas part | section 989 of ITA 2007", |
|--------------------|-------------------------------|
| "split year | section 989 of ITA 2007", and |
| "the UK part | section 989 of ITA 2007". |

In Part 2 of Schedule 4 to ITTOIA 2005 (index of defined expressions), insert the following entries in the appropriate places—

| "the overseas part | section 989 of ITA 2007", | |
|--------------------|----------------------------------|----|
| "split year | section 989 of ITA 2007", and | |
| "the UK part | section 989 of ITA 2007". | 35 |

In section 989 of ITA 2007 (definitions for purposes of Income Tax Acts),

| urio | opin year i | теминени | |
|--------|-----------------|--|---|
| | insert | the following definitions is | n the appropriate places – |
| | | | , in relation to a split year, has the meaning Schedule 43 to FA 2013 (statutory residence atment);", |
| | | ""split year", in relat as respects that in | tion to an individual, means a tax year that, dividual, is a split year within the meaning ule 43 to FA 2013 (statutory residence test: |
| | | | lation to a split year, has the meaning given ule 43 to FA 2013 (statutory residence test: nt);". |
| 106 | | edule 4 to that Act (index on the appropriate places | of defined expressions), insert the following |
| | "tl | ne overseas part | section 989", |
| | "s _] | plit year | section 989", and |
| | "tl | ne UK part | section 989". |
| | | PA | RT 4 |
| | | ANTI-AV | OIDANCE |
| ntrodu | ction | | |
| 107 | This P | art of this Schedule – | |
| | (a) | explains when an indivi- certain enactments as ten | dual is to be regarded for the purposes of appropriately non-resident, |
| | (b) | defines the year of dep | parture and the period of return for the |
| | (c) | purposes of those enactri makes consequential amospecial rules for temporar | endments to certain enactments containing |
| | (d) | | ial rules for temporary non-residents in |
| Meanin | g of temp | orarily non-resident | |
| 108 (1 | | _ | as "temporarily non-resident" if — |
| | (a) (b) | | K residence for a residence period, at period (referred to as "period A"), one or |
| | (0) | | ccur for which the individual does not have |
| | (c) | at least 4 out of the 7 tax departure were either — | x years immediately preceding the year of |
| | | (i) a tax year for which (ii) a split year that it | ch the individual had sole UK residence, or ncluded a residence period for which the |
| | | individual had so | le UK residence, and |

(2) Terms used in sub-paragraph (1) are defined below.

(d) the temporary period of non-residence is 5 years or less.

10

15

20

25

30

35

| D '1 | . 1 | |
|-----------|---------|---|
| Residence | periods | ; |

| In relation to an individual, a "residence period | d" is — |
|---|---------|
|---|---------|

- (a) a tax year that, as respects the individual, is not a split year, or
- (b) the overseas part or the UK part of a tax year that, as respects the individual, is a split year.

Sole UK residence

- 110 (1) An individual has "sole UK residence" for a residence period consisting of an entire tax year if
 - (a) the individual is resident in the UK for that year, and
 - (b) there is no time in that year when the individual is Treaty non-resident.
 - (2) An individual has "sole UK residence" for a residence period consisting of part of a split year if
 - (a) the residence period is the UK part of that year, and
 - (b) there is no time in that part of the year when the individual is Treaty non-resident.
 - (3) An individual is "Treaty non-resident" at any time if at the time the individual falls to be regarded as resident in a country outside the UK for the purposes of double taxation arrangements having effect at the time.

Temporary period of non-residence

In relation to an individual, "the temporary period of non-residence" is the period between –

- (a) the end of period A, and
- (b) the start of the next residence period after period A for which the individual has sole UK residence.

Year of departure

"The year of departure" is the tax year consisting of or including period A.

Period of return

"The period of return" is the first residence period after period A for which the individual has sole UK residence.

Consequential amendments: income tax

In ITEPA 2003, for section 576A substitute –

"576ATemporary non-residents

- (1) This section applies if a person is temporarily non-resident.
- (2) Any relevant withdrawals within subsection (3) are to be treated for the purposes of section 575 as if they arose in the period of return.
- (3) A relevant withdrawal is within this subsection if
 - (a) it is paid to the person in the temporary period of non-residence, and

| woida | псе | |
|-------|----------------------------|---|
| | (b) | ignoring this section, it is not chargeable to tax under this Part (or would not be if a DTR claim were made in respect of it). |
| (4) | | evant withdrawal" is an amount paid under a relevant non-UK ne that — |
| | (a) | arrangement relating to the person under the scheme, and |
| | (b) | would, if the scheme were a registered pension scheme, be "income withdrawal" or "dependants' income withdrawal" within the meaning of paragraphs 7 and 21 of Schedule 28 to FA 2004. |
| (5) | to the subsectempo | ion 809B, 809D or 809E of ITA 2007 (remittance basis) applies person for the year of return, any relevant withdrawal within ction (3) that was remitted to the United Kingdom in the prary period of non-residence is to be treated as remitted to the d Kingdom in the period of return. |
| (6) | This set (a) | ection does not apply to a relevant withdrawal if— it is paid to or in respect of a relieved member of the scheme and is not referable to the member's UK tax-relieved fund under the scheme, or |
| | (b) | it is paid to or in respect of a transfer member of the scheme and is not referable to the member's relevant transfer fund under the scheme. |
| (7) | prever of any in the | ng in any double taxation relief arrangements is to be read as nting the person from being chargeable to income tax in respect relevant withdrawal treated by virtue of this section as arising period of return (or as preventing a charge to that tax from g as a result). |
| (8) | avoid | of Schedule 43 to FA 2013 (statutory residence test: anti- ance) explains— |
| | (a) | when a person is to be regarded as "temporarily non-resident", and |
| | (b) | what "the temporary period of non-residence" and "the period of return" mean. |
| (9) | | section — double taxation relief arrangements" means arrangements that |
| | | have effect under section 2(1) of TIOPA 2010; DTR claim" means a claim for relief under section 6 of that Act; |
| | | flexible drawdown arrangement" means an arrangement to which section 165(3A) or 167(2A) of FA 2004 applies; |
| | | remitted to the United Kingdom" has the same meaning as in Chapter A1 of Part 14 of ITA 2007; |
| | | the year of return" means the tax year that consists of or includes the period of return. |
| 10) | FA 20 | |
| | | relevant non-UK scheme" (see paragraph 1(5)); relieved member" (see paragraph 1(7)); |
| | | transfer member" (see paragraph 1(8)); |

10

15

20

30

35

40

"member's UK tax-relieved fund" (see paragraph 3(2)); "member's relevant transfer fund" (see paragraph 4(2))."

In ITEPA 2003, for section 579CA substitute –

| "579CA | Tem | porary | non-residents | |
|--------|-----|--------|---------------|--|
| | | | | |

| (2) | Any relevant withdrawals within subsection (3) are to be treated for |
|-----|--|
| ` , | the purposes of section 579B as if they accrued in the period of |
| | return. |

This section applies if a person is temporarily non-resident.

- (3) A relevant withdrawal is within this subsection if
 - (a) it is paid to the person in the temporary period of non-residence, and
 - (b) ignoring this section, it is not chargeable to tax under this Part (or would not be if a DTR claim were made in respect of it).
- (4) A "relevant withdrawal" is any income withdrawal or dependants' income withdrawal paid to the person under a registered pension scheme in respect of a flexible drawdown arrangement relating to the person under the scheme.
- (5) Nothing in any double taxation relief arrangements is to be read as preventing the person from being chargeable to income tax in respect of any relevant withdrawal treated by virtue of this section as accruing in the period of return (or as preventing a charge to that tax from arising as a result).
- (6) Part 4 of Schedule 43 to FA 2013 (statutory residence test: anti-avoidance) explains
 - (a) when a person is to be regarded as "temporarily non-resident", and
 - (b) what "the temporary period of non-residence" and "the period of return" mean.
- (7) In this section
 - "double taxation relief arrangements" means arrangements that have effect under section 2(1) of TIOPA 2010;

"DTR claim" means a claim for relief under section 6 of that Act; "flexible drawdown arrangement" means an arrangement to which section 165(3A) or 167(2A) of FA 2004 applies."

116 In ITTOIA 2005, for section 832A substitute –

"832A Section 832: temporary non-residents

- (1) This section applies if an individual is temporarily non-resident.
- (2) Treat any of the individual's relevant foreign income within subsection (3) that is remitted to the United Kingdom in the temporary period of non-residence as remitted to the United Kingdom in the period of return.
- (3) Relevant foreign income is within this subsection if
 - (a) it is relevant foreign income for the UK part of the year of departure or an earlier tax year, and

35

40

| | (b) section 832 applies to it. |
|-----------------|---|
| (4 | Any apportionment required for the purposes of subsection (3)(a) is to be done on a just and reasonable basis. |
| (5 | Nothing in any double taxation relief arrangements is to be read as preventing the individual from being chargeable to income tax in respect of any relevant foreign income treated by virtue of this section as remitted to the United Kingdom in the period of return (or as preventing a charge to that tax from arising as a result). |
| (6 | Part 4 of Schedule 43 to FA 2013 (statutory residence test: antiavoidance) explains— (a) when an individual is to be regarded as "temporarily non-resident", and (b) what "the temporary period of non-residence" and "the period of return" mean. |
| (7 | In this section, "double taxation relief arrangements" means arrangements that have effect under section 2(1) of TIOPA 2010." |
| Consequential (| mendments: capital gains tax |
| 117 In T | CGA 1992, for section 10A substitute – |
| "10A " | Temporary non-residents |
| (1 | This section applies if an individual ("the taxpayer") is temporarily non-resident. |
| (2 | The taxpayer is chargeable to capital gains tax as if gains and losses within subsection (3) were chargeable gains or, as the case may be, losses accruing to the taxpayer in the period of return. |
| (3 | (a) chargeable gains and losses that accrued to the taxpayer in the temporary period of non-residence, (b) chargeable gains that would be treated under section 13 as having accrued to the taxpayer in that period if the residence assumption were made, |

The residence assumption is –

Kingdom for that year.

that the taxpayer had been resident in the United Kingdom for the tax year in which the gain or loss accrued to the

(c) losses that would be allowable in the taxpayer's case under section 13(8) in that period if that assumption were made,

chargeable gains that would be treated under section 86 as having accrued to the taxpayer in a tax year falling wholly in

that period if the taxpayer had been resident in the United

if that tax year was a split year as respects the taxpayer, that the gain or loss had accrued to the company in the UK part of

45 But –

| | | Schedule 43 – Statutory residence test Part 4 – Anti-avoidance | |
|------|-------------------------------|---|----|
| | (a) (b) | a gain is not within subsection (3) if, ignoring this section, the taxpayer is chargeable to capital gains tax in respect of it (and could not cease to be so chargeable by making a claim under section 6 of TIOPA 2010), and a loss is not within subsection (3) if the test in paragraph (a) would be met if it were a gain. | 5 |
| (6) | Subse | ction (2) is subject to sections 10AA and 86A. | |
| (7) | To det (a) (b) | termine the losses mentioned in subsection (3)(c) — calculate separately, for each tax year falling wholly or partly in the temporary period of non-residence, the portion of sum A that does not exceed sum B, and add up all those portions. | 10 |
| (8) | | e purposes of subsection (7)— sum A" is the aggregate of the losses that were not available in accordance with section 13(8) for reducing gains accruing to the taxpayer by virtue of section 13 in the relevant tax year, but would have been available if the residence assumption had been made, and | 15 |
| | "! | sum B" is the amount of the gains that did not accrue to the taxpayer by virtue of section 13 in that tax year but would have so accrued if that assumption had been made. | 20 |
| (9) | to the falling subsective the | ion 809B, 809D or 809E of ITA 2007 (remittance basis) applies taxpayer for the year of return, any foreign chargeable gains within subsection (3) by virtue of paragraph (a) of that ction that were remitted to the United Kingdom at any time in imporary period of non-residence are to be treated as remitted United Kingdom in the period of return. | 25 |
| (10) | | of Schedule 43 to the Finance Act 2013 (statutory residence test: voidance) explains — when an individual is to be regarded as "temporarily non-resident", and what "the temporary period of non-residence" and "the period of return" mean. | 30 |
| (11) | | foreign chargeable gains" has the meaning given by section 12(4); remitted to the United Kingdom" has the same meaning as in Chapter A1 of Part 14 of ITA 2007; | 35 |
| | " | the year of return" means the tax year that consists of or includes the period of return. | 40 |

10AA Section 10A: supplementary

- Section 10A(2) does not apply to a gain or loss accruing on the disposal by the taxpayer of an asset if -
 - (a) the asset was acquired by the taxpayer in the temporary period of non-residence,

45

it was so acquired otherwise than by means of a relevant disposal that by virtue of section 58, 73 or 258(4) is treated as (2)

(3)

year A.

118

45

having been a disposal on which neither a gain nor a loss the asset is not an interest created by or arising under a settlement, and the amount or value of the consideration for the acquisition 5 of the asset by the taxpayer does not fall, by reference to any relevant disposal, to be treated as reduced under section 23(4)(b) or (5)(b), 152(1)(b), 153(1)(b), 162(3)(b) or 247(2)(b) or 10 "Relevant disposal" means a disposal of an asset acquired by the person making the disposal at a time when that person was resident in the United Kingdom and was not Treaty non-resident. Subsection (1) does not apply if – the gain is one that (ignoring section 10A) would fall to be treated by virtue of section 116(10) or (11), 134 or 154(2) or (4) 15 as accruing on the disposal of the whole or part of another asset, and that other asset meets the requirements of paragraphs (a) to (d) of subsection (1), but the asset in respect of which the gain 20 actually accrued or would actually accrue does not. Nothing in any double taxation relief arrangements is to be read as preventing the taxpayer from being chargeable to capital gains tax in respect of any chargeable gains treated under section 10A as accruing to the taxpayer in the period of return (or as preventing a 25 charge to that tax from arising as a result). Nothing in any enactment imposing any limit on the time within which an assessment to capital gains tax may be made prevents any assessment for the year of departure from being made in the taxpayer's case at any time before the end of the second anniversary of the 31 January next following the year of return (as defined in 30 section 10A)." For section 86A of TCGA 1992 substitute – "86A Attribution of gains to settlor in section 10A cases Subsection (3) applies if – chargeable gains of an amount equal to the amount referred 35 to in section 86(1)(e) for a tax year ("year A") are treated under section 10A as accruing to a settlor under section 86 in the period of return, there are amounts on which beneficiaries of the settlement are charged to tax under section 87 or 89(2) for one or more 40 tax years, each of which is earlier than the year of return, and those amounts are in respect of matched capital payments received by the beneficiaries. A "matched" capital payment is a capital payment, all or part of

which is matched under section 87A with the section 2(2) amount for

The amount of the chargeable gains mentioned in subsection (1)(a) for year A that are treated under section 10A as accruing to the settlor

10

15

20

30

35

40

under section 86 in the period of return is to be reduced by the appropriate amount.

- (4) The appropriate amount is—
 - (a) the sum of the amounts mentioned in subsection (1)(c) to the extent that the matched capital payments are matched under section 87A with the section 2(2) amount for year A, or

o) if the property comprised in the settlement has at any time included property not originating from the settlor, so much (if any) of that sum as, on a just and reasonable apportionment, is properly referable to the settlor.

- (5) If a reduction falls to be made under subsection (3) for the year of return, the deduction to be made in accordance with section 87(4)(b) for the settlement for that year must not be made until—
 - (a) all the reductions to be made under subsection (3) for that year for each settlor have been made, and
 - (b) those reductions are to be made starting with the year immediately preceding the year of return and working backwards.
- (6) Subsection (7) applies if, with respect to year A, an amount remains to be treated under section 10A as accruing to any of the settlors in the period of return after having made the reductions under subsection (3) with respect to year A.
- (7) The aggregate of the amounts remaining to be so treated (for all of the settlors) is to be applied in reducing so much of the section 2(2) amount for year A as has not already been matched with a capital payment under section 87A for any year prior to the year of return (but not so as to reduce the section 2(2) amount below zero).
- (8) In this section
 - (a) "the settlement" means the settlement in relation to which the settlor mentioned in subsection (1)(a) is a settlor,
 - (b) a reference to "the settlors" or "each settlor" is to the settlors or each settlor in relation to the settlement,
 - (c) "period of return" and "year of return" have the same meanings as in section 10A, and
 - (d) paragraph 8 of Schedule 5 applies in construing the reference to property originating from the settlor."
- In section 96 (payment by and to companies), in subsection (9A), for the words from "which in his case" to the end substitute "for which he or she was not so resident if—
 - (a) section 10A applies to him or her, and
 - (b) the year falls within the temporary period of non-residence."
- 120 (1) Section 279B (deferred unascertainable consideration: supplementary provisions) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (7), for "year of return" substitute "period of return".
 - (3) In subsection (8)(a) and (b), for "year" substitute "period".
- 121 (1) Schedule 4C (transfers of value: attribution of gains to beneficiaries) is amended as follows.

Part 4 - Anti-avoidance (2) In paragraph 6(1)(b), for "year of return" substitute "period of return". (3) In paragraph 12(1) – (a) for paragraph (a) substitute – by virtue of section 10A, an amount of chargeable gains within section 86(1)(e) that accrued in a tax 5 year ("year A") to the trustees of a settlement would be treated as accruing to a person ("the settlor") in the period of return, and", and (b) in paragraph (b), for "the intervening year" substitute "year A". (4) In paragraph 12(2), for "year of return" substitute "period of return". 10 (5) In paragraph 12A(1) – for "year of return" substitute "period of return", and (a) for "an intervening year" substitute "the temporary period of nonresidence". New special rule: lump sum payments under pension schemes etc 15 122 ITEPA 2003 is amended as follows. 123 In Chapter 2 of Part 6 (employer-financed retirement benefits), after section 394 insert -"394ATemporary non-residents This section applies if an individual is temporarily non-resident. 20 Any benefits within subsection (3) are to be treated for the purposes of section 394(1) as if they were received by the individual in the period of return. A benefit is within this subsection if – this Chapter applies to it, 25 it is in the form of a lump sum, (b) it is received by the individual in the temporary period of non-residence, and ignoring this section – no charge to tax arises by virtue of section 394(1) in 30 respect of it, but such a charge would arise if the existence of any double taxation relief arrangements disregarded. Subsection (3)(d)(i) includes a case where the charge could be 35 prevented by making a DTR claim, even if no claim is in fact made. Subsection (2) does not affect the operation of section 394(1A) (and, accordingly, "the relevant tax year" for the purposes of section 394(1A) remains the tax year in which the benefit is actually received). 40

> Nothing in any double taxation relief arrangements is to be read as preventing the individual from being chargeable to income tax in respect of any benefit treated by virtue of this section as received in

resident", and

| | Schedule 43 – Statutory residence test Part 4 – Anti-avoidance | |
|----|---|---------|
| | the period of return (or as preventing a charge to that tax from arising as a result). | |
| 5 | Part 4 of Schedule 43 to FA 2013 (statutory residence test: anti-avoidance) explains— (a) when an individual is to be regarded as "temporarily non- | (7) |
| | resident", and (b) what "the temporary period of non-residence" and "the period of return" mean. | |
| 10 | In this section — "double taxation relief arrangements" means arrangements that have effect under section 2(1) of TIOPA 2010; "DTR claim" means a claim for relief under section 6 of that Act." | (8) |
| 15 | napter 2 of Part 7A (employment income provided through third es: treatment of relevant step for income tax purposes), after section I insert— | parties |
| | A Temporary non-residents | "554Z4A |
| | This section applies if A is temporarily non-resident. | (1) |
| 20 | Any relevant step within subsection (3) is to be treated for the purposes of section 554Z2 as if it were taken in the period of return. | (2) |
| | A relevant step is within this subsection if— (a) it is the payment of a lump sum to a relevant person (see section 554C(2)), | (3) |
| 25 | (b) the lump sum is a relevant benefit provided under a relevant scheme, | |
| | (c) the step is taken in the temporary period of non-residence, and | |
| 30 | (d) ignoring this section — (i) no charge to tax arises by virtue of section 554Z2 by reason of the step, but (ii) such a charge would arise if the existence of any double taxation relief arrangements were disregarded. | |
| 35 | Subsection (3)(d)(i) includes a case where the charge could be prevented by making a DTR claim, even if no claim is in fact made. | (4) |
| 40 | Nothing in any double taxation relief arrangements is to be read as preventing A from being chargeable to income tax in respect of any relevant step treated by virtue of this section as taken in the period of return (or as preventing a charge to that tax from arising as a result). | (5) |
| | Part 4 of Schedule 43 to FA 2013 (statutory residence test: anti-avoidance) explains— | (6) |

(a) when an individual is to be regarded as "temporarily non-

what "the temporary period of non-residence" and "the period of return" mean.

In this section —

| | | \ / |
|----|--|---------|
| | "double taxation relief arrangements" means arrangements that have effect under section 2(1) of TIOPA 2010; | |
| 5 | "DTR claim" means a claim for relief under section 6 of that Act; "relevant benefit" has the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of Part 6; | |
| 10 | "relevant scheme" means an employee-financed retirement benefits scheme (within the meaning of that Chapter) or a superannuation fund to which section 615(3) of ICTA applies." | |
| | at Chapter, after section 554Z11 insert— | In tha |
| | 1A Temporary non-residents | "554Z11 |
| | This section applies if A is temporarily non-resident. | (1) |
| 15 | Any amount within subsection (3) is to be treated for the purposes of section 554Z9(2) or (as the case may be) 554Z10(2) as if it were remitted to the United Kingdom in the period of return. | (2) |
| 20 | (a) it is all or part of a relevant benefit provided to a relevant person (see section 554C(2)) under a relevant scheme,(b) it is provided in the form of the lump sum,(c) it is remitted to the United Kingdom in the temporary period of non-residence, and | (3) |
| 25 | (d) ignoring this section – (i) no charge to tax arises by virtue of section 554Z9(2) or 554Z10(2) in respect of it, but (ii) such a charge would arise by virtue of one of those sections if the existence of any double taxation relief arrangements were disregarded. | |
| 30 | Subsection (3)(d)(i) includes a case where the charge could be prevented by making a DTR claim, even if no claim is in fact made. | (4) |
| 35 | Nothing in any double taxation relief arrangements is to be read as preventing A from being chargeable to income tax in respect of any income treated by virtue of this section as remitted to the United Kingdom in the period of return (or as preventing a charge to that tax from arising as a result). | (5) |
| 40 | Part 4 of Schedule 43 to FA 2013 (statutory residence test: anti-avoidance) explains— (a) when an individual is to be regarded as "temporarily non-resident", and (b) what "the temporary period of non-residence" and "the period of return" mean. | (6) |
| 45 | "double taxation relief arrangements" means arrangements that have effect under section 2(1) of TIOPA 2010; "DTR claim" means a claim for relief under section 6 of that Act; "relevant benefit" has the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of Part 6; | (7) |

| | | "relevant scheme" means an employee-financed retirement benefits scheme (within the meaning of that Chapter) or a superannuation fund to which section 615(3) of ICTA applies; "remitted to the United Kingdom" has the same meaning as in Chapter A1 of Part 14 of ITA 2007." | 5 |
|-----|---------|--|----|
| 126 | | t Chapter, in section 554Z12 (relevant step taken after A's death etc), ubsection (8) insert — | |
| | "(9) | Section 554Z4A and section 554Z11A apply for the purposes of subsection (4) as for the purposes of section 554Z2 and section 554Z9(2) or 554Z10(2) respectively (reading references in sections 554Z4A and 554Z11A to "A" as references to "the relevant person"). | 10 |
| | (10) | But those sections do not apply for the purposes of subsection (4) if the relevant person's temporary period of non-residence began before A died." | |
| 127 | | apter 3 of Part 9 (United Kingdom pensions: general rules), after n 572 insert — | 15 |
| | "572ATe | emporary non-residents | |
| | (1) | This section applies if an individual is temporarily non-resident. | |
| | (2) | Any pension within subsection (3) is to be treated for the purposes of section 571 as if it accrued in the period of return. | 20 |
| | (3) | A pension is within this subsection if — (a) section 569 applies to it, (b) it is in the form of a lump sum, (c) it accrued in the temporary period of non-residence, and (d) ignoring this section — (i) it is not chargeable to tax under this Chapter, but (ii) it would be so chargeable if the existence of any double taxation relief arrangements were disregarded. | 25 |
| | (4) | Subsection (3)(d)(i) includes a case where the charge could be prevented by making a DTR claim, even if no claim is in fact made. | 30 |
| | (5) | Nothing in any double taxation relief arrangements is to be read as preventing the individual from being chargeable to income tax in respect of any pension treated by virtue of this section as accruing in the period of return (or as preventing a charge to that tax from arising as a result). | 35 |
| | (6) | Part 4 of Schedule 43 to FA 2013 (statutory residence test: antiavoidance) explains— (a) when an individual is to be regarded as "temporarily non-resident", and (b) what "the temporary period of non-residence" and "the period of return" mean. | 40 |
| | (7) | In this section — "double taxation relief arrangements" means arrangements that have effect under section 2(1) of TIOPA 2010; | 45 |

| "DTR | claim" | means | a | claim | for | relief | under | section | 6 | of | that |
|------|--------|-------|---|-------|-----|--------|-------|---------|---|----|------|
| Act. | ,, | | | | | | | | | | |

- 128 (1) In Chapter 1 of Part 11 (pay as you earn: introduction), section 683 is amended as follows.
 - (2) After subsection (3) insert –

10

- "(3ZA) "PAYE employment income" for a tax year does not include any taxable specific income treated as paid or received in that tax year by section 394A or 554Z4A (temporary non-residents)."
- (3) For subsection (3B) substitute
 - "(3B) "PAYE pension income" for a tax year does not include any taxable pension income that is treated as accruing in that tax year by section 572A or 579CA (temporary non-residents)."

New special rule: distributions to participators in close companies etc

- Part 4 of ITTOIA 2005 (savings and investment income) is amended as follows.
- 15

130 In Chapter 1 (introduction), after section 368 insert –

"368A Interpretation of special rules for temporary non-residents

(1) This section concerns provisions of this Part that are expressed to apply if an individual is "temporarily non-resident" ("TNR provisions").

20

- (2) Part 4 of Schedule 43 to FA 2013 (statutory residence test: anti-avoidance) explains for the purposes of TNR provisions
 - (a) when an individual is to be regarded as "temporarily non-resident", and
 - (b) what the following terms mean –

25

- (i) "the temporary period of non-residence",
- (ii) "the year of departure", and
- (iii) "the period of return".
- (3) A reference in TNR provisions to "the year of return" is to the tax year consisting of or including the period of return.

30

- (4) Nothing in any double taxation relief arrangements is to be read as preventing the individual from being chargeable to income tax by virtue of any TNR provisions (or as preventing a charge to that tax from arising as a result).
- (5) In this section and in TNR provisions, "double taxation relief arrangements" means arrangements that have effect under section 2(1) of TIOPA 2010."
- 131 In Chapter 3 (dividends etc from UK resident companies and tax credits etc

in respect of certain distributions), after section 401B insert –

401

| | "Anti-avoidance | |
|-------|---|----|
| 1C Te | mporary non-residents | |
| (1) | (a) an individual is temporarily non-resident, (b) a relevant distribution is made or treated as made to the individual in the temporary period of non-residence, (c) the tax year in which it is made or treated as made ("the distribution year") is a tax year for which the individual is UK resident, and (d) the amount of income tax charged on the distribution under this Chapter is less than it would have been if the existence of | 5 |
| (2) | double taxation relief arrangements were disregarded. Subsections (3) and (4) have effect in cases where the distribution year is not the year of return. | 15 |
| (3) | The total income (see Step 1 of the calculation in section 23 of ITA 2007) on which the individual is charged to income tax for the year of return is to be increased by an amount equal to the amount on which tax would be charged under this Chapter in respect of the distribution disregarding any double taxation relief arrangements. | 20 |
| (4) | But the notional UK tax on that distribution is to be allowed as a credit against the individual's liability to income tax for the year of return under Step 6 of the calculation in section 23. | |
| (5) | If the distribution year is the year of return, the tax charged under this Chapter in respect of the relevant distribution is to be charged and assessed without regard to the existence of double taxation relief arrangements. | 25 |
| (6) | For the purposes of this section, a dividend or other distribution is a "relevant distribution" if— (a) it is a dividend or other distribution of a close company, and (b) it is made or treated as made to the individual because the individual was at a relevant time— (i) a material participator in the company, or (ii) an associate of a material participator in the company. | 30 |
| (7) | But a dividend or other distribution within subsection (6) in the form of a cash dividend is not a "relevant distribution" to the extent that the dividend is paid in respect of post-departure trade profits. | 35 |
| (8) | "Post-departure trade profits" are— (a) trade profits of the close company arising in an accounting period that begins after the start of the temporary period of non-residence, and | 40 |

(b) so much of any trade profits of the close company arising in

basis) to a time after the start of that temporary period.

an accounting period that straddles the start of that temporary period as is attributable (on a just and reasonable

| milli moom | nee . | |
|------------------|--|--|
| (9) | The extent to which a dividend is paid in respect of post-departure trade profits is to be determined on a just and reasonable basis. | |
| (10) | The "notional UK tax" on the relevant distribution is so much of the income tax paid by the individual for the distribution year as is attributable on a just and reasonable basis to the relevant distribution. | |
| (11) | If section 393 applies, references in this section to a distribution being made to the individual are to a cash dividend being paid over to the individual. | |
| (12) | In this section — | |
| | "associate" and "participator" have the same meanings as in Part 10 of CTA 2010 (see sections 448 and 454); | |
| | "material participator" means a participator who has a material interest in the company, as defined in section 457 of that Act; | |
| | "relevant time" means — | |
| | (a) any time in the year of departure or, if the year of departure is a split year as respects the individual, the UK part of that year, or | |
| | (b) any time in one or more of the 3 tax years preceding that year; | |
| | "trade profits of the close company" means the profits of any trade carried on by the close company, as calculated in accordance with Part 3 of CTA 2009 (trading income)." | |
| In Cha insert | apter 4 (dividends from non-UK resident companies), after section 408 | |
| | "Anti-avoidance | |
| 408A Te | emporary non-residents | |
| (1) | This section applies if an individual is temporarily non-resident. | |
| (2) | Dividends within subsection (3) are to be treated for the purposes of this Chapter as if they were received by the individual, or as if the individual became entitled to them, in the period of return. | |
| (3) | A dividend is within this subsection if — | |
| | (a) the individual receives or becomes entitled to it in the temporary period of non-residence, | |
| | (b) it is a dividend of a company that would be a close company if the company were UK resident, | |
| | (c) the individual receives or becomes entitled to it by virtue of being at a relevant time— | |
| | (i) a material participator in the company, or | |
| | (ii) an associate of a material participator in the company, and | |
| | (d) ignoring this section, the individual – | |

is not liable for tax under this Chapter in respect of the dividend, but

10

15

25

30

35

40

45

- (ii) would have been so liable if the individual had received the dividend, or become entitled to it, in the period of return.
- (4) For the purposes of subsection (3)
 - (a) "associate" and "participator" have the same meanings as in Part 10 of CTA 2010 (see sections 448 and 454),
 - (b) a "material participator" is a participator who has a material interest in the company, as defined in section 457 of that Act,
 - (c) "relevant time" means
 - (i) any time in the year of departure or, if the year of departure is a split year as respects the individual, the UK part of that year, or
 - (ii) any time in one or more of the 3 tax years preceding that year, and
 - (d) paragraph (d)(i) includes a case where the individual could be relieved of liability on the making of a claim under section 6 of TIOPA 2010 (double taxation relief), even if no claim is in fact made.
- (5) If section 809B, 809D or 809E of ITA 2007 (remittance basis) applies to the individual for the year of return, any dividend within subsection (3) that was remitted to the United Kingdom in the temporary period of non-residence is to be treated as remitted to the United Kingdom in the period of return.
- (6) This section does not apply to a dividend within subsection (3) to the extent that it is paid in respect of post-departure trade profits.
- (7) "Post-departure trade profits" are
 - (a) trade profits of the company arising in an accounting period that begins after the start of the temporary period of non-residence, and
 - (b) so much of any trade profits of the company arising in an accounting period that straddles the start of that temporary period as is attributable (on a just and reasonable basis) to a time after the start of that temporary period.
- (8) The extent to which a dividend is paid in respect of post-departure trade profits is to be determined on a just and reasonable basis.
- (9) If section 406 or 407 applies, references in this section to a dividend being received by the individual are to a cash dividend being paid over to the individual or (as the case may be) a dividend being treated as paid to the individual.
- (10) In this section –

"remitted to the United Kingdom" has the meaning given in Chapter A1 of Part 14 of ITA 2007;

"trade profits of the company" means the profits of any trade carried on by the company, as they would be calculated in accordance with Part 3 of CTA 2009 (trading income) if the company were UK resident."

In Chapter 5 (stock dividends from UK resident companies), after section

413 insert

"413

| 13 111 | sert— | | |
|------------|-------------------------------------|--|----------|
| ATe | mporai | ry non-residents | |
| (1) | This so (a) (b) | an individual is temporarily non-resident, relevant stock dividend income is treated under this Chapter as arising to the individual in the temporary period of non-residence, | 5 |
| | (c) (d) | the tax year in which it is treated as arising ("the arising year") is a tax year for which the individual is UK resident, and the amount of income tax charged on the relevant stock dividend income under this Chapter is less than it would have been if the existence of double taxation relief | 10 |
| (2) | | arrangements were disregarded. ctions (3) and (4) have effect in cases where the arising year is e year of return. | 15 |
| (3) | 2007) of retu which releva | on which the individual is charged to income tax for the year arn is to be increased by an amount equal to the amount on tax would be charged under this Chapter in respect of the nt stock dividend income disregarding any double taxation arrangements. | 20 |
| (4) | be allo | e notional UK tax on that relevant stock dividend income is to owed as a credit against the individual's liability to income tax e year of return under Step 6 of the calculation in section 23. | 25 |
| (5) | Chapt charge | arising year is the year of return, the tax charged under this er in respect of the relevant stock dividend income is to be ed and assessed without regard to the existence of double on relief arrangements. | |
| (6) | Stock (a) (b) | dividend income is "relevant stock dividend income" if— the UK resident company that issues the share capital or bonus share capital is a close company, and the individual is beneficially entitled to that share capital or bonus share capital by virtue of being at a relevant time— (i) a material participator in the company, or (ii) an associate of a material participator in the company. | 30 35 |
| (7) | stock | ock dividend income within subsection (6) is not "relevant dividend income" to the extent that the share capital or bonus capital is issued in respect of post-departure trade profits. | |
| (8) | "Post- | departure trade profits" are— | 40 |

(a) trade profits of the close company arising in an accounting period that begins after the start of the temporary period of

(b) so much of any trade profits of the close company arising in

basis) to a time after the start of that temporary period.

an accounting period that straddles the start of that temporary period as is attributable (on a just and reasonable

non-residence, and

10

15

20

25

30

35

- (9) The extent to which share capital or bonus share capital is issued in respect of post-departure trade profits is to be determined on a just and reasonable basis.
- (10) The "notional UK tax" on the relevant stock dividend income is so much of the income tax paid by the individual for the arising year as is attributable on a just and reasonable basis to that income.

(11) In this section—

"associate" and "participator" have the same meanings as in Part 10 of CTA 2010 (see sections 448 and 454);

"material participator" means a participator who has a material interest in the company, as defined in section 457 of that Act; "relevant time" means—

- (a) any time in the year of departure or, if the year of departure is a split year as respects the individual, the UK part of that year, or
- (b) any time in one or more of the 3 tax years preceding that year;

"trade profits of the close company" means the profits of any trade carried on by the close company, as calculated in accordance with Part 3 of CTA 2009 (trading income)."

In Chapter 6 (release of loan to participator in close company), after section 420 insert —

"420ATemporary non-residents

- (1) This section applies if an individual is temporarily non-resident.
- (2) Debts within subsection (3) are to be treated for the purposes of this Chapter as if they had been released or written off in the period of return.
- (3) A debt is within this subsection if
 - (a) it is the debt, or a part of the debt, in respect of a loan or advance made by a company to the individual,
 - (b) it is released or written off in the temporary period of non-residence, and
 - (c) ignoring this section, the individual
 - (i) is not liable for tax under this Chapter in respect of the release or write-off, but
 - (ii) would have been so liable, had the release or write-off taken place in the period of return.
- (4) Subsection (3)(c)(i) includes a case where the individual could be relieved of liability on the making of a claim under section 6 of TIOPA 2010 (double taxation relief), even if no claim is in fact made."
- In Chapter 8 of Part 5 of that Act (income not otherwise charged), after section 689 insert –

"689ATemporary non-residents

(1) This section applies if an individual is temporarily non-resident.

"812ATemporary non-residents

This section applies if —

(a) an individual is temporarily non-resident,

| (2) | of this | outions within subsection (3) are to be treated for the purposes Chapter as if they had been received by the individual, or as individual had become entitled to them, in the period of return. | |
|-----|-----------------------------|--|----|
| (3) | A distr (a) (b) | the individual receives or becomes entitled to it in the temporary period of non-residence, it is a distribution of a company that is a close company or that would be a close company if the company were UK resident, | 5 |
| | (c) | the individual receives or becomes entitled to the distribution by virtue of being at a relevant time— (i) a material participator in the company, or (ii) an associate of a material participator in the company, and | 10 |
| | (d) | ignoring this section, the individual — (i) is not liable for tax under this Chapter in respect of the distribution, but | 15 |
| | | (ii) would have been so liable if the individual had received the distribution, or become entitled to it, in the period of return. | 20 |
| (4) | (a) | e purposes of subsection (3) — "associate" and "participator" have the same meanings as in Part 10 of CTA 2010 (see sections 448 and 454), | |
| | (b) | a "material participator" is a participator who has a material interest in the company, as defined in section 457 of that Act, | 25 |
| | (c) | "relevant time" means — (i) any time in the year of departure or, if the year of departure is a split year as respects the individual, the UK part of that year, or | |
| | | (ii) any time in one or more of the 3 tax years preceding that year, and | 30 |
| | (d) | paragraph (d)(i) includes a case where the individual could be relieved of liability on the making of a claim under section 6 of TIOPA 2010 (double taxation relief), even if no claim is in fact made. | 35 |
| (5) | to the subsect United | on 809B, 809D or 809E of ITA 2007 (remittance basis) applies individual for the year of return, any distribution within tion (3) that is relevant foreign income and is remitted to the Kingdom in the temporary period of non-residence is to be as remitted to the United Kingdom in the period of return. | 40 |
| (6) | | section, "remitted to the United Kingdom" has the meaning n Chapter A1 of Part 14 of ITA 2007." | |
| | | of Part 14 of ITA 2007 (limits on liability to income tax of non- after section 812 insert — | |
| | // | | |

basis –

| | | Part 4 – Anti-avoidance | |
|-----|------------------|---|----|
| | (b) | the individual's liability to income tax for a tax year is limited under section 811, | |
| | (c) | that tax year ("the non-resident year") falls within the temporary period of non-residence, and | |
| | (d) | the individual's income for that tax year includes relevant investment income. | 5 |
| (2) | the in | otal income (see Step 1 of the calculation in section 23) on which dividual is charged to income tax for the year of return is to be sed by an amount equal to the amount of that relevant ement income. | 10 |
| (3) | allow | ne notional UK tax on that relevant investment income is to be ed as a credit against the individual's liability to income tax for ear of return under Step 6 of the calculation in section 23. | |
| (4) | (a) | it is chargeable under Chapter 3 or 5 of Part 4 of ITTOIA 2005 (dividends etc from UK resident companies and stock dividends from UK resident companies), | 15 |
| | (b) (c) | the distributing company is a close company, and the income arises or is treated as arising to the individual because the individual was at a relevant time— (i) a material participator in that company, or (ii) an associate of a material participator in the company. | 20 |
| (5) | divide divide | ncome within subsection (4) in the form of a cash or stock end is not "relevant investment income" to the extent that the end is paid, or the share capital is issued, in respect of post- ture trade profits. | 25 |
| (6) | (a) | accounting period that begins after the start of the temporary period of non-residence, and | 30 |
| | (b) | so much of any trade profits of the distributing company arising in an accounting period that straddles the start of that temporary period as is attributable (on a just and reasonable basis) to a time after the start of that temporary period. | |
| (7) | The "1 (a) | the total of any sums in respect of that income that were included within amount A in determining the limit under section 811, less | 35 |
| | (b) | any credit for foreign tax paid in respect of that income that was allowed under Chapter 2 of Part 2 of TIOPA 2010 against the individual's liability to income tax for the non-resident year. | 40 |
| (8) | The fo | ollowing matters are to be determined on a just and reasonable | |

(a) the extent to which a dividend is paid, or share capital is

the extent to which a sum included within amount A is a sum

issued, in respect of post-departure trade profits, and

in respect of relevant investment income.

| | (9) | Nothing in any double taxation arrangements is to be read as preventing the individual from being chargeable to income tax by virtue of this section (or as preventing a charge to that tax from arising as a result). | |
|----------|----------------|--|-----|
| | (10) | Part 4 of Schedule 43 to FA 2013 (statutory residence test: anti-avoidance) explains — | 5 |
| | | (a) when an individual is to be regarded as "temporarily non-resident", and | |
| | | (b) what "the temporary period of non-residence", "the year of departure" and "the period of return" mean. | 10 |
| | (11) | In this section— | |
| | | "associate" and "participator" have the same meanings as in Part 10 of CTA 2010 (see sections 448 and 454); | |
| | | "the distributing company" means the UK resident company mentioned in section 383(1) or, as the case may be, 410(1) of ITTOIA 2005; | 15 |
| | | "material participator" means a participator who has a material interest in the company, as defined in section 457 of CTA | |
| | | 2010; "relevant time" means— | 20 |
| | | (a) any time in the year of departure or, if the year of departure is a split year as respects the individual, the UK part of that year, or | |
| | | (b) any time in one or more of the 3 tax years preceding | 25 |
| | | that year; "trade profits of the distributing company" means the profits of any trade carried on by the distributing company, as calculated in accordance with Part 3 of CTA 2009 (trading income); | |
| | | "year of return" means the tax year consisting of or including the period of return." | 30 |
| New spec | cial rule: | chargeable event gains | |
| 137 | | er 9 of Part 4 of ITTOIA 2005 (gains from contracts for life insurance amended as follows. | |
| 138 | After s | section 465A insert — | 35 |
| 6 | '465BTe | mporary non-residents | |
| | (1) | This section applies if an individual is temporarily non-resident. | |
| | (2) | The individual is liable for tax under this Chapter for the year of return in respect of any gain that meets the conditions in subsection (3). | 40 |
| | (3) | The conditions are — | |
| | | (a) the gain arose in the temporary period of non-residence,(b) it arose from a policy issued in respect of an insurance made, | |
| | | or from a contract made, before the start of that period, | . = |
| | | (c) the chargeable event giving rise to it was neither a death nor a chargeable event treated as occurring under section 525(2), | 45 |

| | Schedule 43 – Statutory residence test Part 4 – Anti-avoidance | |
|----------|---|-----|
| 5 | (d) no-one is liable under section 466 or 467 in respect of the gain, (e) no-one is liable by virtue of section 468 for either the year of return or an earlier tax year as a result of the gain, and (f) the individual would have been liable under section 465 in respect of the gain, applying the assumptions in subsection (4). | |
| | The assumptions are — | (4) |
| | (a) the individual was UK resident for the tax year in which the gain arose, and | , |
| 10 | (b) that tax year was not a split year as respects the individual. | |
| | If the individual is liable by virtue of subsection (2) in respect of a gain — | (5) |
| 15 | (a) the amount of the gain in respect of which he or she is liable is the amount on which tax would have been charged under this Chapter applying the assumptions in subsection (4), but(b) in determining that amount, section 528 must be applied ignoring those assumptions. | |
| | That amount is treated as income of the individual for the year of return. | (6) |
| 20 25 | If the gain arises from a policy or contract treated under section 473A as a single policy or contract, the date, for the purposes of subsection (3)(b), on which the insurance or contract is made is the date on which the first insurance is made in respect of which the connected policies were issued or, as the case may be, the date on which the first of the connected contracts is made. | (7) |
| | This section does not apply to a gain if— (a) in relation to the policy or contract from which the gain arises, a terminal event occurs in the temporary period of non-residence or in the period of return, | (8) |
| 30 | (b) the chargeable event giving rise to the gain occurred before that terminal event, | |
| | (c) the chargeable event giving rise to the gain is one that is treated as occurring under section 509(1) as a result of the application of section 498(1)(a), | |
| 35 | (d) section 498(1)(a) applies other than by virtue of section 500, and | |
| | (e) a person (whether or not the individual) is liable for tax under this Chapter (including by virtue of this section) in respect of any gain resulting from the terminal event. | |
| 40 | Nothing in any double taxation relief arrangements is to be read as preventing the individual from being liable for tax under this | (9) |

tax on that gain from arising under this Chapter). Part 4 of Schedule 43 to FA 2013 (statutory residence test: antiavoidance) explains –

Chapter in respect of any gain in respect of which the individual is liable for tax by virtue of subsection (2) (or as preventing a charge to

(a) when an individual is to be regarded as "temporarily nonresident", and

| <u>ruri 4 – </u> | Ami-aconaince |
|------------------|--|
| | (b) what "the temporary period of non-residence" and "the period of return" mean. |
| | (11) In this section —"terminal event" means an event mentioned in section 499(3);"year of return" means the tax year that consists of or includes the period of return." |
| 139 | In section 468 (non-UK resident trustees and foreign institutions), after subsection (6) insert — |
| | "(7) This section does not apply if someone is liable under section 465B in respect of the gain." |
| 140 | In section 514 (chargeable events where transaction-related calculations show gains), after subsection (4) insert — |
| | "(4A) Subsection (3)(b) includes a case where a person would be liable to tax on the gain under section 465B for the tax year in which the transaction occurs (because the transaction occurs in the year of return, as defined in that section)." |
| 141 | In section 541 (calculation of deficiencies), in subsection (4)(b), after "that section" insert "or formed part of the total income of that individual by virtue of section 465B for the tax year mentioned in section 539(1)". |
| 142 | In section 552 of ICTA (information: duties of insurers), in subsection (13), for "section 541A" substitute "section 465B or 541A". |
| | Part 5 |
| | Miscellaneous |
| Interpre | etation |
| 143 | In this Schedule — "corporation tax" includes any amount assessable or chargeable as if it were corporation tax; "country" includes a state or territory; |
| | "cross-border trip" is defined in paragraph 30; "double taxation arrangements" means arrangements that have effect under section 2(1) of TIOPA 2010; |
| | "employment" – (a) has the meaning given in section 4 of ITEPA 2003, and (b) includes an office within the meaning of section 5(3) of that Act; |
| | "enactment" means an enactment whenever passed (including this Act) and includes — |
| | (a) an Act of the Scottish Parliament, |
| | (b) a Measure or Act of the National Assembly for Wales, (c) any Northern Ireland legislation as defined by section 24(5) of the Interpretation Act 1978, and |
| | of the Interpretation Act 1978, and (d) any Orders in Council, orders, rules, regulations, schemes warrants, byelaws and other instruments made under an |

| | enactment (including anything mentioned in paragraphs (a) | |
|-------|--|----|
| | to (c) of this definition); | |
| | "home" is to be construed in accordance with paragraph 25; | |
| | "individual" means an individual acting in any capacity (including as trustee or personal representative); | 5 |
| | "overseas" means anywhere outside the UK; | |
| | "parenting leave" means maternity leave, paternity leave, adoption leave or parental leave (whether statutory or otherwise); | |
| | "relevant job on board a vehicle, aircraft or ship" is defined in paragraph 30; | 10 |
| | "ship" includes any kind of vessel (including a hovercraft); | |
| | "significant break from overseas work" is defined in paragraph 29; | |
| | "significant break from UK work" is defined in paragraph 29; | |
| | "split year", as respects an individual, means a tax year that is, as respects that individual, a split year within the meaning of Part 3 of this Schedule; | 15 |
| | "trade" also includes – | |
| | (a) a profession or vocation, | |
| | (b) anything that is treated as a trade for income tax purposes, and | 20 |
| | (c) the commercial occupation of woodlands (within the meaning of section 11(2) of ITTOIA 2005); | |
| | "work" is defined in paragraph 26; | |
| | "UK" means the United Kingdom, including the territorial sea of the United Kingdom; "UK tis" is defined in paragraph 21: | 25 |
| | "UK tie" is defined in paragraph 31; "whole month" means the whole of January, the whole of February and | |
| | so on, except that the period from the start of a tax year to the end of April is to count as a whole month. | |
| 144 | In relation to an individual who carries on a trade— | 30 |
| | (a) a reference in this Schedule to annual leave or parenting leave is to reasonable amounts of time off from work for the same purposes as the purposes for which annual leave or parenting leave is taken, and | |
| | (b) what are "reasonable amounts" is to be assessed having regard to the annual leave or parenting leave to which an employee might reasonably expect to be entitled if doing similar work. | 35 |
| 145 | A reference in this Schedule to a number of days being less than a specified number includes a case where the number of days is zero. | |
| Conse | equential amendments | |
| 146 | (1) TCGA 1992 is amended as follows. | 40 |
| | (2) Omit section 9. | |
| | (3) In section 288 (interpretation) — | |
| | (a) in subsection (1), insert the following definition at the appropriate place — | |
| | ""resident" means resident in accordance with the statutory residence test in Part 1 of Schedule 43 to the Finance Act 2013;", and | 45 |

20

25

30

35

40

45

| ru | 113 - IVI | isceituneoi | 15 | | | |
|----|-----------|-------------|----|--|--|--|
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

- (b) in the Table in subsection (8), omit the entry for the expressions "resident" and "ordinarily resident".
- In section 27 of ITEPA 2003 (UK-based earnings for year when employee not UK resident), in subsection (1), for "in which" substitute "for which".
- In section 465 of ITTOIA 2005 (gains from contracts for life insurance etc: liability of individuals), in subsection (1), for "in the tax year" substitute "for the tax year".
- 149 (1) Chapter 4 of Part 2 of FA 2005 (trusts with vulnerable beneficiary) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In section 28 (vulnerable person's liability: VQTI), for subsection (4) 10 substitute—
 - "(4) Where the vulnerable person is non-UK resident for the tax year, his or her income tax liability for the purposes of determining TLV1 and TLV2 is to be computed in accordance with the Income Tax Acts on the assumption that—
 - (a) he or she is UK resident for the tax year,
 - (b) that year is not, as respects him or her, a split year within the meaning of Part 3 of Schedule 43 to FA 2013, and
 - (c) he or she is domiciled in the United Kingdom throughout that year."
 - (3) In section 30 (qualifying trusts gains: special capital gains tax treatment)
 - (a) in subsection (2)(a) and (b), for "during" substitute "for", and
 - (b) omit subsection (5).
 - (4) In section 31 (UK resident vulnerable persons: amount of relief), in subsection (1), for "during" substitute "for".
 - (5) In section 32 (non-UK resident vulnerable persons: amount of relief), in subsection (1), for "during" substitute "for".
 - (6) In section 41
 - (a) in subsection (1), insert the following definitions in the appropriate places –

""non-UK resident" means not resident in the United Kingdom in accordance with the statutory residence test in Part 1 of Schedule 43 to FA 2013,", and

- ""UK resident" means resident in the United Kingdom in accordance with the statutory residence test in Part 1 of Schedule 43 to FA 2013.", and
- (b) omit subsection (2).
- 150 (1) ITA 2007 is amended as follows.
 - (2) In section 809B (claim for remittance basis to apply), in subsection (1)(a), for "in that year" substitute "for that year".
 - (3) In section 809D (application of remittance basis without claim where unremitted foreign income and gains under £2,000), in subsection (1)(a), for "in that year" substitute "for that year".
 - (4) In section 809E (application of remittance basis without claim: other cases), in subsection (1)(a), for "in that year" substitute "for that year".

10

15

25

30

35

45

- (5) In section 810 (limits on liability to income tax of non-UK residents: overview of Chapter), after subsection (3) insert
 - "(4) In relation to an individual
 - (a) a reference in this Chapter to a non-UK resident's liability to income tax is a reference to the liability of someone who is non-UK resident for the tax year for which the liability arises, and
 - b) accordingly, enactments under which income arising to a UK resident in the overseas part of a split year is treated as arising to a non-UK resident are of no relevance to this Chapter."
- (6) Omit sections 829 to 832.

Commencement

- 151 (1) Parts 1 and 2 of this Schedule have effect for determining whether individuals are resident or not resident in the UK for the tax year 2013-14 or any subsequent tax year.
 - (2) Part 3 of this Schedule has effect in calculating an individual's liability to income tax or capital gains tax for the tax year 2013-14 or any subsequent tax year.
 - (3) Part 4 of this Schedule has effect if the year of departure (as defined in that Part) is the tax year 2013-14 or a subsequent tax year.

Transitional and saving provision

- 152 (1) This paragraph applies if
 - (a) year X or, in Part 3 of this Schedule, the relevant year is the tax year 2013-14, 2014-15 or 2015-16, and
 - (b) it is necessary to determine under this Schedule whether an individual was resident or not resident in the UK for a tax year before the tax year 2013-14 (a "pre-commencement tax year").
 - (2) The question under this Schedule is to be determined in accordance with the rules in force for determining an individual's residence for that precommencement tax year (and not in accordance with the statutory residence test).
 - (3) But an individual may by notice in writing to Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs elect, as respects one or more pre-commencement tax years, for the question under this Schedule to be determined instead in accordance with the statutory residence test.
 - (4) A notice under sub-paragraph (3)
 - (a) must be given no later than the first anniversary of the end of year X or, in a Part 3 case, the relevant year, and
 - (b) is irrevocable. 40
 - (5) Unless, in relation to a pre-commencement tax year, an election is made under sub-paragraph (3) as respects that year
 - (a) paragraph 10(b) of this Schedule has effect in relation to that year as if the words "by virtue of meeting the automatic residence test" were omitted, and

| | | (b) paragraph 16 of this Schedule has effect in relation to that year as if — (i) in sub-paragraph (1)(b), the words "because P met the third automatic overseas test for each of those years" were omitted, and (ii) in sub-paragraph (2)(a), the words "because P met the third automatic overseas test for that year" were omitted. | 5 | | | | | |
|-----|-----|--|----|--|--|--|--|--|
| 153 | (1) | This paragraph applies if — | | | | | | |
| 100 | (1) | (a) year X or, for Part 3 of this Schedule, the tax year for which an individual's liability to tax is being calculated is the tax year 2013-14 or a subsequent tax year, and (b) it is necessary to determine under a provision of this Schedule, or a | 10 | | | | | |
| | | provision inserted by Part 3 of this Schedule, whether a tax year before the tax year 2013-14 (a "pre-commencement tax year") was a split year as respects the individual. | | | | | | |
| | (2) | The provision is to have effect as if — | 15 | | | | | |
| | | (a) the reference to a split year were to a tax year to which the relevant ESC applied, and | | | | | | |
| | | (b) any reference to the UK part or the overseas part of such a year were to the part corresponding as far as possible, in accordance with the terms of the relevant ESC, to the UK part or the overseas part of a split year. | 20 | | | | | |
| | (3) | Where the provision also refers to cases involving actual or deemed departure from the UK, the reference is to be read and given effect so far as possible in accordance with the terms of the relevant ESC. | | | | | | |
| | (4) | "The relevant ESC" means whichever of the extra-statutory concessions to which effect is given by Part 3 of this Schedule is relevant in the individual's case. | 25 | | | | | |
| 154 | (1) | This paragraph applies in determining whether the test in paragraph 108(1)(c) is met in relation to a tax year before the tax year 2013-14 (a "precommencement tax year"). | 30 | | | | | |
| | (2) | Paragraph 108(1) is to have effect as if for paragraph (c) there were substituted – | | | | | | |
| | | "(c) at least 4 out of the 7 tax years immediately preceding the year of departure was a tax year meeting the following conditions — (i) the individual was resident in the UK for that year, | 35 | | | | | |
| | | and (ii) there was no time in that year when the individual was Treaty non-resident (see paragraph 110(3))." | | | | | | |
| | (3) | Whether an individual was resident in the UK for a pre-commencement tax year is to be determined in accordance with the rules in force for determining an individual's residence for that pre-commencement tax year (and not in accordance with the statutory residence test). | 40 | | | | | |
| 155 | (1) | The existing temporary non-resident provisions, as in force immediately before the day on which this Act is passed, continue to have effect on and after that day in any case where the year of departure (as defined in Part 4 of this Schedule) is a tax year before the tax year 2013-14. | 45 | | | | | |

| | 1 wit o Princetanicous | | | | |
|----|---|------|--|--|--|
| | (2) Where those provisions continue to have effect by virtue of sub-paragraph (1) – | | | | |
| 5 | (a) the question of whether a person is or is not resident in the UK for the tax year 2013-14 or a subsequent tax year is to be determined for the purposes of those provisions in accordance with Part 1 of this Schedule, but(b) the effect of Part 3 is to be ignored. | | | | |
| 10 | (3) The existing temporary non-resident provisions are — (a) section 10A of TCGA 1992 (chargeable gains), (b) section 576A of ITEPA 2003 (income withdrawals under certain foreign pensions), (c) section 579CA of that Act (income withdrawals under registered pension schemes), and (d) section 832A of ITTOIA (relevant foreign income charged on | | | | |
| 15 | (d) section 832A of ITTOIA (relevant foreign income charged on remittance basis). | | | | |
| | Section 13 of FA 2012 (Champions League final 2013) is to be read and given effect, on and after the day on which this Act is passed, as if section 215 and this Schedule had not been enacted. | 156 | | | |
| | SCHEDULE 44 Section 216 | | | | |
| 20 | Ordinary residence | | | | |
| | PART 1 | | | | |
| | INCOME TAX AND CAPITAL GAINS TAX: REMITTANCE BASIS OF TAXATION | | | | |
| | nittance basis restricted to non-doms | Remi | | | |
| | Chapter A1 of Part 14 of ITA 2007 (remittance basis) is amended as follows. | 1 | | | |
| 25 | In section 809A (overview of Chapter), omit "or are not ordinarily UK resident". | | | | |
| 30 | In section 809B (claim for remittance basis to apply) – (a) in subsection (1)(b), omit "or is not ordinarily UK resident in that year", and (b) omit subsection (2). | 3 | | | |
| 35 | In section 809D (application of remittance basis without claim where unremitted foreign income and gains under £2,000)— (a) in subsection (1)(b), omit "or is not ordinarily UK resident in that year", and (b) in subsection (1A), omit "the individual is not domiciled in the | 4 | | | |
| | United Kingdom in that year and". | | | | |

In section 809E (application of remittance basis without claim: other cases), in subsection (1)(b), omit "or is not ordinarily UK resident in that year".

| Treat | men | t of relev | vant foreign earnings | |
|-------|-----|----------------|---|----|
| 6 | | ITEPA | 2003 is amended as follows. | |
| 7 | (1) | applie | tion 22 (chargeable overseas earnings for year when remittance basis s and employee ordinarily UK resident), in subsection (1), for raph (b) substitute— "(b) the employee does not meet the requirement of section 26A for that year." | 5 |
| | (2) | Accord (a) (b) | dingly— in the heading of that section, for "ordinarily UK resident" substitute "outside section 26", and in the italicised heading before that section, for "UK ordinarily resident employees" substitute "employees outside section 26". | 10 |
| 8 | | | tion 23 (calculation of "chargeable overseas earnings"), in subsection r paragraph (aa) substitute— "(aa) the employee does not meet the requirement of section 26A for that year,". | 15 |
| 9 | (1) | emplo | tion 26 (foreign earnings for year when remittance basis applies and yee not ordinarily UK resident), in subsection (1), for "is not ordinarily sident in" substitute "meets the requirement of section 26A for". | |
| | (2) | Accord (a) (b) | dingly— in the heading of that section, for "not ordinarily UK resident" substitute "meets section 26A requirement", and in the italicised heading before that section, for "not UK ordinarily resident" substitute "who meet section 26A requirement". | 20 |
| 10 | | After t | that section insert – | 25 |
| | " | 26A Se | ction 26: requirement for 3-year period of non-residence | |
| | | (1) | An employee meets the requirement of this section for a tax year if the employee was— (a) non-UK resident for the previous 3 tax years, or | |
| | | | (b) UK resident for the previous tax year but non-UK resident for the 3 tax years before that, or(c) UK resident for the previous 2 tax years but non-UK resident for the 3 tax years before that, or | 30 |
| | | | (d) non-UK resident for the previous tax year, UK resident for the tax year before that and non-UK resident for the 3 tax years before that. | 35 |
| | | (2) | The residence status of the employee before the 3 years of non-UK residence is not relevant for these purposes." | |
| 11 | (1) | Section | n 41C (foreign securities income) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In sub | section (4), for paragraph (b) substitute— | 40 |

the individual does not meet the requirement of section 26A for the year (reading references there to the employee as references to the individual),".

10

15

20

25

35

40

- (3) In subsection (6), for paragraph (b) substitute
 - "(b) the individual meets the requirement of section 26A for the year (reading references there to the employee as references to the individual), and".
- In section 271 (limited exemption of removal benefits and expenses: general), in subsection (2)
 - (a) in paragraph (a), for "ordinarily UK resident" substitute "outside section 26", and
 - (b) in paragraph (b), for "not ordinarily UK resident" substitute "meets section 26A requirement".
- 13 (1) In section 554Z9 (remittance basis: A is ordinarily UK resident), in subsection (1), for paragraph (c) substitute—
 - "(c) A does not meet the requirement of section 26A for the relevant tax year (reading references there to the employee as references to A),".
 - (2) Accordingly, in the heading of that section, for "A is ordinarily UK resident" substitute "A does not meet section 26A requirement".
- 14 (1) In section 554Z10 (remittance basis: A is not ordinarily resident), in subsection (1), for paragraph (c) substitute—
 - "(c) A meets the requirement of section 26A for the relevant tax year (reading references there to the employee as references to A)."
 - (2) Accordingly, in the heading of that section, for "A is not ordinarily resident" substitute "A meets section 26A requirement".
- 15 (1) Section 690 (employee non-resident etc) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (1), for paragraph (a) substitute—

 "(a) is either non-UK resident for the tax year or is UK resident but meets the requirement of section 26A for the tax year, and".
 - (3) In subsection (2A), for "but not ordinarily resident in a tax year" substitute "for a tax year but not domiciled in the United Kingdom in that tax year".

Consequential amendments

- In section 266A of ICTA (life assurance premiums paid by employer), in subsection (8)
 - (a) in paragraph (a), for "employee resident and ordinarily resident, but not domiciled, in UK" substitute "remittance basis applies and employee outside section 26", and
 - (b) in paragraph (b), for "employee resident, but not ordinarily resident, in UK" substitute "remittance basis applies and employee meets section 26A requirement".
- In section 12 of TCGA 1992 (non-UK domiciled individuals to whom remittance basis applies), for subsection (1) substitute
 - "(1) This section applies to foreign chargeable gains accruing to an individual in a tax year ("the foreign chargeable gains") if section

Part 1 – Income tax and capital gains tax: remittance basis of taxation

563

| 809B, 809D or 809E of ITA | 2007 | (remittance | basis) | applies | to | the |
|----------------------------|------|-------------|--------|---------|----|-----|
| individual for that year." | | | | | | |

5

10

15

20

30

35

- 18 In section 87B of that Act (section 87: remittance basis), in subsection (1) –
 - insert "and" at the end of paragraph (a),
 - omit "and" at the end of paragraph (b), and
 - omit paragraph (c).
- 19 In section 726 of ITA 2007 (non-UK domiciled individuals to whom remittance basis applies), for subsection (1) substitute –
 - This section applies in relation to income treated under section 721 as arising to an individual in a tax year ("the deemed income") if section 809B, 809D or 809E (remittance basis) applies to the individual for that year."
- 20 In section 730 of that Act (non-UK domiciled individuals to whom remittance basis applies), for subsection (1) substitute –
 - This section applies in relation to income treated under section 728 as arising to an individual in a tax year ("the deemed income") if section 809B, 809D or 809E (remittance basis) applies to the individual for that year."
- 21 In section 735 of that Act (non-UK domiciled individuals to whom remittance basis applies), for subsection (1) substitute –
 - This section applies in relation to income treated under section 732 as arising to an individual in a tax year ("the deemed income") if section 809B, 809D or 809E (remittance basis) applies to the individual for that year."
- 22 In section 809F of that Act (effect on what is chargeable), in subsection (4), 25 for "If the individual is not domiciled in the United Kingdom in that year, the" substitute "The".
- 23 In section 809YD of that Act (chargeable gains accruing on sales of exempt property), in subsection (3), omit "and P is not domiciled in the United Kingdom in that year".
- 24 In section 809Z7 of that Act (meaning of "foreign income and gains" etc) –
 - in subsection (2)(d), omit "if the individual is not domiciled in the United Kingdom in that year,", and
 - in subsection (3)(a), for "is ordinarily UK resident in" substitute "does not meet the requirement of section 26A of ITEPA 2003 for".

Commencement

25 The amendments made by this Part of this Schedule have effect in relation to an individual's foreign income and gains for the tax year 2013-14 or any subsequent tax year.

40 Savings

- (1) This paragraph applies to an individual who—
 - (a) was not resident in the United Kingdom for the tax year 2009-10,
 - is resident there for the tax year 2012-13, but

| | Part 1 – Income tax and capital gains tax: remittance basis of taxation |
|--------|---|
| | (c) is not ordinarily resident there at the end of the tax year 2012-13. |
| | Enactments relating to income tax or capital gains tax have effect, in relation to any eligible foreign income and gains of the individual, as if the amendments made by this Part of this Schedule had not been made. |
| | "Eligible foreign income and gains" means— (a) if the individual was resident in the United Kingdom for the tax year 2010-11 and the tax year 2011-12, foreign income and gains for the tax year 2013-14, |
| | (b) if the individual was not resident in the United Kingdom for the tax year 2010-11 but was resident in the United Kingdom for the tax year 2011-12, foreign income and gains for the tax year 2013-14 and the tax year 2014-15, and |
| | (c) if the individual was not resident in the United Kingdom for the tax year 2011-12, foreign income and gains for the tax year 2013-14, the tax year 2014-15 and the tax year 2015-16. |
| | Where, by virtue of this paragraph, it is necessary to determine whether an individual is (or is not) ordinarily resident in the United Kingdom at a time on or after 6 April 2013, the question is to be determined as it would have been in the absence of this Schedule. |
| Interp | ion |
| 27 | References in this Part of this Schedule to an individual's "foreign income and gains" for a tax year are to be read in accordance with section 809Z7 of ITA 2007 (interpretation of remittance basis rules). |
| | Part 2 |
| | INCOME TAX: ARISING BASIS OF TAXATION |
| ICTA | |
| 28 | In section 614 of ICTA (exemptions and reliefs in respect of income from investments etc of certain pension schemes) — (a) in subsection (4), for "not domiciled, ordinarily resident or resident" |
| | substitute "not domiciled and not resident", and (b) in subsection (5), for "not domiciled, ordinarily resident or resident" substitute "not domiciled and not resident". |
| ITEP/ | 03 |
| 29 | ITEPA 2003 is amended as follows. |
| 30 | In section 56 (application of Income Tax Acts in relation to deemed employment), in subsection (5) — (a) for paragraph (a) substitute — "(a) the worker being resident or domiciled outside the |
| | United Kingdom or meeting the requirement of section 26A,", and |

(b) in paragraph (b), omit "or ordinarily resident".

| Part 2 | – In | come tax: arising basis of taxation | |
|--------|------|--|--|
| 31 | | In section 61G (application of Income Tax Acts in relation to deemed employment), in subsection (5) — (a) for paragraph (a) substitute — "(a) the worker being resident or domiciled outside the United Kingdom or meeting the requirement of section 26A,", and (b) in paragraph (b), omit "or ordinarily resident". | |
| 32 | | In section 328 (the income from which deductions may be made), in subsection (5), omit the entry for Chapter 6 of Part 5 and the word "and" immediately preceding it. | |
| 33 | | In section 341 (travel at start or finish of overseas employment), in subsection (3), for "resident and ordinarily resident in the United Kingdom" substitute "UK resident". | |
| 34 | | In section 342 (travel between employments where duties performed abroad), in subsection (6), for "resident and ordinarily resident in the United Kingdom" substitute "UK resident". | |
| 35 | | In section 370 (travel costs where duties performed abroad: employee's travel), in subsection (6), omit "in which the employee is ordinarily UK resident". | |
| 36 | | In section 376 (foreign accommodation and subsistence costs and expenses (overseas employments)), in subsection (1)(b), for "resident and ordinarily resident in the United Kingdom" substitute "UK resident". | |
| 37 | (1) | Section 378 (deductions from seafarers' earnings: eligibility) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In subsection (1), for "relevant taxable earnings or EEA-resident earnings" substitute "relevant general earnings". | |
| | (3) | For subsection (5) substitute — | |
| | | "(5) "Relevant general earnings" means — (a) taxable earnings under section 15, 22 or 26, or (b) general earnings — (i) to which section 27 applies, and (ii) which are for a period in which the employee is liable under the law of an EEA State (other than the United Kingdom) to tax in that State by reason of domicile or residence." | |
| | (4) | Omit subsection (6). | |
| 38 | | In section 413 (exception in certain cases of foreign service), in subsection (3A), before paragraph (a) insert— "(za) for service in or after the tax year 2013-14, earnings for a tax year that are earnings to which section 15 applies and to which that section would apply even if the employee made a claim under section 809B of ITA 2007 (claim for remittance basis) for that year,". | |

(1) In section 681A (foreign benefits of consular employees), for subsection (4)

10

15

20

25

30

substitute -

- "(4) Condition C is that
 - (a) the officer or employee is a permanent employee of that state, or
 - (b) the officer or employee was non-UK resident for each of the 2 tax years preceding the tax year in which the officer or employee became a consular officer or employee in the United Kingdom of that state."
- (2) The amendment made by this paragraph does not apply to a person who became a consular officer or employee in the United Kingdom before 6 April 2013.
- 40 (1) In Schedule 2 (approved share incentive plans), in paragraph 8(2), omit paragraph (b) and the "and" immediately before it.
 - (2) The amendments made by this paragraph do not apply to plans that have been approved before the day on which this Act is passed.
- 41 (1) In Schedule 3 (approved SAYE option schemes), in paragraph 6(2)
 - (a) insert "and" at the end of paragraph (c), and
 - (b) omit paragraph (ca), including the "and" at the end of it.
 - (2) The amendments made by this paragraph do not apply to schemes that have been approved before the day on which this Act is passed.
- In Schedule 5 (enterprise management incentives), in paragraph 27(3)(b), omit "and ordinarily resident".

ITTOIA 2005

- 43 ITTOIA 2005 is amended as follows.
- In section 154A (certain non-UK residents with interest on 3½% War Loan 1952 Or After), in subsection (1)(a), omit "ordinarily".
- In section 459 (transfer of assets abroad), in subsection (2), for "an individual ordinarily UK resident" substitute "a UK resident individual".
- In section 468 (non-UK resident trustees and foreign institutions), for subsection (2) substitute
 - "(2) Chapter 2 of Part 13 of ITA 2007 (which prevents avoidance of tax where a UK resident individual benefits from a transfer of assets) applies with the modifications specified in subsection (3) or (4)."
- In section 569 (anti-avoidance: transfer of assets abroad), in subsection (2), for "an individual ordinarily UK resident" substitute "a UK resident 35 individual".
- 48 (1) In section 636 (calculation of undistributed income), in subsection (2)(b), for ", resident and ordinarily resident" substitute "and resident".
 - (2) The amendment made by this paragraph does not apply in calculating income arising under a settlement in tax years ending before 6 April 2013.
- In section 648 (income arising under a settlement), in subsection (1)(b), for ", resident and ordinarily resident" substitute "and resident".

substitute "UK resident".

substitute "non-UK resident".

50 In section 651 (meaning of "UK estate" and "foreign estate"), in subsection (3), omit "or not ordinarily UK resident". 51 In section 664 (the aggregate income of the estate), in subsection (2)(b)(i), omit "who was ordinarily UK resident". 52 (1) Section 715 (interest from FOTRA securities held on trust) is amended as 5 follows. (2) In subsection (1)(b), for "person not ordinarily UK resident" substitute "non-UK resident person". (3) In subsection (2) – for "person not ordinarily UK resident" substitute "non-UK resident (a) 10 person", and for "is ordinarily UK resident at the time when" substitute "is UK resident for the tax year in which". (4) In relation to a FOTRA security issued before 6 April 2013, the amendments made by this paragraph apply only if the security was acquired by the trust 15 on or after that date. (1) In section 771 (relevant foreign income of consular officers and employees), 53 for subsection (4) substitute – Condition C is that – the officer or employee is a permanent employee of that state, 20 the officer or employee was non-UK resident for each of the 2 tax years preceding the tax year in which the officer or employee became a consular officer or employee in the United Kingdom of that state." 25 (2) The amendment made by this paragraph does not apply to a person who became a consular officer or employee in the United Kingdom before 6 April 2013. ITA 2007 30 54 ITA 2007 is amended as follows. 55 In section 465 (overview of Chapter 2 and interpretation), in subsection (4), omit "and ordinary residence". (1) Section 475 (residence of trustees) is amended as follows. 56 (2) For subsection (1) substitute – "(1)This section applies for income tax purposes and explains how to 35 work out, in relation to the trustees of a settlement, whether or not the single person mentioned in section 474(1) is UK resident." (3) In subsection (2), for "both UK resident and ordinarily UK resident"

(4) In subsection (3), for "both non-UK resident and not ordinarily UK resident"

| | Part 2 – Income tax: arising basis of taxation | | |
|----|---|-----|----|
| | Section 476 (how to work out whether settlor meets condition C) is amended as follows. | (1) | 57 |
| | In subsection (2)(b), omit ", ordinarily UK resident". | (2) | |
| | In subsection (3)(b), omit ", ordinarily UK resident". | (3) | |
| 5 | The amendment made by sub-paragraph (2) does not apply if the person died before 6 April 2013. | (4) | |
| | The amendment made by sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if the settlement was made before 6 April 2013. | (5) | |
| 10 | In section 643 (non-residents), in subsection (1), omit "and is not ordinarily UK resident during that year". | | 58 |
| | In section 718 (meaning of "person abroad" etc), in subsection (2)(b), for "neither UK resident nor ordinarily UK resident" substitute "non-UK resident". | | 59 |
| 15 | In section 720 (charge to tax on income treated as arising under section 721), in subsection (1), omit "ordinarily". | | 60 |
| | Section 721 (individuals with power to enjoy income as a result of relevant transactions) is amended as follows. | (1) | 61 |
| | In subsection (1), for "conditions A and B" substitute "conditions A to C". | (2) | |
| | After subsection (3) insert — | (3) | |
| 20 | "(3A) Condition C is that the individual is UK resident for the tax year." | | |
| | In subsection (5), for paragraph (b) substitute— "(b) whether the individual is UK resident for the tax year in which the relevant transfer is made (if different from the tax year mentioned in subsection (1)), or". | (4) | |
| 25 | In section 727 (charge to tax on income treated as arising under section 728), in subsection (1), omit "ordinarily". | | 62 |
| | Section 728 (individuals receiving capital sums as a result of relevant transactions) is amended as follows. | (1) | 63 |
| 30 | In subsection (1) — (a) in paragraph (a), omit the "and" at the end of sub-paragraph (iii), and (b) at the end of paragraph (b) insert ", and (c) the individual is UK resident for the tax year." | (2) | |
| 35 | In subsection (3), for paragraph (b) substitute— "(b) whether the individual is UK resident for the tax year in which the relevant transfer abroad is made (if different from the tax year mentioned in subsection (1)), or". | (3) | |
| 40 | In section 732 (non-transferors receiving benefit as a result of relevant transactions), in subsection (1)(b), for "ordinarily UK resident receives a benefit" substitute "UK resident for a tax year receives a benefit in that tax year". | | 64 |

65 (1) In section 749 (restrictions on particulars to be provided by relevant lawyers), in subsection (2), omit "ordinarily".

(2) The amendment made by this paragraph applies only if the transfer is made or, in the case of an associated operation, the transfer is made and the associated operation is effected on or after 6 April 2013. 66 In section 812 (case where limit on liability of non-UK residents is not to 5 apply), in subsection (1)(a), omit "ordinarily". (1) In section 834 (residence of personal representatives), in subsection (3), omit 67 ", ordinarily UK resident". (2) The amendment made by this paragraph does not apply if D died before 6 April 2013. 10 68 (1) In section 858 (declarations of non-UK residence: individuals) – in subsection (3)(a) and (b), for "not ordinarily UK resident" substitute "non-UK resident", and in subsection (4), omit "ordinarily". (2) The amendments made by this paragraph apply to the making of declarations on or after 6 April 2014, and any declarations made before that 15 date continue to have effect in respect of interest paid on or after that date as if those amendments had not been made. 69 (1) In section 859 (declarations of non-UK residence: Scottish partnerships) – in subsection (3), for "not ordinarily UK resident" substitute "non-UK resident", and 20 in subsection (4), omit "ordinarily". (2) The amendments made by this paragraph apply to the making of declarations on or after 6 April 2014, and any declarations made before that date continue to have effect in respect of interest paid on or after that date as if those amendments had not been made. 25 (1) In section 860 (declarations of non-UK residence: personal representatives), 70 in subsection (3), for "not ordinarily UK resident" substitute "non-UK resident". (2) The amendment made by this paragraph applies only if the deceased died 30 on or after 6 April 2014. 71 (1) Section 861 (declarations of non-UK residence: settlements) is amended as follows. (2) In subsection (3)(b)(i) and (iii), omit "ordinarily". (3) In subsection (4) – in paragraphs (b) and (d), omit "ordinarily", and 35 in paragraph (f), for "an ordinarily" substitute "a". (4) The amendments made by this paragraph apply to the making of declarations on or after 6 April 2014, and any declarations made before that date continue to have effect in respect of interest paid on or after that date as if those amendments had not been made. 40

10

15

20

25

30

35

Commencement

- 72 (1) The amendments made by this Part of this Schedule have effect for the purposes of a person's liability to income tax for the tax year 2013-14 or any subsequent tax year.
 - (2) Sub-paragraph (1) is without prejudice to any provision in this Part of the Schedule about the application of a particular amendment.

Savings

- 73 (1) This paragraph applies to an individual who—
 - (a) was not resident in the United Kingdom for the tax year 2009-10,
 - (b) is resident there for the tax year 2012-13, but
 - (c) is not ordinarily resident there at the end of the tax year 2012-13.
 - (2) The provisions listed in sub-paragraph (3) have effect, in relation to such an individual and a qualifying tax year, as if the amendments made to or with respect to those provisions by this Part of this Schedule had not been made.
 - (3) The provisions are—
 - (a) section 413 of ITEPA 2003 (exception for payments and benefits on termination of employment etc in certain cases involving foreign service),
 - (b) section 414 of that Act (reduction in other cases of foreign service), and
 - (c) Chapter 2 of Part 13 of ITA 2007 (transfer of assets abroad).
 - (4) But, in the case of provisions within paragraph (a) or (b) of sub-paragraph (3), this paragraph applies only if service in the employment in question began before the start of the tax year 2013-14.
 - (5) The meaning of "qualifying tax year" depends on the individual's residence status—
 - (a) if the individual was resident in the United Kingdom for the tax year 2010-11 and the tax year 2011-12, "qualifying tax year" means the tax year 2013-14,
 - (b) if the individual was not resident in the United Kingdom for the tax year 2010-11 but was resident in the United Kingdom for the tax year 2011-12, "qualifying tax year" means each of the tax year 2013-14 and the tax year 2014-15, and
 - (c) if the individual was not resident in the United Kingdom for the tax year 2011-12, "qualifying tax year" means each of the tax year 2013-14, the tax year 2014-15 and the tax year 2015-16.
 - (6) Where, by virtue of this paragraph, it is necessary to determine whether an individual is (or is not) ordinarily resident in the United Kingdom at a time on or after 6 April 2013, the question is to be determined as it would have been in the absence of this Schedule.

Part 3

CAPITAL GAINS TAX: ACCRUALS BASIS OF TAXATION

| ГСG2 | A 19 | 92 | |
|------|------|--|----|
| 74 | | TCGA 1992 is amended as follows. | |
| 75 | (1) | Section 2 (persons and gains chargeable to capital gains tax, and allowable losses) is amended as follows. | 5 |
| | (2) | In subsection (1), for the words from "during any part" to the end substitute "if the residence condition is met". | |
| | (3) | After that subsection insert — | |
| | | (1A) The residence condition is — (a) in the case of an individual, that the individual is resident in the United Kingdom for the year in question, (b) in the case of personal representatives of a deceased person, | 10 |
| | | that the single and continuing body mentioned in section 62(3) is resident in the United Kingdom, (c) in the case of the trustees of a settlement, that the single person mentioned in section 69(1) is resident in the United Kingdom during any part of the year in question, and | 15 |
| | | (d) in any other case, that the person is resident in the United Kingdom when the gain accrues." | 20 |
| 76 | | In section 10 (non-resident with United Kingdom branch or agency), in subsection (1), for "in which he is not resident and not ordinarily resident in the United Kingdom but" substitute "if the residence condition is not met (see section 2(1A)) but the person". | |
| 77 | (1) | Section 13 (attribution of gains to members of non-resident companies) is amended as follows. | 25 |
| | (2) | In subsection (2), omit "or ordinarily resident". | |
| | (3) | In subsection (10), for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident". | |
| | (4) | In subsection (13)(b), omit "or ordinarily resident". | 30 |
| 78 | | In section 16 (computation of losses), in subsection (3), for "during no part of which he is resident or ordinarily resident in the United Kingdom" substitute "where the residence condition is not met (see section 2(1A))". | |
| 79 | | In section 62 (death: general provisions), in subsection (3), omit ", ordinary residence,". | 35 |
| 80 | | In section 65 (liability for tax of trustees or personal representatives), in subsection (3)(b), for "become neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "cease to be resident". | |
| 81 | | In section 67 (provisions applicable where section 79 of the Finance Act 1980 has applied), in subsection (6)(a), in paragraph (b) of the substituted subsection (1), for "becomes neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "ceases to be resident". | 40 |

| | | 1 8 | |
|----|-----|--|--|
| 82 | (1) | Section 69 (trustees of settlements) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In subsection (2), omit "and ordinarily resident". | |
| | (3) | In subsection (2B)(c), omit ", ordinarily resident". | |
| | (4) | In subsection (2E), for the words from "and ordinarily resident" to the end substitute "in the United Kingdom, then for the purposes of this Act it is treated as being not resident in the United Kingdom". | |
| 83 | | In section 76 (disposal of interests in settled property), in subsection (1B)(a), for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident". | |
| 84 | | In section 80 (trustees ceasing to be resident in UK), in subsection (1), for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident". | |
| 85 | (1) | Section 81 (death of trustee: special rules) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In subsection (1)(b), omit "and ordinarily resident". | |
| | (3) | In subsection (3)(b), omit "and ordinarily resident". | |
| | (4) | In subsection (4)(b), omit "and ordinarily resident". | |
| | (5) | In subsection (5)(a), omit "and ordinarily resident". | |
| 86 | | In section 82 (past trustees: liability for tax), in subsection (3)(b), for "become neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "cease to be resident". | |
| 87 | | In section 83 (trustees ceasing to be liable to UK tax), in subsection (1), omit "and ordinarily resident". | |
| 88 | (1) | Section 83A (trustees both resident and non-resident in a year of assessment) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In subsection (3)(a), omit "and ordinarily resident". | |
| | (3) | In subsection (4) — | |
| | | (a) in paragraph (a), for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident", and | |
| | | (b) in paragraph (b), omit "and ordinarily resident". | |
| 89 | | In section 84 (acquisition by dual resident trustees), in subsection (1)(b), omit "and ordinarily resident". | |
| 90 | | In section 85 (disposal of interests in non-resident settlements), in subsection (1), for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident". | |
| 91 | (1) | Section 86 (attribution of gains to settlors with interest in non-resident or dual resident settlements) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In subsection (1)(c), for the words from "either resident" to the end substitute "resident in the United Kingdom for the year". | |
| | (3) | For subsection (2) substitute — | |
| | | "(2) The condition as to residence is that — (a) there is no time in the year when the trustees are resident in the United Kingdom, or | |

(b) there is such a time but, whenever the trustees are resident in the United Kingdom during the year, they fall to be regarded

for the purposes of any double taxation relief arrangements

| | | as resident in a territory outside the United Kingdom." | |
|-----|-----|---|----|
| | (4) | In subsection (3), omit "and ordinarily resident". | |
| 92 | (1) | Section 87 (non-UK resident settlements: attribution of gains to beneficiaries) is amended as follows. | 5 |
| | (2) | In subsection (1), for the words from "the trustees" to the end substitute "there is no time in that year when the trustees are resident in the United Kingdom". | |
| | (3) | In subsection (4)(a), omit "and ordinarily resident". | |
| 93 | | In section 88(1) (gains of dual resident settlements) — (a) in paragraph (a), omit "and ordinarily resident", and (b) in paragraph (b), omit "and ordinary residence". | 10 |
| 94 | (1) | Section 96 (payments by and to companies) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In subsection (3), omit "or ordinarily resident". | |
| | (3) | In subsection (4), in each of paragraphs (a) and (b), omit "or ordinarily resident". | 15 |
| | (4) | In subsection (5)(b), omit "or ordinary residence". | |
| 95 | | In section 97 (supplementary provisions), in subsection (1)(a), for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident". | |
| 96 | | In section 99 (application of Act to unit trust schemes), in subsection (1)(c), omit "and ordinarily resident". | 20 |
| 97 | | In section 106A(5A) (identification of securities: capital gains tax)— (a) in paragraph (a), for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident", and | 25 |
| 00 | (1) | (b) in paragraph (b), omit "or ordinarily resident". | 25 |
| 98 | ` ' | Section 159 (non-residents: roll-over relief) is amended as follows. | |
| | ` ' | In subsection (2)(b), omit "or ordinarily resident". | |
| | (3) | In subsection (5), in the definition of "dual resident", omit "or ordinarily resident". | |
| 99 | (1) | Section 166 (gifts to non-residents) is amended as follows. | 30 |
| | (2) | In subsection (1), for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident". | |
| | (3) | In subsection (2)(a), omit "or ordinarily resident". | |
| 100 | (1) | Section 167 (gifts to foreign-controlled companies) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) | In subsection (2)(a), for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident". | 35 |

(3) In subsection (3), for the words from "or ordinarily resident" to "nor ordinarily resident" substitute "in the United Kingdom is to be regarded as

101 (1) Section 168 (emigration of donee) is amended as follows.

not resident".

- (2) In subsection (1)(b), for "becomes neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "ceases to be resident".
- (3) In subsection (4), for "becoming neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "ceasing to be resident".
- (4) In subsection (5) –

- (a) in paragraph (a), for "becoming neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "ceasing to be resident", and
- (b) in paragraph (b), omit "or ordinarily resident".
- In section 169 (gifts into dual resident trusts), in subsection (3)(a), omit "and ordinarily resident".

10

- In section 199 (exploration or exploitation assets: deemed disposals), in subsection (2), for "who is not resident and not ordinarily resident in the United Kingdom" substitute "in respect of whom the residence condition (see section 2(1A)) is not met".
- 104 (1) Section 261 (section 260 relief: gifts to non-residents) is amended as follows.

15

- (2) In subsection (1), for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident".
- (3) In subsection (2)(a), omit "or ordinarily resident".
- In Schedule 1 (application of exempt amount and reporting limits in cases involving settled property), in paragraph 2(7)(a), omit "and ordinarily resident".

20

- 106 (1) Schedule 4A (disposal of interest in settled property: deemed disposal of underlying assets) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In paragraph 5(1) and (2), omit "and ordinarily resident".
 - (3) In paragraph 6(1) –

25

30

- (a) for "in the relevant" substitute "as respects the relevant", and
- (b) for the words from "either" to the end substitute "met the residence condition set out in section 2(1A)".
- (4) If any of the previous 5 years of assessment mentioned in paragraph 6(1) of Schedule 4A ends before 6 April 2013, the test in that paragraph is to be applied, as respects any such year ending before that date, as if that paragraph had not been amended by sub-paragraph (3).
- 107 (1) Schedule 4C (transfers of value: attribution of gains to beneficiaries) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In paragraph 1A(3), for the words from "the beneficiary" to the end substitute ", as respects that year, the beneficiary meets the residence condition set out in section 2(1A)".
 - (3) In paragraph 4
 - (a) in sub-paragraph (1), omit "and ordinarily resident", and
 - (b) in sub-paragraph (2), omit "and ordinarily resident".

- (4) In paragraph 5(1)
 - (a) in paragraph (a), omit "and ordinarily resident", and
 - (b) in paragraph (b), omit "and ordinary residence".

| Part 3 | – Сı | apital gaii | ns tax: accruals basis of taxation |
|--------|------|----------------------|--|
| | (5) | In par | agraph 9(3)(a)(i), omit "and ordinarily resident". |
| | (6) | In par | agraph 10(1), omit "and ordinarily resident". |
| 108 | (1) | | ule 5 (attribution of gains to settlors with interest in non-resident or esident settlement) is amended as follows. |
| | (2) | In par (a) (b) | agraph 2A(4) — in paragraph (a), for "become on or after 17th March 1998 neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "cease on or after 17 March 1998 to be resident", and in paragraph (b), omit "and ordinarily resident". |
| | (3) | In par (a) (b) | agraph 9(4) — in paragraph (a), for "become on or after 19th March 1991 neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "cease on or after 19 March 1991 to be resident", and in paragraph (b), omit "and ordinarily resident". |
| | (4) | | nendments made by this paragraph apply to changes in the residence of trustees on or after 6 April 2013. |
| 109 | (1) | Sched follow | ule 5A (settlements with foreign element: information) is amended as |
| | (2) | In par (a) | agraph 2(1)— in paragraph (c), for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident", and in paragraph (d), omit "and ordinarily resident". |
| | (3) | In par (a) | agraph 3— in sub-paragraph (1)— (i) in paragraph (a), for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident", and (ii) in paragraph (b), omit "and ordinarily resident", and in sub-paragraph (3), for "either resident or ordinarily resident" substitute "resident". |
| | (4) | | agraph 4— in sub-paragraph (1)— (i) in paragraph (a), for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident", and (ii) in paragraph (b), omit "and ordinarily resident", and in sub-paragraph (3), for "either resident or ordinarily resident" substitute "resident". |
| | (5) | In par (a) | agraph 5(1) — in paragraph (a), for the words from "become" to "ordinarily resident" substitute "cease at any time (the relevant time) on or after |
| | | (b) | the commencement day to be resident", and in paragraph (b), omit "and ordinarily resident". |

(6) The amendments made by this paragraph apply as follows –

the amendments made by sub-paragraph (2) apply in relation to transfers of property made on or after 6 April 2013,

| | Finance (No. 2) Bill | | 576 |
|----|---|------|-------|
| | Schedule 44 — Ordinary residence Part 3 — Capital gains tax: accruals basis of taxation | | |
| | (b) the amendments made by sub-paragraphs (3) and (4) apply in relation to settlements created on or after that date, and | | |
| | (c) the amendments made by sub-paragraph (5) apply to changes in the residence status of trustees on or after that date. | | |
| 5 | Schedule 5B (enterprise investment scheme: re-investment) is amended as follows. | (1) | 110 |
| | In paragraph 1 – (a) in sub-paragraph (1)(d), omit "or ordinarily resident", and (b) in sub-paragraph (4)(a), omit "or ordinarily resident". | (2) | |
| 10 | In paragraph 3(3)(b), omit "or ordinarily resident". | (3) | |
| | In paragraph 19(1), in the definition of "non-resident", for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident". | (4) | |
| 15 | The amendments made by this paragraph apply in cases where the accrual time is on or after 6 April 2013 (even if the qualifying investment was made before that date). | (5) | |
| 20 | In Schedule 7C (reliefs for transfers to approved share plans), in paragraph 8, for paragraph (a) substitute— "(a) the claimant would be chargeable to capital gains tax under section 2(1) (persons and gains chargeable to capital gains tax) in respect of the gain, or". | | 111 |
| | cement | nenc | Comr |
| | The amendments made by this Part of this Schedule have effect in relation to a person's liability to capital gains tax for the tax year 2013-14 or any subsequent tax year. | (1) | 112 |
| 25 | Sub-paragraph (1) is without prejudice to any provision in this Part of this Schedule about the application of a particular amendment. | (2) | |
| | Part 4 | | |
| | OTHER AMENDMENTS | | |
| | | 916 | FA 1: |
| 30 | In FA 1916, omit section 63 (exemption from taxation of municipal securities issued in America). | | 113 |
| | A 1931 | .2)A | F(No |
| | In section 22 of F(No.2)A 1931 (provisions in cases where Treasury has | (1) | 114 |

- power to borrow money), in subsection (1)(a) and (b), omit "ordinarily".
 - (2) Nothing in sub-paragraph (1) limits the power conferred by section 60(1) of 35 FA 1940.
 - (3) Subject to sub-paragraph (5), the amendment made by sub-paragraph (1) does not affect a pre-commencement security (nor the availability of the relevant exemption).

Finance (No. 2) Bill 577

| Schedule | 44 – | Ordinary | residence |
|----------|----------|----------|-----------|
| D 11 | O^{11} | 1 | |

Part 4 – Other amendments

| (4) | Sub-paragraph (5) applies to a person who becomes the beneficial owner of |
|-----|---|
| | a pre-commencement security (or an interest in such a security) on or after 6 |
| | April 2013. |

- (5) If obtaining the relevant exemption is conditional on being not ordinarily resident in the United Kingdom, any enactment conferring the exemption is to have effect (in relation to a person to whom this sub-paragraph applies) as if obtaining the exemption were conditional instead on being not resident in the United Kingdom.
- (6) In this paragraph
 - "pre-commencement security" means a FOTRA security (as defined in section 713 of ITTOIA 2005) issued before the day on which this Act is passed;

5

10

15

20

35

"the relevant exemption", in relation to a pre-commencement security, means the exemption for which provision is made in the exemption condition (as defined in that section).

TMA 1970

- 115 TMA 1970 is amended as follows.
- 116 (1) In section 98 (special returns etc), in subsection (4E)(d), omit "ordinarily".
 - (2) The amendment made by this paragraph takes effect on the coming into force of regulations made under section 17(3) of F(No.2)A 2005 (authorised investment funds) by virtue of the amendment made by paragraph 136.
- In Schedule 1A (claims etc not included in returns), in paragraph 2(6), omit "or not ordinarily resident".

IHTA 1984

- 118 (1) Section 157 of IHTA 1984 (non-residents' bank accounts) is amended as follows.
 - (2) For subsection (2) substitute
 - "(2) This section applies to a person who is not domiciled and not resident in the United Kingdom immediately before his death."
 - (3) In subsection (3), for ", resident or ordinarily resident" substitute "or resident".
 - (4) In subsection (4)
 - (a) in paragraph (a), omit "or ordinarily resident", and
 - (b) in paragraph (b), omit "or ordinarily resident" and "and ordinarily resident".
 - (5) The amendments made by this paragraph do not apply if the person dies before 6 April 2013.

FA 2004

- Part 4 of FA 2004 (pension schemes etc) is amended as follows.
- In section 185G (disposal by person holding directly), in subsection (3)(a), 40 omit ", ordinarily resident".

| 121 | | In section 205 (short service refund lump sum charge), in subsection (3), omit ", ordinarily resident". | |
|-------|-------------|---|----|
| 122 | | In section 205A (serious ill-health lump sum charge), in subsection (3), omit ", ordinarily resident". | |
| 123 | | In section 206 (special lump sum death benefits charge), in subsection (3), omit ", ordinarily resident". | 5 |
| 124 | | In section 207 (authorised surplus payments charge), in subsection (3), omit ", ordinarily resident". | |
| 125 | | In section 208 (unauthorised payments charge), in subsection (4), omit ", ordinarily resident". | 10 |
| 126 | | In section 209 (unauthorised payments surcharge), in subsection (5), omit ", ordinarily resident". | |
| 127 | | In section 217 (persons liable to lifetime allowance charge), in subsection (5), omit ", ordinarily resident". | |
| 128 | | In section 237A (liability of individual to annual allowance charge), in subsection (2), omit ", ordinarily resident". | 15 |
| 129 | | In section 237B (liability of scheme administrator), in subsection (8), omit ", ordinarily resident". | |
| 130 | | In section 239 (scheme sanction charge), in subsection (4), omit ", ordinarily resident". | 20 |
| 131 | | In section 242 (de-registration charge), in subsection (3), omit ", ordinarily resident". | |
| 132 | | The amendments of Part 4 of FA 2004 made by this Part of this Schedule have effect in relation to the tax year 2013-14 and any subsequent tax year. | |
| FA 20 | 005 | | 25 |
| 133 | (1) | In section 30 of FA 2005 (qualifying trust gains: special capital gains tax treatment), in subsection (1), for paragraph (c) substitute— "(c) the trustees are resident in the United Kingdom during any part of the tax year, and". | |
| | (2) | The amendment made by this paragraph has effect in relation to the tax year 2013-14 and any subsequent tax year. | 30 |
| F(No. | 2) <i>A</i> | 2005 | |
| 134 | | F(No.2)A 2005 is amended as follows. | |
| 135 | (1) | In section 7 (charge to income tax on lump sum), in subsection (3), omit ", ordinarily resident". | 35 |
| | (2) | The amendment made by this paragraph has effect in relation to the tax year 2013-14 and any subsequent tax year. | |

In section 18 (section 17(3): specific powers), in subsection (1)(f) and (g), omit "ordinarily".

10

30

CTA 2009

| 137 | CTA 2009 is amended as follows. | |
|-----|---------------------------------|--|
| 137 | CTA 2009 is amended as follows. | |

- 138 (1) In section 900 (which relates to roll-over relief for disposals of pre-FA 2002 assets), in subsection (2), omit "or ordinarily UK resident".
 - (2) The amendment made by this paragraph applies in relation to gains accruing or treated as accruing on or after 6 April 2013.
- 139 (1) In section 936 (meaning of "UK estate" and "foreign estate"), in subsection (3), omit "or not ordinarily UK resident".
 - (2) The amendment made by this paragraph applies if the tax year in question begins on or after 6 April 2013.
- 140 (1) In section 947 (aggregate income of the estate), in subsection (2)(b)(i), omit "who was ordinarily UK resident".
 - (2) The amendment made by this paragraph applies if the tax year in question begins on or after 6 April 2013.
- 141 (1) In section 1009 (conditions relating to employee's income tax position), in subsection (5)(a), omit "and ordinarily UK resident".
 - (2) The amendment made by this paragraph applies in relation to shares acquired on or after 6 April 2013.
- 142 (1) In section 1017 (condition relating to employee's income tax position), in subsection (4)(a), omit "and ordinarily UK resident".
 - (2) The amendment made by this paragraph applies in relation to options obtained on or after 6 April 2013.
- 143 (1) In section 1025 (additional relief available if shares acquired are restricted shares), in subsection (5)(a), omit "and ordinarily UK resident".
 - (2) The amendment made by this paragraph applies in relation to restricted shares acquired on or after 6 April 2013.
- 144 (1) In section 1032 (meaning of "chargeable event"), in subsection (5)(a), omit "and ordinarily UK resident".
 - (2) The amendment made by this paragraph applies in relation to convertible shares acquired on or after 6 April 2013.

CTA 2010

- 145 (1) Section 1034 of CTA 2010 (purchase by unquoted trading company of own shares: requirements as to residence) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsections (1) and (2), omit "and ordinarily resident".
 - (3) In subsection (3), omit "and ordinary residence" in both places.
 - (4) Omit subsection (4).
 - (5) The amendments made by this paragraph do not apply in relation to a purchase by an unquoted trading company of its own shares if the purchase takes place before 6 April 2013.

TIOPA 2010

In section 363A of TIOPA 2010 (residence of offshore funds which are undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities), in subsection (3), for "neither resident nor ordinarily resident" substitute "not resident".

5

10

Constitutional Reform and Governance Act 2010

- 147 (1) In section 41 of the Constitutional Reform and Governance Act 2010 (tax status of MPs and members of the House of Lords), in subsection (2), omit ", ordinarily resident".
 - (2) The amendment made by this paragraph has effect for the purposes of a member's liability to income tax or capital gains tax for the tax year 2013-14 or any subsequent tax year.

SCHEDULE 45

Section 217

CONTROLLED FOREIGN COMPANIES

Relevant finance leases etc

15

- 1 Part 9A of TIOPA 2010 (controlled foreign companies) is amended as follows.
- 2 Chapter 5 (the CFC charge gateway: non-trading finance profits) is amended as follows.
- In section 371ED (arrangements in lieu of dividends) in subsection (1) omit "(other than a relevant finance lease)".
- 4 (1) Section 371EE (leases to UK resident companies etc) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In subsection (2)(b)(i) for "which is the subject of the lease" substitute "("the relevant asset") which is the subject of the lease or making (directly or indirectly) an arrangement which would fall within subsection (3)".

25

30

- (3) After subsection (2) insert
 - "(3) An arrangement would fall within this subsection if
 - (a) the arrangement would meet one or both of the following requirements—
 - (i) it would not be a relevant finance lease;

(ii) it would not involve the CFC, and

- (b) under the arrangement the other company would (directly or indirectly) purchase rights to use the relevant asset."
- 5 Chapter 22 (supplementary provision) is amended as follows.
- In section 371VA (definitions) for the definition of "relevant finance lease" 35 substitute—
 - ""relevant finance lease" is to be read in accordance with section 371VIA,".
- 7 (1) Section 371VG (finance profits) is amended as follows.

is one."

9

(2) In subsection (1) for paragraph (b) substitute – which are included in the CFC's assumed total profits for the accounting period in question and which – arise from a relevant finance lease, but 5 are not trading profits." (3) In subsection (4)(b) omit "an arrangement which would be". (1) Section 371VH (interests in companies) is amended as follows. (2) In subsection (9) omit the second sentence. (3) After subsection (10) insert – For the purposes of subsection (9), if for any relevant period accounts 10 for a loan creditor are not prepared in accordance with international accounting standards or UK generally accepted accounting practice, any question relating to generally accepted accounting practice is to be determined in relation to the loan creditor for that period by reference to generally accepted accounting practice in relation to 15 accounts prepared in accordance with international accounting standards. After section 371VI insert -"371VIA Relevant finance leases In this Part "relevant finance lease" means an arrangement falling 20 within subsection (2) or (3). (An arrangement which is a loan relationship of any company does not fall within either of those subsections.) An arrangement falls within this subsection if – it provides for an asset to be leased or otherwise made 25 available by a person ("the lessor") to another person, and in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice, it falls (or would fall) to be treated in the accounts of the lessor, or of a person connected with the lessor, as a finance lease or a loan. 30 A hire-purchase, conditional sale or other arrangement relating to an asset falls within this subsection if it does not fall within subsection (2) but is of a similar character to an arrangement which would fall within that subsection. If for any relevant period accounts for a person are not prepared in 35 accordance with international accounting standards or UK generally accepted accounting practice, any question relating to generally accepted accounting practice is to be determined for the purposes of this section in relation to that person for that period by reference to 40 generally accepted accounting practice in relation to accounts prepared in accordance with international accounting standards.

> In this section "accounts", in relation to a company, includes accounts relating to two or more companies of which that company

| Limit on double taxation | relief in cases | involving | qualifying l | oan relationshi | ps of CFCs |
|--------------------------|-----------------|-----------|--------------|-----------------|------------|
| | | | 1,,,,,,, | | P |

- 10 Part 2 of TIOPA 2010 (double taxation relief) is amended as follows.
- 11 Chapter 2 (double taxation relief by way of credit) is amended as follows.
- In section 42 (limit on credit against corporation tax) after subsection (4) insert
 - "(5) See also section 49A which contains an additional limit on credit allowed in certain cases involving CFCs."
- 13 After section 49 insert –

"49A Limit on credit in cases involving qualifying loan relationships of CFCs

- (1) This section applies if
 - (a) a claim is made under Chapter 9 of Part 9A (controlled foreign companies: exemptions for profits from qualifying loan relationships) in relation to an accounting period ("the relevant period") of a CFC ("the creditor CFC"),
 - (b) in the relevant period, the creditor CFC has a qualifying loan relationship in relation to which another CFC is the ultimate debtor by virtue of section 371IG(4) or (5), and
 - (c) a UK resident company ("the relevant UK company") has loan relationship credits which arise in the relevant period from—
 - (i) loan B (see section 371IG(3)(b)), or
 - (ii) loans out of which loan B is wholly or partly funded (directly or indirectly).
- (2) So far as any credit allowed under section 18(2) to the relevant UK company is referable to loan relationship credits falling within subsection (1)(c) which arise in an accounting period of the relevant UK company, the credit must not exceed—

$R \times S$

R has the same meaning as in section 42(2), and

Sis-

where –

- (a) the relevant UK company's share of the relevant profit amount (see subsection (4)), or
- (b) if only X% of the total amount of the loan relationship credits falling within subsection (1)(c) arises in the accounting period, X% of the relevant UK company's share of the relevant profit amount.

(If the amount given by the formula above is nil, no credit is allowed.)

- (3) The limit on credit contained in subsection (2) is in addition to the limit given by section 42(2).
- (4) Take the following steps to determine the relevant profit amount and the relevant UK company's share of that amount.

Step 1 45

30

25

5

10

15

20

35

| Determine the total amount of the loan relationship credits which |
|--|
| arise in the relevant period from loan B to the person who made loan |
| В. |

Step 2

Deduct from the amount determined at step 1 above the credits from the creditor CFC's qualifying loan relationship determined at step 1 in section 371IF for the relevant period.

The result is the relevant profit amount.

Step 3

On a just and reasonable basis, apportion the relevant profit amount amongst all the persons falling within subsection (5) (although the amount apportioned to a person may be nil).

10

5

The relevant UK company's share of the relevant profit amount is the amount apportioned to it (and is nil if no amount is apportioned to it).

15

- (5) The following persons (apart from the creditor CFC) fall within this subsection
 - (a) the person who made loan B, and
 - (b) any person who has made or received a loan out of which loan B is wholly or partly funded (directly or indirectly).

20

- (6) In this section
 - (a) references to loan B do not include any part of loan B—
 - (i) which loan A (see section 371IG(3)(a)) is not made and used to fund, or
 - (ii) in relation to which the requirement of section 371IG(3)(c) is not met,

25

- (b) "loan relationship credit" means, in relation to a person, a credit which the person has under Part 5 of CTA 2009 or would have were the person a UK resident company within the charge to corporation tax, and
- 30
- (c) "loan" has the same meaning as it has in Chapter 9 of Part 9A."
- 14 (1) In Chapter 3 (miscellaneous provisions), section 112 (deduction from income for foreign tax (instead of credit against UK tax)) is amended as follows.

35

- (2) After subsection (3) insert
 - "(3A) Subsection (3B) applies if
 - (a) the requirements of section 49A(1)(a) to (c) are met,
 - (b) amounts have been paid in respect of non-UK tax on loan relationship credits falling within section 49A(1)(c) which arise in an accounting period of the relevant UK company, and

- (c) apart from subsection (3B), Z would exceed $R \times S$, where Z is
 - (i) the total amount of any reductions under subsection (1) for amounts paid in respect of that non-UK tax, less

20

25

30

35

(ii) the total amount of any increases under subsection (3) for payments made by reference to that non-UK tax, and

R and S have the same meaning as in section 49A(2).

- (3B) The total amount of the reductions under subsection (1) is to be reduced so that Z equals $R \times S$."
- (3) In subsection (6), for "subsection (1)" substitute "this section".

Miscellaneous

- In Part 6 of TIOPA 2010 (tax arbitrage), in section 236 (deduction schemes involving hybrid entities) for subsection (4) substitute
 - (4) Condition B is not met just because the party's profits or gains are subject to a charge under the law of a territory outside the United Kingdom (by whatever name known) which is similar to the CFC charge (see Part 9A)."
- Part 9A of TIOPA 2010 (controlled foreign companies) is amended as follows.
- In Chapter 3 (the CFC charge gateway: determining which (if any) of Chapters 4 to 8 applies) in section 371CE (does Chapter 6 apply?) for subsections (4) and (5) substitute—
 - "(4) The CFC is a "group treasury company" in the accounting period if, assuming the relevant period were the accounting period
 - (a) the CFC would be a group treasury company in the relevant period in accordance with section 316(2) (group treasury companies), and
 - (b) throughout the relevant period, the requirements of section 316(3)(a) and (b) would be met in relation to the CFC as a group treasury company.
 - (5) For the purpose of applying section 316 in accordance with subsection (4)
 - (a) section 316(2) applies with the omission of paragraph (d), and
 - (b) section 337(1) (definition of "the worldwide group") applies with the omission of paragraph (a)."
- 18 Chapter 9 (exemptions for profits from qualifying loan relationships) is amended as follows.
- In section 371IB (loans funded out of qualifying resources) after subsection (9) insert
 - "(9A) Subsection (9) does not apply if the debt incurred by the member of the CFC group as mentioned in subsection (8) represents the principal on a loan made to the member to which subsection (9B) or (9D) applies.
 - (9B) This subsection applies to a loan if the member repays it within 48 hours of the loan being made.

| | | (9C) | loan windired main | vithin the ctly) with purpose because the load | | 5 |
|------|------|----------------|---------------------|--|--|----|
| | | (OD) | Thica | - | , | |
| | | (9D) | (a) | there i | on applies to a loan if— s an issue of shares which meets the requirements of etion (7)(c)(i) to (iii), | 10 |
| | | | (b) | the loa expect funds | an was made before the issue of shares but with the ation that it would be repaid by the member out of deriving (directly or indirectly) from the issue of | 15 |
| | | | (c) | period | n is repaid by the member out of such funds within the of 6 months beginning with the day on which the loan ade, and | 15 |
| | | | (d) | the loa | | |
| | | | | (i) | was made by a person who was not a member of the CFC group, and | 20 |
| | | | | (ii) | was not made (wholly or partly nor directly or indirectly) out of funds or other assets provided by a member of the CFC group." | |
| 20 | (1) | Section | n 371IE | (matche | ed interest) is amended as follows. | 25 |
| | (2) | In sub | section | (1)(d)(ii |) after "include" insert "some or all of". | |
| | (3) | After s | ubsecti | on (7) ii | nsert— | |
| | | "(7A) | so far | | (6) the reference to the leftover profits is to those profits would be included in the relevant finance profits (see 1)(d))." | 30 |
| Comi | пепс | ement a | nd trans | sitional p | provision | |
| 21 | | | | ents ma uary 201 | ide by this Schedule are treated as having come into 13. | |
| 22 | (1) | for accomodifi | counting cations | g period set out | PA 2010 (as amended by paragraph 17 above) applies ds of CFCs beginning before 20 March 2013 with the in this paragraph. | 35 |
| | | | Acc | ounting | periods ending before 20 March 2013 | |
| | (2) | | | O I | ds ending before 20 March 2013, subsection (4) applies ere omitted. | 40 |
| | | | Ассои | nting pe | riods ending on or after 20 March 2013 | |
| | (3) | | | g sub-pa | aragraphs apply for accounting periods ending on or | |

2

Schedule 45 - Controlled foreign companies (4) A notice may be given under subsection (2)(b) even though the requirement of subsection (2)(a) is not met. (5) If a notice is given under subsection (2)(b) in a case where the requirement of subsection (2)(a) is not met, the CFC's trading finance profits are to be apportioned on a just and reasonable basis between – 5 the part of the accounting period falling before 20 March 2013 ("period A"), and the remaining part of the accounting period ("period B"). (6) So far as the CFC's trading finance profits are apportioned to period A, they are to be treated as non-trading finance profits if the CFC is a group treasury 10 company in period A (and subsection (3) applies to them accordingly). (7) For the purpose of determining if the CFC is a group treasury company in period A, subsection (4) applies – (a) as if references to the accounting period were to period A, and as if paragraph (b) were omitted. 15 (8) So far as the CFC's trading finance profits are apportioned to period B, they are to be treated as non-trading finance profits if the CFC is a group treasury company in period B (and subsection (3) applies to them accordingly). (9) For the purpose of determining if the CFC is a group treasury company in period B, subsection (4) applies as if references to the accounting period 20 were to period B. **SCHEDULE 46** Section 221 PROCEEDS OF CRIME: POWERS OF OFFICERS OF REVENUE AND CUSTOMS Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 is amended in accordance with paragraphs 25 2 to 20. (1) Section 289 (searches) is amended as follows. (2) In subsections (1), (1A)(a) and (2), for "a customs officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". (3) In subsections (1C) and (1D), for "customs officer" substitute "officer of 30 Revenue and Customs". (4) After subsection (5)(b) insert – are exercisable by an officer of Revenue and Customs only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter,". 35 (5) After subsection (5) insert –

> The reference in subsection (5)(ba) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue

> > 40

and Customs Act 2005."

Finance (No. 2) Bill 587

3 In section 290 (prior approval for search) – in subsection (4)(a), for "a customs officer, a customs officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs, such an officer", and in subsection (6), for "customs officer" substitute "officer of Revenue and Customs". 5 4 In section 291(2) (report on exercise of powers), for "customs officer" substitute "officer of Revenue and Customs". 5 In section 292 (code of practice) – in subsection (1), for "customs officers" substitute "officers of Revenue and Customs", and 10 in subsection (6), for "a customs officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". 6 (1) Section 294 (seizure of cash) is amended as follows. (2) In subsections (1) and (2), for "A customs officer" substitute "An officer of Revenue and Customs". 15 (3) After subsection (2) insert – The powers conferred by this section are exercisable by an officer of Revenue and Customs only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (2B) But the powers may be exercised by the officer in reliance on a 20 suspicion that relates to an excluded matter. (2C) The reference in subsection (2A) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." 25 In section 295(1) (detention of seized cash), for "customs officer" substitute "officer of Revenue and Customs". 8 In section 296(2) (interest on cash), for "customs officer" substitute "officer of Revenue and Customs". In section 297(4) (release of detained cash), for "A customs officer" substitute 9 30 "An officer of Revenue and Customs". In section 302(6) (compensation), for "a customs officer" substitute "an 10 officer of Revenue and Customs". 11 In section 351(5) (person making application to vary or discharge order) – for "a customs officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and 35 Customs", and for "customs officer" substitute "officer of Revenue and Customs". (1) Section 352 (search and seizure warrants) is amended as follows. (2) In subsection (5) –

in paragraph (c), at the end insert ", a confiscation investigation or a

40

(3) In subsection (7), omit "(a) or".

(a)

omit paragraph (a), and

money laundering investigation".

| 13 | (1) Section 353 (requirements where production order not available) is amended as follows. | |
|----|---|----|
| | (2) In subsection (10) – (a) omit paragraph (a), and (b) in paragraph (c), at the end insert ", a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation". | 5 |
| | (3) In subsection (11), omit "(a) or". | |
| 14 | (1) Section 369 (customer information orders: supplementary provisions) is amended as follows. | |
| | (2) In subsection (5) – (a) for "a customs officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs", and (b) for "customs officer" substitute "officer of Revenue and Customs". | 10 |
| | (3) In subsection (7), for "a customs officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". | 15 |
| 15 | In section 375(4) (account monitoring orders: supplementary provisions) — (a) for "a customs officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs", and | |
| | (b) for "customs officer" substitute "officer of Revenue and Customs". | |
| 16 | After section 375 insert — | 20 |
| | "Officers of Revenue and Customs | |
| | 375A Restriction on exercise of certain powers conferred on officers of Revenue and Customs | |
| | (1) This section applies to the powers conferred on an officer of Revenue and Customs which are exercisable in connection with — (a) a production order made or to be made in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (b) a search and seizure warrant issued or to be issued in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering | |
| | investigation, (c) a customer information order, and (d) an account monitoring order. | |
| | (2) The powers are exercisable by the officer only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. | 35 |
| | (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." | 40 |
| 17 | In section 377(1) (persons subject to code of practice), for paragraph (e) substitute— "(e) officers of Revenue and Customs." | |

Finance (No. 2) Bill
Schedule 46 — Proceeds of crime: powers of officers of Revenue and Customs

Finance (No. 2) Bill 589

| (c) in subsection (4), for paragraph (c) substitute— | 4.0 | т. | · 050 / (f):) | |
|--|----------|------------|--|----|
| "(d) an officer of Revenue and Customs.", (b) in subsections (2)(c) and (6)(b), for "a customs officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs," and (c) in subsection (4), for paragraph (c) substitute— "(c) an officer of Revenue and Customs." 19 After section 408 insert— "Officers of Revenue and Customs 408A Restriction on exercise of certain powers conferred on officers of Revenue and Customs which are exercisable in connection with— (a) a production order made or to be made in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (b) a search warrant issued or to be issued in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (c) a customer information order, and (d) an account monitoring order. (2) The powers are exercisable by the officer only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". 22 Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 23 In Schedule 2 to the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. 24 Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 25 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | 18 | | | |
| (b) in subsections (2)(c) and (6)(b), for "a customs officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs", and (c) in subsection (4), for paragraph (c) substitute— "(c) an officer of Revenue and Customs." 19 After section 408 insert— "Officers of Revenue and Customs 408A Restriction on exercise of certain powers conferred on officers of Revenue and Customs (1) This section applies to the powers conferred on an officer of Revenue and Customs which are exercisable in connection with— (a) a production order made or to be made in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (b) a search warrant issued or to be issued in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (c) a customer information order, and (d) an account monitoring order. (2) The powers are exercisable by the officer only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 11 In Schedule 2 to the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioners and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 22 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | (a) | , | |
| officer of Revenue and Customs", and (c) in subsection (4), for paragraph (c) substitute— "(c) an officer of Revenue and Customs." 19 After section 408 insert— "Officers of Revenue and Customs 408A Restriction on exercise of certain powers conferred on officers of Revenue and Customs (1) This section applies to the powers conferred on an officer of Revenue and Customs which are exercisable in connection with— (a) a production order made or to be made in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (b) a search warrant issued or to be issued in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (c) a customer information order, and (d) an account monitoring order. (2) The powers are exercisable by the officer only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs Act 2005 21 In Schedule 2 to the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 22 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | (b) | | |
| "(c) an officer of Revenue and Customs." 19 After section 408 insert— "Officers of Revenue and Customs 408A Restriction on exercise of certain powers conferred on officers of Revenue and Customs (1) This section applies to the powers conferred on an officer of Revenue and Customs which are exercisable in connection with— (a) a production order made or to be made in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (b) a search warrant issued or to be issued in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (c) a customer information order, and (d) an account monitoring order. (2) The powers are exercisable by the officer only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs Act 2005 21 In Schedule 2 to the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 22 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | () | officer of Revenue and Customs", and | 5 |
| ### After section 408 insert— ***Officers of Revenue and Customs** #### 408A Restriction on exercise of certain powers conferred on officers of Revenue and Customs which are exercisable in connection with— (a) a production order made or to be made in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (b) a search warrant issued or to be issued in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (c) a customer information order, and (d) an account monitoring order. (2) The powers are exercisable by the officer only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005.** 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". 21 In Schedule 2 to the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. **Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act* 22 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | (c) | | |
| ### 408A Restriction on exercise of certain powers conferred on officers of Revenue and Customs (1) This section applies to the powers conferred on an officer of Revenue and Customs which are exercisable in connection with— (a) a production order made or to be made in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (b) a search warrant issued or to be issued in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (c) a customer information order, and (d) an account monitoring order. (2) The powers are exercisable by the officer only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005. 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioners and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 22 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | | "(c) an officer of Revenue and Customs." | |
| 408A Restriction on exercise of certain powers conferred on officers of Revenue and Customs (1) This section applies to the powers conferred on an officer of Revenue and Customs which are exercisable in connection with — (a) a production order made or to be made in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (b) a search warrant issued or to be issued in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (c) a customer information order, and (d) an account monitoring order. (2) The powers are exercisable by the officer only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioners and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 22 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under — (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | 19 | After | section 408 insert – | |
| (1) This section applies to the powers conferred on an officer of Revenue and Customs which are exercisable in connection with— (a) a production order made or to be made in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (b) a search warrant issued or to be issued in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (c) a customer information order, and (d) an account monitoring order. (2) The powers are exercisable by the officer only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 21 In Schedule 2 to the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 22 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | | "Officers of Revenue and Customs | |
| and Customs which are exercisable in connection with— (a) a production order made or to be made in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (b) a search warrant issued or to be issued in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (c) a customer information order, and (d) an account monitoring order. (2) The powers are exercisable by the officer only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions of functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 22 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | | | 10 |
| (a) a production order made or to be made in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (b) a search warrant issued or to be issued in relation to a confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (c) a customer information order, and (d) an account monitoring order. (2) The powers are exercisable by the officer only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit — (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 22 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under — (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | (1) | | |
| confiscation investigation or a money laundering investigation, (c) a customer information order, and (d) an account monitoring order. (2) The powers are exercisable by the officer only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 22 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | | confiscation investigation or a money laundering | 15 |
| (d) an account monitoring order. (2) The powers are exercisable by the officer only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". 21 In Schedule 2 to the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. 23 Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 24 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | | confiscation investigation or a money laundering | |
| (2) The powers are exercisable by the officer only so far as the officer is exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 22 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | | | 20 |
| exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded matter. (3) The reference in subsection (2) to an excluded matter is to a matter specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". 20 In Schedule 2 to the Commissioners for Revenue and Evaluation of the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". 21 In Schedule 2 to the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. 22 Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 23 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | (2) | | |
| specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005." 20 In section 412 (interpretation), in the entry relating to the meaning of references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". 20 Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 and Customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". 21 In Schedule 2 to the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. 22 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | (2) | exercising a function relating to a matter other than an excluded | |
| references to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an officer of Revenue and Customs". Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 In Schedule 2 to the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | (3) | specified in section 54(4)(b) of, or in any of paragraphs 3, 5, 7, 10, 12 and 14 to 30 of Schedule 1 to, the Commissioners for Revenue and | 25 |
| In Schedule 2 to the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (restrictions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 22 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | 20 | refere | nces to a "constable", for "a customs and excise officer" substitute "an | 30 |
| (restrictions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— (a) paragraphs 13 and 13A, and (b) the italic heading immediately preceding those paragraphs. Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act 22 Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | Commis | sioners fo | r Revenue and Customs Act 2005 | |
| Relationship of provisions of 2005 Act with provisions of 2002 Act Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under — (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | 21 | (restri | ctions on functions of Commissioner and officers), omit— paragraphs 13 and 13A, and | 35 |
| Nothing in section 6 or 7 of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | Relation | () | | |
| Act 2005 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which officers of Revenue and Customs may exercise a power under— (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | | | | |
| (a) Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by this Schedule), or | 22 | Act 20 | 05 (initial functions) restricts the functions in connection with which | 40 |
| | | | Chapter 3 of Part 5 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended | 40 |
| | | (b) | • | |

Consequential amendments

- In section 80(1) and (3) of the Serious Crime Act 2007 (amendment of sections 352(5) and 353(10) of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002), omit paragraph (a) and the word "and" at the end of that paragraph.
- In Schedule 7 to the Policing and Crime Act 2009 (minor and consequential amendments), omit paragraph 116.

SCHEDULE 47

Section 226

CORPORATION TAX: DEFERRAL OF PAYMENT OF EXIT CHARGE

Amendments of TMA 1970

1 TMA 1970 is amended in accordance with paragraphs 2 to 6.

10

5

2 After section 59F insert –

"59FA Exit charge payment plans

(1) Schedule 3ZB contains provisions about exit charge payment plans in accordance with which companies may defer payment of certain corporation tax.

15

- (2) Parts 1 and 2 of the Schedule each make provision about the circumstances in which an exit charge payment plan may be entered into, and about determining the amount of corporation tax that may be deferred
 - (a) see Part 1 in relation to a company which ceases to be resident in the United Kingdom, and

20

(b) see Part 2 in relation to a company which is not resident in the United Kingdom but which carries on, or has carried on, a trade in the United Kingdom through a permanent establishment there.

25

- (3) Part 3 of the Schedule contains provision about
 - (a) entering into an exit charge payment plan,
 - (b) the effect of such a plan,
 - (c) the content of such a plan, and
 - (d) the methods in accordance with which tax deferred under such a plan may be paid."

30

3 Immediately before section 59G insert –

"Managed payment plans".

4 (1) Section 109B (provision for securing payment by company of outstanding tax) is amended as follows.

- (2) In subsection (1), at the end insert ", subject to subsection (5A)."
- (3) In subsection (4)(b), at the end insert "(which may include a proposal to enter into an exit charge payment plan in accordance with Schedule 3ZB)."

| Finance (No. 2) Bill | 591 |
|---|-----|
| Schedule 47 — Cornoration tax: deferral of payment of exit charge | |

| Schedi | ıle 47 | ′ – Corpo | ration tax: deferral of payment of exit charge | |
|--------|--------|-----------|--|----|
| | (4) | After s | subsection (5) insert – | |
| | | "(5A) | Condition D does not apply to the extent that payment of the tax is to be secured by the company entering into an exit charge payment plan in accordance with Schedule 3ZB." | |
| 5 | (1) | Section | n 109E (liability of other persons for unpaid tax) is amended as s. | 5 |
| | (2) | After s | subsection (1) insert — | |
| | | "(1A) | The reference in subsection (1)(b) to the time when tax becomes payable is a reference to— | 10 |
| | | | (a) in a case where an exit charge payment plan has been entered into in accordance with Schedule 3ZB in respect of the tax, the time when the tax becomes payable under the plan, and | 10 |
| | | | (b) in any other case, the time when the tax becomes payable in accordance with section 59D or 59E." | |
| | (3) | | osection (2), for "the time when the amount of the tax is finally nined" substitute "the relevant time". | 15 |
| | (4) | After s | subsection (2) insert – | |
| | | "(2A) | In subsection (2) the "relevant time" means — (a) in a case where an exit charge payment plan has been entered into in accordance with Schedule 3ZB in respect of the tax, the later of — | 20 |
| | | | (i) the first day after the period of 12 months beginning immediately after the migration accounting period (as defined in Part 1 or 2 of Schedule 3ZB, as the case may be), and | 25 |
| | | | (ii) the date on which the tax is payable under the plan, and | |
| | | | (b) in any other case, the time when the amount of the tax is finally determined." | |
| 6 | | After S | Schedule 3ZA insert – | 30 |
| | | | "SCHEDULE 3ZB | |
| | | | EXIT CHARGE PAYMENT PLANS | |
| | | | Part 1 | |
| | | | COMPANY CEASING TO BE RESIDENT IN UK | |
| | C | Circumst | ances in which exit charge payment plan may be entered into | 35 |
| | | 1 (| (1) This Part of this Schedule and Part 3 of this Schedule apply where an eligible company — | |
| | | | (a) ceases to be resident in the United Kingdom,(b) on ceasing to be so resident, becomes resident in another EEA state, and | 40 |

(c) is liable to pay qualifying corporation tax in respect of the migration accounting period.

| | | Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 47 — Corporation tax: deferral of payment of exit charge | |
|-----|-------------------|--|----|
| (2) | corpor | mpany may defer payment of some or all of the qualifying ation tax if it enters into an exit charge payment plan in tof it in accordance with this Schedule. | |
| (3) | | mpany may enter into an exit charge payment plan only if ions A to C are met. | 5 |
| (4) | beginn (a) | cion A is that before the end of the period of 9 months ing immediately after the migration accounting period—an application to enter into the exit charge payment plan is made to Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, and | 10 |
| | (b) | the application contains details of all the matters which are required by Part 3 of this Schedule to be specified in the plan. | 10 |
| (5) | | cion B is that on ceasing to be resident in the United com, the company carries on a business in an EEA state. | |
| (6) | the cor Europe | cion C is that, on becoming resident in the other EEA state, mpany is not treated as resident in a territory outside the ean Economic Area for the purposes of any double taxation ements. | 15 |
| (7) | | paragraph— louble taxation arrangements" means arrangements which are made by two or more territories with a view to affording relief from double taxation and which have effect at the time when the company ceases to be resident in the United Kingdom; | 20 |
| | "€ | eligible company" means a company that has a right to freedom of establishment protected by Article 49 of the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union or established by Article 31 of the Agreement on the European Economic Area. | 25 |
| (8) | In this | Part of this Schedule – | 30 |
| | (a) | references to the migration accounting period are to— (i) in a case where an accounting period comes to an end on the company ceasing to be resident in the United Kingdom, that accounting period, and | |
| | | (ii) in a case not falling within sub-paragraph (i), the accounting period during which the company ceases to be resident in the United Kingdom, | 35 |
| | (b) | references to a Part 1 company are to a company in relation to which this Part of this Schedule applies, and | |
| | (c) | references to Part 3 of this Schedule are to Part 3 of this Schedule as it applies to a Part 1 company. | 40 |

Qualifying corporation tax

(1) The company is liable to pay qualifying corporation tax in respect of the migration accounting period if CT1 is greater than CT2 2 where -

> CT1 is the corporation tax which the company is liable to pay for the accounting period, and

| | | CT2 is the corporation tax which the company would be liable to pay for the accounting period if any income, profits, gains, losses or debits arising only by virtue of the exit charge provisions were ignored, (CT2 will be zero if the company would not be liable to pay any corporation tax for the period). | 5 |
|----------|-------|--|----|
| | (2) | The amount of qualifying corporation tax which the company is liable to pay is the difference between CT1 and CT2. | |
| | (3) | "Exit charge provisions" means — (a) section 185 of the 1992 Act, (b) section 187(4) of that Act, where that subsection applies by virtue of section 187(4)(c), (c) section 162 of CTA 2009, where that section applies by | 10 |
| | | virtue of section 41(2)(b) of that Act, | |
| | | (d) section 333 of that Act, | 15 |
| | | (e) section 609 of that Act,(f) section 859 of that Act, where that section applies by virtue of section 859(2)(a), and | |
| | | (g) section 862 of that Act, where that section applies by virtue of section 862(1)(c). | 20 |
| | (4) | References in this Part of this Schedule and Part 3 of this Schedule to qualifying corporation tax are to be read in accordance with this paragraph. | |
| Interpre | tatio | n: exit charge assets and liabilities | |
| 3 | (1) | This paragraph applies for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule and Part 3 of this Schedule. | 25 |
| | (2) | "Exit charge assets" and "exit charge liabilities" means assets or liabilities (as the case may be) in respect of which income, profits or gains arise in the migration accounting period by virtue of the exit charge provisions, and in particular— | 30 |
| | | (a) "TCGA or trading stock exit charge assets" means those exit charge assets, other than pre-FA 2002 intangible fixed assets, in respect of which income, profits or gains arise by virtue of the exit charge provision mentioned in paragraph | |
| | | 2(3)(a), (b) or (c), | 35 |
| | | (b) "financial exit charge assets or liabilities" means those exit charge assets or liabilities in respect of which income, profits or gains arise by virtue of the exit charge provision mentioned in paragraph 2(3)(d) or (e), | |
| | | (c) "intangible exit charge assets" means— | 40 |
| | | (i) those exit charge assets in respect of which income, profits or gains arise by virtue of the exit charge provision mentioned in paragraph 2(3)(f) or (g), and | |
| | | (ii) those exit charge assets which are pre-FA 2002 intangible fixed assets in respect of which income, profits or gains arise by virtue of the exit charge provision mentioned in paragraph 2(3)(a) or (b). | 45 |

15

30

35

40

- (3) In sub-paragraph (2)
 - (a) "exit charge provisions" has the meaning given in paragraph 2(3);
 - (b) "pre-FA 2002 intangible fixed asset" means an intangible fixed asset which is a pre-FA 2002 asset (as defined in section 881 of CTA 2009).

PART 2

NON-UK RESIDENT COMPANIES WITH UK PERMANENT ESTABLISHMENTS

Circumstances in which exit charge payment plan may be entered into

- 4 (1) This Part of this Schedule and Part 3 of this Schedule apply where—
 - (a) at any time during an accounting period ("the migration accounting period") an eligible company which is not resident in the United Kingdom carries on a trade in the United Kingdom through a permanent establishment there,
 - (b) one or more PE qualifying events occurs in respect of any assets or liabilities of the company as mentioned in subparagraph (4), and
 - (c) the company is liable to pay qualifying corporation tax in respect of the migration accounting period.
 - (2) The company may defer payment of some or all of the qualifying corporation tax if it enters into an exit charge payment plan in respect of it in accordance with this Schedule.
 - (3) The company may enter into an exit charge payment plan only if before the end of the period of 9 months beginning immediately after the migration accounting period—
 - (a) an application to enter into the exit charge payment plan is made to Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, and
 - (b) the application contains details of all the matters which are required by Part 3 of this Schedule to be specified in the plan.
 - (4) For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, a "PE qualifying event" occurs in respect of an asset or liability of a company if
 - (a) an event occurs which triggers—
 - (i) a deemed disposal and reacquisition of the asset or liability under the exit charge provision mentioned in paragraph 5(3)(a), (c), (d) or (e), or
 - (ii) a valuation of the asset under the exit charge provision mentioned in paragraph 5(3)(b),
 - (b) the event
 - (i) occurs during the migration accounting period, or
 - (ii) causes the migration accounting period to come to an end, and
 - (c) at the time of the event, the company is not treated as resident in a territory outside the European Economic Area for the purposes of any double taxation arrangements.

40

| 47 – Corporat | ion tax: deferral of payment of exit charge | |
|---------------|---|--|
| (5) | In this Part of this Schedule, references to a PE qualifying asset or liability are to an asset or liability in respect of which a PE qualifying event occurs. | |
| (6) | In this paragraph "double taxation arrangements" and "eligible company" have the meanings given in paragraph 1(7). | |
| (7) | In this Part of this Schedule – (a) references to the migration accounting period are to be read in accordance with this paragraph; (b) references to a Part 2 company are to a company in relation to which this Part of this Schedule applies, (c) references to Part 3 of this Schedule are to Part 3 of this Schedule as it applies to a Part 2 company, and (d) "permanent establishment", in relation to a company, is to be read in accordance with Chapter 2 of Part 24 of CTA 2010. | |
| Qualifying (| corporation tax | |
| 5 (1) | The company is liable to pay qualifying corporation tax in respect of the migration accounting period if CT1 is greater than CT2 where— CT1 is the corporation tax which the company is liable to pay for the accounting period, and CT2 is the corporation tax which the company would be liable to pay for the accounting period if any income, profits, gains, losses or debits arising as a result of any PE qualifying events, and arising only by virtue of the exit charge provisions, were ignored, (CT2 will be zero if the company would not be liable to pay any corporation tax for the period). | |
| (2) | The amount of qualifying corporation tax which the company is liable to pay is the difference between CT1 and CT2. | |
| (3) | Exit charge provisions means — (a) section 25 of the 1992 Act, (b) section 162 of CTA 2009, where that section applies by virtue of section 41(2)(b) of that Act, (c) section 334 of that Act, (d) section 610 of that Act, and | |

Interpretation: exit charge assets and liabilities

of section 859(2)(b).

(1) This paragraph applies for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule and Part 3 of this Schedule. 6

(e) section 859 of that Act, where that section applies by virtue

(4) References in this Part of this Schedule and Part 3 of this Schedule to qualifying corporation tax are to be read in accordance with this paragraph.

Schedule 47 - Corporation tax: deferral of payment of exit charge (2) "Exit charge assets" and "exit charge liabilities" means any PE qualifying assets or liabilities (as the case may be) in respect of which income, profits or gains arise in the migration accounting period by virtue of the exit charge provisions, and in particular – "TCGA or trading stock exit charge assets" means those 5 exit charge assets, other than pre-FA 2002 intangible fixed assets, in respect of which income, profits or gains arise by virtue of the exit charge provision mentioned in paragraph 5(3)(a) or (b); "financial exit charge assets or liabilities" means those exit 10 charge assets or liabilities in respect of which income, profits or gains arise by virtue of the exit charge provision mentioned in paragraph 5(3)(c) or (d); "intangible exit charge assets" means those exit charge assets in respect of which income, 15 profits or gains arise by virtue of the exit charge provision mentioned in paragraph 5(3)(e), and those exit charge assets which are pre-FA 2002 intangible fixed assets in respect of which income, 20 profits or gains arise by virtue of the exit charge provision mentioned in paragraph 5(3)(a). (3) In sub-paragraph (2) – "exit charge provisions" has the meaning given in paragraph 5(3); "pre-FA 2002 intangible fixed asset" means an intangible 25 fixed asset which is a pre-FA 2002 asset (as defined in section 881 of CTA 2009). PART 3 ENTERING INTO AN EXIT CHARGE PAYMENT PLAN Introduction 30 (1) As to when this Part of this Schedule applies, see – Part 1 of this Schedule (companies ceasing to be resident in the United Kingdom), and Part 2 of this Schedule (companies with permanent 35 establishments in the United Kingdom). (2) In this Part of this Schedule, as it applies to a company in relation to which Part 1 of this Schedule applies, terms and expressions which are used in this Part and in that Part have the same meanings in this Part as in that Part. (3) In this Part of this Schedule, as it applies to a company in relation 40 to which Part 2 of this Schedule applies, terms and expressions which are used in this Part and in that Part have the same meanings in this Part as in that Part.

Entering into an exit charge payment plan

- (1) A Part 1 company or a Part 2 company enters into an exit charge payment plan in respect of qualifying corporation tax in accordance with this Schedule if
 - the company agrees to pay, and an officer of Revenue and Customs agrees to accept payment of, the tax in accordance with the standard instalment method (see paragraph 13) or the realisation method (see paragraphs 14 to 17) or a combination of the two methods,

5

10

15

35

40

45

- the company agrees to pay interest on the tax in accordance with paragraph 9(3), and
- the plan meets the requirements set out in paragraphs 10 to 12 as to the matters that must be specified in it.
- (2) The exit charge payment plan may, in the circumstances mentioned in sub-paragraph (3), contain appropriate provision regarding security for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs in respect of the deferred payment of the tax.
- (3) Those circumstances are where an officer of Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs considers that agreeing to accept payment of qualifying corporation tax in accordance with the plan would 20 present a serious risk as to collection of the tax in the absence of provision regarding security in respect of that tax.
- (4) An exit charge payment plan is void if any information furnished by the company in connection with the plan does not fully and accurately disclose all facts and considerations material to the 25 decision of the officer of Revenue and Customs to accept payment of qualifying corporation tax in accordance with the plan.

Effect of exit charge payment plan

- (1) This paragraph applies where an exit charge payment plan is entered into by a company in respect of qualifying corporation tax 30 in accordance with this Schedule.
 - (2) As regards when the tax is payable
 - the plan does not prevent the tax becoming due and payable under section 59D or 59E, but
 - the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs
 - may not seek payment of the tax otherwise than in accordance with the plan;
 - may make repayments in respect of any amount of the tax paid, or any amount paid on account of the tax, before the plan is entered into.
 - (3) As regards interest
 - the tax carries interest in accordance with Part 9 as if the plan had not been entered into, and
 - each time a payment is made under the plan, it is to be paid together with any interest payable on it.

- Schedule 47 Corporation tax: deferral of payment of exit charge (4) As regards penalties, the company will be liable to penalties for late payment of the tax only if it fails to make payments in accordance with the plan (see item 6ZA of the Table at the end of paragraph 1 of Schedule 56 to the Finance Act 2009). (5) Qualifying corporation tax payable in accordance with an exit 5 charge payment plan which is for the time being unpaid may be paid at any time before it becomes payable under the plan together with interest payable on it to the date of payment. Content of exit charge payment plan 10 (1) An exit charge payment plan entered into by a Part 1 company must specify – the date on which the company ceased to be resident in the United Kingdom, and the EEA state in which the company has become resident. (2) An exit charge payment plan entered into by a Part 2 company 15 must specify – the EEA state in which the company is resident, and if the company has ceased to carry on a trade in the United Kingdom through a permanent establishment there, the date on which it ceased to do so. 20 (3) In either case an exit charge payment plan entered into by a company must also specify – the amount of qualifying corporation tax which, in the company's opinion, is payable by it in respect of the migration accounting period, 25 the amount of that qualifying corporation tax which the company wishes to defer paying under the exit charge payment plan ("ECPP tax"), and whether the ECPP tax is to be paid in accordance with – the standard instalment method (see paragraph 30 the realisation method (see paragraphs 14 to 17), or a combination of the two methods. (4) If the ECPP tax is to be paid in accordance with a combination of the two methods, the exit charge payment plan must also 35 specify – (a) in the case of each of the company's exit charge assets or liabilities (see paragraphs 3(2) or 6(2), as the case may be), the method in accordance with which the amount of ECPP tax attributable to the asset or liability (see sub-paragraph 40
 - (6)) is to be paid, and (b) the amount of the ECPP tax specified under sub-paragraph (3)(b) that is to be paid in accordance with each method.
 - (5) But an exit charge payment plan may specify that any ECPP tax is to be paid in accordance with the standard instalment method 45 only if
 - in the case of a plan entered into by a Part 1 company, the (a) company's ceasing to be resident in the United Kingdom is

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

- not part of arrangements the main purpose of which, or one of the main purposes of which, is to defer the payment of any qualifying corporation tax payable by it;
- (b) in the case of a plan entered into by a Part 2 company, none of the PE qualifying events occurring during the migration accounting period, or bringing that period to an end, is part of arrangements the main purpose of which, or one of the main purposes of which, is to defer the payment of any qualifying corporation tax payable by it.
- (6) The amount of ECPP tax attributable to each exit charge asset or liability is —

$$\frac{A}{B} \times T$$

where-

"A" is the income, profits or gains arising in respect of the asset or liability in the migration accounting period by virtue of the relevant exit charge provision only,

"B" is the total income, profits or gains arising in respect of all the exit charge assets and liabilities in the migration accounting period by virtue of the exit charge provisions only, and

"T" is the ECPP tax.

Content: realisation method

- 11 (1) This paragraph applies if, under an exit charge payment plan, the amount of ECPP tax attributable to any exit charge asset or liability is to be paid in accordance with the realisation method.
 - (2) The plan must specify
 - (a) each such asset or liability (so far as not already specified under paragraph 10(4)(a)), and
 - (b) the amount of ECPP tax attributable to the asset or liability, calculated in accordance with paragraph 10(6).
 - (3) The plan must also include requirements as to the ongoing provision of information by the company to Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs in relation to the asset or liability.

Content: additional information relating to assets and liabilities

- 12 (1) This paragraph applies if, under an exit charge payment plan, the amount of ECPP tax attributable to an exit charge asset or liability is to be paid in accordance with the realisation method.
 - (2) The plan must specify any additional information required by this paragraph in relation to the asset or liability.
 - (3) Sub-paragraph (4) applies in the case of a financial exit charge asset or liability if, immediately after the migration accounting period, the remaining term of the loan relationship or derivative contract in question is less than 10 years.

| | Finance (No. 2) Bill Schedule 47 — Corporation tax: deferral of payment of exit charge | |
|--------------|---|----------|
| (4 | The plan must specify, in relation to the asset or liability, how many years of the term of the loan relationship or derivative contract remain (rounded up to the nearest whole year). | |
| (5 | Sub-paragraph (6) applies in the case of an intangible exit charge asset if, immediately after the migration accounting period, the remaining useful life of the asset for accountancy purposes is less than 10 years. | 5 |
| (6 | The plan must specify, in relation to the asset, how many years of the useful life of the asset remain (rounded up to the nearest whole year). | 10 |
| The standar | rd instalment method | |
| 13 (1 | This paragraph applies if, under an exit charge payment plan, some or all of the ECPP tax is to be paid in accordance with the standard instalment method. | |
| (2 | The amount of the ECPP tax that is to be paid in accordance with the standard instalment method is payable in 6 instalments of equal amounts as follows— | 15 |
| | (a) the first instalment is due on the first day after the period of 9 months beginning immediately after the migration accounting period, and(b) the other 5 instalments are due one on each of the first 5 anniversaries of that day. | 20 |
| (3 | But if a relevant event occurs, the outstanding balance of the ECPP tax that is payable in accordance with the standard instalment method is payable on the date on which the next instalment of that tax would otherwise have been due under the plan. | 25 |
| (4 | (a) the company becoming insolvent or entering into administration, (b) the appointment of a liquidator, (c) any event under the law of an EEA state outside the United Kingdom corresponding to an event specified in paragraph (a) or (b), or (d) the company ceasing to be resident in an EEA state and, on so ceasing, not becoming resident in any other EEA state. | 30 35 |
| The realisat | ion method: TCGA or trading stock exit charge assets | |
| | This paragraph applies if— (a) under an exit charge payment plan, the amount of ECPP tax attributable to an exit charge asset is to be paid in accordance with the realisation method, and (b) the asset is a TCGA or trading stock exit charge asset (see paragraph 3(2)(a) or 6(2)(a), as the case may be). | 40 |
| (2 | The amount of ECPP tax attributable to the asset under paragraph 10(6) is payable in relation to whichever is the first to occur of the following events— (a) the disposal of that asset at any time after— | 45 |

(4) The instalments are due as follows –

| 47 – Corpora | tion tax: deferral of payment of exit charge |
|--------------|--|
| | (i) the company ceases to be resident in the United Kingdom (in the case of a Part 1 company), or (ii) the occurrence of the PE qualifying event in respect of the asset (in the case of a Part 2 company), (b) the tenth anniversary of the end of the migration accounting period, or (c) a relevant event (as defined in paragraph 13(4)). |
| (3 |) The date on which the amount is payable is— |
| | (a) in a case falling within sub-paragraph (2)(a) or (b), the date of the event referred to, and |
| | (b) in a case falling within sub-paragraph (2)(c), the relevant date or, if that date has already passed, the next anniversary of that date. |
| (4 | In sub-paragraph (3)(b), "relevant date" means the first day after the period of 9 months beginning immediately after the migration accounting period. |
| (5 | Section 21(2) of the 1992 Act (part disposals of assets) applies for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a) as it applies for the purposes of that Act. |
| (6 | Where part of an asset is disposed of at any time after the event mentioned in sub-paragraph (2)(a), the amount of ECPP tax attributable to the asset under paragraph 10(6) is to be apportioned on a just and reasonable basis for the purpose of applying this paragraph to the part of the asset disposed of and the part which remains undisposed of. |
| The realisat | ion method: other exit charge assets and liabilities |
| 15 (1 |) This paragraph applies if — |
| | (a) under an exit charge payment plan, the ECPP tax attributable to an exit charge asset or liability is to be paid in accordance with the realisation method, and (b) the asset or liability is — (i) a financial exit charge asset or liability, or |
| | (ii) an intangible exit charge asset, (see paragraph 3(2)(b) and (c) or 6(2)(b) and (c), as the case may be). |
| (2 | The amount of ECPP tax attributable to any such asset or liability under paragraph 10(6) is payable in a number of annual instalments of equal amounts. |
| (3 | (a) in a case where a number of years is specified in the plan in relation to the asset or liability by virtue of paragraph 12(4) or (6), that number, and (b) otherwise, 10. |

the first instalment is due on the first day after the period

| | | of 9 months beginning immediately after the migration accounting period, and (b) the other instalments are due one on each of the subsequent anniversaries of that day (until they are all paid). | 5 |
|---------|------|---|----|
| | (5) | But see paragraphs 16 and 17 for circumstances in which all or part of the outstanding balance of the amount of ECPP tax attributable to the asset or liability under paragraph 10(6) ("the outstanding balance in respect of the asset or liability") becomes payable. | 10 |
| Outstan | ding | g balance becoming payable in full | |
| 16 | (1) | This paragraph applies where the amount of ECPP tax attributable to an asset or liability under paragraph 10(6) is payable in instalments in accordance with paragraph 15. | |
| | (2) | All of the outstanding balance in respect of the asset or liability (as defined in paragraph 15(5)) is payable in accordance with subparagraph (3) if — | 15 |
| | | (a) a trigger event occurs in relation to the asset or liability (see sub-paragraph (4)), or | |
| | | (b) a relevant event occurs (as defined in paragraph 13(4)), before the last instalment is payable in accordance with paragraph 15. | 20 |
| | (3) | The outstanding balance is payable— | |
| | | (a) in a case falling within sub-paragraph (2)(a), on the date of the trigger event, and | 25 |
| | | (b) in a case falling within sub-paragraph (2)(b), on the date on which the next instalment would otherwise have been due under the plan. | |
| | (4) | For the purposes of this paragraph, a trigger event occurs in relation to an asset or liability if — | 30 |
| | | (a) in the case of a financial exit charge asset or liability, the company ceases to be party to the loan relationship or derivative contract in question, or | |
| | | (b) in the case of an intangible fixed asset, the asset is disposed of. | 35 |
| Outstan | ding | g balance becoming payable in part | |
| 17 | (1) | This paragraph applies where – | |
| | | (a) the amount of ECPP tax attributable to an asset or liability under paragraph 10(6) is payable in instalments in accordance with paragraph 15, and | 40 |
| | | (b) a partial trigger event occurs in relation to the asset or liability (see sub-paragraph (4)) before the last instalment is payable. | |
| | (2) | On the occurrence of that event, part of the outstanding balance in respect of the asset or liability (as defined in paragraph 15(5)) is payable. | 45 |
| | | | |

- (3) The part payable under sub-paragraph (2) is so much of the outstanding balance in respect of the asset or liability as is attributable to the transaction mentioned in sub-paragraph (4)(a) or (b).
- (4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), a partial trigger event occurs in relation to an asset or liability if —

- in the case of a financial exit charge asset or liability
 - there is a disposal of rights or liabilities under the loan relationship or derivative contract in question which amounts to a related transaction (as defined in section 304 or 596 of CTA 2009 as the case may be), but

10

the transaction does not result in the company ceasing to be party to the relationship or contract,

15

- in the case of an intangible exit charge asset, there is a transaction which
 - results in a reduction in the accounting value of the asset, but
- 20
- does not result in the asset ceasing to be recognised in the company's balance sheet.

(5) Where part of the outstanding balance in respect of an asset or liability is paid in accordance with sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), the remaining instalments due under paragraph 15 in respect of the asset or liability continue to be payable so far as they relate to the remaining asset or liability (subject to paragraph 16 and this paragraph).

25

- (6) In sub-paragraph (5), the "remaining asset or liability" means
 - in a case within sub-paragraph (4)(a), the loan relationship or derivative contract as it exists following the related transaction,

30

- in a case within sub-paragraph (4)(b), the asset as it continues to be recognised on the balance sheet following the transaction mentioned in that sub-paragraph.
- (7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (3) and (5) –

35

- the outstanding balance in respect of the asset or liability,
- the remaining instalments due under paragraph 15 in respect of the asset or liability,

are to be apportioned on a just and reasonable basis between the transaction mentioned in sub-paragraph (4)(a) or (b) and the remaining asset or liability.

40

(8) In relation to an intangible exit charge asset that has no balance sheet value (or no longer has a balance sheet value), subparagraph (4)(b) applies as if, immediately before the transaction, it did have a balance sheet value."

45

Amendments of FA 2009

the Table at the end of paragraph 1, after entry 6 insert –

| "6ZA | Corporation tax | Amount payable under an exit charge payment plan entered into in accordance with Schedule 3ZB to TMA 1970 | (a) the first day after the period of 12 months beginning | 5 |
|------|-----------------|---|--|----|
| | | | accounting period (as defined in Part 1 or 2 of Schedule 3ZB | 10 |
| | | | to TMA 1970, as the case may be), and | 15 |
| | | | (b) the date on which the amount is payable under the plan." | 20 |

Commencement

- 8 (1) The amendments made by this Schedule are treated as having come into force on 11 December 2012 in relation to an accounting period if the relevant day, in relation to that period, falls on or after 11 December 2012.
 - (2) In sub-paragraph (1) "the relevant day", in relation to an accounting period, means the first day after the period of 9 months beginning immediately after the accounting period.
 - (3) But if the relevant day falls between 11 December 2012 and 31 March 2013 (inclusive), paragraphs 1(4) and 4(3) of Schedule 3ZB to TMA 1970 (inserted by this Schedule) have effect as if, in each case, for "before the end of the period of 9 months beginning immediately after the migration accounting period" there were substituted "on or before 31 March 2013".

SCHEDULE 48 Section 227 35

40

PENALTIES: LATE FILING, LATE PAYMENT AND ERRORS

Amendments to Schedule 24 to FA 2007: penalties for errors

- 1 (1) In Schedule 24 to FA 2007 (penalties for errors), paragraph 13 (procedure: assessment) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In sub-paragraph (1)(c), after "assessed" insert "(subject to sub-paragraph (1ZB))".

10

20

25

30

35

40

| (3) After sub-paragraph (1) insert | (3) | (3 | 3) | After | sub-1 | parag | graj | oh (| (1) | insert. | _ |
|------------------------------------|-----|----|----|-------|-------|-------|------|------|-----|---------|---|
|------------------------------------|-----|----|----|-------|-------|-------|------|------|-----|---------|---|

- "(1ZA) Sub-paragraph (1ZB) applies where
 - (a) a person is at any time liable for two or more penalties relating to PAYE returns, or for two or more penalties relating to CIS returns, and
 - (b) the penalties ("the relevant penalties") are assessed in respect of more than one tax period ("the relevant tax periods").
 - (1ZB) A notice under sub-paragraph (1) in respect of any of the relevant penalties may, instead of stating the tax period in respect of which the penalty is assessed, state the tax year or the part of a tax year to which the penalty relates.
- (1ZC) For that purpose, a relevant penalty relates to the tax year or the part of a tax year in which the relevant tax periods fall.
- (1ZD) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1ZA) 15

 "a PAYE return" means a return for the purposes of PAYE
 - "a CIS return" means a return for the purposes of regulations under section 70(1)(a) of FA 2004 in connection with deductions on account of tax under the Construction Industry Scheme."

Amendments to Schedule 55 to FA 2009: penalty for failure to make returns

regulations;

- 2 Schedule 55 (penalty for failure to make returns etc) to FA 2009 is amended in accordance with paragraphs 3 to 9.
- In paragraph 1 (returns etc in respect of which penalties are to be paid under that Schedule)
 - (a) in the definition of "penalty date" in sub-paragraph (4), after "document" insert "falling within any of items 1 to 3 and 5 to 13 in the Table";
 - (b) after sub-paragraph (4) insert
 - "(4A) The Treasury may by order make such amendments to item 4 in the Table as they think fit in consequence of any amendment, revocation or re-enactment of the regulations mentioned in that item."
- In the Table at the end of paragraph 1, in item 4 (annual return of payments for purposes of PAYE regulations etc), for the words in the third column substitute—

"Return under any of the following provisions of the Income Tax (PAYE) Regulations 2003 (S.I. 2003/2682)—

- (a) regulation 67B (real time returns)
- (b) regulation 67D (exceptions to regulation 67B)".
- In paragraph 2 (amount of penalty: occasional returns and returns for periods of 6 months or more), for "1 to 5" substitute "1 to 3, 5".

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

6 After paragraph 6A insert –

"Amount of penalty: real time information for PAYE

- 6B Paragraphs 6C and 6D apply in the case of a return falling within item 4 in the Table.
- 6C (1) If P fails during a tax month to make a return on or before the filing date, P is liable to a penalty under this paragraph in respect of that month.
 - (2) But this is subject to sub-paragraphs (3) and (4).
 - (3) P is not liable to a penalty under this paragraph in respect of a tax month as a result of any failure to make a return on or before the filing date which occurs during the initial period.
 - (4) P is not liable to a penalty under this paragraph in respect of a tax month falling in a tax year if the month is the first tax month in that tax year during which P fails to make a return on or before the filing date (disregarding for this purpose any failure which occurs during the initial period).
 - (5) In sub-paragraphs (3) and (4) "the initial period" means the period which
 - (a) begins with the day in the first tax year on which P is first required to make a return, and
 - (b) is of such duration as is specified in regulations made by the Commissioners,

and for this purpose "the first tax year" means the first tax year in which P is required to make returns.

- (6) P may be liable under this paragraph to no more than one penalty in respect of each tax month.
- (7) The penalty under this paragraph is to be calculated in accordance with regulations made by the Commissioners.
- (8) Regulations under sub-paragraph (7) may provide for a penalty under this paragraph in respect of a tax month to be calculated by reference to either or both of the following matters
 - (a) the number of persons employed by P, or treated as employed by P for the purposes of PAYE regulations;
 - (b) the number of previous penalties incurred by P under this paragraph in the same tax year.
- (9) The Commissioners may by regulations disapply sub-paragraph (3) or (4) in such circumstances as are specified in the regulations.
- (10) If P has elected under PAYE regulations to be treated as different employers in relation to different groups of employees, this paragraph applies to P as if—
 - (a) in respect of each group P were a different person, and
 - (b) each group constituted all of P's employees.
- (11) Regulations made by the Commissioners under this paragraph may –

"(5) Sub-paragraph (6) applies if —

make different provision for different cases, and (b) include incidental, consequential and supplementary provision. 6D (1) P may be liable to one or more penalties under this paragraph in respect of extended failures. 5 (2) In this paragraph an "extended failure" means a failure to make a return on or before the filing date which continues after the end of the period of 3 months beginning with the day after the filing date. (3) P is liable to a penalty or penalties under this paragraph if (and 10 only if) — HMRC decide at any time that such a penalty or penalties (a) should be payable in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) or (6), and HMRC give notice to P specifying the date from which the penalty, or each penalty, is payable. 15 (4) HMRC may decide under sub-paragraph (3)(a) that a separate penalty should be payable in respect of each unpenalised extended failure in the tax year to date. (5) In that case the amount of the penalty in respect of each failure is 20 5% of any liability to make payments which would have been shown in the return in question. (6) HMRC may decide under sub-paragraph (3)(a) that a single penalty should be payable in respect of all the unpenalised extended failures in the tax year to date. 25 (7) In that case the amount of the penalty in respect of those failures is 5% of the sum of the liabilities to make payments which would have been shown in each of the returns in question. (8) For the purposes of this paragraph, an extended failure is unpenalised if a penalty has not already been imposed in respect of it under this paragraph (whether in accordance with sub-30 paragraph (4) or (6)). (9) The date specified in the notice under sub-paragraph (3)(b) in relation to a penalty – (a) may be earlier than the date on which the notice is given, 35 may not be earlier than the end of the period mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) in relation to the relevant extended failure. (10) In sub-paragraph (9)(b) "the relevant extended failure" means – the extended failure in respect of which the penalty is 40 payable, or if the penalty is payable in respect of more than one extended failure (in accordance with sub-paragraph (6)), the extended failure with the latest filing date." In paragraph 18 (assessment), for sub-paragraph (5) substitute – 45

an assessment in respect of a penalty is based on a liability to tax that would have been shown in a return, and that liability is found by HMRC to be excessive. (6) HMRC may by notice to P amend the assessment so that it is based upon the correct amount. 5 (7) An amendment under sub-paragraph (6) – does not affect when the penalty must be paid; may be made after the last day on which the assessment in question could have been made under paragraph 19." (1) Paragraph 19 (assessment) is amended as follows. 10 (2) In sub-paragraph (2) after "Date A is" insert " in the case of an assessment of a penalty under paragraph 6C, the last day of the period of 2 years beginning with the end of the tax month in respect of which the penalty is 15 payable, in the case of an assessment of a penalty under paragraph 6D, the last day of the period of 2 years beginning with the filing date for the relevant extended failure (as defined in paragraph 6D(10)), and (c) in any other case,". 20 (3) In sub-paragraph (3)(a), after "return" insert "or returns (as the case may be in relation to penalties under section 6C or 6D)". 9 (1) Paragraph 27 (interpretation) is amended as follows. (2) After sub-paragraph (2) insert – "(2A) "The Commissioners" means the Commissioners for Her 25 Majesty's Revenue and Customs." (3) After sub-paragraph (3) insert – "(3A) "Tax month" means the period beginning with the 6th day of a month and ending with the 5th day of the following month." 30 Amendments to Schedule 56 to FA 2009: penalty for failure to make payments on time 10 Schedule 56 (penalty for failure to make payments on time) to FA 2009 is amended in accordance with paragraphs 11 to 14. 11 In paragraph 1 (penalty for failure to pay tax), in sub-paragraph (4), for the words from "the date on which" to the end substitute "the day after the date specified in or for the purposes of column 4 of the Table in relation to that 35 amount." (1) Paragraph 6 (amount of penalty: PAYE and CIS amounts) is amended as 12 follows. (2) For sub-paragraph (1) substitute – "(1) P is liable to a penalty under this paragraph, in relation to each tax, 40 each time that P makes a default in relation to a tax year."

(3) In sub-paragraph (2) –

Finance (No. 2) Bill 609

in the opening words, after "default" insert "in relation to a tax year"; in paragraph (a), at the end insert "of tax payable in relation to the tax (b) year"; in paragraph (b), at the end insert "payable in relation to the tax 5 year"; (d) in paragraph (c), at the end insert "payable in relation to the tax vear"; in paragraph (d), at the end insert "and due for the tax year". (4) For sub-paragraphs (3) to (7) substitute – "(3) But where a failure to make one of those payments (or to pay an 10 amount comprising two or more of those payments) would, apart from this sub-paragraph, constitute the first default in relation to a tax year, that failure does not count as a default in relation to that year for the purposes of a penalty under this paragraph. (4) The amount of the penalty for a default made in relation to a tax 15 year is determined by reference to – the amount of the tax comprised in the default, and the number of previous defaults that P has made in relation to the same tax year. (5) If the default is P's 1st, 2nd or 3rd default in relation to the tax year, 20 P is liable, at the time of the default, to a penalty of 1% of the amount of tax comprised in the default. (6) If the default is P's 4th, 5th or 6th default in relation to the tax year, P is liable, at the time of the default, to a penalty of 2% of the amount of tax comprised in the default. 25 (7) If the default is P's 7th, 8th or 9th default in relation to the tax year, P is liable, at the time of the default, to a penalty of 3% of the amount of tax comprised in the default. (7A) If the default is P's 10th or subsequent default in relation to the tax year, P is liable, at the time of the default, to a penalty of 4% of the 30 amount of tax comprised in the default." (5) In sub-paragraph (8), for paragraph (b) substitute – a previous default counts for the purposes of sub-"(b) paragraphs (5) to (7A) even if it is remedied before the time of the default giving rise to the penalty." 35 (6) After sub-paragraph (8) insert – "(8A) Regulations made by the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs may specify – circumstances in which, for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), a payment of less than the full amount may be treated 40 as a payment in full; circumstances in which sub-paragraph (3) is not to apply. (8B) Regulations under sub-paragraph (8A) may – make different provision for different cases, and include incidental, consequential and supplementary 45 provision."

13 After paragraph 9 insert –

"Interaction with other penalties and late payment surcharges

- 9A In the application of the following provisions, no account shall be taken of a penalty under this Schedule
 - (a) section 97A of TMA 1970 (multiple penalties),

(b) paragraph 12(2) of Schedule 24 to FA 2007 (interaction with other penalties), and

- (c) paragraph 15(1) of Schedule 41 to FA 2008 (interaction with other penalties)."
- 14 (1) Paragraph 11 (assessment of penalty) is amended as follows.

10

5

- (2) For sub-paragraph (4A) substitute
 - "(4A) If an assessment in respect of a penalty is based on an amount of tax due or payable that is found by HMRC to be excessive, HMRC may by notice to P amend the assessment so that it is based upon the correct amount.

15

- (4B) An amendment made under sub-paragraph (4A)
 - (a) does not affect when the penalty must be paid;
 - (b) may be made after the last day on which the assessment in question could have been made under paragraph 12."
- (3) Omit sub-paragraph (5).

20

Consequential amendment

In consequence of paragraph 7, paragraph 10 of Schedule 10 to the Finance (No. 3) Act 2010 is repealed.

Commencement

16 (1) The amendments made by paragraph 1 have effect in relation to any assessment of a penalty under Schedule 24 to FA 2007 made on or after the day on which this Act is passed.

25

(2) The amendments made by paragraphs 2 to 9 and 15 have effect for the tax year 2014-15 and subsequent tax years in relation to failures to make returns with a filing date (as defined in paragraph 1(4) of Schedule 55 to FA 2009) on or after 6 April 2014.

30

(3) The amendments made by paragraphs 10 to 14 have effect for defaults made in relation to the tax year 2014-15 and subsequent tax years (see paragraph 6(2) of Sch.56 to FA 2009 (as amended by paragraph 12(3) of this Schedule) as to when a default is made in relation to a tax year).

35

SCHEDULE 49

Section 230

WITHDRAWAL OF NOTICE TO FILE ETC

| | ΓM | [] | 10 | 97 | |
|-----|---------------|--------|-----|----------------|--|
| - 1 | <i>I IV</i> I | \neg | - 1 | - <i>/</i> / I | |

| 1 1 11 | 107 | O | | | | | |
|--------|-----|--|---|----------|--|--|--|
| 1 | | TMA | 1970 is amended in accordance with paragraphs 2 to 5. | | | | |
| 2 | (1) | (1) Section 7 (notice of liability to income tax and capital gains tax) is amended as follows. | | | | | |
| | (2) | In sub (a) (b) | section (1) — for paragraph (b) substitute — | 10 | | | |
| | (3) | After | subsection (1) insert — | | | | |
| | | "(1A) | A person falls within this subsection if the person has not received a notice under section 8 requiring a return for the year of assessment of the person's total income and chargeable gains. | 15 | | | |
| | | (1B) | A person falls within this subsection if the person— (a) has received a notice under section 8 requiring a return for the year of assessment of the person's total income and chargeable gains, and (b) has received a notice under section 8B withdrawing the notice under section 8. | 20 | | | |
| | | (1C) | In subsection (1) "the notification period" means — (a) in the case of a person who falls within subsection (1A), the period of 6 months from the end of the year of assessment, or (b) in the case of a person who falls within subsection (1B) — (i) the period of 6 months from the end of the year of assessment, or (ii) the period of 30 days beginning with the day after the day on which the notice under section 8 was withdrawn, whichever ends later." | 25 30 | | | |
| | (4) | "and s | section (2), for the words from "shall have effect" to the end substitute subsections (1A) to (1C) have effect as if references to a notice under a 8 were references to a notice under section 8A." | | | | |
| 3 | | After | section 8A insert – | 35 | | | |
| | "(| 8B W | ithdrawal by HMRC of notice under section 8 or 8A | | | | |
| | | (1) | This section applies to a person who is given a notice under section 8 or 8A. | | | | |

(2) Before the end of the withdrawal period, the person may request HMRC to withdraw the notice.

(3) But no request may be made if –

4

| | | Schedule 49 – Withdrawal of notice to file etc | | | |
|--------|---|---|----|--|--|
| | (a) (b) | the person has made a return under section 8 or 8A in pursuance of the notice under that section, or the person has been served with notice of a determination under section 28C by virtue of the notice under section 8 or 8A having been given to the person. | 5 | | |
| (4) | If, on receiving a request, HMRC decide to withdraw the notice under section 8 or 8A they must do so by giving the person a notice under this section. | | | | |
| (5) | A notice under this section must specify the date on which the notice under section 8 or 8A is withdrawn. | | | | |
| (6) | For the (a) | e purposes of subsection (2) "the withdrawal period" means— the period of 2 years beginning with the end of the year of assessment to which the notice under section 8 or 8A relates, or in exceptional circumstances, such extended period as | 15 | | |
| | (12) | HMRC may agree with the person. | | | |
| (7) | Withdrawal of a notice given to a person under section 8 or 8A in relation to a year of assessment does not prevent HMRC from giving the person a further notice under that section in relation to that year. | | | | |
| (8) | liabilit | tragraph 17A of Schedule 55 to FA 2009 as to the cancellation of ty to a penalty under any paragraph of that Schedule by ling provision in a notice under this section." | 20 | | |
| After | section | 12AA insert – | | | |
| "12AAA | Withd | rawal by HMRC of notice under section 12AA | | | |
| (1) | | ection applies to a partner who is required by a notice under n 12AA to deliver a return. | 25 | | |
| (2) | | e the end of the withdrawal period, the partner may request C to withdraw the notice. | | | |
| (3) | | o request may be made if the partner has delivered a return section 12AA in pursuance of the notice. | 30 | | |
| (4) | under | receiving a request, HMRC decide to withdraw the notice section 12AA they must do so by giving the partner a notice this section. | | | |
| (5) | | ce under this section must specify the date on which the notice section 12AA is withdrawn. | 35 | | |
| (6) | For the (a) | e purposes of subsection (2) "the withdrawal period" means—in the case of a partnership which includes one or more companies, the period of 2 years beginning with the end of the period in respect of which the return under section 12AA was required by the notice under that section, in the case of any other partnership, the period of 2 years beginning with the end of the year of assessment to which the | 40 | | |

notice under section 12AA relates, or

FA 2008

6

insert -

"(4ZA)

(4ZB)

40

- in the case of any partnership, such extended period as HMRC may agree with the partner in exceptional circumstances. Withdrawal of a notice under section 12AA in relation to the period in respect of which the return under that section was required or year 5 of assessment (as the case may be) does not prevent HMRC from serving a further notice under section 12AA requiring a partner to deliver a return in relation to that period or year. References in subsections (2) to (6) to the partner include references to a successor of the partner (see section 12AA(11)). 10 See paragraph 17B of Schedule 55 to FA 2009 as to the cancellation of liability to a penalty under any paragraph of that Schedule by including provision in a notice under this section." In section 59B (payment of income and capital gains tax), after subsection (4) 15 In a case in which the notice required by section 7 was given following the receipt of a notice under section 8B, subsections (3) and (4) apply as if the reference to the notice required by section 7 were a reference to the original notice required by that section, and 20 the references to notice under section 8 or 8A were references to the original notice under that section. In subsection (4ZA) the references to original notices are to notices given before the notice under section 8B.' 25 (1) Paragraph 7 of Schedule 41 to FA 2008 (potential lost revenue in respect of failure to comply with relevant obligation) is amended as follows. (2) After sub-paragraph (1) insert – "(1A) In the case of an obligation under section 7 of TMA 1970 which arises by virtue of subsection (1B) of that section, the potential lost 30 revenue is so much of any income tax or capital gains tax to which P is liable in respect of the tax year in question as is, by reason of the failure to comply with the obligation – where the period specified in subsection (1C)(b)(ii) of that section applies and ends after the relevant date, unpaid at 35 the end of that period, or in any other case, unpaid on the relevant date.
- (3) In sub-paragraph (2), after "and a tax year" insert "(not falling within subparagraph (1A))".

(1B) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1A) the relevant date is —

if, after that date, HMRC refund a payment on account in

respect of the tax year to P, the day after the refund is

(a) 31 January following the tax year, or

issued."

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

FA 2009

- 7 (1) Paragraph 3 of Schedule 53 to FA 2009 (late payment interest start date: amendments and discovery assessments etc) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In sub-paragraph (3)
 - (a) for "as required" substitute "in accordance with a requirement", and
 - (b) after "tax)" insert "that arose by virtue of subsection (1A) of that section".
 - (3) After that sub-paragraph insert
 - "(3A) In the case of a person ("P") who failed to give notice in accordance with a requirement under section 7 of TMA 1970 that arose by virtue of subsection (1B) of that section, the reference in subparagraph (1)(c) to an assessment which ought to have been made by P is a reference to the assessment which P would have been required to make if no notice relating to the year of assessment concerned had been withdrawn under section 8B of that Act."
- 8 In Schedule 55 to that Act (penalty for failure to make returns etc), after paragraph 17 insert —

"Cancellation of penalty

- 17A (1) This paragraph applies where
 - (a) P is liable for a penalty under any paragraph of this Schedule in relation to a failure to make a return falling within item 1 or 2 in the Table, and
 - (b) P makes a request under section 8B of TMA 1970 for HMRC to withdraw a notice under section 8 or 8A of that Act.
 - (2) The notice under section 8B of TMA 1970 may include provision under this paragraph cancelling liability to the penalty from the date specified in the notice.
- 17B (1) This paragraph applies where
 - (a) P is liable for a penalty under any paragraph of this Schedule in relation to a failure to make a return falling within item 3 in the Table, and
 - (b) a request is made under section 12AAA of TMA 1970 for HMRC to withdraw a notice under section 12AA of that Act.
 - (2) The notice under section 12AAA of TMA 1970 may include provision under this paragraph cancelling liability to the penalty from the date specified in the notice."

Commencement

- 9 (1) The amendments made by this Schedule have effect
 - (a) in relation to a return under section 12AA of TMA 1970 for a partnership which includes one or more companies, in respect of a return for a relevant period beginning on or after 6 April 2012, and

- (b) in relation to a return under that section for any other partnership, or a return under section 8 or 8A of that Act, in respect of a return for a year of assessment beginning on or after 6 April 2012.
- (2) In sub-paragraph (1)(a), "relevant period" means a period in respect of which a return is required.

BILL

To grant certain duties, to alter other duties, and to amend the law relating to the National Debt and the Public Revenue, and to make further provision in connection with finance.

The Chairman of Ways and Means,
The Prime Minister, The Deputy Prime Minister,
Mr Chancellor of the Exchequer,
Secretary Vince Cable,
Secretary Iain Duncan Smith,
Secretary Eric Pickles, Danny Alexander,
Greg Clark, Mr David Gauke
and Sajid Javid.

Ordered, by The House of Commons, to be Printed, 25 March 2013.

© Parliamentary copyright House of Commons 2013

This publication may be reproduced under the terms of the Open Parliament Licence, which is published at
www.parliament.uk/site-information/copyright.

PUBLISHED BY AUTHORITY OF THE HOUSE OF COMMONS LONDON — THE STATIONERY OFFICE LIMITED Printed in the United Kingdom by The Stationery Office Limited $\pounds x.xx$

Bill 154 (xxxxxx) 55/2